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ОТ АВТОРОВ

“A Gramm ar o f Present-Day E nglish” — учебник, предназначенный для сту ­
дентов институтов иностранных языков, а такж е факультетов иностранных я зы ­
ков педагогических институтов и филологических факультетов университетов. 
Это означает, что учебник рассчитан на студентов, овладевших грамматическим 
материалом, предусмотренным программой средней школы, т. е. знакомых с ос­
новными понятиями морфологии и синтаксиса.

Учебник представляет собой практический курс грамматики английского 
язы ка. Практическая направленность учебника определяет принципы, положенные 
в его основу.

1) Авторы считают, что их трактовка грамматических явлений основана на 
правильных теоретических позициях, но они не находят возможным в практиче­
ском курсе грамматики давать теоретическое обоснование своей точке зрения и 
ограничиваются лишь практическими выводами.

2) В учебнике описываются грамматические нормы английского языка, ины­
ми словами, объясняются типичные явления, которые и должны заучиваться сту­
дентами. В ряде случаев упоминаются такж е и отклонения от норм, если они не­
обходимы студентам для правильного понимания читаемой литературы, но при 
этом всегда делается специальная оговорка. Редкие отклонения от норм вообще 
не включены в учебник.

3) Авторы ставят перед собой задачу не только описать грамматические я в ­
ления современного английского языка, но такж е представить их так, чтобы пре­
дотвратить типичные ошибки.

4) Один из ведущих принципов, положенных в основу учебника, заключается 
в том, что студенты должны изучать хорошие образцы английского язы ка. Это 
относится как к формулированию правил, так  и к примерам, которые их иллю стри­
руют. Поэтому особое внимание уделялось подбору иллюстративного материала. 
Авторы стремились к тому, чтобы примеры содержали употребительную лексику 
и одновременно оставались бы хорошими образцами английского языка и чтобы 
учебник, таким образом, помогал студентам совершенствовать их знания. Следует 
заметить, что количество примеров варьируется в учебнике в зависимости от упо­
требительности того или иного грамматического явления и от объема раздела, 
который они иллюстрируют.

Кроме того, в учебник включены наиболее употребительные устойчивые со ­
четания (set phrases) и готовые фразы (stereotyped phrases), возникшие на основе 
описанных грамматических моделей.

5) В учебнике проводится, по мере необходимости, стилистическая дифферен­
циация грамматических явлений — особая оговорка делается в отношении явл е­
ний, типичных только для книжной речи или носящих сугубо разговорный х ар ак ­
тер. Грамматические модели, которые в стилистическом отношении являю тся ней­
тральными, в специальных пояснениях, само собой разумеется, не нуждаются.

В связи с этим авторы рекомендуют преподавателям привлечь особое внимание 
студентов к правильному стилистическому использованию грамматических мо­
делей.
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6) В учебнике не проводится систематического сопоставления грамматических 
явлений английского язы ка с соответствующими явлениями в русском языке. 
Авторы, однако, прибегаю т к сравнениям с русским языком там, где это необхо­
димо для понимания того или иного явления в английском языке.

Точно такж е и переводы на русский язык отдельных предложений, оборотов, 
терминов даются лиш ь там , где возникает опасение, что английский материал бу­
дет труден для понимания.

Авторы считают, что для практических целей овладения английской грам­
матикой достаточно описания частей речи со всеми их семантическими, морфологи­
ческими и синтаксическими особенностями.

В учебнике отражены  следующие признаки частей речи: I) их семантика,
2) грамматические категории (для изменяемых частей речи), 3) их функции в пред­
ложении. Эти критерии, служ ащ ие для выделения частей речи в языке, положены 
в основу описания каждой отдельной части речи, и этот принцип проводится в 
учебнике систематически.

Хотя словообразование и сочетаемость с другими частями речи также яв­
ляются существенными критериями выделения частей речи в языке, авторы не 
нашли нужным вклю чать эти разделы в учебник. В институтах и на факультетах 
иностранных языков словообразование обычно входит в курс лексикологии, и 
включение его в грамматику создало бы ненужное дублирование курсов.

Что касается сочетаемости частей речи, то она фактически отражена в учеб­
нике полностью при описании их синтаксических функций в предложении, и для 
практического овладения материалом выделение ее в особый раздел представляется 
излишним.

Согласно общепризнанной точке зрения, важнейшей частью речи является 
глагол, который представляет собой ядро предложения. В практическом плане 
именно употребление глагольных форм представляет для изучающих английский 
язык наибольшие трудности. Поэтому глаголу в учебнике уделяется самое значи­
тельное место, и именно с глагола начинается рассмотрение всех частей речи, как 
это делается в некоторых грамматиках, появившихся в последнее время.

Другим чрезвычайно важным в практическом отношении разделом грамма­
тики является употребление артиклей. Этой теме в учебнике также отводится зна­
чительное место.

Стремясь к тому, чтобы учебник максимально способствовал именно практи­
ческому овладению грамматикой, авторы по-новому освещают некоторые граммати­
ческие явления или вносят дополнения и уточнения к  традиционным объяснениям.

Это относится, в первую  очередь, к разделам, посвященным глаголу. В учеб­
нике вводится понятие структурной и лексической обусловленное™ употребле­
ния некоторых глагольных форм (см. “Verbs”, §8 ), и преподавателям следует 
уделять этому вопросу особое внимание. Важную роль в учебнике играет выде­
ление структурных моделей, типичных для употребления некоторых глагольных 
форм. По-новому освещается употребление формы Present Perfect и форм, служ а­
щих для отнесения действия к  будущему. Введены дополнительные объяснения 
к употреблению форм P ast Continuous, Past Perfect, Present Perfect Continuous 
и P ast Perfect C ontinuous, а такж е к правилам согласования времен и употребле­
ния страдательного залога. По возможности просто, без излишней терминологи­
ческой перегруженности, трактуются формы выражения нереальности. Они тесно 
связаны с употреблением модальных глаголов, объяснение которых предшествует 
описанию форм нереальности. Изменения внесены такж е в описание неличных 
форм глагола: их специфика выявляется лишь при сопоставлении с предикатив­
ными формами, и этому вопросу уделяется много внимания. Детально описывается 
значение простой формы, объясняются причины относительно редкого употребле­
ния аналитических форм. Внесены изменения и в описание функций неличных 
форм глагола в предложении. Наиболее существенное изменение касается герун­
дия и причастия I, которые по традиции обычно рассматриваются как две различ­
ные формы, хотя многие грамматисты указывают, что они фактически неразграни- 
чимы. В предлагаемом учебнике они трактуются, вслед за некоторыми лингвис­
тами, как единая форма — th e  mg-form. способная выполнять в предложении, 
подобно инфинитиву, самые разнообразные функции. Д ля практического овладе­
ния материалом такая  интерпретация, как показывает опыт, оказывается более
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эффективной. Вопрос разграничения между герундием и причастием I представ* 
ляет интерес скорее для теоретической грамматики.

По-новому освещается ряд вопросов, связанны х с употреблением арти клей .
В учебнике имеется три приложения.
Приложение I содержит список неправильных глаголов. Это прилож ение 

следует рассматривать как справочный материал.
Приложение II представляет собой классификацию  членов предлож ения, на 

которой базируется описание синтаксических функций различных частей речи .
Приложение 111 является описанием типов придаточных предложений в сос­

таве сложноподчиненного предложения. Они выполняют, в основном, те ж е ф ун к­
ции, что и члены предложения, описанные в Приложении II. Эти типы придаточ­
ных предложений упоминаются в учебнике, главным образом, при описании у п о ­
требления различных глагольных форм, а такж е при описании употребления сою ­
зов, союзных местоимений и союзных наречий.

С Приложением II и Приложением II I  следует знакомиться по мере п рохож ­
дения материала.



PARTS OF SPEECH IN ENGLISH

T h e  words of every  lan g u ag e  fall into classes w hich  are called p arts  
o f speech. Each p a rt of speech  has characteristics of its  ow n. The p arts  
of speech differ from  each  o th e r  in m eaning, in form  and in  function .

D ifferen t p a rts  of speech  have  different lex ical m eanings. For exam ­
p le , verbs are w ords d e n o tin g  processes (to work, to live); nouns are names 
of ob jec ts  (table, boy); ad jec tiv e s  are words expressing  properties (good, 
bad), etc.

Som e p a rts  of speech  hav e  different g ram m atica l categories, e.g. 
v e rb s  have th e  ca tego ry  of m ood, tense and aspect, voice, person and 
n u m b er; nouns have th e  ca tego ry  of num ber and case; ad jectives have 
degrees of com parison , e tc .

O th e r p a rts  of speech  a re  invariab le  — th ey  hav e  one form . H ere 
b e lo n g  such p a rts  of speech  as prepositions, con junc tions, p artic les, etc .

T h e  p arts  of speech a lso  d iffer from  each o th e r in  th e ir  sy n tac tic  func­
t io n s .  F or exam ple, v e rb s  h av e  th e  function of th e  p red ica te  in th e  sen­
te n c e , nouns are o ften  u sed  as th e  subject or th e  o b jec t of th e  sentence, 
ad je c tiv e s  serve as a t t r ib u te s  o r predicatives; adverbs are  generally  
a d v e rb ia l m odifiers, e tc .

T hese ch a rac te ris tic  fe a tu re s  w ill be described in  d e ta il when each 
p a r t  of speech is considered  separately .

B esides, all w ords m ay  be d iv ided  in to  th ree  m ain  groups: no tional 
w o rd s , s tru c tu ra l w ords a n d  independent elem ents.

N o tiona l words h av e  d is tin c t lexical m eanings and  perform  inde­
p e n d e n t sy n tac tic  fu n c tio n s  in  th e  sentence—th ey  serve e ith e r  as p r i­
m a ry  or secondary p a r ts  of th e  sentence. To th is  group  belong th e  follow ­
in g  p a r ts  of speech: v e rb s , nouns, adjectives, nu m era ls , pronouns and 
ad v e rb s .

S tru c tu ra l words d iffe r  from  notional w ords sem an tica lly —th e ir  
le x ic a l m eaning is of a  m ore  general ch a rac ter th a n  th a t  of no tional 
w o rd s  (e.g. in , and, even ). M oreover, they  a re  som etim es a ltogether 
d e v o id  of it  (e.g. th e  a r tic le s  the and a, th e  co n ju n c tio n  tha t, th e  p rep ­
o s i t io n  o f, e tc .). S tru c tu ra l  w ords do not perfo rm  any  independent 
s y n ta c t ic  function in  th e  sen tence  but serve e ith e r  to  express various 
re la t io n s  betw een th e  w o rd s in  a sentence (e.g. the trees 'in ' the gar­
d en , Tom  land ' Joe, e tc .)  o r  to  specify (уточнять) th e  m eaning  of a word 
(e .g . 'th e ' book, la ' book, ‘e v e n ’ d u ll, ‘o n ly ' tomorrow, e tc .) . T he follow ing
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p a rts  of speech are  to  be trea ted  as s tru c tu ra l w ords: a r tic le s , p a rtic le s , 
p repositions and conjunctions.

Independent e lem ents are  w ords w hich  are ch arac terized  by  p ecu liar 
m eanings of various kinds (e.g . yes, no, certa in ly , oh, a la s , e tc .). 
They have no gram m atica l connection  w ith  th e  sen tence  in  w h ich  they  
occur, i.e . th ey  do not perform  an y  sy n ta c tic  function  in  th e  sen tence 
(e.g. He  ‘ce r ta in ly ’ knows a ll  about i t .) .  Independen t e lem en ts  can  even 
serve as sentences them selves (e.g . Yes. N o . A la s \). H ere  b e long  th e  fo l­
lowing p a rts  of speech: modal w ords, in te rjec tio n s, w ords of a ffirm a tio n  
and negation .

I t is no tew orthy  th a t the  d iv is io n  of w ords in to  p a r ts  of speech  can 
be accepted only  w ith  certa in  re se rv a tio n s—there  a re  w ords w h ich  can ­
not be classed am ong any of th e  above m entioned  p a r ts  of speech  (e.g. 
please , anyw ay).

T he d iv is io n  of words in to  n o tio n a l and  s tru c tu ra l is  a lso  connected  
w ith  c e rta in  d ifficu lties . For ex am p le , verbs, w hich , on  th e  w ho le , are 
to  be tre a te d  as no tional w ords, in c lu d e  ce rta in  w ords w h ich  serv e  as 
s tru c tu ra l e lem ents (e.g. m odal v erb s), som e o th e r verbs m ay  fu nc tion  
e ith e r as n o tio n a l words or as s tru c tu ra l  w ords (e.g. to look is a  n o tio n ­
al verb  in  H e looked a t me and a s tru c tu ra l w ord—a lin k -v e rb —in He 
looked tired ; th e  verb  to have is a n o tio n a l verb  in /  have a  car and  
a s tru c tu ra l v e rb —a modal v e rb — in  /  had to do it) . P ro n o u n s  m ay 
be quoted  as ano ther exam ple s ince , on th e  one hand , th e y  h av e , lik e  
a ll no tiona l words, independent sy n ta c tic  functions in  th e  sen tence  
bu t, on th e  o th e r hand , they a re  devo id  of d is tin c t lex ica l m ean in g .



VERBS

§  1. A ccording to  c o n te n t, v e rb s can be described as w ords denot­
in g  ac tio n s , th e  term  “a c tio n s ” em bracing the  m eaning  of a c tiv ity  (e.g. 
to  w a lk , to  speak, to p la y , to stu d y ), process (e.g. to sleep, to w a it , to live), 
s t a t e  (e .g . to be, to like, to know ), re la tion  (e.g. to consist, to resemble, 
to  lack) and  th e  like.

A ccord ing  to  form , verbs can  be described as w ords th a t  have certa in  
g ra m m a tic a l features th a t  a re  no t shared by o th e r p a r ts  of speech, e.g. 
th e y  h a v e  th e  category  of te n se , aspect, voice, etc.

A cco rd ing  to  function , v e rb s  can be defined as w ords m ak ing  up 
th e  p re d ic a te  of th e  sen tence.

§  2. V erbs can be c lassified  u n d er different heads.
1) A ccord ing  to  th e ir  m ean in g  verbs can be d iv ided  in to  tw o 

g ro u p s— te rm in a tiv e  and  d u ra tiv e  verbs.
T e rm in a tiv e  verbs im p ly  a lim it beyond w hich th e  ac tion  cannot 

c o n tin u e . T o  p u t i t  d iffe ren tly , th ey  have a final a im  in  v iew , e.g. to 
open , to  close, to bring, to recognize, to refuse, to break. W ith  th e  verb 
to  open, for exam ple, th a t  m eans th a t a fte r opening  th e  door it  is im ­
p o ss ib le  to  go on w ith  th e  a c tio n  as the  door is a lready  open.

D u ra tiv e  verbs do not im p ly  any  such lim it and th e  ac tion  can go 
o n  in d e fin ite ly , e .g . to carry, to  liv e , to speak, to know, to s i t , to p lay .

B u t as m ost verbs in  E n g lish  a re  polysem antic th ey  m ay be te rm in a ­
t iv e  in  one  m eaning  and  d u ra t iv e  in  another. For exam ple , to see m ay 
h a v e  th e  te rm in a tiv e  m ean ing  увидет ь and th e  d u ra tiv e  m eaning  видеть-, 
to know  m ay  deno te  знат ь  an d  узнат ь. The m ean ing  of th e  verb  be­
co m es c lea r from  th e  co n tex t.
C om pare : I  saw h im  a t once an d  I  saw h is face qu ite  clearly.

A s w ill be seen, th e  d is tin c tio n  between te rm in a tiv e  and  d u ra tiv e  
v e rb s  is of g rea t im portance  as i t  affects th e  use of ce rta in  tense-aspect 
fo rm s.

2) In  accordance w ith  th e ir  re la tio n  to  th e  C ontinuous form , E ng lish  
v e rb s  fa ll in to  tw o groups: d y n am ic  verbs, i.e . verbs w hich ad m it of 
th e  C o n tin u o u s form  (a) and  s ta t iv e  verbs, i.e . verbs w hich  do no t adm it 
of th e  C o n tinuous form  (b).

e .g . a) W e were ea tin g  d in n e r w hen  he called.
Y o u ’ll find  M other in  th e  k itchen. She is m aking a cake,

b) I understand  w h at you m ean.
I d o n ’t  see h im  in  th e  crow d.
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T he d is tin c tio n  betw een d y n am ic  and s ta tiv e  v e rb s  is a fundam ental 
one in E ng lish  g ram m ar, and i t  is also  reflected in  a  n u m b e r of o ther 
w ays th an  in the  C ontinuous form .

I t  is norm al for verbs to  b e  dynam ic  and even th e  m in o r ity  th a t are 
a lm ost alw ays s ta tiv e  can  u su a lly  be given a d y n am ic  use on occasion.

T he follow ing is th e  lis t of m ost com m only used  s ta t iv e  verbs:
a) verbs denoting  physical percep tions: to  hear, to  n o tice , to  see;
b) verbs denoting  em otions: to  adore, to  care  fo r, to  d e te s t, to  dis­

like, to  ha te , to  like, to  love, to  respect;
c) verbs denoting  w ish: to  desire , to  w an t, to  w ish ;
d) verbs denoting  m ental processes: to  adm ire  ( = t o  be of h igh  op in ­

ion), to  appreciate, to  assum e, to  believe  ( = t o  co n sid e r), to  consider 
( = t o  regard), to  doub t, to  expect ( = t o  suppose), to  feel ( = t o  consider), 
to  im ag ine , to  know, to  m ind  ( = t o  ob ject), to  p e rce iv e , to  presum e, 
to  reca ll, to  recognize, to  reco llec t, to  regard , to  rem em b er, to  suppose, 
to  th in k  ( = t o  consider), to  t r u s t ,  to  understand ;

e) re la tio n a l verbs: to  ap p ly , to  be, to  belong, to  co n cern , to  consist, 
to  co n ta in , to  depend, to  deserve, to  differ, to  e q u a l, to  f it , to  have, 
to  hold  ( = t o  con ta in ), to  in c lu d e , to  involve, to  la c k , to  m a tte r , to  
need, to  owe, to  own, to  possess, to  rem ain , to  re q u ire , to  resem ble, to  
re su lt, to  signify , to  suffice;

f) som e o ther verbs: to  agree, to  allow , to  a p p e a r ( = t o  seem), to  
a s ton ish , to  claim , to  consent, to  d isplease, to  en v y , to  fa il to  do, to  
feel ( in tr)1, to  find, to  forb id , to  forgive, to  in ten d , to  in te re s t, to  keep 
doing, to  m anage to  do, to  m ean , to  o b jec t, to  p lease , to  p refer, to  p re ­
v en t, to  puzzle, to  realize , to  refuse, to  rem ind , to  sa tis fy , to  seem , to  
sm ell ( in tr)1, to  sound (in tr)1, to  succeed, to  s u it , to  su rp rise , to  ta s te  
( in tr)1, to  ten d , to  value.

3) E ng lish  verbs are also c lassified  accord ing  to  th e  ty p e  of object 
th ey  tak e .

V erbs th a t  do no t require  an y  ob ject are called  in tra n s itiv e .

e .g . W e w alked across th e  fields.
N obody knew w here th e  o ld  m an  lived.

V erbs th a t  require  som e k in d  of ob ject to  co m p le te  th e ir  m eaning 
a re  called  tran s itiv e . The ob jec ts  tra n s itiv e  verbs ta k e  m ay  be direct 
(a), in d irec t (b) or p rep o sitio n a l (c).

e .g . a) I sw ear I ’m  te llin g  th e  t ru th .
b) H is  m other never gave h im  advice.
c) Now le t ’s  ta lk  of so m eth ing  sensible.

P o ly sem an tic  verbs m ay  be tra n s itiv e  in one m ean in g  and  in tra n s i­
t iv e  in  another.

e .g . I d id n ’t know w here to  fin d  h im  as he had  changed  h is  address.

1 As in: the surface feels rough. The song sounds nice. The soup tas tes  (sm ells)
nice.
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I w as g la d  to  see th a t he had  n o t changed at all.
H e  ra n  u p h ill past a block of houses.
She ra n  th e  shop q u ite  co m p e ten tly .

§  3. A cco rd in g  to  th e ir  m ean ing  and  function  in th e  sen tence E ng lish  
verbs a re  c la ssified  in to  n o tio n a l an d  s tru c tu ra l ones.

N o tio n a l verbs alw ays have a lex ical m eaning of th e ir  own and can 
have an  in d ep en d en t sy n tac tic  fu n c tio n  in th e  sentence.

e .g . D u rin g  th e  w ar he lived in  L ondon.
“T e ll  m e w h a t happened,” sa id  my m other as we s a t  by th e  fire.

W hen a  v e rb  is used as a s tru c tu ra l  word, it  m ay e ith e r  preserve or 
lose its  le x ic a l m eaning . B ut even if it has a lexical m eaning  of i ts  own, 
th e  la t te r  is of a specific ch a rac te r  and  th e  verb  canno t have an indepen­
d en t s y n ta c tic  function  in th e  sen ten ce—it is alw ays closely connected 
w ith  som e o th e r  w ord. H ere belong  m odal verbs and link-verbs.

A m odal verb  is alw ays accom panied  by an in fin itiv e —together 
th ey  form  a m odal p red icate .

e .g . T he p a r ty  is a t e igh t. Y ou m u st dress su itab ly  for i t .
I c o u ld n ’t  do an y th in g  u n d e r th e  circum stances.

A  lin k -v e rb  is followed by  a  p red ica tiv e ; together they  form  a nom i­
na l p re d ic a te .

e .g . H e  w as a  m iddle-aged m an.
I t  becam e very  ho t by noon.
T h e  h o te l rem ained em p ty  a ll th rough  th e  w in ter.
T h e  c o tta g e  seemed deserted .

S om etim es a  verb  is e n tire ly  devoid  of lexical m eaning  and  is then 
ca lled  an  a u x i l ia ry  verb. C om bined  w ith  a no tional verb  i t  serves to 
b u ild  up a n a ly tic a l forms.

e .g . W e h ad  arranged  to  m eet in  th e  usual place.
Do yo u  know  w hy he sa id  th a t?
T h e  y o u n g  m an was s i t t in g  a t  th e  ta b le  alone.

P o ly se m a n tic  verbs m ay  serv e  as  n o tio n a l verbs as well as s tru c tu r­
al w ords.

e .g . H e is m arried  and has th re e  ch ild ren  (a no tional verb  used in th e  
m ean in g  to possess).
I had  to  reconsider m y po sitio n  (a s tru c tu ra l w ord: a m odal verb 
d e n o tin g  o b lig a tio n , p a r t  of a  m odal p redicate).
“ I t h as  happened  now,* he sa id , “ so th e re ’s n o th in g  to  d o ” (a s tru c ­
tu r a l  w ord : an  au x ilia ry  v e rb  w hich serves to  b u ild  up an an a ly ­
tic a l form ).
H e looked a t m e, w a itin g  fo r th e  nex t w ords (a no tiona l verb  m ean­
in g  glanced).
H e looked q u ite  happy (a s tru c tu ra l w ord: a link -verb  m eaning 
seem ed).

§ 4. E n g lish  verbs a re  ch arac terized  by a g rea t v a r ie ty  of forms
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w hich  can be d iv ided  in to  tw o m ain g roups acco rd in g  to  the  function  
th ey  perform  in th e  sen ten ce—th e  fin ite  form s and  th e  n o n -fin ite  form s.

The f in ite  form s hav e  the  function  of th e  p re d ic a te  in th e sen ten ce  
and  m ay also be called  th e  pred ica tive  form s (личны е или предикатив­
ные формы).

The n o n -fin ite  o r non -p red ica tive  form s (неличны е или непредика­
тивны е формы) can h av e  various o ther fu n c tio n s; th ey  are used as th e  
p red ica te  of th e  sen tence o n ly  by w ay of ex cep tio n . These forms are o ften  
ca lled  the  verbals (see “V erb s” , §§ 163-255).

T he fin ite  form s of th e  verb have th e  fo llow ing  g ram m atica l c a te ­
gories:

1) Person and  N um ber. These categories of th e  verb  serve to  show  
th e  connection betw een th e  subject and th e  p re d ic a te  of th e  sen tence—  
th e  subject agrees w ith  th e  pred ica te  in person  and  num ber. W e find  
th ree  persons (the  firs t, th e  second, and th e  th ird  person) and tw o n u m ­
bers (th e  singu lar and  th e  p lu ra l) in fin ite  v e rb s  (see th e  form ation  of 
tense-aspect form s, “V e rb s” , § § 9 , 11, 15, 17, 22, 25, 29, 33, 38, 40, 
43 , 45).

2) Tense and  A spect (see “V erb s” , § 7 ) .
3) Voice (see “V erb s” , §§ 61*63).
4) Mood (see “V e rb s” , §§ 122-125).

§ 5. The form s th a t  serve to  express th e  ab o v e  m entioned g ram m a­
tic a l categories m ay be b u ilt  up in d ifferen t w ays.

W e find th ree  basic  forms th a t  serve as a fo u n d a tio n  for b u ild in g  
up a ll th e  o ther form s of th e  E nglish verb . T hese form s are: 1) th e  p la in  
verb  stem  (чистая основа глагола), w hich is a lso  o ften  referred to  as 
th e  in fin itiv e  w ith o u t th e  p a rtic le  to , 2) th e  P a s t In d efin ite , and 3) th e  
p a rtic ip le .

A ccording to  th e  w ay  of form ing th e  P a s t In d e fin ite  and th e  p a r t i ­
c ip le , a ll verbs can be d iv ided  in to  tw o classes: re g u la r  and ir re g u la r  
verbs.

W ith  regular verbs, th e  Past In d efin ite  and  th e  p a rtic ip le  are fo rm ­
ed by adding  th e  suffix  -ed. It is pronounced [d ] a f te r  vowels and voiced 
consonants (e.g. played, answered, opened, closed), [ t l  a fter voiceless 
consonants (e.g. looked, passed), and [id ]  a f te r  v e rb s  ending  in  I t]  
o r  (d] (e.g. wanted, wasted, ended, landed).

In  w ritin g  th e  fo llow ing  spelling  ru les  sh o u ld  be observed:
1) V erbs end ing  in  -y  preceded by a co n so n an t change th e  -y in to  

-ied  (e.g. stu d y—studied , envy—envied). B u t if th e  -y  is preceded by  a 
vow el, it  rem ains unchanged  (e.g. p la y — p layed , s ta y - s ta y e d ) .

2) A final consonant is doubled if it  is p receded  by a short stressed  
vow el or if a verb  ends in  a stressed -e r (-ur) (e .g . s to p — stopped, a d m it— 
a d m itted , occur— occurred^ prefer— preferred). B u t if th e  p reced ing  
vowel is long o r unstressed , th e  final con so n an t rem ain s sing le  (e .g . 
l im it— lim ited, perform —performed, conquer— conquered, appear— a p ­
peared).

3 )A  final -I is a lw ays doubled (e.g. tra v e l— tra ve lled , quarrel— quar­
relled).
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All o th e r  v e rb s  a re  to  be regarded as irreg u la r in m odern E ng lish . 
T hey are a m iscellaneous group com prising  various p a tte rn s  (e.g. sing—  
sang— sung, w rite—wrote—w ritten , send—sen t— sent, teach— tau g h t— 
taught, e tc .) . S om e verbs have a regular form by the  side of an irregu lar 
one (e.g. learn— lea rn t— learnt and  a lso  learn— learned— learned). A 
num ber of verbs rem a in  unchanged (e.g. c u t— c u t - c u t ,  h i t— h i t— hit). 
Two verbs ta k e  th e ir  form s from different roo ts and  are called  su p p le tiv e  
system s. They a re  th e  verbs to be and to go . (For a com plete lis t of irre­
gular verbs see A p p en d ix  I.)

§ 6. T he form s of th e  verb  which a re  b u ilt  up w ith  th e  help of the  
above described b as ic  form s m ay be of tw o differen t k inds—syn th e tic  
o r a n a ly tic a l.

S yn th e tic  form s a re  b u ilt up by a  change in  th e  word itself: by m eans 
of suffixes (e.g . I  w ork, he works, we worked), by m eans of vowel change 
(e.g. /  fin d , I  fo u n d ), and  som etim es by  com bin ing  bo th  m eans (e.g. 
/  th ink , /  thought).

A n aly tica l form s consist of tw o com ponents, e .g . H e  *has worked’ hard. 
T he first com ponen t is an  au x ilia ry  verb w h ich  has no lexical m ean ing— 
it expresses o n ly  g ram m atica l m eaning. T he second com ponent is a no­
tional verb w h ich  is th e  bearer of lexical m eaning  (носитель лексичес­
кого значения). T h e  a u x ilia ry  verb  show s th a t  has worked is th e  th ird  
person s in g u la r, th e  In d ica tiv e  Mood, th e  A ctive  V oice. B u t th e  specific 
m eaning of th is  p a r t ic u la r  form , th a t  of th e  P resen t Perfect, resu lts  only 
from the  c o m b in a tio n  of both  com ponents.

In  the  a n a ly tic a l form  was w ritten  (as in : The letter was w ritten  yes­
terday), w ritten  is th e  bearer of lexical m eaning; was shows th a t  we are 
dealing  w ith  th e  th ird  person singu lar, th e  In d ica tiv e  M ood, the  P as t 
Indefin ite . B u t ag a in  the  specific g ram m atica l m eaning of th is  particu* 
lar form , th a t  of th e  P assive  Voice, is expressed  by the w hole com bina­
tion  of the  a u x ilia ry  and  the  no tional verb .

Thus an  a n a ly tic a l form consists of tw o w ords—a s tru c tu ra l word 
and a n o tio n a l w o rd —w hich form a very  close, inseparab le  u n it .  I t  
functions in E n g lish  as the  form of a sing le  w ord by the  side of sy n th e tic  
form s (e.g. he w orks , he has worked, he worked, he was working, he had 
worked, e tc .) .

The a u x ilia ry  v e rb  itse lf may be an  an a ly tica l form (e.g. H e has 
been working, H e w i l l  be working, The le tter has been w ritten , e tc .) Such 
forms m ay be ca lled  complex analytical form s.

F I N I T E  F O RM S  O F  T H E  V E R B

TENSE AND ASPECT

§ 7. Tense is th e  form  of the  verb w h ich  ind ica tes th e  tim e  of th e  
action . T here  a re  th re e  tenses in E ng lish— th e  P resen t, th e  P as t and 
th e  F u tu re .

Aspect is th e  fo rm  of th e  verb w hich serves to  express th e  m anner in 
w hich th e  ac tio n  is regarded . There are tw o sets of aspect forms in E n g lish —
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th e  C ontinuous form s and  the  N on-C ontinuous (Indefin ite) form s. T h e  
N on-C ontinuous (Indefin ite ) form s hav e  a  v e ry  broad m ean ing , th e y  
have no specialized  aspect ch a rac teris tic s  of th e ir  own and m ere ly  r e p ­
resent an ac tio n  as occurring. C onversely , th e  C ontinuous form s h a v e  a 
clear-cut aspect ch arac teris tic , w hich is to  rep resen t an ac tion  in its  te m ­
porary developm ent. The C ontinuous form s h av e  a num ber of th e  o th e r  
concom itan t m ean ings o r overtones th a t  go  w ith  th e  basic m ean in g  of 
process and d u ra tio n . They are in co m p le tio n , s im u lta n e ity , v iv id n e ss  of 
descrip tion , em o tio n a l colouring and em p h asis .

Besides, th e re  a re  th e  Perfect form s w h ich  are  opposed to  th e  N on- 
Perfect form s. T he la t te r  have no d e fin ite  g ram m atica l c h a ra c te r is tic s . 
The g ram m atica l m ean ing  of th e  P erfect fo rm s is to  express re tro sp e c ­
tiveness, w hich consists of two e lem ents— p r io r i ty  (предш ествование) an d  
relevance (соотнесенность). H ow ever, th e  g ram m atica l ca tego ry  th a t  
th e  Perfect form s c o n s titu te  has no t found its  d e fin itio n  yet.

The th ree  g ram m atica l categories of th e  E n g lish  verb  a re  so c lo se ly  
m erged to g e th er th a t  i t  is im possible to  tr e a t  th em  separa te ly . O ne  an d  
th e  sam e form  serves to  express tense and  aspec t a t  th e  sam e t im e  an d  
should , therefore, be regarded as a “ ten se-asp ec t fo rm ” .

W e find th e  fo llow ing tense-aspect form s in  E ng lish : th e  P resen t In d e f i­
n ite , th e  P resen t C ontinuous, th e  P resen t P e rfec t, th e  P resen t P e rfe c t 
C ontinuous, th e  P a s t Indefin ite , th e  P as t C on tin u o u s, th e  P as t P e rfe c t, 
th e  P ast P erfect C on tinuous, th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite , th e  F u tu re  C o n tin ­
uous, th e  F u tu re  Perfec t, th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite -in -th e -P as t, th e  
F u tu re  C on tinuous-in -the-P ast, and  th e  F u tu re  P e rfec t-in -th e-P as t.

§ 8. 1) In  d iscussing  the  use of E n g lish  tense-aspect forms it  is n e c ­
essary to  u n d e rs tan d  th a t  in  m ost cases th e  choice of tense-aspect fo rm s 
is free—th e  form  is chosen in accordance w ith  th e  m eaning  th e  sp e a k e r  
wishes to  convey and  does not depend on th e  s tru c tu re  of the  sen ten ce , 
e.g. He knows E n g lish , He knew E n g lish , H e w il l  know E n g lish .

In  certa in  cases, how ever, th e  choice of th e  form  is de te rm ined  b y  
th e  s tru c tu re  of th e  sentence, u sua lly  th e  k in d  of c lause in w h ich  i t  is 
used. For exam ple, th e  use of the  P resen t In d e fin ite  w ith  reference to  
th e  fu tu re  in a c lause  of tim e  or co n d itio n  (a), o r  th e  use of a ten se -asp ec t 
form  under th e  ru les of th e  sequence of ten ses  (b).

e .g . a) W hen you feel hungry, I ’ll b rin g  you  som e sandw iches.
If I w an t a n y th in g  I ’ll call you u p . 

b) She knew  th a t  H enry w ould  be w a itin g  for her.
I w ondered if he had kept his p ro m ise .

In  such cases we have th e  s tru c tu ra l ly  d ep en d en t use of ten se -asp ec t 
form s.

In s till o th e r cases th e  choice of th e  ten se -asp ec t form  in a s u b o rd i­
n a te  clause is d e te rm in ed  no t so m uch by th e  k in d  of clause as b y  th e  
lexical ch a rac ter of th e  head-w ord, i.e . th e  w ord  in th e  p rinc ipa l c la u se  
w hich th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause m odifies o r  refers to . F or ex am p le , in  
ob ject clauses su b o rd in a ted  to th e  verbs to  see to, to take care o r  to  
m ake sure th e  F u tu re  form s are no t used.
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e .g . H e ’ll ta k e  care th a t  she comes in tim e .
She saw to  i t  t h a t  th e y  had  p len ty  of food in  th e  house.

In  such cases w e h a v e  th e  lex ically  dependent use of tense-aspect 
form s.

2) C losely connec ted  w ith  th e  above n o tio n  is th e  ab so lu te  and  re l­
a t iv e  use of tense-aspect form s. The forms m ay  refer an ac tion  d irec tly  
to  th e  p resen t, th e  p a s t  o r  th e  fu tu re  tim e . W e are  dealing  in th is  case 
w ith  th e  ab so lu te  use  o f tense-aspect form s, w hich , as a ru le, is s tru c ­
tu r a l ly  independen t.

B u t in ce rta in  ty p e s  of clauses th e  verb form  of th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause 
o n ly  shows w h eth er th e  ac tio n  of the clause is s im u ltaneous w ith  th a t 
o f the  p rinc ipa l c lau se , precedes it  or follows i t .  (These re la tions m ay  
b e  term ed as s im u lta n e ity , p rio rity  and p o s te rio rity  respectively /) 
In  th is  case we are  d e a lin g  w ith  the  re la tiv e  use of tense-aspect form s. 
I t  is u sua lly  s tru c tu ra l ly  dependent (see, for exam ple , th e  ru les of th e  
sequence of tenses). 4

e .g . H e discovered th a t  h is  w ife knew London fa r b e tte r  th an  he d id.
H e knew th a t  sh e  h ad  read his thoughts.
H e th o u g h t th a t  h e  w ould  h a te  th e  p lace.

3) L ast bu t no t le a s t, s tu d e n ts  of E ng lish  shou ld  d iffe ren tia te  be­
tw een  p resen t-tim e  c o n te x ts  and p ast-tim e  co n tex ts .

In  p resen t-tim e  c o n te x ts , i.e . in conversations, le tte rs , new spaper 
an d  rad io  repo rts , le c tu re s  and  scien tific  prose, th e  s itu a tio n  is view ed 
from  the  m om ent of sp eak in g . (The m oment of speak ing  is to  be u n d er­
s to o d  as presen t from  th e  sp eak er’s po in t of v iew  b u t no t as ac tu a lly  
th e  presen t m om ent.) A n y  tense-aspect form  th a t  is requ ired  by th e  sense 
can  be used in p re se n t- tim e  contexts. T he on ly  reservation  should be 
m ade for th e  P as t P e rfe c t and th e  Past P erfec t C ontinuous and all th e  
F u tu re -in -th e -P as t fo rm s w hich  are, in p resen t-tim e  contex ts, m ain ly  
found in reported  speech  o r thought.

In  past-tim e  c o n te x ts , i .e . in  n arra tio n , th e  s itu a tio n  is view ed from  
a p as t m om ent. H ence , th e  use of tense-aspect form s is restric ted  only  
to  P as t form s in c lu d in g  th e  F u tu re -in -th e -P ast.

T h e  P resen t Indefinite

§ 9. T he P resen t In d e f in ite  is formed from  th e  p la in  stem  of th e  
v e rb . In  th e  th ird  p e rso n  sin g u la r it has th e  su ffix  -s/-es w hich is p ro ­
nounced Iz] a f te r  vow els and voiced consonan ts (e.g. p la ys, opens), 
Is] a fte r voiceless co n so n an ts  (e.g. looks, asks), and  h z]  a fter s ib ila n ts  
(e.g . closes, places, teaches, wishes, judges).

In  w ritin g  th e  fo llo w in g  spelling  ru les shou ld  be observed:
a) V erbs en d ing  in  -s, -ss, -sh , -ch, - tc h , -x  and  -z tak e  th e  suffix  

-es (e.g. passes, p u shes , watches). The suffix  -es is also added to  verbs 
en d ing  in -o  p receded  by  a consonant (e.g. goes).

b) V erbs en d in g  in  -y  w ith  a preceding consonant change th e  -y 
in to  -ies (e.g. s tu d y — stud ies, try— tries, f l y — flie s ) . B u t if th e  -y  is p re ­
ceded by a vow el, th e  su ffix  -s is added (e.g. p la y —plays, s tay—slays).
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The a ffirm a tiv e  form of the P resen t In d e fin ite  is a synthetic  ca 
(e.g. I  work, he w orks , e tc .) . B ut th e  in te rro g a tiv e  and negative fits 
are b u ilt up a n a ly tic a lly , by means of the  a u x ilia ry  verb to do Iiae 
P resen t In d efin ite  and  the in fin itive  of th e  n o tio n a l verb w ithou^e 
p artic le  to  (e.g. D o you work? Does he w ork? I  do no t work, He donot 
work, e tc .) . In  spoken E nglish the c o n tra c te d  neg a tiv e  forms d o n ’md 
doesn 't shou ld  be used.

T he P resen t In d e fin ite  may have a sp ec ia l affirm ative  form fiiicVi 
is used for em phasis . T h is  em phatic  form  is b u il t  up analytical!}, b ^  
means of th e  P resen t Indefin ite  of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb to do foil oval b -y  
the  in fin itiv e  of th e  no tional verb w ith o u t th e  p artic le  to. The a u ii l ia tv  
verb has s trong  stress in th is  case (e.g . /  do in s is t on if, He d o & in s is t  
on it).

§ 10. T he P resen t Indefin ite  is used in  th e  following cases:
1) The P re sen t Indefin ite  m ain ly  serves to  express recurrent (a ') o r  

perm anen t (b) ac tions in the  p resen t.
a) W e find  recu rren t actions w ith  te rm in a tiv e  verbs. They a r e ,  &s  

a m a tte r  of fac t, p o in t (instan taneous) ac tio n s repeated  a n u m b e r  o f  
tim es. T h is  series of recurrent ac tions m ay  inc lude  or exclude the a c t u a l  
m om ent of speaking .

T h is use of the  Present Indefin ite  is o ften  associated w ith  s u c h  a d ­
verbial m odifiers of frequency as o ften , seldom , sometimes, o c c a s io n a lly  
alw ays, never, ever, every year (week, m o n th , d a y ), u su a lly , once ( t w i c e  
three times)  a  year, da ily , on S u n d a y s  ( M ondays , etc .) and th e  l i k e .  xB ^ t  
it  m ay be also  found w ithout any  in d ic a tio n s  of tim e.

e.g. H e wakes up around six o ’clock  an d  has a cup of coffee.
H e doesn’t  u su a lly  ring  up e a r ly  in  th e  m orning.
“ Do you often  come to  th ese  p a r t ie s ? ” inquired  Jo rd a n  of t h e  g j r j 

beside her.
T he charw om an comes in  d a ily .

b) W e find  perm anent ac tio n s w ith  d u ra tiv e  verbs. T hey  g e n e ra lly  
in d ica te  con tinuous, u n in te rru p ted  processes w hich n a tu ra l ly  in c lu d e  
th e  presen t m om ent. Such ac tio n s g iv e  a general c h a ra c te r is tic  to  th e  
person or th in g  denoted by th e  su b je c t. T im e in d ica tions a re  n o t  o b lig ­
a to ry  in  th is  case.

e .g . H er son works near here and  so , a f te r  her h u sb a n d 's  d e a th , sh e  came 
dow n to  live  here and he b o ard s w ith  her.

T h a t o ld  m an gave me a  su rp rise . H e 's  seventy-five, and he doesn’t 
w alk , he runs.

I teach  E nglish  and H is to ry  a t  a  college, and  I Jive w ith  my pa- 
ren ts .

I h a te  au th o rity . It spo ils  th e  re la tio n s  betw een p a re n t and child
L ike  a ll young men, he s leep s lik e  a log.

As is seen from th e  above ex am p le s , th e  d ifference betw een the two 
m ain  uses of th e  Present In d e fin ite  rests  on th e  difference in the  lexical 
ch a rac ter of th e  verb . In m any  cases, how ever, ow ing to  th e  context or
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situa tion , th e  d ifference  appears b lurred and  it becom es d ifficu lt to  
define the  lexical c h a ra c te r  of the verb . In  o th e r  w ords, w e are dealing  
w ith  m arginal cases in  th is  instance—-a perm an en t ch a rac te ris tic  is given 
th rough  recurren t ac tio n s .

e.g. I alw ays ta lk  to o  m uch when I ’m nervous.
“ I t ’s N ancy M ilfo rd ,” sa id  Ron, “she w rites books th a t  H um phrey  

dotes o n .”
I som etim es p lay  th e  p ian o  for five hours a d ay .
H e usually  w alks to  th e  corner w ith  P h il.
E d ith  alw ays gets  aw ay  w ith  th ings.

N o t e .  The Present Indefin ite  is often said to express a general statem ent or 
«universal tru th . In th is case i t  also denotes either a recurrent action  or a perm anent 
frocess and thus i t  does no t differ in principle from the tw o above described uses 
«! the Present Indefinite.
e?. Domestic anim als re tu rn  to  the ir homes,

Romance only dies w ith  life.
S till waters run deep, (a  proverb)
A m other’s love means devotion , unselfishness, sacrifice.

2) O ccasionally  th e  P resen t Indefin ite  is used to  express a succession 
o f  po in t actions ta k in g  p la c e  a t  th e  tim e of speak ing . In  th is  m eaning 
i t  is used in stage d irec tio n s  o r  by  radio  and TV  com m enta to rs in des­
c r ib in g  sports events, p u b lic  functions, etc. T h a t m eans th a t  th is  use 
o f  the Present In d efin ite  is s ty lis tic a lly  re stric ted .
e .g .  a) I n  s t a g e  d i r e c t i o n s :

Rev. S. Good n ig h t. (T hey  shake hands. As he passes V iv ie  he 
shakes hands w ith  her also and bids her good-n igh t. Then, in 
boom ing com m and , to  F rank) Come along, S ir, a t once.

b ) I n  c o m m e n t s  on a TV film  abou t C hi-C hi, th e  g ian t 
panda, who re tu rn s  hom e after her s tay  in  th e  Moscow Zoo:

“Chi-Chi is in  th e  p en . S he walks over to  th e  tra v e llin g  box. 
Chi-Chi clim bs on th e  rock. The crowd m oves closer to  Chi- 
C h i.”

c) I n  d e m o n s t r a t i o n s :
Now I peel th e  ap p les , s lic e  them  and p u t in to  th e  d ish . Then 

1 w hip th e  c ream  u n t i l  th ic k  and pour it  over th e  apples.

3) The P resen t In d e fin ite  is som etim es used to  express a  sing le  action  
g o in g  on a t th e  m om ent of sp eak in g  w here no rm ally  th e  P resen t Con­
tin u o u s  is used. T his occurs in  tw o  d ifferent cases:

a) The use of th e  P resen t In d e f in ite  becomes o b lig a to ry  w ith  s ta tiv e  
ve rb s . (F or th e  lis t see “V e rb s” , § 2 .)

e g. I q u ite  understand  w h at yo u  m ean.
She sipped  her coffee and  p u lle d  a face. “ I t tastes h o rrib le  to n ig h t .” 
H e w an ts  to  see you fo r a  m in u te .
“ Do you object, D a d ? ” sa id  th e  g irl.

b) The P resen t In d e fin ite  is  a lso  used for an in s tan tan eo u s  action  
which tak es  p lace  a t th e  m om ent o f speaking  but it  is no t view ed in  its  
progress. T he speaker ju s t nam es th e  occurrence itself, th e  ac tio n  as such.

16



e.g . “ I repeat, th e  g irl has been ex trem ely  im p e r t in e n t ,” he said. 
Y ou leave m e no choice.
I sw ear it  to  you!
I refuse to  listen to  you. Y ou ta lk  such nonsense.
“W here shall we have our m e a l? ” “A nyw here you  l ik e .” “ I choose 

th e  k itchen th e n .”
“ Y ou’ve alw ays tre a te d  m e b ad ly  and now  you in s u l t  m e ,”  M aurice 

shouted  in his tu rn .

T h is  use of th e  P resen t In d e fin ite  is also often  found  in  exclam atory , 
in te rro g a tiv e  and n eg a tiv e -in te rro g a tiv e  sentences.
e .g . My dear, how you throw  ab o u t your money!

She said : “How sw iftly  th e  years f ly !”
“M ay I help you to  w ash th e  b a b y ? ” “ I t is very  k in d  of you. Ah, 

how  he kicks! H as he sp lashed  y o u ?”
W hy do you ta lk  like  th a t to  me?
I th in k  th e  boy is behav ing  very  bad ly . W hy d o n ’t  y o u  tak e  him  

hom e, Nancy?

4) T he P resent In d efin ite  m ay  be used to  exp ress fu tu re  actions. 
T his occurs in  four d ifferen t cases:

a) I ts  use is s tru c tu ra lly  dependent (see “V erb s” , § 8 ) ,  i.e . com pul­
sory, in subo rd inate  clauses of tim e , condition  and  concession w hen the  
ac tion  refers to  the  fu tu re  (in such  cases we u sua lly  f in d  th e  F u tu re  In ­
de fin ite , or m odal verbs, o r th e  Im p e ra tiv e  Mood in  th e  p r in c ip a l clause).

C lauses of tim e referring to  th e  fu tu re  m ay be in tro d u c e d  by th e  con­
ju n c tio n s  when, w hile , t i l l ,  u n t i l ,  before, a fter, as soon as  and  once.

e.g . W ill you w ait w hile  I look th ro u g h  the  m an u sc rip t?
She w o n ’t go to  bed t i l l  you  come.
1 sha ll have a look a t his p ap e r w hen I ge t i t .

C lauses of condition  are in tro d u ced  by the  co n ju n c tio n s  i f ,  unless , 
on condition (that), provided (p rovid ing)  and in case.

e.g . If you  send me a line  to  m y c lu b , i t ’ll be forw arded  a t  once.
B u t 1 m ust have th e  doctor h an d y , in case she feels w orse.

N o t e .  In clauses other than  those of tim e and condition , th e  F u tu re  Indefinite 
is used even if these clauses are introduced by the conjunctions i f  and  when.

e.g. I wonder if the tape recorder w ill eventually  replace the record player.
The im portan t th ing  to know is w hen th e  book w ill come ou t.

Clauses of concession are introduced by the con junctions even if, 
even though, no m atter how, whenever, whatever, however, e tc .

e .g . E ven if he hates me I shall n ev er do him  any  h a rm .
“Y ou k n o w ,” he sa id , “w h a tev e r happens we m u s t keep D orothy 

ou t of th i s .”
I ’ll have d inner w henever i t ’s ready.

b) I ts  use is lex ically  dependen t in object clauses a f te r  to see ( to ) ,  
to take care and to make (be) sure.
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e.g . I ’ll see  th a t  th e  lady is p ro p erly  looked after.
H er h u sb a n d  w ill look a fte r  her, and  m ake sure  no harm  comes 

to  h e r.
H e w ill  ta k e  care  th a t no one  in terferes w ith  them .

c) T h e  use of th e  P resen t In d e fin ite  w ith  reference to  th e  im m e­
d ia te  fu tu re  is  also  s tru c tu ra lly  dependent in som e special questions.

e.g . W h a t do  w e do next?  (Ч то мы будем сейчас делать?)
W h ere  do we go now? (К уда мы сейчас пойдем?)
W h a t happens nex t?  (Ч то сейчас будет?)

d) T h e  P re sen t Indefin ite  m ay  be used to  in d ica te  a fu tu re  ac tion  
w hich  is  c e r ta in  to  ta k e  p lace  accord ing  to  a tim e-tab le , program , sched­
ule, co m m an d  o r arrangem ent w orked ou t for a person o r persons of­
fic ia lly . In  th is  case th e  sen tence u sua lly  contains an in d ica tio n  of tim e.

e.g . “ Is M r D esert in ? ” “No, S ir. Mr D esert has ju s t s ta rte d  for th e  
E a s t .  H is  ship sa ils  to m o rro w .” (according to  th e  tim e-tab le )

O u r to u r is t  group sleep a t  th e  G lobo hotel th is  n ig h t and  s ta r t  for 
B e r lin  tom orrow  m orn ing , (according to  th e  itinera ry )

“C an  y o u  te ll me w hat tim e  th e  gam e s ta r ts  today , p lease?” (accord­
in g  to  th e  schedule)

W h en  does Ted re tu rn  from  his honey-m oon? (according to  his of­
f ic ia l leave  of absence)

Y ou see, in  six  weeks h is reg im ent goes back to  th e  fro n t, (accord­
in g  to  th e  com m and)

N o t e .  I t  should be noted tha t th is  use o f the Present Indefin ite  is not in ter­
changeable w ith  th e  Present C ontinuous. (See “V erbs” , § 11.)

5) T h e  P re sen t In d efin ite  is used in  lite ra ry  sty le  to  describe a suc­
cession of ac tio n s  in th e  p a s t— i t  is used to  m ake a v iv id  n a rra tiv e  of 
past e v e n ts . T h is  ap p lica tio n  of th e  P resen t Indefin ite  is o ften  called 
in  g ram m ars  th e  historic  or dram atic  P resen t.

e .g . S h e  a r r iv e s  fu ll of life  and  s p ir i t . And about a q u a r te r  of an  hou r 
la te r  she s its  down in a  ch a ir, says she doesn’t feel w ell, gasps 
a b i t  and  dies.

T he P resen t C ontinuous

§ 11. T h e  P resen t C ontinuous is an  an a ly tica l form  w hich  is b u ilt 
up by m ean s of th e  au x ilia ry  v e rb  to be in  the  P resen t In d e fin ite  and  
th e  m g -fo rm  of th e  n o tiona l verb  (e.g. I  am  working, he is working, 
e tc .) . T h e  sam e au x ilia ry  is used  in the  in te rroga tive  and the  negative  
form (e .g . A re  you working?, I s  he working?, We are no t working, He 
is  no t w o rk in g , e tc .) . In  spoken E nglish  the  con trac ted  form s I 'm ,  h e 's  
and  w e’re  sh o u ld  be used in  a ffirm a tiv e  sentences and  is n ’t  and aren’t 
in  n e g a tiv e  sentences.

T h e  m g-fo rm  is b u ilt up by  ad d in g  th e  suffix  -ing  to  th e  stem  of th e  
verb  (e.g . speak s p e a k in g ) .

In  w r it in g  th e  follow ing sp e llin g  ru les should be observed:
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a) A  m ute  -e a t th e  end of th e  verb  is dropped before  th e  suffix  -¡ng 
(e.g. close—closing, m ake—m aking).

b) A  final consonant is doub led  if it  is preceded by  a  sh o rt stressed 
vowel o r if a verb  ends in  a stressed -e r  (-ur) (e.g. c u t—c u t t in g , begin— 
beginning , prefer— preferring, occur— occurring).

c) A fina l -1 is alw ays doubled (e.g. travel— tra v e llin g , quarrel—quar- 
re I ling).

d) A fina l -y  is preserved no  m a tte r  w hat sound i t  is preceded by 
(e.g. s tu d y— studying , s tay—sta y in g ).

e) A final -ie  changes in to  -y  (e.g. lie— ty ing , lie— ly ing).

§ 12. The Present C ontinuous is used w ith  d y n am ic  v e rb s  in th e  fol­
low ing cases:

1) I t  serves to  express an ac tio n  going on a t th e  p resen t m om ent, 
i.e . th e  m om ent of speaking. T h a t  m eans th a t  th e  ac tio n  began before 
th e  m om ent of speaking, is now in  progress and  w ill c o n tin u e  for some 
tim e . T he precise tim e  lim its  of th e  ac tion  are no t know n, its  beg inning  
and its  end  are not specified. T h e  in d ica tio n  of tim e  is n o t necessary  in 
th is  case though occasionally  such  adverb ia l m odifiers as now  and  at 
present a re  found.

e.g . “D o you know w here P h ilip  is ? ” “ I expect he is ta lk in g  to  M o th e r.”
I asked: “ Is any th ing  new  h ap pen ing?”
“O h, h u llo ,” he sa id . “Do you  w an t to  see m e?” “ N o, th a n k s . I ’m 

looking for my fa th e r .”
T ears flowed slow ly down h er cheeks. “W hat a re  you  cry in g  fo r?”
“O h, m um m y! The eggs a re  burning! The coffee is b o ilin g  over! 

W here is the  large tray ?  W here  do you keep th in g s ? ” cried  Ade­
line.

2) T he Present C ontinuous is also  used to  express an  ac tio n  going 
on a t th e  presen t period. In  th is  case th e  precise tim e  lim its  of th e  ac tion  
are  no t know n either. Besides, th e  ac tio n  m ay o r m ay  n o t be g o ing  on 
a t th e  ac tu a l m om ent of speak ing . As in  th e  prev ious case , in d ica tio n s  
of tim e  are no t necessary here e ith e r .

e.g . B u t y o u ’ve not been in E n g la n d  m uch la te ly . P u b lic  o p in io n  is 
changing. I m ust te ll you  ab o u t it.

H e lit  a c igare tte  and  a lm ost im m ed ia te ly  began  to  cough. “The 
dam ned th ings a re  k il l in g  m e .”

“A nd w hat are  you doing in  G en ev a?” “ I ’m w ritin g  a  p l a y ,” said 
A shenden.

T he g rea t de tective has re tire d  from  business. H e  is g row ing  roses 
in  a l i t t le  co ttage  in D ork ing .

I s ta y  indoors m ost of th e  t im e . I 'm  ca tch ing  up w ith  m y stu d ies .
T h e y ’re  g e ttin g  ready to m ove to  th e ir  new house.

Som etim es th is  P resen t C on tinuous shows th a t  fo r th e  t im e  being 
a ce rta in  ac tion  happens to  be th e  m ost im p o rta n t and  c h a ra c te r is tic  
occupation  for its  doer (for th is  see th e  last four ex am p les  above).
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N o t e .  N otice th e  phrase “to  be busy doing som ething”. I t  is synonym ous in 
m eaning w ith  th e  Present C ontinuous in  the first and second cases of its  use. The 
phrase is very com m on in  English.
e.g. F a th e r is busy cu tting  the grass in  th e  garden.

Nigel is busy getting  himself in to  P arliam ent.

3) T h e  P re sen t C on tinuous is  som etim es used to  express ac tions 
g en era lly  ch a rac te riz in g  th e  person  denoted by th e  su b jec t, b ring ing  
o u t th e  p e rso n ’s ty p ica l t ra i ts .  O ften  such adverb ia l m odifiers as alw ays, 
constan tly , e tc . a re  found in  th e se  sentences.

e .g . P eo p le  a re  a lw ays b lam in g  th e ir  circum stances for w h a t th ey  are. 
O h, th e  E nglishI T h e y ’re  a lw ays th ink ing  of te a .
“ Y o u ’re  a lw ays show ing o ff, ” she sa id  to  her b ro th e r in  a loud 

w h isp er.
H er h u sb an d  re to rted : “ Y o u ’re  co n stan tly  com plain ing  th a t  you 

h a v e  to o  m uch to  d o .”

T h e  P re sen t C ontinuous in  th is  case im parts  a su b jec tiv e , em o tion ­
a lly  co lou red  to n e . W hen no em o tio n a l colouring is im p lied , th e  P resen t 
In d e fin ite  is used to  give an  o b jec tiv e  ch arac teris tic  (see “V erb s” , § 10,
b).

Cf. O ld  u n c le  H a rry  is a lw ays th in k in g  h e ’s going to  be ru ined .
You p eo p le  alw ays th in k  I ’v e  a  bag of m oney.

N o t e .  N otice th e  following sentence patterns, in which recurrent actions are 
m ade em otionally  coloured by the use of the Present Continuous.
e.g. I w onder if a ll grown-up people p lay  in  th a t childish way when nobody Is looking? 

W hen A deline is grinning we Know she is happy.
W hen I see him  he is alw ays ea ting  something.

4) T h e  P resen t C ontinuous is  used to  express ac tions w hich  w ill 
ta k e  p lace  in  th e  n ear fu tu re  d u e  to  o n e ’s previous decision . F o r th a t 
reason  th e  a c tio n  is regarded as so m eth ing  defin ite ly  se ttle d . W e u sua lly  
find  an  in d ic a tio n  of fu tu re  t im e  in  th is  case (see also  “V erb s” , § 4 7 ).

e .g . “ I a m  sa ilin g  ea rly  n ex t m o n th ,” he said .
A re yo u  d in in g  ou t to n ig h t?
H e is  h a v in g  a  m eeting  w ith  th e  men th is  afternoon.
“ I ’m  s ta y in g  th e  n ig h t a t  G reen  S tre e t,” said  V al.

N o t e .  I t  should be noted th a t in  a ll the four above described uses th e  actions 
expressed by  verbs in  the Present C ontinuous usually serve as the centre of com m uni­
ca tio n  in  the  sentence.

§ 13. A s has been sa id  above, th e  P resen t C ontinuous is used w ith  
d y n a m ic  v e rb s . H ow ever, som e s ta t iv e  verbs (see “V erb s” , § 2, 2) when 
th e y  ch an g e  th e ir  m ean ing  can  b e  used in th e  C ontinuous form .

e .g . “A re  you  seeing  ( ;ia re  to n ig h t? ” she asked.
H e  sa id , “ I ’m  seeing you  h o m e .”
“W h a t’s th e  new s?” “ N o th in g  y e t. I ’m expecting a  c a l l .”
“A re yo u  going in th e  w a te r? ” Svbil sa id . “ I ’m seriously  consider­

ing  i t . ”
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J a n e  tu rned  aw ay. “ T he th in g  to  d o ,”  she s a id , “ is to  pay  no a t te n ­
tio n  to  h im . H e is ju s t being s i l ly .”

N o t e .  Notice th a t in cases like those above th e  verb to be approaches to  to 
behave in meaning.

Special a tte n tio n  shou ld  be p a id  to  th e  v e rb  to have w hich in i ts  
o rig ina l m eaning of to possess does no t a d m it of th e  C ontinuous form .

e.g . Sudden ly  he cam e in  and said : “H ave y o u  a  le t te r  for me, p o s t­
m an ?”

B ut w ith  a change of its  m eaning, the  use of th e  C ontinuous form 
becom es the ru le  if i t  is requ ired  by the  sense. N am ely , it  occurs when 
to have  is p a rt of set phrases, as in : to have a sm oke, to have a bath, to  
have a w alk, to have d in n er , to have coffee, to ha ve  a p a rty , to have trou­
ble , to have a good ho lid a y , to have som ething done , to have to do some- 
th in g  and  the  like.

e .g . “W here is M r F ra n k lin ? ” he asked. “H e ’s h a v in g  a ba th . H e 'l l  
be rig h t o u t .”

I know you a re  h av in g  your d ifficu lties .
My v illage  w ill be as p re tty  as a p ic tu re . T rees a long  th e  s tre e t. 

You see, I ’m h av in g  them  p lan ted  a lre a d y .

Som e of th e  o th e r verbs included  in th e  l is t of s ta t iv e  verbs m ay also  
be occasionally  used in  th e  C ontinuous form . T h en  th e  ae tions in d ica ted  
by  these  verbs express g rea t in ten s ity  of feeling .

e .g . “ Y ou’ll find  i t  a g rea t change to  liv e  in  N ew  Y o rk .” “A t th e  p re ­
sen t tim e  I ’m  h a tin g  i t , ” she sa id  in  an  expression less tone.

“S tra n g e ,” he sa id , “ how, w hen people a re  e ith e r  very  young o r  
very  o ld , th ey  a re  alw ays w an tin g  to  do so m eth in g  th ey  shou ld  
no t d o .”

B u t, my dear m o ther, th e  co m m ittee ’s depend ing  on you.
D ear Am y, I ’ve se ttled  in now and I am  lik in g  m y new  life v e ry  

m uch.

§ 14. Som e d u ra tiv e  verbs, for exam ple , v e rb s  of bod ily  sensa tion  
(to ache, to feel, to h u r t, to itch, e tc .) and such v e rb s  as to wear, to look 
( = fo  seem ), to shine  and  o thers can  be used e i th e r  in  th e  P resen t In d ef­
in ite  or in the P resen t C ontinuous w ith  l i t t le  d ifference  in m eaning.

Cf. S cra tch  yourself if you itch .
M y hands are itching. I m ust go and w ash  th e  suds off.
Y ou’re looking w e ll, cousin Joan.
You look q u ite  happy today.
“ I know w h at you a re  feeling , R o y ,” she sa id . “W e a ll feel e x a c tly  

th e  sa m e .”
A fter a pause F red  added, “H e  d rinks m ore  th a n  is good for h im . 

I ’m hoping h e ’ll go s tra ig h t w h ile  he is  a t  h o m e .”
“G ood-bye,” she sa id . “ I hope you re tu rn  from  th e  w ar i n t a c t .”
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The P resent P erfect
§ 15. T he P re se n t Perfect is an  a n a ly tic a l form  w hich is b u ilt up 

by m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb to have  in the  P resen t Indefin ite  and  the 
p a rtic ip le  of th e  n o tio n a l verb  (e.g. I  have worked, He has worked, e tc .). 
(On the  fo rm atio n  of th e  p a rtic ip le  see “V erb s,” § 5  and A ppendix  I.) 
The sam e a u x ilia ry  is used to  form the  in te rro g a tiv e  and the  negative  
forms (e.g. H a ve  you  worked?, H as he worked?, I t  has not worked, They have  
not worked). In  spoken  E nglish  the  co n trac ted  forms I 'v e ,  h e ’s, she's, 
i t 's ,  w e’ve, y o u ’ve  and  they 've  are used in  affirm ativ e  sentences and 
haven’t  and  h a s n 't  in negative  sentences.

§ 16. T he P re se n t P erfect fa lls w ith in  th e  tim e  sphere of th e  presen t 
and is no t used in  n a rra tio n  w here reference is m ade to  past even ts. I t  
follows from  th a t  th a t  th e  P resen t Perfect is used in  present*tim e con­
tex ts , i.e . co n v ersa tio n s , new spaper and  rad io  reports, lectures and 
letters.

T he P re sen t P e rfec t has th ree  d is tin c t uses. T hey w ill be fu rth e r 
referred to  as P re sen t Perfect I, P resen t P erfect II  and  P resen t P e r­
fect I I I .

1) P resen t P e rfec t I is th e  P resen t P erfec t proper. I t  is used to  ex ­
press an  acco m p lish ed  ac tio n  w hich is v iew ed from  th e  m om ent of speak ­
ing  as p a rt of th e  p resen t s itu a tio n . A tten tio n  in  th is  case is cen tred  on 
th e  ac tion  itse lf . T h e  circum stances u n d er w hich  th e  ac tion  occurred 
appear u n im p o r ta n t and  im m ateria l a t th e  m om ent and need no t be m en­
tioned.

e.g. He is very  sen s itiv e , I hav e  discovered th a t.
I ’ve had  a ta lk  w ith  h im . H e says he has a ll th e  proof he w an ts. 
Such news! W e ’ve bought a  racehorse.
“ I ’ve spo iled  e v e ry th in g ,” she sa id .
H is sec re ta ry  sa id  ta c tfu lly : “ I ’ve p u t o ff you r o th e r ap p o in tm en t 

for a w h i le .”

I t shou ld  b e  espec ia lly  noted  th a t tho u g h  th e  ac tion  expressed in 
th e  P resen t P e rfec t is regarded as a lready  accom plished, it  belongs to  
th e  p re sen t-tim e  sp h ere  and  is trea ted  as a presen t ac tion . I t  becomes 
obvious from  th e  periph rasis:

I ’ve heard  th e  d o c to r’s o p in io n -* I know  th e  do c to r’s op in ion .
S h e’s gone off to  th e  w oods-»She is in th e  woods.

A s im ila r  idea  of an  accom plished ac tio n  is a lso  traced in  such  ex ­
pressions re fe rrin g  to  th e  presen t as “ H e is aw ak e” , “ I ’m la te ” , “The 
w ork is d o n e ” , “ T h e  door is locked” , etc.

N o t e. As a ru le, th e  Present Perfect serves to denote single accom plished ac­
tions (see the exam ples above). B ut it  may also express recurrent actions or actions 
or sta tes of som e duration .
e.g. “ I ’ve done bad th in g s ,” I said , “ but 1 don’t th in k  I could have done some of 

the th ings y o u ’ve done.”
W e’ve all been young once, you know. W e’ve all fe lt it, Roy.
“ Y ou’ve so often  been helpful in  the p a s t .” “ I ’ve tr ied ,” said Joseph.
You th in k  I 'v e  been idle, don’t you?
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Since it  is th e  ac tio n  itse lf th a t th e  P resen t P e rfec t m akes im p o r ta n t, 
i t  is frequently  used to  open up co n v ersa tio n s (new spaper and  ra d io  
reports, o r le tte rs) o r to  in troduce a new to p ic  in  th em . H ow ever, if th e  
conversation  (report o r  letter) con tinues on  th e  sam e sub jec t, g o ing  
in to  d e ta il, th e  P resen t Perfect usually  ch an g es to  th e  P ast In d e fin ite , 
as th e  la tte r  is used to  refer to  ac tions o r  s i tu a tio n s  w hich a re  d e f in ite  
in  th e  m ind of th e  speaker. U sually  (bu t n o t necessarily ) some co n cre te  
c ircum stances of th e  ac tio n  (tim e, p lace, cau se , purpose, m anner, e tc .)  
are m entioned in  th is  case.

e.g . (Tom C anty, in the role o f the k in g  now, g e ts  interested in two women  
who are being led to execution.)

“W hat is i t  th ey  hav e  done?” asked T om .
“Please, your M ajesty , they have so ld  th em se lv es to  the  d ev il— su ch  

is th e ir  c r im e .”
Tom  shuddered.
“W here was th is  done—and w hen?”
“At m id n ig h t, in  Decem ber, in  a ru in e d  ch u rch , your M a je s ty .” 
“W ho was p re se n t? ”
“O nly  these tw o, you r M ajesty ,—and  th a t  o th e r .”
“ H ave they  confessed?”
“No, your M ajesty , th ey  deny i t . ”
“Then how w as i t  know n?”
“C erta in  w itnesses saw  them  going th e re , you r M ajesty, and  t h a t  

aroused susp icion . Soon a fte r there  was a te r r ib le  sto rm  th a t  d estro y ed  
th e  w hole re g io n .”

“You are a ll r ig h t. Y ou are com ing ro u n d . A re your feeling b e t te r ? ”  
“ I ’m q u ite  a ll r ig h t. B ut w hat has happened? W here am  I ? ” 
“ Y ou’re in  a dug-ou t. You were buried  b y  a bom b from a tren ch *  

m ortar. ”
“Oh, was I? B u t how  did I g e t h e re?”
“Someone dragged you. I am  afra id  som e of you r men were k i l le d ,  

and several o th e rs  w ere w ounded.”

“Pussy C at, P ussy  C at,
W here have you been?”
“ I ’ve been to  London 
To look a t  th e  Q u e e n .”
“Pussy C at, P ussy  C at,
W h at did you  see th e re ? ”
“ I saw a l i t t le  m ouse 
U nder her c h a ir .”

As is seen from  th e  above exam ples, th e  P resen t Perfect is u sed  to  
nam e a new ac tio n , w hereas th e  P ast In d e f in ite  is used to  refer b a c k  to  
a d efin ite  ac tion  and  th e  a tten tio n  in th is  case  is often draw n r a th e r  to  
th e  c ircum stances a tte n d in g  the  ac tion  th a n  to  th e  ac tion  itself.

N o t e .  The functions of the Present Perfect an d  the  P ast Indefinite m ay be  in  
a way compared w ith  those of the indefinite and th e  defin ite  articles.
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As the indefin ite  a r tic le  is used when an object is ju s t named (e.g. Give me a 
book, She is a  teacher, /  have a  brother), so th e  Present Perfect serves to  name 
an accomplished ac tion  (see th e  examples above).

Both the defin ite  a r tic le  and the Past Indefin ite are used when an object or an 
action , respectively, is defin ite  in  the mind of the speaker (e.g. The book is on the 
table. The teacher returned  the test).

As has been sa id , P re sen t Perfect I is m a in ly  used to  in troduce  a 
new  top ic . B u t i t  m ay  a lso  be used to  sum  up  a  s itu a tio n .

e.g . “B ut I can n o t do  a n y th in g  unless I am  to ld  th e  w hole t r u t h . ” “B u t 
I have to ld  y o u  th e  t r u th .”

H e d isp layed  a  b a sk e t fu ll of tom atoes. “ I rea lly  have taken m ore 
th an  I n e e d .”

“ I ’m  afra id  I ’v e  been horrib ly  boring  and  ta lk ed  to o  m u c h ,” she 
said  as she p ressed  m y hand.

“A gatha  has to ld  m e every th ing . H ow  c lev erly  you have bo th  kep t 
your s e c re t .”

“ You and  y o u r  w ife  hav e  been very  good to  m e. T hank  y o u .”

In  accordance w ith  i ts  m ain  function—ju s t  to  nam e an accom plished 
a c tio n —th e  P resen t P e rfec t is generally used w hen th e  tim e  of th e  
ac tio n  is no t g iven .

e .g . H e sa t down o n  th e  edge of the  c h a ir  close to  w here she w as 
s tan d in g . “ Y ou  have n o t changed ,” he sa id . “ No? W hat have 
you com e fo r? ”  “ T o discuss th in g s .” “ I ’ve heard  w hat you w an t 
from  y o u r c o u s in .” “W ell?” “Does she  have a job  of som e 
k in d ? ” “ I b e lie v e  sh e ’s been som eone’s se c re ta ry .”

“M r P yke h as  to ld  m e such wonderful th in g s  about you, W a lte r .” 
“ I h a v e n ’t  th o u g h t ab o u t i t , “ she re tu rn ed .

H ow ever, so m etim es, even though th e re  m ay  be no in d ica tio n  of 
p a s t tim e  in th e  sen ten ce , th e  Present P erfec t canno t be used because 
reference is m ade to  h appen ings which are  d e fin ite  in  the  m ind of th e  
sp eak er (e ither becau se  th e  ac tion  has a lread y  been m entioned o r be­
cau se  the  s itu a tio n  is  v e ry  w ell known to  th e  lis tener). In  th is  case 
t h e  use of th e  P a s t In d e f in i te  is very com m on.
e .g . Did you sleep w ell?

Did you en joy  th e  p lay ?
Did you like th e  book?
W hat did you  say?
Did you h e a r  w h a t h e  said?
I d id n ’t  h ea r y o u r  question .
I d id n ’t  u n d e rs tan d  you.
Did you hav e  a  good  jo u rn ey  (trip , r id e , flig h t, day , tim e)?
Did you see th e  acc id en t?
I ’m sorry I lo s t m y  tem per.
“W hat so rt of p la c e  has L au ra?” “ I d id n ’t  n o t ic e .”

I t  is possible, how ever, to  use the  P resen t P erfec t w hen th e re  is an 
a d v erb ia l m odifier of t im e  in  th e  sentence th a t  denotes a period of tim e
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w hich is no t over y e t, e.g. today, th is  m orning, th is w eek, th is  
m onth , th is year, e tc .

e.g. W hat R osanna has done ton igh t is c lea r enough. (T on igh t is no t 
over y e t.)

T h is  year we have  taken on ly  one a s s is ta n t. (This y ear is n o t o v er.)
“ I have had  on ly  one new dress th is  sum m er, ” excla im ed  J u n e . 

(This sum m er is no t over ye t.)

C onversely, if  th e  period is over o r reference is m ade to  a p a r t ic u la r  
past p o in t of t im e  w ith in  th a t p erio d , th e  P a s t In d efin ite  is  u sed .

e.g . “ Did you see th e  le tte r  in th e  “T im e s” th is  m orning?” ( I t  is n o  lo n g ­
er m orn ing .) "N o. I h av en ’t  had  tim e  to  look a t a p ap e r t o d a y ” 
(T oday is no t over yet.)

“W hom  do you  th in k  I passed in R ichm ond  P ark  today?” (T o d ay  
is no t over, bu t th e  ac tion  to o k  p lace  a t a p a r tic u la r  p o in t  of 
tim e  w ith in  today , nam ely w hen th e  person w as in R ich m o n d  
P ark .)

“ I w asn ’t v e ry  w ell th is m orning, b u t I ’m  perfec tly  a ll r ig h t n o w .” 
(This m orn ing  is over.)

N o t e .  It should be noted tha t som etim es an  adverbial modifier of p lace  po in ts  
to  a past period oi tim e.

e.g. Did you see him a t the theatre? ( =  when you were at the theatre)
I ran in to  her in  Oxford Street. (— when I was in Oxford Street)

T he P resen t P erfect may be found w ith  ce rta in  adverbs of in d e f i­
n ite  tim e  and  frequency such as ju s t  (только  что), n o t...y e t, a lready , 
before, a lw ays, ever, never, o ften , seldom , recently, lately, o f la te , e tc .

e.g. S h e ’s ju s t m issed being run  over.
I h a v e n ’t  even had  coffee yet.
W e’ve m ade one or tw o p lans for y o u  already.
H e has never  m ade a sixpence by  a n y  of his books.
H ave you  heard  of him  la tely?
“W hat is th e  p o in t? ” “I ’ve m ade i t  c lea r enough before.”

B u t it  shou ld  be no ted  th a t th e  use of th e  P resen t P erfect is  b y  no 
m eans o b lig a to ry  w ith  th e  above m en tio n ed  adverbs, because a n y  o th e r  
tense-aspect form  m ay be used w ith  th e se  adverbs if it  is re q u ire d  by  
th e  sense.

e.g . H e w as s tu d y in g  to  be a p ia n is t, b u t he never touches th e  p ia n o  
now.

H e n o ticed  th a t  th e  leaves of th e  c h e s tn u t w ere already  b e g in n in g  
to  tu rn  yellow  and  brown.

H is room  w as n o t yet furnished, an d  he fe lt th a t  he w o u ld  h av e  
liked it  to  rem ain  em pty.

N o t e  1. N otice the use of the P as t Indefin ite  w ith  ju s t now. 

e.g. I told you ju s t  now  I had never had tim e for m uch fun.
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N o t e  2. Russian s tuden ts  of English, under th e  influence of the Russian 
language, tend to use th e  adverb  already nearly in  every sentence contain ing  the 
P resen t Perfect. That is not characteristic  of the English language as it  is sufficient 
to  use the Present Perfect alone to  express an accomplished action . The addition  of 
already  appears redundant in  m any cases.

I t  follows from  th e  ab o v e  g iven  rules th a t  th e  P resen t Perfect is no t 
u sed  w hen th e re  is an  in d ic a tio n  of past tim e  in th e  sentence. In  th is  case 
th e  P a s t In d efin ite  is used  because th e  m ention  of th e  de fin ite  past 
t im e  tie s  th e  ac tion  to  th e  p as t- tim e  sphere, as it  w ere, and  it  cannot 
b re a k  th rough  to  th e  p re sen t.
e .g . “ P u t on your c lo thes a t once and come w ith  m e .” “ B ut w hat is it?  

Has som eth ing  h ap p en ed ?” “ I ’m afra id  so. Y our husband  was 
taken i l l  th is  a fte rn o o n .”

“M. P o iro t, you  h av e  no  idea of w hat I hav e  gone th ro u g h .” “ 1 
know your w ife died  ju s t  over a year ago .”

H ence th e  P resen t P e rfec t is no t used in questions in troduced  by 
w hen.

e .g . W hen  did you a c tu a lly  a rriv e?
When did you change y o u r m ind?

In  special questions b eg in n in g  w ith  where and  how  th e  P as t Indef­
in i t e  is also no rm ally  u sed . T he Present P erfect is no t com m on here 
b ecau se  th e  a tte n tio n  in  such  sentences is d raw n to  th e  circum stances 
o f th e  ac tion  ra th e r  th a n  to  th e  occurrence itse lf, w hich  m eans th a t  th e  
sp e a k e r  has a d e fin ite  ac tio n  in  m ind.

e .g . “Where did you r u n c le  receive his g u ests?” “ R ig h t h e re .”
“How  did he get in ? ” I asked , and E vans sa id , “O h, he has a k e y .” 
“W here is m y ha t?  W here did I leave my h a t? ”

N o t e .  The question “ W here have you been?” can be asked as soon as the per­
son  comes back o r is located.

e .g . “ Hello, Mum. I ’m  sorry I ’m  la te .” “Where have you been?”
In  all other cases it  should be “ W here were you?”

e .g . “ Did the party  go off n ice ly ?” “ I don’t know. I w asn’t  th e re .” “ Where were 
you?”

In  special questions b eg in n in g  w ith  in te rro g a tiv e  w ords o ther th an  
th o s e  m entioned  above (e .g . who, w hat, why, w h a t...fo r  and o thers), 
b o th  th e  P resen t P erfec t an d  th e  P as t Indefin ite  a re  possible. The choice 
d ep en d s  on th e  m ean ing  to  be conveyed. If reference is m ade to  an  action 
w h ic h  is p as t or d e fin ite  in  th e  m inds of th e  people speak ing , or if there  
is  a  change of scene, th e  P a s t  In d efin ite  is used; if reference is m ade to  
a n  ac tio n  w hich  is s t i l l  v a lid  as p a rt of th e  presen t s itu a tio n , th e  P res­
e n t  P erfec t should  be used .

e .g .  “ W hat h ave  I done a g a in s t y o u ?” she b u rst o u t defian tly . “N o­
th in g .” “T hen  w h y  c a n ’t  we get o n ? ”

“ I know she gav e  h im  a  good sco ld ing .” “W ha t did he do?” 
L ooking up a t h er h e  sa id : “D oro thy’s gone to  a  garden  p a r ty .”
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“ I know . W hy  h av en ’t yo u  gone to o ? ”
W hy  d id n ’t  you speak to m y fa th e r  yourself on th e  b o a t?

N o t e  1. As to  general questions, th e  P resen t Perfect as well as th e  P a s t Indef­
in ite  may be found in them because they  m ay inquire either abou t new fac ts  which 
are of im portance foi the present o r ab o u t events th a t are definite in th e  m ind  of 
the speaker.

N o t e 2. In  the following exam ple the  verb to be is used in th e  m ean ing  to 
vis it, to go. H ence the use of the preposition  to after it . I t  is no tew orthy  th a t to 
be acquires th is  m eaning and is followed by the preposition to only in th e  Present 
Perfect and th e  P ast Perfect.
e.g. Renny said : “ He has been to Ireland to o .”

“ Have you been to a sym phony  con ce rt?” he continued.
N o t e  3. The com bination has/have go t m ay be used as th e  P resen t Perfect 

of the verb to get (which is not very com m on though).
e.g. I don’t know w hat’s got into S teven today .

He has got in to  financial difficulties and needs cash.
B ut i t  is often used as a set phrase w hich has two different m eanings— to possess 

(a) and to be obliged (b).

e.g. a) “ Have you got a telephone?” she looked round the room.
“ I d o n ’t  th ink  we’ve got any ch o ice ,”  said Francis, 

b) “ N o ,” he said loudly, “there are som e risks you’ve got to  ta k e .”
“ It doesn’t m atter what caused i t , ” said M artin. “ We have got to  tak e  the 

consequences.”

In th is case the tim e reference also changes — has!have got is the P resen t Per­
fect only in form; it  actually  indicates a present sta te  of thing.1?.

N o t e  4. She is gone is a survival of the  old Present Perfect w hich w as formed 
w ith  certain  verbs by means of the  au x ilia ry  to be. In present-day E n g lish  i t  is 
to  be treated  as a set phrase meaning she is not here any longer.

2) P resen t Perfect II  serves to  express an ac tion  w h ich  b eg an  be­
fore th e  m om ent of speaking and  co n tin u es  in to  it  or up to  i t .  T h is  g ram ­
m atica l m ean ing  is m ain ly  expressed by  th e  P resen t P e rfec t C o n tin u o u s  
(see “V erb s” , § 18). How ever, th e  P resen t Perfect N o il-C on tinuous is 
found in  th e  follow ing cases:

a) I ts  use is com pulsory w ith  s ta t iv e  verbs (see “V e rb s” , § 2, 2).

e.g . I ’ve know n th e  young lady a ll  h er life .
I ’ve loved her since she w as a  c h ild .
“B u t w e’ve been in conference for tw o  h o u rs ,” he sa id . “ I t ’s tim e  

w e had  a tea  b re a k .”

b) W ith  som e dynam ic verbs of d u ra tiv e  m eaning  th e  P re se n t P e r­
fect is som etim es used instead o f th e  P resen t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  w ith  
l i t t le  d ifference in m eaning.

e .g . “ I t ’s a  p re tty  room , isn ’t  i t ? ” “ I ’ve s le p t in i t  fo r f if te e n  y e a rs .” 
“ I ’m  g lad  to  m eet y o u ,” h e  sa id . “ I ’ve w aited  a long w h ile  and 

began to  be afra id  I ’d n o t h av e  th e  o p p o r tu n ity .”
H e ’s looked a fte r Miss G regg for m any  years now.

As to  te rm in a tiv e  verbs, th e y  can  o n ly  have th e  m ean in g  o f P resen t 
P erfect I and  never of Present P e rfec t I I .



S in ce  it  is often d iff ic u lt to  draw  th e  lin e  betw een d u ra tiv e  and 
te rm in a t iv e  verbs, i t  is recom m ended th a t s tu d e n ts  of E ng lish  should 
u se  th e  P resen t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  w ith  all d ynam ic  verbs to  express 
an  a c tio n  begun in  th e  p a s t an d  continued in to  th e  p resen t.

c) T h e  P resen t Perfect is  preferred  to  th e  P resen t P erfect C o n tin ­
u o u s  in  n eg a tiv e  sen tences, w h en  i t  is th e  ac tion  itse lf  th a t  is com pletely  
n e g a te d  (see also  “V e rb s” , § 19).

e .g . “ S h a ll w e s it  down a l i t t le ?  W e h av en ’t  sa t h ere  for ag e s .”
“ I w as ju s t h av ing  a  look a t  th e  p a p e r ,” he sa id . “ I h a v e n ’t  read 

th e  paper for th e  la s t tw o  d a y s .”
“S he h a s n ’t  w ritten  to  m e for a y e a r ,” sa id  R oy .

I t  is  n o tew orthy  th a t  P re se n t Perfect I I  is associa ted  w ith  certa in  
t im e  in d ic a tio n s—e ith e r th e  w ho le  period of th e  d u ra tio n  of th e  ac tion  
is  m ark ed  o r its  s ta r tin g  p o in t .  In  the  form er case w e find  different 
t im e  in d ica tio n s . Some exp ressions are in troduced  by  th e  p reposition  
fo r  an d  som etim es in  (e.g. fo r  an hour, for m any years, for the last few  
d a y s , fo r  a  long tim e, fo r  so long , fo r  ages, in years, in  a  long w hile , e tc .). 
O th e r  expressions have no  p repositions (e.g. these three years, a l l  this  
w eek , a l l  a long , so long, a l l  o n e 's  life, e tc .).

e .g . T h e  p ic tu re  has been m in e  fo r  years and years.
I ’ve fe lt  d ifferen tly  a b o u t h im  for some tim e.
“W h y  h a v e n ’t I seen you a l l  these m onths?” sa id  H ank ins.
W e h a v e n 't  had any  fun  in  a  long while.
I ’ve w anted  to  go to  th e  sea  a l l  m y life.

T h e  s ta r t in g  poin t of th e  a c tio n  is ind ica ted  by th e  adverb  since, 
a  p re p o s itio n a l phrase w ith  since  o r a clause in troduced  by th e  con­
ju n c tio n  since.

e .g . “ B u t, D in n y , w hen d id  you  m eet h im ?” “O nly  te n  days ago, bu t 
I ’ve seen h im  every d ay  since .”

T h e  sun  has been in  th e  room  since the m orning.
B u t sh e  h as  seemed so  m u ch  b e tte r  since you started  the injections.

In  th e  c lause in troduced  b y  since  the  P as t In d e fin ite  is used to  
in d ic a te  th e  s ta r tin g  p o in t o f an  ac tion  (see th e  ex am p le  above).

H ow ever, we som etim es f in d  in  both  p arts  of such  com plex  sentences 
tw o  p a ra lle l 'a c tio n s  w hich  began  a t the same tim e in  th e  past and  con­
t in u e  in to  th e  presen t. In  th is  case  the  Present P e rfec t is used in  both  
c lau se s .
e .g . I ’ve loved you since  I ’ve know n you.

I t  is n o tew orthy  th a t  th e  in d ic a tio n  of tim e  is in d ispensab le  to  P res­
e n t P e rfec t II  because o th e rw ise  its  m eaning in m ost cases w ould be 
ch an g e d . I t  w ould com e to  d en o te  an  accom plished ac tio n  w hich is part 
of th e  presen t s itua tion  (for th is  see Present P erfect I).

Cf. I ’ve been tau g h t to  do it  fo r  three years.
I h av e  been tau g h t to  do it.
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B ut we m et h im  here ab o u t a m onth  ago. W e h a v e n ’t  heard  from 
h im  since.

W e h av en ’t heard  from  him .
I t ’s h igh tim e  th a t  m an w as tau g h t a lesson. H e ’s m ade no th ing  

bu t tro u b le  fo r  years.
H e ’s made n o th in g  b u t tro u b le .

C are should  be tak en  to  d raw  th e  line betw een th e  use of th e  Present 
P erfect and th e  P as t In d e fin ite  w hen  th e  period of d u ra tio n  is expressed 
by a prepositional ph rase  w ith  for. If th e  period  of d u ra tio n  belongs 
to  th e  p as t tim e  sphere, th e  P a s t In d efin ite  shou ld  be used. I t  is only  
if th e  period  of d u ra tio n  comes close to  th e  m om ent of sp eak ing  or in ­
cludes i t  th a t  th e  P resen t Perfect is used.

Cf. “ I have lived lik e  t h i s ,” he sa id , “for two years, and  I c a n ’t stand  
i t  any  m o re .”

“ I teach  H isto ry  a t a secondary  school. I w e n t to  th e  U niversity  
here fo r four years and got a degree. ”

T he sam e is tru e  of questions beginning  w ith  how long.

Cf. “ D o you rea lly  th in k  t h a t ? ” “ I ’m s u re .” “H ow  long  have you 
been su re?”

“H ullo , G uy. H a v e n ’t seen you about la te ly .” “ I o n ly  got back 
from  P aris  th is  a f te rn o o n .” “How long  d id  you  s tay  th e re?” 

“A re you m arried ?” “ Y e s .” uHow long  h av e  yo u  been m arried ?” 
“A re you m arried ?” “ No. I ’m d iv o rced .” “H ow  long  were you 

m arried ?”

3) P resen t Perfect I I I  is found  in  adverb ia l c lauses of t im e  introduced 
by th e  conjunctions w hen , before, a fte r , as soon as, t i l l  and u n ti l  
w here it  is used to  express a fu tu re  ac tion . I t  show s th a t  th e  action  of 
th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause w ill be  accom plished before  th e  ac tio n  of th e  
p rin c ip a l c lause (w hich is u su a lly  expressed by  th e  F u tu re  Indefin ite). 
T h is use of th e  P resen t P erfect is s tru c tu ra lly  d ep en d en t as i t  is restric ted  
on ly  to  th e  above m entioned ty p es of clauses.

e.g . “ Y o u ’ll f in d ,” sa id  F red , “ th a t  y o u ’ll long fo r hom e when you 
have le ft it. ”

As soon as we hav e  had  som e tea , A nn, we sh a ll  go to  inspect your 
house.

I ’ll tak e  you back in  m y ca r  bu t not t i l l  I ’ve m ade you some 
coffee.

Som etim es th e  P resen t In d e f in ite  is found in  th is  ty p e  of clauses in 
th e  sam e m eaning as th e  P resen t P erfec t. T he choice of th e  form  depends 
on th e  lexical m eaning of th e  verb . W ith  d u ra tiv e  v e rb s  th e  Present 
P erfect is necessary.
e.g . W hen you have had  your te a , w e’ll see ab o u t i t .

I can te ll you w hether th e  m achine is good o r  b ad  w hen I have 
tried  it.
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W ith  te rm in a tiv e  verbs th e  use of bo th  form s is possible.

Cf. H e  say s w hen he retires h e ’ll grow roses.
W hen I ’ve fin ished  th is  I m u st go and  pu t th e  baby  to  bed.
M other w ill s ta y  a t hom e u n ti l  we re tu rn .
“ Y our m o th e r w ou ld n ’t  like  m e .” “You c a n ’t possib ly  say  th a t 

u n ti l  y o u ’ve m et h e r .”

The P resent P erfect Continuous

§ 17. T h e  P resen t Perfect C on tinuous is an an a ly tica l form  w hich 
is b u il t  up  by m eans of the  a u x ilia ry  verb  to be in th e  P resen t Perfect 
and th e  m g-form  of the  no tiona l verb (e.g. I  have been w orking , H e has 
been w orking , e tc .) . (On the  fo rm ation  of the  wg-form  see “V erbs” , 
§ 1 1 .)

In  th e  in te rro g a tiv e  form th e  first au x ilia ry  verb is placed before 
the su b jec t (e .g . H ave you been working,?, H as she been working?, e tc .). 
In th e  n e g a tiv e  form  the neg a tiv e  p a rtic le  not is placed after the  first 
a u x ilia ry  (e .g . W e have not been w orking, They have not been working, 
e tc .). In  spoken  E nglish  the  co n trac ted  form s I've, h e 's , she's, i t ' s , 
w e've, y o u 'v e  and  they 've  are used in affirm ative  sentences and h a sn 't  
and haven 't in  neg a tiv e  sentences.

§ 18. T h e  P resen t Perfect C on tinuous falls w ith in  th e  tim e  sphere 
of th e  p re se n t. H ence it  is no t used in n a rra tio n  w here reference is m ade 
to  past e v e n ts . I t  is found in p resen t-tim e con tex ts, i.e . conversations, 
new spaper and  rad io  reports, lectures and  letters.

T he P re se n t P erfect C ontinuous has tw o uses w hich w ill be fu rther 
referred to  as P resen t Perfect C ontinuous I and P resent P erfec t Con­
tin uous I I .

1) P re sen t P erfec t C ontinuous I serves to  express an ac tion  w hich 
began before  th e  m om ent of speak ing  and  continues in to  it  o r up to it. 
In th is  m ean in g  it  is para lle l to  P resen t Perfect II  and m ay be used 
w ith  th e  sam e  in d ica tio n s of tim e  as have already  been described in 
“V erb s” , § 16.

e.g. H e sa id  he w as in  tow n and  w anted  to  see m e. T hat w as a couple 
of h o u rs  ago and  I have been w aitin g  ever since.

“W e ’ve been s tay ing  here nearly  a w eek."  “ I hope you are  no t th in k ­
in g  of le a v in g .”

“H e r la d y sh ip  is w a itin g  to  see you and Sergeant C u ff ,” he said . 
“H ow  long  has she been w a itin g ? ”

I w ish  y o u ’d go, Chris! W e ’ve been g e ttin g  on each o th e r ’s nerves 
la te ly .

“ I h a v e  been th ink ing  ab o u t i t  for a  long t i m e said  E rik  fran k ­
ly-

I ’ve been  s i t t in g  here qu ite  a  while.
H e ’s y o u r e ld e r b ro ther. B u t you are th e  one who looks a fte r him . 

Y o u ’ve been m aking excuses fof h im  a ll  your life.
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Presen t P e rfec t C ontinuous I m ay  be used w ith  bo th  d u r a t iv e  and  
te rm in a tiv e  verbs.

As has been sa id , Present P e rfec t I I  can  also  be used in  th is  m ean in g  
w ith  d u ra tiv e  verbs, though it  is less ty p ic a l (see also “V e rb s” , § 16, 2) 
and it  is n ev er used w ith  te rm in a tiv e  v e rb s .

I t  s tan d s  to  reason th a t the  P re sen t P erfec t C ontinuous is n o t com ­
mon w ith  s ta t iv e  verbs.

2) P resen t P erfect C ontinuous I I  serves to  express an  a c tio n  w hich  
was in progress q u ite  recently and i ts  e ffect te lls  on th e  p resen t s i tu a t io n  
in  som e w ay . T he precise tim e lim its  of th e  ac tion  (i.e . i ts  b e g in n in g  
and  its  end) are  no t specified. T h is u se  of th e  P resen t P e rfec t C o n ti­
nuous seem s to  be prevailing  o v er its  use described under I . B esides, 
in  th is  m ean ing  th e  Present Perfect C o n tin u o u s  is no t p a ra lle l to  P re se n t 
Perfect II .

e.g. H e began ab ru p tly : “ I ’ve been th in k in g  abou t w h at you  to ld  m e .”
She sa id : “ I 'v e  been ta lk in g  to  y o u r boy-friend, A d e lin e , an d  I 

lik e  h im .”
S h e’s been w ashing her h a ir , b u t i t  m ay  be dry  now.
D o n ’t te ll  you r m other w h a t I ’ve been saying.
H e c lasped  th e  m assive w oolen un d erw ear against his c h e s t .  “J u s t  

w hat I n e e d ,” he declared. “T h e  m o ths have been e a tin g  m in e .”
W hat h av e  you been doing?
Then P h il  called : “ I ’ll be r ig h t dow n. I ’ve been sh u ttin g  th e  w in ­

d o w s.”

T he P resen t Perfect C ontinuous in  th is  case is, as a ru le , n o t  asso­
c ia ted  w ith  an y  ind ica tions of t im e  (see th e  exam ples above). I t  is on ly  
occasionally  found w ith  ind ica tions of a recent period of t im e  o r  w ith  
th e  adverb  ju s t .

e.g. A ugustus has been dining w ith  us ton igh t.
I h av e  been discussing i t  w ith  A rab e lla  th is evening.
I ’ve ju s t  been hav ing  such a  d e lig h tfu l cha t w ith  M a rg a re t.

§ 19. In  n eg a tiv e  sentences th e  P re se n t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  is  no t 
com m on. P resen t Perfect II is p re fe rred  in  th is  case (for e x a m p le s  see 
“V erb s” , § 16, 2c).

H ow ever, th e  P resen t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  is also found in  n e g a tiv e  
sentences b u t in  th is  case the n eg a tio n  does no t refer to  th e  a c t io n  itse lf  
b u t to  th e  circum stances a tte n d in g  th e  ac tion .

e.g . “W e d o n ’t  w ish  to  overtire  th e  b o y s .” “A w alk  w ould o n ly  do  th em  
g o o d ,” J e n n y  said . “T hey  h a v e n 't  been sleeping a t  a ll  w e ll re ­
c e n t ly ” (w hich means th a t  th e y  hav e  been sleep ing  b u t  th e ir  
sleep has no t been sound enough).

I ’m so rry  I ’m  late . I hope y o u  h a v e  n o t been w a itin g  for m e  (w hich  
m eans th a t  I know you h av e  been  w a itin g  b u t I h o p e  i t  is  n o t 
for me).
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§  20. I t  is no tew orthy  th a t  P resen t Perfect C o n tinuous I and  p a rtic ­
u la r ly  P resen t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  II  are som etim es found w ith  s ta tiv e  
v e rb s .

e .g . “ T h e re ’s one th in g  I ’ve been m eaning to  ask you , M iles ,” Fred said 
one afternoon.

“ H e llo ,” she sa id . “ I ’m  g lad  y o u ’re hav ing  lunch  here. I ’ve been 
 ̂w an ting  to  ta lk  to  y o u .”

I ’ve been n o tic ing  th e se  changes in you ever since you got th a t 
un ivers ity  degree.

A l i t t le  break lik e  th is  is w h a t she’s been needing a ll these years.
“D o you know M r N e sfie ld ? ” “Oh, yes. W e h av e  been seeing him  

every d a y .”

§ 21. N otice th e  fo llow ing  sentence patterns*.
a) He has been read ing  s in ce  he came.
b) H e has been read ing  s in ce  he has been w orking in  th e  lib ra ry .

In  th e  firs t p a tte rn  th e  a c tio n  in the su b o rd in a te  c lause in troduced 
b y  since  is expressed by  th e  P as t Indefin ite  and  serves to  ind ica te  
o n ly  th e  s ta r tin g  po in t of th e  ac tio n  in th e  p rin c ip a l clause.

In  th e  second p a tte rn  th e  ac tio n  of th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause is p ara lle l 
to  th a t  of th e  p rin c ip a l c la u se  as  they both  began a t  th e  sam e tim e  in 
th e  p a s t and co n tin u e  in to  th e  m om ent of speak ing . In  th is  case th e  
P re se n t Perfect C on tinuous is used  in both clauses (or P resen t Perfect I I , 
w i th  s ta t iv e  verbs).

T he P a s t Indefinite

§  22. The P as t In d e fin ite  is a  syn th e tic  form (e.g. I  worked , H e sang). 
(O n  th e  form ation  of t h e 'P a s t  Indefin ite  see “V e rb s” , § 5  and A ppen­
d ix  I .)  B u t th e  in te rro g a tiv e  an d  negative form s a re  b u il t  up a n a ly tic a l­
ly , by  m eans of th e  a u x il ia ry  verb  to do in th e  P a s t In d efin ite  and 
th e  in f in itiv e  of th e  n o tio n a l v e rb  w ithout th e  p a r tic le  to (e.g. D id  
y o u  work?. D id he work?. W e d id  not work , S h e  d id  no t work). 
In  spoken  E ng lish  th e  co n trac ted }  form d id n ’t  is used in negative 
sen ten ces.

T h e  P as t In d efin ite  m ay  h a v e  a special form  w h ich  is used for em ­
p h a s is . T his em p h atic  fo rm  is b u il t  up an a ly tic a lly , by  m eans of th e  
P a s t  In d e fin ite  of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb  to do fo llow ed by  th e  in fin itiv e  
o f th e  n o tio n a l verb  w ith o u t th e  p artic le  to. T he  a u x ilia ry  verb  has 
s t ro n g  stress in th is  case (e .g . I  d id  insist on i t , H e d id  in sis t on it) .

§ 23. The P as t In d e f in ite  is com m only used to  express a past action. 
I t  m a y  be found in p re se n t-tim e  contexts as well as in  p a s t-tim e  con­
te x ts .

T h e  P a s t In d e fin ite  is used  in  th e  following cases:
1) I t  serves to  express a  s in g le  action  com pleted  in  th e  p as t. The 

t im e  of th e  ac tio n  is o ften  g iv en . I t  is usually  an in d ica tio n  of th e  past 
t im e . Y et th e  P as t In d e f in ite  m ay  also be found w ith  such adverb ial
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m odifiers of tim e  as th is  m orning , today, to n ig h t, e tc . (F o r details 
see also  “V erb s” , § 16, / . )
e .g . Things cam e to  a cris is  in  J u ly .

My m other first heard  of h im  when I  was a  mere child .
I only  m et her s ix  m onths ago.
I had a le tte r  from  W illy  yesterday.
I never knew of th is  w o m an ’s ex istence  t i l l  h a l f  an hour ago. 
W hy, I saw  th e  announcem ent in the  p ap er th is  m orning.

The tim e  of th e  ac tion  m ay be im plied  in  th e  s i tu a tio n  th rough  the 
m ention  of th e  place of th e  ac tion  o r o th e r a tte n d in g  circum stances.

e.g . I a te  tu rn ip s  in Germany.
Did you belong to  any  society  a t the U n ivers ity?
“W hat a lot you k n o w ,” sa id  Miss M arple , “a b o u t th e  p rivate  

lives of film  s ta rs . Did you  learn  it  a ll in  C a lifo rn ia ?”
Croft inform ed us a t breakfast th a t  you to ld  him  to  bring 

Mrs W arren and  V iv ie  over here today .
H e b u il t  th a t p lace  fo r  Lord H enry.

B ut som etim es  th e  m ention  of th e  tim e  o r  th e  p la c e  of th e  action  
appears unnecessary because reference is m ade to  a  p a r tic u la r  action 
w hich is defin ite  in th e  m ind of th e  speaker and  th e  hearer (see also 
“V erb s” , § 16, /) .

e .g . Sorry! I d id n ’t  m ean to  h u rt you.
I slept very  bad ly .
You to ld  it  b eau tifu lly , G race.
“ Did he say a n y th in g ? ” “ I d id n ’t q u ite  ca tch  w h a t he s a id .”

T he definiteness of th e  ac tion  in  th e  m ind  of th e  speaker is to  be 
regarded as th e  m ost p rom inen t fea tu re  of th is  use  of th e  P a s t In d efi­
n ite . I t  becomes p a rtic u la rly  obvious w hen com pared  w ith  th e  use of 
P resen t Perfect I (see “V erbs” , § 16, / ) .

2) The P ast In d e fin ite  also serves to  express an  a c tio n  w hich occupied 
a w hole period of tim e  now  over. T h a t m eans th a t  th e  ac tio n  afte r tak in g  
p lace for some tim e  cam e to  an  end in th e  p a s t. (C om pare w ith  th e  use 
of P resen t Perfect I I . See “V erb s” , § 16, 2 .) T he  perio d  of tim e  is usually  
ind ica ted  in th e  sentence by m eans of ad v erb ia l ph rases  w ith  th e  prepo­
s itio n  for  or during  and  synonym ous expressions.

e .g . I adm it I w as w rong. R em em ber how we q u a rre lled  about it?  W e 
qu arre lled  for th ree  days.

L ast May I spent tw o weeks in London.
W e stayed in th e  garden  for a long tim e.
For tw en ty  years you lived w ith o u t you r c h ild , w ith o u t a though t 

of your child .

N o t e .  Questions beginning w ith  how long m ay accordingly contain e ither 
th e  Past Indefinite or Present Perfect II depending on w hether th e  period of tim e 
im plied is already over or has not yet expired.
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e.g. M aurice tu rned  on the light and saw h is brother s ittin g  in the arm chair. “How long 
have you been here?” he asked in surprise.

“We rea lly  had a wonderful tim e in B righ ton .” “How long did you stay  there?”

3) T he P a s t  In d e fin ite  is used in n a rra tio n  to  express a succession 
of ac tions.

e .g . So I w en t up th e  s ta irs . I bathed . I changed. I made m yself up like 
th e  Q ueen  of Sheba. T hen  I w en t dow nstairs and cooked and 
served  d in n e r  for th ree . Then I en te rta in ed  M r S te n t. T hen I 
w ished h im  a  very  good n ig h t. Then I wished Ja c k  good-bye. 
T hen  I took m y su it-case  and  w alked out.

W e w e n t to  th e  p a rk  and I s a t  down on a ch a ir  and took th e  baby 
o u t of th e  p ram  and a b ig  dog cam e along and p u t its  head on 
m y knee and  she clu tched  its  ear, tugged it.

I found som e m atches, clim bed on th e  tab le , l i t  th e  gas lam p, then  
s e ttle d  dow n to  read.

C onsecu tive ac tio n s m ay be e ith e r  sing le  accom plished actions (as 
in th e  exam ples above) o r actions of som e d u ra tio n  occupying a w hole 
period of tim e . T he la tte r  is u su a lly  ind ica ted  in th e  sentence by m eans 
of p rep o sitio n a l phrases w ith  fo r , during , from ... to, o r by m eans 
of th e  w ords a l l  day, a l l  n igh t and the  like.

e.g. She looked a t h im  fo r a  long tim e  and  then  shrugged.
O ne d ay  I m et G era ld . W e ch a tted  fo r a  b it. I asked h im  to  have 

lunch  w ith  m e and he seem ed pleased.
W e m arched  a l l  n igh t and a l l  today. W e arrived  on ly  an hour 

ago.

4) The P a s t In d e fin ite  is used to  express recurren t ac tions. B ut as 
th is  m ean ing  is no t inheren t in th e  form as such, it  is generally  su p p o rt­
ed by th e  use of adverb ia l m odifiers of frequency such as often , 
never, now and  a g a in , sometimes, fo r days, etc.

e.g. You o ften  m en tioned  her in y o u r le tte rs .
B u t som etim es  he found th e  first m om ent of a m eeting  d ifficu lt; 

th a t  w as tru e  w ith  everyone he m et, ce rta in ly  w ith  m e though 
w e lik ed  each  o th er.

M artin  sp e n t m any o f h is  evenings  read ing  case h isto ries of ra ­
d ia tio n  illness.

5) The P a s t  In d e fin ite  is used to  express perm anent ac tions. They 
in d ica te  co n tin u o u s , u n in te rru p ted  processes in th e  past, g iv in g  a gen« 
eral c h a ra c te r is tic  to  th e  person o r th in g  denoted  by th e  sub jec t.

e.g. She had  a  la rge , b lu n t, knobby nose, and  her eyes pro truded: they 
w ere lig h t b lu e , s ta r in g  and  s lig h tly  puzzled. She w ore her h a ir 
in  a knob  above th e  back of her head.

D an w orked in  a factory  tw elve hours a day  for n ine  sh illin g s a week.
T he d r iv e  sloped dow nw ard to  w here th e  house stood.
She w as fond of h im , bu t I d id  no t believe  th a t  she loved him .
She lived  a lo n e  in L ondon, and  saw no one except me.
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N o t e .  In  E nglish there are special m eans of expressing a recurrent o r p e r­
m anent action in the past. They are used to + in fin it iv e  and w ould-\-in fin itive. Used 
to-\-infinitive  (pronounced [ju:st]) has only one form —th a t of the Past tense w hich 
occurs in present-tim e and past-tim e contexts. I t  generally  serves to  express recurren t 
actions which may be either point actions or ac tions of some duration.
e.g. “She used to give me chocolate,” m urm ured Im ogen.

I used to m eet him  sometimes when he was w orking on the Chronicle here.
I liked reading in th e  garden. I used to take o u t a deck-chair, s it under one  of 

the apple trees and read.

Sometimes used to-\-in fin itive  w ith a d u ra tiv e  verb serves to express an ac tion  
perm anently characterizing the subject of the sentence in  the past. In th is  case it  
im plies contrast between the past and the p resen t—w hat was typical of th e  p ast is 
no longer true a t present. This meaning is n a tu ra lly  found in present-tim e co n tex ts .
e.g. MI used to be as sentim ental as anyone a few years ago ,” said Ann.

You w ouldn’t have th e  same comforts in  th e  coun try , dear, I know. I used to 
live there as a g irl.

I don’t  exactly  hear as I used to.

The negative and interrogative forms of used to+ infinitive  are very se l­
dom found and there is fluctuation in the way they  a re  b u ilt up.
e.g. Lena d idn’t  use to like the dock , did she?

“ I ’m not m ean .” “ You usedn’t to be. B ut you have been lately, haven’t y o u ? ” 
Cedric, w h a t’s come over you? You used n o t to  ta lk  like that.
“And w hat did they use to give you on S u ndays?” he was asking as I cam e in . 
“Who do w riters w rite  for now?” “ Who did they  used to write for? P eople , of 

course.”
Used you to clim b the  old appletree in th e  garden?
I t  is necessary to  point out th a t occasionally  used to-\-infinitive is found 

where norm ally the  P as t Perfect would be used.
e.g. He ordered dinner, and sat down in the very corner, a t the very tab le  perhaps, 

a t which he and young Jolyon used to s i t  tw enty-five years ago.
W ould-\-infinitive  is more restricted in its  app lica tion  than used to-\-infinitive. 

I t is found only in  past-tim e contexts and serves to  express only recurrent ac tio n s . 
They may be, like actions expressed by used to+ in fin itive , either po in t a c tio n s  
or actions of some duration . On the whole, w o u ld + in fin itiv e  is typical of on ly  
literary style.
e.g. She would often wake up screaming in the  n igh t.

She seemed able to  do nothing for an in f in ite  tim e w ithout feeling bored .
Sometimes I would go out and s it w ith  her for a l i tt le  on the grass.

He was usually ac tive  and interested, b u t som etim es he would have fits  o f  de­
pression.

6) The P as t In d e fin ite  may be used to  express an ac tion  g o in g  on  
a t a g iven p as t m om ent. G enerally  th is  m ean in g  is rendered by  th e  
P ast C ontinuous (see “V erbs” , § 2 6 ). B u t w e reso rt to  the  P a s t In d e f ­
in ite  in th e  fo llow ing  cases:

a) The use of th e  P as t In d efin ite  becom es o b liga to ry  w ith  s t a t iv e  
verbs.

e.g . She sipped  her coffee and pulled  a face . S he though t it  ta s te d  h o r­
rib le .

She w as ill  a t  ease, and he felt so rry  fo r her. He w anted a l l  h e r  
tro u b les  for him self at th a t  m om en t.

b) The P as t In d efin ite  may be used in s te a d  of the  P ast C o n tin u o u s  
w ith  certa in  d u ra tiv e  verbs. They are to  s i t , to s tand , to lie, to h a n g ,
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to  shine, to g leam , to ta lk , to speak, to wear, to carry, to w a lk  and  some 
o th e rs . In such cases th e  ac tio n  as such is only nam ed, and  it is often 
th e  c ircum stances u n d e r  w hich it  takes p lace th a t are really  im p o rtan t.

e .g . B arbara  and  B asil s a t  in  th e  garden a fte r lunch . T he sm oke from 
B a s il 's  c ig a r h u n g  on  th e  hum id a ir.

The ligh ts in  th e  house  w ere o u t, bu t a ris in g  m oon gleam ed against 
one w indow  in  th e  room  where l i t t le  M ary slep t.

W e w ent to  th e  b u s  s to p . The full m oon shone down on th e  ligh tless 
blind-faced s tre e t.

H is h a ir w as new ly  c u t, he wore a s tiff w h ite  co lla r, a  bow ler h a t, 
a th in  gold  w a tch -ch a in  and o ther m arks of resp ec tab ility , and 
he carried  a  new  um b re lla .

H e talked w ith  a c u te  in ten sity .
H er face w as h eav y : she spoke w ith  deep em otion .
H e w alked betw een  us, lis ten ing  a tte n tiv e ly  to  our conversation .

N o t e .  N otice th a t w hen we speak of inan im ate th ings the Past Indefinite is 
th e  norm w ith th e  verbs m entioned above.

e.g . On the table lay th ree  rows of cards face upwards.
O utside, beyond the  colonnade, the ground froze hard  and the trees stood out 

w hite against the  leaden sky.

7) The P ast In d e fin ite  m ay  be used to  express a  fu tu re  ac tion  viewed 
from  the  p ast. T h is  use  is  found in reported speech and  is s tru c tu ra lly  
dependen t. I t  occurs in  c lauses of tim e, co n d itio n  and  concession; th e  
F u tu re -in -th e -P ast o r  m odal verbs are u su a lly  used in th e  p rincipal 
c lau se  in th is  case. (F o r conjunctions in tro d u c in g  these clauses see 
“ V erb s” , § 10, 4.)

e .g . H e knew th a t  she w as determ ined to  m arry  h im , and  w ould , if she 
though t i t  u sefu l, lie  and cheat and  s tea l u n til  she brought it  off.

P robab ly  she knew  th a t ,  w hatever happened, he w ould not give 
her aw ay.

8) The P ast In d e fin ite  is also used to  express unreal actions. (For 
th is  see “V erbs” , §§ 122-126, 132, 133, 144, 146-149, 153, 162.)

§ 24. For th e  use of th e  P as t Indefin ite  in  som e sentence p a tte rn s  
com prising  com plex sen ten ces w ith  clauses of t im e  in troduced  by as 
an d  w hile  see “V e rb s” , § 2 8 .

F or th e  use of th e  P a s t Indefin ite  in som e sen tence p a tte rn s  com ­
p ris in g  com plex sen ten ces w ith  clauses of t im e  in troduced  by when , 
a fte r , before, t i l l / u n t i l ,  since, etc . see “V erbs” , § 3 2 .

T he P ast Continuous

§ 2 5 . The P a s t C o n tin u o u s  is an an a ly tica l form  w hich is b u ilt  up 
b y  m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  v e rb  to be in th e  P a s t In d efin ite  and th e  ing- 
form  of the  n o tiona l verb  (e .g . I  was working, They were working, e tc .) (On 
th e  form ation  of th e  m g-form  see “V erbs” , § 11). The sam e a u x ilia ry  is
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used in th e  in terrogative  and n e g a tiv e  form s (e.g. Were you  working?t 
W as he working?, We were not w orking, /  was not w orking, e tc .)  In  spoken 
E nglish  the  con tracted  forms w a s n 't  and  w eren 't are used in  negative 
sentences.

§ 26. T he P ast C ontinuous is used in th e  fo llow ing cases:
1) I t  serves to  express an a c tio n  w hich  w as g o ing  on a t  a  g iven  m o­

m ent in  th e  past. T h a t means t h a t  th e  ac tion  began before  t h a t  defin ite  
past m om ent, was in progress a t  th a t  m om ent and c o n tin u e d  for some 
tim e  a fte r i t .  T he m ost ty p ica l fe a tu re  of th is  use of th e  P a s t C ontinuous 
is th a t  th e  precise tim e  lim its  of th e  ac tio n  are no t know n, i ts  beg inn ing  
and  its  end  are no t specified.

As a ru le , no ind ication  of a  g iven  past m om ent is necessary  because 
the  m ean ing  is c learly  expressed by  the  form s of th e  P a s t C ontinuous 
itse lf. H ow ever, som etim es it becom es im p o rtan t to  m en tio n  th e  m om ent 
and  th en  i t  is ind icated  in th e  sen tence  by s ta tin g  th e  p rec ise  tim e  or 
w ith  th e  help of another action w h ich  is u su a lly  a p o in t a c tio n  expressed 
in th e  P as t Indefin ite .

e .g . L itt le  M ary cam e in . S he w as ea tin g  an ice-cream  cone.
J o l ly ’s face crim soned, th e n  clouded . Some s tru g g le  w as ev id en tly  

tak ing  place in him.
V incent sa t down. The fire  w as very  ho t. I t  seem ed to  b rin g  out 

a g rea t m any sm ells. T h e  c h a ir  he was s it t in g  on m u st b e  M au­
re e n ’s chair.

She looked unbelievingly  a t  h im . Surely  he w as jo k in g .
I am  afra id  I took your w ife ’s fan  for m y ow n, w hen  I w as leaving 

you r house ton igh t.
W hen he re turned  she w as w andering  from  room  to  room .
In a m om ent I returned to  w here M artin  was s t i l l  re ad in g  by th e  

fire.

N o t e .  As has been said, the P a s t Indefin ite  is preferred to  the  P a s t C ontinuous 
w ith certa in  durative verbs when a tte n tio n  is focused on th e  c ircum stances under 
which the action  is performed (see “V erbs” , §23 , 6 b). However, th e  P as t Con­
tinuous is occasionally found, too.

e.g. She was speaking w ith difficulty , as though she had to  th in k  h a rd  abou t each 
word.

Yet when it  is intended to  m ake th e  process of the action  (ind ica ted  by a  dura- 
tive  verb) the focus of com m unication, the use of the P ast C ontinuous becomes ne­
cessary. Compare the use of the P a s t Indefin ite  and the P ast C ontinuous in  th e  fol­
lowing passage:

On one occasion I sa t w ith them  in  th e  stud io . D irk and I were ta lk ing . Mrs 
Stroeve sewed, and I thought I recognized th e  sh irt she was m ending as S tr ic k la n d ’s. 
He lay on his back. He did no t speak.

2) The P as t C ontinuous is used  to  express an  ac tio n  g o in g  on  a t a 
g iven period of tim e  in the p a s t .  In  th is  case th e  p rec ise  l im its  of th e  
ac tion  a re  no t known either. T h e  in d ica tio n  of th e  p a s t p e rio d  of tim e  
is genera lly  understood from th e  co n tex t b u t it  m ay be a lso  in d ica ted  
in th e  sen tence in various w ays.
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e .g . A ndrew  had  no idea w h e th e r he was doing w ell o r bad ly  in  his 
exam .

In  th e  s lig h t pause young N icholas was heard say in g  g en tly  th a t 
V io le t was tak ing  lessons in  paste l.

H e  rem em bered th a t  H elen  had  met her first husband  w hen she 
w as w orking in  a  New Y o rk  publish ing  house.

“ W h a t w ere you doing in  P a r is ? ” “ I was try ing  to  find  a pub lisher 
for m y new  b o o k .”

W ak e  w as in  New Y ork w hen th e  news reached h im . H e was ac ting  
in  a  p lay  th a t had had  a  success in  London.

N o t e .  The P ast C ontinuous m ay be used in  present-tim e contex ts to  
refer to  a past action  whose dura tion  is marked by such tim e indications as a ll  
day, a l l  tha t year, yesterday, the whole morning and the like.
e.g. A ll through th a t w inter and spring , I was attending com m ittees, preparing notes 

for th e  m inister, reading m em oranda, talking to my scientific friends.
Roy was keeping to his rooms all day.
A ll th a t  w inter they were experim enting  w ith protective clo th ing.
H ow ever, th is  use of the P as t C ontinuous is greatly restricted  because i t  can be 

app lied  only  to  a single action w hich is never part of a succession of actions. But 
even in  th is  case the Past Indefin ite  is norm ally found.

3) T he P a s t C ontinuous m ay  be used to  express ac tions generally  
c h a ra c te r iz in g  th e  person deno ted  by  th e  sub jec t, b rin g in g  ou t th e  per* 
so n ’s ty p ic a l ira its . O ften  such  adverb ia l m odifiers as always and 
constantly  a re  found in th is  case in  th e  sentence.

e.g . “ T h is  is D a n ’s b re a k fa s t,” A deline  said, in d ica tin g  it  w ith  a bail" 
daged  th u m b . She was a lw ay s suffering from  a cu t or a bum . 

Y ou rem em ber how he w as alw ays w riting  verses.
H e  w as a lw ays experim en ting . H e w asn’t really  a doctor, he was 

a  bac te rio log ist.
S h e  w as no isy  and b rash  and  co n stan tly  try in g  to  a t tra c t a tten tio n  

by  an y  m eans.
S en tences of th e  above k in d  a re  em otionally  coloured.

4) T h e  P a s t C ontinuous is o ften  found to  in d ica te  a fu tu re  action  
v iew ed from  th e  p ast. I t  is an  a c tio n  w hich was supposed to  ta k e  place 
in th e  n e a r  fu tu re  due to  o n e ’s p rev io u s  decision. The tim e  of th e  action  
need n o t a lw ay s be m entioned  as i t  is easily understood from  th e  s i tu a ­
tio n .

e .g . W h y  d id n ’t you te ll me yo u  were starting?
H e  d id  no t know how he cou ld  send word th a t he was n o t com ing. 
A t th e  end  of th e  w eek she w ired  th a t she was re tu rn in g .

N o t e .  N otice the  follow ing sentence which is  a stereotype. I t  is  em otionally 
co loured , expressing irrita tion .
e.g. I th ough t you were never coming.

§ 27. I t  shou ld  be borne in  m in d  th a t there  are th e  sam e restric tions 
to  th e  use of th e  P as t C o n tinuous as to th e  ap p lica tio n  of th e  P resen t 
C o n tin u o u s  in  so fa r as th e  lex ica l charac ter of verbs is concerned (see 
“V e rb s ” , § 2 ,  2).
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Like th e  P resen t C on tinuous, th e  P as t C o n tin u o u s  m ay som etim es 
be found w ith  s ta tiv e  verbs. I t  occurs e ith e r because  th e  verb  has changed 
its  m eaning or because the action is len t g rea t in te n s ity .

e.g . I had a horrid  feeling  th a t  she was seeing  r ig h t  th rough  me and 
know ing all ab o u t me.

I was seeing George regu larly  now. H e to o k  m e as an  equal.
T he nex t m orning, as I w as going ou t of th e  college, I m et th e  

M aster in  th e  co u rt. “ I was w an ting  to  c a tc h  you , E l io t ,” he said .
I w asn ’t well th a t  day, and  I w asn ’t  n o tic in g  p a rticu la rly .
H e felt he was being th e  l i t t le  ray of su n sh in e  ab o u t th e  home and 

m aking a good im pression.

Som e d u ra tiv e  verbs, for exam ple, verbs of b o d ily  sensation  (to  
feel, to h u r t , to ache, to itch , e tc .) and  such verbs as  to wear, to look ( = t o  
seem ), to shine  and o th e rs  may be used e ith e r  in  th e  P a s t Indefin ite  or 
in  th e  P a s t C ontinuous w ith  l i t t le  difference in  m ean ing .

Cf. H e was happy now  th a t  h is w ife was fee lin g  b e tte r .
I saw  th a t  he felt upset.

Ted New ton stopped  a t m y ta b le  for a q u ick  d r in k . H e was w earing 
a fur coat.

A few m inutes la te r  Fred cam e from  th e  d ire c tio n  of th e  stab les.
H e wore r id in g  breeches.

H is w ife was looking happy.
She looked like a very  w ise m erm aid r is in g  o u t of th e  sea.

§ 2 8 . N otice th e  follow ing sentence p a tte rn s  in  w h ich  we find th e  
P a s t In d efin ite  and th e  P ast C ontinuous used in  d iffe ren t com binations 
w ith  each other:

1) There is a sen tence p a tte rn  w hich is a  co m p lex  sen tence w ith  a 
c lause  of tim e  in troduced  by th e  con junction  as. W ith in  th a t p a tte rn  
th e re  m ay be th ree  d ifferen t k inds of tim e  re la tio n s  betw een the  ac tio n  
of th e  subo rd in a te  c lause and th a t  of th e  p r in c ip a l clause.

a) The actions of th e  tw o clauses m ay be fu lly  sim ultaneous. In  
th is  case the  P ast In d e fin ite  is com m only found in  b o th  clauses.

e .g . I w atched him  as  he  drank h is tea.
Roy ta lked  l i t t le  as th ey  drove home.

O ccasionally  th e  P a s t C ontinuous is found in  th e  p rinc ipa l c lause  
w hereas th e  P as t In d e fin ite  is s t i l l  used in  th e  c lau se  of tim e . It u su a lly  
happens when th e  verb  in  th e  p rinc ipa l c lause  is  te rm in a tiv e  and th e  
P as t Indefin ite  w ould in d ica te  a com pleted  a c tio n .

e.g . /4s I poured her ou t a glass of sherry , sh e  w as saying: “ I a lw ays 
im agined you w ere o ld e r .”

b) The ac tions of th e  p rinc ipa l and th e  su b o rd in a te  clauses m ay  be 
p a rtia lly  sim ultaneous. Then th e  ac tion  of th e  su b o rd in a te  clause serves 
as a background for th e  ac tion  of th e  p rin c ip a l c lau se  w hich  is u su a lly  
a sh o rte r accom plished ac tion . In  th is  case w e n o rm a lly  find th e  P a s t
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C ontinuous in  th e  su b o rd in a te  clause and th e  P as t In d efin ite  in th e  
p rincipal c lause .

e.g. A s  I w as g o ing  inside, M rs D raw bell in tercepted  me.
O ne ev en in g , ju s t  as  I was leav ing  th e  office, M artin  ran g  m e up.

c) T he ac tio n s  of th e  tw o clauses m ay form  a succession. In  th is  case 
n a tu ra lly  o n ly  th e  P a s t In d efin ite  is found.

e.g. A s  th e  su n  disappeared, a fresh breeze s tirred  th e  new cu rta in s  
a t  th e  w indow .

As  I tu rn e d  back  in to  th e  room  a gust of w ind crashed th e  door 
sh u t b eh in d  m e.

2) T here  is  a  sen tence  p a tte rn  w hich is a com plex sentence w ith  a 
clause of tim e  in tro d u ced  by th e  con junction  while. H ere we find tw o 
d ifferent k in d s  o f t im e  re la tio n s betw een th e  ac tions of th e  tw o clauses.

a) T he ac tio n s  m ay  be fu lly  sim u ltaneous. In  th is  case e ith e r  th e  
Past C o n tinuous o r  th e  P as t In d efin ite  is used in th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause 
and th e  P a s t In d e f in ite  is no rm ally  found in  th e  p rincipal clause.
e.g. M artha  sa id  n o th in g  bu t looked from  one face to  th e  o ther w hile  

th ey  discussed  p lans.
She s a t  s t i l l  as a  s ta tu e  w hile  he  w as p lay ing  th e  sonata .

b) The a c tio n s  m ay  be p a r tia lly  sim u ltaneous. In  th is  case th e  ac tion  
of th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause  serves as a background for th e  ac tion  of th e  
p rincipal c lau se  w h ich  is a sh o rte r accom plished ac tion . So th e  P ast 
Indefin ite  is used  in  th e  p rinc ipa l c lause w h ile  in  th e  subo rd in a te  c lause 
e ither th e  P a s t In d e f in ite  o r th e  P as t C ontinuous is found.

e.g. W hile  I w as read ing , I heard  a sp lash  from  th e  b a th , and I realized 
th a t  M a rtin  m ust be there .

W hile  he stood  th e re  w ondering w hat sort of p ictures to  hang on 
th e  w a lls  he  heard  th e  te lephone ring.

The P as t P erfec t

§ 2 9 . T he P a s t P e rfec t is an  an a ly tica l form  w hich is b u ilt up by 
m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb  to have  in th e  P as t In d efin ite  and th e  p a r­
tic ip le  of th e  n o tio n a l verb  (e.g. /  had worked , He had worked, e tc .) . (On 
the  fo rm ation  of th e  p a rtic ip le  see “V erbs” , § 5  and A ppendix  I.) The 
sam e a u x ilia ry  is used  to  form th e  in te rro g a tiv e  and  the  negative  forms 
(e.g. H ad you  worked?, H ad he worked?, I t  had not worked, They had not 
worked). In  spoken  E ng lish  the  con trac ted  form s I 'd y h e 'd , sh e 'd , w e'd , 
y o u 'd , th ey 'd  a re  u sed  in  affirm ativ e  sentences and h a d n 't  in neg a tiv e  
sentences.

§ 30. T he P a s t  P e rfec t fa lls w ith in  th e  t im e  sphere of th e  p as t and 
is m ain ly  found  in  n a rra tio n . How ever, as w ill be seen, it  m ay be used 
in  some of its  m ean in g s in  p resen t-tim e co n tex ts  as well.

The P a s t P e rfec t has th ree  d is tin c t uses w hich w ill be fu rth e r referred 
to as P a s t P e rfec t I , P a s t P erfect II and P a s t Perfect I I I .
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1) P as t P erfec t I serves to express an  ac tio n  accom plished b e fo re  
a given past m om ent and viewed back from  th a t  past m om ent. I t  m ay  
be a sing le  p o in t a c tio n , an action of som e d u ra tio n  o r a recu rren t a c tio n .

W e often find  th is  use of the P as t P e rfec t in  n a rra tio n  w hen a  s t r in g  
of consecutive ac tio n s is broken up because i t  becom es necessary to  re fe r 
back to  a p rev iously  accom plished ac tio n . I t  is  th e  function of th e  P a s t  
Perfect to  m ark  th is  step  back in  n a rra tio n .

e.g. She was no  fool. She had read m uch , in  several languages, a n d  sh e  
could ta lk  of th e  books she had  read  w ith  good sense.

I t  was long a fterw ards that 1 found o u t w hat had happened.
H e knew  w here H av iland  lived , b u t he had  never been th e re .
She m entioned  not infrequently  th e  fa c t th a t  her g ra n d fa th e r h ad  

been an am bassador, but never th a t  he had been a s ta b le -b o y .
She was in  a dressing-gown and h er h a ir  w as dishevelled . S h e  h ad  

ev id en tly  ju s t  go t ou t of bed.

As is seen from  th e  above exam ple , P a s t Perfect I is s t ru c tu ra l ly  
independent and  m ay  be used in  s im p le  sen tences as well as in v a r io u s  
kinds of clauses.

N o t e .  The tim e of the action expressed by th e  P ast Perfect need no t be in d i­
cated as the form as such shows tha t the ac tion  is accom plished before a given p ast 
moment. Y et there m ay be indications of tim e if necessary.

e.g. Jolyon rem embered th a t he also had talked a good deal about it  in his f irs t y e a r  
a t Cambridge, and given it  up in  his second.

They were concerned with why the m achine had no t run the day before.

Som etim es th e  step  back w hich is m ad e  in  n a rra tio n  refers to  o n e  
single ac tion  w hich  is th en  expressed by  th e  P a s t Perfect (see th e  e x a m ­
ples above). O ften , how ever, the step  back  in  n a rra tio n  involves a w h o le  
s itu a tio n  com prising  a  num ber of ac tio n s . T hese actions m ay fo rm  a  
new succession of ac tions. In th is  case th e  P a s t Perfect m ay b e  u sed  
for a ll th e  ac tio n s (a) o r for the firs t a c tio n  a lo n e . T he o ther ac tio n s  a r e  
th en  expressed by th e  P as t Indefin ite  (b). T h e re  seem to  be no h a rd  a n d  
fast rules here.

e .g . a) A deline w as se lecting  a book from  th e  shelves. W hen sh e  h a d  
first com e to  th e  place th e re  had  been few books th e re . T o  
these  she  had added m any v o lu m es of poetry , old and  n e w , 
novels, w orks of philosophy, h is to ry , essays. I t  had  b een  
necessary to  b u ild  new shelves to  accom m odate th e  b o o k s  
she had  co llec ted .

H e to ld  her th a t  he had recen tly  recovered  from  an  a t ta c k  o f 
ty p h o id  and  had come to  S w itze rlan d  to  get back his s t r e n g th .

b) I t  w as a t B lack stab le  th a t I f irs t m et E dw ard . I w as f if te e n  
and had ju s t  come back from  school for th e  sum m er h o l i ­
days. T he m orn ing  after I go t hom e I took a towel an d  b a t h ­
ing  d raw ers and went down to  th e  beach . P assing th e  b a n k ,
I ca lled  in  to  say how -do-you-do to  th e  m anager, and  w h e n  
I cam e o u t m et my uncle. H e stopped  and shook han d s w i th

41



me. H e w as w a lk in g  w ith  a s tran g er. H e introduced m e to  
him .

2) P ast P erfect I I  serves to  express an  ac tio n  w hich began before 
a  g iven  past m om ent and  con tinues into it  o r up to  i t .  T h is  gram m atica l 
m ean in g  is m ain ly  expressed  by th e  Past Perfect C ontinuous (see “V erb s” , 
§ 3 4 ) . How ever, th e  P a s t P erfect N on-C ontinuous is found in  th e  fo l­
low ing  cases:

a) I ts  use is com pu lso ry  w ith  s ta tiv e  verbs.
e .g . She began to  do a ll  th e  th in g s th a t she had  w anted  to  do for years. 

H e suddenly  u n d e rs to o d  th a t  she had loved h im  a ll  her life.

b) W ith  some d y n a m ic  verbs of d u ra tiv e  m ean ing  th e  P as t Perfect 
(N on-C ontinuous) m ay  be used instead of th e  P a s t Perfect C ontinuous 
w ith  l i t t le  d ifference in  m eaning .

e .g . R oy m entioned th a t  he had  dined a t hom e since his re tu rn .
Ju n e  had never befo re  been in  th e  upper boxes. From  th e  age of 

fifteen she  had  h a b itu a lly  accom panied her g rand fa ther to  th e  
sta lls .

As to  te rm in a tiv e  v e rb s , th ey  norm ally  have th e  m eaning of P ast 
P erfec t I and never of P a s t Perfect II.

S ince it is o ften  d iff ic u lt to  draw  th e  line  betw een d u ra tiv e  and  te r ­
m in a tiv e  verbs, it  is recom m ended th a t s tu d e n ts  of E ng lish  should use 
th e  P ast Perfect C o n tin u o u s w ith  all dynam ic verbs to  express an ac tion  
begun before a g iven  p a s t m om ent and con tinued  up to  it  or in to  it.

c) P ast Perfect I I  is preferred  to th e  P a s t P erfect C ontinuous in 
n eg a tiv e  sentences, w hen  th e  ac tion  itself is  com pletely  negated.

e .g . Young Jo ly o n  an d  Soam es had  not m et since the day o f B osinney’s 
death.

H e m entioned th a t  he  had  n o t played cards fo r  three years.

It is no tew orthy  th a t  P a s t Perfect II  is associated  w ith  certa in  tim e  
in d ica tio n s: e ith e r a  w h o le  period  of th e  d u ra tio n  of th e  ac tion  is in d i­
c a te d  o r its  s ta r tin g  p o in t (for details see “V erb s” , § 16, 2).

e .g . I suppose every  fa m ily  has a black sheep. T om  had  been a sore 
tr ia l  to  his fo r  tw en ty  years.

H e was not aw are  how long  he had sa t th e re .
At ten  o ’clock he aw oke and  rem em bered th a t  he  h ad n ’t  seen L illy  

since Sa tu rd a y .
H e to ld  m e he h ad  been b ad ly  ill since he returned from  abroad.

N o t e .  N otice th a t  in  clauses of time introduced by since the  P ast Indefinite 
is  norm ally used (see th e  exam ple above).

3) P as t P erfect I I I  is used  in  adverbial c lauses of tim e  in troduced 
by  th e  con junctions w hen, before, a fte r , as soon as  and t i l l / u n t i l  
to  express a fu tu re  a c tio n  view ed from th e  p as t. I t  shows th a t  th e  action 
o f  th e  subo rd in a te  c lau se  w ill be com pleted before th e  ac tion  of th e  p r in ­
c ip a l c lause w hich  is u su a lly  expressed by th e  F u tu re -in -th e -P ast.
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T his use of th e  P ast Perfect is s tru c tu ra lly  dependen t as i t  is res- 
ric ted  on ly  to  th e  above m entioned  typ es of clauses. B esides, it  is found 
>nly in reported  speech.

s.g. I t  w as desperately  early ; he  to o k  up h is  book ag a in , m ak in g  up 
his m ind th a t  he w ould n o t look a t h is w atch  t i l l  he  had  read 
th ir ty  pages.

You w ould have to  ta lk  to  h im  before he had  m ade up  h is  m in d .

4) T he P as t Perfect is also  used to  express unreal ac tio n s . (F o r th is  
;ee “V erb s” , §§ 122-126, 132-133, 144, 146-149, 153, 162.)

§ 3 1 . As has been said above, th e  P as t Perfect is u su a lly  found  in 
)a s t-tim e  co n tex ts  (see the  exam ples above). H ow ever, it  m ay  a lso  be 
ised  in p resen t-tim e con tex ts in i ts  vario u s m eanings. Y et even in th is  
:ase its  use is re la ted  no t to  th e  m om ent of speaking  b u t to  a de fin ite  
>ast m om ent expressed o r understood  from  th e  co n tex t o r  s i tu a tio n .

i.g. “W e o n ly  learned about it before  d in n e r ,” sa id  M u rie l. “W e had 
n o t expected an y th in g  so fa n ta s t ic .”

R oy h esita ted . “ I d o n ’t  know w h e th e r M other has to ld  y o u , G ra c e ,” 
he sa id , “ but a friend of m in e  is a rriv in g  to d a y .” “ Yes, I had  
heard , ” said  G race.

“ D id you know th e  average housew ife w alks ten  m iles a day  ab o u t 
th e  house? I heard so on th e  ra d io  to d a y .” “ I h a d n ’t  th o u g h t ab o u t 
i t , ” he said .

§ 32. N otice  th e  follow ing sen tence  p a tte rn s  in w h ich  th e  P a s t Per- 
ect is o r m ay be used. They are com plex  sentences w ith  c lauses of tim e  
ntroduced  by various conjunctions.

1) T he P as t Perfect is often used  in  com bination  w ith  th e  P a s t  Con- 
.inuous w hen b o th  actions are v iew ed from  th e  sam e p as t m o m en t. T he 
definite m om ent need not be in d ica ted  in  th is  case as th e  p a t te rn  itse lf  
»erves to  show  th a t  th e  actions are re la te d  to  th e  sam e g iven  p as t m om ent. 
Dne ac tio n  is accom plished before th a t  im plied m om ent w h ile  th e  o th e r 
!s s t i l l  in progress.

The P a s t Perfect and th e  P as t C o n tinuous m ay be used  in  a s im p le  
sentence w here they  are hom ogeneous pred ica tes, o r in  tw o  co -o rd in a te  
sentences. T h is p a tte rn  is in ex ten siv e  use.

;.g. A nn had  risen  and was peering  over h is  shoulder.
She had go t up, and  was b re a th in g  deeply , w ith  her lip s  p a rted  

and  her cheeks very  flushed.
O u tsid e  on th e  square it  had  stopped ra in in g  and  th e  m oon was 

try in g  to  get th rough th e  c louds.
All a long  th e  w alls people w ere stan d in g  and  a t th e  fa r  end  of th e  

square  boys had clim bed in to  th e  trees.
As he w ent down th e  s ta irs  I w alked  across to  m y w in d o w  and 

p u lled  th e  cu rta in s. The sk y  had  cleared  and th e  m oon w as sh in ­
ing on th e  snow.
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W ith  s ta t iv e  verbs and  w ith  som e dynam ic verbs of d u ra tiv e  m ean­
in g  th e  P a s t In d efin ite  is used instead  of th e  P as t C on tinuous in th is  
p a tte rn .
e .g . T h e  ra in  had passed and  th e  a ir was fresh and sw eet.

S he had  changed her w et c lo thes and wore a lig h t co tton  dress.

2) In  th e  sen tence p a tte rn  w hich is a com plex sen tence w ith  a su b ­
o rd in a te  c lause  of tim e  in tro d u ced  by th e  con junction  when, th e  tim e 
re la tio n s  betw een th e  ac tion  of th e  w hen-clause and th a t  of th e  p rincipal 
c lau se  m ay  be of various k in d s: the  ac tion  of the  p rin c ip a l c lause may 
fo llow  th e  ac tio n  of th e  w hen-clause, be fu lly  o r p a r tia lly  sim ultaneous 
w ith  i t  and  even occasionally  precede i t .  A ccordingly, d ifferen t tense- 
asp ec t form s a re  used in th e  p rin c ip a l and th e  su b o rd in a te  clauses.

a) T h e  m ost com m only  occu rring  k ind of tim e  re la tio n  is when the  
a c tio n  of th e  p rinc ipa l c lause  closely follows th a t  of th e  w hen-clause— 
th e  tw o  ac tio n s  form  a  succession of actions. T he P a s t In d efin ite  is 
u su a lly  used in  both  c lauses in  th is  case.

e .g . W hen  th e y  reached G rosvenor Square, A ngela go t o u t of th e  tax i 
and  looked abou t her, puzzled.

W hen  she re tu rned  w ith  th e  gram m ar, she drew  a ch a ir  near his 
and  s a t  down beside h im .

Y et som etim es, w ith  th e  sam e tim e  re la tion  betw een th e  tw o ac­
tio n s , w e find  th e  P a s t P e rfec t in  th e  w hen-clause. I t  is used in th is 
case  to  em phasize  th e  co m p le tio n  of th e  action  in  th e  su b o rd in a te  clause 
an d  th e  w hen-clause th en  approaches in m eaning to  th a t  of th e  clause 
of t im e  in tro d u ced  by th e  co n ju n c tio n  a fter  (see fu rth e r below , p. 46).

e .g . W hen  th ey  had  show n h im  round, fed him  on th e ir  b est, and th ru s t 
h im  in to  th e ir  so ftest c h a ir , th ey  eagerly dem anded news.

In  a m om ent th e  b u tle r  cam e in , to  clear up . W hen  he had  le ft again , 
she sa id : “Y our se rv a n t is an honest m an, is n ’t  h e ? ”

b) W hen th e  tw o ac tio n s a re  p a rtia lly  sim u ltaneous, th e  P as t Con­
tin u o u s  is no rm ally  found in  th e  principal clause and  th e  P as t Indefi­
n i te  in  th e  w hen-clause. T h e  fo rm er represents th e  ac tio n  in  its  du ra tion . 
T h e  la t te r  in d ica tes a sh o rte r  ac tion  w hich occurs a t  a  ce rta in  m om ent 
of th e  developm ent of th e  a c tio n  in th e  p rincipal clause.

e .g . L a te r  th a t  n ig h t, I w as read ing  in m y sittin g -ro o m  when th e  bell 
ran g .

W hen  he re tu rned  to  th e  room  she was s ittin g  by th e  fire.

W ith  s ta t iv e  verbs and som e dynam ic verbs of d u ra tiv e  m eaning, 
th e  sam e  tim e  re la tio n  is expressed  by th e  P ast In d e fin ite  in  th e  p rin ­
c ip a l c lause .

e .g . H e  w as s till  in  a  s ta te  of u n certa in ty  when h is b ro th e r returned 
w ith  a le tte r  in  hib h an d .

W hen  th e  car stopped in  fro n t of th e  door he looked dazed.
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c) W hen th e  tw o ac tio n s  are fu lly  s im u ltan eo u s, th e  P a s t Indefin ite  
is genera lly  used in  b o th  clauses.
e.g. A nn C hester looked h er best when she sm iled .

I often  fe lt  sincere ad m ira tio n  when I ta lk ed  to  h im .

N o t e .  The same tim e relations as described under (a), (b) and (c) may be 
found in  th is sentence pa tte rn  when the P ast Perfect has to  be used in the principal 
clause to  mark a step back in narra tion  whereas the P ast Indefin ite  rem ains unchanged 
in  the when-clause.
•e.g. My friendship w ith  Roy became the  deepest of my life. 1 had m et him first when 

he was a boy of fifteen.
Ashenden remembered the iron grip he had given him  when they shook hands 

and slightly  shuddered.

d) O ccasionally  th e  ac tio n  of th e  p rincipal c lau se  m ay  precede th a t 
o f th e  subo rd in a te  clause. In  th is  case th e  P a s t P e rfec t is used in the  
p rin c ip a l clause and th e  P as t In d e fin ite  in th e  w hen-clause.
e .g . H e w alked a t my s id e  under th e  trees by th e  edge of th e  park . When 

he nex t spoke h is to n e  had changed.
When he re tu rned  to  th e  liv ing-room , h is w ife  h a d n ’t  moved, and 

th e  rad io  con tinued  to  p lay  in to  th e  silence .

3) There is an o th er sentence p a tte rn  w hich  is a lso  a com plex sen­
tence  w ith  a w hen-clause. T his p a tte rn  a lw ays c o n ta in s  th e  P ast Indef­
in i te  in th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause and  th e  n eg a tiv e  fo rm  of th e  P ast Perfect 
in  th e  p rinc ipa l clause.
e .g . I h a d n ’t  been in  th e  pu b  tw o  m inutes when  som ebody brought Tom  

in  for a d rink .
I h ad n ’t gone a h u n d red  y a rd s  from  th e  co rn er when  I noticed there  

was a ca r b eh ind  me.

N otice th a t  th e re  is alw ays som e in d ica tio n  of m easure m entioned 
in  th e  p rincipal clause. Sentences of th is  k ind  a re  genera lly  rendered 
in R ussian  as не пробыл я там и двух м и н ут , к а к ..., не прошел 
я  и ста ярдов, ка к ... .

4) In  th e  sentence p a tte rn  w hich is a com plex  sen ten ce  w ith  a su b ­
o rd in a te  c lause of tim e  in troduced  by th e  c o n ju n c tio n  as soon as, there  
is on ly  one k ind of t im e  re la tio n  betw een th e  tw o  ac tio n s , nam ely , th e  
ac tion  of the  p rin c ip a l c lause closely follow s th a t  of th e  subord inate  
clause. T he tw o ac tions form  a k ind of a succession of actions, as it 
w ere. H ence, th e  P ast In d efin ite  is norm ally  used in  b o th  p a rts  of the  
sentence.

e .g . A s soon as I had th e  chance I asked M ary-A nn  w h a t she knew of 
th e  inc iden t.

A s  soon as she a rr iv e d  in m y fla t, she busied  herself tid y in g  it  up .

O ccasionally  th e  P as t Perfect m ay be found in  th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause 
w here i t  is used to  em phasize th e  com pletion  of th e  ac tio n  and  then  th e  
m eaning of th e  su b o rd in a te  clause approaches to  th a t  of th e  sub o rd i­
n a te  clause of tim e in troduced  by th e  c o n ju n c tio n  a fter  (see below).
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e.g. A s  soon a s  he  had  gone, I spoke to  H anna .

5) In  th e  sen ten ce  p a tte rn  w hich is a  com plex sentence w ith  a su ­
b o rd in a te  c lau se  of tim e  in troduced by  th e  conjunction  after, th e re  is 
only one k in d  of tim e  re la tion  betw een th e  tw o actions, nam ely , th e  ac­
tion  of th e  p r in c ip a l c lause follows th a t  of th e  after-clause. N orm ally  
the  P a s t P e rfec t is found in th e  after-c lause and th e  P as t In d efin ite  in 
th e  p rin c ip a l c lause .

e.g. A fte r  I had  dressed, I w ent up to  R o y ’s room , and  found him  in 
sh irt-s leev es  and  black  w aistcoat s tu d y in g  his im age in th e  m ir­
ror.

A fte r  he had  been th rough  th e  g ram m ar repeated ly , he took up 
th e  d ic tio n a ry  and added tw en ty  w ords a day to  his vocabu la ry .

The P as t P e rfec t is used in th e  after-c lause  w ith  te rm in a tiv e  as w ell 
as d u ra tiv e  v e rb s . W ith  te rm in a tiv e  verbs, however, th e  P as t Perfect 
may be rep laced  by  th e  P as t Indefin ite .

e.g. S h o rtly  a fte r  we re tu rned  from B asel, Roy moved to  London. 
A fte r  w e rose from  th e  tab le , Jam es im m ed ia te ly  w en t to  m ake a 

te lep h o n e  ca ll.

6) In  th e  sen ten ce  p a tte rn  w hich is a com plex sentence w ith  a  su ­
b o rd ina te  c lau se  of tim e  in troduced by th e  conjunctions t i l l  o r  u n ti l  
there  is o n ly  one  k ind  of tim e  re la tio n  betw een th e  tw o ac tions— th e  
action of th e  p rin c ip a l c lause is an  ac tion  of som e d u ra tion  and  i t  p re ­
cedes th a t  of th e  su b o rd in a te  clause. N orm ally  th e  P ast In d efin ite  is 
found in b o th  th e  p rinc ipa l and th e  su b o rd in a te  clause.

e.g . H e read th e  m an uscrip ts  u n ti l  he w as dead tired .
I did n o t see  h im  again  t i l l  he re tu rned  to  E ng land  for th e  sum m er.

Som etim es, how ever, th e  P a s t Perfect is used in  th e  till/u n til-c la u se  
to  show th a t  th e  ac tio n  of th e  p rincipal c lause stopped on ly  a fte r th e  
action of th e  su b o rd in a te  clause was accom plished.

e.g. T h a t ev en in g  I took ou t a deck-chair, sa t u nder one of th e  apple- 
trees , and  read  u n ti l  th e  sum m er sky  had  darkened and  I could 
no t m ak e  o u t th e  p rin t.

H e w a ited  t i l l  she had regained a  ce rta in  calm .

7) In  th e  sen ten ce  p a tte rn  w hich is a com plex sentence w ith  a su ­
b o rd ina te  c lau se  of tim e  in troduced by th e  conjunction  before, th e re  
m ay be tw o k in d s  of tim e  re la tio n s betw een th e  tw o actions.

a) T he a c tio n  of th e  p rinc ipa l c lause precedes th a t of th e  before- 
clause. H ence, th e  P a s t Perfect is no rm ally  used in th e  p rin c ip a l clause 
and th e  P a s t In d e fin ite  in th e  su b o rd in a te  clause.

e.g. M adge h ad  g iven  D ace a set of keys before they  left th e  farm  on 
W ed n esd ay  m orning.

H e had  h ea rd  th e  news before he ra n  up m y sta irs .

Sentences of th is  k ind  a re  rendered in  R ussian  by m eans of до того 
как ..., прежде чем ..., перед тем как... .
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A ctually, however, the  Past In d e fin ite  is by far more com m on in 
the  principal clause, especially  w ith  te rm in a tiv e  verbs.

e.g. H e knocked a t  th e  door tw ice before a m uffled voice asked: “ W h o ’s 
there? ”

It happened before you came.

b) In  com plex  sentences w ith  a before-clause th e re  m ay b e  a  sp e ­
cific tim e  re la tio n  betw een the tw o ac tio n s , nam ely , th e  ac tio n  in  one 
of th e  clauses is n o t fu lly  accom plished before th e  ac tion  of th e  o th e r  
c lause  takes p lace . T h e  unaccom plished ac tio n  is  expressed by  th e  P a s t  
Perfect. I t  is n o tew orthy  th a t som etim es th e re  are  ind ica tions of m ea su re  
in such sentences.

If th e  unaccom plished  action is expressed  in the  p rinc ipa l c la u se , 
its  p red ica te  verb  is alw ays negative in  form .

e.g. They had n o t  gone four m iles before he  understood th a t  i t  w as 
going to  ra in .

H e had n o t been there  for tw o days before he adm itted  t h a t  he 
shou ld  n o t hav e  accepted th e  in v ita tio n .

Sentences of th e  above kind are  best of a ll rendered in  R u ss ia n  as 
не успели о ни ... как , не успев проехать и . . .  как , etc .

If th e  unaccom plished action is expressed  in th e  su b o rd in a te  c la u se , 
its  p red ica te  v e rb  is a ffirm ative in  form  b u t negative in m ean in g .

e.g. I rea lized  before you had been h ere  a  fo rtn igh t th a t  you  n e v e r  
were cu t for th is  life.

I discovered th e  news before I had  been in  th e  house for a n  h o u r .

Sentences of th e  above kind a re  g en e ra lly  rendered in  R u s s ia n  as 
не пробыли вы и двух недель... как, не  пробы л я  в доме и часа ... к а к , 
etc.

8) In  th e  sen tence  p a tte rn  w hich is a co m p lex  sentence w ith  a s u b o r d i ­
n a te  c lause of tim e  in troduced by th e  c o rre la tiv e s  scarcely... when, h a r d ly . . .  
when, nea rly ... when , and nosccner... th a n , th e  tim e  re la tion  b e tw een  th e  
tw o ac tions is of a specific character— th e  a c tio n  of th e su b o rd in a te  c la u se  
takes p lace w hen  th e  action of th e  p r in c ip a l c lause is h a rd ly  a c c o m ­
plished y e t. H ence, th e  Past P erfec t is found  in  th e  p rin c ip a l c la u se  
and th e  P a s t In d e fin ite  in the su b o rd in a te  clause.

Such sentences are  em phatic in  m ean in g  and so th e  c o r re la t iv e s  
scarcely, hard ly  and  no sooner m ay  be p laced  a t th e  head of t h e  s e n ­
tence  w ith  an  inverted  word order fo llow ing .

e.g. H e had scarcely entered th e  room  when in  a chair by th e  d o o r  he 
perceived A nn Chester.

H ardly  had  she sa t down when a  v e ry  s to u t g en tlem an  w e a r in g  
a very  sm all hat flopped in to  th e  c h a ir  opposite  hers.

N o sooner, however, had th ey  e s tab lish ed  them selves in th e  h o u se  
than  he perceived to  his d ism ay  a  re tu rn  of her g loom y m o o d .
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N o t e .  When scarcely, hardly  and nearly are used as mere adverbs and not as 
co rrelatives, they may be associated with different tense-aspect forms whose choice 
is determ ined by the sense.
e.g. He did not hate her, he scarcely seemed aware of her presence.

1 hardly know w hat to  say.

The P a s t  P e rfec t Continuous

§ 33. The P as t P e rfec t C ontinuous is an  a n a ly tic a l form  w hich is 
b u i l t  up by m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb to be in  th e  P as t Perfect and  the  
m g-form  of th e  n o tio n a l v e rb  (e.g. I  had been w orking , He had been 
w orking, e tc .) (On th e  fo rm atio n  of th e  w g-form  see “V erb s” , § 11.)

In  the  in te rro g a tiv e  form  the  first au x ilia ry  verb  is placed before 
th e  subject (e.g. H ad you  been working?, H ad she been working*?, e tc .). 
In  th e  negative form  th e  n eg a tiv e  partic le  not is placed after the  first 
a u x ilia ry  (e.g. W e had n o t been working, They had no t been working , e tc .). 
In  spoken E nglish  th e  co n trac ted  forms I ’d , he 'd , she’d, w e'd, y o u ’d, 
th e y ’d  are used in a f f irm a tiv e  sentences and  h a d n 't  in negative  sentences.

§ 34. The P as t P e rfec t C ontinuous has tw o d ifferen t uses w hich will 
b e  fu rth e r referred to  as P a s t Perfect C ontinuous I and  P as t Perfect Con­
tin u o u s  II .

1) P a s t Perfect C o n tin u o u s I serves to  express an  ac tion  w hich began 
before  a given p as t m o m en t and  continued in to  it  o r up to  it. In  th is  
m ean in g  it  is p ara lle l to  P a s t Perfect I I  (see “V erb s” , § 3 0 , 2). Past 
P e rfec t C ontinuous I m ay  be used w ith th e  sam e in d ica tio n s  of tim e  as 
h a v e  a lready  been described  in  “V erbs” , § 16, 2.
e .g . She suddenly  rea lized  th a t  i t  was now com plete ly  dark  and th a t 

she had been w a lk in g  fo r a  long w hile.
H e knew w hat she had  been thinking about since she received the  

telegram .
G ran t M elville w as ch arm in g , and q u ite  a fam ous p a in te r. H e 

had  been com ing to  N o rth  Cornwall for years, he  had  a shack up 
in  th e  h ills.

Ashenden assem bled th e  observations th a t  he had  been m aking 
for th e  past few  d ays.

The P ast Perfect C o n tin u o u s  can be used w ith  dynam ic verbs of both 
d u ra t iv e  and te rm in a tiv e  m ean ing  (see th e  exam ples above). S ta tiv e  
v e rb s  express th is  m ean in g  w ith  th e  help of P a s t P erfec t I I  (see “V erb s” , 
§ 30 , 2). I t  is also p o ssib le  to  use Past Perfect I I  w ith  dynam ic verbs 
o f d u ra tiv e  m eaning b u t i t  is less typ ical and it  is no t found a t a ll w ith  
te rm in a tiv e  verbs.

2) P as t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  II  serves to  express an  ac tion  w hich was 
in  progress ju st before a g iv en  past m om ent and its effect tells on the 
p a s t s itu a tio n  in some w ay. The precise tim e  lim its  of th e  ac tion  are 
n o t  specified . In  th is  m ean in g  th e  Past Perfect C ontinuous is no t p a ­
r a l le l  to  P ast Perfect I I .

P a s t Perfect C o n tin u o u s  II  is, as a ru le, no t associated  w ith  any 
in d ic a tio n s  of tim e .
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e .g . W in ifred  rose from th e  c h a ir  in  w hich  she had been s i t t in g .
A deline, who had been h e lp in g  her m other, now  jo in e d  th em .
She and S y lv ia  ta lked  in h ig h  exc ited  tones a b o u t an  an tho logy  

of po e try  they  had been read ing .
H a lf-h earted ly  I asked w h a t she  had  been th in k in g  a b o u t.
A deline  cam e across th e  law n  to  m eet h im , c a rry in g  roses she had 

been cu tting .

§ 35. In  neg a tiv e  sentences th e  P a s t Perfect C o n tin u o u s is n o t com* 
m on, th e  P a s t Perfect (N on-C ontinuous) is preferred  in  th e m  w hen the  
negation  refers to  th e  ac tion  itse lf  b u t no t to  i ts  c ircu m stan ces  (see also 
“V erb s” , § 19).

§ 36. I t  is no tew orthy  th a t P a s t Perfect C on tinuous I an d  p a r tic u ­
la r ly  P a s t Perfect C ontinuous 11 m ay  som etim es b e  found  w ith  s ta tiv e  
verbs.

e.g . B eside th e  porch he stopped  to  exam ine th e  w eb of a sp id e r  w hich 
he had  been no tic ing  for a  w eek o r more.

C erta in ly  th e  m edicine h ad  s tead ied  her; th e  s in k in g  fee ling  she 
had been hav ing  w as all gone.

O ver tea  she tried  to  find o u t w hether I had  been see in g  S heila .

§ 37. N otice  some sentence p a tte rn s  in  w hich  th e  P re se n t Perfect 
C ontinuous o r th e  P as t Perfect C o n tin u o u s is found.

1) In  th e  sentence p a tte rn  w h ich  is a com plex sen ten ce  w ith  a su b ­
o rd in a te  c lause  of tim e  in troduced  by  since, th e  ac tio n  of th e  su b o r­
d in a te  c lause  ind ica tes th e  s ta r t in g  p o in t of th e  ac tio n  of th e  p rin c ip a l 
clause. H ence, th e  P ast In d e fin ite  is used in th e  since-c lause . As to  the  
p rin c ip a l clause, th e  P resen t P e rfe c t C on tinuous (or P re se n t P e rfec t II) 
is used in  it  in  p resen t-tim e c o n te x ts  (a) and  th e  P a s t P e rfec t C o n tin u ­
ous (or P as t Perfect II) in p a s t- tim e  co n tex ts  (b).
e.g. a) “ T hey are  bom bs. You co u ld  blow  th e  roof of th e  w h o le  of th is  

b u ild in g  w ith  w hat I ’v e  go t h e re ,” sa id  th e  lu n a tic . “ I ’ve 
been cartin g  them  from  room  to  room  since th e  w a r b e g a n .” 

I ’ve know n him  since we w ere  kids.
b) M ichael rose and c lu tch ed  h is h a t. W ilfred  h ad  sa id  ex ac tly  

w h at he him self had re a lly  been th in k in g  ever since he  cam e. 
M r B en tley  was a p u b lish e r because ever since h e  w as a  boy 

he had had  a lik ing  fo r books.

2) In  th e  sen tence p a tte rn  w h ich  is a com plex sen ten ce  w ith  a su b ­
o rd in a te  c lause  of tim e in tro d u ced  by  th e  co n ju n c tio n s  w h ile  and 
since as w ell as by some co n n ec tiv e  w ords and  exp ressions su ch  as as 
long as, during  the week, in the short tim e ( th a t ) ,  a l l  the tim e  ( th a t ) ,  
e tc . th e  ac tio n s in  bo th  clauses m ay  be p a ra lle l, s ta r t in g  a t  th e  sam e 
tim e  in th e  p as t and con tinu ing  e i th e r  in to  o r up to  th e  m o m en t of sp eak ­
ing  in p resen t-tim e  contex ts (a) o r  in to  o r up to  a g iv en  p a s t m om ent 
in p as t- tim e  con tex ts  (b). A ccord ing ly , th e  P resen t P e rfec t C o n tin u o u s 
(or P resen t P erfect II) is used in  b o th  clauses in  th e  fo rm er case  and  th e  
P as t Perfect C ontinuous (or P a s t P erfec t II) in th e  la t te r  case.
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e .g . a) O u r friendsh ip  h as  been growing a ll  the tim e  w e’ve been 
w orking  on th e  p ro jec t.

I ’ve been ra th e r  sh u t in  since w e’ve been here, w ith  a ll th is  
b ad  w eather.

b) W e  had  been s it t in g  on  o u r beds w hile  George had  been te llin g  
m e th is  tru e  sto ry .

T h e  su it had  been n e ith e r  pressed nor brushed since he had  had 
i t .

3) In  th e  sen tence p a tte rn  w h ich  is a com plex sen tence w ith  a sub ­
o rd in a te  c lau se  of tim e  in tro d u c e d  by th e  conjunction  when th e  action 
of th e  su b o rd in a te  c lause m ay  serve  to  ind ica te  a g iven  p as t m om ent 
in to  o r  up  to  w hich  th e  a c tio n  of th e  p rincipal clause, th a t  had  begun 
befo re  th a t  m om ent, co n tin u ed . T h e  d u ra tion  of th e  ac tio n  is ind ica ted  
by  som e ad v erb ia l m odifier of tim e . A ccordingly, th e  P as t In d efin ite  
is fou n d  in  th e  w hen-clause an d  th e  P as t Perfect C ontinuous (or P ast 
P e rfec t II)  in  th e  p rin c ip a l c lau se . I t  should be no ted  th a t  th is  is a very 
co m m o n ly  occu rring  p a tte rn .

e .g . H e  had  been s it t in g  by  th e  f ire  for nearly  an  hour when h is m other 
cam e in to  th e  room  w ith  a le tte r  in her hands.

T hey  h ad  been w alk ing  fo r less th an  an hour when th e  m oon sud­
d e n ly  appeared betw een th e  heavy  clouds.

T he F u tu re  Indefin ite

§ 38. T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is an ana ly tica l form  w hich is b u ilt 
up by  m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  v e rb s  shall (for th e  firs t person, s ingu lar 
and  p lu ra l)  and  w ill  (for th e  second and th ird  persons, s in g u la r and 
p lu ra l)  an d  th e  in fin itiv e  of th e  n o tiona l verb w ith o u t th e  p a rtic le  to 
(e.g. I  sh a ll  see h im  tomorrow , H e w il l  see them tomorrow , You w il l  see 
them  tom orrow , e tc .).

I t  sh o u ld  be m entioned th a t  in present-day E ng lish  there  is a ten ­
dency  to  use w il l  for a ll the  persons. Besides, the  difference in the use 
of sh a ll  and  w il l  d isappears a lto g e th e r in spoken E ng lish  w here the  con­
tra c te d  form  '11 is used w ith  a ll th e  persons (e.g. I ' l l  see h im  tomorrow , 
S h e 'l l  see h im  tomorrow , T h e y 'l l  see him  tomorrow , e tc .).

T h e  a u x ilia ry  verbs sh a ll  and  w il l  are used to  b u ild  up the  in terrog­
a tiv e  and  th e  neg a tiv e  form s, too  (e.g. S h a ll we see you tomorrow?, 
W il l  they see h im  tomorrow?, I  sh a ll not see you tomorrow , Y ou  w ill  
no t see m e tomorrow, e tc .).

In  spoken  E ng lish  the  c o n tra c te d  forms sh a n 't  and  w o n 't  are com ­
m o n ly  used  in  n eg a tiv e  sen tences.

§ 39. T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is  found only  in p resen t-tim e  contex ts. 
I t  is b y  fa r th e  m ost com m on of a ll the  tense-aspect form s referring  an 
a c tio n  to  th e  fu tu re . A lthough  i t  is w idely  used in  E n g lish , i t  is n ev erth e­
less so m ew h at re s tric ted  in  its  ap p lica tio n  owing to  a num ber of reasons 
w h ich  w ill be  d ea lt w ith  fu r th e r  below .

T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  m ay  be used to  express:
1) a s in g le  p o in t ac tion  th a t  w ill be com pleted in  th e  fu tu re ,
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e.g . I t  w ill ru in  her.
I know I ’m rig h t, and one of these d ay s  y o u ’ ll rea lize  it.

2) an ac tion  occupying  a w hole period of t im e  in  th e  fu ture,

e .g . I th in k  I sh a ll rem ain  in love w ith  you a ll m y life .
I hope y o u ’ll liv e  for m any  years.

3) a succession of actions in  th e  fu ture ,

e .g . I sh a ll w ait in th e  next room  and com e back  w hen sh e ’s gone. 
W e’ ll ju s t ta lk  ab o u t th e  w eather and  th e  c rops for a few m in u tes  

and th en  w e’ ll have d inner.

4) recurren t ac tions in the  fu ture ,
e .g . I sh a ll come a lo n g  as often as possible.

I hope we sh a ll see som ething of you w h ile  you  a re  in London.

5) perm anent fu tu re  actions generally  c h a rac te riz in g  the  person de­
noted by th e  subject of th e  sentence,
e.g . I ’m afraid  h e ’ ll be a bit lonely , poor d a rlin g .

The old age pension  w ill keep m e in  b read , tea  and onions, and  
w hat m ore does an  old m an w ant?

The F u tu re  C ontinuous

§ 40. The F u tu re  C ontinuous is an  a n a ly tic a l form  w hich is b u ilt up by  
m eans of the  au x ilia ry  verb to be in  th e  F u tu re  In d efin ite  and th e  ing- 
form  of the  no tional verb  (e.g. I sh a ll be seeing h im  often  now, He w il l  be 
seeing them o ften  now, e tc .). (On the  fo rm ation  of th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  
see “V erb s” , § 38; on th e  form ation  of th e  m g-form  see “V erbs” , § 1 1 .)

In th e  in te rro g a tiv e  form th e  first a u x ilia ry  v e rb  is placed before  
the  subject (e.g. S h a ll  I  be seeing h im  o ften  now?, W il l  he be seeing them  
often  now?, e tc .). In  th e  negative form the  n e g a tiv e  p a rtic le  not is p laced  
a fte r the  first a u x ilia ry  (e.g. /  sh a ll no t be seeing h im  often now, H e w i l l  
not be seeing them o ften  now , e tc .) .

In  spoken E nglish  the  con trac ted  form '11 is used  w ith  all the  p er­
sons in a ffirm ative  sentences and  sh a n 't  and  w o n 't  in negative  sen tences.

§ 41. The F u tu re  C ontinuous is used in  th e  fo llow ing cases:
1) In its  o rig inal use the  F u tu re  C o n tin u o u s serves to  express a n  

ac tion  w hich begins before a d efin ite  fu tu re  m o m en t, is in progress a t  
th a t  m om ent and con tinues for som e tim e  a fte r  i t .  T he  precise tim e  lim ­
its of th e  ac tion  are  no t specified.

T he given fu tu re  m om ent a t  w hich th e  ac tio n  tak es  p lace  is u su a lly  
ind ica ted  by an  ad v erb ia l m odifier o r is c lea r from  th e  con tex t or s i tu a ­
tio n .
e.g . W e’ll ju s t be beginning th e  ex p erim en ts  th e n , and  my c o n tra c t 

here ends th is  sum m er.
Now I feel ab so lu te ly  dopy. God know s w h a t I sh a ll be say ing  in  

a m inu te .
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How ever, in  p re sen t-d ay  E ng lish  th is  o rig in a l m eaning of th e  F u tu re  
C ontinuous is no t com m on since it  is seldom  required  by th e  s itu a tio n .

2) The F u tu re  C on tinuous is used to  express an ac tion  w hich  th e  
speaker expects  to  ta k e  place in th e  fu tu re  in th e  norm al, n a tu ra l course 
of events. It m ay  be used w ith  or w ith o u t tim e  ind ica tions and  genera lly  
refers to  th e  n ea r fu tu re  though  it is also possib le  to  use it  for a m ore 
d istan t fu tu re .
e.g . I feel I s h a l l  be asking you the  sam e question  tom orrow .

M aurice is t i r e d . H e  w ill be com ing to  bed d irec tly .
“ You h a v e n ’t  been ou t for a w eek ,” his m other said . “ F ive  d a y s ,” 

V incent p u t  dow n h is  paper. “ Y ou’ ll be tak ing  roo t in  th a t  a rm ­
ch a ir. Y our face is grow ing paler every  d a y .”

H e yaw ned. “A n o th e r five m inutes and  I ’ ll be expla in ing  th e  law 
of g ra v ity  to  an o th e r set of my p u p ils . I ’ ll be m aking th e  sam e 
old jokes an d  th e y ’ll be laughing a t  th em  in th e  sam e old w a y .”

Bob w ill n o t be com ing. H e ’s been tak en  ill.

This use sh o u ld  be regarded as the  m ain  app lica tio n  of th e  F u tu re  
C ontinuous in m odern  E ng lish .

§ 42. N o tice  th e  fo llow ing  exam ples in  w hich  th e  F u tu re  C ontinuous 
is used w ith  s ta t iv e  verbs.

e.g. “W h a t’s  y o u r b ro th e r like? I s h a l l  be know ing him  a t O x fo rd ,” said 
V al.

H arris sa id , “W e sha ll be w an ting  to  s ta r t in less than tw elve 
hours’ tim e .”

“W hat so rt of house has L au ra?” “ I d id n ’t no tice . I sh a n ’t  be seeing 
her again  in  an y  c a se .”

The F u tu re  P erfec t

§ 43. T he F u tu re  P erfect is an an a ly tica l form  w hich is b u ilt up by 
m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb  to have  in  the  F u tu re  In d efin ite  and  th e  p a r­
tic ip le  of th e  n o tio n a l verb  (e.g. I  sh a ll have read the book by tha t tim e, 
H e w il l  have read the book by th a t tim e, e tc .) . (On the  form ation  of the 
F u tu re  In d efin ite  see “V erbs” , § 38; on th e  fo rm ation  of the  p a rtic ip le  
see “V erbs” , § 5 .)

In the in te rro g a tiv e  form the  f irs t a u x ilia ry  verb is placed before 
th e  subject (e.g. W il l  she have read the book by th a t time?, W ill  you  have  
read the book by th a t tim e?, e tc .). In  th e  neg a tiv e  form the  neg a tiv e  
p a rtic le  not is p laced  a fte r the  firs t au x ilia ry  (e.g. We sh a ll no t have  
read the book by th a t tim e, They w il l  not have read the book by tha t tim e, 
e tc .).

In spoken E n g lish  th e  con trac ted  form '11 is used w ith  a ll th e  p er­
sons in a ff irm a tiv e  sen tences and sh a n 't  and  w o n 't  in neg a tiv e  sen ­
tences.

§ 44. The F u tu re  P erfec t is used to  express an  ac tion  accom plished 
before a given fu tu re  m om ent w hich is u su a lly  expressed by an  ad v er­
b ia l m odifier.
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e.g. I daresay  y o u ’ ll have gone to  bed by th e  tim e  I ’ve fin ished .
I suppose we sh a ll  have m ade up o u r  m inds whom we a re  g o in g  

to  elect before th e  m eeting.

The F u tu re  P erfec t is g reatly  re s tr ic te d  in  its  use ow ing to  th e  fa c t 
th a t  it  is seldom  required  by th e  s i tu a tio n .

D iffe ren t M eans of Expressing F u tu re  A ctions Com pared

§ 4 5 . All fu tu re  ac tions are by n a tu re  h y p o th e tica l. O w ing to  t h a t ,  
ways of expressing fu tu re  actions— in  a d d itio n  to  the  m ean ing  of fu ­
tu r i ty —are o ften  associated  w ith  v a rio u s  o th e r  m odal m ean ings, su ch  
as in ten tion , w illingness, readiness, o b lig a tio n , assurance, e x p e c ta tio n  
and th e  like. T h a t ex p la in s w hy E n g lish  is rich  in means of re fe r r in g  
an ac tion  to  th e  fu tu re .

§ 4 6 . The fo llow ing is a descrip tion  of d ifferen t means of e x p re ss in g  
fu tu re  ac tions in presen t-day  E n g lish :1

1) T h e  P r e s e n t  C o n t i n u o u s .  I t  is used to  e x p re ss  a 
fu tu re  ac tion  as defin ite ly  settled  due to  o n e ’s previous decision . T h e  
ac tion  is going to  ta k e  place in th e  n ea r fu tu re  and th e  tim e  is, as a  ru le , 
ind ica ted  in th e  sen tence by means of such  a d v e rb ia l m odifiers as to n ig h t,  
next week, in a few  days , etc.

e.g. She is com ing to  lunch on T hursday .
You know, I ’m going aw ay to n ig h t.
A re you s tay in g  long?
Teddie is leav ing  here by th e  firs t t r a in  tom orrow .
P a tr ic k , a re  w e doing any th ing  a t  th e  week-end?

T his use of th e  P resen t C ontinuous is a lso  possib le w ith o u t an y  t im e  
ind ica tions and  th en  th e  action refers to  th e  im m ed ia te  fu tu re .

e.g. I t ’s F red . H e ’s going to I ta ly  and  w a n ts  to  say good-bye.
I ’m ju s t going u p sta irs  to  change and  pack .
I ’m sorry you a re  leaving England.
And now I m ust go as we a re  d in in g  o u t.

N o t e .  N otice th a t in questions beginning w ith  when the Present C o n tin u o u s  
always refers the action  to the future.
e.g. W hen is he coming?

W hen are you going back?

W hen th e  P re se a t C ontinuous is used to  re fe r an  action to  th e  fu tu re ,  
th e  ac tion  is regarded  as fixed and  th e  sp eak e r is certa in  th a t  i t  w ill  
take  place.

S ta tiv e  verbs are not usually  found in  th e  P resen t C o n tin u o u s  to  
refer an ac tion  to  th e  fu ture. In  th is  case  th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  sh o u ld  
be applied .

2) T h e  F u t u r e  C o n t i n u o u s .  I t  is also one of th e  m e a n s  
of expressing fu tu re  actions. I t  is described  in  d e ta il in “V erb s” , § 4 1 .

1 Some of those forms can be regarded as p u re ly  gram m atical ways of ex p ressin g  
fu ture actions; others are  on the border-line betw een lexical and gram m atical m e a n s .
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T he difference b e tw een  th e  Present C ontinuous used to  denote a 
fu tu re  ac tion  and  th e  F u tu re  C ontinuous becom es q u ite  ev iden t if we 
c o m p are  the  fo llow ing sentences:

e .g . W e are  m eeting  to m o rro w  (= w e  have arranged  to  meet tom orrow , 
we have fixed th e  d a te  of our m eeting).

W e sh a ll be m ee tin g  tom orrow  (—not because of som e arrangem ent 
bu t in  th e  no rm a! course of events; e ith e r  because we work to ­
gether, o r because we a tten d  classes toge ther, o r  regu larly  p lay  
some gam e a t  th e  sam e place and a t th e  sam e tim e, etc.).

3) “To b e + in f in i t iv e  (w ith  to ) ."  In  th is  co m bina tion  to be is usu­
a l ly  regarded as a m odal v e rb . L ike the  P resen t C ontinuous, it  serves 
to  in d ica te  a prev ious a rran g em en t, but in a d d itio n  to  th a t  m eaning it 
g e n e ra lly  im plies o b lig a tio n  resu lting  from  th is  arrangem ent. Besides, 
i t  d iffers from th e  P re sen t C ontinuous in th a t  i t  does not necessarily 
re fe r  th e  ac tion  to  th e  n e a r  fu tu re .

S ince a previous a rran g em en t is the basic m ean ing  of th is  com bina­
t io n  and th e  ac tion  a lw ay s refers to  the fu tu re , th e re  is no need to  give 
sp ec ia l ind ica tions of t im e  in th e  sentence, tho u g h  th e  tim e  may be 
m en tioned  if it is req u ired  by  th e  sense.

e .g . I ’ve had a le tte r  from  hom e. I ’m to  go back  a t once.
T h is au tu m n  he is e n te rin g  th e  M ilita ry  College. H e is to  make 

th e  Arm y h is  ca reer.
The m eaning of o b lig a tio n  m ay become so s trong  th a t  “to  b e + in f in ­

i t i v e ” som etim es com es to  express orders o r in s tru c tio n s  w hich are 
to  be carried ou t in  th e  fu tu re .

e .g . M illy , you a re  n o t to  ta lk  like th a t in  fro n t of th e  ch ild .

4) “To be going to - K n f in i t iv e .” This form  is an  im p o rtan t m eans 
o f referring  an ac tio n  to  th e  fu tu re  and is in frequen t use in  m odern E ng­
lish . I t  is conven ien t to  re fe r to  it as th e  “going-to  fo rm ”.

e .g . I ’m going to  te l l  h im  w h a t I th ink  of h im .
H e ’s no t going to  m ake any  concessions.
A re you going to  p la y  tennis?
W h at are you go ing  to  do about it?

N o t e .  The verb to go is  a c tua lly  not the Present Continuous here. I t  is the 
P resen t Continuous only in  form ; its  use has become id iom atic  in th is com bination.

S ince th e  “going-to  fo rm ” always refers an  ac tion  to  the  fu tu re , 
i t  does no t requ ire  an y  sp ec ia l indications of tim e  (see th e  exam ples 
ab o v e). B ut if necessary , th e  tim e  may be in d ica ted .

e .g . S h e ’s going to  ex p la in  th a t  tom orrow.
O h, I ’m n o t going to  m a rry  for years y e t.

A lthough th is  m eans of referring  an ac tion  to  th e  fu tu re  is freq u en t­
ly  found in E ng lish , its  a p p lic a tio n  is som ew hat re s tr ic te d —it is m a in ­
ly  found w ith  d y n am ic  v e rb s . An im portan t ex cep tio n  to  th e  ru le, how­
e v e r , is th e  verb to be w h ich  often  occurs in th is  construction .
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e.g. H e ’s going to  be a solicitor.
Of course, th e  t r ip ’s  going to  be w onderfu l.

The verbs to go  and to come a re  ra re ly  found w ith  th e  “g o in g -to  fo rm ” . 
T hus, H e is g o ing  to go  or He is g o in g  to come are uncom m on in  E n g lish . 
These verbs are generally  used in  th e  P resen t C ontinuous in s te a d .
e.g. Oh, a re  you going to  Ita ly?

Are you com ing, Mother?

The “going-to  fo rm ” is ch arac terized  by th e  fo llow ing  a d d itio n a l 
m odal m eanings:

a) T he “going-to  fo rm ” m ain ly  serves to  express p re m e d ita te d  in ­
te n tio n . T h a t m eans th a t the person  deno ted  by th e  su b je c t has been 
p lan n in g  for som e tim e  to  perform  th e  ac tion , has been th in k in g  of it , 
th a t some p rep ara tio n  for the a c tio n  nas been in progress. In d ic a tio n s  
of tim e  are o p tio n a l in th is  case.

e.g . I ’m n o t going to live at hom e.
I ’m going to  say som eth ing  d readfu l to  you, D o ro th y .
W ell, I have changed my m in d  and  I ’m going to  accep t.
W hat a re  you going to do now?
I ’m  going to  do my best.

b) T he “going-to  fo rm ” m ay  a lso  be used to  show  th e  sp e a k e r’s 
feeling th a t  th e  ac tion  is im m in en t, th a t  i t  is u n av o id ab le  in  th e  near 
fu tu re . N o ind ica tio n  of tim e is g en era lly  needed in  th is  case.

e .g . I d o n ’t  know w hat is going to  happen.
"T h e  n ex t few y e a rs ,” said  G eorge, “a re  going to  be a  w onderfu l 

tim e  to  be a liv e .”
O h, w h at is going to  become of us?
I ’m afra id  I ’m going to cry .

5) T h e  P r e s e n t  I n d e f i n i t e .  I t  is a lso  an  im p o rta n t 
m eans of expressing fu tu re  ac tio n s . I t  is used in  fo u r d iffe ren t cases 
w hich hav e  been described in  “V e rb s” , § 10, 4.

6) T h e  F u t u r e  I n d e f i n i t e .  A fter a ll th e  o th e r  m eans of 
expressing fu tu re  actions have been  described , i t  is now  necessary  to  see 
w hat rem ains for th e  F u tu re  In d e f in ite  proper to  express.

In  th e  f irs t p lace it  should be p o in ted  ou t th a t  th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  
is used d iffe ren tly  w ith  dynam ic an d  s ta t iv e  verbs.

W ith  s ta t iv e  verbs th e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is used to  express a n y  ac tio n  
referring  to  th e  fu tu re , w ith o u t an y  restric tio n s.

e.g. H is suggestion  w ill in te rest yo u  enorm ously .
Y o u ’ ll th in k  his ideas ab su rd .
S h e ’ll know th e  tru th  soon.
D o n ’t  bo ther, I sh a ll m anage a ll r ig h t by m yself.
D ad w ill  never consent to  o u r  m arriage .
I t ’ ll be ra th e r  fun com ing up  to  tow n  to  ea t m y d in n ers .
I ’l l  be back  presently .
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W e s h a l l  have som e new s fo r you to  take  to  you r people.
I t  w il l  n o t m ake m uch difference to  me.

T h e  o th e r  m eans of exp ressing  fu ture  actions are  no t com m on w ith  
s t a t iv e  v e rb s—som e of th em  seem  to be im possib le  w ith  these verbs 
(e .g . th e  P resen t C on tinuous, th e  F u tu re  C ontinuous, p a r tly  th e  Present 
In d e fin ite )  w h ile  o thers a re  uncom m on (e.g. th e  “going-to  fo rm ”).

A lth o u g h  th e  num ber of s ta t iv e  verbs is lim ited , th ey  are  in  frequent 
use. T h a t  m akes th e  ro le of th e  F u tu re  Indefin ite  very  im p o rtan t in Eng­
lish .

W ith  d y n am ic  verbs th e  F u tu re  Indefin ite  is used freely  on ly  under 
c e r ta in  cond itions:

a) T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is  found  in  th e  p rinc ipa l c lause of a com ­
p le x  sen ten ce  w ith  a  c lause  of t im e , condition  and concession.1
e .g . “ W e s h a ll  catch  th e  t r a in  i f  w e s ta r t n o w ,” she in sisted .

Y o u ’re  th e  p re ttie s t w om an  I ’ve ever known and  I sh a ll  say the  
sam e when y o u ’re  a  h u n d red .

A s  soon as we have had  te a , Fred, we sh a ll  go to  inspect your 
house.

W e ’l l  ta lk  about i t  w henever he  comes.

O th e r  m eans of expressing  fu tu re  actions are  uncom m on in th is  
case .

b) T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is no rm ally  found in  passive  constructions.

e .g . H e ’ ll  be voted down.
M y ch ief w ill  be in fo rm ed  of your request.
S he w ill  be paid in  cash.

c) T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is used  to  express a succession of actions 
in  th e  fu tu re . N one of th e  ab o v e  described means seem s to  be su itab le  
here .

e .g . I s h a l l  p repare  you a  n ice  l i t t l e  d inner and th en  w e’ ll leave you. 
I ’ ll  tak e  a w alk  to  th e  sea and  on m y w ay back I ’ ll  buy you a news­

p ap er.

d) T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is used when th e  tim e  of th e  rea liza tion  
of th e  ac tio n  is in d e fin ite  o r w hen  its rea liza tion  is rem ote.
e .g . W e s h a l l  m eet again  one  day .

L ife  w il l  teach her a lesson.
H e ’ l l  n ev er se ll his l i t t l e  co ttage .

Such  sen tences o ften  co n ta in  adverb ia l m odifiers of in d e fin ite  tim e, 
e .g . never , a lw a ys, some day, forever, in fu tu re  and th e  like .

e) T h e  F u tu re  In d e fin ite  is used to  denote ac tions th e  rea liza tion  
of w h ich  is u n ce rta in , d o u b tfu l o r m erely supposed as th e ir  fu lfilm ent 
is u su a lly  dependen t on som e im p lie d  condition.

e .g . Y ou m u s tn ’t  c ry . P lease , d o n ’t ,  or I sh a ll go to  pieces.

1 In th e  subord inate  clauses we find the Present Indefinite or the Present Per­
fect (see “V erbs” , § 10, 4 and § 16, 3).

56



Protest as you like, Mr Pyke, it won’t a lte r my decision.

In this case we sometimes find such modal words in the sentence as 
perhaps, probably or their synonyms, occasionally of course and the 
like.

e.g. They’ll probably get a lot of satisfaction out of our quarrel.
Of course he will send you a letter in a few days.

f) The Future Indefinite is found in object clauses after verbs (and 
their equivalents) expressing personal views or opinions, such as to 
think , to know, to believe, to hope, to suppose, to be afraid, to doubt, to 
have no doubt, to suspect, to be sure, to expect, to imagine, to wonder 
and the like. Sometimes these verbs may be used in parenthesis.

e.g. He thinks a scandal will ruin his reputation.
I don't know what I shall do without you.
I ’m afraid he won’t talk to you.
I*we no doubt you’ll explain it  perfectly.
He’ll write to us, I hope.

On the whole it should be noted that although other means of ex­
pressing futurity can also be used under the above described conditions 
(a, b, c, d, e, f), they are applied when their meaning is specially required.

§ 47. If the dynamic verbs are used in the Future Indefinite under 
conditions other than those described above, the sentences become mod­
ally coloured. This occurs owing to  the fact tha t the auxiliaries shall 
and w ill preserve their modal meanings.

Thus shall preserves its original meaning of obligation, if some­
what modified, with the 2nd and 3rd persons in sentences expressing 
promise, threat or warning.
e.g. I promise you, Arthur, that Harold shan’t do anything about it. 

He shall have a scandal. He shall have the worst scandal there 
has been in London for years.

Shall also preserves its modal meaning when it is used in asking 
aiter the will of the person addressed.

e.g. Shall I bring you some coffee?
Oh, Alfred, what shall we do?

W ill (in print w ill or '11) is often used in affirm ative sentences 
with the first person, singular and plural, to express such meanings as 
wish, willingness, readiness, intention, determ ination to  perform an 
action.

e.g. I ’ll do what I can.
I ’ll go wherever you take me.

W ill in sentences of this kind also shows tha t the  speaker offers to 
perform an action.
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I 'l l  go and get a drink for you.
I ’ll wire to  have the room ready for them.
I ’ll come w ith  you, Barbara.

In affirm ative sentences w ill with the second and third persons 
may occasionally express a command.
e.g. You w ill come here tomorrow not later than ten, Mr Lickcheese. 

Bernard w ill pay the taxi.

In negative sentences w ill expresses refusal to perform an action.
e.g. I won’t  argue with you.

He won’t be ordered about.

In general questions, direct and indirect, as well as in disjunctive 
questions, w ill  also preserves its modal meaning and the interrogative 
sentence is actually  to be understood as a request or an invitation.
e.g. W ill you ask him to ring me back?

You’ll w ait for us, won’t you?
Oh, ask him  if he won’t come in.

The same is true of complex sentences with an if-clause in which 
w ill is used to  express willingness or consent.
e.g. Oh, but we shall be delighted if you’ll lunch with us.

IWill may express supposition.
e.g. As she entered the room, the telephone rang. “T hat’ll be your 

m other,” Jenny said to her husband.

For a detailed treatm ent of the modal verbs shall and w ill see 
“Verbs”, § 105, §§ 113-116.

§ 48. By way of exception to the above rules, dynamic verbs may 
be occasionally found in the Future Indefinite to express mere futurity 
without any additional modal meanings. This use of the Future Indef­
inite may be understood as an expression of neutrality or im partiality 
on the part of the  speaker. (Normally one of the other means of express­
ing futurity  is used in this case.)
e.g. I shall dine in my own room.

I shall leave you with your father for half an hour.
In this chapter we shall present a brief account of new methods 

that we have used.
Be quiet. Somebody will answer the bell.

This use of the  Future Indefinite is found in formal announcements 
of future pians in newspapers and news broadcasts.
e.g. This is the  weather forecast for the afternoon. A belt of depression 

w ill spread further north, showers w ill fall in southern districts.

§ 49. It should be borne in mind that the difference between the 
various means of referring an action to the future may sometimes become
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unimportant, as the distinction is often very subtie. Thus, there are 
cases when two different forms may be used interchangeably w ithout 
any noticeable difference in meaning.
Cf. We are going to  the pictures tonight.

We are to go to the pictures tonight.
He is taking his exam next week.
He will be taking his exam next week.
I ’m meeting Tom at the station.
I ’m going to meet Tom at the station.

§ 50. Notice the use of the Future Indefinite in the following stereo­
typed sentences:
e.g. I ’ll ask you to excuse me.

You’ll excuse me, Gardner.
Well, we’ll see.
I t ’ll do you good.
It won’t do them harm to cool their heads a bit.
You’ve got a mind like a steel trap . You’ll go far.
No good will come of it.

Means of Expressing Future Actions Viewed from the Past

§51. English has special forms to  express future actions if they 
are viewed from some moment in the past. The most common of these 
means is the Future-in-the-Past, which, like the Future, has the follow­
ing forms: the Future Indefinite-in-the-Past, the Future Continuous* 
in-the-Past, and the Future Perfect-in-the-Past.

1) T h e  F u t u r e  I n d e f i n i t e - i n - t h e - P a s t  is an 
analytical form which is built up by means of the auxiliary verbs should 
(for the first person, singular and plural) and would (for the second 
and third persons, singular and plural) and the  infinitive of the notional 
verb without the particle to (e.g. I  said I  should do it, I said he would 
do it, etc.). In present-day English there is a tendency to use would 
for all the persons. Besides, the difference in the use of should and would 
disappears altogether in spoken English where the contracted form yd 
is used with all the persons (e.g. I said I 'd  do it, I said he'd do i t , e tc .). 
In negative sentences the particle not is placed after the auxiliaries 
should and would with which it often forms the contractions shouldn 't 
and wouldn't (e.g. I  said I should not (shouldn't) do it, 1 said he 
would not (wouldn't) do it, etc.).

The use of the Future Indefinite-in-the-Past is structurally dependent 
as it is mainly found in object clauses after one of the Past tense-aspect 
forms in the principal clause.1
e.g. At twenty I did not know whether any woman would love me w ith  

her whole heart.

1 I t  can  be  used in a ll ty p es  of c lauses in  w h ich  th e  ru les  of th e  se q u e n ce  of 
tenses a re  observed.
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I felt that further conversation with Dave would be unprofitable 
at that moment.

He was sure I should get the job.

The Future Indefinite-in-the-Past expresses tim e relations relatively 
(see “Verbs”, § 54), i.e. w ith regard to a given past moment from which 
the  action is viewed—the action of the subordinate clause follows that 
of the principal clause.

2) T h e  F u t u r e  C o n t i n u o u s - i n - t h e - P a s t  is an 
analytical form which is built up by means of the auxiliary verb to be 
in the Future Indefinite-in-the-Past and the mg-form of the notional 
verb (e.g. /  said I  should be seeing him often soon, I  said he would be 
seeing him often soon, etc.). In negative sentences the particle not is placed 
after the first auxiliary (e.g. I  said /  should not be seeing him often 
now, /  said he would not be seeing him often now, etc.). In spoken Eng­
lish the contracted form ’d is used in affirmative sentences and the forms 
shouldn’t and wouldn't in negative sentences.

The Future Continuous-in-the-Past generally serves to show that 
an action which is future from a definite past moment, is expected to 
take place in the normal, natural course of events. Like the Future In­
definite-in-the-Past, it  is also structurally dependent and is mainly 
found in object clauses.
e.g. Towards the end of May he had a letter from Rosalind, in which 

she said tha t she would soon be announcing her engagement to 
Ralph Udal.

He said he would be seeing her that evening at the Atkinsons.
I felt that in a moment we should be talking soberly like two old 

acquaintances.
It should be noted th a t the application of the Future Continuous-in- 

the-Past is infrequent.
3 ) T h e  F u t u r e  P e r f e c t - i n - t h e - P a s t  (should/would 

have done) denotes an action completed before a definite moment which is 
future from the point of view of the past. But the form hardly ever occurs 
in English as it is not required by the situation.

§ 52. In addition to  the Future-in-the-Past there are other means 
of expressing actions which are future from the point of view of the past.

Actions which are future from the point of view of the past may have 
the same shades of modal meaning as actions referring to the real future. 
(See “Different Means of Expressing Future Actions Compared”, “Verbs”, 
§§ 45-50.) So the same means of expressing them may be applied, with 
the  only difference th a t the verbs take the form of the Past tense. It 
is noteworthy, however, tha t the application of the various other means 
of expressing future actions viewed from the past is much more restrict­
ed than the use of the  Future-in-the-Past.

I) The Past Continuous is used to express a future*in-the-past action 
as definitely settled. The action is expected to  take place soon after a 
definite past moment. The time of its realization is often, though not 
necessarily, indicated in the sentence by means of adverbial modifiers.
60



e.g. In the pocket of his dinner-jacket was a letter from A nnette. She 
was coming back in a fortnight.

The last time I saw him, he said he was going on the stage.

2) “To be to+infin itive, ” which is usually treated as a modal phrase, 
serves, like the Past Continuous, to  indicate a previous arrangement, 
but in addition to  that meaning it generally implies obligation resulting 
from that arrangement.
e.g. I ’ve still got the letter. I was to post it. But of course later I forgot. 

He was beside himself with excitement because his book was to 
be published next month.

“To be to + in fin itiv e” may also serve to express orders or instruc­
tions (mainly in reported speech).
e.g. I had already impressed upon her that she was not to m ention my 

name to him.
There was a special order th a t no one was to come to  the  station 

to see the battalion off.
When it denotes a future action viewed from the past, “ to be to + in ­

finitive” may acquire the meaning of something destined to  happen. 
(This meaning is not found with “to be to + in fin itiv e” when it is used 
with reference to the actual future.)
e.g. And then came the offer of the research which was to occupy so 

much of his working life.
At that time I did not know what was to become of me.

3) “To be going to + in fin itiv e” may have two different meanings:
a) It mainly serves to express premeditated intention. T hat means 

that the person denoted by the subject had been planning for some time 
to perform the action, that some preparation for the action had been 
in progress. This use of the “going-to form ” is chiefly found in object 
clauses.
e.g. Fi'nn said he was going to write a letter to his uncle in Ireland.

I told George what I was going to say to the Committee.
It is noteworthy that the Past tense of the “going-to form ” may, 

however, be structurally independent, when it occurs in independent 
sentences. In this case, in addition to  premeditated intention, it denotes 
that the action was not carried out, i.e. the person indicated by the 
subject was prevented from carrying out his intention.
e.g. He was going to meet you himself, only his car was stolen.

I t ’s your birthday, Stan. I was going to keep it a secret un til to­
night.

b) The Past tense of the “going-to form ” may also be used to  show 
the speaker’s feeling that the action was unavoidable, that it was immi­
nent. This use of the ugoing-to form ” is mainly found in reported speech.
e.g. If only we knew what was going to happen.

You always thought I was going to die, d idn’t you?
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I knew he was going to regret the day he had ever written tha’ 
letter.

4) The Past Indefinite may be used in two different cases which are 
both  structurally dependent.

a) It is used with reference to  a future action viewed from the past 
in clauses of time, condition and concession (in accordance with the rules 
of the  sequence of tenses).
e.g. So when Anna was leaving for France I said to  her vaguely that 

I would look her up when she returned.
Probably she knew that whatever happened he would not give 

her away.
I told him if he didn’t hurry up he’d get no breakfast.

N o t e .  In  c lauses o th e r th a n  th o se  of tim e , c o n d itio n  a n d  concession , th e  Fu- 
tu r e  In d e fin ite - in - th e -P a s t is u sed  ev en  if these c lauses a re  in tro d u ced  by th e  con­
ju n c t io n s  when an d  if.
e .g . I a sk ed  h im  if  he w o u ld  s ta y  a n o th e r  week w ith  us.

T h e  t im e  w ould  com e when th ey  w ould  a ll be p roud  of T ony.

b) The Past Indefinite is used in object clauses after one of the Past 
tenses of to see ( =  to attend), to take care or to make sure in the prin­
cipal clause.
e.g . He knew that Rosalind would see that it did not happen.

Mother took care th a t I held myself well.

§ 53. To sum it up, it should be mentioned that though the use of 
the  Future Indefinite-in-the-Past, in theory, is sim ilar to that of the 
Future Indefinite, its use is actually much wider. The use of the other 
means of expressing future actions viewed from the past is, on the con­
tra ry , much more restricted than the use of the same means with refer­
ence to  the real future.

The Rules of the Sequence of Tenses

§ 54. In certain types of subordinate clauses the tenses are used rel­
atively , tha t is the tense form does not refer the action to  the present, 
th e  past or the future but only shows whether the action of the subor­
d inate  clause is simultaneous w ith the action of the principal clause, 
precedes it or follows it.

The choice of the tense form in the subordinate clause depends on 
th e  tense form used in the principal clause. This structurally dependent 
use of tenses in certain types of clauses is known as the rules of the se­
quence of tenses.

§ 55. The relative use of tenses is mainly observed in subordinate 
object clauses.

1) After one of the Past tense-aspect forms in the principal clause 
(including the Future-in-the-Past) we find Past tense-aspect forms in 
the  subordinate clause.

The action of the object clause may be s i m u l t a n e o u s  with
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th a t of the principal clause. In this case the Past Indefinite or the Past 
Continuous is used in the object clause no m atter which Past tense-aspect 
form is found in the principal clause (the Past Indefinite, or the Past 
Continuous, or the Past Perfect, or the Past Perfect Continuous, or the 
Future-in-the-Past).
e.g. Nobody knew what he meant.

I thought you were joking.
He had not realized how nervous she was.
He would never know what she was thinking*

The action of the object clause may p r e c e d e  tha t of the p rin ­
cipal clause. In this case the Past Perfect or the Past Perfect Continuous 
is used in the object clause no matter which Past tense-aspect form is 
found in the principal clause.
e.g. The people she met seemed to know where she had been, what she 

had been doing.
He was finally telling  them what he had been concealing.
Soames looked at her. He had said that she had not changed; now 

he perceived that she had.

The action of the object clause may f o l l o w  th a t of the principal 
clause. In this case the Future-in-the-Past or one of the other means 
of expressing future actions viewed from the past is used in the object 
clause no matter which Past tense-aspect form is found in the principal 
clause.
e.g. I had feared that my companion would talk  too much, but it was 

soon plain that there was no such danger.
I explained that I was going up to London.
He thought of how wet they were going to get in the rain.
She knew that George would be waiting for her.

2) The rules of the sequence of tenses are also observed in object 
clauses if one of the Present tense-aspect forms is used in the principal 
clause.

If the action of the object clause is s i m u l t a n e o u s  with 
tha t of the principal clause we find either the Present Indefinite or the 
Present Continuous in it no m atter which of the Present tense-aspect 
forms is used in the principal clause.
e.g. Maurice doesn’t know what he is doing.

“ I know just how they fee l,” said Sophia.
I am beginning to  think you’re a fool.
You’ve noticed, I daresay, that she travels a good deal.
“Adeline has been telling m e,” he said, “tha t her father is willing 

to send her abroad.”

If the action of the object clause p r e c e d e s  that of the prin­
cipal clause we find the Present Perfect, the Past Indefinite, the Present 
Perfect Continuous or the Past Continuous in it  no m atter which of 
the Present tense-aspect forms is used in the  principal clause.
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e.g. I don’t know whether any of you have met her.
I don’t  see why he did it.
I don’t w ant her to see I ’ve been crying.
I ’m beginning to  understand why your grandfather left you his 

house.
If the action of the object clause f o l l o w s  that of the principal 

clause we find one of the Future tense-aspect forms or one of the other 
means of expressing futurity in it no m atter which of the Present tense- 
aspect forms is used in the principal clause.
e.g. I don’t think he’ll ever forgive me for asking these people to  come 

here.
I expect she’ll be ringing up again very shortly.
I don’t  know how I ’m going to do it.
I ’ve just to ld  everyone that I ’m sending him to school this autumn. 
She's hoping I shall be back by Monday week.
They haven’t even told me who my successor is going to be.

3) The rules of the sequence of tenses are observed in object clauses 
after one of the  Future tense-aspect forms or one of the means of express­
ing future actions in the principal clause.

If the action in the object clause is s i m u l t a n e o u s  with that 
of the principal clause we find the Present Indefinite or the Present 
Continuous in it.
e.g. I am sure we shall find we have quite a lot to say to one another. 

Sir W alter w ill tell you that I ’m not exaggerating.

If the action in the object clause p r e c e d e s  that of the principal 
clause we find the  Present Perfect or the Past Indefinite in it.
e.g. Miss Sophia w ill be glad you’ve come.

They w ill ask you when you arrived in New York.
I never liked the idea and I ’m not going to say I did.
Oh, come, you ’re not going to tell me that you’ve never been in 

love since you were in love with me.

If the action in the object clause f o l l o w s  that of the principal 
clause we find one of the Future tense-aspect forms or one of the other 
means of expressing future actions in it.

e.g. I ’ll te ll you what I ’ll do.
We’ll let you know what we are going to do about it.
You are going to say that this w ill cost you a thousand pounds.

N o t e  1. G ra m m a rs  usu a lly  say  th a t  th e  cho ice  of th e  tense form  in  th e  su b ­
o rd in a te  c lau se  is  free  a f te r  a p re sen t or a  fu tu re  ten se  form  in  th e  p rin c ip a l c lause . 
T his is n o t q u ite  c o rre c t as on ly  th e  above  described  form s can  be used in  th is  case, 
th e ir  choice b e in g  a s  s t r ic t  an d  as reg u la r  as a fte r  a p a s t tense  form  in  th e  p rin c ip a l 
clause.

i t  is  tru e , th e  r e la t iv e  use of tense forms is  n o t so  o b v ious a f te r  a p re sen t tense 
form  in  th e  p r in c ip a l  c lau se  since  th e  s itu a tio n  is v iew ed  from  th e  m om ent of sp eak in g  
and  a t  f irs t s ig h t th e  use  of ten se  form s seems to  depend  o n ly  on th e  sense. H ow ever, 
ifwe com pare  th e  u se  of tenses in  o b jec t c lauses a fte r  a p resen t, a p a s t an d  a fu tu re
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tense  form  i t  becom es ev id e n t th a t th e ir  ch o ice  a lw a y s  depends on th e  te n se  fo rm  
of th e  p red ica te  verb  in  th e  p rincipal c lause .

B esides, a f te r  a fu tu re  tense  in th e  p rin c ip a l c la u se  i t  is a p resen t ten se  fo rm  t h a t  
is used in th e  o b jec t c lau se  to  express s im u tta n eo u sn ess , b u t n o t a fu tu re  te n se  fo rm  
w hich  m ig h t be lo g ic a lly  expected  (see th e  e x a m p le s  ab ove). I t  m ig h t a lso  b e  e x p e c t­
ed  th a t  a p resen t ten se  form  would d eno te  p r io r i ty  a f te r  a fu tu re  tense fo rm  in  th e  
p rin c ip a l c lau se  b u t  a c tu a lly  i t  is the P re sen t P e rfe c t o r  th e  P a s t In d e fin ite  t h a t  s e rv e  
to  express p r io r ity  here.

N o t e  2. T he ab o v e  described ru le s  o f th e  seq u en ce  of tenses a re  o b se rv e d  in  
a ll  o b jec t c lau ses ir re sp e c tiv e  of th e  c o n ju n c tio n  o r th e  co n ju n c tiv e  w ord  b y  w h ic h  
th e  c lause  is in tro d u c ed . T he object c lau se  m ay  a lso  b e  jo in e d  to  th e  p r in c ip a l c la u se  
asy n d e tica lly  (see th e  ex am ples above).

N o  t  e 3. I t  sh o u ld  be  noted  th a t  th e  ru le s  o f th e  sequence of tenses h o ld  go o d  
in  ob jec t c lauses a f te r  a form al it used as th e  su b je c t  of th e  p rin c ip a l c la u se .

e .g . I t  p leased m e to  th in k  th a t  he w as m ak in g  p rogress.
I t  appears th a t  y o u  know  my nam e.
O h , Dor! Isn ’ t  i t  lovely  yo u ’ve come?
I t  was re m a rk ab le  th a t  she  seldom  th o u g h t  o f  G erald .
I t  was announced  a t  th e  com m encem ent of th e  congress th a t  a spec ia l m is s io n

w ould  leave to  in v es tig a te  th e  cris is .

§ 56. Object clauses are usually subordinated to the predicate of 
the principal clause. But they may be also subordinated to some o ther 
parts of the sentence, expressed by a verbal and occasionally by an adjec­
tive. In this case the tense-aspect form of the subordinate clause also 
depends on the tense-aspect form of the predicate verb in the principal 
clause.

e.g. He wanted them to see that he was not hostile.
Winslow was fond of saying that he had a large collection of pictures.
He finally went home, satisfied th a t he would have no trouble.
John had left in April perfectly ignorant of what he wanted to  become.

§ 57. The rules of the sequence of tenses are sometimes violated  
in object clauses. This occurs in the following cases:

1) In present-time contexts the rules of the sequence of tenses m ay 
not be observed after a Past tense-aspect form in the principal clause 
when reference is made to the actual present tim e (a), the actual past 
time (b) or the actual future time (c). This is found in dialogues (in 
plays, novels, stories) and also in newspaper and radio reports.

e.g. a) I told Lewis that we’re worried about Myrtle.
I was obliged to tell him that too much depends on our decision.
Muriel said she’s been ringing you all day, Mother.
I wonder if you understood a word of what 1 have been saying.
She was stem  to me, but she taught me what the world is for­

getting, the difference that there is between w hat’s righ t 
and w hat’s wrong.

b) I think you said you came in a taxi.
"All night long I have been dreaming about this b reak fast.” 

“ I thought you said you d idn’t sleep.”
c) I came to  tell you that I ’ll vote against you.
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I read the other day that they are going to raise the war pensions.
“ Did you know, ” she said, “that Roy is having Lord and Lady 

BoscastJe to  lunch?”
In the above examples we may speak of the absolute use of tense- 

aspect forms as they actually refer the actions to the present, the past 
or the future.

It should be pointed out that though there is a tendency in present- 
day English to use the tense-aspect forms absolutely, the well-established 
tradition of the relative use of the tense-aspect forms is still holding 
ground. There are numerous examples of the same kind as those given 
above in which the rules of the sequence of tenses are strictly observed. 
Moreover, sometimes the  formal dependence of the tense-aspect form 
of the object clause on th a t of the principal clause appears even illogical, 
contradicting the actual s ta te  of things, and yet the tradition does not 
give way.
e.g. “ I came to see how your health was, ” he said to Miss Marple.

You are not angry w ith  me because I quite forgot it was my birth­
day today.

I hear you are going to  be married again; I thought you were tired 
of that game.

I didn’t know I was so strong.
2) The rules of the sequence of tenses may not be observed when 

the speaker believes th a t he is dealing with facts, statements or opinions 
which are true of all tim es, are a kind of general tru th . In this case the 
Present Indefinite is used in the object clause after a Past tense-aspect 
form in the principal clause. Examples of this kind are not very numerous.
e.g. Every attempt to extend the repertory proved tha t it is the drama 

that makes the theatre and not the theatre that makes the drama.
You made me understand what love really is.
They were so young tha t they did not know what an advantage 

it is to be in society.
Soames was realizing more and more than ever how essential rep­

utation is to  a solicitor.
3) The rules of the sequence of tenses cannot be observed with certain 

modal verbs which have only one form. They are m ust, should, ought 
and need.
e.g. I wrote that I m ust see him.

He said he was sure that there must be some mistake.
I didn’t think you need worry.
I knew that from now on he should do no more work.
Two people advised me recently., almost in the same words, that 

I ought to see a doctor.
§ 58. As has been said, the main sphere of the application of the 

rules of the sequence of tenses are object clauses. Yet these rules are 
strictly  observed in some other cases too:

a) i n  s u b j e c t  a n d  p r e d i c a t i v e  c l a u s e s ,
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e.g. How she managed to do it is not known.
This is not what I expected.
That he has behaved as a coward is a fact.
After all, i t ’s what we’ve been hoping all along, isn ’t it?
Why they had voted against him was a mystery.
My first impression was tha t they all behaved very well.
That he would soon ask for help was almost a certain ty .
My only fear was that Finn would forget what he was supposed 

to be doing.

b ) i n  a p p o s i t i v e  c l a u s e s ,

e.g. The author expresses the confidence that readers of the paper will 
support the candidate.

She had the sensation that someone hidden among the trees was 
watching her as she passed.

c) i n  c l a u s e s  o f  p u r p o s e  (in which we mainly find the 
modal verbs can and may),

e.g. I want to move to London so tha t I can really begin a new life.
As you go, leave the door open so that the light may show you some 

of the way down.
The doctor stepped around so tha t she could see him, and nodded.
He exclaimed loudly and clearly, so that all m ight hear.

d ) i n  s i m p l e  s e n t e n c e s  as well as in all types of clauses 
in so-called “inner speech” (“inner speech” is a stylistic device which 
consists in the author describing the thoughts of his characters as if 
they were speaking to themselves),

e.g. The house wasn’t too bad, he reflected to himself. It was good, 
solidly built, though rather ugly. It would be quite comfortable 
to  live in.

Freddy did not like Ted. But nevertheless he thought th a t there 
was a brilliant career ahead of him in diplomacy. The tim e would 
come when they would all be proud of him.

It was quite true, thought Lady Seal. Neville had spoken surpris­
ingly well that morning, as though at last he were fully alive 
to his responsibilities. She would ask him to  luncheon. But 
perhaps he would be busy; many people were busy in those days.

e) i n  s i m p l e  s e n t e n c e s  in which a parenthetic sentence 
is inserted (The tense form of the simple sentence depends on that of 
the parenthetic one.),

e.g. The house had, he admitted, a feeling of solidity and security.
The idea wasn’t too bad, he reflected to himself.
It was all being done very well, Mrs Bantry thought.

§ 59. In all other clauses, i.e. other than object, subject, predicative, 
appositive clauses and clauses of purpose, the use of the tense-aspect
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forms is structurally independent, i.e. the tense-aspect form is chosen 
in accordance with the sense to  be conveyed.

Yet it is noteworthy that in narration in the vast majority of a ttr i­
butive clauses as well as clauses of time, cause, result, comparison, 
condition, or concession we find a Past tense-aspect form. In fact, this 
seems to  be the general rule. But the reason why it is used is not its 
structural dependence on the tense-aspect form of the principal clause. 
Since all the events in narration refer to the past, it is only natural 
th a t one of the Past tense-aspect forms should be used in these types 
of clauses as it is logically required by the sense.
e.g. I was in the garden one morning with Brenda when a car drew 

up to  the front door.
But no one knew how the Greeks were holding on, because the 

supplies were getting scarce.
A ta ll tired-looking man, whom he had not met before, came out 

and without a word led him into the office.
It was one of the happiest afternoons he had ever spent.
She was as glad to end the  conversation as he was.
Harris was so overcome w ith joy that he fainted.

But when necessary, it is possible to use any tense-aspect form re­
quired by the sense in such clauses.
e.g. Georgie, who is now twenty-six, had been an undergraduate at 

Cambridge, where she had taken a degree of economics.
We were standing in the part of the market that is devoted to flow­

ers.
“ It was many years ago,” said Miss Marple, “but nevertheless 

human nature was very much the same as it is now.”
He was as fond of his father as I am of mine.
I had known Palmer, when th is story starts, for nearly four years.
I had never seen him before and I had never heard anything about 

him at the time, though I have heard a good deal since.

§ 60. The rules of the sequence of tenses are also observed in clauses 
of the second, third, etc. grade of subordination. Yet the choice of the 
tense-aspect form is not dependent in this case on the tense-aspect form 
of the principal clause; it is determined by the form of the clause to 
which it is subordinated.
e.g. He hurried her away, grumbling to himself |(1) that he had known 

1(2) how it would be.

In the above example, clause 1 is subordinated to the principal clause 
and the Past Perfect is used to  express the priority of the action to that 
of the principal clause; clause 2, however, is subordinated to clause 
1 and the Future-in-the-Past serves to show an action following that 
of clause I.

In the following example the Past Indefinite in clause 1 shows that 
the action is simultaneous w ith that of the principal clause; the Past 
Perfect in clause 2 expresses the priority of the action to that in clause 1.
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e.g. I discovered |(1) that he thought |(2) nothing specially unusual 
had happened.

The same rule is illustrated in the following examples:
e.g. Awkwardly, with kindness, he asked me about my studies. He 

said that Ann had told him how I was working.
But I was delayed and when I arrived the landlady told me that 

the girl had said she was not used to being kept waiting and 
had gone.

She was always so sure that at last she had found exactly what 
she wanted.

I thought you said that you were trying to  get a job.
I thought I knew why they had come.

VOICE

§ 61. V o i c e is the form of the verb which serves to show whether 
the subject of the sentence is the agent or the object of the action expressed 
by the predicate verb. There are two voices in English—t h e A c ­
t i v e  V o i c e  and t h e  P a s s i v e  V o i c e .

N o t e .  T he te rm s t h e  A c t i v e  V o i c e  a n d  t h e  P a s s i v e  V o i c e  
a re  used w ith  reference to  th e  form  of th e  v e rb . S en ten ces in  w h ich  th e  verb is used 
in  th e  A ctive  o r in  th e  P a ss iv e  Voice a re  ca lled  a c t i v e  c o n s t r u c t i o n s  
a nd  p a s s i v e  c o n s t r u c t i o n s  re sp ec tiv e ly .

The Active Voice

§62. T h e  A c t i v e  V o i c e  shows tha t the person or th ing 
denoted by the subject of the sentence is the agent (the doer) of the 
action expressed by the predicate verb, th a t it acts.

e.g. “ I deny th a t ,” said Joan.
We know you’ve been cheating us.
Why have you done it?
George walked over to the window but did not open it.

The formation of the tense-aspect forms of the Active Voice and 
the use of these forms have already been described in “Verbs”, §§ 7-60.

N o t e .  In  th e  v a s t  m a jo r ity  of in stances th e  A c tiv e  V oice has th e  above d e s ­
c rib ed  m eaning . Y et th e re  a re  cases w hen, ow ing  to  th e  lex ic a l ch a rac te r  of th e  v e rb , 
th e  th in g  denoted  by  th e  su b jec t of th e  sen tence  c a n n o t be  reg ard ed  as th e  doer of 
th e  ac tio n . T his becom es o b v io u s  if  we com pare  th e  fo llo w in g  exam ples:

a) The maid who opened the 'door for b) T he door opened and Mrs K n igh t 
me told me that M r M arch was w ait- appeared  w ith  a tea  tray , 
ing for me.

She closed the door so ftly  and w ent The door c losed  and there was s ilen c e  
s tra ig h t to  the  telephone. in  th e  large  room .

In the examples under (a) the subject of the  sentence is the doer 
of the action, but in the sentences under (b) it becomes the object—the
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dcor cannot actually  open or close by itself, the action is performed 
by someone else. Yet examples of the second kind are also treated in 
grammar as the Active Voice since the form of the verb is active.

The Passive Voice

§63. T h e  P a s s i v e  V o i c e  serves to show that the person 
or thing denoted by the subject of the sentence is not the agent (the 
doer) of the action expressed by the predicate verb but is the object 
of this action. The subject of a passive verb does not act but is acted 
upon, it undergoes an action.
e.g. She was woken from her sleep by his singing.

They were received with great frankness and charm.
The child knew that she was being praised.
The news w ill be announced after dinner.

N o t e .  T h ere  a re  a few  cases w hen, ow ing to  th e  lexica! ch arac te r of th e  verb, 
th e  sub ject of th e  se n te n c e  can n o t be  regarded  a s  th e  o b jec t undergo ing  th e  ac tio n  
expressed by  th e  p re d ic a te  v e rb . Y et exam ples of th is  k in d  a re  trea te d  in  g ram m ars 
as th e  Pass iv e  V oice s in c e  th e  form  of th e  verb  is passive.

e .g . All of a su d d e n  I rea lized  th a t  I was lo st in  th e  w ild  open co u n try .
A fter Ja c o b s  w as d ro w n ed  h is  farm  was so ld  to  M acM artin .
“W ell, p ro fe sso r ,” c o n tin u e d  Lawrence, w hen th ey  were seated, “ w h a t do you 

th in k  of L o n d o n ? ”

§ 64. The Passive Voice is an analytical form which is built up 
by means of the auxiliary verb to be in the required tense-aspect form 
and the participle of the  notional verb (on the formation of the participle 
see “Verbs”, § 5  and Appendix I):

the Present Indefinite—is (am, are) done
the Past Indefinite—was (were) done
the Future Indefinite—will (shall) be done
the Present Perfect—has (have) been done
the Past Perfect—had been done
the Future Perfect—will (shall) have been done
the Present Continuous—is (am, are) being done
the Past Continuous—was (were) being done
The interrogative form is built up by placing the (first) auxiliary 

verb before the subject of the sentence (e.g. When was it done?, Has 
the work been done?, etc,). The negative form is built up by placing the 
particle not after the (first) auxiliary (e.g. The work was not done yester­
day, The work w ill not be done tomorrow, etc.).

N o t e .  T he P a ss iv e  V oice m ay  be also form ed by  m eans of th e  a u x ilia ry  verb  
to get and  th e  p a r t ic ip le  o f th e  n o tio n a l verb. B u t in stan ces o f-th is  k in d  a re  in fre ­
q u en t (even in  in fo rm a l E n g lish ) an d  restric ted  m ain ly  to  s itu a tio n s  an d  c o n te x ts  
d ea lin g  w ith  accidental o r  u n p leasan t happenings.

e .g . The boy g o t h u r t  on  h is w ay hom e.
T he ta b le  w as tu rn e d  o v e r sidew ays and  th e  ch in a  lam p  go t broken. 
Som ebody p u sh ed  J a n e ’s elbow  a n a  her d r in k  g o t sp ilt.
D o n ’t  m ake  su ch  a n o ise . Y o u ’ll ge t tu rned  ou t.
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Types of Passive Constructions

§ 65. English is rich in various types of passive constructions.
1) The subject of the passive construction may correspond to  the 

direct object of the verb. This type of passive construction may be called 
t h e  D i r e c t  P a s s i v e .
e.g. At twilight he was carried to  the field hospital.

Then he noticed that the window in a room opposite was being 
opened he could not see by whom.

Nearly all the furniture w ill be taken out of the room.
N o t e .  T h ere  a re  a num ber of v e rb s  in  E n g lish  w hich can  be used  in  th e  P a s ­

siv e  Voice, w h ile  w ith  th e ir  eq u iv a len ts  in  R u ss ian  th e  passive c o n s tru c tio n  is  im ­
possible. To th ese  verbs belong, for e x am p le , to approach, to attend, to answer, to 
help , to assist, to follow, to influence,to jo in , to watch an d  som e o th e rs .

e .g . L ady B or w as assisted  to  her c a r  ju s t  before  tea .
T he general was follow ed in to  th e  ro o m  by h is  younger d au g h te r.
A t th a t  m om ent th ey  were joined by  th e  o thers .

It should be noted that the Direct Passive is part of two widely used 
constructions.

a) It forms the basis of the construction which may be called the 
“subjective predicative construction” (see Appendix II).
e.g. She is said to be a first-class teacher.

Some of those old brick houses were said to have lovely rooms. 
The children, as usual, were busy doing all the things they had 

been told not to do.
I was not allowed to chat.
He was appointed secretary of the committee.
He was seen talking to the Minister.

b) The construction with a formal it as subject may also contain 
the Passive of verbs denoting mental and physical perceptions, sugges­
tion, order, request and decision as well as of verbs of saying, such as 
to say, to announce, to report, to rumour, to explain, to think, to know, 
to believe, to understand, to expect, to feel, to notice, to observe, to suggest, 
to propose, to require, to demand, to request, to recommend, to decide, 
to agree, to determine, to arrange and the like. This passive construction 
is followed by a clause introduced, as a rule, by the conjunction that.

e.g. It was explained that Roy was unaccountably absent from  duty 
that morning.

It was known that he would not tolerate any criticism .
It was arranged that Martin should have the room all to  himself. 
It is said that she turned the  job down.

Although the Direct Passive is the  most commonly used passive 
construction, there are certain restrictions to  its application.

a) The restrictions may be due to  the nature of the direct object. 
The passive construction is impossible when the direct object of the 
verb is expressed by an infinitive (e.g. We arranged to meet at 5 o'clock.),
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a clause (e.g. /  saw that he knew about it.), a reflexive pronoun or a noun 
w ith  a possessive pronoun referring to the same person as the subject 
of the sentence (e.g. He hurt himself. He cut his finger.).

b) Sometimes there is no passive construction because the verb and 
the  direct object are so closely connected that they form a set phrase 
and cannot be separated, e.g. to take flight, to take alarm, to lose courage, 
to take courage, to lose heart, to keep one's word, to lose one's patience 
and many others.

Certain phrases of this kind, however, admit of a passive construction, 
e.g . to take care, to take no notice, to pay attention, to take responsibility 
and some others.
e.g . He paused at each tab le  and then, when no notice was taken of 

him, with a smile he passed on.
In his school a great deal of attention is paid to mathematics.

c) In addition to in transitive verbs which are not used in the Passive, 
some transitive verbs, at least in certain uses, do not occur in the Passive 
either.
e.g. The boy resembled his father.

The hat suits (becomes) you.
The coat does not fit you.
He has (possesses) a sharp sense of humour.
He lacks confidence.
The place holds 500 people.

Now in spite of the above restrictions, the use of the Direct Passive 
is quite extensive in English.

2) There are a number of verbs in English which take two objects— 
a direct and an indirect object. The most frequently used verbs of this 
k ind are to tell, to give, to offer, to show, to pay, to grant, to leave, to 
promise, to lend, to send and a few others.

These verbs may have two passive constructions:
a) T h e  D i r e c t  P a s s i v e  (which has been described above).

e.g. When I came to the office a telegram was given to me.
Although a very good job was offered to me I had to  turn it down.

As a rule, the indirect object is used with the preposition to after 
the  verb in the Passive.

b) The indirect object of the verb may also become the subject of 
th e  passive construction. This type of passive construction may be 
called t h e  I n d i r e c t  P a s s i v e .
e.g. I was told some very interesting news.

He told me that he had been offered a well-paid job at a publishing 
house.

In this passive construction the verb is always followed by the direct 
object (“news”, “a job”); it is called a r e t a i n e d  o b j e c t  since 
it  is retained by the verb.

Although the Indirect Passive is a construction peculiar to English,
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its use is not common. It is freely used only with the verb to U ll .  In 
this case the direct object is mainly expressed by a clause (a) and occa­
sionally by a noun or a pronoun (b).
e.g. a) I'm  told that his new house will be finished soon.

I didn’t care if Croxton was told I didn’t like him.
b) I am told things. I appear to  take them in—but they ju st pass 

through my brain and are gone.
You weren’t told anything because there isn’t anything to te ll you.

The Indirect Passive is also found with set phrases containing the 
verb to give (occasionally to grant) followed by a noun, e.g. to give  
a chance, to give an opportunity, to g ive a job, to give a post, to give  
orders, to give a task, to give shelter, to give prominence, to g ive notice, 
to give news, to give an explanation, to give a party, to give a sentence, 
to give a choice, to give First A id, to grant leave, to grant an audience 
and the like.
e.g. I haven’t been given a chance to  explain.

He was given an opportunity to  go to  Columbia to attend the  W inter 
Meeting of the Physical Society.

He disliked me from the first, chiefly because he had not been 
consulted when I had been given my job there.

He was given a life sentence.
On Jo h n ’s tenth birthday he was given a party.
H e’d been granted leave of absence from his work to  make researches 

at the university library.

But in free combinations the verb to give  and the other verbs men­
tioned above are infrequent in the Indirect Passive.
e.g. To deal w ith two square inches of m utton, you were given a knife 

and fork big enough for a roasted ox.
In the hotel Charles was shown his room.
She had been left an immense fortune.
“Never mind what I was promised or not promised,” he snarled. 
The moment you are offered something that you want—you want 

something else.
N o t e .  T here  a re  a n um ber of v e rb s in  E n g lish  w hich req u ire  a d i re c t  a n d  an  

in d irec t ob jec t in  th e  a c tiv e  co n struction , b u t th ey  a d m it  only  of one p ass iv e  c o n s tru c ­
tio n , n am ely , th e  D irect Passive . A m ong th em  w e find  to write, to read, to p la y , 
to telegraph, to bring and some others.
e .g . I w ro te  h im  a  le t te r .—A le tte r w as w r i t te n  to  h im .

I p layed  h im  th e  tu n e .—The tune w as p lay e d  to  him .
H e te leg rap h ed  me the new s.—T he new s w as te leg raphed  to  m e.

3) There are a great number of verbs in English that require a pre­
positional object. These verbs may also be used in the Passive—the 
subject of the passive construction corresponds then to the prepositional 
object. The preposition retains its place after the verb. This construction 
may be called t h e  P r e p o s i t i o n a l  P a s s i v e .
e.g. He was highly thought of in his village.

When they found her lying on the floor, the doctor was sen t for.



The Prepositional Passive is found in English more often than the 
Indirect Passive. Yet the use of this construction is not very extensive 
e ither. Its application is restricted in two ways:

a) In principle it may be formed from any verb which takes a pre­
positional object, actually it is regularly found with a limited number 
of verbs. The most commonly occurring of them are:

(1) v e r b s  o f  s p e a k i n g ,  such as to speak about (of, to), 
to ta lk  about (of), to comment on, to write about,
e.g. You have been a good deal talked about.

But the most interesting question of all and the one that bothered 
the whole town was never spoken of.

She did all the rough work which Mrs Rodd told her to do, spoke 
when she was spoken to, but not otherwise, and ate a very great 
deal of food at lunch.

His book was commented on by the newspapers.
(2) t h e v e r b to look in different meanings w ith various prepo­

sitions, such as to look a t (to, upon, after, for, into),
e.g. She could feel she was being looked a t and it pleased her.

The suit-cases were looked after.
He was looked upon as their leader.

(3) v e r b s  e x p r e s s i n g  m o c k e r y  o r  b l a m e ,  such as 
to laugh at, to shout at, to mock at, to sneer at, to spit at, to frown 
at, to whistle at, to swear at,
e.g. She had an uncomfortable feeling that she was being laughed at. 

Ju lia  had turned her head away hurriedly and had been frowned a t 
by her mother.

(4) also a m i s c e l l a n e o u s  g r o u p  o f  v e r b s  including 
to approve of, to disapprove of, to account for, to dispose of, to send for, 
to deal with, to ask for, to call for, to depend on, to think of, to rely on, 
and a few others.
e.g. No one could understand a word he said, and an interpreter was 

sent for.
Her request was disapproved of.
At the college he was thought of as being a big man.

(5) Occasionally other verbs including set phrases, such as to take 
care of, to make a fool of, to get in touch with, etc. are found in 
the  Prepositional Passive construction, but their occurrence seems to 
be infrequent.
e.g . I t ’s all taken care of.

You’re being made a  fool of, th a t’s all.
b) The Prepositional Passive is not used with verbs which take two 

objects, direct and prepositional. Here belong such verbs as to explain 
(something to somebody), to point out, to announce, to dedicate, to de­
vote, to say, to suggest, to propose, etc. They can only have a Direct 
Passive construction.
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e.g. The difficulty was then explained to her.
Soon the engagement was announced to the family.
The mistake was pointed out to him.
A new plan was suggested to  us.

N o t e .  T he d irec t ob jec t a fte r so m e  of these  verbs is r a th e r  o ften  ex pressed  by 
a clause . In  th is  case th e  o n ly  possib le  p assiv e  constru c tio n  is th e  o n e  w itn  a  form al 
it  a s  su b jec t.

e .g . I t  had  been exp lained  to  S y lv ia  th a t  R enny  had  gone.
I t  was announced to  them  th a t th e  accom m odation  p ro b lem  w as n o w  se ttled .

4) There is another passive construction possible in English: the 
subject of the passive construction corresponds to an adverbial modifier 
of place in the active construction. In this case the preposition also re­
tains its place after the verb.

e.g. The occupant of the apartment was fully clothed, although the 
bed had been slept in.

The room looked as if it had not been lived in for years.
The high-backed ugly chairs looked as if they had once been sat in 

by cardinals.

The use of this construction is very rare and usually occurs with 
the verbs mentioned in the examples.

The Use of Tense Aspect Forms in the Passive Voice

§ 66. The use of tense-aspect forms in the Passive Voice is not exactly 
parallel to  those of the Active Voice. This can be accounted for by two 
reasons: 1) the lack of certain tense-aspect forms in the  Passive and
2) the lexical character of the verb, namely the differentiation between 
term inative and durative verbs.

1) The Passive Voice lacks the  Future Continuous, the  Future Con- 
tinuous-in-the-Past and all the Perfect Continuous forms.

2) The lexical character of the  verb affects the meaning of all the 
Indefinite Passive tenses.

W ith durative verbs the use of the Indefinite Passive tenses is parallel 
to the corresponding Active forms.

e.g. The plural of nouns is formed with the help of the  suffix -s.
He was an ardent fighter for freedom and independence. He was 

loved by millions and hated only by a handful.
His place in history is secure. He will be remembered long after 

his enemies have been forgotten.
She telephoned to know where the meeting would be held.

But with terminative verbs the grammatical meaning of the Indef­
inite Passive forms is wider than  that of the corresponding Active 
forms. They may denote either an action or a sta te  resulting from a 
previously accomplished action (“a resultant s ta te ”).
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C f. Action State
At the  tim e the houses in Oak The house was very solidly built.

Crescent were built it wasn’t 
considered that the working 
classes needed baths.

Everything was settled twenty So th a t’s all settled.
m inutes after I arrived there.

I ’m not often shocked, you know, Indeed? I am shocked to hear it. 
but this does shock me a little.

N o t e .  C e rta in  co m b in a tio n s o f th e  verb to be w ith  a p a r tic ip le  a re  to  be  t r e a t ­
ed  a s  a n o m in a l  p red ica te  as th ey  a re  devo id  of th e  idea of ac tio n  (see a lso  “ V erb s” , 
§§ 179, 246).

e .g . H e  is  q u i te  convinced th a t  i t  i s  t ru e .
I am  p rep ared  to  believe you.
I d o n ’t  know  an y th in g . T hey a re  so  reserved ab o u t it.
O f co u rse . I ’m  disappoin ted  y o u  c a n ’t  com e.

The Indefinite Passive forms denote an action if there are special 
indications in the sentence or in a wider context. These indications 
are as follows:

a) The action expressed by the Passive form is part of a succession 
of actions.
e.g. The door opened and the doctor was shown in.

Brenda and Lawrence came to  trial, but no case was brought against 
them  and they were dismissed.

b) The Passive form denotes a  recurrent action. In this case there 
are indications of frequency in the  sentence. They may be expressed 
in various ways, mainly by adverbs of frequency or by the use of nouns 
in the  plural.
e.g. She read Byron to him, and was often puzzled by the strange in­

terpretations he gave to  some passages.
He is invited to all the best dances.

c) The tim e of the action expressed by the Passive form is indicated 
in the sentence by adverbial modifiers of time (including clauses).
e.g. The novel was written during the summer of 1918.

The whole affair was soon forgotten.

d) The manner in which the action is performed (occasionally the 
purpose of the action) is indicated by means of an adverbial modifier.
e.g. Nothing th a t’s worth doing is done easily.

Tea was finished in silence.
The front door was slowly closed.
I was sent into the hospital to  be X-rayed.

e) If the doer of the action is indicated in the sentence, the passive 
verb, in most cases, also serves to  express an action. Thus in the following 
sentences the Passive form would be understood as expressing a state 
if the doer of the action were not mentioned.
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e.g. “Look here,” said Bosinney, and Soames was both annoyed and 
surprised by the shrewdness of his glance.

He was disturbed by a series of explosions.
N o t e .  Y et som etim es we find sentences in  w h ich  th e  P a ss iv e  form  denotes 

a s ta te  even when th e  doer is in d ica ted .
e .g . She looked in to  th e  bed-room ; th e  bed  was m ade, a s  th o u g h  by  th e  h an d  of a 

m an .
T he tw o houses were connected  by a galle ry .

If none of the above mentioned indications are found in the sentence 
or in a wider context, the Indefinite Passive forms generally express 
(with terminative verbs) a staie resulting from a previously accomplished 
action.
e.g. “Did you do anything to my blue sh irt?” “ Yes, it is mended.” 

W e’re defeated. L et’s go back to New York and s ta rt all over again. 
A table is set out for luncheon in the garden.
The door was locked; there was nobody in sight.
The big bed was covered w ith a quilt.
Her car, a green Fiat, was parked outside.
If you come so late the front door will be locked and you’ll have 

to go by the back door.
N o t e .  The F u tu re  In d e fin ite  P ass iv e  tends, on th e  w h o le , to  d eno te  an  ac tio n  

(and  no t a s ta te ) even if  th e re  a re  no sp ec ia l in d ica tio n s  su ch  a s  th o se  described above.

e .g . Y ou n eed n ’t  w orry . E very  p recau tio n  w ill be taken.
“ W h a t do I need to  ta k e  w ith  m e?” “ N oth in g . E v e ry th in g  yo u  need w ill be 

provided for y o u .”

§ 67. The use of the Present and Past Continuous Passive is parallel 
to the use of the corresponding Active forms.
e.g. What sort of research is being done, and who is doing it?

She almost felt that she was being mocked.
He lost his temper and said he was always being made to do every­

thing he didn’t want to.
The use of the Perfect Passive forms is also parallel to the correspond­

ing Active forms.
e.g. She has taught at a school in the north of England and at two schools 

in Germany, and has been given an excellent character.
You can see that this glass has been used.
“Why did you come?” “I ’ve been turned out of the place where 

I live.”
Ever since 1 came into this silly house I have been made to look 

like a fool.
They came to Europe where their mother had been educated and 

stayed three years.
Nancy looked displeased and told me she had been sent to fetch 

the breakfast tray.
All of a sudden he realized the full force of what he had been told. 
I suspected that I had been followed and watched since I arrived 

in London.
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N o t e  1. A s h a s  been  m en tioned  before, th e  F u tu re  Perfect is no t of freq u en t 
occurrence in  th e  A c tiv e . In  th e  P ass iv e  its  use is  q u ite  uncom m on.

N o t e  2. T h e  sentences The work is finished  an d  The work has been finished 
are  som ew hat s im ila r  in  m eaning. Y et th ere  is a- difference betw een them : th e  form er 
serves to  exp ress a s ta te  in  th e  p resent w hich is th e  re su lt o! th e  p rev iously  accom ­
p lished  ac tio n ; th e  la t te r  denotes the ac tio n  p ro p e r w hich took place before th e  present 
m om ent.

The Choice of the Passive Construction

§ 68. The Passive is not the reverse of the Active. The two construc­
tions are not parallel in their use and serve different purposes.

As a general rule, the passive construction is used when there is 
no need to m ention the agent of the action because it is either easily 
understood from the situation or context (a), or because it is self-evident 
(b), or because it happens to be any number of unidentified people (c).
e.g. a) Roger was invited to dinner at their house every Sunday, (by 

the people living in the house)
The deputation then made its way to Downing Street where 

a petition carrying 40,000 signatures was handed in. (by the 
delegation)

The ambulance arrived and she was taken to hospital, (by the 
ambulance)

b) Her two brothers were killed in the war.
The telegram had been delivered in time.
He was arrested in a hotel.

c) In my young days it was considered bad manners to take med­
icines w ith one’s meals. It was on a par with blowing your 
nose at the dinner table. It just wasn’t done.

In industry coal is now used much less than before.

Occasionally the Passive is used when the agent of the action is 
not known or kept secret for a purpose.
e.g. All my books were totally disarranged in my absence and now 

I can’t find the book I want.
At night his car was broken into and a few things were stolen from it.

As there is no need to mention the agent of the action in the above 
cases, the Passive Voice makes it possible to shift the focus of attention 
onto other parts of the sentence in them.

Although there is usually no mention of the agent of the action in 
passive constructions, it sometimes becomes necessary to indicate the 
doer and then a by-phrase is used for it.
e.g. Other possibilities were talked of by some of my colleagues.

In this case a corresponding active construction is possible, 
e.g. Some of my colleagues talked of other possibilities.

However, there appears to be a difference between the two sentences 
which lies in the  fact that in the active construction it is the words
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other possibilities that are made the centre of communication, and 
in the passive construction the focus is shifted to some of my colleagues. 
(End position is generally connected w ith a stronger stress and thus 
a word is made more prominent in this case.) The Passive may be called 
a word-order device here (способ изменения порядка слов). As logical 
stress is laid on two different parts of the sentence in the Active and 
in the Passive, the two constructions cannot be regarded as interchange­
able. As has been said, they serve different purposes.

The following examples illustrate the use of passive constructions 
in which stress is laid on the doer of the action.
e.g. And now there was only one chair left unoccupied, except, of course, 

the two that nobody ever sat on—and the only standing room 
was occupied by the cat, on whom old Jolyon promptly stepped.

You can’t go wrong if you are advised by me. Auntie Alice is alw ays 
right.

His pleasant colour was heightened by exercise.
But has your boy’s conduct ever been influenced by your reasons?

With certain verbs the Passive is impossible without the m ention 
of the agent as the sentence would be meaningless without i t. This 
is the case with such verbs as to follow, to overtake, to seize, to v is i t , 
to enhance, to set o ff, to accent, to govern, to control, to rule, to influence, 
to confront, to attend, to accompany, to join, to cause, to bring about, to 
mark, to characterize, to attract and some others.
e.g. The answer was followed by an impressive silence.

In the afternoon she was overtaken by a desperate fit of sobbing.
He was accompanied by his father who was very nervous.
He is very easily influenced by the ideas of anyone whom he meets.
Then my attention was caught by the  noise coming from behind 

the fence.

Reasons for the Frequent Occurrence of the Passive

§ 69. It is common knowledge that the Passive is extensively used 
in English. This seems to be due to  a number of reasons.

1) In English there are no means of avoiding the indication of the  
doer of the action in active constructions.

In other languages we find special active constructions which m ake 
it possible to avoid any mention of the agent. For example, in Russian 
the so-called indefinite-personal sentences serve the purpose. There is 
no subject in such sentences and the predicate verb is in the third person 
plural.
e.g. Однажды играли в карты у конногвардейца Нарумова. ( П у ш ­

к и н )
Самая разнесчастная судьба быть начальником планового отдела. 

Без конца тебя торопят, без конца ругают. ( А ж а е в )
In French and in German the same idea is expressed in sentences 

with the indefinite pronoun on (Fr.) and man (Ger.).
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e.g. Comment peut-on aim er un être qu’on méprisé?
Elle lu ttait contre la fatigue comme on lu tte  à dix-neuf ans. 
Was kann man m it Farbe, Leim und Kalk nicht alles machen? 
Und dann weint sie wieder, und schliesslich schläft sie ein, wie 

man immer schliesslich einschläft.

It is true that in English the indefinite pronoun one and occasionally 
the  personal pronouns we, you and they and the noun people may 
be used in the same way.
e.g. “One ought to  keep one’s languages u p ,” said Roy; his gaze was 

solemn, reproving, understanding. “ I t ’s terrible how one forgets 
them. Isn’t i t? ”

One will have to th ink  twice about accepting invitations—if there 
is a risk of being made miserable. One will just have to refuse. 

“ Is that the old lady who lives in the house by the church?” 
“That’s r ig h t.” “They say she’s sharp ,’’ said Tiddler. “They say 
there’s nothing goes on near that Miss Marple doesn’t hear about.” 

In my young days it was considered to be bad manners to  take 
medicines w ith one’s meals. If you had to take pills or capsules, 
or a spoonful of something, you went out of the room to do so. 

“Oh, I ’m sure I never said anything of the k ind ,” Lola laughed. 
“People exaggerate so .”

But for some reason or other, the use of this kind of sentences is 
restricted, and English, instead, resorts to passive constructions.

2) In English, owing to  the loss of distinction between the accusative 
and the dative cases, the  number of verbs taking a direct object is quite 
considerable. It accounts for the extensive use of the Direct Passive.

3) There is a great variety of passive constructions in English. Al­
though some of them are restricted in their application, they still con­
tribu te  to the frequent occurrence of the Passive.

MOOD

§ 70. Mood is the form of the verb which shows the relation between 
the action expressed by the predicate verb and reality. This relation 
is established by the speaker.

The speaker may wish to  represent an action as a real fact or as a 
command (a request) or as something unreal, something that does not 
exist in reality.

§ 71. Actions represented as real facts are expressed by t h e  I n ­
d i c a t i v e  M o o d .
e.g. Architects have done some very good work, too, in designing new 

schools. Many of these are prefabricated, which means that as 
much of the building work as possible is done not on the building 
site but in factories where mass production methods are used. 

When the brothers had gone home, Mr W aterall announced that 
they were a much pleasanter pair of young men than he had 
been led to believe.
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The Indicative Mood is characterized by a great number of tense- 
aspect forms which may be used in the Active or in the Passive Voice. 
These forms have been described in “Verbs”, §§7-68.

N o t e .  I t  is no tew orthy  th a t  th e  use o f th e  In d ic a tiv e  Mood does n o t  a lw ay s  
m ean th a t  th e  ac tio n  expressed by th e  p re d ic a te  verb  is tru e  to fac t, t h a t  i t  a c tu a l ly  
takes (o r to o k , o r w ill take) place in  r e a l i ty .  W hen  th e  speaker uses th e  I n d ic a t iv e  
Mood in  h is sen tence  he m erely  represen ts a n  a c tio n  as a fact, b u t he  m ay  b e  m is ta k ­
en o r even te ll in g  a lie.

e .g . “ I ’ve seen to  i t , ”  he  sa id , bu t ev eryone  k n ew  i t  w as no t tru e .

§ 72. Commands and requests are expressed by t h e  I m p e r a  
t i v e M o o d .

The Imperative Mood is the plain stem of the verb (e.g. Come over 
here, Listen to him , etc.). It may be used in the affirmative and in the 
negative form. The negative form is an analytical form built up by means 
of the plain stem of the auxiliary verb to do followed by not (in spoken 
English—don 7) and the infinitive of the notional verb without to  (e.g. 
D on't go over there, Don’t listen to h im , etc.). The negative form of 
the verb to be is also built up by means of the auxiliary verb to do (e.g. 
D on't be inquisitive, D on't be a / 00/, etc.).

If we wish to  make a command or request more expressive, we use 
the emphatic form. It is also an analytical form built up with th e  help 
of the plain stem of the auxiliary verb to do which is placed before the 
notional verb, including to be (e.g. Do come over here, D o listen 
to him , Do be quiet, etc.).

A command or request is generally addressed to the second person 
singular or plural (see the examples above). There is usually no need 
to mention the subject of the action before the verb in the Im perative 
Mood. But occasionally the verb may be preceded by you in fam iliar 
style (e.g. You don't worry.).

A command or request may be addressed to the third person, singular 
or plural. Commands and requests of this kind are formed w ith  the 
help of the plain stem of the verb to let which is followed by a personal 
pronoun in the objective case (him, her, it  or them) and the infin itive  
of the notional verb without to (e.g. Let him go there a t once, Let 
them do it by themselves, etc.).

A command or request may be addressed to the first person plural. 
It is also formed with the help of the  plain stem of the verb to let 
followed by the pronoun us (the contracted form is let’s) and the infin itive  
of the notional verb. This form is actually  an invitation to a jo in t action 
(e.g. L e t’s have a cup of tea. L e t's  do it  together, etc.). In the negative 
form le t’s is followed by not (e.g. L e t's  not talk about it.).

N o t e .  In  careless speech we a lso  f in d  D o n 't le t 's  talk about i t .

§ 73. Actions represented as unreal are, in present-day English, 
expressed by a great variety of forms. This may be explained historically .

In. the older periods English used to  be a synthetic language and 
had special forms which served to  express unreal actions—the so-called 
Subjunctive Mood. It was built up synthetically by means of inflections. 
As a result of loss of inflections, the  difference between the  forms of
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the  Indicative Mood and the Subjunctive Mood has in most cases disap­
peared. The place of the old Subjunctive Mood was in a number of cases 
taken  by analytical forms and modal phrases, i.e. combinations of mo­
dal verbs with the infinitive. It is this historical process that accounts 
for the  great variety of different forms expressing unreality in modern 
English.

As some of the forms expressing unreal actions are modal phrases 
it  is necessary, before describing the different forms of unreality, to 
tre a t modal verbs first.

§ 74. The attitude of the  speaker towards the action in the sentence 
m ay be expressed in diff"rent ways.

1) It may be expressed by one of the mood forms which serve, as 
has been said, to show whether the action is represented as a real fact 
or as something unreal. This expression of the attitude of the speaker 
towards the action is found in e v e r y  s e n t e n c e .  It is indispen­
sable to  any predicate.

2) The speaker may also wish to represent an action as necessary 
or unnecessary, possible or impossible, certain or doubtful and the 
like. This attitude of the speaker is expressed by means of modal verbs. 
B ut modal verbs needn’t be used in every sentence and are, therefore, 
to  be regarded as an additional means of expressing the speaker’s a tti­
tu d e  towards the action in the sentence.

3) Another additional means of expressing the speaker’s attitude 
towards the action in the sentence are modal words, such as certainly, 
perhaps, probably, luckily, unfortunately , etc. (see also “Modal Words” 
p. 318). They express different degrees of assurance on the part of the 
speaker as well as the desirability of the action from his point of view.

Modal Verbs

§ 75. We find the following modal verbs in English: can, may, 
m u st , ought, shall, should, w ill , need and dare. Besides, to have 
and  to be in some of their uses are also classed among modal verbs.

A modal verb in combination with the infinitive forms a modal 
compound predicate.

Modal verbs are defective verbs since they lack many forms charac­
te ris tic  of regular verbs.1

Modal verbs have the following peculiarities:
1) they are followed by the infinitive w i t h o u t  the particle 

to (with the exception of ought, to have and to be)-,
2) their interrogative and negative forms are built up w i t h o u t  

th e  auxiliary do.
Most of the modal verbs have more than one meaning. Each of their 

m eanings is characterized by a specific usage.
I) Some of the meanings may be found in all kinds of sentences; 

o thers occur only in affirm ative or interrogative or negative sentences;

1 T hey  lack  -s in th e  th ird  p e rso n  s in g u la r in  th e  P re sen t ten se  and  h av e  no v e r­
b a l s ,  so th e y  have  no a n a ly tic a l fo rm s; som e of th em  lack  th e  fo rm  of th e  P a s t tense.
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2) Different meanings may be associated with different forms of 
the infinitive—simple and perfect (both in the Active and Passive forms), 
continuous and perfect continuous;1

3) If the modal verbs have more than one form (can—could, may 
-might, w ill—would, also the verbs to have and to be), their different

meanings are not necessarily found in all those forms.
In treating the modal verbs, all those aspects of their use must be 

taken into consideration.
As most modal verbs are polysemantic and some of their meanings 

are synonymous, it is necessary to  draw comparisons between them.
The use of modal verbs is in most cases independent of the  structure 

of the sentence: the use of th is or that modal verb is determined by 
the a ttitude of the speaker towards the facts contained in the  sentence. 
In this case we may speak of f r e e  o r  i n d e p e n d e n t  u s e  o f  
m o d a l  v e r b s .
e.g. He admires you. He thinks you’re a little  beauty. Perhaps 1 oughtn’t 

to have told you that.
He may be in the hall now, waiting for me.

But sometimes the use of certain modal verbs depends on the struc­
ture of thesentence, mainly on the  type of the subordinate clause, and oc­
casionally also on the lexical character of the predicate verb in the prin­
cipal clause. This may be called s t r u c t u r a l l y  d e p e n d e n t  
u s e  o f  m o d a l  v e r b s .

e.g. It is obviously necessary tha t an investigation should be made.
Christine feared she might not be met at all.

When the use of modal verbs is structurally dependent, their meaning 
sometimes becomes weakened; in fact, it may be quite vague. This 
may be accounted for by the fact that these verbs become rather part 
of the structure than bearers of individual meaning.

It is important to take into account one more feature peculiar to 
modal verbs. They all show that a certain action is represented as neces­
sary, possible, desirable, doubtful, etc. f r o m  t h e  p o i n t  o f  
v i e w  o f  t h e  s p e a k e r .  Consequently, modal verbs are gener­
ally used in conversation. In past-tim e contexts they may be found 
only in reported speech or thought. Thus You should have done it 
before, or He might be wrong, or I t  must be true cannot be possibly 
found in narration unless they are used after He thought tha t..., He 
said that..., He knew that... and the like.

The only exceptions are the  Past tense forms could , would , had, 
was and might which may be used not only in conversation but also 
in narration.

1 A s th e  difference betw een th e  A c tiv e  and  th e  P a ss iv e  fo rm s of th e  in f in it iv e  
is of no consequence for th e  m ean ing  of th e  m odal ve rb , th e re  is n o  need  to  i l lu s tra te  
th ese  fo rm s sep ara te ly . H ow ever, in s ta n c e s  w here th e  d if f e r e n tia tio n  betw een 
th e  a c tiv e  and  th e  passive  in f in it iv e  is  im p o r ta n t, a re  d e a lt  w i th  sp e c ia lly .



e.g. W alker was illiterate and could not sign his name.
W hen I looked at her I saw tears in her eyes. So I had to tell her 

the  tru th .
Can

§ 76. The modal verb can has the following forms: can—the Present 
tense (e.g. He can speak English) and could— the Past tense. The form 
could is used in two ways: a) in past-time contexts as a form of the In­
dicative Mood (e.g. He could speak English when he was a child), b) in 
present-tim e contexts to express unreality, or as a milder and more 
polite form of can, or as a form implying more uncertainty than can (e.g. 
He could speak English if  necessary, Could I  help you?. Could it  be true?. 
Compare w ith the Russian мог бы: Он мог бы сделать это, если бы 
у  него было время (unreality); Не мог бы я  вам помочь? (politeness); 
Неужели он мог бы так сказать? (uncertainty).

§ 77. Can has the following meanings:
1) a b i l i t y ,  c a p a b i l i t y ,

e.g. I can imagine how angry he is.
He can read a little  French.

This meaning may also be expressed by to be able. The phrase can 
be used in all tense-forms if necessary.

In the meaning of ability, capability can occurs in all kinds of sen­
tences.
e.g. She can play a few simple tunes on the piano.

Can you write with your left hand?
I cannot (can’t) promise you anything.

In this case can is followed by the  simple infinitive (see the examples 
above) and reference is made to  the  present. But depending on the context 
it may also refer to  the future.
e.g. W e can discuss your paper after lunch.

However, if the time reference is not clear from the context or if 
it is necessary to  stress that the action refers to the future shalllw ill 
be able is used.
e.g. He w ill be able to write to  us from Portugal.

I shall be able to earn my own living soon.
The form could may be used in past-time contexts and in this case 

it  is followed by the simple infinitive. It is a form of the Indicative 
Mood here.
e.g. He could read a great deal during the holidays.

Could the  boy read before he went to school?
After what had happened I couldn’t trust him.

The form could may also be used in present-time contexts in combi­
n a tion  w ith  the  simple infinitive to  express unreality with reference 
to  the  present or future.
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e.g. “ I don’t want my daughter to be a ty p is t .” “Why not? She could 
be secretary to some interesting m an.” (могла бы быть)

You could articulate more distinctly with th a t cigarette out of 
your mouth, (мог бы говорить более четко)

As the form could may be used in two ways (see § 76) it is usually 
understood as expressing unreality with reference to  the present or 
future unless there are indications of past tim e in the sentence or 
in the context. Thus the sentence She could paint landscapes 
will be understood as Она могла бы писать пейзажи. If there is no in­
dication of past time in the context but the speaker wishes to  refer the 
action to the past, was/weie able is used instead of could to avoid 
ambiguity.
e.g. She was able to explain the mystery.

In combination with the perfect infinitive could indicates that the 
action was not carried out in the past.
e.g. She could have explained the mystery. Она могла бы объяснить 

эту тайну, (но не объяснила)

2) p o s s i b i l i t y  d u e  t o  c i r c u m s t a n c e s ,
e.g. You can see the forest through the other window.

We can use either the Present Perfect or the Present Perfect Con­
tinuous in this sentence.

In this meaning can is found in all kinds of sentences. It is followed 
by the simple infinitive and it refers the action to  the present or future.

e.g. You can obtain a dog from the Dogs’ Home at Battersea.
Can we use the indefinite article with th is noun?
We can’t use the indefinite article with this noun.

In past-time contexts the form could is used. I t is followed by the 
simple infinitive in this case.

e.g. You could see the forest through the other window before the new 
block of houses was erected.

The form could in combination with the sim ple infinitive may also 
express unreality w ith reference to the present or future.

e.g. You could see the house from here if it were not so dark.

In combination with the perfect infinitive could indicates that the 
action was not carried out in the past.

e.g. You could have seen the house from there if it had not been so dark.

N o t e .  W hen could is used w ith  reference to  th e  p a s t  i t  d eno tes on ly  th e  a b i l ­
i ty  o r p o ss ib ility  of p e rfo rm in g  an  ac tio n  b u t n o t th e  re a l iz a tio n  of th e  ac tio n . T h e re ­
fore  w hen a realized  o r an  u n realized  ac tio n  is  ex p ressed , could is n a tu ra lly  n o t  
used. If an  action  was ca rried  o u t in  th e  p a s t, i t  is  expressed  w ith  th e  help  of to manage 
o r to succeed (the  la t te r  is used in  lite ra ry  s ty le).
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e .g . H e  m an ag ed  to  s e t t le  th e  d ifficu lty .
H e  succeeded in  a tta in in g  h is a im .
I f  an  a c tio n  w as  n o t realized  in  th e  p a s t i t  is expressed w ith  th e  help o f  to fa il, 

o r to manage a n d  to succeed in  th e  n eg ativ e  form .

e.g. H e  fa iled  to  re ac h  th e  peak.
H e  d id  n o t  m an a g e  to  s e t tle  th e  d ifficu lty .

C om pare  w ith  th e  R ussian : Он мог (был способен) переплыть Волгу в юности 
— In  h is you th  he could swim across the Volga.

В u  t  : Он смог переплыть Волгу в прошлом году —  Не managed to swim across 
the Volga la s t year. A lso in : Он не мог (ему не удалось) переплыть Волгу в прош­
лом году. —  Не fa iled  (d id n 't manage) to swim across the Volga last иear.

As for to be able, i t  m ay , d ep end ing  on th e  lex ical ch arac te r of th e  in f in it iv e  
o r th e  c o n te x t, e x p re ss  e ith e r  th e  a b il i ty  or p o ss ib ility  of perform ing  an  a c tio n  or 
th e  re a liz a tio n  of th a t  ac tio n .
e.g . H e  w as a b le  to  sp eak  E ng lish  w ell. (Он мог, умел хорошо говорить по-анг­

лийски .)
Н е w as a b le  to  g e t th e  book from  th e  l ib ra ry . (Он смог достать книгу  в биб­

лиотеке.)

3) p e r m i s s i o n ,
e.g. You can take my umbrella.

Can in this meaning is found in affirmative sentences, interrogative 
sentences in which a request is expressed, and in negative sentences 
where it expresses prohibition.
Cf. You can use my car.

Can I use your car?
You can’t  use my car today.

In this meaning can is combined with the simple infinitive.
The form could w ith reference to  the present is found only in inter­

rogative sentences in which it expresses a more polite request.
e.g. Could I use your car?

The form could is found in reported speech (i.e. in accordance with 
the rules of the  sequence of tenses).
e.g. He said th a t I could use his car.

He asked me if he could use my car.

4) u n c e r t a i n t y ,  d o u b t ,  
e.g. Can it be true?

In this meaning can is found only in interrogative sentences (in 
general questions). Besides, sentences of this kind are often emotionally 
coloured and so their application is rather restricted.

Depending on the time reference, can in this meaning is used in 
combination w ith different forms of the infinitive.

Thus, if reference is made to the present, the simple infinitive is 
found with sta tive  verbs.
e.g. Can he really be ill?

Can it be so late?
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W ith dynamic verbs, the continuous infinitive is used.
e.g. Can she be telling lies?

Can he be making the investigation all alone?

Can in combination with the perfect infinitive refers the action to 
the past.
e.g. Can he have said it?

Can she have told a lie?

The combination of can with the perfect infin itive may also indicate 
an action begun in the past and continued into the moment of speaking. 
This is usually found with stative verbs.
e.g. Can she really have been at home all th is time?

However, if can is followed by a dynamic verb the perfect continuous 
infinitive is used.
e.g. Can she have been waiting for us so long?

Could with reference to the present is also used in this way, im plying 
more uncertainty.
e.g. Could it be true?

Could she be telling lies?
Could he have said it?
Could he have been at home all this time?
Could she have been waiting for us so long?

In Russian both variants, with can and could, are rendered in  th e  
same way: Неужели это правда?, Неужели она лжет? and so on.

5) i m p r o b a b i l i t y ,
e.g. I t  can’t  be true.

In Russian this is usually rendered by sentences like He может быть 
(невероятно), чтобы это была правда.

In this meaning can is found only in negative sentences and they  
are often emotionally coloured. Therefore the application of this kind 
of sentences is rather restricted.

In the meaning of improbability can is also used w ith different forms 
of the infinitive depending on the time reference (see can in the meaning 
of uncertainty and doubt).
e.g, He can’t  be really ill.

She can’t be telling lies.
He can’t have said it.
She can’t have been at home all this tim e.
She can’t have been waiting for us so long.

Could is also used in this way making the statement less categorical.
e.g. It couldn’t  be true.

She couldn’t be telling lies.
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He couldn’t  have said it.
She couldn’t have been at home all this time.
She couldn’t  have been waiting for us so long.

§ 78. Can and could followed by different forms of the infinitive, 
are found in special questions where they are used for emotional colour­
ing (for instance, to  express puzzlement, impatience, etc.).
e.g. What can (could) he mean?

What can (could) he be doing?
What can (could) he have done?
Where can (could) he have gone to?

It is rendered in Russian as something like: И что это он имеет 
в виду? and so on.

§ 79. As is seen from the above examples, the form could referring 
to the present is sometimes clearly opposed to  can in that it expresses 
unreality whereas can expresses reality. This may be observed in the 
following meanings:

a b i l i t y  —He can speak English.
He could speak English if necessary, 

p o s s i b i l i t y  d u e  t o  c i r c u m s t a n c e s —
You can get the book from the library.
You could get the book from the library if necessary.

In the other meanings, however, this difference between the two 
forms is obliterated. Could is used either as a milder or more polite 
form of can (a) or as a form implying more uncertainty than can (b):

a) p e r m i s s i o  n— Can I use your pen?
Could I use your pen? (more polite)

b) u n c e r t a i n t y ,  d o u b t ,  i m p r o b a b i l i t  y—
Can it be true?
Could it be true? (less certain)
It can’t be true.
I t couldn’t be true, (less certain)

§ 80. In addition to  the above cases illustrating the independent 
use of can, this modal verb occurs in adverbial clauses of purpose, where 
it is structurally dependent (for a detailed treatm ent of this use of can 
see “Verbs”, § 143).

e.g. I ’ll leave the newspaper on the table so tha t he can see it at once. 
I left the newspaper on the table so tha t he could see it at once.

§81. Notice the  following set phrases with the verb can:
a) She can’t help crying.

He couldn’t help laughing.

Can't help doing means не могу удержаться от... or не могу не 
делать (чего-то).
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b) I can’t but ask him about it.
They couldn’t but refuse him.

Can't but do something means (мне) ничего другого не остается, 
как... .

c) Не can’t possibly do it.
I couldn’t possibly refuse him.

Can't (couldn't) possibly do means просто не могу (не мог) 
сделать... .

M a y

§ 82. The modal verb may has the following forms: may—the Present 
tense (e.g. It may be true) and might—the Past tense. The form m ight 
is used in two ways: a) in past-time contexts, mainly in reported speech 
in accordance w ith the rules of the sequence of tenses (e.g. He told  
me that it might be true) and b) in present-time contexts as a m il­
der and more polite form of may, or as a form implying more uncer­
tainty than may (e.g. Might /  come and see you? I t  might be true), or 
to express unreality (e.g. He might have fallen ill  if  he hadn't taken 
the pills).

§ 83. M ay has the following meanings:
I) s u p p o s i t i o n  i m p l y i n g  u n c e r t a i n t y ,

.g. He may be busy getting ready for his trip.

In Russian this meaning is generally rendered by means of the modal 
words возможно and может быть.

In English this meaning may also be rendered by means of the modal 
words perhaps and maybe.

In the meaning of supposition im plying uncertainty the verb may  
occurs in affirmative and negative sentences.
e.g. He may be at home.

He may not be at home. (Возможно, что его нет дома. Может 
быть, его нет дома.)

In this meaning may can be followed by different forms of the in fin i­
tive depending on the time reference expressed.

May in combination with the simple infinitive usually refers the  
action to the future.
e.g. He may come soon.

The action may also refer to the present but only with stative verbs.
e.g. He may be ill.

He may not know about it.

May in combination with the continuous infinitive of dynamic verbs 
refers the action to  the present.
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e.g. I t ’s too late to phone him now. He may be sleeping.
I never see him about now. For all I know, he may be writing a book.

M ay  in combination w ith  the perfect infinitive refers the action to 
th e  past.
e.g . He may have fallen ill.

“W hat’s happened to  the dog?” I said. “It isn’t here. His master 
may have taken it w ith him.”

The combination of may  w ith the perfect infinitive may also indicate 
an action begun in the past and continued into the moment of speaking. 
This is usually found w ith  stative verbs, 
e.g. He may have been a t home for about two hours.

However, if may is followed by a dynamic verb, the perfect conti­
nuous infinitive is used.
e.g. He may have been waiting for us for an hour.

In the meaning of supposition implying uncertainty, the form might 
is also found. I t differs from the form may in tha t it emphasizes more 
the  idea of uncertainty. It may be followed by the simple, continuous 
or perfect infinitive.
e.g. He might come soon.

He might be ill.
He might be doing his lessons now.
He might have spoken to  her yesterday.

2) p o s s i b i l i t y  d u e  t o  c i r c u m s t a n c e s ,
e.g. You may order a tax i by telephone.

A useful rough-and-ready rule is that time adverbs may come at 
either end of the sentence, but not in the middle.

M ay in this meaning occurs only in affirmative sentences and it is 
followed only by the sim ple infinitive.

The form might is used in past-time contexts in accordance with 
th e  rules of the sequence of tenses.
e.g. He said he might order a taxi by telephone.

M ight followed by the  perfect infinitive indicates that the action 
was not carried out owing to  certain circumstances (expressed in the 
sentence or implied).
e.g. He might have fallen ill if he hadn’t taken the medicine.

Luckily he wasn’t driving the car. He might have been hurt. 
You are so careless. You might have broken the cup. (Ты чуть 

было не разбил чашку.)
3) p e r m i s s i o n ,

e.g. The director is alone now. So you may see him now.
M ay in this meaning is found in affirmative sentences, in interrogative 

sentences which usually express a request, and in negative sentences
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rtiere it denotes prohibition. But in negative sentences it is not common 
s prohibition is generally expressed by other modal verbs (see can 
nd must).
.g. You may smoke in here.

May I smoke in here?
You may not smoke in here.

In this meaning may is combined only with the simple infinitive. 
In interrogative sentences the form might is also found when we 

/ish to express a more polite request.
.g. Might I join you?

In reported speech the form might is used.
.g. He told me that I might smoke in the room.

He asked me if he might join us.

4) d i s a p p r o v a l  o r  r e p r o a c h ,
;.g. You might carry the parcel for me.

You might have helped me.

Here we find only the form m ight used in affirmative sentences 
ind followed by the simple or perfect infinitive. In the la tte r case it 
jxpresses reproach for the non-performance of an action.

§ 84. The form might which expresses unreality is not always par- 
illel to  may.

M ight expresses unreality only in combination with the perfect in- 
initive.
*.g. You might have let me know about it beforehand.

There was a car accident in front of our house. Luckily Tommy 
was at school. He might have been killed.

In most cases might is used as a milder and more polite form than 
nay (a) as well as a form implying a greater degree of uncertainty (b):

a) p e r m i s s i o n  — May I speak to him now?
Might I speak to him now? (very polite)

b) s u p p o s i t i o n  — He may come a little  later.
He m ight come a little  later, (less certain)

The two forms are not opposed in the meaning of possibility due 
:o circumstances where only may is used, nor in the meaning of dis­
approval or reproach where might alone is found.
;.g. You may find the book at the library.

You might have considered your parents’ feelings.

§ 85. Notice the following set phrases with may and m ight:
a) M ay as well (might as well, m ight just as w e ll)+ in fin itive  is 

i very mild and unemphatic way of expressing an intention. I t is used 
;o suggest or recommend an action.
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e.g. I may as well take the  child with me. (Я, пожалуй, возьму ребенк 
с собой. Пожалуй, лучше будет, если я возьму ребенка с собой 

You may as well give him the letter.
I might as well stay at home tonight.
“ I 'l l  go at s ix .” “T h a t’s far too late; you might just as well nc 

go at a ll .” (С таким же успехом можно не ходить туда совсем

b) I t  might have been worse means Things are not so bad after al, 
In Russian it is rendered as: Могло бы быть и хуже or В кони 
концов дела обстоят не так уж плохо.

c) Не might have been a ... means Не might have been taken for a.. 
He looked like a...
e.g. Roy Wilson, the new doctor, was twenty-eight, large, heavy, matur 

and blond. He m ight have been a Scandinavian sailor.

d) I f  I  may say so ... has become a stereotyped phrase in which th 
meaning of permission is considerably weakened.
e.g. If I may say so, I th ink  you have treated him very badly.

§ 86. In addition to  the above cases illustrating the independen 
use of may, this modal verb occurs in subordinate object clauses aft« 
expressions of fear as well as in adverbial clauses of purpose and cor 
cession. Here it is structurally  dependent (for a detailed treatment с 
th is use of may see “Verbs”, §§ 135, 143, 152).
e.g. I fear he may fall ill .

He is coming here so th a t they may discuss it without delay. 
However cold it may be, we’ll go skiing.

C a n  and M ay  Compared

§ 87. The use of can and may is parallel only in two meanings 
possibility due to circumstances and permission. In these meanings 
however, they are not always interchangeable for a number of variou 
reasons.

1) Thus in the meaning of possibility due to circumstances the us 
of may is restricted only to  affirmative sentences, whereas can is founi 
in all kinds of sentences.

May Can
He may find this book at the He can find this book at th 

library. library.
Can he find this book at th 

library?
He cannot find this book at th 

library.

Their tim e reference is also different. May refers only to the presen 
or future; the form might is used in past-time contexts only in reportei 
speech. Can (could) may refer to  the present, past or future.
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May Can
le  may find the book at the He can find the book a t the li* 

library. brary.
said that he might find the He could find the book at the 
book at the library. library yesterday.

He can find the book at the li­
brary tomorrow.

Both could and might combined with the perfect infin itive indicate 
hat the action was not carried out in the past.
;.g. He might have found the book at the library.

He could have found the book at the library.

It follows from the above that the sphere of application of can in 
his meaning is wider than that of may.

2) When may and can express permission the difference between 
hem is rather that of style than of meaning—may is more formal than 
'an which is characteristic of colloquial English.
Л. May (might) I speak to you for a moment, professor?

Can (could) I have a cup of tea, Mother?

Besides, may in negative sentences expressing prohibition is uncom­
mon.

M ust
§ 88. The modal verb must has only one form. It is used in present- 

;ime contexts with reference to the  present or future and in combination 
vith  the perfect infinitive it refers to  the past. In past-tim e contexts 
his form is used only in reported speech, i.e. the rules of the sequence 
)f tenses are not observed with must.

§ 89. M ust has the following meanings:
1) o b l i g a t i o n  (from the speaker’s point of view),

;.g. You must talk to your daughter about her future.
Must he do it himself?

In different contexts must may acquire additional shades of meaning, 
such as d u t y  o r  n e c e s s i t y .

In this meaning must is found in affirmative and interrogative sen­
tences and followed only by the simple infinitive.

2) p r o h i b i t i o n ,
e.g. He must not leave his room for a while. (Он не должен (ему нельзя) 

выходить из комнаты некоторое время.)

This meaning is expressed in  negative sentences and m ust is also 
followed by the simple infinitive.

N o t e .  A bsence of necessity  (in  R u ss ian  не нужно, нет необходимости) is 
expressed  by  o th e r verbs (see to have a n d  need).
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3) e m p h a t i c  a d v i c e ,
e.g. You m ust come and see us when you’re in London.

You m ust stop worrying about your son. You m ustn’t give anothe 
thought to  what he said.

You m ustn’t  miss the film. It is very good.
You m ust have your hair cut. I t ’s much too long.
You m ustn’t cry.

This meaning is found in affirmative and negative sentences an< 
it is closely connected w ith the  two above mentioned meanings.

4) s u p p o s i t i o n  i m p l y i n g  s t r o n g  p r o b a b i l i t y

e.g. He m ust be ill. He looks so pale.
It m ust be late as the streets are deserted.

M ust in this meaning is found only in affirmative sentences.
In Russian this meaning is generally rendered by means of the moda 

words вероятно, должно быть.
In English this meaning may also be expressed by means of the moda 

word probably.
In th is meaning must may be followed by different forms of th< 

infinitive. If reference is made to  the present, the continuous infinitivi 
is used w ith dynamic verbs.
e.g. The book is not on the shelf. Jane must be reading it.

L e t’s have something to  eat. You must be starving.

If m ust is followed by the simple infinitive of dynamic verbs, i 
expresses obligation.
e.g. Jane  m ust read the book.

You m ust stay here.

However, with stative verbs the simple infinitive is used to expres: 
supposition.
e.g. He m ust be over fifty.

He m ust know all about it as he has read a lot on the subject.

M ust in combination w ith the perfect infinitive refers the actior 
to  the past.
e.g. Do you see him smoking over there? He must have finished his work 

It is six o ’clock. She m ust have come home.

The combination of must w ith  the perfect continuous infinitive in­
dicates an action begun in the past and continued into the momenl 
of speaking.
e.g. It m ust have been raining all the night. There are big puddles ir 

the  garden.

However, if must is followed by a stative verb, the perfect infinitive 
is used.
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e.g. He must have been here since breakfast.
He must have known it all along.

N o t e .  O ccasionally  th e  c o m b in a tio n  of m ust w ith  th e  p e rfec t con tinuous in ­
f in it iv e  m ay  express an  ac tio n  go ing on  a t  a given p a s t m o m e n t.

e .g . H e  m u st have been w ritin g  a  le t te r  w hen I cam e.

When must expresses supposition implying strong probability, its 
use is restricted in two ways.

a) It is not used with reference to the future. In th is case we find 
modal words in the sentence.
e.g. He will probably come tomorrow.

He will evidently know all about it.

b) It is not used in the interrogative or negative form. It is found 
only in the affirmative form.

N o t e .  To express su p p o sitio n  im p ly in g  s tro n g  p ro b a b il i ty  w ith  negative  
m eaning , in  ad d itio n  to  m odal w ords, th e  follow ing m eans a re  em ployed :

e.g . H e  m u st have fa iled  to  ge t in  to u ch  w ith  her.
H e  m u st have m isunderstood  you .
H e m u st be unaw are of th a t .
H e m u st never h ave  guessed th e  t ru th .
No one m u st have to ld  h im  a b o u t i t .

§ 90. Notice the following set phrases with must.
a) M ust needs denotes obligation.

e.g. He must needs go there. (Он непременно должен пойти туда.)
b) I  must be going and /  must be off both mean it  is time for me to 

go (in Russian Мне пора уходить).

c) I  must tell you that... and I  must say... are stereotyped phrases 
in which the meaning of obligation is considerably weakened in must.

d) In the sentences: You must come and see me some time, You must 
come and have dinner with me, You must come to our party , You must 
come and stay with us for the week-end and the like, m ust is also used 
with weakened meaning. M ust has become part of such sentences which 
are a common way of expressing invitations.

M u s t  and M a y  Compared

§91 . M ust and may can be compared in two meanings:
1) Both may and must serve to  express s u p p o s i t i o n  but their 

use is not parallel. May  denotes supposition im plying uncertainty 
whereas the supposition expressed by must implies strong probability.
Cf. For all I know, he may be an actor. His face seems so familiar. 

He must be an actor. His voice carries so well.
I saw him an hour ago. He may still be in his office now.
He always comes at 10 sharp. So he must be in his office now.
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2) M ay  and must are used to  express p r o h i b i t i o n  in negative 
sentences. B ut may is seldom found in this meaning. In negative answers 
to questions w ith may asking for permission we generally find must not 
or cannot.
e.g. “May I smoke here?” “No, you m ustn’t (you can’t ) .”

To Have to
§ 92. To have to as a modal verb is not a defective verb and can have 

all the necessary tense-aspect forms as well as the verbals.
e.g. He is an invalid and has to have a nurse.

She knew what she had to do.
I shall have to reconsider my position.
He is always having to exercise judgement.
My impression was that he was having to force himself to talk. 
I have had to remind you of writing to her all this time.
The women at Barford had had to be told that an experiment was 

tak ing  place that day.
“As a m atter of fact,” he said, “ I ’ve been having to spend some 

tim e w ith the research people.”
It w ouldn’t have been very nice for the Davidsons to have to mix 

w ith all those people in the smoking-room.
Having to work alone, he wanted all his time for his research.

The interrogative and negative forms of the modal verb to have to 
are built up by means of the auxiliary verb to do.1
e.g. Why do I have to do everything?

Did he have to tell them about it?
“T ha t’s all r ig h t,” she said. “I just thought I ’d ask. You don’t 

have to  explain.”
There was a grin on his face. He did not have to te ll me tha t he 

already knew.

§ 93. The verb to have to serves to express o b l i g a t i o n  or 
n e c e s s i t y  imposed by circumstances. It is rendered in Russian as 
приходится, вынужден.

In this meaning it is found in all kinds of sentences—affirmative, 
interrogative and negative—and is combined only with the simple in­
finitive.
e.g. He had do to it.

Did he have to do it?
He did not have to do it.

In negative sentences to have to denotes absence of necessity (compare 
with the negative form of must which expresses prohibition).

1 T h e  in te r ro g a tiv e  an d  n e g a tiv e  form s of th e  m odal verb  to have to b u i l t  up 
w ith o u t th e  a u x il ia ry  do a re  uncom m on in  A m erican  E ng lish  an d  in freq u e n t in 
B ritish  E n g lish .
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e.g. You don’t have to go there. (Вам не нужно (нет необходимости) 
идти туда.)

You mustn’t go there. (Вам нельзя идти туда.)

§ 94. In spoken English the meaning of obligation and necessity 
is also expressed by have (has) got to. Like the verb to have to, it is 
found in all kinds of sentences and is combined w ith the simple infinitive.
e.g. He has got to go right now.

Has he got to go right now?
He hasn’t got to go just yet.

This combination may also be found in the Past tense, though it 
is not very common.
e.g. He had got to sell his car.

§ 95. Notice the set phrase had better.
e.g. A few drops began to fall. “W e’d better take shelter,” she said. 

(Нам лучше укрыться.)
She didn’t like to  say that she thought they had better not play 

cards when the guest might come in a t any moment.

Had better is followed by the infinitive without to.

To Be to
§ 96. To be to as a modal verb is used in the Present and Past tenses.

e.g. We are to meet at six.
We were to meet at six.

§97. To be to as a modal verb has the following meanings:
1) a p r e v i o u s l y  a r r a n g e d  p l a n  o r  o b l i g a ­

t i o n  resulting from the arrangement,
e.g. We are to discuss it next time.

We were to discuss it the following week.
Is he to arrive tomorrow?
Who was to speak at the meeting?

This meaning of to be to is found in affirm ative and interrogative 
sentences in the Present and Past tenses. To be to is followed by the 
simple infinitive.

The Past tense of the verb to be to in combination with the perfect 
infinitive denotes an unfulfilled plan.
e.g. I promised to go to a club with her last Tuesday, and I really forgot 

all about it. We were to have played a duet together.

2) o r d e r s  a n d  i n s t r u c t i o n s ,  often official (frequently 
in reported speech),
e.g. I just mention it because you said I was to  give you all the details 

I could.
7-2145 9  7



Norman says I am to leave you alone.
All junior officers are to report to the colonel at once.

In this meaning to be to is found in affirmative and negative senten­
ces and followed by the simple infinitive.

3) s o m e t h i n g  t h a t  i s  d e s t i n e d  t o  h a p p e n ,
e.g. He was to be my teacher and friend for many years to come.

He did not know at the time that he was never to see his native 
place again.

I t ’s been a great blow to me that you haven’t been able to follow 
me in my business as 1 followed my father. Three generations, 
that would have been. But it wasn’t to be.

This meaning of to be to is rendered in Russian as суждено. It is 
mainly found in the Past tense and its application is limited to narra­
tion. It occurs in affirmative and negative sentences and is followed 
by the simple infinitive.

4) p o s s i b i l i t y ,
e.g. Her father was often to be seen in the bar of the Hotel Metropole. 

Where is he to be found?
Nothing was to be done under the circumstances.

In this meaning to be to is equivalent to can or may. It is used in 
all kinds of sentences in the Present and Past tenses and is followed by 
the passive infinitive.

§ 98. Notice the following set phrases with the modal verb to be to:
What am I to do? (Что мне делать? Как мне быть?)
What is to become of me? (Что со мной станется? Что со мной будет?) 
Where am I to go? (Куда же мне идти? Куда же мне деваться?)

§99. То be to in the form of were to-\-infinitive for all persons 
is found in conditional clauses where it is structurally dependent (for 
a detailed treatm ent of this use of the verb to be to see “Verbs”, § 149).
e.g. If he were to come again I should not receive him.

M u s t , t o  H a v e  to  and to  B e to  Compared

§ 100. The verbs m ust, to have to and to be to have one meaning in 
common, that of o b l i g a t i o n .  In the Present tense the verbs come 
very close to each other in their use though they preserve their specific 
shades of meaning. Thus must indicates obligation or necessity from 
the speaker’s viewpoint, i.e. it expresses obligation imposed by the 
speaker.
e.g. I must do it. (I want to do it.)

He must do it himself. (I shan’t help him.)

To have to expresses obligation or necessity imposed by circumstances.
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e.g. What a pity you have to go now. ( I t ’s time for you to catch your 
train.)

He has to do it himself. (He has got no one to help him.)

To be to expresses obligation or necessity resulting from an arrange­
ment.
e.g. We are to wait for them at the entrance. (We have arranged to  meet 

there, so we must wait for them at the appointed place.)
Sometimes the idea of obligation is absent and to be to expresses 

only a previously arranged plan.
e.g. We are to go to the cinema tonight.

N o t e .  In  p u b lic  n o tices we fin d  m ust b ecau se  th ey  express o b lig a tio n  im p o sed  
by som e au th o ritie s .

e .g . Passengers m u st cross th e  railw ay lin e  by  th e  foot bridge.

T he sam e is t ru e  of p roh ib ition  expressed  in  n e g a tiv e  sentences.

e .g . Passengers m u s t n o t w alk  across th e  ra ilw a y  lin e .
V isito rs m u st n o t feed th e  an im als .

In the Past tense, however, the difference in the use of th e  th ree  
verbs is quite considerable.

M ust has no Past tense. It is used in past-tim e contexts only in repo rt­
ed speech.
e.g. He said he must do it himself.

Had to+ infin itive  is generally used to denote an action which 
was realized in the past as a result of obligation or necessity imposed 
by circumstances.
e.g. I had to sell my car. (It was necessary for me to do it because I 

needed money.)
He had to put on his raincoat. (It was raining hard outside and 

he would have got wet if he hadn’t.)

Was (were) to -^-infinitive is used to  denote an action planned for 
the future which is viewed from the past. The action is not realized 
in the past and the question remains open as to whether it is going to  
take place or not.
e.g. We were to meet him at the station. (It is not clear from the sentence 

if the action will take place or not.)

If the speaker wishes to make it clear at once that the plan was no t 
fulfilled, the perfect infinitive is used to  show that.
e.g. We were to have met him at the station. (That means that we failed 

to meet him.)
However, the simple infinitive may also be used in this case.

§ 101. In reported speech (in past-tim e contexts) must remains u n ­
changed in a ll of its meanings.



e.g. He said he m ust do it without delay.
He said I m ustn’t te ll anyone about it.
The doctor told her tha t she must eat.
They believed the  story must be true.

Parallel to must, had to+ infin itive  is also used occasionally in re­
ported speech to express obligation.

e.g. He said he had to make a telephone call at once.

In this case had to approaches to must in meaning: it does not include 
th e  idea of a realized action but refers to some future moment.

N o t e .  C are  sh o u ld  b e  ta k e n  n o t to  replace must by  had to in  reported  speech 
a s  th e  tw o verbs express d iffe re n t m eanings (see above).

O ught to

§ 102. The modal verb ought to has only one form which is used 
w ith  reference to the present or future. In reported speech it remains 
unchanged. Ought is always followed by the infinitive with to.

§ 103. Ought to has the  following meanings:
1) o b l i g a t i o n  which in different contexts may acquire addi­

tional shades of meaning, such as a d v i s a b i l i t y  and d e s i ­
r a b i l i t y ,
e.g. You ought to say a word or two about yourself.

Ought she to warn him?
He oughtn’t to m ention it to anybody.

In this meaning ought to is possible in all kinds of sentences though 
it is felt to be awkward in questions where should is preferred.

Generally ought to refers an action to the future and is followed 
by the simple infinitive. W ith reference to the present ought to is used 
w ith the continuous infinitive or with the simple infinitive if the verb 
is stative.
e.g. At your age you ought to be earning your living.

You ought to feel some respect for your elders.

In combination w ith the perfect infinitive ought to in the affirmative 
form shows that a desirable action was not fulfilled.
e.g. You ought to have chosen a more suitable tim e to tell me this news. 

He ought to have put everything off.

In the negative form ought to in combination with the perfect in­
finitive shows that an undesirable action was fulfilled.
e.g. I ’m sorry. I oughtn’t to have said it.

You oughtn’t to have married her, David. It was a great mistake.

2) s u p p o s i t i o n  i m p l y i n g  s t r o n g  p r o b a b i l i t y ,  
e.g. The new sanatorium  ought to be very comfortable.
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The use of ought to in this case is not very common as th is m eaning 
is normally rendered by must.

Notice the set phrase He (you) ought to know it (=  he is (you are) 
supposed to know it) .

S h a ll  and S h o u ld

§ 104. Historically shall and should were two forms of th e  same 
verb expressing obligation.1 But later they came to express different 
meanings and in present-day English th e ir use is not parallel and they 
are treated as two different verbs.

Shall

§ 105. In modern English the modal meaning of obligation is always 
combined in shall with the function of an auxiliary verb of the  Future 
tense.

Shall is still used to express obligation with the second and third 
persons, but at present it is not common in this meaning in  spoken 
English. Its use, as a rule, is restricted to  formal or even archaic style 
and is mainly found in subordinate clauses, i.e. it is structurally  depen­
dent.

e.g. It has been decided that the proposal shall not be opposed.
This book is sold subject to the condition that it shall not, by way 

of trade, be lent, resold, hired out or otherwise disposed of w ithout 
the publisher’s consent.

At present, however, this meaning of obligation, somewhat modified, 
is found with the second and third persons in sentences expressing pro­
mise, threat or warning. It is used in affirm ative and negative sentences 
and combined with the simple infinitive.
e.g. You shall have my answer tomorrow.

“You shall stay just where you are!” his mother cried angrily.
He shall do as I say.

Notice that it is not shall itself th a t denotes promise, th re a t or 
warning, but the sentence as a whole.

The meaning of obligation may also be traced in interrogative sen­
tences where shall is used with the first and third persons to  ask after 
the will of the person addressed. In th is case it is also followed by the 
simple infinitive.
e.g. Shall I get you some fresh coffee, Miss Fleur?

Who shall answer the telephone, Major?

1 S h a ll  w as th e  P resen t tense of th e  In d ic a t iv e  M ood; should w as th e  S u b ju n c tiv e  
Mood.
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Sentences of this kind are usually rendered in Russian with the help 
of th e  infinitive: Принести вам еще кофе?, Кому отвечать по телефо­
н у ?, etc.

S ho u ld

§ 106. In modern English the modal verb should is used with refe­
rence to the present or future and it remains unchanged in reported speech.

§ 107. Should has the  following meanings:
1) o b l i g a t i o n  which in different contexts may acquire addi­

tiona l shades of meaning, such as a d v i s a b i l i t y  and d e s i ­
r a b i l i t y ,
e.g . I t ’s late. You should go to  bed.

You shouldn’t miss the  opportunity.
Should I talk to  him  about it?

Should  in this meaning is found in all kinds of sentences. Like ought 
to , i t  generally refers an action to the future and is followed by the 
sim ple infinitive.

W ith  reference to the present should is used w ith the continuous 
infin itive  or with the sim ple infinitive if the verb is stative.
e .g . You shouldn’t be sitting  in the sun. Move out of it into the shade. 

You shouldn’t feel so unhappy over such trifles.

Should  may be combined w ith the perfect infinitive. In this case 
th e  meaning of the combination depends on whether the sentence is 
affirm ative or negative. In an affirmative sentence should-\-perfect 
in fin itiv e  indicates tha t a desirable action was not carried out.
e .g . He looks very ill. He should have stayed at home.

He should have told me about it himself.

In a negative sentence should-^perfect in fin itive  serves to show 
th a t  an undesirable action was carried out.
e.g . Oh, Renny, you shouldn’t have done as you didl 

They shouldn’t have concealed it from us.

2) s u p p o s i t i o n  implying strong p r o b a b i l i t y ,
e.g. The film should be very good as it is starring first-class actors.

The use of should in th is case does not seem to be very common as 
th is  meaning is normally rendered by must.

§ 108. In addition to  the  above mentioned cases showing the indepen­
dent use of should, th is verb occurs in object clauses depending on the 
lexical character of the predicate verb in the principal clause and in 
adverbial clauses of condition, purpose and concession. Here its use 
is structurally  dependent (for a detailed treatment of this use of the 
verb  see “Verbs”, §§ 129, 131, 138, 140, 143, 149).
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e.g. I suggest that you should stay here as if nothing had happened. 
“ I t ’s im portant,” I broke out, “that the Barford people should 

know what we’ve just heard .”
She was terrified lest they should go on talking about her. 
Suddenly she began to cry, burying her head under the book so 

that I shouldn’t see.
If he should drop in, give him my message.

§ 109. Should may have a peculiar function—it may be used for 
emotional colouring. In this function it may be called the emotional should.

The use of the emotional should is structurally dependent. It is 
found in the following cases:

1) in special emphatic constructions, where a simple predicate is 
not used:

a) in r h e t o r i c a l  q u e s t i o n s  beginning w ith why ,

e.g. Why should I do it? (С какой стати я буду делать это?)
Why shouldn’t you invite him? (Почему бы вам его не пригласить?)

b) in o b j e c t  c l a u s e s  beginning with why,
e.g. I don’t know why he should want to see George. (Я не знаю, зачем 

только ему нужен Джордж.)
I don’t  see why we shouldn’t  make friends.

c ) i n  a t t r i b u t i v e  c l a u s e s  beginning w ith why after the 
noun reason,
e.g. There is no reason why they shouldn’t get on very well together. 

(Нет причины, почему бы им не ладить друг с другом.)
I don’t see any reason why he shouldn’t be happy.

d ) i n  c o n s t r u c t i o n s  o f  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  k i n d ,
e.g. The door opened and who should come in but Tom. (Дверь откры­

лась, и кто бы вы думали вошел? Никто иной как Том.)
As I was crossing the street, whom should I meet but Aunt Ann.

e) i n t h e  s e t  p h r a s e  How should I know? (Почем я знаю?).

In the above cases should may be followed by the perfect infinitive 
which in simple sentences refers the action to the past (a) and in complex 
sentences shows that the action of the subordinate clause precedes that 
of the principal clause (b).
e.g. a) I went into business w ith her as her partner. Why shouldn’t 

I have done it? (Почему бы мне было не сделать этого?)

b) Не did not know why he should have expected them  to look 
different. (Он не знал, почему он ожидал увидеть их други­
ми.)

There were fifteen equally good reasons why she should not 
have played bridge. (Было достаточно много причин, по­
чему она не играла в бридж.)
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2) in certain types of subordinate clauses where should+infinitive  
is interchangeable with a simple predicate in the Indicative Mood (for 
th e  use of the Indicative Mood in these clauses see “Verbs”, § 130):

a) in o b j e c t  c l a u s e s  after expressions of regret, surprise, 
sometimes pleasure or displeasure,
e.g. I ’m sorry that you should think so badly of me. (Мне жаль, что 

вы так плохо обо мне думаете.)
Не was little  surprised tha t Ann should speak so frankly about it. 
I am content that you should think so.

The rules of the sequence of tenses are not observed here. The perfect 
infin itive is used to show th a t the action of the subordinate clause pre­
cedes tha t of the principal clause.
e.g. I am sorry that you should have had a row with Kate about it. 

He was annoyed that they should have asked him that.

b ) i n  o b j e c t  c l a u s e s  following the principal clause with 
a formal it  as subject,

e.g. It is absurd that such things should happen to a family like theirs. 
(Нелепо, чтобы такие вещи случались в такой семье, как их.) 

It was strange that he should be asking those questions.
It struck him as exceedingly funny that his brother should be in love.

In the principal clause we find such expressions as it  is wonderful 
(natural, strange, singular, absurd, terrible, monstrous, queer, odd and 
the like), i t  infuriated (outraged, startled, surprised, puzzled and the 
like) me, it  struck me as funny, etc. We also find the following interro­
gative and negative expressions in the principal clause: is it  possible 
( likely , probable)?, it is not possible (likely, probable), it is impossible 
(unlikely, improbable).1

As we see from the above examples, the rules of the sequence of 
tenses are not observed here either.

If the action of the subordinate clause precedes that of the principal 
clause, the perfect infinitive is used after should.
e.g. It is inconceivable that Mrs Crosbie should have written such a 

letter.
I t ’s much better that you should have found everything out before 

i t ’s too late.
I t infuriated her that he should have spoken to her in such a tone.

N o t e .  Shou ld -\-in fin itive  m ay  be occasionally found in s tea d  of a s im p le  
p re d ic a te  in  som e o th e r  k in d s of su b o rd in a te  clauses, bu t i t  is n o t in  com m on use:

a) in  p re d ic a tiv e  clauses,

e .g . T h e  p a r t  th a t  in te res ts  m e is th a t  such  a th in g  should  happen to  such people .

b) in  a p p o s itiv e  clauses,

e .g . T h e  fa c t th a t  he  shou ld  h ave  m ade su ch  a b r ill ia n t speech su rp rised  m e g reatly

1 A fte r  th e  a ffirm ativ e  i t  is possible (likely, probable) a s im p le  p red ica te  is 
used .
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с) i n  c o n s t r u c t i o n s  o f  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  k i n d ,
e.g. That it should come to this! (И до чего дошло дело!)

То think that it should come to this! (Только подумать, до чего 
дошло дело!)

То think that it should have happened to me( (Только подумать, 
что это произошло со мной!)

То sum И up, it should be said that as compared to the use of a simple 
predicate in the Indicative Mood, the use of should+ infin itive  gives 
the statement emotional colouring such as surprise, amazement, irrita­
tion, indignation, pleasure, displeasure, etc., i.e. it emphasizes the 
speaker’s personal attitude towards the facts stated in the sentence. 
The Indicative Mood represents these facts in a more matter-of-fact way.

M u s t , S h o u ld  and O ught to  Compared

§ 110. All the three verbs serve to express obligation. M ust, however, 
sounds more forceful, peremptory.
e.g. You must do it at once. (Вы должны (обязаны) сделать это не- 

медленно.)

Both should and ought to express obligation, advisability, desira­
bility and are used when must would sound too peremptory.
e.g. You should do it at once, \  (Вам следует (нужно) сделать 

You ought to do it at once. J это немедленно.)

Should and ought to are very much alike in meaning and are often 
interchangeable. In using ought to, however, we lay more stress on the 
meaning of moral obligation, whereas should is common in instructions 
and corrections.
e.g. You ought to help him; he is in trouble.

You should use the definite article in this sentence.

It is noteworthy that ought to cannot be used instead of the emo­
tional should.

§111. Must, ought to and should serve to express supposition imply­
ing strong probability. M ust, however, seems to be in more frequent 
use than the other two verbs.

S h o u ld -^Perfect Infinitive, O ught to  4 Perfect Infinitive 
and W a s/W ere  ¿o-fPerfect Infinitive Compared

§ 112. Should-^ perfect in fin itive  and ought to^r perfect in fin itive  show 
that the action has not been carried out though it was desirable; was/were 
to-\-perfect infinitive  indicates an action that has not been carried 
out though it was planned.
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(Now he is in trouble.)
e.g. You should have helped him.

You ought to have warned 
him.

He was to have arrived last week. (But his plans were upset by 
some cause or other.)

W ill  and W o u ld

§ 113. The verb w ill1 has the following forms: w ill—the Present 
tense and would—the Past tense. The latter form is used in two ways:
a) in past-tim e contexts to express an actual fact and b) in present-time 
contexts to express unreality or as a milder and more polite form of will.

While shall and should are treated as two different verbs in modern 
English, w ill  and would are considered to be the forms of the same verb, 
its original meaning being that of v o l i t i o n . 2 However, in some 
of their meanings the use of w ill is parallel only to would which denotes 
an actual fact in the past; in other meanings w ill is found alongside 
of would which expresses unreality in the present or serves as a milder 
or more polite form of will.

§ 114. The use of w ill and would which denotes an actual fact in 
the past is parallel in the following cases:

1) when they express habitual or recurrent actions,
e.g. She w ill (would) sit for hours under the old oak tree looking at 

the beautiful country around her (...любит [любила] сидеть, 
обычно сидит 1сидела1...).

In addition to indicating a habitual action, w ill (would) in this 
case implies willingness, personal interest on the part of the doer of 
the action. W ill (would) in this meaning is found in affirmative sentences 
and is followed by the simple infinitive.

In present-tim e contexts w ill in this meaning is not common. In 
past-time contexts would is mainly characteristic of literary style.
e.g. Then there were week-ends when he would ride over to the house 

of one farmer or another and spend a couple of nights on the hills.

2) when they express refusal to  perform an action,
e.g. The doctor knows I won’t be operated on.

He was wet through, but he wouldn’t change.

This meaning is found in negative sentences; w ill (would) is followed 
by the sim ple infinitive.

1 W ill  a n d  w ould  m ay  also be used a s  verbs of full p red icatio n  (not m odal verbs). 
W ill  m ay  be used  as a reg u la r  v e rb  (w ills , w illed ). I t  m eans проявлять волю, велеть, 
заставлять, внушать. Would is a d e fec tiv e  ve rb . I t  is used w ith  reference to  th e  
p resen t a n d  m ea n s  желать. I t  is found in  poetry  m ain ly  and  lik e  th e  verb  to wish is 
follow ed by  an  o b jec t c lau se  (see “ V erbs” , § 132), e. g. /  would /  were a careless child.

2 V о 1 i t  i o n  is a general te rm  w hich  includes such m eanings as w illingness, 
read in ess, c o n se n t, in te n tio n  and  d e te rm in a tio n  to  perform  an ac tio n .
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3) when they are used with lifeless things to  show that a thing fails 
to perform its immediate function,
e.g. My fountain pen won’t (wouldn’t) write.

The door won’t (wouldn’t) open.

In this meaning w ill (would) is found in negative sentences and 
is followed by the simple infinitive. In Russian it is usually rendered 
as никак не пишет (не писала), никак не открывается (не откры­
валась) and the like.

4) when they are used w ith the first person to  express will, intention 
or determination,
e.g. “Damn it!” he thought, “I ’m going to get out of this hole. I will 

make money.”
I am an Englishman, and I will suffer no priest to interfere in 

my business.
I said I would do anything for him.
We decided that we wouldn’t interfere.

This meaning is found in affirmative and negative sentences.
The Present tense will, in addition to expressing its modal meaning, 

serves to refer an action to the future in this case; the Past tense would 
is generally used in reported speech and also serves to refer an action 
to the future but in this case it is viewed from a past moment.

§ 115. The use of w ill and would which expresses unreality in the 
present or serves as a milder or more polite form of w ill is parallel in 
the following cases:

1) in interrogative sentences where they express willingness, consent,
e.g. W ill you dine with me tomorrow, Lewis?

“Won’t you sit down?” said the doctor.
You’ll forgive me, won’t you?
“Would you do i t? ” she asked eagerly.

2) in clauses of condition introduced by i f  (see also “Verbs”, § 149) 
where they also express willingness, consent,
e.g. “ I t ’s about forty minutes’ walk from here and if you’ll come now 

I ’ll go with you ,” she said.
No, we are not going to quarrel at all if you’ll only let me talk . 
If you would stand by me I should have another try.

In both cases will(would) is followed by the simple infinitive 
and the action always refers to the future.

Both interrogative and conditional sentences are often actually polite 
requests in this case. There is hardly any difference between the use 
of w ill and would here; the role of would is to  make the request still 
more polite.

§ 116. The use of w ill and would is not parallel in the following 
cases:

1) W ill may be used to express supposition w ith reference to  the
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present or to the  future in combination with the simple infinitive, 
or to the past in combination with the perfect infinitive. This meaning 
is found w ith the  second and third persons.

e.g. This w ill be the school, I believe. (Это, по-видимому, и есть школа.) 
You w ill have heard the news, I 'm  sure. (Я полагаю, что вы уже 

слышали новость.)

It should be noted that the use of w ill in this meaning is not common.
2) Would may be used rather sarcastically to express that something 

was to be expected. It is found in affirmative and negative sentences.

e.g. “Auntie Meg has been very brave.” “Yes. She would be brave.** 
(That was to be expected of her under the circumstances.)

“ I don’t understand him and I don’t approve of his decision.” 
“No, you wouldn’t . ” (I did not expect you would.)

This meaning is rendered in Russian as something like Этого и 
следовало ожидать.

3) Notice the use of will in the following sentences:
e.g. Boys w ill be boys. (Мальчишки остаются мальчишками.)

Accidents w ill happen. (Без несчастных случаев дело не обходится.)

4) Notice the set phrases with w ill and would:
a) Wil l  not have (won't have) followed by an object and an infini­

tive without to means I ' l l  see to it that it does not happen,
e.g. “I will not (won’t) have you speak to me like th a t,” her voice came 

sharply. (Я не допущу, чтобы...)

b) Would rather ( 'd  rather) and would sooner ('d  sooner) followed 
by an infinitive without to mean to prefer.
e.g. “I ’d rather do it myself,” said Luke.

He’d sooner die than let me think he was a failure.

c) W ould...mind in interrogative and negative sentences means to 
object.

e.g. Would you mind my staying here for a while?
I wouldn’t mind your telling them about Hardy.

Would...mind in interrogative sentences may also express a polite 
request.

e.g. Would you mind getting me a cup of tea?

§ 117. Would also occurs in certain subordinate clauses where it is 
structurally dependent (for a detailed treatm ent of this case see “Verbs”, 
§ 132).
e.g. I wish the rain would stop for a moment.

I wish they wouldn’t insist on it.
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Need

§ 118. The modal verb need may be used either as a defective or 
as a regular verb.

1) Need as a defective verb has only one form which is the Present 
tense. In reported speech it remains unchanged. It is followed by the  
infinitive without to.

Need expresses necessity. When reference is made to the present 
or future it is followed by the simple infinitive. It is used in negative 
and interrogative sentences.1

In interrogative sentences need usually implies that there is no neces­
sity of performing the action.

e.g. You needn’t be afraid of me. (Вам не нужно (незачем) бояться 
меня.)

You need not meet him unless you’d like to.
Need I repeat it? (Нужно ли (к чему) мне повторять это?)

In negative sentences it is not always the  verb need that is in  the 
negative form; the negation may be found elsewhere in the sentence.

e.g. I don't think we need give her any more of our attention.
I need hardly say that I agree w ith  you.

In combination with the perfect infin itive need expresses an action 
which has been performed though it was unnecessary. It implies a w aste 
of time or effort.

e.g. You needn’t have come. The deal is off. (Вам незачем (не к чему) 
было приходить. Вы зря пришли.)

It was obvious. You needn’t have protested.
We needn’t have told him a lie even if we didn’t want to te ll him  

the tru th . (Нам незачем (не к чему) было лгать ему... Мы зря 
солгали ему...)

N o t e .  N o tice  th a t  th e  Russian sen ten ce  Вам не следует (не надо) беспоко­
иться (волноваться) is rendered  in E n g lish  a s  Y ou  needn't worry (be nervous).

2) As a regular verb need can have all the  necessary forms, including 
the verbals. It also expresses necessity. It is followed by the in fin itiv e  
with to and is mainly used in interrogative and negative sentences 
(like the defective need).

e.g. He did not need to explain.
You don’t need to tell me th a t you are sorry.
Did you need to read all those books?

It should be noted that this need is in more common use th a n  the  
defective need, particularly in American English.

1 O ccasiona lly  i t  m ay  be found in a ffirm a tiv e  sen ten ces b u t it  is n o t t y p ic a l .
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N o t e .  T he reg u la r  v e rb  need m ay  be follow ed by  a nou n  o r pronoun. B u t ii 
t h i s  case to need is n o t a m o d al verb .

e .g . H e needs a new  co a t.
Does he need m y  h e lp?
H e does not need  a n y th in g .

Dare

§ 119. The modal verb dare may also be used as a regular and as 
a defective verb.

1) Dare as a defective verb has two forms which are the Present 
and the Past tense forms. It means to have the courage or impertinence 
to do something. Its use is very restricted. In present-day English it 
is mainly found in questions beginning with how and in negative sentences.

e.g. How dare you say that!
How dare she come here!
How many years is it since we danced together? I daren’t think. 
He dared not look a t her.

2) Dare as a regular verb has all the necessary forms including the 
verbals. It has the same meaning as the defective dare. Its use is also 
restricted. It is m ainly found in negative sentences.

e.g. He does not dare to come here again.
She told me she had never dared to ask him about it.
No one dared to live in the house since.

3) Notice the colloquial set phrase /  dare say.

e.g. I dare say I looked a little  confused.
My son is not in town, but 1 dare say he will be before long.

In Russian this phrase is usually rendered as очень возможно, 
пожалуй, полагаю, осмелюсь сказать.

S h o u ld n 't  -\-Periect Infinitive, O u g h tn 't to  H-Perfect Infinitive 
and N e e d n ’t -\-Perfect Infinitive Compared

§ 120. Shouldn't-)-perfect infinitive  and oughtn't to+perfect infin­
itiv e  show that an action has been carried out though it was undesir­
able; needn't-\-perfect in fin itive  indicates that an action has been car­
ried  out though it was unnecessary.

e.g . You shouldn’t have come (because you are ill).
You oughtn’t to have written to them (because your letter upset 

them).
You needn’t have come (because the work is finished).
You needn’t have w ritten  to them (because I sent them a telegram).
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Expressions of Absence of Necessity

§ 121. The main verbs expressing necessity are: m ustt to have to, 
to be to, should and ought to.

Yet care should be taken to remember that the verbs m u st , to be 
to, should and ought to in their negative forms do not express absence 
of necessity (see The use of these verbs above).

Absence of necessity is expressed by the negative forms of to have 
to and need.

In the Present tense:
e.g. You don 't have to go there.

You needn’t go there.
The two verbs generally differ in tha t needn' t+ in fin itive  indicates 

that the speaker gives authority for the non-performance of some action, 
whereas don't (doesn't) have-\-infinitive is used when absence of necessity 
is based on external circumstances.
Cf. You needn’t come here. (I’ll manage everything without your help.) 

You don’t have to come to the In stitu te  tomorrow. (There w ill be 
no lectures tomorrow.)

In the Past tense (where the regular form of the verb need is found):
e.g. You did not have to go there.

You did not need to go there.
The two verbs are similar in meaning. They both indicate th a t  there 

was no necessity, and hence no action. But to need is not in common 
use.

N o t e .  C are should  be taken not to  use You needn't have gone there as an  
ex p ression  of absence of necessity because i t  m eans th a t  an  action  w as c a rr ie d  ou t 
th o u g h  it w as unnecessary .

Forms Expressing Unreality

§ 122. As has been said, owing to  certain historical changes, we 
find a great variety of forms expressing unreality in present-day English 
(see also “Verbs”, §73).

These forms are:
1) the plain stem of the verb for all persons,

e.g. Ivory insisted that he be present, in the most friendly fashion 
imaginable.

They proposed that he borrow the money from the bank.
2) were for all persons,

e.g. I wish I were ten years younger.
3) the form of the Past Indefinite, 

e.g. He looked as if he knew about it.
4) the form of the Past Perfect,
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e.g . He looked as if he had seen a ghost.

5) should (for the first person, singular and plural) or would (for 
th e  other persons) +  infin itive,
e.g . If I had a garden I should grow tulips in it.

If he had a garden he would grow tulips in it.

6) should (for the first person, singular and plural) or would (for 
th e  other persons)+perfect infinitive ,
e.g . If it hadn’t rained I should have gone for a walk.

If it hadn’t rained he would have gone for a walk.

7) should (for all persons)+fa/uu7tw ,
e .g . I insist that he should meet us at the station.

8) would (for all persons)-t-infinitive, 
e .g . I wish he wouldn’t interrupt me.

9) may (might)-{-infinitive,
e.g . I ’m telling you this so tha t you may write to your parents about it. 

I told you that so th a t you might write to your parents about it.

10) can (could)-{-infinitive,
e.g . I ’m telling you this so tha t you can write to your parents about it.

I told you that so tha t you could write to your parents about it.
I I)  were to (for all persons) + infinitive ,
e .g . If he were to discover the tru th  he would never speak to us again.

§ 123. All these forms denoting unreality may be subdivided into 
tw o groups according to their meaning.

Some of them are used to represent an action as p r o b l e m a t i c ,  
i.e. the speaker does not know whether the action will take place or not, 
th e  realization of the action is doubtful, questionable.
e .g . Most of them insisted tha t the proposal be discussed without delay. 

They suggested tha t Meg should stay with them for another week.

Other forms express actions c o n t r a d i c t i n g  r e a l i t y ,  i.e. 
actions which cannot be realized.
e.g . I wish I had seen the procession.

If I were a writer I should write detective stories.

§ 124. The above described forms can be classified in the follow­
ing way:

I) Of all the forms expressing unreality only one may be found in 
th e  same syntactic structures as the Indicative Mood. The choice between 
th e  two forms is based on meaning (see also “Verbs”, §§ 154-159).

This form is built up analytically, by means of the auxiliary verbs 
should/would -{-infinitive. Although should is generally used for
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the  first person, singular and p lural, and would for th e  o ther persons, 
there is a strong tendency in present-day English to  use would  for all 
persons. This fluctuation in the  use of should and would  disappears 
in spoken English where th e  contracted form 'd -\- in fin itiv e  is used.

The form has two tenses: the  P resent tense shou ld lw ould+ in fin itive  
which is used w ith reference to th e  present or fu tu re  (a), and the  Past 
tense shouldlwould+perfect in fin itive  which refers th e  action to the 
past (b).
e.g. a) I should be glad to  see h im  (if I had a chance).

b) I should have been glad to  see him  (if I had had a chance).

The use of should be g lad  in (a) is opposed to  the  Ind ica tive  Mood 
in /  am glad to see him  or I  sha ll be glad to see h im . The use of should 
have been glad  in (b) is opposed to  the Indicative Mood in I  was glad  
to see him .

Sim ilarly , He would go there w ith  pleasure (if i t  were possible) is 
opposed to  He w ill go there w ith pleasure, He would have gone there with 
pleasure to  He went there w ith  pleasure.

This form may be called t h e  C o n d i t i o n a l  M o o d .  It 
represents an action as contrad icting  reality . The ac tio n  is unreal be­
cause it  depends on an unreal condition; as the  cond ition  cannot be 
realized, the  action th a t depends on it cannot be fu lfilled  either.

In accordance w ith  its  m eaning th e  Conditional Mood is often used 
in the  principal clause of a sentence of unreal condition.

e.g. If he were not ill he would come.
If he had not been ill he would have come.

2) The only forms of the  old Subjunctive Mood th a t  have survived 
in English are:

a) The form of the p lain  verb stem  for a ll persons. I t  represents an 
action as problem atic. I t  is used only in certain  types of subordinate 
clauses (see “Verbs”, §§ 129, 131, 140).
e.g. H e proposed th a t the  plan be adopted.

It  is necessary th a t you say it  in  his presence.

This form has no tense distinctions.
In accordance w ith  trad itio n  th is  form m ay be called  t h e  S u b ­

j u n c t i v e  M o o d .
b) th e  form were for all persons. It serves to  show th a t an action 

contradicts reality  and is also used in certain  types of subord inate clau­
ses (but not in the sam e types as the  form of th e  p la in  verb stem) (see 
“V erbs”, §§ 132, 133, 136, 144, 146).

e.g. If I were you I should not accept his offer.
I wish he were here.

The form were refers th e  action  to  the present o r to  th e  future.
3) As the  formal difference between the  In d ica tiv e  Mood and the 

Subjunctive Mood has in  m any cases disappeared, th e  forms of t h e
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P a s t  I n d e f i n i t e  (a) and t h e  P a s t  P e r f e c t  (b) came 
to  express u n rea lity  in English.

a) T he form  of the Past Indefin ite is used to express an action con­
trad ic tin g  rea lity  w ith  reference to  the  present or future. This use of the 
P ast In d e fin ite  is found in certain  types of subordinate clauses (see 
“V erbs” , §§ 132, 133, 136, 144, 146).

e.g. If I knew  it, I should tell you about it.
I w ish I knew it.

Thus th e  P ast Indefinite performs two different functions in  Eng­
lish: its  m ain  function is to  represent an action as a fact referring to 
th e  past; b u t it m ay also represent an action as contradicting  reality  
referring it  to  th e  present or future.

F u rth er in describing th e  use of th e  forms of unreality  th e  form were 
w ill be included among the  forms of the  Past Indefinite, because they 
are used in  th e  sam e constructions and w ith  the same meaning. I t  should 
be m entioned th a t were w ith  the  first and th ird  persons singular is often 
replaced by  was in present-day English.

b) P ara lle l to  the  use of th e  form of the Past Indefinite, the  form 
of th e  P a s t Perfect came to  represent actions contradicting reality  in the 
past. The P as t Perfect is used in  the sam e types of subordinate clauses 
as th e  P as t Indefin ite when it expresses unreality.

e.g. If I had known it, I should have to ld  you about it.
I w ish I had known it.

Thus actions contradicting rea lity  are expressed in present-day Eng­
lish by m eans of the  shifting of tenses (сдвиг времен). The P ast Indef­
in ite  is used to  express unreality  in the  present, the Past Perfect has 
the sam e function  in the  past.

4) O ther m eans of expressing unreality  in present-day English are 
com binations of modal verbs w ith  the in fin itive. They are m ainly 
found in defin ite  types of subordinate clauses (see “V erbs” , §§ 129, 
131, 132, 135, 138, 140, 143, 149).

e.g. H e suggested th a t we should join them .
If he were to  get the  job he would go on w ith  his studies.

It should  be noted th a t the  modal phrase should (for all persons)+  
in fin itive  is used in the  sam e sentence patterns as the  Subjunctive 
Mood. The tw o forms exist side by side.

e.g. I suggest th a t  he go (should go) w ith  us.
It is necessary th a t he go (should go) w ith  us.

In  B ritish  English the difference between the  two forms is sty listic: 
should-^-in fin itive  is in common use and may be found in any style, 
whereas th e  use of th e  Subjunctive Mood is restricted to  the  language 
of official docum ents and to  high prose. In American English th e  Sub­
junctive  Mood is generally preferred.
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§ 125. To sum up all the above described forms, it is possible to  
say th a t unreality  is expressed in present-day E nglish by the following 
means:

a) by two different moods: the C onditional Mood which represents 
an action as contrad icting  reality , and th e  S ubjunctive Mood w hich 
shows an action as problematic;

b) by the  sh ifting  of tenses: the use of th e  P as t Indefinite to  express 
actions contradicting reality  in the present o r  future, and the P ast P e r­
fect—w ith reference to  the  past;

c) by modal phrases which generally represent actions as p rob le­
matic.

§ 126. All these means of expressing u n rea lity  may have the  con­
tinuous (a) and passive (b) forms if the lexical m eaning of the  verb ad ­
m its of th a t and when it  is required by th e  sense.

e.g. a) If he were n o t reading now w e’d tu rn  on the  radio.
If he were in Moscow they would be showing him  the c ity .
He looked at me as if he were wondering w hat they had on th e ir  

minds.
b) They proposed th a t the meeting be adjourned (should be ad ­

journed).
If he had been sent for at once he m ight have saved us a lot o f 

trouble.
H e wished he had been told about it.

§ 127. Before describing the use of th e  various forms of u n re a lity  
it is necessary to  understand the  factors w hich determ ine their cho ice .

1) Sometimes the  choice between the  In d ica tiv e  Mood and th is  o r  
th a t particu lar form of unreality  depends on th e  structure of th e  sen ­
tence, m ainly on th e  type of the subord inate clause in which th is  form  
occurs, and in certain  cases even on the  lexical character of the  p re d i­
cate verb in the  principal clause. This m ay be term ed as t h e  s t r u c ­
t u r a l l y  d e p e n d e n t  u s e  o f  f o r m s  e x p r e s s i n g  
u n r e a l i t y .

2) In other cases th e  choice is independent of the  structure of t h e  
sentence and is determ ined by meaning, by th e  a ttitu d e  of the  sp ea k e r 
towards the actions expressed in the  sentence. This may be term ed  a s  
t h e  i n d e p e n d e n t  ( or  f r e e )  u s e  o f  f o r m s  e x p r e s ­
s i n g  u n r e a l i t y .

3) In a lim ited num ber of cases th e  use of forms expressing u n re a l i ty  
has become a m atter of trad ition  and is to  be trea ted  as set phrases, a s  
o ther sentences cannot be built up on their p a tte rn s . This may be te rm ed  
as t h e  t r a d i t i o n a l  u s e  o f  f o r m s  e x p r e s s i n g  
u n r e a l i t y .

The following w ill be a description of form s expressing u n rea lity  in  
accordance w ith  th is  division.
8* 115



S tru c tu ra lly  Dependent Use of Forms Expressing U nreality 

T he Use o f Form s Expressing U n re a l i ty  in  O bject Clauses

§ 128. In object clauses the  use of different forms of the predicate 
depends on the  lexical character of the pred icate verb in the principal 
clause.

As a rule, we find th e  Indicative Mood in  object clauses after most 
verbs.

e.g . We know (that) he is doing very well in  his studies.
They thought (th a t) he had given up his idea.
He said th a t he w ould soon be back.

As is well known, th e  rules of the sequence of tenses are to  be ob­
served here.

N o t e .  C are sh o u ld  b e  tak e n  to  rem em ber th a t  in  o b jec t c lauses a f te r  ex p res­
s io n s  of reg re t, su rp rise , so m e tim es  pleasure o r d isp lea su re  th e  em otional should can  
b e  a lso  used a lo n g sid e  o f th e  In d ica tiv e  Wood (see “ V e rb s” , § 109, 2a).

§ 129. However, a fte r certain  expressions we find forms of unreality  
in  object clauses.

Thus sh o u ld + in fin itiv e  or the Subjunctive Mood is used after ex­
pressions of suggestion, order or decision such as to suggest, to propose, 
to move, to demand, to urge, to order, to g ive orders, to g ive  instructions, 
to  require, to request, to insist, to recommend, to decide, to make up one's 
m ind  and also after to arrange, to prefer, to take care, to be anxious and 
to be determined.

e .g . Con demanded th a t  Andrew should re tu rn  to  the house w ith  him  
to tea.

She urged th a t th ey  go to  Europe.
He had given instructions th a t everything possible should be done.
He was determ ined th a t they should see everything.
But if I w rite  abou t war, self-respect demands th a t occasionally 

I share th e  risks.
He requested m e as a favour that I should report to  him  any “points 

of in te re st” th a t  I m ight pick up on my v isits there.
The situation  required  th a t he be courteous.

In all those cases th e  action of the subordinate clause follows the  
action  of the  p rinc ipa l clause. Therefore, should is never combined 
•with the perfect in fin itive .

Object clauses a fte r expressions of order and suggestion are generally 
introduced by th e  conjunction that\ asyndetic connection is less fre­
quen t.

The rules of th e  sequence of tenses are not observed in object clauses 
o f th is type.

e .g . They propose(d) th a t  the  issue should be discussed in a week.
They propose(d) th a t  the  issue be discussed in a week.
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§ 130. In  object clauses subord inated  to  th e  p rincipal c lau se  w ith  
a formal i t  as subject we find the In d ica tiv e  Mood after such expressions 
as i t  is wonderful (natural, strange, singular, absurd, terrible, m onstrous, 

odd) and the like as well as afte r i t  infuriated (outraged, startled , 
surprised, puzzled)  me and the like. The Indicative Mood is a lso  used 
after i t  is possible ( likely, probable)  in affirm ative sentences.
e.g. I t  was fortunate th a t we m et a t th e  station.

B ut i t ’s natu ral that you come to  get used to things.
I t ’s just possible th a t he le ft them  alone.
I t ’s wonderful th a t you ca rry  such p e tty  details in your head.
I t ’s hardly likely th a t anyone w ill bother to  go in to  i t  th is  after­

noon.

Clauses of th is  kind are usually introduced by the  con junction  that; 
asyndetic connection is not common.

Care should be taken to  observe th e  rules of the  sequence of tenses 
when the  Indicative Mood is used.
e.g. I t  is strange th a t he behaves like  th a t.

I t  was strange th a t he behaved like th a t.
I t  Is strange th a t he behaved like  th a t at the party .
It was strange th a t he had behaved like th a t a t the  p arty .

N o t e .  As h as been show n in § 109, 2, th e  em otional should  m ay  b e  used in 
th e  above  cases to o . In  co n trast to th e  In d ic a tiv e  Mood, i t  ad d s e m o tio n a l c o lo u rin g  
to  th e  s ta te m e n ts , though  in  bo th  cases a c tu a l  facts a re  re ferred  to . H o w ev e r, a f te r  
i t  is possib le(likely , probable) in a f f irm a tiv e  sentences th e  In d ic a t iv e  M ood is 
th e  ru le.

§ 131. Y et, after certain expressions in the principal c lau se  the 
modal phrase shou ld+ in fin itive  or the  Subjunctive Mood is  always 
used in the object clause. They are expressions of necessity or recom m en­
dation, such as it  is necessary ( im portan t, v ita l, imperative, essen tia l, 
urgent, advisable, desirable);  we also find these forms after th e  Passive 
Voice of some verbs expressing suggestion, order, decision, such  as it  
is suggested (proposed, required, demanded, requested, recommended, de­
cided, agreed, determined, arranged).
e.g. It is necessary at times th a t ce rta in  persons should be encouraged.

“ I t is necessary th a t they be careful in the la b ,” he ad d ed .
I t  is advisable that she should  have someone to  keep an  eye on 

her.
« I t ’s so im portant th a t they  should  know the  righ t th in g s  from 

th e  beginning,” Isabel had  explained.
I t  was agreed beforehand th a t  he should have the  first sh o t.
The whole party  joined in, and i t  was proposed th a t th ey  should  

have races.
H e says i t ’s quite essential th a t  you do it after supper.
I t ’s been suggested th a t I should  jo in  one of the  pub lic  services.

In all those cases the action of th e  subordinate clause follow s the  
action of th e  principal clause. Therefore, should is never com bined  
w ith  the  perfect infinitive in such constructions.
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As a rule, object clauses a fte r a ll those predicates are also introduced 
by th e  conjunction that; asyndetic  connection is not common.

N otice th a t the rules of th e  sequence of tenses are not observed when 
shou ld -\-in fin itive  or th e  Subjunctive Mood is used.
e .g . It is arranged th a t he have  (should have) th e  lab all to  himself. 

I t  was arranged th a t he have (should have) the  lab all to  himself.

§  132. In object clauses afte r the verb to wish we find the  form of 
th e  P ast Indefin ite (or th e  form  were) or the Past Perfect to  express a 
w ish  w hich cannot be fulfilled o r a hardly realizable wish.
e .g . I wish I deserved your com plim ents. I don’t.

“ I wish you had o rd inary  clothes o n ,” he said, somewhat ir r i t­
ably .

I w ish you had asked me anyth ing  but that.
I w ish it  were true.
I wished th a t Thomas h a d n ’t  brought me there.

N o t e .  F o r a re a lizab le  w ish  o th e r  verbs and  co n stru c tio n s a re  used.

e .g . I w a n t to  see h im .
I w a n t h im  to  com e.
1 sh o u ld  lik e  to  ta lk  to  y o u .
I sh o u ld  lik e  him  to  ca ll m e u p .
I w ish  to  see i t  fo r m yself.
I w ish  h im  to  do so m e th in g  fo r m e.

O bject clauses after th e  verb  to wish are usually joined to  the  prin­
c ip a l clause asyndetically , though  sometimes the  conjunction that is 
found.

The rules of the sequence of tenses are not observed in th is construc­
t io n . In object clauses after th e  verb to wish the  tense forms indicate 
th e  following:

a) The use of the form of th e  Past Indefinite shows th a t  the  action 
o f th e  subordinate clause is sim ultaneous w ith  th a t of the  principal 
c lause ,
e .g . I wish(ed) he were w ith  us.

b) If th e  action of th e  subord inate clause precedes th a t of the  prin­
c ip a l clause, the form of th e  P as t Perfect is used,
e .g . I wish(ed) he had stayed a t home.

c) W hen the action of th e  object clause follows th a t of the  principal 
c lau se , we find the modal verbs xvould+ infinitive , m ight-\-in fin itive  
a n d  co u ld + in fin itive  in the subordinate clause.
e .g . I wish(ed) the child  w ould show more affection for me.

I wish(ed) I could drop th e  whole m atter.
I wish(ed) you m ight s tay  w ith  us a little  longer.

N o t e  1. H ow ever, could -\-in fin itive  and  m igh t-\-in fin itive  m ay  also be 
u se d  to  exp ress a s im u ltan eo u s  a c t io n .

e .g .  I w ish  I could  u n d e rs tan d  y o u .
I w ish  he m ig h t be here.
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N о  t  е 2. I t  should  be no ted  th a t  w ould-\-in fin itive  is  n o t com m on w ith  
th e  f irs t person.

As all these forms express an unrealizable w ish, th ey  serve as expres­
sions of regret rather th an  wish. That is why th ey  m ay  be rendered in 
Russian in two ways. Thus th e  sentence I  wish I  knew it ,  where the actions 
in both clauses are sim ultaneous, may be transla ted  as К а к  бы мне хоте­
лось это знать от Как жаль, что я  этого не знаю. W h e n th e ac tio n  of the 
subordinate clause precedes th a t of the  principal clause, there  is only one 
way of rendering the sentences in Russian, nam ely К а к  жаль,что... . 
For example, the sentence I  wish I  had to ld  h im  about it  is 
translated  as К ак жаль, что я  не рассказал ему об этом.

It is necessary to point out th a t when the  verb in  th e  object clause 
is affirm ative in English, it  is negative in R ussian  and vice versa.
e.g. I wish I had to ld  him  th e  tru th . (Как ж аль, что я не сказал 

ему правды).
I wish I hadn’t  acted like th a t. (Как ж аль, что я так поступил.)

When the action of th e  subordinate clause follows th a t  of the p rin­
cipal clause, it is not necessary to  translate  th e  m odal verbs in to  R us­
sian; the  usual way of rendering such sentences is К ак бы мне хоте­
лось... .
e.g. I wish he would te ll  me everything. (К ак бы мне хотелось, чтобы 

он все мне рассказал.)
I wish I could (might) go round the w orld. (К ак  бы мне хотелось 

объехать весь мир.)
N o t e .  N otice th a t  I  wish you w o u ld + in fin itive  h a s  becom e a se t ph rase  

a n d  is an  eq u iv a len t of th e  Im p e ra tiv e  Mood; i t  is e m o tio n a lly  coloured.

e .g . 1 w ish  you w ould  keep q u ie t.
I w ish you w ould stop  it.

C om pare  i t  w ith  th e  R u ssian  Д а  перестань же ты, наконец.

§ 133. After the idiom atic phrase i t  is tim e  (also i t  is high time, it  
is  about time) we find the form of the  Past Indefin ite  (or the  form were).
e.g. “Now le t’s t a lk .” “ Y es,” she said quietly , “ i t ’s tim e we did, 

Am ie. ”
I t ’s high tim e we got rid of our old furniture.
I t ’s high tim e you were in bed too, my ch ild .
H e said: “ I t ’s tim e we ordered d inner.”

Clauses of this kind are usually  joined to  th e  p rincipal clause asyn- 
detically .

The rules of the sequence of tenses are not observed in th is kind of 
clauses.
e.g. I t ’s tim e we had lunch.

I t  was tim e we had lunch.

§ 134. After expressions of fear, such as to be a fra id , to be terrified , 
to be fearful, to be frightened, to be nervous, to be troubled, to be in terror, 
to fear, to tremble, to have apprehension and others, we com m only find
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the In d ica tiv e  Mood in the object clause. Care should be taken to  observe 
the rules of th e  sequence of tenses.
e.g. I am afra id  nothing has been done yet.

She was afra id  th a t he had seen her.
I was afra id  you were going to  strike him.

§ 135. O ccasionally  we also find m ay-\-in fin itive  in object clauses 
after expressions of fear. The rules of th e  sequence of tenses are also 
observed in  th is  case.

e.g. She’s a fra id  he may miss his only chance.
She was afra id  he m ight m iss his only chance.

B ut in  lite ra ry  style, object clauses are sometimes introduced by 
the  conjunction lest. In th is case shou ld+ in fin itive  (rarely the  Sub­
junctive Mood) is used in the object clause. The rules of the  sequence 
of tenses are n o t observed here.

e.g. They were terrified  lest someone should discover th e ir secret h id­
ing place.

An hour before his tra in  was due he began to  have apprehension 
lest he should  miss it.

He seemed nervous lest, in thus announcing his intentions, he 
should  be se tting  his grand-daughter a bad example.

§ 136. In  object clauses introduced by the  conjunctions i f  and whether 
after expressions of doubt and negative expressions we sometimes find 
the form were.

e.g. H e w ould wonder for a moment, looking into her shining eyes, 
i f  it  were true.

He d id  n o t ask himself i f  she were p re tty .
W hen th ey  were back in th e ir seats, Maurice asked Adeline i f  she 

were s t i ll  enjoying the  p lay .

Generally w e find th e  Indicative Mood in such clauses; the  use of 
the above m entioned form is characteristic of literary  style; it  is a sur­
vival of th e  o ld  use of the  Subjunctive Mood.

The Use of Form s E xpressing U n rea lity  
in  A ppositive  and  P re d ica tiv e  Clauses

§ 137. In  appositive  clauses which are usually introduced by the  
conjunction th a t  th e  use of different forms of the  predicate depends on 
the  lexical ch arac te r of th e  noun they modify.

As a rule, th e  Ind ica tive  Mood is found in this kind of clauses. The 
rules of th e  sequence of tenses are to be observed in th is case.
e.g. The idea th a t  he thought himself anything but in telligent was 

absurd.
He is under th e  impression th a t I am  hiding something from him.
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§ 138. B ut shou ld+ in fin itive  (or ra re ly  th e  Subjunctive M ood) 
is used in appositive clauses after nouns expressing order, suggestion , 
wish, agreement and decision, such as suggestion , proposal, dem and , 
order, request, requirement, recommendation, understanding, decision , 
agreement, atfs/i, desire, ambition and some others.

e.g. He told me of his desire th a t all should  be happy as long as i t  in ­
volved no inconvenience to  him self.

He had supported them  for years, bu t on the  understanding th a t  
they should live in Europe.

I ’m afraid y o u ’ll have to go to  h im  w ith  the  suggestion th a t  he 
dismiss th e  case.

There was no likelihood th a t anyone should be there.

The rules of th e  sequence of tenses are n o t observed in th is  case.

§ 139. The sam e rules hold good for p red icative clauses—g en era lly  
the Indicative Mood is used in them .

e.g. The question is how we are going to  find the  means to do it.
The fact was th a t I hardly knew w hat to  say.
The trouble is th a t he didn’t  find h im  in.

The rules of th e  sequence of tenses are observed in this case.

§ 140. B ut when the  subject of th e  p rincipal clause is expressed 
by one of such nouns as wish, suggestion, proposal, decision, a im , p la n ,  
idea, arrangement, condition, and some others, sh o u ld + in fin itiv e  is 
used in the subordinate clause. The ru les of the  sequence of tenses are 
not observed.

e.g. My suggestion is th a t as soon as th e  ra in  lets up we should go a long  
there and see w hat we can do.

His desire was th a t life should fa ll  in w ith  his own lim ited  b u t 
deliberate plans.

The Use of Form s Expressing U n re a li ty  in  A dverbial Clauses

§ 141. Forms expressing unreality  are found in clauses of pu rpose , 
in clauses of com parison, in clauses of concession and in both th e  p r in ­
cipal and th e  subordinate clause of a conditional sentence.

The Use of Form s E xpressing  U n re a lity  
in  Adverbial C lauses of Purpose

§ 142. An adverbial modifier of purpose is usually expressed by 
an infin itive when the agent of th a t in fin itiv e  is the  same as th e  su b jec t 
in the  sentence.
e.g. He said th a t  he was going out to  buy some stationary .

He went up to  his room to change.
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The infin itive m ay be sometimes (though not often) preceded by 
in  order or so as.
e.g . I had to keep d rink ing  coffee in order to stay  awake.

Y ou’d better w a it ou tside  so as to  be a t hand if I w ant you.

So as is more often used to  introduce a negative infinitive, 
e .g . She sat s till  so as n o t to  disturb the  dog.

§  143. A subord inate  clause of purpose is found when the  subject 
of th is  clause is not th e  sam e as the  subject of the  principal clause.

Clauses of purpose are  introduced by the  conjunction so that (some­
tim es that or in order th a t, bo th  of which are characteristic of literary  
s ty le , and so, w hich is colloquial). The predicate in these clauses is 
expressed by may o r can-\-in fin itive  and th e  rules of the  sequence 
of tenses are to  be observed in th is case.

e .g . As you go, leave th e  door open so that th e  light from the lamp 
may show you som e of the  way down.

She dressed quickly  for d inner so that she m ight see him the  sooner. 
Y ou’ll have to  come in to  the  hospital so tha t we can keep you 

under observation.
He slid out of bed, fe lt his way over to  th e  door of the  room, and 

opened it a l i t t le  so that he could hear w hat the  women were 
saying.

If the  verb in th e  su bord inate  clause is in th e  negative form, should 
-\-in fin itive  is preferred.
e .g . I stood up, my back tu rned  so that he should not see my face. 

“S it dow n,” he sa id , dropping his voice so tha t the two men in 
the  room should n o t hear.

In  literary  sty le  w e som etimes find clauses of purpose introduced 
b y  th e  conjunction lest (чтобы...не).1 In th is case shou ld+ in fin itive  
(ra re ly  the Subjunctive Mood) is used in the  subordinate clause. As 
th e  conjunction lest is negative in meaning, th e  verb is in the  affirm a­
t iv e  form.

e .g . An access of joy  m ade him  shut his eyes lest tears should flow 
from them . ( ...  чтобы из них не потекли слезы.)

Не withdrew  his eyes lest she should read them .
Lest he freeze, he w ore a ragged sweater over th e  ensemble.

The rules of the  sequence of tenses are not observed here.
N o t e  1. As th e  a c t io n  in  a d v e rb ia l clauses of p u rpose  a lw ays follow s th a t  of 

t h e  p rin c ip a l clause, can, m ay  a n d  should are never com bined  w ith  th e  perfect in ­
f in i t iv e .

1 T h is  co n ju n c tio n  sh o u ld  n o t b e  confused w ith  th e  hom onym ous co n ju n c tio n  
le s t w h ich  is used to  in tro d u c e  o b jec t clauses a fte r  ex p ressions of fear. T he la t te r  
i s  n o t  n eg ativ e  in m ean in g .
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N o t e  2 . Som etim es, though n o t o f ten , th e  In d ica tiv e  M ood ( th e  F u tu r e  In ­
d efin ite) is used  in  adv erb ia l clauses o f p u rp o se  in s tea d  of m odal p h ra ses .

e .g . I, too , w a n t to  liv e  in  London so tha t th e  ch ild ren  w ill h av e  so m eo n e  to  tu rn  
to  in  case  a n y th in g  should  happen to  th em .
She gave h im  th e  key so that he  w o u ld  lock th e  car.

The (Jse of Form s E xpressing  U n rea lity  
in  Adverbial C lauses o f Com parison

§ 144. In clauses of comparison introduced by th e  con junctions as 
i f  or as though we find the form of th e  P ast Indefinite including  th e  form 
were for all the persons or the P ast Perfect.

The form of the  Past Indefinite shows th a t the action of th e  subor­
d inate  clause is simultaneous w ith  th e  action of the  p rinc ipa l clause.
e.g . H e asked me the  question as if th e  answer were really  im p o rtan t 

to  him .
He looks as though he had p len ty  of determ ination.
They passed her in silence, w ith  th e ir  noses in the  a ir, as though 

she did not exist.
Her lips moved soundlessly, as if she were rehearsing.

N o t e .  In  con tem porary  E nglish  th e  form  were is som etim es re p la c e d  b y  was 
in  th e  1st a n d  3d persons singular.

e .g . H e  behaves a s  if  he  was th e  boss here.

The form of th e  Past Perfect shows th a t the  action of th e  su b o rd in a te  
clause precedes the  action of th e  p rincipal clause.
e.g. Bosinney gazed at him as though  he had not heard.

The dog rushed at me and licked m y hands in a frenzy of deligh t 
as if I had been away a long tim e.

He sounded breathless on th e  telephone as though he h ad  been 
running.

If the  action of the  subordinate clause follows the action of th e  p r in ­
cipal clause, would-\-infinitive  is used.
e.g. She sank back on her chair and leaning her head on her h an d s  be­

gan to  weep as though her heart would break.
She looked up at me defiantly as if she would turn  on me th a t  very 

m om ent.

The rules of the  sequence of tenses are not observed in th is  k in d  of 
clauses.

N o t e  1. Com pare complex sen ten ces w ith  a clause of com parison in  R u ss ia n  
an d  in  E n g lish .

e .g . Она смотрела на меня так , словно не у зн ав а л а  меня. She looked a t  m e  a s  if 
sh e  d id  n o t recognize me.

Он говорил о фильме так , будто о н  сам  его  видел. Н е spoke  of th e  f i lm  a s if  
h e  had  seen  it.

In  R u ssian  i t  is generally  necessary to  use  th e  c o rre la tiv e  так in  t h e  p r in c ip a l  
clause, w hereas in  E ng lish  i t  is not re q u ire d .

123



N o t e  2 . C lauses in tro d u c ed  by  as i f  an d  as though a re  to  be  trea te d  as 
p re d ic a t iv e  c lauses when th ey  fo llo w  th e  verbs to look, to sound, to feel.
e .g . A t f irs t  he  sounded a s  th o u g h  he were try ing  to  av o id  a  scene.

S h e  w as  so ill th a t  for d a y s  i t  looked  as if she  w ould  die.
T h e  m an  looked as th o u g h  h e  h a d  once been a m iner.

T he Use of Form s E xpressing  U nreality  in Complex Sentences 
w ith  a  S u b o rd in a te  Clause of C ondition

§  145. Complex sentences w ith  a subordinate clause of condition 
(cond itional sentences)1 m ay be divided into two groups: sentences oi 
rea l condition and sentences of unreal condition.

In  s e n t e n c e s  o f  r e a l  c o n d i t i o n  we find the  Indic­
a t iv e  Mood. They usually  refer to  the future, so the  F uture tense is 
used  in the  principal clause and the  Present tense in the if-clause.
e .g . If you continue in th is  w ay you’ll break your m other’s heart. 

You w on’t  be believed if you tell the tru th .

Sentences of real condition  m ay also refer to  the  present or past, 
th o u g h  not very often.
e .g . I always lose money if I bet.

In the  evenings we played chess or strolled about if it  was fine.

I t  should be noted th a t  sentences of the la tte r kind express regu­
la r ly  occurring actions.

Clauses of condition are  usually  joined to  the  principal clause by 
m eans of the  conjunction i f  and are therefore called i f • с I a u s e s. 
T h ere  are o ther conjunctions w hich serve to introduce clauses of condi­
t io n , b u t their use is not so com m on. They are: unless, in  case, supposing 
( suppose)  that, providing (provided)  that, on condition that.

N o t e .  I f  has th e  m o st g en era l m eaning  of a ll th e  co n ju n c tio n s in tro d u c in g  
c la u s e s  o f c o n d itio n . I ts  use is  n o t  re s tr ic te d  in  any  w ay , w hereas a ll  th e  o th e r con­
ju n c t io n s  a re  lim ite d  in  th e ir  a p p lic a t io n  e ith e r for sem an tic  o r s ty l is tic  reasons. 
R o u g h ly  unless m eans i f ...n o t.  H ow ever, there is a s lig h t d ifference betw een them  in  
t h a t  unless  has th e  m ore e x c lu s iv e  m ea n in g  of only if ...n o t от except on condition that. 
T h e  m o st a d eq u a te  way of re n d e r in g  th is  conjunction  in  R u ssian  is если только не.
e .g .  W e n ev er p a r t  w ith  th in g s , y o u  know , unless we w a n t so m e th in g  in  th e ir  place. 

“ D oes th e  professor k n o w ?”  “ N o . A nd he w o n 't  un less i t  is a b so lu te ly  n ecessa ry .”

W h ile  i f . . .n o t  can  be used  in s te a d  of unless, though  th e  c lau se  w ill be de> 
p r iv e d  o f th e  above  m en tio n ed  sp e c if ic  shade of m eaning, unless  c an n o t a lw ays serve 
a s  a s u b s t i tu te  for if...n o t. F o r  e x am p le , unless canno t be  used in  th e  fo llow ing  se n t­
e n ce :

e .g . I f  y o u r w ife doesn ’t  lik e  th e  r in g , I ’ ll be happy  to  ex change  i t  any  tim e .

In  case a lso  has a sp ec ific  sh a d e  of m eaning im p ly in g  p u rpose  as w ell as condi» 
t io n .  I t  sh o u ld  be rendered  in  R u ss ia n  a s  на тот случай, если.

1 In  c o n d itio n a l sen ten ces fo rm s expressing  u n re a lity  a re  used  in  b o th  th e  p rin ­
c ip a l  c la u se  an d  in th e  su b o rd in a te  c la u se  (the if-clause), w hereas in  a ll  th e  p rev iously  
d e sc rib e d  ty p es  of sen tences fo rm s expressing  u n re a lity  a re  fo u n d  o n ly  in  su b o rd i­
n a t e  c lau ses .
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e .g . I ’d lik e  th e  doctor h an d y  m  case she feels worse.
I ’ve  m ade  provision in case a n y th in g  happens to  m e.

Supposing (tha t)  an d  suppose (th a t)  preserve th e  m e a n in g  of su p p o sitio n  a s  
th e ir  o rig in  from th e  verb  to suppose is s t i l l  fe lt s tro n g ly . T h ey  a re  best of a ll ren ­
d ered  in  R ussian  by m eans o f предположим and  a re  fo u n d  in  th e  fo llo w in g  k inds of 
sentences:
e .g . Suppose he doesn’t  tu rn  u p , w h a t sha ll we do?

W h a t w ill his uncle  th in k  of h im , supposing i t ’s  tru e?

Providing (tha t)  an d  provided (th a t)  are ra th e r  n a rro w  in  m ean in g  in d ic a tin g  
a fav o u rab le  and  desirab le  c o n d itio n , w hich  is e x p la in ed  b y  th e ir  connection  w ith  
th e  verb  to provide.

B esides, th ey  a re  ra th e r  form al s ty lis tic a lly , b e in g  m o re  ty p ic a l  of official do ­
c u m en ts . T he closest R u ss ian  eq u iv a len ts  are если, при наличии, при условии.
e .g . B u t so long as a F o rsy te  g o t w h a t he  was a fte r, he  w as n o t  too  p a r tic u la r  a b o u t 

th e  m eans, provided ap p earan ces w ere saved.
W e a re  prepared  to  s ig n  th e  ag reem en t p rov id ing  th a t  y o u  g u a ran tee  th e  h igh  

q u a lity  of th e  goods.

On condition (th a t)  is a lso  connected  w ith  i ts  o r ig in a l m ea n in g  (при условии) 
a n d  a t  th e  sam e tim e  i t  is re s tr ic te d  s ty lis tic a lly , b e in g  m ore  fo rm al th a n  if.
e .g . I w ill agree to  th is  y e a r ’s  bu d g e t on condition  th a t  w e d ro p  th is  foreign  b u si­

n ess in  fu tu re .

A ll these  con junctions m ay  be used in  sentences of re a l a s  w ell a s  unreal con­
d itio n .

§ 146. In sentences of unreal condition we find forms expressing 
unreality : the form of the  Past Indefinite or the  P ast Perfect is used in 
the  if-clause, and the Conditional Mood (Present and  Past) is used in 
th e  principal clause.

The action of the if-clause is represented by th e  speaker as contra­
d icting  reality; consequently th e  action of the  p rincipa l clause, which 
depends on th is unreal condition, cannot be realized either.

W hen a sentence of unreal condition refers to  th e  present or future, 
the  form of the Past Indefin ite is used in the  if-clause and the  Present 
Conditional Mood in the  principal clause.

e.g. If the hospital were no t so overcrowded, he sa id , he would recom­
mend that she should be taken there.

You ought to know your uncle by th is tim e. H e ’s ju s t like a child.
H e’d be a pauper tomorrow if I d idn’t  see to  things.

How nice it would be for Mother if we had a car.

W hen a sentence of unreal condition refers to  th e  past, we find the  
form of the Past Perfect in  the if-clause and th e  P as t Conditional Mood 
in the  principal clause.

e.g. I t  would have been too wonderful if he had said th a t .  But he d id n ’t. 
Of course, all th is w ouldn’t  have happened if th e  girl had n ’t  been 

so excited.
I should have been sorry if I hadn’t  spoken.

§ 147. Notice the  following construction w hich m ay be used w ith  
reference either to  the  present o r to  the  past.
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e.g. “O h ,” M aurice went on, “ if i t  weren’t  for my m other I should be 
unhappy  a t hom e.”

“Mrs D avidson was saying she d id n ’t  know how th e y ’d have got 
th rough  th e  journey if it  had n ’t  been for u s ,” she said.

If i t  were no t for his friend Crowdy, he would be in financial diffi­
culties.

§ 148. The if-clause and the  principal clause need not necessarily 
refer to  th e  sam e tim e: the if-clause m ay refer to  the present and future 
and the  p rincipal clause may refer to the  past and vice versa. Sentences 
of th is kind are  called a s p l i t  c o n d i t i o n .
e.g. If you were not so indifferent to him  you would have noticed th a t 

th ere  was som ething happening to  him.
Dear S ir, I should not have requested an interview unless the  m at­

te r  were of v ita l importance.
You m ust rem em ber if Mr Reed h adn’t taken me out of th e  drawing 

office, I should be there now getting  two pounds a week.
It would be strange indeed, if, after sitting  on thirty-seven Royal 

Commissions, mostly as chairm an, I had not mastered the  art 
of pub lic  expression.

§ 149. Sentences of unreal condition referring to  the  fu ture may be 
of four ty p es:1

1) The first ty p e  has already been described—the form of the  Past 
Indefin ite is used in the if-clause and the  Present Conditional Mood in 
the principal clause.
e.g. H alf of th e  people would d istrust you if you went away a t such a 

m om ent.
If we allow ed him  to  go on w ith  his experiments we would never 

have any peace.

The action  is represented in such sentences as contradicting rea lity — 
the  speaker does not believe th a t it can be realized in the  future.

2) As th e  above type of conditional sentences may refer to  both the 
present and th e  future, there is a strong tendency in English to  use 
another ty p e  w hich is unam biguous, in order to  show th a t the  action 
refers only to  th e  fu ture and not to  the present.

In th is ty p e  of conditional sentences we find the form were of the 
modal verb to be to  followed by the in fin itive in the if-clause. In the 
principal c lause th e  Conditional Mood is used.
e.g. M other w ould resist it b itte rly  if I were to ask for breakfast at 

th is  hour.
If we were to  take th is man in hand for three months he would 

become as soft as wax.

1 C o n d itio n a l sen ten ces re fe rrin g  to  th e  fu tu re , n o  m atte r  w h a t form s of th e  
verb  a re  used  in  th e m , a re  a lw ays h y p o th e tica l, because one can  nev er be  su re  of 
th e  a c tu a l co u rse  of ev en ts  in  th e  fu tu re . B u t th ese  fu tu re  actions m ay  be re p re se n t­
ed d iffe re n tly  b y  th e  speak er: e ith e r as a n  a c tu a l fact (when th e  In d ic a tiv e  M ood 
is used) o r as a c t io n s  c o n tra d ic tin g  re a l i ty  or p ro b lem atic  actions (for th is  see  §149).
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If young Adeline were to occupy th e  room  it would look so d iffe r­
ent.

If Meg were to  repay you the fifteen dollars you lent her, w h a t 
would you do w ith the money?

He had lately  thought much about w ha t he would do if he w ere 
to m eet them .

This second ty p e  differs from the  firs t ty p e  in th a t it  em phasizes 
the ten ta tive  (предположительный) charac te r of the  condition.

3) S h o u ld + in fin itive  is used in the if-clause and the F u tu re  In d e f­
in ite of the Indicative Mood in the p rincipa l clause.
e.g. I don’t  expect any telephone calls to n ig h t. But if anyone sh o u ld  

ca ll, the  b u tle r w ill say I ’ve gone on  a v isit to  some of my re la ­
tives.

If the o ther conclusion should be correct the  slight loss of t im e  
w ill make no difference.

If you should be at any future tim e  en trusted  w ith  the  com m and 
of th is  expedition you w ill no doub t give effect to  your ow n 
views and moral standards.

The Im perative Mood may also be used in the  principal clause.

e.g. B etter employ a solicitor, Sir, in  case anything should arise .
If she should leave, keep an eye on her.

This th ird  type of conditional sentences referring to  the fu tu re  d if ­
fers from the  first two types in th a t it shows th a t the  realization of th e  
action is represented as possible though un likely  (but not co n trad ic tin g  
reality  as in the  first two types). The if-clause of the  th ird  ty p e  m ay  be 
rendered in Russian as Если кто-нибудь случайно позвонит..., Е сли  
так случится, что кто-нибудь случайно позвонит..., Если вдруг кт о- 
нибудь позвонит... . We may say th a t  th e  realization of th e  a c tio n  
depends on some contingency.

In th is type of sentences the clause of condition  is ra ther often in tro ­
duced by the  conjunction in case.

e.g. I ’ll let you know in case there should  be some unavoidable d e lay . 
I ’ll be at the  fla t all evening in case you should change your m in d .

The clause of condition introduced by th is  conjunction acquires th e  
meaning of на тот случай, если; в случае если.

4) Sometimes w ould+ in fin itive  is used in the if-clause and  th e  
Present Conditional Mood in the p rincipa l clause.

e.g. If he would only trust me, we w ould get on much better.
I ’d love it  if you would ca ll me E liza .

W o u ld + in fin itive  expresses consent o r willingness (= Е с л и  бы вы 
согласились..., Если бы вы захотели...).

A sentence of th is  type is often a cond itional sentence only in  fo rm ; 
it is actually  a po lite  request (see the  last exam ple above).
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§ 150. The m odal verbs can and may may also be found in conditional 
sentences. If they occur in if-clauses referring to  the  present or future, 
th ey  have th e  past form .
e.g. If I could be a w rite r I should write detective stories.

His bedroom is very  cold. If I m ight move him  into your study he 
would feel m ore cheerful there.

In  the  principal c lause we generally use th e  Conditional Mood. But 
as can and may are defective verbs and cannot be used in the  Conditional 
Mood, the  P ast tense of these verbs is used in com bination w ith  the 
sim ple infin itive to  refer th e  action to  the present or future.
e .g . I could try  to  m ake th e  place comfortable w ith  more heart if the  

sun were shining.
If you had any office tra in ing  it m ight be possible to  use you up 

here.

W hen reference is m ade to  the past, could and m ight are combined 
w ith  the perfect in fin itiv e  (both in  th e  if-clause and in the  principal 
clause).
e .g . Yet if she could have  seen me there, she would have been a little  

puzzled.
If I had n ’t been th e re  something very unpleasant m ight have hap­

pened to  him .

§ 151. A clause of unreal condition may be joined to  the  principal 
c lause asyndetically . In  th a t  case it  always precedes the  principal clause 
and  we find inversion in  th e  subordinate clause—th e  auxiliary  verb 
is placed before th e  subject.
e.g . Had Irene been p resen t, the  family circle would have been com plete. 

Should you w ant to  do so you can w ithdraw  your money a t any 
tim e.

As is seen from th e  above examples, asyndetic connection is possible 
on ly  when the  p red icate  of th e  subordinate clause is an analytical form 
(or a modal phrase). T his construction is em phatic and characteristic 
o n ly  of literary  sty le .

The Use of F orm s E xpressing U n reality  in  C om plex Sen tences 
w i th  A dverb ial Clauses of C oncession

§ 152. Complex sentences w ith  a clause of concession introduced 
by  the  conjunction even i f  o r even though are bu ilt up on the  same 
p a tte rn  as sentences of unreal condition—th e  form of the Past Indefi­
n i te  or the  Past Perfect is used in the subordinate clause and th e  Con­
d itiona l Mood, P resent o r P ast, in the principal clause.
e .g . But even if you were righ t, I should be prepared for any conting­

ency.
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Even if I had been a stranger he would have talked of h is m isfor­
tune.

N o t e .  In  com plex  sentences w ith  a c la u se  of concession in tro d u c ed  b y  though, 
although, whoever, whichever, whatever, whenever, however, wherever, no m a tte r  how 
th e  In d ica tiv e  M ood is used in  both  c lau ses.

e.g . A nd w hen w e s e ttle  down, w herever i t  is, y o u ’l l  have a g a rden , C h r is .

In  lite ra ry  s ty le  may (m igh t)-]-in fin itive  is occasionally  used in  c lau ses 
of concession to  lay  stress on th e  m ean in g  o f su p p o s itio n .

e.g . W h atev e r h is  in v ita tio n  m ay  m ean , I ’m  g o ing  to  accept it.
H e sa id  he w ould  be glad to  fu lfil th e  co n d itio n s  w hatever th ey  m ig h t  be.

The Use of Form s E xpressing  U nreality  
in a  Special Type of E xclam ato ry  Sentences

§ 153. The form of the P a s t  I n d e f i n i t e  including th e  form 
were is used in the  following ty p e  of exclam atory sentences to  express 
a w i s h  w h i c h  c a n n o t  b e  f u l f i l l e d .
e.g. Oh, if only Daddy were home!

Oh, if only I knew what to  do!
In the above examples reference is m ade to  the present. W ith  refer­

ence to  the  past the  form of th e  P a s t  P e r f e c t  is used.
e.g. Oh, if only he had given me a chance!

When the sentence refers to  the  fu ture we find w o u ld + in fin itiv e  
or could-\-infinitive.
e.g. If it  would only stop raining for a single day!

Oh, if only you would see a doctor!
If only th e ir life together could alw ays be like this!

Sentences of th is  kind are very em phatic and restric ted  to  spoken 
English.

Free Use of Forms Expressing Unreality

§ 154. The choice of forms expressing unreality  which has been  des­
cribed above depends on certain k inds of clauses and som etim es on the 
lexical character of the verb in th e  principal clause. H owever, ce rta in  
forms expressing unreality  may be used freely, independent of a n y  p a r ti­
cular sentence pattern . They are opposed to  the  Ind ica tive  M ood and 
their choice is determined by th e  speaker’s a ttitu d e  tow ards th e  action 
in question.

§ 155. If an action is represented as an actual fact, th e  In d ica tiv e  
Mood is used. B ut if it is dependent on some implied unreal co n d itio n  
(i.e. an unreal condition which is n o t expressed by an if-clause b u t un­
derstood from the  sentence or th e  con tex t), the  Conditional Mood is used 
to  represent the  action as contrad icting  reality . This use of th e  C ondi­
tional Mood is often found in sim ple sentences.

The Present Conditional Mood is used w ith  reference to  th e  presen t 
or future.
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e.g . “Are you intending to  m arry  her? I think it would be very unwise. 
She would be a load on y o u .” (The im plied condition is “if you 
married her” .)

I w ouldn’t sell the p ic tu re  for ten thousand dollars. It would be 
a crime to sell such a picture.

I th ink  it would be a very bad precedent to  let him  cut the  end 
of term .

W hen .the situation  refers to  th e  past, the P ast Conditional Mood is 
used .
e .g . Tw enty years ago I would have strongly disapproved of you. (The 

im plied condition is “ if it had been twenty years ag o .”)
H e would have said a great deal more, but he was tired.
She’s a different wom an now. 1 should never have thought it pos­

sible.

§  156. The modal verbs can and may, which, as is known, cannot 
h av e  analytical forms, are used in the form of the Past tense to express 
u n re a lity . W ith reference to  th e  present or future, they are followed 
b y  a sim ple infinitive.
e .g . H e ’s never asked m e about it though he knows I could never tell 

him  a lie.
W ith  his office tra in in g  he m ight find a job w ith  us.

W hen reference is m ade to  th e  past, could and m ight are combined 
w ith  a perfect infinitive.
e .g . There was a wonderful concert at the V ictoria H all we could have 

gone to. But we missed it.
W hy on earth d id n ’t  he send to  say that he was ill? We m ight have 

helped him.

§ 157. Sometimes the  unreal condition is not merely implied but 
ac tu a lly  expressed in the  sentence by means of a special adverbial mo­
d ifie r  of condition.
e .g . B u t for you, I would give up everything.

I ’d never have got a job like that off my hands but for your help.

B u t  for... is rendered in Russian as если бы не... .

§  158. The Conditional Mood and the forms could and m ight are 
used not only in simple sentences but also in any kind of clauses w ith 
im p lied  condition, for exam ple, in a ttribu tive  clauses, in object clauses, 
in  adverb ia l clauses, etc. They are also found in the  principal clause of 
a com plex sentence.
e .g . And yet Butler was th e  last m an in the world w ith  whom you would 

have associated rom ance.
I know he wouldn’t have enjoyed Le R oy’s story.
To his surprise Mrs G arnet was not so much opposed to  the notion 

as he would have expected.
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In the  old days she would have tried to m ake h im  see why she had 
done it.

§ 159. Sometimes the  Conditional Mood and the  forms could and might 
are found in sentences w ithout implied condition. T heir use in th is 
case differs from the use of the Indicative Mood only  s ty lis tica lly —they 
serve to  lend the sentence a m ilder and more p o lite  shade of meaning, 
the  Past Conditional expressing the  highest degree of politeness.
e .g . .“How long did you w a it?” “ I would say a good five m inutes.”

Ask Miss Thompson when it would be convenient to  see her.
“ I suppose I ’m prepared to  accept their o ffe r .” “ 1 should think 

you a re .”
W hy, I should have thought there could be no tw o answers to  th a t.
I should have said he is nothing out of th e  ord inary .
Do you know W alter Gray? Could you w rite  to  him?

Compare it w ith the  sim ilar use of the  Subjunctive Mood in Russian: 
Я  бы сказал , Я  бы считал... , Не могли ли  бы вы... .

This function of the Conditional Mood and of th e  forms could and might 
plays an im portant role in spoken English.

§ 160. There are a few other modal verbs and set phrases which are 
the Subjunctive Mood or the Conditional Mood on ly  by origin. Now 
they have ceased to express unreality . They are th e  modal verbs should 
and ought to and the set phrases had better, would rather, would sooner, 
should (would) like.
e.g. D on’t, you th ink Sybill ought to have her to n sils  seen to?

“W ill you do i t? ” she asked him in an uneasy tone. “Oh, I ’d much 
ra ther you did i t , ” he said.

She decided that they had better stay  in town for another week.
“ I should’t like to  have a nature like yours, A lec ,” his wife said.
She should be pleased w ith what she has.

N o t e .  N otice th a t  in  ob jec t c lau ses a fte r  w o u ld (’d ) rather th e  sam e form s 
are  used a s  a fte r th e  verb  wish.
e .g . H e ’d ra th e r  they  le ft him  alone.

I 'd  ra th e r  he h a d n ’t  spoken in th a t  a b ru p t m anner.

The above modal verbs and set phrases do not express actions depend­
ing on some unreal condition. They merely lend th e  sentence a m ilder 
and more polite shade of meaning.

Traditional Use of Forms Expressing Unreality

§ 161. The Subjunctive Mood and the form were m ay be found in 
sim ple sentences. Their use in th is case is based on trad ition .

The Subjunctive Mood is now only found in a few set phrases which 
are a survival of the old use of th is mood. New sentences cannot be 
formed on this pattern .

a) The Subjunctive Mood serves to  express w ish in the following 
kinds of sentences.
9* 131



e.g. Long live  th e  forces of peace!
Success a tten d  you!
Be ours a happy meeting!
God bless you.
Heaven forbid.

N o t e .  W e a lso  fin d  m ay-\-in fin itive  in  sen tences of th is  k ind .

e .g . M ay success a tte n d  you!
M ay o u rs  b e  a h a p p y  m eeting.

b) The S ub junctive Mood serves to  express concession in th e  follow­
ing sentences w hich can be trea ted  as set phrases in modern English.
e.g. So be it .  (Д а будет так.)

Come w hat w ill. (Будь, что будет.)
N o t e .  W e so m e tim es  find  m a y+ in fin itiv e  and  let-\-in fin itive  in  sentences 

of th is  k in d .
e .g . H ap p en  w h a t  m a y ...  (Ч то случится , то  с л у ч и тся ..., что будет, то  будет...) 

Be th is  ( th a t)  a s  i t  m a y ... (К а к  бы то ни бы ло...)
L et i t  be  so . (П усть будет так .)

c) The S u b junc tive  Mood is found in the  expressions Su ffice  to say 
tha t... (Достаточно сказать, что...) and Far be it  from me... (Я далек 
от того, чтобы...).
e.g. Far be it  from  me to  contradict you.

d) The S ub junctive Mood is also used in certain im precations, 
e.g. Manners be hanged. (К черту хорошие манеры.)

e) The form ’’ were is found in the  set phrase as it  were (так сказать, 
как бы) w hich is used parenthetically.
e.g. Her p o rtra it had been, as it  were, stam ped on his heart.

They w ere silen t and, as i t  were, oppressed.

f) W ould-^-in fin itive  is found in as luck would have it  (по счаст­
ливому стечению обстоятельств) or as i l l  luck would have i t  (на 
беду, как на зло).
e.g. As luck would have it, I was invited for th a t night.

The Tenses of the Forms Expressing Unreality (Sum m ary)

§ 162. As can  be seen from the  above description, not all the  forms 
of unreality  can express tense distinctions. Thus the Subjunctive Mood 
and the  m odal phrases should (for all persons) -{-infinitive  and would 
(for all p trso n s)+ ln fin itio e  have no tense distinctions. They are used 
only in certa in  types of subordinate clauses and generally show that 
the  action of th a t  clause follows th e  action of the principal clause, i.e. 
they express tim e  relatively.
e.g. I suggest(ed) th a t  he take up the m atter.

I t  is (was) im portan t th a t he should accept the offer.
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I wish(ed) he would agree to  see me.

Since these forms have no tense d istinctions th e  rules of the  sequence 
of tenses are not observed here.

Tense distinctions are expressed only by th e  forms of the C onditional 
Mood (which has two tenses—Present and P ast) and also by the  use of 
the forms of th e  P ast Indefinite and th e  P ast Perfect.

The Present Conditional Mood and th e  form of the Past Ind efin ite  
(also the form were for all persons singular) serve to  refer an action  to  
the present or the  fu ture when they are used in  complex sentences w ith  a 
clause of condition (or a clause of concession introduced by even i f  
or even though)/

e.g. If I had tim e I should go on a short holiday.
If he were younger he would go on an expedition again.
Even if he knew about it he w ouldn’t  te l l  us.

The Past Conditional Mood and the  form of the  Past Perfect serve 
to  refer an action to  the  past in the  sam e kinds of clauses.

e.g. If I had had tim e I should have gone on a short holiday.
If he had been younger he would have gone on an expedition again . 
Even if he had known it he w ouldn’t  have told us.

The Present Conditional Mood is used w ith  reference to  the presen t 
or future also in sim ple sentences w ith  im plied condition, w hile  th e  
Past Conditional refers an action to  the  past.

e.g. It would no t be possible to  decide any th ing  w ithout him.
It would no t have been possible to  decide anything w ithou t h im .

In all those cases the  tenses are used abso lu tely , i.e. they refer an  
action directly to  the  present, the  past or th e  future.

The same is tru e  of the modal verb were to-\-in fin itive  w hich  is 
used only in if-clauses and refers an action  of th a t clause to  th e  fu tu re .

e.g. If everybody were to be brought up differently , would th e  w orld  
not change?

But when all the  forms, which in th e  above described cases exp ress 
tim e relations absolutely, are used in o ther subordinate clauses, th e y  
become relative tenses, i.e. they express th e  tim e w ith regard to  th e  
action of the principal clause. The Present Conditional Mood and  th e  
form of the P ast Indefin ite indicate th a t  th e  action of the  su b o rd in a te  
clause is sim ultaneous w ith  th a t of th e  p rincipa l clause or follows i t .

e.g. They say (said) it would be im possible to  decide anything w ith o u t 
him.

I wish(ed) I knew it.

The Past Conditional Mood and th e  form  of the  Past Perfect show  
that the  action of th e  subordinate clause precedes th a t of the  p rin c ip a l 
clause.
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e.g. They say (said) it  would have been impossible to  decide anything 
w ithout him.

I wish(cd) I had known it.

It should be remembered th a t the tenses in sentences of unreal con­
dition are also used re la tive ly  in reported speech.
e.g. He says (said) th a t  if he had time he would go on a short holiday.

H e says (said) th a t  if he had had tim e he would have gone on a short 
holiday.

As is seen from th e  examples, the rules of the  sequence of tenses 
are not observed w ith  any of the  above m entioned forms expressing 
unreality .

Things are d ifferent, however, w ith th e  forms can (m a y )-^ in fin ­
itiv e  used to  express problem atic actions. Can is found in clauses of 
purpose, may—in clauses of purpose and in object clauses after expres­
sions of fear in the  p rincipal clause.
e.g. On Sundays we alw ays go outing so th a t the  children can (may) 

spend th e  day in  the  open air.
I am afraid th a t  he m ay get angry w ith  me.

The forms can (m ay)-{-in fin itive  are in the Indicative Mood here, 
so the rules of the sequence of tenses should be observed.
e.g. On Sundays we alw ays went outing so th a t the  children could (might) 

spend the  day in  the  open air.
I was afraid th a t  he m ight get angry w ith  me.

V E R B A L S (N O N -F IN IT E  FORMS O F  T H E  V ERB)

§ 163. There are th ree  verbals in English: the  infinitive, the  ing- 
form and the  partic ip le .

The infin itive is a p la in  verb stem which is usually  preceded by the 
unstressed partic le  to, e.g . to take. In addition  to  the sim ple form, 
th e  in fin itive has the  follow ing analytical forms: continuous— to be taking, 
perfect— to have taken, perfect continuous— to have been taking , sim ­
p le  passive—to be taken, perfect passive— to have been taken.

The wg-form is b u ilt up by adding the su ffix -in g  to  the stem of the 
verb , e.g. to take— taking  (for spelling rules see “V erbs”, § 11).

The ing-form also has analy tical forms: perfect—having taken , pas­
s iv e—being taken, perfect passive—having been taken.

The partic ip le of regu lar verbs is formed by adding the  suffix -ed 
to  th e  stem (for spelling  rules and the pronunciation of the  suffix see 
“V erbs” , § 5). The p a rtic ip le  of irregular verbs may be formed in differ­
en t ways (see “V erbs” , § 5 and Appendix I).

The partic ip le has on ly  one form—it is invariable.
§  164. The verbals a re  forms of the verb, but they have peculiarities 

of th e ir own. In order to  understand the natu re of the  verbals, it is ne­
cessary to  compare them  w ith  the  finite forms of the  verb and bring 
o u t points of s im ila rity  as well as points of difference between them .
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As the  in fin itive and the tog-form have m any features in  com m on 
they will be compared w ith the finite forms together.

The participle, which differs from both  these forms considerably, 
will be compared w ith  the  finite forms separate ly .

The Infinitive and the  Ing-form

§ 165. The in fin itive  and the tTig-form have  th e  same lexical m eaning 
as the  finite forms of the  corresponding verb .

But the two verbals correspond to  the  fin ite  forms only p artly  w ith  
regard to  their gram m atical categories.

1) The infin itive and the ing-form lack th e  forms of person and n u m ­
ber characteristic of the  finite forms.

2) Mood can be expressed only by th e  fin ite  forms.
It should be pointed out, however, th a t  a lthough the in fin itive  has 

no special mood forms and cannot represent an action either as a real 
fact or as som ething unreal, it may in som e functions express ce rta in  
modal meanings—necessity, possibility, purpose:
e.g. a) n e c e s s i t  y— I ’ve got som ething dreadful to te ll you.

b) p o s s i b i l i t  y— I had nobody to  ta lk  to.
c) p u r  p o s e— I ’m going upstairs to  pack my things.

The perfect in fin itive , in com bination w ith  some modal verbs, m ay 
sometimes show th a t its  action was not realized in  the  past.
e.g. They should have told him about it.

3) Like the  fin ite  forms, they have ac tiv e  and passive forms, e .g . 
to take— to be taken , taking— being taken .

Like the fin ite  forms, the infin itive and th e  m g-form  can express 
time, e.g. to take— to have taken, taking— having  taken.

Yet, the  two verbals differ considerably from the  finite verbs in  
this respect. The fin ite  verbs generally express tim e absolutely, i .e . 
they refer an action to  the  present, the past o r th e  fu ture (e.g. He know s 
English. He knew English. He will know E nglish). The verbals express 
tim e relatively, i.e. in relation to the  action  of the  predicate verb  in  
the  sentence. The action expressed by th e  verbals may be s im u lta ­
neous w ith the action.expressed by the  p red icate  verb (a), precede i t  (b) 
or follow it (c).1
e.g. a) He seemed to know all about it.

Roger was at home working on his speech.
b) He seemed to  have guessed the tru th .

Having looked at his watch he closed th e  book and put it  on th e  
shelf.

c) He was ready to assist them .
One afternoon, about half past five, when Thomas was coun ting  

on working for an hour or two m ore, th e  telephone rang.

1 I t  is t ru e  th a t  th e  f in ite  form s m ay also  ex p ress  t im e  re la tiv e ly , b u t t h a t  o c c u rs  
o n ly  in c e rta in  sen ten ce  p a tte rn s .
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Besides, the  sim p le  forms of the verbals them selves are capable of 
expressing all kinds of tim e relations. The various tim e relations they 
express depend on th e  lexical character of the  verb and on the context.

The infin itive tends to  express an action following th a t of the pre­
dicate verb (a), b u t it  m ay also denote an action simultaneous w ith  it  
(b). I t  is true th a t th e  sim ple form of the in fin itive does not often express 
an  action th a t precedes the  action of the predicate verb verb (c).
e.g. a) He fe lt a quick  im pulse to call the  boy back.

b) She was adm iring  his ab ility  to concentrate on any task.
c) Sylvia was g lad  to  run across her old schoolmate.

The ¿/tg-form tends to  express actions sim ultaneous w ith th a t of the 
predicate verb (a). B u t it is also extensively used to  express priority  
(b) and, sometimes, an  action following th a t of th e  predicate verb (c).
e.g. a) This S atu rday  afternoon Henry, home from his office, sa t at 

his study  tab le , drawing cats on the  blotter, waiting for 
his wife to  come back from a lunch.

b) I remembered hearing my aunt te lling  me in my childhood th a t
great men never cared for fla tte ry .1

c) She insisted on com ing w ith me but I finally  managed to  ta lk
her out of i t .

The tim e re la tions expressed by the passive forms are the sam e as 
those of the corresponding active forms.

On the  whole it should be noted that it is the  sim ple form of the 
verbals that is in ex tensive use in English. The analytical mg-forms are 
infrequent in general. The different analytical forms of the infinitive 
are commonly used on ly  w ith  modal verbs (in some of their meanings).
e.g. He must be happy now.

He must be sleeping.
He must have misunderstood you.
He must have been w aiting  for you.
The experim ent m ust be finished already.
The experim ent m ust have been carried o u t by now.

The analytical forms of the  infinitive are also found after certain 
verbs, e.g. to seem, to appear, to happen and some others. But even in 
these cases it is th e  sim ple infinitive th a t is m ostly required by the  
situation  (see “V erbs” , § 184).

The continuous in fin itiv e  is generally used only to  emphasize the 
idea of duration, of process and make the  statem ent more vivid, more 
expressive. A sim ple in fin itive  is often possible in the  same sentence.
e.g. It was pleasant to  be driv ing the car again.

I 'm  not a m an to  be talk ing  of what does not concern me.

It would be possible to  use the simple forms “ to d rive” and “to  ta lk ” 
in  the above exam ples.

1 A lthough th e  a c t io n  “ h e a r in g ”  precedes th e  ac tio n  of th e  p red ica te  v e rb  “ re­
m em b ered ” , th e  use  of th e  p e rfec t /ng-form  is a ra re  ex cep tio n  in  such a case.
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The perfect continuous infinitive is m ain ly  found after ce rta in  m o­
dal verbs and also after the verbs to seem , to appear, to happen  and 
some others. It shows that the action of th e  infin itive began before th e  
tim e indicated by the  finite verb and is s t i ll  going on.
e.g. He must have been feeling all along th a t  there was som eth ing  

strange about the whole affair.
They seemed to have been getting  on a b it better.

The forms of th e  two verbals are sum m ed up in the following tab les:
The In fin itiv e

Active Passive

Simple to take to  be taken

Perfect to  have taken to  have been taken

Continuous to  be tak in g

Perfect Continuous to  have been tak in g

T he In g - fo rm

Active Passive

Simple taking being taken

Perfect having taken having been tak en

§ 166. The in fin itive and the m g-form  also differ from th e  f in ite  
verbs w ith regard to  the subject of th e ir  ac tion . Like the fin ite  form s, 
they are always associated with a subject b u t the  way their su b jec t is 
expressed differs greatly  from th a t of th e  fin ite  forms.

Since the fin ite forms have the function of the  predicate in th e  s e n t­
ence, it stands to  reason that their subject is always the g ram m atica l 
subject of the sentence. But the subject of th e  verbals may be expressed 
in different ways.

In a num ber of functions the subject of th e  verbals is th e  sam e as 
the subject of the  sentence and, consequently , of the fin ite  verb .
e.g He struggled to  find the first words of his story.

She w asn’t  used to  being m iserable w ith o u t doing som ething about 
it.
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But in certain o th er functions the subject of th e  verbal is frequently 
expressed by some secondary parts of the sentence.
e .g . He gave her perm ission to leave.

Seeing you there, by th e  door, made me remember what I had to 
do.

For the most p art she was silent, the effort of speaking was too 
much for her.

Moreover, the  sub ject of the  infinitive and the  mg-form may be 
found in a neighbouring clause or even in a different sentence.
e .g . She told him  w hat a wonderful place it  was to  take her to.

There was a vast useless stretch  of tim e to f ill .  I occupied my mind 
w ith the m em ories of my childhood.

In all the above cases th e  relation between the  action of the verbal 
and  its  subject becomes c lear from the context as the  subject is not ex­
pressed by any gram m atical means.

Occasionally the  subject of the  verbal is not indicated at a ll—it 
is not found either in th e  sentence itself or in a w ider context. In th is 
case it is understood as any  or every person or as an indefinite number 
o f unidentified persons.
e .g . Knowledge is not som ething to boast about.

W riting good prose is not easy.

F inally , a verbal m ay have a subject of its own, specially expressed 
in  th e  sentence. The w ay th e  subject is expressed is different in this case 
for the  infin itive and for the  ing-form.

The subject of th e  in fin itiv e  is expressed by a noun or an indefinite 
pronoun in the common case or by a personal pronoun in the objective 
case. It precedes the  in fin itiv e  and the whole construction is introduced 
by  the  preposition for.

e .g . I ’m not going to  m ake a spectacle of myself for people to talk  about. 
For a  bachelor to  have such well-trained servants was a provoca­

tion to  the wom en of the  district.
It was rare for him  to  go out to dinner.
He was too em barrassed for us to ask him  about anything.

This kind of construction  is called the  f o r - p h r a s e .
The subject of th e  ing -form may be expressed in four different ways 

— by means of a possessive pronoun (a), a personal pronoun in the  ob­
jec tiv e  case (b), a noun in the  genitive case (c) and a noun or an inde­
fin ite  pronoun in th e  common case (d).

e .g . a) I appreciate your com ing to my defense.
b) I just cou ldn ’t  com plain  about him  and be the cause of him

losing the  job.
c) Do you recall R ichard’s doing that?
d) She was w orried by a  stranger staring a t her from a dark corner.
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The only th ing I ’m afraid of is everybody being too sure of th em ­
selves.

The ing-form w ith  its subject is called the ing-complex.
B ut the four complexes differ w ith  regard to the  frequency of their 

occurrence and their sty listic  colouring.
Possessive pronouns are in curren t use, whereas the  use of personal 

pronouns in the  objective case is less frequent and d is tin c tly  co lloquial. 
Conversely, we generally find nouns in  the  common case w hile  nouns 
in the  genitive case are by far less common and m ainly ty p ica l of lite r­
ary style.

N o t e .  N o tice  th e  p a tte rn  in  w h ich  th e  su b jec t of th e  m g-fo rm  is in tro d u c ed  
by there.
e .g . W e spoke a b o u t there  being no one a t  th e  m om ent for h im  to  tu rn  to  fo r help .

Verbals, like the finite forms, can be used in the  A ctive and in the 
Passive. Accordingly, their subject m ay be either the  doer (agent) of the 
action expressed by the verbal o r m ay undergo th is  action, be acted 
upon.

e.g. I have not come here to be insu lted  but to ta lk  to  you as a friend.
I watched her for a little  w hile  w ithout being seen.
He left us w ithout saying good-bye.

The two different kinds of subjects may be called th e  a c t i v e  
s u b j e c t  and t he p a s s i v e  s u b j e c t  of th e  in fin itiv e  or of 
the mg-form.

§ 167. W ith regard to their m eaning and function, the  in fin itiv e  and 
the mg-form, like the finite forms, can be classed in to  tw o groups.

1) They can serve as notional verbs.

e.g. It amused him to tease the  g irl.
H e went downstairs, holding on th e  banister.

2) They may also serve as s tru c tu ra l words.
Some of them , m ainly the verb to be, may be used as link-verbs.

e.g. He is said to be a good chap.
Tom said something about it  being p re tty  late.

The verb to have may be used as a modal verb.

e.g. W ell, I ’m sorry to have to  te ll you th a t.
H e looked at his wrist-w atch and talked about having  to  make 

a few calls before the v isito r arrived.

The infin itive and the  wg-form m ay also be used as a u x ilia ry  verbs 
to  build  up analytical forms, e.g . to be taking, to have taken, to have 
been taking , to be taken, etc., h a vin g  taken, being taken, etc.

B oth verbals are widely used as second (or third) com ponents of ana­
lytical fin ite  forms.
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e.g. She w ill be there.
She is working.
She has been reading.

§  168. The syntactic functions of the  verbals and those of the finite 
forms do not coincide and therein  lies the  main difference between them.

T he fin ite  forms, as has been said , have one function in the  sentence— 
th a t of th e  predicate. The verbals may perform a varie ty  of functions. 
The most strik ing  feature of th e  infinitive and the  m^-form is that 
th ey  have functions typ ical of different parts of speech. Sometimes 
they  have noun functions (e.g. th e  function of the subject or the  object).
e.g. To know all about English is one thing; to  know English is quite 

another.
E very th ing  you’ve planned to do is sensible.
Reading w ith  us is the  th in g  th a t we cannot do w ithout.
If th is  is w hat you in tend asking me, stop w asting your time.

T he in fin itive  and th e  m g-form  may also have adjective functions 
(e.g. th e  function of an a ttrib u te ).
e.g . H e was not a man to  do rash things.

S inging people, arm  in arm , filled the street.

T he tw o verbals can also perform  adverbial functions (e.g. the func­
tio n  of an adverbial m odifier of purpose, consequence, tim e, manner).

e.g . I cam e here to discuss m atte rs  w ith you.
I had only to  hear her voice to  know what she felt.
A fter hesitating  a moment o r two, J im  knocked on the  door. 
You begin learning a language by listening to  th e  new sounds.

T he in fin itiv e  and the  ing-form  may also have purely verbal func­
tions. This occurs in two different cases.

a) They m ay occasionally, in certain sentence patterns, serve as 
th e  p red icate  of the  sentence.

e .g . W hy n o t go w ith me?
W hat about having a look a t my new house?

b) As is well known, in th e  absolute m ajority of English sentences 
th e  p red icate  is expressed by a finite verb. But the  infin itive and the 
m ^-form  m ay serve to  express a second action, accompanying the  action 
expressed by the  predicate verb.

e .g . I woke to  find Maud cooking a meal (= a n d  found).
H e took a seat next to  m ine, watching my face w ith  close attention 

(—and watched).

T he  in fin itive  and the  ing-iorm  may also serve as parenthesis, i.e. 
hav e  th e  function performed by modal words.

e .g . To te ll  the  tru th , I ’m beginning to  find her a bore.
F rank ly  speaking, I ’m a t a loss.
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§ 169. In some of their functions th e  infin itive and th e  ing-iorm  
are lexically dependent. That m eans th a t their use is required by quite 
definite verbs, nouns and adjectives. For example, the  verb  to w an t re­
quires an infin itive as object (e.g. H e w anted to see them  a t once.) while 
to avoid  requires an ing-form in th is  function (e.g. For som e tim e 
she avoided even m entioning th e ir  nam es.). The same is tru e  of the 
adjectives ready and busy th a t require an infin itive and an ing-iorm  
respectively. (Cf. He was ready to  do anything for her. She w as busy 
packing her things.)

Besides, the  infinitive and th e  ing-iorm  are in some functions also 
structurally  dependent, i.e. they occur in quite definite sentence patterns. 
For example, the  infinitive or th e  m g-form  are found afte r a num ber 
of definite verbs, nouns and adjectives only in sentences w ith  a formal 
it as subject.

e.g. It was a relief to be in the car again.
“ I t ’s no use going on like t h a t , ” he said in an angry tone.

All the  functions of the  two verbals w ill be dealt w ith  below. The 
functions in which the infin itive and the  ing-iorm  are lex ica lly  and 
structu ra lly  dependent will be pointed out specially.

§ 170. A lthough the  syntactic functions of the  in fin itiv e  and the 
ing-iorm  differ from those of th e  fin ite  forms, the  two verbals can be 
modified by the  same secondary p a rts  of the  sentence as th e  p red icate  
verb.

e.g. He told me about it  him self.
H e wanted to te ll me about i t  him self.
H e insisted on te lling  me abou t i t  himself.
He saw her there alone yesterday.
He wanted to see her there a lone yesterday.
He to ld  me about seeing her there a lone yesterday.

If a verb requires a prepositional object, the preposition is retained 
by the  verbal when the object happens to  be separated from it .

e.g. W e’ve got a lot to talk  about.
I ’m not accustomed to being spoken to in th a t way.

Yet a t th e  sam e time there is a difference between the  tw o verbals and 
the finite forms. W ith finite forms, th e  secondary parts of th e  sentence 
usually follow the  predicate, but th ey  may also have front position .
e.g. T hat year w inter set in early.

To relieve my feeling, I w rote a le tte r to  Robert.

W ith  the  infin itive and the ing-iorm , the  secondary p arts  a re  always 
found in post-position. The verbals m ay be preceded only  by certain  
adverbs and particles. Yet even instances of th is kind are  in frequent.
e.g. C ritically  to  examine newcomers was one of the  am usem ents a t the 

boarding house.
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My father was the  coach of our swimming team , though his poor 
hea lth  prevented him  from ever going into the water.

W ith  fin ite  forms, the  negatives not and never norm ally either 
follow  them  or are placed w ith in  analytical forms of various kinds of 
com pound predicates.
e .g . H e was not there.

He has no t done it.
H e should not do it.
He did  no t seem tired.

W ith  th e  verbals, th e  negatives not and never always precede 
them , even if they are analy tica l forms.
e.g . I had learned a long tim e ago not to show w hat I felt.

H e went on drinking his coffee, not saying anything more.
She knew that he had gone never to return.
I have kept him out of your life: keep him  now out of mine by 

never mentioning  him  again.
I thought I should have to  make some excuses for not having come 

before.
§ 171. In addition to  th e  above described properties which the  in ­

fin itiv e  and the  mg-form have in common, each of the  two verbals pos­
sesses peculiarities of its own.

The infin itive is generally preceded by the particle /0, but in certain 
functions it is used w ithout it ,  and in still other functions the use of 
th e  p artic le  is optional. The use o r the absence of the  partic le will be 
considered in connection w ith  each of the functions of the infinitive.

N o t e .  T he in f in itiv e  a n d  th e  p a rtic le  to m ay be se p a ra ted  from  each o ther 
by  th e  in se rtio n  of an  ad v erb  o r som e p a rtic le  betw een them , such a s  never, ever, 
fu l l y ,  rea lly , even. T h is is c a lled  a s p l i t  i n f i n i t i v e ,  
e .g . S he  w as th e  firs t person to  e v e r understand  m e, F ran k .

I 'm  so rry . 1 m ade a m is ta k e . I t  w as a  m is tak e  to  even try  to  help  you.

H ow ever, s p l i t  i n f i n i t i v e s  a re  very ra re ly  found in  E nglish .

If there are two or more infinitives in the same function following 
each o ther, the  particle lo is norm ally used before the  first one and 
need not be repeated before th e  others.
e .g . Amy admired L ilian because she could do a lot of things—she was 

said, for instance, to  dance and skate very well, and at one tim e 
she had fenced.

Som etim es, however, the  partic le to is repeated for emphasis, to 
m ake the action of each in fin itiv e  more prominent.
e .g . The hero, when the heroine hurts his feelings, is said to  feel for a 

moment a wild desire of the  caveman, the longing to seize her, 
to drag her w ith him , to give her a good beating.

The infin itive may be som etim es represented by the partic le to alone. 
T h is happens when the  in fin itiv e  is easily supplied from the previous 
con tex t.
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e.g. Joe said, “ I don’t  think we are going to  catch any f ish .” “ I never 
expect to ,” said Lizzy.

She would have listened if I had called her atten tion  to  it b u t  I 
had already decided not to.

Another peculiarity  of the  in fin itive  is th a t it may be used as p a r t 
of a phrase introduced by the conjunctive pronouns or adverbs w h a t, 
who, whom, which, when, where, whether, how and how long. As m ost of 
them  begin w ith  wh-, this kind of in fin itiv e  group may be ca lled  
the w h - p h r a s e  I'dA blju 'eitf 'f re iz l.
e.g. I d id n ’t know w hat to say.

I couldn’t decide whether to speak o r not.

§ 172. The ing-form, in its tu rn , has peculiarities of its  own. U n lik e  
the infinitive, it may, in certain functions, be preceded by a p rep o ­
sition.
e.g. For anybody as clever as you are, y o u ’re not really good a t  decid­

ing things.
He told me that we were about to  be turned out of our fla t fo r n o t 

paying the  rent.

The mg-form has another pecu lia rity— it may lose its verbal ch a r- f 
acter and become adjectivized. In th is  case the mg-form becomes de­
void of the idea of action and som etimes its  lexical meaning is changed  
as compared w ith the meaning of th e  corresponding verb (see th e  
second example below).

e.g. They found his ideas very upsetting.
H is ej-ect, ra ther forbidding figure m ade him look o ld-fash ioned .

In the second example forbidding m eans суровый, неприст упны й; 
it differs from the meaning of the verb  to forbid (запрещать).

Adjectivized mg-forms, like real adjectives, may be preceded by 
adverbs of degree, such as very, rather, most, quite, how, so, so ...a s , e tc .
e.g. She is always so amusing.

The results which he obtained proved to  be most s trik ing .
N o t e  1. T here  a re  a num ber of ¿ng-form s o f th is  k ind  th a t  a re  u sed  o n ly  as 

ad jec tiv es in p resen t-day  E nglish,

e.g. interesting, charming, dashing, etc.
N o t e  2. In E ng lish  there  are a c o n s id e ra b le  num ber of no u n s in - in g  T h ey  

m ay d eno te  concre te  th in g s  (e.g. landing —  лестн и ч н ая  площ адка) o r a b s t r a c t  n o ­
tions, in c lu d in g  a c tio n s  (e.g. beginning — начало , singing  — пение, reading  — 
чтение). These no u n s lack the  above desc rib ed  p ro p e rtie s  of the  »ng-form  a n d .  lik e  
any o th e r noun, m ay be associated  w ith  th e  a r tic le ,  d e fin ite  or in d e fin ite , w i th  p ro ­
nouns, such a s  some, any, a lot of, e tc . o r  m ay  be m odified  by a d je c tiv e s .

e.g. T he d ru m s w ere s ilen t: the singing s to p p ed .
“My wife had  once a vegetarian b u lld o g , ” sa id  Mr S m ith  w ith  p rid e . “ O f co u rse , 

it took som e tra in in g .”
I adm ired  th e  dancer and asked if she  ev er d id  an y  re a l Indian dancing .
“ 1 do a lo t of trav e llin g , ” he said.
She had  an  a tta c k  of v io len t sobbing.
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Nouns in -ing  denoting actions are called v e r b a l  n o u n s .  They 
should  not be confused w ith  the mg-form proper even when they denote 
actions (e.g. reading, w ritin g , walking, etc.).

The Participle

§ 173. Although th e  p artic ip le  has the same lexical meaning as the 
corresponding verb, it  differs considerably from the  finite forms as 
w ell as from the in fin itiv e  and the  ing-iorm.

As the  partic ip le has on ly  one form (see “V erbs”, § 5  and Appen­
d ix  I), it does not possess any of the gram m atical categories of the in ­
fin itiv e  and the ing-form. Nevertheless, th is form has its  own gram m ati­
ca l meaning.

The gram m atical m eaning of the  participle is closely connected w ith 
th e  lexical character of th e  verb.

The participle is, in th e  main, formed from transitive  verbs and 
has passive meaning.
e .g . H e had suits, and coats, and shirts made to  order.

I t  was a question p u t down by one of the  correspondents.

W hen the  partic ip le  is formed from transitive  term inative verbs, 
i t  denotes a s ta te  resu lting  from a previously accomplished action. 
T h is  resultant s ta te  is sim ultaneous w ith the action expressed by the 
p red icate  verb.
e .g . On arriving at th e  sm all building on the top of the  m ountain, she 

found it locked.
Alfred, left alone, stood motionless for some m inutes.

A participle formed from  a transitive durative verb denotes an ac­
tio n ; it  is sim ultaneous w ith  th e  action expressed by the predicate verb.
e .g . Tom was the happy husband, adoring and adored.

A t last the Colonel, accompanied by his tw o daughters, made 
his appearance in  th e  park.

The number of partic ip les formed from in transitive  verbs is very 
lim ited . They have ac tiv e  m eaning and usually denote an action pre­
ced ing  th a t of the  p red icate  verb.
e .g . She sat down on a fa lle n  tree to have a short rest.

The house was made of unpainted plank, gone grey now.

Sometimes the p artic ip le  is formed from an in transitive meaning 
o f a polysem antic verb.
e .g . H is face was like a w ithered apple.

She looked a t th e  faded photograph.

§  174. Like the fin ite  form s and the other two verbals, the p arti­
c ip le  is always associated w ith  a subject. But the  means of expressing 
i ts  subject are more lim ited  than  those of expressing the  subject of the 
in fin itiv e  and the ing-iorm .
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The subject of the  partic ip le  may be the  person o r th in g  denoted 
by the  subject (a) or the object (b) of the  sentence. I t  m ay also be ex­
pressed by the  noun the  partic ip le  modifies (c).

e.g. a) Suddenly touched, she cam e over to  th e  side of her fa th er’s 
chair and kissed him.

b) He heard his name called.
c) A large fat man w ith  a face shaved as sm ooth as m arble stood

in the doorway.

As the  participle is, as a ru le, formed from tran s itiv e  verbs and has 
passive meaning, it mostly has a passive subject. B u t its  ac tive  subject, 
the  doer of the action, may also be indicated in th e  sentence w ith  the 
help of a by-phrase.

e.g. I looked at the ceiling, pain ted  by some X V IIIth  cen tu ry  a rtis t 
now forgotten.

§ 175. The participle can be used only as a no tional verb (see the 
examples above and below); it  never serves as a s tru c tu ra l word. In 
th is respect it  also differs from th e  finite forms and th e  two o ther ver­
bals.

B ut, like the  infin itive and th e  wg-form, the  p artic ip le  is widely 
used as second (or third) com ponent of analytical form s (e.g. The letter 
is w ritten . H e has done it .  The m atte r has been investigated.)

§ 176. The syntactic functions of th e  partic ip le  in  th e  sentence are 
more restricted than those of th e  o ther two verbals. I t  m ain ly  performs 
the  functions of the adjective.
e.g. One day he landed in  S an ta Domingo in torn  and dusty  clothes. 

He stood amazed at th e  door of the  shop.

§ 177. The participle, like th e  o ther two verbals, is, in  som e of its 
functions, lexically and stru c tu ra lly  dependent. F or exam ple, its  use 
is required by the verb to have in  th e  following p a tte rn .
e.g. Y ou’ll never guess where I had the  su it made.

The functions of the  partic ip le  w ill be dealt w ith  in  de ta il below.
§ 178. The participle, like th e  fin ite  verbs and th e  tw o o ther ver­

bals, can be modified by secondary parts of the  sentence. B u t th e  num ber 
of those modifiers is restricted and the  partic ip le  phrase  is never very 
extended. The secondary parts th a t  modify the  p artic ip le  u sually  de­
note the  place (a), or the  tim e (b), or th e  doer of th e  action (c). They 
always follow the  participle.
e.g. a) I had my suitcase pu t in the corner of a th ird -c lass carriage.

b) She told me of the parcel delivered in the m orning.
c) They let him know of th e  decision taken by the  com m ittee.

The negative not is always placed before th e  p artic ip le , 
e.g. M argaret, not convinced, was s till arguing about i t .
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If th e  verb  requires a prepositional object, the preposition is re ta in ­
ed by th e  partic ip le  when the  object happens to  be separated from i t .
e.g. H e never u ttered  a word unless spoken to.

The blood in  his cut seemed very dark. “You ought to  have it  look­
ed a t ,  ” I said.

§ 179. T he partic ip le  often becomes adjectivized. (A djectivization 
is even m ore typ ical of the  partic ip le  th an  of the  ¿/де-form.) I t  becomes 
devoid of th e  idea of action and sometimes its  lexical m eaning is chang­
ed as com pared w ith  the m eaning of th e  corresponding verb (see the 
second and th ird  examples below).
e.g. On th e  surface my life was varied and exciting; but beneath it  was 

narrow .
H e was an elegant gentlem an though given to ta lk ing  in  a gruff 

voice (=склонны й, имеющий обыкновение).
The stree ts, deserted now, looked frightening (=пусты е, безлюд­

ные).

The adjectiv ized partic ip le m ay be preceded, like a real adjective, 
by adverbs of degree.
e.g. Is Mrs W hite  really very excited?

S uddenly , looking ra th er alarm ed, she rushed out of the  room. 
The road was as deserted as ever.

N o t e  1. Som e p a rtic ip le s  a re  used  o n ly  as ad jec tiv es in  p resen t-d ay  E n g ­
lish , e .g . tired, interested, accustomed a n d  o thers .

N o t e  2 . T h ere  a re  a n u m b er o f a d jec tiv es  end ing  in  -ed w hich a re  hom ony. 
m ous to  p a r tic ip le s . T hey a re  a c tu a lly  ad jec tiv es form ed from  nouns, e .g . stockinged 
legs, propertied classes, a bearded face, a g ifted  person, a talented musician, e tc .

A d jec tiv es  b u i l t  up on th is  p a tte rn  m ean having stockings, having  property , 
having  a beard, e tc .

§ 180. The use of all the  th ree  verbals is characterized by one more 
pecu lia rity —th e  frequency of th e ir  occurrence varies greatly  in differ­
ent functions. In  some functions th e ir  use is extensive, in o ther functions 
it is in frequent. At the same tim e, some of their functions are found 
only in lite ra ry  style.

In describing the various functions of the  verbals, special mention 
w ill be m ade of the  functions w hich occur rarely or are typ ical only of 
lite rary  sty le .

The Use of the Infinitive

The In f in it iv e  as S ubject

§ 181. In th is  function the  infin itive is always used w ith the particle 
to and usually  expresses an action following the action expressed by 
th e  p red icate  verb.
e.g . To ful f i l  th is  condition was hopelessly out of my power.

To v is it her was all th a t I desired.
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The infin itive as subject may also express actions which are  s im u l­
taneous w ith  th e  action of the predicate verb.
e.g. To visit her is always a pleasure.

The infin itive often acquires the  ad d itio n al modal meaning of co n ­
dition in th is function. This meaning is generally  supported by th e  use 
of the  Conditional Mood in the sentence.
e.g. To take money from him w o u l d  b e  like robbing a ch ild  ( = i f  

you took money from him ...).
To take him  seriously w o u l d  b e  absurd ( = i f  you took  h im  

seriously...).

Sentences w ith  th e  infinitive as subject have certain  s tru c tu ra l pe­
culiarities.

a) The in fin itive as subject may be used only in declarative sen ten ­
ces; it is never used in interrogative sentences.

b ).T he in fin itive  is always placed a t th e  head of the sentence; i t  is 
never preceded by any secondary parts.

c) We generally find the  nom inal p red icate  in sentences of th is  
kind. The predicative is usually expressed by a noun or an ad jec tiv e , 
qualifying the  action  denoted by th e  in fin itive .
e.g. To go w ith  him  to  picture galleries was a  rare  treat.

To do it seemed a proper and n a tu ra l th ing.
Not to go back was awful.

Sometimes another infinitive is used as predicative, 
e.g. To influence a person is t o  g i v e  h im  one’s thoughts.

The use of the  infin itive as subject is m ain ly  found in lite rary  Eng* 
lish but even there  i t  is infrequent.

T he In fin itiv e  as P re d ica tiv e

§ 182. The in fin itive is generally preceded by the partic le  to  in 
this function and in most cases expresses an  action which follows th a t  
of the link-verb.

The link-verb in sentences w ith  the  in fin itiv e  as predicative is a l­
ways to be.
e.g. H is highest am bition  was to w rite a m onum ental work on a r t .  

The job, of a reporter is to expose and record.
D r Johnson’s idea was to tu rn  his n a tiv e  town in to  a h ea lth  re­

sort.
His greatest wish was to te ll her every th ing .
The only sensible th ing  is for you to  go away.

The infin itive in  th is function alw ays has appositive m eaning, i.e . 
it explains the  m eaning of the subject of th e  sentence (= р аскр ы в ает  
содержание). Hence, sentences of th is  k ind  hav e  the  following s tru c tu ra l 
peculiarity—th e  subject of the sentence can  be expressed only b y  a
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lim ited  num ber of nouns. They are nouns denoting abstract notions 
w hich adm it of and som etim es even require an explanation of their 
m eaning. The most com m only occurring of these nouns are: act, action, 
advice, aim, am bition, answer, business, consequence, custom, desire, 
d ifficu lty , duty, function , habit, hope, idea, instruction, intention, job, 
method, need, object (= a im ) ,  order, p lan, policy , problem, purpose, 
reason, requirement, role, rule, task, thing  (usually  w ith an a ttribu te), 
thought, way, wish, work and some others (see the examples above).

The subject of the  sentence may also be expressed by a ll  (and occa­
sionally  by the least and the most) modified by an a ttribu tive  clause 
which usually contains the  verb to do.
e.g. A l l  I w a n t  t o  d o  is to help you.

T h e  l e a s t  w e  c a n  d o  i s  to try  and understand their 
idea.

T h e  m o s t  h e  c o u l d  d o  a t  t h e  m o m e n t  was to 
give me a c igarette .

After th is type of subject the  infin itive m ay be used w ithout to.
e.g. A M  1 w a n t e d  t o  d o  was run away.

A l l  w e  c a n  d o  is stick to our decision.
Sentences w ith  th e  subject expressed by a l l , the least and the most 

cannot be used in th e  in terrogative form.
The infin itive as pred icative, unlike th e  in fin itive  as subject, is 

found not only in lite ra ry  s ty le  but also in spoken English.

T he In f in it iv e  as P red ica te

§ 183. The use of th e  in fin itive  as predicate is restricted to  the  fol­
lowing sentence patterns.

1) It is used in in terrogative  (affirm ative and negative) sentences 
beginning w ith why and im plying a suggestion. W e always find an in ­
fin itive  w ithout to here.

In in terrogative-affirm ative sentences the  im plication  is th a t there 
is no need to  perform th e  action.
e.g. Why lose your tem per over a little  th ing  like that?

W hy waste your tim e on th is  kind of work?
In in terrogative-negative sentences the  im plication is th a t there is 

no thing to  prevent one from performing the  action.
e.g. Why not go th ere  righ t away?

W hy not apologize if you know you’re wrong?

The subject of th e  in fin itiv e  in  this kind of sentences is always the 
person (or the  persons) engaged in  the conversation.

2) The in fin itive m ay be used as the  predicate of an exclam atory 
sentence. The purpose of th e  sentence is to  show th a t the person denoted 
by the  subject is un likely  to  perform the  action of the infinitive, the  
speaker rejects th e  very  idea as impossible. The infin itive may be used 
w ith  or w ithout to.
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e.g. You—a man-of-the-world— to  suggest this. You know i t 's  impos* 
sible.
“Try to  w rite ,” she said, “y o u ’re expressive, you can say  what 

you w ant; why not try  to be a w rite r?” I couldn’t keep from  laugh- 
ing a t th a t. It was so absurd . Me—write! “N o ,” I sa id  w ith  a 
laugh.

Such sentences are em otionally coloured and found only  in  spoken 
English. B ut they are infrequent.

T he In fin itiv e  as P a rt o !  a  C om pound Verbal P red ica te

§ 184. The infinitive is lexically  dependent in th is function—it is 
used after qu ite  definite verbs.

It may serve as the second p art of a compound predicate  a fte r modal 
verbs. This use of the infinitive has been described in detail in “V erbs”, 
§§ 76-120.

Besides, th e  infinitive is used in  th is function afte r th e  following 
in transitive verbs: to seem, to appear, to turn out, to prove, to happen, 
to chance.
e.g. He seemed to know all about it.

I ’m qu ite  aware how im probable th a t sounds but it  happens to be 
the  tru th .
He turned  out to have no feeling whatsoever for his nephew.

These verbs may be followed by different analy tical form s of the 
in fin itive w ith to.
e.g. For a moment she appeared to  be hesitating.

H e seemed to have gained a ll he wanted.
The le tter seems to have been m islaid.
In th a t same week I happened to  have been enquiring w hether all 

the  invitations have been sen t out.
As is seen from the  above exam ples, the  perfect in fin itiv e  expresses 

an action which precedes the  tim e  indicated by th e  fin ite  verb , while 
the continuous infinitive expresses an  action which is sim ultaneous 
w ith it.

The In f in it iv e  a s  a  Second A ction 
A ccom panying the A c tio n  o f th e  P red ica te  Verb

§ 185. The infin itive may express a second action in  th e  sentence, 
accompanying the  action of the p red icate  verb. The subject of th e  in­
fin itive is th e  same as th a t of th e  predicate verb. This second action 
follows the  action expressed by th e  predicate verb and m ay be called 
a subsequent action. Hence the te rm  t h e  i n f i n i t i v e  o f  s u b ­
s e q u e n t  a c t i o n .

The in fin itive of subsequent ac tion  always follows th e  predicate 
and is used w ith  the particle to.

The lexical meaning of the verbs followed by th is  in fin itiv e  is not, 
on the  whole, restricted. Yet ac tu a lly  the  most com m only occurring
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verbs are those of motion, such as to turn , to come, to reach, to hurry, 
to ru n , to rush, to walk, to return  and their synonyms as well as the 
verbs to look or to glance (followed by  up, down, across, about, round, 
toward , e tc .), ¿0 up, to awake, /0 awakened.

T he in fin itive  of subsequent action itself may also be expressed by 
a w ide range of verbs of different lexical character, but by far the  most 
frequen tly  occurring verbs a re  to find , to discover, to see, /0 te a r  
and  th e ir  synonyms.

e.g . H e turned  to find her sad, calm eyes upon him. (= a n d  found) 
H e returned ten m inutes la te r  to find Bridget ready for departure. 

(= a n d  found)
1 looked across to see M r Jesm ond sm iling at me. (= a n d  saw) 
O ne night he awakened to  hear a light rain whispering in the gar­

den. (= a n d  heard)
The freshened warm n ig h t a ir blew into the  room and the  night 

had cleared to reveal a s ta r. (= a n d  revealed)
T hen the  sun came out again  to brighten the  last sp a tte r of rain. 

(= a n d  brightened)

As a rule, th e  action of th e  infin itive instantly  follows th a t of the 
p red ica te  verb, as in all th e  exam ples above. Sometimes, however, this 
im m edia te  succession of actions is expressed in the  sentence by means 
of special indications, such as in  time, or ju st in time, the next moment 
and the like.
e .g . A lice arrived in tim e to  h ea r Tom’s remark.

E tta  then shot out of th e  room  just in time to sh u t the  door behind 
her before she exploded in to  uncontrollable shrieks of laughter. 

The horse and the rider disappeared together beneath th e  surface, 
to  rise together a  second later.

If th e  action of the  in fin itiv e  does not follow th a t of th e  predicate 
verb  d irec tly , there are usually  special indications of tim e in the  sent­
ence.
e .g . I know of quite a few people who always s ta rt a new life on the 

1st of January  only to  slip  back to  the old one on the 15th.
H e walked out one m orning w ithout a word to  anyone, to be heard 

of some tim e afterw ards in  Australia.

T he in fin itive  of subsequent action is sometimes preceded by the 
p a rtic le  only. In th is case th e  com bination of the predicate verb and 
th e  in fin itiv e  usually acquires a peculiar meaning—the action of the 
p red icate  verb becomes pointless, its effect, is as it  were, brought to 
naught by the  action expressed by the infinitive.

e.g . The m otor started  again, on ly  to stop again in a moment.
H e took off the receiver o n ly  to replace it.
She watched the  young people as they hung about in groups, as 

th ey  turned on the  rad io , only to turn it off, and lit cigarettes to 
throw  them  away.
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The infinitive of subsequent action may be preceded by never to  
show th a t the action of the  in fin itive is not destined  to  tak e  place.

e.g. She knew th a t he had gone never to re turn .
Young H ardcastle, when he attained th e  age of fifteen, had disap­

peared from his home never to be heard of again .

The infinitive of subsequent action is not in common use in  English; 
it is m ainly restricted to  literary  style.

The In f in it iv e  as O b ject

§ 186. The infin itive may be used as an object to  a verb. I t  is lexi­
ca lly  dependent in this function. We find it after the  following verbs: 
to agree, to arrange, to ask (— to request) ,  to a ttem p t, to begin, to care 
( = to  like), to cease, to choose ( = to  prefer), to claim , to come (= to  begin), 
io consent, to continue, to decide, to deserve, to determine, to expect, to 
fa il, to fear, to forget, to go on, to hate, to help, to hesitate, to hope, to 
intend, to learn, to like, to long, to love, to manage, to mean, to need, 
to neglect, to offer, to om it, to p lan, to prefer, to pretend, to promise, 
to propose (= to  intend), to refuse, to regret, to remember, to sta rt, to 
swear, to tend, to threaten, to try, to want, to w ish  and  some others.

e.g. The man, w ithout fuss, agreed to serve as w itness.
They had arranged to v is it the laboratory the  nex t day.
W hen he was told “n o ”, his eyes ceased to  look m ild , and  became 

hot and furious.
M argaret continued to v is it Jack  in hospital.
I came to know him  well towards the end of th e  war.
She tried to insist on coming w ith  me, bu t I f in a lly  managed to 

ta lk  her out of it.
Do you mean to say he ac tua lly  approves of it?
He never said a word about w hat he feared or hoped, or planned 

to  do.
He did not propose to forgive th is tim e.
He did not w ant to  be le ft alone.
I pretended not to be listening 
She claim s to have read his diary.

In  addition to the verbs m entioned above, the  in fin itiv e  as object 
is used after the modal phrases can afford and can bear in  their nega­
tiv e  and interrogative forms.

e.g. Some say we cannot afford to do it. I say, we cannot afford not 
to do it.

Can you afford to go on such an expensive trip ?
I couldn’t bear to damage him.

Besides, the infin itive is also used after th e  set phrases to make 
up one's mind, to take care, to take the trouble, to make sure, and some 
others.
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e.g. I took care to  ask S trickland nothing about his own doings.
The n ex t day he m ade sure to  buy a copy of the newspaper.

W ith  all th e  verbs mentioned above the  infin itive is used w ith the 
p artic le  to (see the  examples above). The only exception is the verb 
to  help w hich m ay be followed by an in fin itive w ith or w ithout to.

e.g. Helen w ill help to make tea.
I ’m sure you w ill help ta lk  her out of it.

§ 187. The in fin itiv e  m ay also be used as an object to an  adjective. 
I t  is lexically  dependent in th is case too. I t  is used after various k inds 
of adjectives— they  m ay be adjectives proper, predicative adjectives 
and adjectiv ized participles. The m ost commonly occurring of them 
are: (un )ab le , afraid , aghast, amused, annoyed, anxious, a p t, ashamed, 
astonished, bound, careful, certain, content, crazy, curious, delighted, 
determined, d if fic u lt ,  disposed, distressed, due, eager, easy, entitled , f i t , 
fortunate, free, frightened, furious, glad, gra tefu l, good, happy, hard, 
helpless, horrified, im patient, inclined, interested, keen, liable, ( u n l i ­
kely, lucky, moved, obliged, pleased, (im )possible, powerless, prepared, 
proud, puzzled, quick, ready, relieved, reluctant, resolved, right, safef 
scared, set ( = determ ined), slow, sorry, sufficient, sure, surprised, thankfu l, 
touched, useless, (u n )w illin g , (un)wise, wonderful, worthy, wrong, etc.

e.g. H e 's  s t i ll  very anxious to see you.
I m ust read  the book because everyone is bound to ta lk  about it .
I am  curious to know the  news.
H e w ould be crazy not to do so.
I rea lly  m ust take Phil w ith  me: he’s obviously keen to come.
In  th e ir s ta te  they are liable to do idiotic things.
I felt re lu c tan t to go o u t
I am  extrem ely  sorry to disturb you, my dear.
H is n ex t book is sure to be worthless.
Y ou’ll be relieved to hear th a t the document is now in their hands.
D inner was ready to be served.
The subject is now not likely  to be raised during the talks.
I am  sorry  to  have done you harm .

The in fin itiv e  is always preceded by to in this function.
A djectives having infinitives as objects are generally used in the  

function of a predicative after the  link-verb to be (see the examples 
above). O ther link-verbs are also possible, though they are infrequent.

e.g. H e seemed glad  to have me there.
I found them  getting  ready to  go out.

In  a v ast m ajo rity  of cases the subject of the infinitive is the person 
or th in g  denoted by the subject of the  sentence (see the examples above). 
However, when the  infin itive follows the adjectives easy, d ifficu lt, 
good, wonderful and hard, the subject of the sentence becomes the 
object of th e  action  expressed by the infinitive.
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e.g. Their language was not difficult to  understand.
She was not easy to discourage.
I was angry because he was so hard to  persuade.
The apples were good to eat.

Occasionally a for-phrase is used to  ind icate  the  subject of the in fin ­
itive.

e.g. He was im patien t for me to meet them .
He was eager for me to s ta rt on m y new  job.
I am prepared for everyone to accuse m e of being foolish.

§ 188. The in fin itive as object m ay be p art of a phrase introduced 
by the conjunction whether or one of the  following conjunctive p ro ­
nouns or adverbs: w hat, who, whom, which, when, where, how and  
how long.

e.g. I did not a t a ll know what to say.
I don’t know who else to ask.
Neither of us knew when to  begin.
He had come away, not knowing where to  tu rn  or what to do.

As most of the conjunctive words begin w ith  wh-, th is kind of in ­
fin itive group m ay be called the w h - p h r a s e .  The infin itive in 
the phrase is always preceded by to.

As is seen from the  above examples, the  w h-phrase serves as an  ob­
ject to a verb. I t  usually  occurs after the verb to know  (see the exam ples 
above). Yet it  m ay also follow some other verbs and set phrases as w ell, 
e.g. to decide, to make up one's mind, to wonder, to advise  and some others.
e.g. He could not decide whether to speak or not.

I couldn’t m ake up  my m ind w hether to  accept the offer.
I stood wondering how to stop the figh t.
I ’11 ask my travel agent. He advises m e w hat to  buy and where to  go.

I t  is notew orthy th a t infinitives generally  do not serve as preposi­
tional objects. However, the wh-phrase is occasionally found as a prepo­
sitional object to a verb or a set phrase.
e.g. As we talked of where to meet, I noticed  som ething unusual in  

his tone.
W hether he had changed his m ind about w ha t to say I did not know. 
She gave us orders about how long to  stay  there.

Although the wh-phrase is not in frequent use, it  is not restric ted  
sty listically .

N o t e .  T he w h -p h rase  m ay , in th eo ry , h av e  a ll  th e  fu n c tio n s  of th e  in f in i t iv e  
in  th e  sen tence. B u t a c tu a lly  i t  m ain ly  occurs as an  o b je c t to  th e  verb  to know. H e re , 
how ever, a re  som e ex am p les o f the w h-phrase  in  o th e r  fu n c tio n s:

e .g . a) a s  an  o b jec t to  an  ad jective ,
N o one seem ed su re  how  to  act.

b) as a p red icativ e ,
T he m ain  prob lem  is, of course, where to  go.
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c) as an  a t t r ib u te ,
I d o n 't  re m e m b e r  th a t  I ever received a n y  in s tru c t io n  on how to  p u t s e n t­

ences to g e th e r.

§ 189. The in fin itiv e  m ay serve as object in a special sentence pattern  
w ith  a formal it as subject. I t  is lexically dependent here as it  can fol­
low quite defin ite  verbs or adjectives.

1) The most com m only occurring verbs after which the infinitive 
is used in th is fuction  are: to amaze, to annoy , to cause, to delight, to 
distress, to enrage, to excite, to comfort, to frighten, to hurt, to interest, 
to irritate, to mean, to occur, to please, to puzzle, to shock, to soothe, 
to startle, to s tir , to surprise, to trouble, to upset, to worry and some 
others.

The verbs are u sua lly  followed in  th is sentence pattern  by some 
o ther objects (direct, indirect or prepositional) which precede the infin­
itive.

e.g . In those days m y experience of life a t first hand was sm all, and 
it excited m e to  come upon an incident.

It did not annoy him  to live always in the sam e shabby room. 
W on’t it  m ean anything to you to  know th a t people loathe and 

despise you?
It pleased her particu larly  to see how often the other children 

asked her son how they should play.
It never occurred, to  him  to pretend th a t he had no influence on 

events.

Besides, there are a num ber of set phrases which are in common use 
and  are to be trea ted  as verb equivalents. They are all different in  struc­
tu re  and in  m eaning. B ut since they have the function of the predicate 
in  the sentence they  are best to  be classed as verb equivalents and trea t­
ed  here.

e.g . It does me good to  watch her playing w ith  the other children.
I t  couldn’t  do any harm  to take her out of town.
It will tak e  a long tim e to talk over the whole of it w ith you.
It took several days for her to fully realize it.
A po rter’s voice inform ed them th a t it  was tim e to board the tra in . 
One m orning it  was his tu rn  to cook breakfast.
Mr Brooke sa id  i t  was up to the girl to  decide whether or not to 

accept the  in v ita tio n .

The in fin itive  is always preceded by to in th is function.
The subject of the  infin itive in most cases is the person denoted 

by the noun (or pronoun) object following the verb.

e .g . I t  would in terest him  to hear about it.
It d id n ’t occur to  me to ask him  about it.

I t  should be no ted  th a t the infinitive is occasionally found in  a sen­
tence pattern  w ith  a formal i t  used as object (not as subject).
154



e.g. He made it  a point to call her by her first name.
He had made it a rule to get up a t sunrise.
I couldn’t stand it  to be alone.

2) The infin itive (with the p artic le  to) as object is also found  after 
a considerable num ber of adjectives and adjectivized p artic ip les  and 
mg-forms. The most commonly occurring of them are: absurd, ad­
visable, amazing, astonishing, aw fu l, awkward, bad, careless, characte­
ristic, charming, complicated, convenient, correct, cruel, curious, custom a­
ry, dangerous, decent, delightful, desirable, d ifficu lt, d u ll, easy, embar­
rassing, enough, essential, fair, fine , foolish, funny, fu tile , good, hard, 
help fu l, (dishonourable, horrid, im portant, interesting, intolerable, in ­
sulting , (u n ) ju s t, jo lly , kind, late, m arvellous, monstrous, n a ive , ( u n ­
natural, (un)necessary, nice, norm al, odd, pleasant, (im )possib le , pre­
posterous, proper, queer, (un)reasonable, remarkable, ridiculous, right, 
sad, safe, satisfying, sensible, shocking, s illy , splendid, strange, su itab le , 
surprising, stupid , sufficient, sweet, terrible, typical, unbearable, u se fu l, 
useless, v ita l, wicked, (un)wise, wonderful, wrong, etc.

e.g . I t ’s odd to think that she and I once dined together n ig h tly .
I t ’s a l i tt le  late to admit it, I know.
I t  was im possible not to see th a t  Mrs Strickland was an  excellen t 

house-keeper.
Roger spoke w ith complete re lax a tio n , it was surprising  to  hear 

how strong his voice sounded.
I t ’s s tu p id  to  fa ll asleep lik e  th is , it  gives you a headache .
I t ’s wrong to hurt people.
I t  was unwise to be rude to  D avid.
It was necessary to start producing their own machine.
I t  is essential to have every th ing  finished righ t away.
I t ’s unusual to meet a shy g irl nowadays.
I t ’s im portan t to remember th e  figures.
I t ’s charm ing to be welcomed w ith  so much eagerness.

N o t e .  I t  shou ld  be m entioned th a t  i t  is worth while is n o rm a lly  fo llo w e d  by 
a n  in f in itiv e  o b jec t w hereas it  is worth is  m od ified  by an  m g-fo rm  o b je c t  (see 
“ V erbs” , § 219).

e .g . I t  m ig h t be  w o rth  w hile to m en tion  th a t  th e re  is a t ra in  soon a f te r  5 .
Do you th in k  i t  w ould  be w orth w h ile  to  open a shop som ew here e lse  in  th e  n e ig h ­

bourhood?

The subject of the infinitive in  th is  sentence pattern  is u su a lly  as­
sociated w ith  every or any person or an  indefinite num ber of un iden ­
tified persons (see the examples above) .Yet it is not unusual for the 
infin itive object in this sentence p a tte rn  to  have a subject of its  own. 
In  this case the infinitive for-phrase is used.

e.g. I t  was rare  for him to go o u t to  dinner.
I t ’s very good for them to have an older m an w ith  p le n ty  of ex­

perience to come to for advice.
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“Of course,” said M ont, “ i t ’s natural for young men to be interested 
in po litics.”

I t was necessary for her to  earn her living as quickly as she could.
T he peculiar feature of th is  sentence pattern  is th a t the infinitive 

an d  its  subject can be in troduced by the preposition of.
e .g . “ I t ’s kind of you to co m e ,” she said.

I t  was inconsiderate of her to ask that.
He thought it was w rong of him to go off forever, and leave his 

m other all on her own.
The infin itive as an object to  an  adjective is found in a special sen­

ten ce  p a tte rn  where the form al it is used as an object to a verb and is 
followed by an adjective. I t  is to this adjective th a t the infin itive 
serves as an object.

T he whole construction it+ a d jec tive+ in fin itiv e  m ainly occurs after 
th e  verbs to fin d , to th ink, to make and to feel. We find here the same 
ad jec tives as quoted above.
e .g . I find it difficult to believe that anyone can be th a t lazy.

Y et I found it  necessary to  te ll  him that I had been in touch with 
M ont.

I had thought it  im polite  to  smoke a cigar in  her presence.
H is anger made it  im possible to continue the conversation.
He felt it  natural to accept hospitality.

The In f in it iv e  a s  S u b jec tiv e  P red icative

§ 190. The infin itive as subjective predicative is always preceded 
b y  to . I t  is lexically dependent— it follows a num ber of transitive verbs 
used  in the Passive. The m ost frequently occurring of these verbs are: 
to advise, to allow, to ask , to authorize, to believe, to command, to compel, 
to  consider, to direct, to expect, to fee l, to find, to force, to hear, to impel, 
to  instruc t, to intend, to in v ite , to know, to leave, to let, to make, to mean, 
to order, to permit, to persuade, to presume, to report, to request, to require, 
to  rum our, to say, to schedule, to see, to sentence, to show, to suppose, to 
teach, to te l l , to tem pt, to th ink , to trust, to understand, to watch and 
som e others.
e .g . I have been advised to  rest.

I shall soon be forced to  think that he was deliberately lying.
He had been heard to discuss the possibility.
I believe they have been instructed to report to  you by October.
Douglas was invited  to  have a drink w ith  a C abinet M inister.
K ate was always m ade to  wash the brushes.
No doubt no one could be persuaded to give her a job.
The public are requested no t to walk on the grass.
He is said to be a good chap.

N o t e  1. W hen th e  verb  to know  is used in  th e  P ass iv e  a n d  is follow ed by an  
in f in i t iv e  i t  m ay h av e  tw o  m e a n in g s — to be aware a n d  to experience. In  
th e  fo rm er case the verb  to know  is  fo u n d  only in  th e  P re sen t o r  P a s t In d e fin ite  and  
c a n  b e  fo llow ed  on ly  by th e  in f in i t iv e  to be.
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e .g . You are known to  be a p reposterously  unse lfish  fr ie n d .
Mr D inis, who was know n to  be in te res ted  in  th e  case, m a d e  i t  c lear th a t  he w ould  

proceed w ith  it .

In  th e  la tte r  case  th e  verb  to know  is found o n ly  in  th e  P re se n t an d  P a s t  P e rfec t 
an d  can  be follow ed by o th e r in f in itiv e s  as w ell.

e .g . H e  has been know n to  drop a h in t.
H e 's  been known to  take  p a r t  in th e  w ork of d iffe ren t c o m m itte e s .

N o t e  2. In  th e  fo llow ing  exam ple th e  w hole  c o m b in a tio n  of th e  P ass iv e  verb  
an d  th e  in fin itiv e  shou ld  be trea ted  a s  a se t phrase.

e .g . T he firm  had been g iven  to  understand  th a t  th e  c o n tra c t  w ould  no t be  renew ed.

In the function of subjective predicative the  in fin itiv e  is often used 
in  its different analytical forms.
e.g . He was believed to be preparing a report on the  incident.

Some professors are known to have disagreed w ith  the authorities 
on students’ demands.

The new system is intended to be applied in  a m onth.
The victim  is believed to have been poisoned.

The use of the infin itive as subjective p red icative is ra ther restricted 
sty lis tica lly . It frequently occurs in newspapers and scientific prose 
bu t is less common in literary  sty le . In spoken E nglish  it is no t common 
a t  all except after the verbs to suppose, to expect and to ask.
e.g . In those days a woman w asn’t supposed to be as th in  as a rail and 

as flat as a pancake.
W hat the hell are we supposed to be doing?
I did not like w hat I was asked to do.
W hat am I expected to say to  that?

The In f in it iv e  as O b jective  P red ica tiv e

§ 19!. The infin itive as objective predicative is lexically  dependent— 
i t  is used after a num ber of transitive verbs in  th e  A ctive followed by 
an  object which is expressed by a noun or a pronoun. Most of these verbs 
require an infinitive w ith to. The most frequently  occurring of them 
are: to advise, to allow, to ask, to assume, to authorize, to beg, to believe, 
to  cause, to challenge, to command, to compel, to consider, to enable, 
to encourage, to expect, to find , to forbid, to force, to get, to guess, to hate, 
to  imagine, to impel, to implore, to induce, to inspire, to instruct, to 
intend, to invite, to know, to lead, to like, to love, to mean, to observe, 
to order, to permit, to persuade, to prefer, to press, to realize, to recom­
mend, to request, to require, to suppose, to suspect, to take (= to  under­
s ta n d ), to teach, to te l l , to tem pt, to think, to tru s t , to understand, 
to urge, to want, to warn, to wish and some others.
e .g . Why did he advise m e to  v is it W estm inster Abbey?

I asked myself why on ea rth  Mrs S trick land  had allowed me to 
come.

I m ust ask you to ring him  up ton ight.
The doctor has s tric tly  commanded her to  have an easy mind, to
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worry abou t nothing, to sleep well, and she carefully obeys him . 
Y ou’ve encouraged people to believe th a t.
We c a n ’t force you to stay here.
Why d o n ’t  you get my wife to explain it to you?
H e seemed to  be inv iting  Roger to  take a risk.
He ordered the  door to be thrown open.
Did he urge you to reconsider your decision?

Notice th a t afte r verbs expressing opinion or perception by far the 
m ost common in fin itiv e  is the verb to be which is a link-verb in th is 
case.
e.g. No one could expect her to be happy.

I hope y o u ’ll find the new method to be of considerable in terest. 
I never took him  to be a Norwegian.
I always believed him  to  be a brute.
He d id n ’t  m ean this to be a long m eeting.

There are a few verbs in English after which the infinitive as objective 
predicative is used w i t h o u t  the partic le  to. They are: to fee l, 
to have (= to  get, to m ake), to hear, to know (= to  experience) ,  to le t, 
to make, to notice, to see, to watch.
e.g. I felt M argaret’s hand tighten  in  mine.

I had no t heard  him speak before, and now I realized th a t he was 
a good speaker.

W hat m akes you think you have any talent?
In the lib rary  I noticed D iana ta lk  for a moment w ith  her sister 

alone.
She struggled  for self-control, and I saw her hands clench and un­

c len ch  spasm odically.
I ’ve w atched you grow for m any years, from when you were a 

l i t t le  baby.
She was not qu ite  so naive as she would have had me th ink .

N o t e .  T h e  v e rb  to know  in  th e  m ean ing  to be aware is generally  used in  th e  
P re sen t o r P a s t  In d e fin i te  an d  fo llow ed on ly  by  th e  in f in i t iv e  io  be w ith  th e  p a r tic le  
to,
e.g . W e a ll know  i t  to  be im possib le .

I knew th a t  to  be tru e .
In  th e  m e a n in g  to experience, th e  verb  to know is generally  used in  th e  P re ­

sent o r P a s t P e rfec t a n d  m ay  be follow ed by  th e  in f in it iv e  of any  v e rb . T he in f in it iv e  
is used w i t  h o u t  to  in  th is  case.

e .g . S h e  is w o rried ; I ’ve  n ev er know n her lose her ne rv e  before.
I had  n ev er know n  H ecto r behave lik e  th is .

The in fin itiv e  after the verb to help  m ay be used w i t h  or w i t h ­
o u t  the p artic le  to.
e.g. H e said  he would have helped me move in.

I was help ing  him  to win as thoroughly as if my happiness were 
at stake.

N o t e .  T o le t somebody know  is  to  b e  tre a te d  as a se t phrase, 
e .g . W hy d id n ’t  y o u  le t  m e know yo u  w ere  com ing?
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The subject of the  infinitive in the function  of objective p red ica tiv e  
is the noun or pronoun which serves as th e  object to  the predicate v e rb  
(see the examples above). There are instances when the object of th e  
predicate verb is a reflexive pronoun. Then it  indicates that the su b jec t 
of the infin itive is the  sam e person or th ing  as denoted by the su b jec t 
of the sentence.
e.g. Roger had m ade him self seem friendly  again .

N o t e .  N o tice  th e  com binations c a n 't bring '  oneself to do something  a n d  
to set oneself to do something  w hich a re  to  be  tr e a te d  a s  se t phrases. T hey a lw a y s  
req u ire  re flex ive  p ro n o u n s a s  objects.

e .g . B u t 1 s t i l l  c a n 't  b rin g  m y se lf to feel th e  w ay  h e  does a b o u t th ings.
I had se t m y se lf to  te l l  th e  abso lu te  t ru th .

§ 192. The in fin itive as objective p red ica tive  is also used a f te r  a 
few verbs taking a prepositional object. The m ost regularly occurring 
of them are: to long for, to look for, to w ait for, to watch for, to listen to, 
to call upon, to rely on, to appeal to, to nod to.

After these verbs the infinitive is used w ith  to except for the  verb  
to listen to which takes an infinitive w i t h o u t  to. 
e.g. He was looking for someone to help  h im .

But later, I ’d lie  awake, w atching for the  ligh t to come th rough  
the litt le  window.

Her whole life had been spent listen ing  to  other people ta lk .
He nodded to  the  mechanics to rem ove the  block.
They appealed to  him  to give up the  idea.
They were w aiting  for dinner to be announced.

Besides, the in fin itive as objective p red icative  may be occasionally  
found after a few verbs which do not regu larly  require prepositional 
objects. Here belong, for example, such verbs as to arrange, to ask, to  
beckon, to cry, to manage, to plan, to provide, to shout, to sign, to te le­
graph, to wire and some others. The m ost com m only used preposition  
here is for, but occasionally we may also find  w ith  or to.
e.g. Then she looked a t me and beckoned for me to come over.

By the way, I m ust arrange for you to  m eet old Mrs Tam ple some 
time.

I arranged w ith  the  concierge to m ake m y coffee in the m orn ing  
and keep the place clean.

I know th a t she telegraphed to  J u l ia  to  come and bring m e w ith  
her.

They drove up to  the verandah steps and  shouted to me to  com e 
down.

The subject of the infinitive is alw ays the  person or thing denoted 
by the prepositional object (see the exam ples above).

The In fin itiv e  as A d v e rb ia l M odifier

§ 193. The in fin itive m ay serve as an  adverb ial modifier to a verb. 
In th is function it is used to  express purpose, consequence, comparison, 
condition and exception.
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§ 194. The in fin itiv e  as an adverbial m odifier of purpose is always 
used w ith the p artic le  to.

The number of verbs followed by an in fin itive of purpose is not res­
tric ted  and their lexical character may be qu ite  different. But they are 
all alike in one respect— they all express actions deliberately carried out 
w ith  a definite a im  in  view. In  other words, these actions are aimed 
a t  the realization  of the  action denoted by the infinitive.

The action of th e  in fin itive  follows th a t of the  predicate verb and 
is  unaccomplished as yet.
e .g . I dressed and w ent ou t to buy the m orning paper.

I came in to  see if I could help you pack, Alison.
I did my best to  stop her.
He put his head out of the window to get some fresh air.

The infin itive of purpose m ay occasionally be preceded by the mo­
difiers in order and so as which emphasize the  idea of purpose (gene­
ra lly  they are not needed).
e .g . I was silent for a m om ent in order to give greater force to  my next 

rem ark.
Next we slid  in to  the  river and had a swim, so as to freshen up and 

cool off.
So as is quite common w ith  a negative in fin itive of purpose, however, 

e .g . We had gone in to  the  m iddle of Hyde P ark  so as not to be overheard.
She hurried so as n o t to give him  tim e for reflexion.

The infin itive m ay also be preceded by other modifiers. Unlike 
in  order and so as w hich only make the idea of purpose more prom inent, 
the  other m odifiers serve to  add their own specific shades of meaning.
e .g . He opened his m outh  wide as if to speak.

C hristine sm iled m ockingly and turned away, as though to  go 
out of the room .

He gave me a l i t t le  sm ile as much as to say, “You see, I don’t 
mean any h a rm .”

He had never cared for th a t room, hard ly  going into it  from one 
year’s end to  another except to take cigars.

They were w aitin g  in  there just to see him .
Chris seemed to  be always wrapped in a gloomy thoughtfulness, 

rarely spoke, and then as a rule, only to quote some poet or phi­
losopher.

He told his joke m erely to gain tim e.
The in fin itive of purpose generally follows the  predicate verb (see 

the  examples above). B ut if special stress is laid  on the infin itive of 
purpose, it  m ay be placed a t the head of the  sentence. However, it is 
n o t often found in  th is  position, 
e.g . To relieve my feelings I wrote a le tter to  Robert.

I forgive you. To prove i t  I ’ll drop in a t your lab some tim e.
Occasionally the  in fin itiv e  of purpose is placed between the subject 

and  the predicate.
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:.g. Ann, to pass the time, had left her k itchen  to  see w hether M r Faber 
was all righ t.

§ 195. The infin itive as adverbial m odifier of consequence is  used 
vith the particle to. I t  is structura lly  dependent—we find it in  a pecu lia r 
entence pattern , the first part of w hich is (he) had only to ... o r (he) 
lad but to... .
;.g. I had only to  look at Mother to know the answer.

He had only to  open the door to  find them  anxiously w aiting  for him . 
Here was romance and it seemed th a t you had but to  s tre tch  out 

your hand to touch it.
In this sentence pattern the action of the infin itive is the  consequence 

)f the action expressed by the predicate verb—it is sufficient to  perform  
he first action for the second ac tion  to  follow. A sim ilar p a tte rn  in 
Russian usually begins w ith стоило только... .

The use of the infinitive of consequence is infrequent.
§ 196. The infin itive as adverbial m odifier of com parison is also 

¡tructurally dependent. It is preceded by than and m odifies a p red icate  
»roup containing the comparative degree of an  adjective or an  adverb . 
The infin itive is generally used w ith  the  partic le to, though it  m ay  be 
;ometimes found w ithout it.
*.g. She seemed more anxious to  lis ten  to  the troubles of o th ers  than 

to discuss her own.
I should have known better th an  to expect to  find it.
Damn it, I ’ve got more im portan t things to do than  look a t  the 

sea.
This function is not of frequent occurrence.
§ 197. The infin itive (with to) m ay serve as an adverb ial m odifier 
condition. In th is case it expresses a condition under w hich th e  action 

3f the predicate verb can be realized. The predicate verb is, as a rule, 
used in the form of the Conditional Mood.
s.g. To hear him  talk , you would th in k  he was a celebrity .

“He is a popular singer,” M onica sa id . “You w ouldn’t  be liev e  it, 
to look a t h im ,” remarked Teddy.

The in fin itive in this function is n o t frequent e ith e r.
§ 198. The infin itive as adverbial m odifier of exception deno tes the 

only possible action that can be perform ed under the  circum stances. 
The use of th is infin itive is s tru c tu ra lly  dependent— it is preceded by 
except or but and is generally used in negative or in terrogative sentences 
(after nothing could be done..., he could do nothing..., what could he do ..., 
h eco u ld n o th e lp ...  and the like). T he in ifin itiv e  is, as a ru le , used  w ith ­
out to.
e.g. We care for each other and th ere  is nothing to  be done ab o u t it, 

except te ll you the tru th .
There was nothing to do b u t escape.
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A t nineteen m inutes to  s ix — I could not help bu t watch the clock- 
the  telephone buzzed.

W hat could he do b u t smile?
The use of the p artic le  to  is an exception.

e .g . D aniel held out his arm  to  her. She had no choice but to obey.

The in fin itive  of exception is infrequent.

§ 199. The in fin itive m ay also serve as adverbial m odifier to a: 
ad jec tive . In this case it is alw ays an adverbial m odifier of consequence 
T h e  in fin itive  here has th e  partic le  to.

The in fin itive  of consequence is not lexically dependent — i tcai  
m odify  any adjective. B u t i t  is dependent structu ra lly  as it can b 
used  only  in  the following sentence patterns:

1) The infin itive serves as an adverbial m odifier of consequenc 
to  an  adjective m odified by enough. The adjective is, as a rule, a pre 
d ic a tiv e  in the sentence.

e .g . He was old enough to  be her father.
I ca n ’t think w ho’d be stupid  enough to side w ith  you.
I hope h e ’s sensible enough to agree to their proposal.
I had known him  as a doctor, but was not old enough to have knowi 

him  as a friend.
I was young enough for th e  children not to feel shy and they chat 

tered m errily  about one thing and another.

As is seen from the  above examples, the action of the infin itive i; 
m ade possible owing to  th e  sufficient degree of the quality  expresse< 
by  th e  adjective.

N o t e .  T he in f in it iv e  c a n  a lso  serve as an ad v erb ia l m o d ifie r o f  c o n se q u en t 
to  a n  a d v erb  m odified  by enough.
e .g .  1 w ish  1 knew  h im  w ell enough  to  judge.

2) The in fin itive also serves as an adverbial m odifier of consequence 
to  an  adjective in  the sentence pattern w ith the correlative so...as
e .g . He was so fortunate as to  escape.

If you are so stup id  as to  lend him your car you m ust expect it tc 
be damaged.

I t  should be noted th a t sentences of the following kind have become 
p o lite  formulas to  express requests.

e .g . W ould you be so good as to  answer the telephone if it  rings? 
W ould you be so k ind  as to  send us your catalogues?

The infin itive in  the  sentence pattern w ith the  correlative so...as 
is n o t of frequent occurrence.

3) The infin itive m ay serve as an adverbial m odifier of consequence 
to  an  adjective preceded by too. The adjective is generally a predicative 
in  th e  sentence.
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e.g. Everyone seemed to  be talking, but I was too shy to take part in  
the conversation.

Y ou’re too young to start giving up your plans.
She told me she was too tired to go out.
He was too embarrassed for us to ask him  about anything.

The action of the infin itive is m ade im possible owing to  the excessive 
degree of the quality  expressed by the adjective.

N o t e .  T he in f in i t iv e  c an  also serve as an  a d v e rb ia l  m o d ifie r of consequence 
to  a n  adverb  preceded b y  too.

e .g . H e  liked  her too m uch  to  cause her any  tro u b le .

The In f in it iv e  as P a r t  of an  A b so lu te  C o n stru c tio n

§ 200. The subject of the infin itive in all the  above described adver­
bial functions is the sam e person or th ing as denoted by the subject 
of the sentence (see the  examples above). B ut the  infin itive may also  
have a subject of its own with which it  forms the  so-called a b s o ­
l u t e  c o n s t r u c t i o n .

The absolute construction w ith the in fin itive  is introduced by th e  
preposition with. The infin itive is used w ith  the  particle to.

The absolute construction has the function of adverbial m odifier 
of attending circum stances in the sentence.
e.g. I t  was a quiet house now, w ith only his secretary to see to  his m eals 

and to take care of his business affairs.
Miss H eythorp is below, S ir, w ith a carriage to  take you home*

As is seen from the above examples, there are two parallel actions 
in th is sentence pattern—one of them is expressed by the pred icate  
verb, the other by the infin itive. Each action  has its own subject.

The infin itive absolute construction is in frequent and found o n ly  
in  literary style.

T he In f in itiv e  as A ttr ib u te

§201 . The in fin itive in the function of a ttr ib u te  im m ediately fol­
lows its head-noun and is used w ith the p artic le  to.
e.g. There is only one way to do it.

You are just the  m an to do it.
He gave her permission to leave.
Have you any com plaint to make against her?
He said he had no sons to carry on his business.
He was touched by the m an ’s desire to  help  him .
W hether you w ant to  do th a t or not is a m a tte r  for you to decide. 
I t  is the only really  im portant problem for our generation to solve.

N o t e  1. T he in f in i t iv e  to come undergoes a  c h a n g e  o f m ean ing— it  m e a n s  
будущий, предстоящий.
e .g . H e  looked h ap p y , a s  i f  h e  w ere d ream in g  of p lea su re s  to  com e.

She d id  n o t rea lize  i t  fo r m o n th s to  come.
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N  o t  e  2 . I f  th e  in f in i t iv e  is p laced  before a n o u n , i t  is p a r t  o f a co m b in a tio n  
w h ich  te n d s  to  beco m e a se t p h rase . T he n u m b er of such  phrases is lim ite d , e.g . 
what-to-do advice, th is  never-to-be-forgotten day, a  much-to-be-longed-for place, an 
ever-to-be-remembered occasion and  th e  like .

Although the  in fin itiv e  m ainly serves as an a ttrib u te  to nouns proper, 
it is also freely used w ith  certain  noun equivalents. Thus it  is typical 
of the in fin itive  to  modify the indefinite pronouns somebody, nobody, 
anybody, everybody, someone, no one, anyone, everyone, something, nothing, 
anything , everything  as well as the interrogative pronouns what and 
who.
e.g. “Have you got anything to ea t?” K atherine asked.

The sergeant said  they had nothing to do there.
I t ’s been wonderful having someone to help.
“ I haven’t  finished y e t .” “W hat is there to fin ish?”

N o t  e 3 . T h e  fo llo w in g  co m b in a tio n s sh o u ld  b e  trea te d  as se t phrases:

e .g . My q u estio n  h a d  n o th in g  to  do w ith  h im .
I shou ld  h a v e  guessed th a t  she  had  n o t h ad  m uch  to  do w ith  c h ild ren .
I expect t h a t ’s so m e th in g  to do w ith  it.

The in fin itive  is also freely combined w ith  ordinal numerals (m ainly 
w ith the fir s t)  and the substantivized adjective the last which always 
have the function of the predicative in the sentence.
e.g. He was alw ays the first to enter the  dining-room and the last to  

leave.
Andrew was the  th ird  to be interviewed.

The in fin itiv e  also serves as an a ttrib u te  to  nouns which are preceded 
by ordinal num erals or the adjective last.
e.g. He was th e  f irs t m an ever to discuss the  philosophy of science w ith 

E rik .
The film  s ta r  A nn Wilson is the 34th actress to play th is part on 

the London stage.
Dear Steve, your last letter to reach me was two months old*

The in fin itiv e  m ay also serve as an a ttrib u te  to pronouns and pro­
nom inal expressions of qu an tity  such as much, li tt le , enough, no more, 
l i tt le  more, a  great deal, a lot, p lenty, etc.
e.g . I ’ve got a lo t to be thankful for.

I thought you had quite enough to do looking after the house and 
so forth .

You are leaving me very little  to say.
Y ou’ve got so m uch to learn.

Occasionally th e  in fin itive is used to  modify the prop-word one.
e.g. If you, boys, w ant to go on I ’m not the  one to spoil the game. 

He w asn ’t  an  easy one to make friends w ith.

§ 202. The in fin itiv e  in the function of a ttrib u te  is characterized 
by specific m eanings. They are determ ined by the re lation between
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the head-word and the infinitive. These re la tio n s  m ay be of two k inds:
1) The head-word m ay be either the  sub ject or the object of th e  

action expressed by the  infinitive. W hen th e  head-word serves as th e  
subject of the in fin itive  it  may be e ither ac tiv e  or passive, depending 
on the Active (a) or Passive (b) form of the  infin itive.
e.g. a) He was not the  m an to draw back w hen his d ignity  was concerned. 

She p itied  the  poor young m an for hav ing  no one to look a f te r  
him.

b) Remember, Roger is a m an to  be watched.
There is nothing to he gained by pretending.

The head-word of an active in fin itive  m ay also be an object of th e  
action expressed by this infinitive.
e.g. Love? I t ’s a funny word to use.

Except in l i t t le  things, he was the  hardest m an to influence. 
There was really  nothing to fear.

In ail the above examples we find th e  in fin itiv e  of verbs req u irin g  
a direct object. If a verb requires a prepositional object, the preposition  
follows the verb.
e.g. I ’m not a very easy man to get on w ith.

I had nothing to worry about.
He realized th a t he d idn’t  know anyone here to talk  to except M ax.

If the infin itive is a link-verb followed by an adjective w hich re ­
quires a prepositional object, the preposition is placed after the ad jec tiv e .
e.g. We have, all of us here, a good deal to be thankful for.

I ’m  sure you have nothing to be afra id  of.
I ’m  afraid I haven’t much to be proud of.

If the head-word is the subject, ac tive  or passive, or the ob ject of 
the action denoted by the infinitive, the  la tte r  acquires modal m ean ing . 
Depending on the context, it m ay denote e ith e r possibility (a) or neces­
sity  (b).
e.g. a) M arion was not the type to p u t on weight.

He was not the man to do rash th ings.
There was nothing to be seen o r heard, not even a bark ing  dog. 

I had nobody to talk to.
Is there a place to get som ething to  ea t near here?

b) W henever there is any packing to  be done, my wife doesn’t  
feel well.

I ’ve got som ething dreadful to  te l l  you.
There was a quarter of an hour to  ki l l ,  so we w alked dow n 

the river.
There is always a question or tw o to be considered.
I ’ve got enough to do w ithout bo thering about you.

N o t e .  T here  is , how ever, one ex cep tio n  to  th e  ru le —th e  o rd in a l n u m e ra ls  a n d  
the lost (or n o uns m o d ified  by them ) a lw ay s se rv e  a s  th e  su b jec t of th e  in f in i t iv e
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b u t  th e  in f in itiv e  does n o t  a cq u ire  th e  a d d itio n a l m odal m eanings of p o ss ib ility  o r 
n ecess ity  in  th is  case.

e .g . H e was th e  f ir s t  to  sp e a k .

I t  is notew orthy th a t  the infinitive is not lexically  dependent here. 
I t  can modify p rac tica lly  any noun, concrete or abstract, as well as 
noun equivalents (see the  examples above).

2) The head-noun m ay be neither the subject nor the object of the 
action  expressed by  th e  infin itive as a ttrib u te . The infin itive in this 
case acquires appositive m eaning, i.e. it serves to  explain the meaning 
of its head-noun. T h a t is why it can modify only certain  abstract nouns 
th a t  adm it of or som etim es even require an  explanation  of their meaning. 
So the use of the in fin itiv e  w ith  appositive m eaning is lexically depen­
den t.

The number of nouns w ith  which it  is used is quite considerable. 
T he most commonly occurring of them are: ab ility , advice, a ttem p t, 
authority  (= r ig h t) , capacity, chance, command, compulsion, decision, 
demand, desire, determ ination, d u ty , eagerness, effort, excuse, fa ilure, 
freedom, impulse, inclina tion , intention, instruction, invita tion, keenness, 
license, longing, m atter, motion  (=proposal), necessity, need, obligation, 
occasion, offer, opportunity , option, order, patience, permission, possi­
b ility , power (= r ig h t) ,  precaution, promise, proposal, readiness, recom­
mendation, refusal, reluctance, resistance, resolution, right, sign, sug­
gestion, temptation, tendency, urge, way, w ill , w illingness, wish and 
some others.
e.g . He had a keen desire to learn.

He had an im pulse to run away.
He made an effort to  collec t himself.
He accepted w illing ly  my invitation  to rem ain for a few days in 

my apartm ent.
Neither of us had any inclination to spend tim e w ith Jeff.
H e’s given me perm ission to talk to you myself.
Philip  was firm  in  his refusal to take over his fa ther’s business.
Y ou’ve no rig h t to  ask those questions.
Her eyes had a tendency to shift from point to point about the 

room.
He b it back the  urge to te ll a lie.
The only way to  cope w ith  her was not to  give an inch.
I rose to go and Mrs Strickland made no a ttem p t to detain me.
Ralph was g lad  of a chance to change the  subject.

§  203. When the  head-noun is neither the subject nor the object 
of the  action expressed by the infinitive in  the a ttrib u tiv e  function, 
th e  la tte r m ay acquire th e  m eaning of consequence. This is found in defi­
n i te  sentence pa tte rns or when the head-noun has special modifiers.

1) The infin itive acquires the meaning of consequence in the sen­
tence pattern  have (get, possess, lack)+ the-\-noun+ infin itive.
e.g . He had the courage to te ll them what he thought of them.

She had the nerve to te ll me a lie!
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The action of the infinitive is m ade possible owing to  the  quality  
expressed by the head-noun.

The infin itive is lexically dependent in this sentence p a tte rn — it 
nodifies a num ber of nouns th a t denote m ental or m oral q u alitie s . 
The most commonly occurring of them  are: assurance, audacity , au- 
'hority, cheek, courage, cruelty , decency, energy, experience, foolishness, 
jw/s, /war/ (=courage), h u m ility , ignorance, imagination , in telligence , 
ngenuity, impertinence, knowledge, nerve, patience, power, presence of 
nind , sense, strength, stupidity, sp ir it , tolerance, good(bad) taste, van- 

w illingness, w ill power, w it(s )  and  some others.

2.g. She had the bad taste to prefer a long-nosed, supercilious ass w ith 
a face like a melancholy horse.

They had the cheek to run away.
Why haven’t  you got the w it to invent something?
I used to th ink th a t one day somebody would have the  g u ts  to 

slam  the door in their faces.
She lacks the knowledge to do i t  the  way it should be done.
I can ’t th ink how you can have the im pertinence to rem ain  here. 
She possessed the will power to  achieve her aim .

2) The infin itive also has the m eaning of consequence w hen i t  serves 
as an a ttrib u te  to a noun modified by enough. The noun can hav e  diffe­
rent functions in  the sentence. The in fin itive  is not lexically  dependent 
here.

e.g. There w asn’t  enough air to s t i r  th e  leaves of the lim e trees.
He isn ’t fool enough to believe th a t sort of thing.
We need every man who has got enough sp irit to say w hat he  really 

th inks.
I noticed her curious trick of throw ing questions a t  m e when I 

could not have enough knowledge to answer.

3) The in ifin itive has the m eaning of consequence when i t  serves 
as an a ttrib u te  to  a noun predicative modified by an  ad jec tiv e  th a t 
is preceded by too. The infinitive is not lexically dependent here. (For 
the place of the article see “A rtic le s” , §66.)

e.g. He was too clever a man to be bluffed.
This is too serious a business to be trifled  with.

The action of the infinitive is m ade impossible owing to  the  excessive 
degree of the quality  expressed by th e  adjective th a t m odifies th e  head- 
noun.

4) The infin itive also expresses consequence in a sentence pattern  
where we find the correlative such...as.
e.g. He can ’t have been such a fool as to give them  a d efin ite  answer 

righ t away.

The use of the infinitive of consequence in the last th ree  sentence 
patterns is not of frequent occurrence.
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§ 204. The infin itive m ay be used as a ttrib u te  in a special sentence 
p a tte rn  w ith  a formal it as sub ject. The infin itive is lexically dependen' 
here— it can modify a m ore or less lim ited num ber of nouns 
A m ong them  we find such sem antically “p a le” nouns as thing. 
m a ttery question , problem, action, idea, task, business, way, ex­
perience, s tu ff.  As a rule, these nouns are modified by adjectives whicl- 
a re  sem antically  more im p o rtan t than the nouns themselves. The most 
frequen tly  occurring other nouns are: achievement, (dis)advantage, com­
fo r t, consolationy cruelty, custom, delight, desire, dream, duty, embar­
rassm ent, encouragement, error, fo lly , frustration, fun , habit, hell, hon­
our, intention , job , joy, lu xu ry , madness, miracle, m isfortune, mistake, 
nonsense, outrage, p ity , p la n , pleasure, privilege, relief, rule, shame, 
surprise , torture, treat, trium ph, trouble, wonder and some others.

The in fin itive has appositive meaning in this sentence pattern .
e .g . I t ’s a good idea to use both methods.

“ I t  would be a dreadful th in g  to be married, ” he exclaimed.
I t ’s our job to worry abou t that, isn ’t it?
I t  was a m istake to  deny it.
B u t it  was a surprise to  hear him  insisting on it.
I t  was u tte r  nonsense to  suggest that he was lying.
I t  was m y intention to show her how greatly  she had underesti­

m ated  me.
I t  had been a rule for years never to disturb F ather in the morning 

w hatever happened.
“ I t  m ust be a terrib le th in g  to have received a classical education ,’1 

she said soberly.
I t ’s a g reat disadvantage to  be held back by m iddle-class m orality .
I t  was a b itte r experience for P h ilip  to learn th a t his best friend 

had let him  down.

§ 205. The infin itive is also used as a ttrib u te  in  a sentence pattern  
w ith  a formal it as object to  a verb. It is m ainly found after the verbs 
to fin d , to make and to th ink.
e.g . I th in k  Helena finds i t  ra th e r a lot of work to clean the place.

Everyone now called h im  Reggie, but he s till found it an effort 
to  get used to it.

H e thought it g reat fun to be out boating.

The construction is hot of frequent use in English though it is not 
re s tr ic ted  to  any style.

The I n f in i t iv e  as Paren thesis

§ 206. The infin itive as parenthesis is used w ith to. I t  is generally 
a se t phrase, such as to te ll  the truth, to be quite frank, to say the least, 
to p u t  i t  m ild ly  (crudely), so to speak, strange (needless) to say , to make 
m a tters  worse and some others.

The in fin itive  phrase as parenthesis serves either to  show the speaker’s 
a t t i tu d e  towards the s itu a tio n  described in the sentence or to a ttrac t
168



atten tio n  to this or th a t fact or to sum up an  idea, and, last but not 
least, it  may serve as some sort of reservation on the  p art of the speaker.
e.g. To te ll the tru th , I ’m  sick and tired  of th is  nonsense.

To put it m ildly, she is just a b it inqu isitive .
To make m atters worse, it began to ra in  and soon we got wet to  

the skin.
When they found out I was not one of them , so to speak, they po­

lite ly  turned from me and ignored me.
The place of the parenthetic phrase in the  sentence is not fixed though 

it  is actually often found at the head of the sentence. In w riting  it  is  
m arked off by a comma.

The Use of the Ing-form  
T he Ing-form  as S u b jec t

§ 207. The Ing-form  in the function of sub ject usually  expresses 
perm anent or recurrent actions, sim ultaneous w ith  th e  action expressed 
by the predicate verb.
e.g. Looking after one m an is really  enough, bu t tw o is ra ther an under­

taking.
Passing a law about equal rights doesn’t  necessarily m ean th a t 

women get them .

Sentences w ith the mg-form as subject have ce rta in  structu ra l pe­
culiarities.

1) We find the ing-form  as subject only in declarative sentences. 
It is never used in in terrogative sentences.

2) The ing-form as subject is always placed a t  th e  head of the  sen­
tence. It is never preceded by any secondary parts .

3) The ing-form  as subject is occasionally found in sentences begin­
ning w ith there is, bu t its use is restric ted  to  negative sentences 
where it  is usually preceded by no. This pattern is common in spoken 
English.
e.g. There was no arguing w ith her about it when she had made up  

her m ind.
Well, there is no avoiding him now.
Of course, I am scared to  hell. There’s no denying th a t.

On the whole, however, the use of the  m g-form  as subject is m ainly 
found in literary  English but even here it  is no t of frequent occur­
rence.

T he Ing-form  as P re d ica tiv e

§ 208. The ing-form  as predicative is usually  used after the link- 
verbs to be, to mean and to look and has appositive m eaning.
e.g. The im portant part is helping people so th a t  they  can live  normal 

lives.
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I can ’t  ask h im  for help. That would m ean telling  him everything 
about you and myself.

The tog*form as predicative is often preceded by like. I t  also has 
appositive m eaning here, but the explanation is made by way of compa­
rison.
e.g. To read h is novels was like swimming in a lake so clear th a t you 

could see the  bottom .
At the tim e  th e ir quarrel looked like going on for ever.
Andrew looked like a sm all boy being teased.

Instances of the  ing-form as predicative are scarce.
N o t e .  T h e  in g -fo rm  a s p red ica tiv e  is som etim es ad jectiv ized .

e .g . T h a t m u s t b e  eno rm o u sly  ex citing .
T h e  jo u rn ey  w as slow , rough  an d  t ir in g  and  to o k  us e leven days.
H u g h ’s to n e  g o t m o re  an d  m ore in su ltin g .

If th e  ing -fo rm  w ere  n o t ad jec tiv ized  i t  w ould  be  tak en  for a C o n tin u o u s ten se- 
a sp ec t form .

e .g . T he q u a rre l o u g h t to  be  sto p p ed . They are in su ltin g  each o th er.

The Ing-form  as P red ica te

§ 209. The ing-iorm  as predicate is restric ted  to two sentence p a t­
terns: 1) in terrogative sentences beginning w ith what about and how 
about and im ply ing  suggestion,
e.g. W hat abou t going to  London?

How about seeing w hat they are doing now?

2) exclam atory  sentences expressing indignation,

e.g. But le ttin g  h im  do it!

Sentences of bo th  kinds are quite common in spoken English.

T he ln g -fo rm  as P a r t  of a  Com pound V erbal P red icate

§ 210. The ing-iorm  is lexically dependent in this function — it 
is used after a num ber of verbs denoting m otion or position. They are: 
to come, to go, to go out ( round, around, about) ,  to lie, to sit, to s it around 
(round,) to stand, to stand around (round), to disappear.

e.g. They cam e rushing in, laughing.
They had often  gone fishing in  those days.
Are we going out dancing tonight?
He w ent abou t sniffing the a ir bu t there was no trace of gas. 
They all sa t around feeling very proud.
“ I ’m re a d y ,” he said to  Maurice and stood waiting.
Next m orning I w okeearly and lay listening to the c latter of dishes 

in the  k itchen .
He disappeared walking, there was no noise, nothing.
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The two verbs of the  com bination form a close sense unit. The m ean in  
of the first com ponent is very pale and it m ain ly  serves as a fin ite  verb , 
while the m eaning of the mg-form is q u ite  prom inent and it  determ ines 
the meaning of the  whole com bination.
e.g. In  th a t mood I entered the bedroom, w here Sheila was lying reading, 

her book near the  bedside lam p.
Sometimes she fell into despondency and sa t doing nothing a t  a ll ,  

neither reading nor sewing for ha lf an  hour at a tim e.
N o t e .  N o tice  th e  fo llow ing  set phrases: 

e .g . I b u rs t o u t  lau g h in g , an d  th e  o th ers  fo llow ed .
All a t  once sh e  b u rs t  o u t crying.

T he Ing-torm  as a  Second A ction  
A ccom panying the A ction  of th e  P re d ica te  Verb

§211 . The m g-form  m ay express a second action  accom panying 
the action expressed by  the predicate verb . The subject of the m g-form  
is the same as the subject of the sentence.

The mg-form in th is function refers no t to  the predicate verb a lone  
b u t to  the  whole predicate group. I t  does n o t form any close sense u n i t  
w ith the predicate verb and can be found w ith  verbal as well as w ith  
nominal predicates.

The tng-form is not lexically dependent in th is  function, 
e.g. They ran  up the  stairs brimming w ith  excitem ent.

I remember the storm , because it had  ra ined  during the n ig h t and  
I ’d  had to  get up about 3 a.m . and go round the house c losing  
all the windows.

You can ’t  ju s t s it there being talked about.
I felt uneasy being alone w ith him  in  th a t large house.
M artha was upstairs getting ready.
When I looked up he was still there w aiting  for me.
She was s ittin g  in the doorway of th e  ten t reading.

As a rule, the mg-form follows the pred icate  group (see the exam ples 
above). But it m ay also be placed a t the head of the sentence or betw een 
the subject and the  predicate.
e.g. Coming in to  m y office one evening in the  autum n, he said sh y ly : 

“Doing anyth ing  ton ight?”
W atching them  w ith  bold, excited eyes, Simon discussed th e ir  

characters.
I made to  go out, but Roger, frowning, shook his head.
In the tax i going home, M argaret, ho ld ing  my hand against her 

cheek, said: “You made a m istake, you know .”
N o t e  1. W hen  th e  m g-form  is used to  d e n o te  a second  ac tio n , i t  is o f te n  se* 

p a ra ted  by  a com m a from  th e  rest of th e  sen tence.
N o t e  2. T h e  i/ig .fo rm s of certa in  verbs h av e  com e to  be used a s  p re p o s i tio n s  

o r  con junctions. C are  sh o u ld  be taken to  d is tin g u ish  th e m  from  real ing-fo rm s.

e .g . Several o ffic ia ls, in c lu d in g  me, had  been in v ite d .
H e says he w ill b e  a t  th e  m eeting  p lace  for th re e  n ig h ts  ru n n in g  n e x t w e e k  b e ­

g inn ing  on  M onday.
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W ell, considering  t h a t  H e c to r’s a p o litic ian , y o u  c a n ’t  say  th a t  h e ’s  a lto g e th e r
a fool.

Presum ing th e  o ld  m a n  g e ts  b e tte r  and com es b ack  to  th e  jo b , th en  w hat?
Supposing yo u  so ld  th e  la n d , w h a t could you ge t fo r i t?
“ T h a t w ill b e  a ll  r ig h t ,  b a rrin g  a cc id e n ts ,” I to ld  h im  a t  once.

N o  t  e 3. N o tice  t h a t  taking  a l l  things into consideration (account) has becom e 
a  se t phrase.

e .g . T aking a l l  th in g s  in to  consid era tio n , I decided to  te a r  m y  le t te r  up .

In the vast m ajo rity  of sentences we find a sim ple wg-fcrm which 
expresses an action sim ultaneous with th a t of the  predicate verb (see 
the  examples above). Y et if both the predicate verb and the mg-form 
are expressed by te rm in a tiv e  verbs, the action of the mg-form precedes 
th a t of the predicate verb . The mg-form in th is  case is always placed 
before the predicate.
e.g . Turning to  his hostess, he remarked: “ I t ’s been a nice d a y .” (= H e  

first turned to  h is hostess and then rem arked.)
Recovering from  h is excitement, he became practical again.
Smith, tu rn ing  to  him , gave a serious contented smile.

The use of the  perfect ing-form, though qu ite  possible, is not of 
frequent occurrence. I t  shows that the action of the  mg-form precedes 
th a t of the predicate verb . The perfect i/zg-form is often placed before 
the  predicate verb.

e.g . Having duly arrived  in Scotland, he took a tra in  the next day to 
Manchester.

Having cu t her d ir ty  bandage, John  s ta rted  ty ing her hand.
Having g radually  wasted his small fortune, he preferred to live 

on the generosity  of others ra ther th an  work.
Francis was there  before me. having come by the m orning tra in .
Norman, having  looked a t his watch, slapped the play-script shut 

and put it  on h is chair.

As has been said , the  subject of the i'/ig-form is usually the person 
or thing denoted by the  subject of the sentence (see the examples above). 
Occasionally, however, we come across instances of an mg-form whose 
subject is expressed elsewhere, for instance, by one of the secondary parts 
of the sentence.

e.g . W alking beside h is friend, it  seemed to  Norman th a t life was not 
so bad after a ll.

B ut back in  h is office, looking down a t h is desk, his sense of well­
being left h im .

I love you like hell, Bridget. And, loving you like hell, you can ’t 
expect me to  enjoy seeing you get m arried to  a pot-bellied, pom­
pous l i t t le  peer who loses his tem per when he doesn’t w in at 
tennis.

But searching for i ’s not dotted, t ’s uncrossed in his letter, it came 
to him th a t  all he had w ritten were lies, big lies poured over 
the paper like  a th ick  syrup.
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The above use of the mg-form is no t com m on. Since norm ally  th e  
subject of the mg-form is the same person or th in g  as the subject of th e  
sentence, it is not easy to  identify the subject of the mg-form in sentences 
of the above kind. Hence, the term dangling  or unattached is ap p lied  
to this mg-form in grammar.

The mg-form denoting a second action in the  kind of sentences i l lu s t ­
rated  above is typical of literary sty le  where its  use is quite ex tensive , 
but it  is hardly ever used in spoken E nglish .

However, the mg-form denoting a second action is quite com m on 
in spoken English after certain predicate groups. Here belong the  verbs 
to spend and to waste when they are followed by the noun time or som e 
other expressions of tim e, and also after to have a good (hard, jo lly ,  
etc.) time, to have d ifficu lty , to have trouble  and some others.

e.g. She did l i t t le  typ ing  herself, bu t spent her tim e correcting th e  
work of the  four girls she em ployed.

Are you going to  spend your life saying “o u g h t”, like the rest of 
our m oralists?

She told me th a t  she would often spend a whole m orning w orking 
upon a single page.

Well, I ’m sure I don’t  know why I w aste tim e cooking a b ig  m eal 
for this fam ily  if no one wants to  ea t it.

He had a good tim e dancing a t the club.
We had trouble getting  into the banquet room, even though B ridget 

told the g irl a t  the entrance door th a t  we were journalists.
They had difficu lty  finding his address.

In spoken English there is another sentence pattern  in which th e  
mg-form denoting a second action is also q u ite  common. The sen tence 
pattern  includes the verb to be followed by an  indication of place: to  be 
out, to be in, to be here (there), to be upsta irs (downstairs) , to be in  the  
room (kitchen, garden, office, etc.) and the  like.

e.g. Mother is out shopping.
P at is dow nstairs talking to F ather.
Miss Sm ith was in her office typing.

The Ing-form  a s  O b je c t

§ 212. The mg-form may be used as object to  a verb, direct or p re ­
positional. In both cases it is lexically dependent.

As a direct object, it  is used after the following verbs: to a d m it, to  
avoid, to begin, to cease, to consider, to continue, to delay, to deny, to  
endure, to enjoy, to escape, to fin ish , to forget, to g ive up, to go on, to  
hate, to intend, to keep, to keep on, to leave o ff , to like, to love, to m en - 
tion, to mind (in negative and in terrogative sentences), to neglect, to  
postpone, to prefer, to propose ( = to  suggest), to p u t o ff, to q u it, to  
recall, to recollect, to regret, to remember, to resent, to resume, to  
risk, to start, to stop, to suggest, to try  and  some others.
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e.g. English g ram m ar is very difficult and few w riters have avoided 
making m istakes in it.

Mum and D ad seem to  enjoy turning everything topsy-turvy. 
The rest of us had  finished eating, but Cave had cut himself another 

slice of cheese.
Simon took baths a t  eccentric hours and K ate had long since given 

up trying to  stop him .
Roger went on speaking with energy, calculation and w arm th. 
He kept on sm ilin g  a t  her and speaking.
He drank his beer and resumed reading his paper.
I was in low sp irits  and even considered going away.
David R ubin  d id  n o t much like being called  Professor.

In addition to  th e  verbs mentioned in the list above, the mg-form 
as object is used after ce rta in  modal phrases in the negative form: can’t 
bear, can 't face, can ’t  fancy, can't imagine, ca n 't resist, can 't stand  
and can’t  help .

e.g . They can ’t  bear being hum iliated.
He could n o t face being talked about.
Later in  the  day she couldn’t  resist ca llin g  Mrs Spark to find out 

the details of the  tragedy.
H e couldn’t help  asking me: “ Isn ’t there anything else you can 

do for R oger?”

Besides, the m g-form  is also used after the set phrase to feel like.

e.g. He felt like g iv ing  up the whole affair.
I d idn’t feel like  ta lk ing  to  him after w hat had happened.

§  213. The ing-loTm  m ay serve as object to  a verb in a special sentence 
p a tte rn  w ith a formal i t  as subject. The use of the mg-form in th is sen­
tence pattern  is found after a very lim ited num ber of verbs and set 
phrases (which are verb equivalents) but it  is typical of spoken 
English.

e.g . He said to  his w ife: “ I t  doesn’t m atter m uch being liked, for th is 
kind of life.

When it  comes down to  getting a job w ith  a living wage attached 
to  it, h e ’s p repared  to  put his theories in  his pocket.

She was, as her colleagues said, “good on p ap e r” , but when it  came 
to speaking in  com m ittees she was so apprehensive th a t she 
spent sleepless hours the night before.

§ 214. As a p repositional object to a verb, the  mg-form is also lexi­
ca lly  dependent. I t  is found after verbs th a t tak e  a prepositional object. 
These verbs m ay be d iv ided  into three groups:

1) verbs followed by a prepositional object alone;
2) verbs followed by  a non-prepositional object and a prepositional 

object;
3) verbs followed by two prepositional objects.
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§ 215. The verbs of the first group  are closely connected w ith  a prep­
osition whose meaning is often weakened. The following is  the  list 
of the most commonly used verbs: to adm it to, to agree to, to aim  at, 
to apologize for, to approve of, to believe in, to bother about, to  care for, 
to come of, to come round to, to com plain of, to confess to , to consist of 
( in ) , to count on, to despair of, to dream of, to end in, to forget about, 
to feel up to, to get to, to get down to, to go back to, to grum ble about, 
to hesitate about, to insist on, to lead to, to long for, to mean by, to persist 
in, to p lan  on, to reckon on, to refrain from, to return to, to  result in 
(from ), to save from, to succeed in , to take to, to ta lk  o f, to te l l  of, to 
threaten w ith , to think of (about), to worry about and some others, 
e.g. W hat d id  she mean by boasting  like that?

I d id n ’t th ink twice about te llin g  her; we had no secrets.
I t  does not seem impossible th a t  the biologist w ill in th e  future 

succeed in creating life in  his laboratory.
The readers of a book in sist on knowing the reasons of action.
L e t’s get down to signing the  papers.
Towards the end of the sum m er, they visited me together several 

tim es, and then Norman took to coming alone.
I had never been on an aeroplane and worried about being strapped 

down.
I m ust apologize for having interrupted a conference.

Here also belong certain set phrases, such as: to look forward to, 
to make a po int of, to plead g u i l ty  to, to find  excuses for, to take pride 
in, to lose tim e in, to have no doubt about and some others, 
e.g. I took pride in making m y lodgings pretty  and com fortable.

He was taking risks in speaking in  th a t tone to  them .
I expect you are looking forward to seeing your fiancé again?

Special a tten tio n  should be g iven  to  set phrases w ith  th e  verb  to 
be which are to be treated as verb equivalents, 
e.g. W ould you be up to playing w ith  us th is afternoon?

She was just on the point of going away when B etty  V ane cam e in.
“W ould you be in favour of investigating  the m a tte r?” M onty  asked.

The subject of the action expressed by the ing-form is generally  
the person denoted by the subject of the sentence (see the  exam ples 
above). But occasionally we find  an  mg-complex. 
e.g. I don ’t in  the least object to  your playing practical jokes on other 

people.
She com plained about the porridge being lum py.

But the  use of an  trig-complex seems to  be generally req u ired  by 
the verbs to approve of, to disapprove of, to grumble about an d  some 
others (we usually  approve of or grum ble about some o ther peop le’s 
actions—hence the agent of the m g-form  is expected to  be a  person or 
th ing other than  the one denoted by the subject of the sentence.)
e.g. He could not approve of G uy’s hiding him self aw ay.

We ca n ’t  grum ble about th ings being dull, can we?
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§ 216. Verbs requiring a non-prepositional object and a prepositional 
o b jec t are in general less num erous. Besides, not all of them  take an 
m g-form  as their prepositional object (e.g. to explain something to 
somebody, to dedicate something to somebody, etc.).

O f the verbs taking a non-prepositional object and a prepositional 
o b jec t expressed by an tag-form , the most commonly occurring are: 
to  accuse somebody of, to amuse somebody with, to ask somebody about, 
to  charge somebody w ith, to coax somebody into, to g ive  something to, 
to  g iv e  something for, to in v ite  somebody into, to keep somebody from, 
to  m u tte r  something about, to persuade somebody into, to remind somebody 
o f, to  restrict oneself to, to save somebody from, to say something about, 
to  stop  somebody from, to suspect somebody of, to ta lk  somebody into  
(o u t o f) , to te ll something about and some others.

e .g . I am prepared for anyone to  accuse me of being cowardly.
I t  had been easy to coax M argaret into inv iting  the Morgans to 

stay  w ith us for a w eek.
D id  she suspect them  of try ing  to cheat her?
I hope you w on’t let Peg ta lk  you out of jo in ing  me?
I t  is lack of im agination  th a t  prevents people from seeing things 

from any point of v iew  b u t their own.
W ill you be able to  keep those fellows from m aking any more fuss?

O f all the prepositions th ere  is one that acquires particu lar impor­
ta n c e  in  th is construction as it m ay be associated w ith  a considerable 
n u m b er of verbs and is, consequently, of frequent occurrence. It is the 
p reposition  for. I t  generally serves to indicate the cause of the action 
deno ted  by the predicate verb.

For m ay be found after the  following verbs: to blame somebody, 
to excuse somebody, to forgive somebody, to reprimand somebody, to re­
proach somebody, to thank somebody, to like somebody, to love somebody, 
to ha te  somebody, to pay somebody, to scold somebody and some others.
e .g . I thought you had ju st been blaming me for being neutral.

I ’m not going to reproach you for interrupting the rehearsal.
I was going to thank  you for looking after him  till  I came.
The m ajor reprim anded h im  for being late.
He scolded me for n o t hav ing  let him know.

T he subject of the ing-form in  this sentence p a tte rn  is the person 
denoted  by the direct object of the verb, as in  She tried to talk  
h im  in to  doing it  (see also the  examples above).

A fter verbs of speaking w e often find an ing-iorm  complex.
e .g . I to ld  them about G u stav ’s wanting to come w ith  me.

I said something about J a n e  being in love w ith him , but he would 
not ta lk  about her.

I m uttered  som ething abou t its being a p ity .

§ 217. The number of verbs requiring two prepositional objects of 
w hich  the second is an ¿ng-form is limited. The mg-form is also intro­
duced  by the preposition for as w ith  some verbs in § 216 above.
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1.g. I entered the class-room and apologized to  th e  teacher for being late.
I should have been vexed w ith you for th ink ing  me such a fool.

§ 218. The iTzg-form m ay also serve as object, d irect and preposi­
tional, to an adjective. In  both cases it is lex ically  dependent.

As a direct object it  is found only after two ad jectives— busy and 
soorth.
*.g. The foreman was busy shouting orders and directions.

The children were busy doing all the th ings they  had been told 
not to do.

He thought my idea was worth trying.
It was not a w itticism  worth repeating.

§219. The mg-form m ay be used as a d irect object to  an adjective 
in a sentence pattern  w ith a formal it  as subject. T h is kind of object 
is also lexically dependent—it regularly occurs afte r i t  is worth.
2.g. It is worth remembering th a t he has once been a boxer.

I t  is worth finding it out.
Sometimes the mg-form is found after a num ber of o ther adjectives, 

such as: amusing, banal, comfortable, d ifficu lt, dreary, easy, great,hope- 
less, lovely, nice, odd, pleasant, strange, tough, useless, wonderful, etc. 
j.g . It was difficult getting  him to do it.

It w on’t be easy finding our way back. T here’s not much moon.
It will be ra ther nice seeing him again.
It was useless arguing w ith Jane .

But the ¿«g-form is common after these adjectives only in spoken 
English, and such sentences are often em otionally  coloured. We gene­
rally  find the infin itive here (see “V erbs”, § 189, 2).

§ 220. The mg-form may be used as object to an ad jec tive in a sentence 
pattern w ith a formal i t  as object to  the verbs to th in k , to find  and to 
make. The formal it, in its  turn, is followed by an adjective, and it is 
to this adjective that the mg-form serves as an object.
e.g. She did not find it worth while pressing fu rther.

He thought it very odd my leaving when I d id .
§ 221. The ing-iorm  as a prepositional object is found after various 

kinds of adjectives—they m ay be adjectives proper, predicative adjec­
tives and adjectivized participles. The most com m only occurring of 
them are: absorbed in, (un)accustomed to, afraid o f, amused at, angry 
with, annoyed at, ashamed of, aware of, (in)capable o f, careful about ( in ) ,  
careless of, certain o f, clever a t, (un)conscious o f, content w ith, delighted at, 
different from, embarrassed at, excited about, far from , fond of, fortunate

frightened of, furious a t, given to, good (better) a t, g ra te fu l for, happy 
in (a t) , interested in, irritated at, keen on, m iserable a t, nice about, 
proud of, pleased at, responsible for, right in, scared a t (o f) , set against, 
set on, sick of, skilled in (a t) ,  slow in, sorry for, successful a t ( in ) , sure 
of, surprised at, thankful for, tired of, touched a t, upset a t, (un)used to, 
worried about, wrong in, etc.
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e.g. If only I were capable of doing thatl
We were never very careful about taking precautions.
“You look for trouble, don’t you?” “Only because I ’m p re tt) 

certa in  of finding i t . ”
I was fa ir ly  content w ith letting  things go as they were.
Somehow I w asn’t too interested in trying to get back in to  that 

work.
I was tired  of doing much the sam e thing every day.
“ I ’m sorry  for giving you so m uch tro u b le ,” she said.
I felt th a t  he was excited about showing me his new car.
He was unconscious of Anna standing beside him.

T he Ing-form  a s S u b jectiv e  P red ica tiv e

§ 222. The in g - form as subjective predicative is lexically dependent. 
I t  is found afte r a lim ited  num ber of verbs in the Passive. These verbs 
are: to catch, to fin d , to hear, to leave, to notice, to report, to see, to set, 
to show, to watch.

e.g. I felt I had been caught boasting.
The baby was found sittin g  on the floor.
The o ld  wom an was heard shrieking in short bursts like a ship in 

the fog.
W hen the  door closed, M onty and I were left looking at each other.
About th a t  tim e a hurricane was reported moving out of the Carib­
bean in our direction.

Here also belong a few verbs after which the wg-form is introduced 
by as. They are: to accept, to consider, to explain, to guarantee, to men­
tion , to regard, to take, to treat, to understand. Here also belong the 
verbs to speak o f and to think o f which retain  their prepositions in this 
sentence p a tte rn .

e.g. The Browns did not entertain  and were spoken of in  the d istrict 
as being “poor as church m ice” .

Jan e t and I became very friendly, and a t school we were consider­
ed as going together.

The use of the  mg-form as subjective predicative is not of frequent 
occurrence.

T he Ing -fo rm  a s  O bjective  P red ica tiv e

§ 223. The m g-form  as objective predicative is lexically dependent 
—it is used afte r a num ber of transitive verbs in the Active followed 
by an object w hich is expressed by a noun or a pronoun. The following 
are the most frequently  used verbs taking a direct object: to call, to 
catch, to discover, to feel, to find , to hear, to get, to imagine, to keep, 
to leave, to (d is )like , to notice, to picture, to see, to send, to set, to stop , 
to watch, to w ant.
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e.g. I felt him looking at me now and again .
When he arrived he found me reading Tom Jones.
Ju s t as I got to the end of the corridor, I heard my telephone ring ­

ing again.
E llen had noticed me talking w ith  the  landlady.
He saw me watching him.
One afternoon in August I saw  som ething that surprised m e and 

set me thinking.
This construction is also found afte r two verbs tak ing  a p rep­

ositional object— to listen to and to look at.
e.g. We opened the door for a m om ent and looked out at th e  w indy  

night and listened to the trees groaning.
He looked at Jan e  wiping her tear-w et face.

Here also belong a few verbs after w hich the mg-form is in tro d u ced  
by as: to accept, to consider, to exp la in , to guarantee, to m ention, to re­
gard, to speak of, to take, to th ink o f, to treat, to understand.
e.g. You took his statem ent as being q u ite  in  order.

He has spoken of your re la tives as though he would never accept 
them  as being his.

We always thought of him as being “prom ising.”
W ith all the above verbs, the object th a t precedes the m g-form  is 

always expressed by a noun in the com m on case or by a personal pro­
noun in the objective case, and serves as subject to the action deno ted  
by the mg-form. But there are a num ber of other verbs after w h ich  the  
object m ay be expressed either in the  above described way or by a noun 
in the genitive case or a possessive pronoun. These verbs are: to  appre­
ciate, to dread, to excuse, to fancy, to forget, to forgive, to hate, to  ha ve , 
to imagine, to m ind, to miss, to pardon, to prevent, to recall, to remember, 
to resent, to (m is)understand and also can 't bear, can't help  and to  catch 
sight of.
e.g. Forgive my (me) interrupting you, Mr Passant, but w ith  a  school 

record like yours I ’m puzzled w hy you don’t try  for a u n iv e rs ity  
scholarship?

1 appreciate your (you) coming to  m y defense.
Do you recall Bayard’s (Bayard) doing that?

The Ing-form  a s A d v e rb ia l M odifier

§ 224. The mg-form can serve as an  adverbial modifier to  a  v e rb . 
In th is function it denotes a second ac tio n  accompanying the a c tio n  ex ­
pressed by the predicate verb. In th is  case it  is preceded by a co n ju n c ­
tion or a preposition which lend it adverb ial meanings, such as tim e , 
concession, condition, attending circum stances, manner, cause, and  
some others.

The adverbial meaning of the m g-form  is determ ined by the  m ean in g  
of the preceding conjunction or the preposition.

The mg-form is not lexically dependent here—it may be used  a fte r 
any verb.
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§ 225. The mg-form m ay be preceded by the conjunctions while, 
when , once, if, as though , as if ,  though, than, as well as and the 
co rrelative conjunctions a s...a s  and not so...as.

W hile  and when lend the  m^-form the adverbial meaning of time, 
em phasizing the idea of sim uitaneousness of its action w ith that of the 
p red icate  verb. While shows th a t  both actions are taking place at a giv­
en  moment or period of tim e (a); when usually serves to  express recur­
re n t actions sim ultaneous w ith  the action of the predicate verb (b).
e .g . a) He continued to  speak while walking down the path.

The photograph showed himself, shielding his eyes against the 
sun while s ittin g  on a swing, 

b) She picked up B u tle r’s heavy spectacles which she employed 
always when reading and put them on.

Often, when boasting of his deceits, he sounded childlike and in­
nocent.

The conjunctions as though  and as i f  serve to  show that the person 
denoted  by the subject of the  sentence appears to be performing the ac­
tio n  indicated by the m g-form : there is something in the manner, in the 
behaviour of the person th a t gives the impression th a t the action is being 
perform ed by him.
e .g . Lena gave me a very long look indeed as though seeing me for the 

first time.
Much of the afternoon I looked out of the window, as though think­

ing, but not rea lly  th ink ing .
He listened as though brooding.
She stopped speaking as if waiting for him to speak.

The use of the other conjunctions is infrequent.
e .g . Himself a m an of l i t t le  or no education, though possessing rem ark­

able shrewdness, he placed little value on w hat he called book 
knowledge.

He always dropped in  if passing by their house on a wet night.
I ’ve got a com fortable home to take you to, and you’ll be your 

own mistress, w hich is much better than being in service. 
Mary brought in the  coffee and when she had gone he inhaled the 

steam of it. I t  was as good as drinking it.
Nothing is so dangerous as being too modern.

The use of the m ^-form  in this function is found only in literary 
s ty le  and even there it is no t frequent.

N o t e .  T he ing-form  m ay  a c q u ire  adverbial m ean in g  even  when i t  is no t p re­
c e d e d  by a co n ju n c tio n . B u t th is  use  o f  th e  tng-form is s ti ll  less freq u en t. For exam ple, 
i n  th e  sen tences below  th e  m g -fo rm  h as the follow ing m eanings: 

cause —  Seeing th e ir  u n e as in e ss  M rs Norris softened a n d  sm iled .
K now ing he c o u ld  n o t go to  Alice he tr ie d  to  te lep h o n e  her. 

tim e —  I know we sh a ll b re a k  o u r  necks one n ig h t w a lk in g  across th e  fie ld . 
manner —  They w a lk ed  by  th e  lak e  holding hands.
concession — B u t w hy  d id  he m arry  her, feeling  a s  he  d id  ab o u t every th ing? 
condition —  Oh, do go u p s ta irs ,  Lizzy! Y ou’ll o n ly  ca tch  a co ld , hanging  

a ro u n d  th e  passage.
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§ 226. The mg-form may be preceded by the prepositions w ithout, 
by, instead of, before, after, on, in , through, /rom, besides, fo r  fear of, 
for the sake of, on the verge of, except for and some others.

The most frequently used of them  is w ithout. It serves to show  th a t 
an action which may be logically expected to accompany th e  action 
of the predicate verb does not take place.

e.g. “ It is a funny th ing ,” he said , w ith o u t sm iling at all.
You know some women c a n ’t see the telephone w ith o u t taking 

the receiver off.
The bus passed us without stopping.
In a m u tte r he thanked her w ithout raising his eyes.
I watched her for a little w hile w ithou t being seen.
Then he left us without saying good-bye.

As is seen from the above exam ples, the mg-form is p laced  after 
the predicate verb. Its position a t the  beginning of the sen tence or be­
tween the subject and the predicate, though possible, is unusual.

e.g. Slowly, w ithout turning his head, he pulled him self to  a half­
s ittin g  position.

Roger, w ithout turning to me, said  in  a curt, fla t and even  tone, 
“There m ay possibly be tro u b le .”

It is notew orthy that we find a synonym ous construction in  English 
which is an mg-form preceded by not. But it  differs from the  ing-iorm  
preceded by w ithout—it does not im ply the  idea th a t the ac tio n  is log­
ically expected. Like any other tng-form , it  sim ply denotes a  second 
action. O nly in this case it is in  the  negative form (see “Verbs” , § 211).

e.g. I returned to the drawing-room, and stood preoccupied, n o t notic­
ing acquaintances about the room, w ith my back to the  fire .

We had both sat for a long tim e, no t speaking; in the q u ie t I knew 
she was not reading.

The mg-form preceded by not is typical only of li te ra ry  sty le , 
whereas the mg-form preceded by w ithou t is in  common use in  lite ra ry  
as well as in spoken English.

Another frequently occurring preposition which m ay precede the 
mg-form is by. In this case the action  denoted by the m g-form  express­
es a means, a m ethod of performing the  action of the p red ica te  verb . 
It m ay also indicate the manner in  w hich the action of the  p red ica te  
verb is carried out.

e.g. You begin learning a language by listening to  the new sounds. 
He greeted me noisily, but I cut h im  short by giving him  th e  te le­

gram.
I don’t w ant to  distress her by te llin g  her th a t you have behaved 

like a cad.
“ I have m y dignity to th ink o f .” “One often preserves th a t  best 

by pu tting  it in one’s p o ck e t.”
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T his wg-form is generally  placed after the predicate verb, though 
its  fron t position is occasionally possible.
e .g . By keeping quiet, she m igh t save herself a lot of trouble.

T he mg-form introduced by instead of is also in common use. 
I t  is characterized by a clear-cut meaning, owing to  the preposition 
itse lf . Its  position w ith regard  to  the predicate verb is not fixed.
e .g . W hy do you tuck your um brella under your left arm instead of 

carrying it in your hand  like anything else?
You positively help them  instead of hindering them .
He bought pictures instead of buying me the things I wanted.
I persuaded my uncle th a t it would be very good for my lungs if 

instead of staying a t school I spent the following w inter on the 
Riviera.

The use of the m ^-form  w ith  other prepositions is less common. 
In g -forms following the  prepositions before, a fter  and on express 

tim e  relations between the action  of the predicate verb and that of the 
m g-form .

Before shows th a t the action  expressed by the mg-form follows that 
of the  predicate verb. It is usually  placed in post-position to the pred­
ica te  verb.
e .g . He w aited a long w hile before answering.

He had given her two pots of geraniums before leaving for London 
last week.

They were sitting  there now before going out to  dinner.

A fte r  indicates th a t the  action  expressed by the mg-form precedes 
th e  action expressed by the  predicate verb.
e .g . After glancing a t his w atch  he said, in a businesslike tone: “You’ve 

m ade me a b it la te .”
A fter staying away eigh teen  years he can hard ly  expect us to be 

very anxious to see him .
But a fte r hesitating a m om ent or two, Jiggs knocked on the door.

On expresses the sam e re la tions as after. But on emphasizes the 
id ea  of an  im m ediate succession of the two actions—the action of the 
p red ica te  verb begins a t the  moment the action of the t/ig-form is ac­
com plished. It is notew orthy th a t we find only the mg-forms of termina- 
tiv e  verbs here.
e .g . On arriv ing at the co ttage she found it locked.

On getting  up in the m orning I found a letter on my doorstep. 
Mr Doyle came in as a m an at home there, but on seeing the stran ­

ger he shrank a t once.

As is seen from the above examples, the wg-form  introduced by 
a fte r  and on is usually placed before the predicate verb.

The meaning of the ing-iorm  introduced by in  is not so clear-cut. 
I t  m ay  be defined as lim itin g  the sphere of application of the action
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denoted by the predicate verb or as indicating a process during  which 
the action of the predicate verb is performed.
e.g. I ’ve done something rather foolish in coming here ton igh t, I regret it. 

In defending myself against th is lady, I have a righ t to  use any 
weapon I can find.

I daresay you have noticed th a t  in speaking to you I have been 
p u tting  a very strong constra in t on myself.

The place of the ing-form preceded by in is not fixed.
The use of ing-forms introduced by other prepositions is s till  less 

frequent. We find various prepositions here.

e.g. It was a lesson he had learned from having seen so m any accidents. 
I found th a t besides being a philosopher he was an uncom m only 

good w riter.
We talked in whispers for fear of disturbing the  Sm iths.
It was very quiet in the wood except for our feet breaking twigs. 
They were political link-men who added to their incomes through 

leaking secret information to  the press.
As for staying w ith your uncle for a while, I ’m convinced you’ll 

enjoy every m inute of it.

It should be noted that on the  whole the above described use 
of the mg-form is sty listically  n eu tra l—it is found in lite ra ry  as well 
as in spoken English. However, care should be taken to rem em ber that 
ing-iovms preceded by after , before and on are not in common use. 
Adverbial clauses of tim e are much more frequent.

N o t e .  ¡N o tice  th a t  in  th e  fo llow ing  sen tences we are d e a lin g  w ith  se t phrases.

e .g . H e  sa id  in passing  th a t  m oney d id n ’t m a tte r  m uch, s in ce  h is w ife  w as so rich . 
They w ere to  do n o th in g  for the tim e  being.
I t  goes w ith o u t saying th a t  h e a lth y  m en are  hap p ie r th a n  s ic k  m en .

The Ing-form  as P a rt o f  an  A bso lu te  C onstruc tion

§ 227. The subject of the mg’-form in the above described adverbial 
functions is the same person or th ing  as denoted by the sub ject of the 
sentence. But the mg-form may have a subject of its own w ith  which it 
forms the so-called a b s o l u t e  c o n s t r u c t i o n .
e.g. He gave an intim ate smile, some of the freshness re tu rn in g  to his 

face.
His study was a nice room w ith  books lining the w alls.

There are two parallel actions in th is sentence p a tte rn —one of them 
is expressed by the predicate verb, the other by the m g-form . Each 
action has its own subject.

Absolute constructions may be of two kinds—non-prepositional and 
prepositional, introduced by the preposition with. They are both  lex­
ically independent.

The non-prepositional construction and the prepositional construc­
tion are synonymous.
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A bsolute constructions, w hile serving to denote a second action 
paralle l to  th a t of the predicate verb, acquire at the same tim e adver­
b ia l m eanings and thereby stand  in specific relations to  the m ain part 
of the  sentence.

The m ost commonly occurring meaning of the absolute construction 
is to  describe the appearance, the behaviour or inner s ta te  characterizing 
the  person denoted by the subject of the sentence. Non-prepositional 
(a) as well as prepositional (b) constructions serve this purpose. This 
m eaning of the absolute construction may be called d e s c r i p t i v e  
c i r c u m s t a n c e s .

e.g . a) F ina lly  she stood back and looked at him, her face radiantly  
sm iling.

“ But i t ’s so ridiculous th a t we don’t know what to d o ,” W il­
liam  told them , his voice rising in indignation.

She kept on running, her heart thumping furiously, her steps 
quickening in pace w ith  her heartbeats, 

b) The m an was leaning forward in his seat, w ith his head resting 
in  his hands.

H e struggled on, pan ting  for breath, and w ith his heart beating 
w ildly.

H e went into the house, w ith a curious sadness pressing upon 
him .

A nother meaning of the absolute construction is to  describe the cir­
cum stances attending the action  of the predicate verb, serving as its 
background, as it  were. I t  m ay also be expressed by non-prepositional 
(a) and prepositional (b) constructions.

e.g. a) W hen we entered the sitting-room  she was sitting  w ith her 
s is te r before an  open fire-place, the glow of a lamp with a 
red-flowered shade w arm ly illum inating the room.

Then they were out in the cold night, fresh snow crunching 
noisily  underfoot, 

b) The n ight was clean, w ith  a new moon silvering the trees along 
the  road and an energetic wind tidying away the clouds.

W ith  a hurricane approaching, we prepared to  stand a seige.

Absolute constructions m ay acquire the adverbial m eaning of cause, 
when the  action denoted by the absolute construction indicates the cause 
of the  action  denoted by the predicate verb. This m eaning is also ex­
pressed by non-prepositional constructions (a) and prepositional con­
structions (b).

e.g. a) Death being contrary to  their principles, the Forsytes took 
precautions against it.

A room lit up on the th ird  storey, someone working late, 
b) I ca n ’t w rite w ith you standing there.

By twelve o ’clock, w ith  the sun pouring into the room, the 
heat became oppressive.
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Finally , absolute constructions can serve as som e k ind of additional 
explanation of the statem ent m ade in the m ain  p a r t of the sentence. 
In th is case the absolute construction acquires m ore sem antic independ­
ence— it seems to be on a par w ith the predicate verb . This meaning is 
m ainly expressed by the non-prepositional construction.
e.g. Everyone in the house was busy: Nessie frow ning over her lessons, 

Mumma deeply engaged in her novel, G randm a sleeping in her 
armchair.

There were two serious accidents in the W est C ountry , one involv­
ing a coach and a car.

English words can be classed as variable and invariab le , the lalter 
being much more numerous than in the o ther European lan­
guages.

The three stood in a triangle before the fire, the  two men smoking, 
and the woman sniffing at an October rose.

Absolute constructions are generally typical of lite ra ry  style where 
their use is quite extensive. In spoken English we m ain ly  find the prep­
ositional absolute construction.

T he Ing-form  as A ttr ib u te

§ 228. The ing-form in the function of a ttr ib u te  is found in different 
constructions.

The mg-form may im m ediately precede its head-noun. In  this case 
it expresses an action which is performed by the person or thing denoted 
by the head-noun (i.e. the head-noun is the subject of th e  action expressed 
by the mg-form). The mg-form is always a single w ord in th is case, not 
an extended phrase. This a ttrib u te  is not lexically  dependent—it may 
modify any noun.
e.g. There was nothing to be seen or heard, not even a barking dog. 

Passing the Comedy Theatre I happened to  look up and saw the 
clouds lit by the setting  sun.

I reached for a cigarette w ith  trem bling hands, and lit it. 
Singing people, arm in arm , filled the streets.

This kind of a ttrib u te  is not of frequent occurrence in English and 
is typical only of literary  style. However, m g-forms appear to  be quite 
common as attribu tes when they are used m etaphorically .
e.g. They delivered their views on the burning questions of the day. 

A rthur gave a creaking laugh.
“H ungry ,” said Mrs Nenneker, in a trum peting  voice.
Carbury cocked an inquiring eye at him.
He watched it w ith  despairing incredulity.

It is typical of the mg-form in this function to  become adjectivized— 
the ing-iorm  is devoid of the idea of action in th is  case and its lexical 
m eaning is often changed as compared with the m eaning of the correspond­
ing verb, e.g. a charming girl means a very nice g ir l ,  an amusing story
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is an in teresting , fu n n y  story, a promising writer is a talented writer 
{for ad jec tiv iza tion  see also “Verbs”, § 172).
e.g. We had a very good view of all the  surrounding scenery.

A desolate loneliness settled on me—almost a frightening loneli­
ness.

In  her ring ing  voice, she turned to the man on her right: “Reggie, 
w hat do you th ink  I ought to  do?”

They were preoccupied w ith the coming debate.
Such ad jectiv ized ing-forms are in common use in English. 
A nother peculiar feature of the ing-iorm  in this function is its ten­

dency to form, in com bination w ith its head-noun, a set phrase, e.g. 
the reading p u b lic , the presiding magistrate, a racing man , working peo- 
pie , a fig h tin g  officer, a leading politician, revolving doors, running water, 
a booking o ffice , a publishing house, closing time, walking shoes, e tc .|

§ 229. The mg-form as a ttrib u te  may closely follow its head-noun. 
It also expresses an  action performed by the person or thing denoted 
by the head-noun (i.e. the head-noun is the subject of the mg-form). 
But unlike th e  m£*form in pre-position to the noun, it is a more or 
less extended group, not a single word.

This kind of a ttrib u te  is not lexically dependent—it m ay modify 
any noun. Y et its  use is structura lly  dependent when it serves to  mod­
ify a noun afte r there is (are). 
e.g. There are some people coming in here now.

There is a lo t of work w aiting for me to do.
“A ren’t  you coming to the music room ?” “Not if there is any music 

going on. ”
There was a m an hurrying down the street in front of me.

We find th e  structu ra lly  dependent use of the mg-form coming on 
(in , up) when i t  modifies a noun which is an object to the verb to have 
or to have got.
e.g. I saw a t  once he had an attack  of m alaria coming on.

Sam th in k s th a t he ought to return home by the next boat. He 
has got his exams coming on.

Y ou’ve got too m any things coming up to get involved in such 
an affair.

This k ind of a ttrib u te  is used in literary  as well as in spoken Eng­
lish.

N o t e .  I t  is  n o tew o rth y  th a t  running  in  p ost-position  to  a p lu ra l noun  is 
used in  th e  m e a n in g  of one after another, in succession.
e.g. H e say s h e  h a s  rece iv ed  th ree  teleg ram s ru n n in g  from them .

§ 230. In  a ll other instances the use of the mg-form as a ttrib u te  in 
post-position is free. I t  is a loose a ttrib u te  in this case and, hence, may 
be separated from  its head-noun by a pause. In all other respects this 
a ttrib u te  is s im ila r to the structu ra lly  dependent one: the head-noun 
is also the  sub ject of the mg-form and the mg-form is generally a part 
of a more or less extended group.
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This kind of a ttrib u te  is neither lexically nor stru c tu ra lly  depend­
ent— it can modify any noun and the noun can have different syntactic 
functions in the sentence.
e.g. I could hear the voices of the kids w aiting for the school bell to  

ring.
They stumbled on the snow turning to  icy w ater.
Then I picked up a booklet depicting various scenes of Navy life.

The loose character of the  ing-form in this function  is always marked 
off by intonation, and it m ay also, sometimes, be indicated by the use 
of a comma.
e.g. The wardrobe was em pty, except for one dress, swinging on a hang­

er.
The door was opened by one of the m an-servants, bearing an enve­

lope, addressed to me in Collingwood’s bold hand.

This loose a ttrib u te  is frequently used in lite rary  style but is not 
typical of spoken English.

§ 231. The tog-form in the function of a ttr ib u te  may be preceded 
by a preposition. In  this case it always follows its  head-noun and is 
generally part of an extended phrase. The ing-form is lexically depend­
ent here.

In most cases the ing-form is preceded by the preposition of. The 
a ttrib u te  acquires appositive meaning here, i.e. it serves to  explain the 
meaning of its head-noun. That is why it can m odify only certain  ab ­
stract nouns that adm it of and sometimes even requ ire  an explanation 
of their meaning. The num ber of nouns thus used is quite considerable. 
The most commonly occurring of them are: action, (dis)advantage, 
adventure, aim, appearance, art, attitude, business, capacity, case, chance, 
charge, choice, (dis)comfort, complication, conception, consequence, con­
sideration, consolation, (in)convenience, cost, custom, danger, delight, 
d ifficu lty , disappointment, disgrace, effect, em otion , enterprise, evidence, 
expenditure, expense, experience, fact, fascination, favour, fear, feeling, 
gesture, g if t,  grief, g u ilt,  habit, honour, hope, horror, hum ilia tion, idea, 
ignorance, illusion, incident, impertinence, importance, impression, in i­
tia tive , intention, interest, instant, issue, job, joke, joy, labour, lightness, 
lim it, love, luck, luxury, madness, magnificence, manner, means, medium, 
memory, merit, method, misfortune, misery, m istake, moment, motion, 
movement, necessity, notion, object, opinion, opportunity , pain, p ity , 
pleasure, policy, possibility, power, pretence, precaution, pride, p r iv i­
lege, process, prospect, proof, purpose, question, relief, reputation, re­
su lt, risk, role, routine, rule, satisfaction, sensation, sense, shame, shock, 
sign, signal, sin , sorrow, sort, speciality, stage ( = le v e l) , standard, 
state, success, surprise, support, symptom, ta len t, task, terror, thought, 
trick, trouble, use, way, week, wisdom, work and som e others.
e.g . He said th a t he had no chance of learning the tru th .

I had the advantage of looking younger th a n  I was.
I don’t want her to  make a habit of being late .
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He had a g iit  of appearing to  be busy w ithout doing a iick of work. 
I have no  hope of discussing it, Mr B irling.
If you’ve any th ing  to tell me, you’ll have an opportunity of doing 

it soon.
There was no possibility  of taking a w alk th a t day.
I had the  privilege of meeting your m other and dad some weeks 

ago.
The prospect of trave lling  with two elderly very dull people made 

me regret m y hasty decision yesterday.
He adm ired his way of doing things very much.
After a w hile I began to have a feeling of being watched.
Miss Moss gave no sign of having heard his words.
She experienced an unreasonable feeling of having been cheated. 
Her parents are terrib ly  upset at the thought of her giving evidence. 
He d id n ’t w an t to discuss the idea of K atherine leaving w ith them.

The ing-form m ay also be preceded by the prepositions for, in, at, 
about, and to. B u t they are by far less common than of.

These prepositions are found after a lim ited number of nouns which 
regularly require their use. They are the following:

for —cause, excuse, genius, g i f t ,  grounds, m otive, passion, pretext, 
reason, reputation, talent-, 

in —advantage, belief, believer, d ifficu lty , experience, harm, hesita­
tion, ingenu ity , meaning, object, participation, pleasure, point, 
purpose, sense, sk ill, use\ 

at —amazement, astonishment, a ttem pt, delight, dismay, irritation, 
pleasure, satisfaction, shyness, surprise; 

about—fan tasy , obsession, scruples; 
to — objection, preparation.
e.g. She had a real passion for reading detective stories.

They are w orried about your m otives for wanting to give them up. 
Did he have any special reason for doing that?
There doesn’t seem to be any sense in wasting more money. 
There was no point in going further.
I saw no harm  in asking a few questions.
He felt ir r ita tio n  a t  being disturbed.
I was m aking  up my m ind to  another attem pt a t persuading him 

to do it.
After th ree m onths I got an  obsession about having a place of my 

own.
C ertainly I should have no objection to working w ith the m an.

This iVig-form is not restricted to any particu lar style and is widely 
used in English.

§ 232. The m g-form  m ay be used as an a ttrib u te  in a sentence pat­
tern  w ith a form al it  as subject. The mg-form is lexically dependent 
here—it is regu larly  used only after it is no good and it  is no use. I t  has 
appositive m eaning here.
188



i.g. I t ’s no use lam enting over things th a t are past and done w ith . 
“ I t ’s no use going on like th is ,” he sa id .
I t ’s no good try ing to  fool yourself abou t love.
I t ’s no good my saying I ’m sorry for w ha t I ’ve done. That w ould 

be hypocritical.
If she had m ade up her mind to any th ing  i t  was no good our oppos­

ing her.
N o t e .  W e also  fin d  a synonym ous c o n s tru c tio n  there is no use fo llow ed  

by an  m g-form .

e .g . T here  w as no use p re ten d in g  th a t th ey  w ere d iffe re n t from  th e  o th ers .
T here was no use co m pla in ing .

I t  is n o tew orthy  th a t  th is  construction  is  less co m m o n  th a n  th e  one w ith  th e  
form al 1/ .  S till less com m on  is th e  p a tte rn  in  w h ich  th e  m g -fo rm  is preceded b y  th e  
p reposition  in.
e.g. You can  see now th e re ’s no use in try ing  to  m ak e  h im  u n d e rstan d .

Sometimes the tVig-form occurs after a num ber of other nouns w hich 
are, as a rule, sem antically  pale, such as th ing, business, chance, idea , 
problem and some others. The nouns are u sually  modified by an ad jective 
which is sem antically more im portant than  the  noun.
e.g. In th is filthy  w eather i t ’s the hardest th in g  in the world g e ttin g  

things dry.
I ’d like to  give it to him myself. I t ’s not the  same thing sending 

it in a le tter.
I t ’s been a great chance my meeting you like this.
I t ’ll be such a surprise to  her seeing you.

It should be m entioned, however, th a t the  ing-form is not common 
after these nouns. We normally find an in fin itiv e  here (see “V erbs” , 
§204). The use of this m£*form is m ainly  restric ted  to  spoken E nglish .

§ 233. The ing’-form may also be used as an  a ttrib u te  in a sentence 
pattern  w ith a formal it as an object to  the  verbs to find, to th in k  
and to make. The formal it, in its turn, is followed by a noun. I t  is to  
this noun that the ш ^ -form serves as an a ttr ib u te .
e.g. Won’t you find it ra ther a bore having me a t home for so long? 

It should be noted th a t this construction is of rare  occurrence.

The lng*form as  P a re n th e s is

§ 234. The m g-iorm  as parenthesis tends to  become a set phrase. 
We m ainly find here the verbs to ta lk  and to speak.

The ing -form as parenthesis serves to denote some sort of reservation  
on the part of the speaker or else it is used as an introductory phrase, 
meaning incidentally  (compare w ith the  R ussian  кстати).
e.g. Secrets, generally speaking, are not very well kept nowadays, w ith  

reporters and television cameras all around us.
Roughly speaking, it might have been said  th a t youth and ho p e  

in women touched him.
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Talking about crim e, I can lend you ra th e r a good bcok, as you 
are in terested  in  the subject.

Of course, s tr ic tly  speaking, the excuse was not necessary.

The mg-form as parenthesis is in most cases placed at the head of 
the sentence and, in  w riting , marked off by a comma.

The In fin itiv e  and the Ing-form Compared

§ 235. The in fin itiv e  and the i/ig-form som etimes have sim ilar func­
tions in the sentence and it is therefore necessary to define the spheres 
of their applica tion .

The d istinction between the two verbals partly  lies in their differ­
ent tense and aspect characteristics. The in fin itive tends to  express a 
single action following th a t of the predicate verb, while the ing-form 
generally serves to  denote permanent actions, sim ultaneous w ith th a t 
of the predicate verb . (These characteristics refer to  the sim ple forms 
of the infin itive and the  mg-form. Their perfect forms are infrequent 
and do not play an  im portan t part in distinguishing between the two 
verbals.) But it is notew orthy that we are dealing here only w ith 
tendencies, not w ith  hard  and fast rules. For th a t reason the differen­
tia tio n  between the  in fin itive and the ing -form sometimes becomes 
obliterated.

In most cases, however, the differentiation between the two verbals 
rests on linguistic trad itio n  which finds its expression in the following:

1) the in fin itive and the mg-form have a different frequency of ocur- 
rence in certain  functions (and the preference of one form to the other 
cannot be accounted for by any tangible reasons, gram m atical or se­
m antic);

2) the in fin itive  and the mg-form are in certa in  functions lexically 
dependent, which m eans th a t their choice is determ ined by their head­
word, but not by any gram m atical properties inherent in them;

3) the in fin itive and the mg-form are sometimes structurally  de­
pendent, i.e . their use is determined by definite sentence patterns;

4) the in fin itive and the mg-form may become part of a set phrase.
In the actual use of the  verbals either one of those points or a com­

b ination of them m akes itself felt in different functions.
Besides, in some of the  functions there are a few additional factors 

which affect the choice between the two verbals.
The infin itive, for instance, may acquire modal meaning which is 

never expressed by the  mg-form.
The mg-form, in  its  tu rn , when preceded by prepositions (or con­

junctions), can express different meanings not typical of the infinitive.
In certain  functions the infinitive of term inative verbs serves to ex­

press accomplished actions, w hile the mg-form shows the action in its 
progress.

The perfect in fin itiv e  may, as well as the perfect mg-form, denote 
actions preceding th a t of the predicate verb. But the perfect infin itive 
can also, in ce rta in  positions, express unreality .
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On the whole, the differentiation between the in fin itive an d  the  
mg-form is well defined, and the choice between them does not p resen t 
much difficulty as in most functions there  is no overlapping. T o  pre­
vent possible m istakes in the cases w here they  do overlap, it is necessary 
to compare the two verbals where they are used in a parallel w ay.

The In fin itiv e  and  th e  In g -fo rm  as Subject

§236. As subject, neither the in fin itiv e  nor the ing-iorm  is  com ­
mon in English. So the distinction betw een them is not very im p o rtan t 
for practical purposes.

The differentiation between the in fin itiv e  and the tog-form as su b ­
ject is, on the one hand, determined by th e ir respective tense and aspect 
characteristics— the infinitive tends to  denote an action follow ing th a t  
of the predicate verb (a), while the  ing-iorm  m ainly serves to  express 
an action sim ultaneous with th a t of the  predicate verb (b).
e.g. a) To win the w orld’s greatest cycling event became the am b itio n  

of his life.
b) Beatrice and I don’t correspond unless there is a m ajor event 

in the fam ily. W riting le tters  is a waste of tim e.
On the o ther hand, the choice betw een the infin itive and th e  ing- 

iorm is to a certain  extent determ ined by the usage. According to  t r a ­
dition, the m g-form  is preferred in  th is  function  and the in f in itiv e  is 
by far less frequent here.

Sometimes, however, the use of the  in fin itiv e  is required by an  a d d i­
tional factor in  th is case—namely, the  ab ility  of the in fin itiv e  to  ex ­
press the modal meaning of condition.
e.g. To go to them  w ith an accusation w ould be absurd.

T he In f in itiv e  and th e  In g -fo rm  a s P red ica tiv e

§ 237. As predicative, the in fin itive  and the ing-iorm  m ay b o th  have  
the sam e appositive meaning. The differen tiation  between th em  is 
m ainly determ ined here by trad ition— the infin itive (a) is in  com m on 
use in English whereas instances of the m g-form  (b) are scarce, 
e.g. a) The job of a reporter is to expose and to record.

All one could do was try to  m ake the  future less hard, 
b) The im portant part is helping people so that they can liv e  n o r­

mal lives.
But the infin itive is used only after the  link-verb to be, w h ile  the  

mg-form is found after other link-verbs, particularly , to m ean.
e.g. That would mean telling him  everything.

In th is function another additional factor of discrim inating betw een  
the two verbals becomes apparent, nam ely , the possibility to  u se  an  
mg-form after a preposition. It is typ ical of the mg-form as p re d ic a tiv e  
to follow the preposition like. The m g-form  has appositive m ean in g  
here but the explanation is made by w ay of comparison.
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e .g . Philip  tries to  d irect his m ind to the question but it is like trying 
to  press the like poles of two magnets together. They push away.

Since the infin itive canno t be used after prepositions, it is incapable 
of expressing this m eaning.

T he I n f in i t iv e  an d  the lng<form as O b ject

§ 238. As an object to  a verb, the infin itive and the ing-form are 
lex ica lly  dependent.

According to a w ell-established tradition, a num ber of verbs are 
followed by the in fin itive (for the list see “Verbs” , § 186), while certain 
o th e r verbs require the  use of the wg-form (for the list see “Verbs”, 
§ 212). Yet after a few verbs it is possible to  use either of the two ver­
bals.

The overlapping in the  use of the infinitive and the mg-form is, how­
ever, caused by different reasons.

1) The head-verb is som etim es polysemantic and requires the use 
of the  infinitive in one of its  meanings while in another it must be fol­
lowed by anm g-form . H ere belong the verbs to try , to propose and to 
g o  on.

To try  in the m eaning of to make an effort or a ttem pt is used w ith 
an  infin itive (a), while in the  meaning of to test, to make an experiment 
i t  is followed by an i/ig-form (b).
e .g . a) I ’ll try to do w hat I can.

Someone said, “W e m u stn ’t try to run before we can w a lk .” 
b) The young w riter, dissatisfied with the result of his work, tried 

a ltering  words or the  order in which they were set.
As we couldn’t understand  his English he tried speaking French 

to us.
I t  should be noted, however, that to try is much more common 

in  the  meaning of to make an effort and hence it is usually followed 
by the infinitive.

To propose in the m eaning of to intend is used w ith the infinitive (a), 
w h ile  in the meaning of to p u t forward for consideration it is followed 
by the  mg-form (b).
e .g . a) Tell me more abou t how you propose to s ta rt your business.

He did not propose to  forgive them this tim e, 
b) “H alf past s ix ,” said  Colonel Ju lian , “w hat do you propose 

doing? ”
To go on in the m eaning of to do next or afterwards (=3aTeM oh...) 

requ ires an infinitive (a), whereas in the meaning of to continue it is 
follow ed by an i7ig*form (b).
e .g  a) She went on to say that he was a man one could trust completely.

The shopkeeper w ent on to explain that the little  wooden fig­
ures, for which he was asking five pounds, were by no means 
comparable to the mass-produced figures obtainable from the 
surrounding shops.
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b) Tom went on talking.
But you can 't go on liv ing  in th is way any longer.

N o t e .  T he verb  to mean in th e  m ean in g  of to intend  is fo llow ed  by  an  in ­
f in it iv e  (a). B u t when to mean is follow ed by an  ing-form , it  is  a l in k -v e rb  den o tin g  
to signify , to have as a consequence. T h e  eng-form  is no t an  o b jec t in  th is  case: it  
is used in  th e  function  of a p red ica tiv e  (b ).

e .g . a) Do you m ean to say he  a c tu a lly  ap p ro v es of it?
b) “ To love a w om an m eans g iv in g  up e v e ry th in g  e ls e ,” h e  sa id .

2) W ith certain  other verbs the overlapping in the use of the  in fin­
itive  and the m^-form is accounted for by their tense and aspect char­
acteristics. This is found after th e  verbs to remember, to forget and 
to regret. The infinitive expresses an action following th a t of the pred­
ica te  verb (a), while the mg-form denotes a preceding action  (b).

e.g. a) B art remembered to coun t five before answering his father, 
b) I remember saying to  h im : “ Look here, if anyone acted like you, 

the world couldn’t  go o n .”
a) I forgot to te ll John abou t the  party .
b) I shall never forget testify ing  in th a t tria l tw elve years ago.
a) I regret to say it but you shou ldn’t believe every th ing  he tells

you.
b) He regretted hurting her feelings.

I t  should be noted that owing to  their lexical m eaning the  verbs 
to remember and to regret are in the  m ajority  of cases followed by an 
mg-form. Conversely, w ith the verb to forget the s itu a tio n  generally 
calls for an infinitive.

3) W ith some other verbs the  infin itive and the ing-form seem to 
be interchangeable. These verbs are to begin, to cease, to continue, to 
like, to dread, to hate, to intend, to love, to neglect, to prefer and to start.

However, after to begin, to cease and to continue the  in fin itiv e  is com­
monly found, while to start, to like  and to hate are more often followed 
by an ing-form.

N o t e  1. Care should be taken to  rem em b er th a t  th e re  a re  o th e r  v e rb s  in  E n g ­
lish  d en o tin g  th e  beginning, th e  c o n tin u a tio n  o r th e  end of an  a c tio n  w h ich  a re  a s ­
so c ia ted  w ith  on ly  one of th e  tw o v e rb a ls . T hus, to commence a n d  to set o u t  a re  used 
w ith  an  in f in itiv e . Y et to finish, to keep, to keep on, to leave of f ,  a n d  to set about 
tak e  an  ing-form .

N o t e  2 . A fter th e  verb to stop  th e  o b je c t is a lw ay s ex pressed  by a n  m g -fo rm .

e.g . She sto p p ed  speaking, as though w a itin g  for h im  to  speak .

The in f in i t iv e  a fte r to stop can se rv e  o n ly  a s  an  a d v e rb ia l m o d if ie r  o f purpose . 
I t  is u su a lly  se p a ra ted  from th e  verb to stop  by an  o b jec t or an  a d v e rb ia l m o d ifie r.

e .g . As I sto p p ed  a t  th e  bar to  have a d r in k  I saw  th em  ta lk in g  i t  o v e r .

If th e  in f in itiv e  happens to  follow  th e  h ead -v erb  im m e d ia te ly  i t  is  to  b e  reg ard ed  
as acc id e n ta l. E xam ples of th is  k ind  a re  of ra re  occurrence.

e.g . I s to p p ed  to  ask if you were b e tte r .  T hey  to ld  m e yo u  w ere on  d u ty .

N o t e  3. T he in fin itiv e  and th e  ing -fo rm  m ay serve as o b jec t to  v e rb s  gener­
a lly  re q u irin g  a p repositional o b jec t. N o rm a lly  th e  ing-form  is used in  th is  case  (for
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th e  l is t  o f  v e rb s  see “V erb s” , § 215). H ow ever, a fte r  som e v e rb s th e  ing-loim  is in ­
te rc h a n g e a b le  w ith  th e  in f in itiv e . T h ese  verbs are: to agree, to aim, to care, to hesi­
tate, to long, to p lan  and  to threaten.
e.g . “ I m ay  a s w ell p lan  on liv in g  in  L ondon for th e  rest of m y  l i f e ,” sa id  George.

E v e ry th in g  y o u ’ve p lan n ed  to  do  is sensible.
H e  w as s t i l l  h e s ita tin g  a b o u t jo in in g  th e  ex p ed ition .
T h ey  d id n ’t  h e s ita te  to  m ake free  use of his purse.

N o t e  4 . T here  have been a g re a t  m any a tte m p ts  m ade in  g ram m ars to  b rin g  
o u t  th e  d iffe ren ce  in  th e  use of th e  in f in i t iv e  and  the m g-form  a f te r  th e  verbs given 
in  th is  se c tio n . S u m m in g  i t  a ll up , th e  in f in itiv e  has been described  as re fe rrin g  to  
sp e c ia l, p a r t ic u la r  and  co n cre te  o c cas io n s  or c ircum stances, as b e in g  m ore defin ite  
a n d  liv e ly  in  c h a ra c te r  and  p e rfec tiv e  in  aspect. Conversely, th e  w g-fo rm  has been 
d esc rib ed  a s  s ta t in g  a general fact, re p re se n tin g  an  action  a s  p e rm an en t o r m ore ab ­
s t r a c t ,  e x p re ss in g  a d e lib e ra te  a c t a n d  being im perfec tive  in i ts  a sp ec t. How ever, 
n o n e  o f th e  ab o v e  c h a ra c te riz a tio n  is  borne o u t by liv in g  E n g lish  usage. M oreover, 
so m e  of th e  a u th o rs  a d m it th a t  i t  w o u ld  n o t be d ifficu lt to  fin d  ex am p les to  i llu s tra te  
th is  d iffe ren ce  a s  well a s  to  p ro v e  th e  opposite .

§ 239. As an object to  an adjective, the infinitive and the  mg-form 
are lex ically  dependent (for the  lis ts  see “Verbs”, § 187 and §§ 218-220). 
B oth verbals may be found afte r the following adjectives and adjecti­
vized partic ip les: afraid, amazed, annoyed, ashamed, astonished, careful, 
certain, content, fortunate, frightened, furious, happy , keen, proud, right, 
scared, set, slow, sorry, sure, surprised, touched and wrong. The ing- 
form is alw ays used as a prepositional object after them .

O n th e  whole the choice between the infin itive and the mg-form 
afte r the  above adjectives appears to  be free.
Cf. I was touched to find m y own name on the inv ita tion  list.

She cou ldn ’t allow herself to  tell him how touched she was a t  find­
ing him  there.

H er coat was pulled tig h tly  round her as if she were afraid  to take 
it  off.

Are you wanted by the police? You needn’t be afraid of telling 
me.

She is certain  to get the  nam es wrong. She is so careless.
“You look for trouble, d o n ’t  you?” “Only because I ’m certain  of 

finding i t . ”
I was ju st scared to leave i t  there.
I was scared to death a t  going there to speak.
She to ld  me sternly how fortunate I was to be there in time.
I am  very fortunate in hav ing  a wife who likes being a woman.
I was content to let th ings d rift along just as they were.
I was fa irly  content w ith le tting  things go as they were.
She looked wonderfully and vividly alive, and I was proud to be 

w ith  her.
B ut when I went to  G erm any I discovered th a t the Germans were 

ju s t as proud of being Germ ans as I was proud of being English.
The m en were careful n o t to slip on the ice.
W e were never very carefu l about taking precautions.

A fter certa in  of the above adjectives, however, the  infin itive tends 
to  express a single action following that of the predicate verb (a), while
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the mg-form is preferred when sim ultaneous or preceding actions are 
expressed (b).
e.g. a) In fact, I haven’t the fain test idea w h a t’s been going on, and 

I ’m afraid to ask. 
b) I ’m always afraid of getting caught.
a) I walked up and down the  hall. I was afra id  to  go in.
b) Were you ever afraid  o f losing your m ind?
a) Well, I ’m sorry to disappoint you, but I w o n ’t be able to use

my car.
b) I ’m sorry for coining like this, w ithout being invited .
a) I thought that perhaps I should be wiser n o t to  go.
b) I thought she w asn’t very wise in te llin g  us th a t.

Yet it should be pointed out th a t  on the whole th e  in fin itiv e  is more 
common after all the above listed adjectives; the ing -form is somewhat 
lite rary  in  style.

The use of the in fin itive and the mg-form w ith  ce rta in  other adjec­
tives is associated w ith a change of m eaning of the ad jective . Here belong, 
for example, gratefu l, good., interested and some o thers.
e.g. The apples are good to eat ( = th e  apples are good for eating).

I ’m not very good a t  driving (= 1  don’t very well know how to 
drive).

At first he was grateful to have the play to read ( = h e  was pleased 
(happy) to  have...).

No one is grateful for being looked afte r ( = n o  one feels gratitude 
for being looked after).

I was interested to learn th a t it  was the sam e café where they had 
m et (—it was interesting for me to learn ...).

Somehow I was interested in getting back in to  th a t  work (= 1  was 
anxious to get...).

The In f in it iv e  and  th e  Ing-form  as O b je c t 
in a Sentence P a tte rn  w ith  a Form al I t  a s  S u b je c t

§ 240. We norm ally find the infin itive as an  object to  a verb or an 
adjective in a sentence pattern  w ith a formal i t  as subject.
e.g. I t  annoyed me to hear him tell a lie.

I t ’s not easy to live w ith someone you’ve in ju red .
I t  w ouldn’t  be tactful to bring up the  subject in  h is presence.

The mg-form can also be found as an object to  an  ad jec tive in a sent­
ence pattern  w ith a formal it as subject in  spoken English where it 
adds emotional colouring to the sentence.
e.g. W ell, it  isn ’t easy telling  you all this.

I t  will be great having them at the party .

However, only the ing-form is used after the expressions to be worth 
and to come to.
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e.g. If it  cam e to  loosing him, would she suffer?
I t w asn ’t worth talk ing  to  him  about it.

T h e  In f in it iv e  an d  the Ing -fo rm  a s S u b jectiv e  P red ica tive

§ 241. As subjective predicative, the infinitive and the itig-form 
are lexically  dependent (for the lists see “Verbs”, § 190 and $222). 
Both verbals are found after the following verbs in the Passive: to find, 
to hear, to leave , to report, to see, to show and to watch.

After to hear, to see and to watch the differentiation between the two 
verbals is based on their lexical character.

Both verbals serve to  express sim ultaneous actions. But w ith ter- 
m inative verbs, the in fin itive shows th a t the action is accomplished (a), 
whereas th e  ing-form denotes an unaccomplished action in its pro­
gress (b).
e.g. a) The fron t door downstairs was heard to slam, 

b) The door was heard shutting.
a) He was seen to take the money.
b) He was last seen turning round the corner.

W ith d u ra tiv e  verbs, the difference between the two verbals disap­
pears and th e  choice of the form is free.
e.g. He had been heard to discuss the possibility.

He w ent o u t and was heard laughing in the hall.

After the  verbs to find , to report and to show the differentiation 
between the  tw o verbals is of a peculiar character—w ith the verb to be 
the subjective predicative is always expressed by a sim ple infinitive 
(a); w ith  a ll o ther verbs, it  is expressed by an ing-form (b).

e.g. a) A week la ter he was found to be out of danger.
The Senator was reported to be badly injured in  the accident, 

b) The m an  was found craw ling about.
A bout th a t  tim e a hurricane was reported moving out of the 

C aribbean  in our direction.

However, analy tica l forms of the infin itive may also be found with 
verbs other th an  to be.
e.g. She was found to have stolen the ring.

The bu ild ing  is reported to have been damaged in the air raid . 
He was reported  to be preparing an  account of the incident.

After th e  verb to leave the infin itive shows that the action follows 
th a t of the  p red icate  verb (a) w hile the mg-form expresses a s im u lta ­
neous action  (b).
e.g. a) The m a tte r w ill be left to lie.

If th in g s are left to run their usual course, everything w ill shape 
out by itself.
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b) Cliff and Helena were left looking a t  each other.
Some w riters claim  that in life s to ries are not finished, s i tu a ­

tions are not rounded off, and loose ends are left hanging.

The In f in it iv e  an d  the Ing-form  as O b je c tiv e  P red ica tiv e

§ 242. As objective predicatives, the in fin itiv e  and the ing-form 
are lexically dependent (for the lists  see “V erb s” , §191 and §223). 
Both verbals are found after the following verbs: to (d is)like, to fa n cy , 
to feel, to find, to get, to have, to hate, to hear, to imagine, to listen to, 
to notice, to see, to understand, to want and to watch.

After the verbs denoting physical perception, such as to see, to hear, 
to notice, to feel, to listen to and to watch, the  d istinction  between the  
infinitive and the mg-form is determ ined by th e ir lexical character. 
W ith term inative verbs, the infinitive expresses an accomplished action  
(a) and the ing-form an unaccomplished action in its  progress (b). 
e.g. a) Nobody had noticed him come in . Nobody has seen him go u p ­

stairs.
b) He heard footsteps coming from the  d irec tion  of the lib rary .
a) Bridget heard Luke drive up. She cam e out on the steps to  m eet

him.
b) As I looked out at the garden I heard  a m otor-truck s ta rtin g

on the road.
a) One night in la te  November I heard h im  make a remark about

his coming marriage.
b) I heard him  saying the other day he could do w ith a few m ore

pounds a week.

W ith durative verbs, the difference in  m eaning between the two v er­
bals disappears and the  choice of the form is free, 
e.g. I thought also th a t it  would do him  no harm  to  hear us talk  abou t 

his progress.
I ’ve never heard you talking like th is abou t him.
I was watching the  doctor work.
I noticed him  working in the garden.
They listened to him  talk about the p ic tu re .
I listened to  them  discussing it.

On the whole it should be pointed out th a t  the  mg-form is m ore 
common in this case. The infinitive, for exam ple, would not be used 
in the following sentences:
e.g. I held her close against me and could feel her heart beating.

We saw the troops marching along the road .
I looked in the door of the big room and saw  the major s ittin g  a t 

his desk.
W ith the verbs to find , to imagine, to fancy  and to understand, th e  

difference lies in the lexical character of th e  objective pred icative. 
W ith the verb to be, the objective p red icative is always an in fin itiv e
(a); w ith all other verbs, it is an ing-form (b).
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e.g. a) They found h im  to be a bore.
b) When he arrived  he found me reading ‘Tom Jones’.
a) I im agined h im  to be a bigger m an.
b) I im agined her s itting  by the fire-place, alone and in tears.

After the verbs to like, to get, to hate, to have and to want the choice 
between the in fin itiv e  and the mg-form is free. Yet, the infin itive is 
much more com m on w ith  to get and to w ant, whereas the ing-form is 
more common w ith  to (d is)like  and to hate.
e.g. He w anted us to  go w ith  him, but J im m y refused.

I d id n ’t w an t any  outsiders coming to  the  rehearsal.
I couldn’t get h im  to leave.
She got all her guests going the moment she felt sleepy.
I like my oatm eal to have a salty taste.
I don’t  like  anybody getting ideas where my wife is concerned.

T he In f in it iv e  and  the Ing -fo rm  a s  A ttr ib u te

§ 243. As a ttr ib u te s , the infinitive and the ing-iorm  overlap only 
when they have appositive meaning. They are both placed in  post­
position to their head-noun and are lexically dependent (for the lists  
of nouns see “V erbs” , §202, 2 and §231). Besides, the ing-form is a l­
ways preceded by a preposition, usually of.

We may find e ith e r an infinitive or an mg-form after the following 
nouns: action, a tte m p t, capacity, chance, excuse, intention , motion, ne­
cessity, opportunity, possibility, power, precaution, right, signt and 
way. On the whole the  choice between the two verbals after these nouns 
is free.
e.g. I haven’t had a  chance to see my dog th is m orning.

The Careys h ad  had  a  chance of welcoming their nephew.
The only way to  keep things like they always have been is to  let 

them ru n  th e ir  own course.
The only way of finding out exactly w h a t’s going on is to  catch 

them w hen th ey  don’t know that you’re looking.
He was try in g  to  find a  way to earn fifty  pounds.
They were try in g  to  find a way of ta lk ing  directly to their op­

ponents.
I had no opportun ity  to speak to her.
I had no opportun ity  of doing so.
She only laughed and made no attem pt to withdraw.
I made ano ther a ttem p t a t  going.
We were am azed a t  his power to suffer as he had a t tim es done.
Everyone knew  she was gifted w ith the  power of pleasing their 

father.
I t  should be m entioned th a t some of the  above quoted nouns, for 

example, such as a tte m p t , necessity, right, tend to be associated w ith 
an infinitive, w hereas o ther nouns, for exam ple, such as wav, chance, 
possibility , in ten tion , tend to be followed by an ing-iorm. The noun 
opportunity appears to  be equally common w ith  both forms.
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The In f in it iv e  and the  Ing-form  a s  A ttr ib u te  in a  Sentence P a t te r n  
w ith  a F o rm al i t  a s  S u b jec t

§ 244. In  th is function the in fin itiv e  and the wg-form are  lexically  
dependent. (For the lists of the nouns see §§202-204, §231). T he  in fin ­
itive  is the norm , the mg-form being a ra re  exception.

e.g. It was a pleasure to see him  am ong us again.
It is a hard job to clean the k itchen.
It  is no use deceiving ourselves.

§ 245. The use of the in fin itive and the mg-form in all th e  other 
iunctions is not parallel and so th ey  need not be com pared.

The Use of the Participle

§ 246. The functions of the p artic ip le  in the sentence are m ore re ­
stricted  as compared with those of the  infin itive and the m g-form . Be­
sides, it tends to  become adjectivized even in the functions th a t  it  can 
perform in the  sentence. (For the  ad jectiv ization  of the P a rtic ip le  see
“Verbs” , § 179.)

The partic ip le cannot be used e ith er as the subject or as the  pred icate  
of the sentence. When it is used as predicative, it is always ad jectiv ized  
and may be preceded, like a real ad jective, by adverbs of degree, such 
as very, extremely, greatly, too, so and the correlatives a s...a s  and  not 
so...as.

e.g. Three of the  girls were given to  giggling.
Roger was set on getting the job himself.
S trickland was distinguished from  m ost Englishmen by h is  perfect 
indifference to comfort.
We lived in  the same neighbourhood and we felt friendly  disposed 

to one another.
“V egetarianism  is an interesting idea, D octor.” “But I am  not 

sure it  is suited to all m am m als. I doubt, for exam ple, w hether 
a lion  would flourish on green th in g s .”

I was cold but too excited to  m ind  it.
I ’ve never been so deceived in  a m an as I was in George.
If anyone lived there he would be as scared as we were.
I am natu ra lly  very disappointed.

It should be mentioned that if partic ip les were not ad jec tiv ized  in 
th is case, they would form, w ith  the  verb to be, the Passive Voice.

N o t e .  Som e ad jectiv ized  p a r tic ip le s , how ever, can  be  m od ified , l ik e  v e rb s, 
by  (very) much. T h is m ay  be accounted  fo r by  th e ir  v e rb al o rig in .

e .g . If T ony expected  her to  rush  in to  h is  a rm s  he w as v ery  m uch m is ta k e n .
In  a day  o r tw o th e  answ er cam e b ack  th a t  he w as very  m uch opposed  to  th e  

w hole schem e.

It follows from what has been said  th a t the partic ip le  p ro p er (i.e. 
the partic ip le which is not adjectivized) cannot be used as p red ica tiv e .

199



§ 247. One of the functions in which the partic ip le  proper is used, 
is p a r t of a compound verbal predicate. The partic ip le is lexically de­
penden t in this function— it is found after the in tran sitiv e  verbs to lie , 
to  s i t  and to stand which denote position.
e .g . H e stood surprised in front of his house.

The smoke drifted aw ay and the camp lay revealed.
He was lying back relaxed in his chair.
Jo e  sat hunched in a corner of the seat.

Exam ples of this kind are of ra re  occurrence, and the partic ip le may 
be adjectivized here too.

The P a r t ic ip le  a s  Subjective P red ica tiv e

§ 248. The participle m ay be used as subjective predicative. It is 
lex ica lly  dependent in th is function and is used after the Passive of 
th e  verbs to find, to hear, to see and to make.
e .g . Then he was found barricaded in a little  hut.

A m inute ago he was seen engaged in  a lively  conversation with 
a charming girl.

B ut I hear you are constan tly  seen drunk in the m iddle of the af­
ternoon.

N  o  t  e. To be made known is  to  b e  trea ted  as a se t p h rase , 

e .g .  I 'm  a fra id  th is  in fo rm a tio n  w ill h a v e  to be m ade known.

Exam ples of this k ind are  of rare occurrence and the participle is 
o ften  adjectivized.

The P a r t ic ip le  as O bjective P red ica tiv e

§ 249. The partic ip le is also used as objective predicative. I t  is 
lex ica lly  dependent in th is  function and found after a number of tran ­
s i t iv e  verbs followed by a d irec t object which is expressed by a noun 
or a pronoun. These verbs are: to believe, to consider, to feel, to find , 
to  g e t, to have, to hear, to keep, to leave, to like, to make, to see, to think, 
to w ant, to watch and the set phrases w on't like, won't have and should/ 
w ould  like.
e .g . On arriving at the co ttage she found it locked.

D espite himself, M aurice felt his atten tion  caught.
Y ou’ll never guess w here I had the suit made.
Once and for all, S alter, I w ill not have a barrier erected between 

me and my staff.
B ut even if you w ork hard  it  takes a long tim e to  w rite a novel.

And you have to  get it  published.
I said I had not heard  the  m atte r mentioned.
"I w ant it p roved,” he roared.
I would like it done rig h t away.
I do not intend to  have m y professional reputation  compromised.

The Participle as P art of a Compound Verbal Predicate
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The Participle as Adverbial Modifier

§ 250. The participle m ay serve as adverbial m odifier to  a verb. 
In th is function it denotes a second action accom panying the action of 
the predicate verb. In this case it  is preceded by a conjunction which 
lends it  adverbial meaning, such as tim e, concession, condition and 
comparison. The most commonly occurring of the  conjunctions are: 
when, t i l l , u n til, once, as, if, unless, though, as though, even i f  and even 
when.

The participle is not lexically dependent in th is  function— it can 
be used after any verb.
e.g. She’s a terror when roused.

Once arrived at the quay alongside which lay the  big transa tlan tic  
liner, the detective became brisk and alert.

Soames, privately, and as a business man, had alw ays so conducted 
himself that if cornered, he need never tell a d irec t un tru th . 

He did not usually u tte r  a word unless spoken to.
He had till Sunday evening to th ink  it  over; for even if posted 

now the letter could not reach John till M onday.
Here the tram  lines ended, so th a t men re tu rn ing  home could doze 

in  their seats u n til roused by their journey’s end.
“Does he know i t? ” said D avid Rubin, as though surprised.

The subject of the action expressed by the p artic ip le  in  the above 
function is the same person or th ing  as denoted by the  subject of the 
sentence.

N o t e  I. N otice  th e  se t ph rase  come to that (кстати , у ж  если  об этом заш ла 
речь).

e.g . “ B u t w ho is to  be th e  ju d g e  of a m a n ’s f i tn e s s o r  u n f itn e ss? ” “ Y o u ’d h ave  to  have 
a sc ien tif ic  m an  as judge. Come to  th a t ,  i th in k  y o u ’d  be  a p re t ty  good judge 
y o u rse lf .”

N o t e  2. Som e p a rtic ip le s  have a c tu a lly  com e to  be u sed  a s  co n ju n c tio n s .

e .g . R oger could  be re-e lected  provided he received th e  290 v o te s  from  h is  own side. 
H e  m ig h t have becom e a po e t g iven an  o p p o rtu n ity .

The P a rtic ip le  a s  P a r t  o f  an  A bso lu te  C o n stru c tio n

§ 251. The participle m ay be part of an absolute construction. In 
this case it has a subject of its own. The partic ip le  serves to indicate 
a resu ltan t s ta te  which is parallel to the action  of th e  predicate verb.

Absolute constructions may be non-prepositional and prepositional. 
In the la tter case they are introduced by the preposition  with.

The m ain function of the absolute construction w ith  the participle 
is to  describe the appearance, the  behaviour or inner s ta te  of the person 
denoted by the subject of the sentence, i.e. the function of descriptive 
circum stances. This function can be performed by both  absolute con­
structions, non-prepositional (a) and prepositional (b).
e.g. a) In the library D iana, her face flushed, ta lked  to  a young dra­

m atist.
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Lord Easterfield sat down, wiping his forehead and sm iling 
com placently, h is good humour quite restored.

W e sat silen t, her eyes still fixed on mine.
She got up, the clothes folded over her arm.

b) She stood w ith her arm s folded, smoking, staring  thoughtfully. 
He sa t w ith his knees parted turn ing  his wrists vaguely.
I lay  id ly  in a big chair, ta lk ing now and then, listening; listen­

ing som etimes w ith my eyes closed.

A peculiar feature of non-prepositional absolute constructions w ith 
the p artic ip le  is th a t sometimes th e  nouns in them are used w ithout any 
artic le .
e.g . She advanced two m ore strides and waited, head h a lf turned.

The P residen t listened to  her, standing at the fire-place, head 
bowed, motionless.

Joel sa t scrunched in a corner of the seat, elbow propped on w in­
dow fram e, chin cupped in  hand, trying hard to keep awake.

O ther adverb ial functions, such as cause or attending circumstances, 
are less typ ical of absolute constructions w ith  the  participle.

Absolute constructions w ith  the  partic ip le are infrequent and are 
usually found in literary  style.

N o t e .  N o tic e  th e  se t ph rase  a l l  things considered. 
e .g . A ll th in g s  considered, th e re  is l i t t l e  hope  of th e ir  w ith d raw al.

The P a r tic ip le  as A ttr ib u te

§ 252. T here are two types of a ttribu tes expressed by the  participle:
1) th e  p artic ip le  may im m ediately precede its head-noun,
2) th e  p artic ip le  may e ither precede or follow its head-noun but in 

both cases it is separated from th e  noun by a pause» i.e. the  participle 
is a loose a ttr ib u te  here.1

A ttrib u tes  expressed by partic ip les are not lexically dependent, 
they can m odify any noun.

§ 253. W hen the  partic ip le im m ediately precedes its head-noun it 
is always a single word, not an extended phrase.

W ith  tran s itiv e  verbs, the  partic ip le  has passive m eaning—it serves 
to  show th a t  th e  person or th in g  denoted by the head-noun undergoes 
the action expressed by the  partic ip le . The head-noun is the  passive 
subject of th e  partic ip le  here.

e.g. A m an in torn and dusty clothes was making his way towards the 
boat.

This forlorn creature w ith  th e  dyed hair and haggard, painted face 
would have to know the  tru th , he decided.

I m ade my way toward the  parked car.

1 Loose is to  be  u nderstood  here  as обособленное.
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“Why don’t you stop torturing yourself and pu t an end to all th is 
wasted effort on your p a rt?” she would te ll me.

In the building, lighted windows were sh in in g  here and there.
In the examples above we are dealing w ith  real participles which 

preserve their verbal character and denote actions. However, p a r ti­
ciples in this function are often adjectivized w hich is clearly seen from 
their changed meaning.
e.g. She had an affected, absent way oi ta lk ing .

After a moment she opened the door and got in w ith a grieved ex­
pression.

When I was eighteen 1 had very decided views oi my own about 
my future.

W ith in transitive verbs,1 the partic ip le  has ac tive  meaning— it 
serves to show th a t the person or th ing  denoted by th e  head-noun is the  
doer of the action expressed by the participle. The head-noun is the  ac­
tive  subject of the  partic ip le  here.
e.g. They sat on a fa llen  tree that made a convenient seat.

Jenkinson was a retired colonel who lived in Dorset and whose 
chief occupation was gardening.

O ther examples of th is kind are the risen su n , the departed guest, 
the assembled company, his deceased partner.

Participles in the  function of an a ttrib u te  preceding its head-noun 
are in common use in English; they are not restric ted  sty listically .

N o t e  1. I t  sh o u ld  be noted  th a t  th e  p a r tic ip le s  involved, added, obtained 
an d  combined are  p laced  in  post-p o sitio n  to  th e ir  h ead -w o rd s .

e .g . I d id  n o t w an t to  go to  a  c lu b  for lu n ch , in  case  I m e t D o u g la s  o r anyone in v o lv ed . 
W e cou ld  n o t re sist a ll  of these people com bined.

N o t e  2. T he p a r tic ip le  left in p ost-position  u n d e rg o es a change of m ean in g  
an d  i ts  use becom es s tru c tu ra lly  re s tric ted . It is fo u n d  in  tw o  c o n stru c tio n s— It m od­
ifies nouns (or pronouns) in  sen tence p a tte rn s  w ith  there is (are) an d  w ith  th e  v erb  
to have. L e ft in  th is  k ind  of sentences is rendered  in  R u ss ia n  w ith  th e  help of ос­
талось.
e.g . T here was no ev idence left.

Jo n e s  sucked in  m ore  w hiskey, an d  I w arned h im , “ T h ere  is on ly  a q u a rte r  of 
a b o ttle  l e f t . ”

H e’s th e  only  frien d  I seem  to  h av e  le f t now.
I t ’s ju s t a ll we seem  to  have  left.

§ 254. The partic ip le  as a loose a ttrib u te  is u sually  a part of an ex ­
tended phrase. As a general rule, it follows its  head-noun. The noun 
may perform any function in the  sentence. The partic ip le  in this case 
is formed from a tran sitiv e  verb and has passive m eaning.
e.g. Mr Johnson, I have sent for you to  tell you of a serious com plaint 

sent in to me from the court.
He carried the  cra te  out to  the Ford tru ck  parked in the narrow 

alley behind the store.
1 As has been sa id  (see “ V erbs” , §173), th e re  a re  n o t m a n y  p a rtic ip le s  fo rm ed 

from  in tra n s it iv e  verbs.
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Lennox sat down on a chair lately vacated by Lady Westholme. 
I rode about th e  countryside on a horse lent me by a friend.

In a considerable num ber of instances the  participle is adjectivized 
in this case.
e.g. The men ran  out of the  house, like schoolboys frightened of being 

late.
Police are looking for a boy known to  work at T urtle’s.
They elected a m an called G. S. Clark.

The partic ip le  as a  loose a ttrib u te  is typical of literary style. It is 
not. found in spoken English.

§ 255. As has been said above, the head-noun of the partic ip le  may 
perform any sy n tac tic  function in the sentence. But when it happens 
to be the subject of th e  sentence, the partic ip le  can be placed not only 
im mediately afte r it, but it may have two other different positions in 
the sentence.

The p artic ip le  m ay be placed at the head of the sentence, before the 
subject.
e.g. Asked w hen th ey  could expect an answer, he said it would take 

them about a week.
Shocked by th e  poverty of my own vocabulary, I went to  the B rit­

ish M useum (to the  library).
Suddenly touched, she came over to  the  side of his chair and kissed 

his cheek.

The partic ip le  m ay also be placed a t th e  end of the sentence, after 
the predicate group.
e.g. He stood there , drinking tom ato juice, surrounded by people ab­

sorbing th e  rad ia tion  of his power.
Alison w atched them , relieved and suddenly full of affection.
I went o u t of the  court determined to  show them a good play.

The subject of th e  sentence—which is the  head-word of the  p a r ti­
ciple in th is case—is frequently a personal pronoun (see the examples 
above).

This partic ip le  is also typical of lite rary  English.



NOUNS

§ 1. Nouns are names of objects, i.e . th ings, human beings, an im als, 
m aterials and abstract notions (e.g. tab le , house, man , g ir l, dog, lion, 
snow, sugar, love, beauty).

Sem antically all nouns can be d ivided in to  two main groups— proper 
names (e.g. John, London, the Thames) and common nouns.

Common nouns, in their turn, are subdivided into coun tab le nouns 
and uncountable nouns. Countable nouns denote objects th a t can  be 
counted. They may be either concrete (e.g. book, student, cat) o r ab- 
stract (e.g. idea, word, effort). U ncountable nouns are names of objects 
that cannot be counted. They may also be concrete (e.g. water, grass, 
wood) and abstract (e.g. information, amazement, time).

Nouns have the grammatical categories of number and case  (see 
“Nouns” , §§3-19).

They are also characterized by th e  functions they perform  in  the  
entence (see “Nouns” , §20).

The Gender of Nouns

§ 2. In accordance w ith their m eaning nouns my be classed as be­
longing to  the  masculine, feminine and neuter gender. Names of m ale 
beings are m asculine (e.g. man, husband, boy, son, ox, cock), and  nam es 
of female beings are feminine (e.g. woman, wife, g irl, daughter, cow, 
hen). Al! other nouns are said to be neu ter (e.g. pen, flower, fa m ily , ra in , 
opinion, bird, horse, pride).

Gender finds its  formal expression in the replacem ent of n o u n s by 
the pronouns he, she or it.

However, there are nouns in E nglish which may be treated  as e ith er 
males or females (e.g. cousin, friend). They are said to be of com m on 
gender. W hen there is no need to  make a d istinction of sex, th e  mascu* 
line pronoun is used for these nouns.

Sometimes a separate form for a fem ale is built up by m eans of the  
suffix -ess (e.g. host—hostess, actor— actress, waiter— waitress, prince—  
princess, heir—heiress, tiger—tigrees, lion— lioness).

It is also possible to  indicate th e  gender of a noun by form ing d if­
ferent kinds of compounds (e.g. a man servant— a maid servant, a man 
driver— a woman driver, a boy friend— a g ir l friend, a tom cat— a tabby  
cat, a he-wolf— a she-wolf).
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Nouns denoting various kinds of vessels (e.g. ship, boat, etc.), the 
noun  car as well as the nam es of countries may be referred to as she.
e.g . Sam joined the fam ous w haler “Globe” . She was a ship on which 

any young man would be proud to sail.
G etting  out of th e  ca r he said to the m an in th e  overalls, “F ill her 

up, p lease.”
He said, “England is decadent. She’s finished because she is liv ­

ing in the p a s t .”

The Number of Nouns

§ 3. Number is the form  of the  noun which shows whether one or 
m ore than  one object is m eant.

Some nouns in English m ay have the singular and the plural forms 
(e .g . room— rooms, worker— workers, lesson— lessons). O ther nouns are 
used either only in the singu lar (e.g. freedom, progress, machinery, steel, 
m ilk )  or only in the p lural (e.g. spectacles, goods, billiards).

§ 4. The plural of m ost nouns is built up by means of the suffix -s 
o r  -es. I t  is pronounced Iz l after vowels and voiced consonants (e.g. 
days, dogs, birds), (si afte r voiceless consonants (e.g. books, coats) 
and  [izl after sib ilan ts (e.g. horses, roses, judges, brushes).

I t  should be noted th a t  some nouns in the plural change the pro­
nuncia tion  of their final consonants: [sl-M zizl (e.g. house— houses) and 
19}-»15z] (e.g. bath— baths, m outh—mouths, pa th—paths, tru th— truths, 
yo u th — youths).

§ 5. In w riting  the follow ing spelling rules should be observed.
The suffix -es is added to  nouns ending in s, sh, ch, x and z (e.g. 

g la ss—glasses, brush—brushes, watch—watches, box— boxes).
I t  is also added to  nouns ending in o preceded by a consonant (e.g. 

tom ato— tomatoes, potato—potatoes, hero—heroes). But if a noun ends 
in  o  preceded by a vowel o r it  happens to  be a noun of foreign origin, 
o n ly  -s is added (e.g. cuckoo—cuckoos, radio— radios, piano—pianos, 
k ilo —kilos, photo— photos).

Nouns ending in y preceded by a consonant change the y into ies 
(e.g. story—stories, f l y —f l ie s , country—countries).

But if a noun ends in y preceded by a vowel, only -s is added (e.g. 
key— keys, boy— boys, day— days).

The following nouns ending in f or fe have the  ending -ves in the 
p lu ra l: wife— wives, life— lives, knife— knives, w olf— wolves, calf—  
calves, shelf— shelves, leaf— leaves, thief— thieves, h a lf— halves.

But other nouns ending in f o r fe take only -s in the plural (e.g. 
roof—roofs, c l i f f—c liffs , g u l f—gu lfs , proof—proofs, safe— safes, grief— 
grie fs , cu ff— cuffs, belief— beliefs).

The following nouns have both forms in the plural: scarf— scarfs! 
scarves, wharf— wharfs/wharves, hoof—hoofsihooves, handkerchief— hand­
kerchiefs/handkerchieves.

§ 6. There are a num ber of nouns in English which form their p lu ­
ra l in an irregular way.
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A few nouns form their plural by  a change of vowel. They are: man— 
men, woman— women, tooth—teeth , foot—feet, mouse—mice, goose— 
geese, /owse— /ice.

Notice also the peculiar plural form in the nouns: ox— oxen, child— 
children, brother— brethren (= n o t  blood relations, bu t members of the 
same society).

A few nouns have the same form for the singular and the plural: 
a sheep—sheep, a swine—swine, a  deer— deer, a fish — fish , a  craft— 
craft, a counsel— counsel (= le g a l adviser, barrister).

The following nouns ending in s in the singular rem a in  unchanged 
in the plural: a means—means, a (gas) works— (gas) works, a barracks— 
barracks, a headquarters—headquarters, a series—series, a species— spe- 
cies.

N o t e .  N o tice  th a t  th e  nou n  penny  has tw o p lu ra l form s: pennies  (when re­
ferring  to  in d iv id u a l coins) and  pence (w hen  th e  am o u n t on ly  is  m ea n t).

e.g . She d ropped  th ree  pennies in  the s lo t-m ach in e .
T h e  fa re  cost him  e ig h t pence.

§ 7 . Some nouns borrowed from  other languages, especially from 
Greek and Latin, keep their foreign plural forms. These nouns are mostly 
found in scientific prose. They are: agendum—agenda, ana lysis— analyses, 
bacterium—bacteria, basis—bases, crisis—crises, criterion— criteria, da­
tum — data, hypothesis— hypotheses, phenomenon—phenomena, siratum — 
strata , thesis— theses.

Some other nouns have the new  English plural alongside of the orig' 
inal foreign one: curriculum—curriculumsicurricula, form ula— for mu- 
las!formulae, memorandum—memorandums!memoranda.

§ 8. W ith  compound nouns it  is usually the final com ponent that 
is made plural (e.g. bookcase— bookcases, w riting table— w riting  tables, 
tooth brush— tooth brushes, hand fu l— handfuls, drawback— drawbacks, 
forget-me-not—forget-me-nots, postm an—postmen, E nglishm an—Eng- 
lishmen).

In a few nouns the first com ponent is made plural (e.g. father-in-law— 
fathers-in-law, commander-in-chief—commanders-in-chief, passer-by—pas- 
sers-by, court m artia l— courts m artial).

W hen the first component is man  or woman, the p lu ra l is expressed 
twice (e.g. man servant— men servants, woman doctor— women doctors).

§ 9. A considerable number of nouns are used only  in  the  singular 
in English. (The Latin  term  singularia tantum  is applied  to  them .) Here 
belong all names of m aterials (e.g. iron, copper, sand, coal, bread, cheese, 
oil, wine, tea, chalk) and also a great number of nouns denoting abstract 
notions1 (e.g. generosity, curiosity, anger, foolishness, excitement, poetry, 
fun , sculpture, progress).

Special mention should be made of a few nouns w hich end in -s but 
are used only in the singular. T hey  are: news, gallows, summons.

■ N o tice , how ever, th a t  m an y  o th e r a b s tra c t  no u n s m ay  h a v e  b o th  th e  singu lar 
and  th e  p lu ra l form s ( e .g .  idea — ideas, change —  changes, suggestion  —  sugges­
tions) .
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Here also belong nouns ending in ics: physics, mathematics, phonet- 
ics, optics, ethics, politics.

N o t e .  N o u n s of th e  la t te r  g ro u p  are  occasionally  trea te d  as p lu ra ls .

e .g . P o li t ic s  h a s  (h a v e) a lw ay s in te re s te d  h im .
M a th e m a tic s  is (a re )  w ell ta u g h t  a t  th a t  school.

§ 10. T here are a num ber of nouns in English, more or less lim ited, 
which are used only in the p lu ral. (The L atin  term  pluralia  tantum  
is applied  to  them .) Here belong nouns indicating articles of dress con­
sisting  of two parts (e.g. trousers, pants, shorts, trunks , pyjamas, draw­
ers, braces), tools and instrum ents consisting of two parts (e.g. scissors, 
spectacles, glasses, tongs, pincers, scales, fetters), names of some games 
(e.g. billiards, cards, dominoes, draughts) and also miscellaneous other 
nouns (e.g. riches, contents, dregs, oats, thanks, clothes, credentials, soap­
suds, troops, goods, whereabouts, bowels, surroundings, savings, belong­
ings, goings on, winnings, home-comings, proceedings, hangings).

e.g. The whereabouts of the  tom b have long been an historic m ystery. 
There were clothes scattered about the room.

§ 1 1 . T here are a few other nouns in English which have only the 
plural form  and lack the singular, i.e. they are p l u r a l i a  t a n *  
t u r n  nouns. But they happen to  be homonyms of nouns which are 
used in  b o th  forms, the singular and the  plural. These nouns are:

a colour—colours (=hues) 
a force—forces (=pow ers) 
a custom —customs (= h ab its)

colours (= reg im ental flags) 
forces (—an army) 
customs (= ta x e s  on imported 

goods) 
draughts ( = a  game)

gl asses ( = spect acles)

manners (=behaviour) 
m orals (= stan d ard s of behaviour)

m inutes (= sec re ta ry ’s record of 
proceedings) 

quarters ( = lodgings)

a d rau g h t— draughts (= cu rren ts  
of air)

a glass—glasses (=vessels for 
drinking  from) 

a m anner— m anners (=w ays) 
a m oral—m orals (= lessons of a 

story)
a m inu te—m inutes (—spaces of 

time)
a q u a rte r—quarters (= fo u rth  

parts)

§ 12. Some nouns which belong to th e  s i n g u l a r i a  t a n t u m  
group are  occasionally used in th e  plural form for sty listic  reasons sug­
gesting a g reat quan tity  or ex ten t, e.g. the sands of the Sahara, the snows 
and frosts o f the A rctic, the waters o f the A tlan tic , the blue skies o f Ita ly , 
etc.

§ 13. A noun used as subject of the  sentence agrees in num ber with 
its p red icate  verb: a singular noun requires a singular verb; a plural 
noun requires a plural verb. T his rule may be called gram m atical con­
cord.
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e.g. If we ever thought nature was sim ple, now we know for sure it 
isn ’t.

If there are any universal laws for th e  cosmos, they must be very 
difficult.

D ifficulties arise, however, w ith  collective nouns, i.e. nouns denot­
ing groups of people and sometimes anim als. H ere belong such nouns 
as the aristocracy, the bourgeoisie, the clergy, the é lite , the gentry , the 
intelligentsia, the proletariat, the public, governm ent, Parliament, (th e )  
Congress, army, class, committee, crew, team, delegation , crowd, s ta ff, 
fam ily , group, /a ry , audience, majority, m in o rity , board, herd, flock, 
etc.

Such nouns may be used in two ways: they e ith e r indicate the group 
as a single undivided body, a non-personal co llec tive or as a collection 
of individuals. In the  former case there is no contrad iction  between th e  
form and the meaning of such nouns and they ta k e  a singular noun (gram ­
m atical concord).
e.g. The bourgeoisie, historically, has played a m ost revolutionary p a rt.

Of all the classes th a t stand face to  face w ith  th e  bourgeoisie today , 
the p ro le ta ria t alone is a really  revolu tionary  class.

The audience was enormous.
The crowd has been dispersed.
The public consists of you and me.
The college football team has done badly  th is  season.
His family was well known in their town.

In the  la tte r case th e  nouns, though they  rem ain singular g ram ­
m atically , become plural notionally and tak e  a p lu ral verb. This m ay 
be called notional concord.
e.g. The public were not adm itted to  hear th e  t r ia l .

“The team are now resting ,” the  coach sa id  to  us.
“My family keep a close eye on m e ,” said  George.
The audience were enjoying every m inu te of it.

Some of the  collective nouns, however, regu larly  require a p lu ra l 
verb. Here belong: people (люди, народ)1, police  and cattle.
e.g. There were few people out in the  street a t th a t  hour.

H e said: “M artha, the  police have the  m an th a t  stole your p u rse .”
His uncle showed him  the pastures w here th e  c a ttle  were grazing.

On the whole, in B ritish  English the  p lu ra l verb  appears to  be m ore 
common w ith collective nouns in speech, w hereas in w riting the singu­
lar verb is probably preferred. I t  is generally safest for a foreign learner, 
when in doubt, to  obey gram m atical concord. In  American English, 
in contrast, collective nouns almost always go w ith  a singular verb .

N o t e .  A number o f (несколько, ряд) u su a lly  ag rees w ith  a p lu ra l ve rb , 

e .g . T here were q u ite  a  n u m b er of people w a tch in g  th e  g am e .

1 T he noun  people m ean in g  nationality  can  h a v e  a  s in g u la r  and  a p lu ra l form : 
a people —  peoples.
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The Case of Nouns

§ 14. Case is th e  form of the noun which shows the relation of the 
noun to  other w ords in th e  sentence.

English nouns have two case forms—t h e  c o m m o n  c a s e  and 
t h e  g e n i t i v e  c a s e ,  e.g. the child— the child 's father, an 
hour— an hour's w a lk .

§ 15. The g en itiv e  case is formed by means of the  suffix - ’s or the 
apostrophe (- ’) alone.

The suffix - ’s is pronounced [z] after vowels and voiced consonants, 
e.g. boy's, g ir l's ;  [s] after voiceless consonants, e.g. student's, w ife ’s; 
tiz] after s ib ilan ts , e.g. price's, judge's.

The -*s is added to  singular nouns (see the  examples above) and also 
to irregular p lu ra l nouns, e.g. m en's, children's, women's.

The apostrophe (- ’) alone is added to  regular plural nouns, e.g. 
soldiers', parents', workers', and also to  proper names ending in s, e.g. 
Archimedes' Law, Sophocles' p lays , Hercules' labours.

Some other proper names ending in s may also take the  suffix - ’s, 
e.g. Soames' (Soam es's) collection> Burns' (B urns's) poems, Dickens' 
(Dickens's) novels, Jones' ( Jones's)  car, etc. The normal pronuncia­
tion w ith both v a ria n ts  appears to  be [,..iz], bu t the normal spelling— 
with the apostrophy only.

N o t e .  N o tice  th a t  w ith  com pound nouns th e  suffix  - ’s is a lw ays ad ded  to  th e  
final com ponen t, e .g . m y father-in-law 's house, the passer-by's remark.

§ 16. The num ber of nouns which m ay be used in the  genitive case 
is lim ited. The - ’s gen itive  commonly occurs w ith  anim ate nouns denot­
ing personal nam es (John 's bed, M ary's job, Segovia*$ pup il, etc.), per­
sonal nouns (my friend 's  visit, the boy's new sh irt, the m an's question, 
etc.), collective nouns (the party 's  platform , the team 's victory, the gov­
ernment's policy , e tc .) and higher animals (the dog's barking, the lion's 
cage, etc.).

In principle, the -’s genitive is also possible with certain kinds of 
inanim ate nouns and abstract notions. For example, it  is regularly  found 
w ith tem poral nouns (a day 's  work, a few days' trip, a two years' absence, 
a moment's pause, a  seven months' pay, e tc.) and w ith nouns denoting 
distance and m easure (a m ile 's  distance, a sh illin g ’s worth, etc.). Some­
times it is used w ith  geographic names of continents, countries, cities, 
towns, and u n iv ersities  (Europe's future, the United S ta tes ' policy, 
London's water su p p ly ,  etc.), locative nouns (the island’s outline, the 
city 's  white houses, the school's history, e tc.) as well as a few other nouns 
{the sun 's rays, the sh ip ’s crew, the p la y 's  title , Nature's sleep, etc.).

In English, besides, there are a considerable number of set phrases 
in which all sorts of nouns are found in the  genitive case, e.g. in one’s 
m ind's eye, a p in 's  head, to one's heart’s content, a t one's finger’s end, 
for goodness' sake, a t one’s w it's  end, out o f harm 's way, d u ty 's  ca ll , 
a needle's point.
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§ 17. A noun in the genitive case generally precedes an o th er noun 
which is its  head-word. This m ay be called t h e  d e p e n d e n t  
g e n i t i v e .

The relations between the noun in the  genitive case and i ts  head­
word may be of two kinds:

1) The noun in the genitive case m ay denote a particu lar person or 
thing, as in m y mother's room, the m a n 's  voice. This kind of th e  ge­
n itiv e  case is called t h e  s p e c i f y i n g  g e n i t i v e .  The more 
common meanings of the specifying genitive are the following:
a) possession,
e.g. M ary’s suitcase (=M ary  has a suitcase)

the  ch ildren’s toys (= th e  ch ildren  have toys)
b) subjective genitive,

e.g. th a t boy’s answer (—the boy answered)
the paren ts’ consent (= th e  paren ts  consented)

c) genitive of origin,

e.g. the g ir l’s story (= th e  girl to ld  th e  story)
the  general’s letter (= th e  general w rote the letter)

d) objective genitive,
e.g. the boy’s punishm ent ( = . . .  punished the boy) 

the  m an’s release ( = . . .  released the  man)

The specifying genitive may be replaced if necessary by an of-phrase, 
e.g. the father o f  the boys, the room o f m y brother who is in h o sp ita l, 
etc. W ith proper names, however, the  genitive case is the ru le , e.g. 
John's parents, M ary's birthday, B yro n 's  first poems.

N o t e .  T h ere  is considerab le  o v e rla p  in  th e  uses of th e  - ’s g e n itiv e  a n d  th e  
of-phrase. A lth o u g h  e ith e r of th e  two m ay  be p o ss ib le  in  a g iven  c o n te x t ,  o n ly  one 
of them  is, how ever, generally  preferred fo r reaso n s  of s tru c tu re , e u p h o n y , rh y th m , 
em phasis, o r im p lied  re la tio n sh ip  betw een th e  nouns. The use of th e  - ’s g e n it iv e  is 
very com m on in  head lines, where b rev ity  is e s se n tia l. F u rth e rm o re , th e  - ’s g e n it iv e  
gives p rom inence  to  th e  m odifying n o u n . C om pare:

H ollyw ood’s S tu d io s  E m p ty  
The S tudios of H o lly w o o d  E m pty

2) The noun in the genitive case m ay refer to  a whole class of s im ila r 
objects. This kind of the genitive case is called t h e  c l a s s i f y i n g  
( d e s c r i p t i v e )  g e n i t i v e ,  e.g. sheep's eyes (which m eans eyes 
of a certain kind  but not the eyes o f a particular sheep), a doctor's degree 
( = a  doctoral degree), cow's m ilk  ( =  m ilk from cows), a women's college 
( = a  college for women), a soldier’s un iform , a summer's day, a  d o ll 's  
face, a farm er's w ife, a miner's widow, a p lan ter's  life , g en ts ' clothes, 
lady's wear, an hour's walk, a m ile ’s distance , etc.

In some cases such com binations have become set phrases, e.g . a 
spider’s web, the serpent's tooth, the bee's s ting t a g ia n t's  task, a  fo o l's  
errand, a ca t's  paw (слепое орудие в чьих-то руках), ch ild 's p la y  and 
others.
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T he classifying genitive is norm ally not replaced by an of-phrase, 
excep t for the genitive in d ica tin g  tim e and distance.
e .g . a th ree days’ a b se n c e -» a n  absence of three days 

a two m iles’ d is tan ce—* a  distance of two miles

§ 18. The suffix - ’s m ay be added not only to  a single noun but to 
a w hole group of words. It is called t h e  g r o u p  g e n i t i v e .  We 
fin d  various patterns here, e.g . S m ith  and Brown’s office, Jack and A n n ’s 
children , the Prime M inister o f England’s residence, the Prince of Den­
m a rk 's  tragedy, somebody e lse 's  umbrella, the man we saw yesterday's 
son.

The use of the group g en itive  is possible here because the  words in 
th e  group form a close sense u n it.

§ 19. Sometimes we find the  use of - ’s and of together. This is called 
a  d o u b l e  g e n i t i v e .
e .g . He was an old business client of G randfather’s (= o n e  of Grand­

fa th e r’s clients).

§ 20. A noun in the  gen itive  case may be used w ithout a head-word. 
T h is is called t h e  i n d e p e n d e n t  g e n i t i v e .

The independent gen itive  is used w ith nouns denoting trade  and 
re la tionsh ip  or w ith  proper nam es. It serves to  denote a building (e.g. 
a  school, a house, a h osp ita l, a church) or a shop. I t  is m ainly found 
in  prepositional phrases.
e .g . I was in the  grocer’s and I heard some women say it.

He asked her how she liked living at her daugh ter’s.
They were m arried a t S t. P au l’s.
Mrs W hite ran the  confectioner’s very com petently.
H e asked her to choose a restaurant and she suggested Scott’s.

The Functions of Nouns in the Sentence

§ 2 1 . Nouns may have different functions in the  sentence. They 
m ay  serve as: 

th e  subject,
e .g . Life consists in accepting  one’s duty, 

an object (direct, ind irect and prepositional),
e .g . You did such splendid  work.

General Drake handed the  man his medal.
H e w on’t  listen to  any  advice.

a pred icative (non-prepositional and prepositional),
e .g . The town has always been a quiet and dignified litt le  place.

T he place was in disorder.

an objective predicative, 
e .g . They elected him  president of the  club.
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a subjective predicative, 
e.g. He was appointed squadron commander.

various adverbal modifiers (usually as p a rt of prepositional phrases),
e.g. I lived near V ictoria station in those years.

He spoke in a  d ifferen t tone.

an a ttrib u te  (in th e  genitive case, in the common case and as part 
of prepositional phrases),

e.g. His officer’s uniform  gave slimness to  his already heavy figure.
For some tim e he read all the  travel books he could lay his hands 

on.
He set off on a to u r of inspection, 

an apposition,

e.g. He told us about his father, a  teacher, who died in the war.

ARTICLES

§ I. The artic le is a structural word specifying the  noun. The ab ­
sence of the  article, w hich may be called th e  zero artic le , also specifies 
the  noun and has significance.1

There are two artic les in English which are  called the definite and 
the  indefinite article.

The use of articles, as well as their absence, has generally g ram m at­
ical meaning and falls under definite rules. T here are cases, however, 
in which the use of articles cannot be accounted for gram m atically  as 
it has become a m atte r of trad ition . This is found in numerous set p h ra ­
ses, as in: at n ight— in the n ight, in the distance— a t a distance, as a  re- 
su it o f— under the influence of, to take the trouble— to take care o f, to  
be in danger— to be in a  rage, etc.

Besides, the  trad itional use of artic les is found in other cases as 
well. For example, names of countries are generally  used w ithout any  
artic le but the  names of certain countries or regions, owing to  a w ell- 
established trad ition , are associated w ith  the defin ite article (e.g. the  
Crimea, the Caucasus, the Congo, the S udan , the Tyro l, the R uhr  and 
some others). ^

Thus, in dealing w ith  the  use of articles it  w ill be necessary to  d iv ide 
all the  cases into two groups which m ay be called  t h e  g r a m m a t ­
i c a l  u s e  o f  a r t i c l e s  and t h e  t r a d i t i o n a l  u s e  
o f  a r t i c l e s .

1 T he absence of th e  a r tic le  is not to  be confused  w ith  th e  om ission  of th e  a r t i ­
c le  for s ty lis tic  reasons a s  seen in new spaper h e a d in g s , s ta g e  d irec tions , te le g ra m s, 
e tc .

e- 8- B iggest B ra in  D ra in  Source in  B r ita in  (M orn ing  S ta r)
F ig h t over M ark et (M orning S tar)

C ath e rin e  en te rs  from  k itchen , crosses dow n to  w indow , looks o u t .  (a  
Play)
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The gram m atical use of articles is dependent on the character of the 
noun.

In order to  describe the use of articles we need some classification 
of noHns upon w hich our description can be based. The following classi­
fication seems to  be su itab le for the purpose:

common nouns

co u n tab le  nouns

concrete ab strac t

e.g. man, 
pen, 
dog

e .g . idea, 
an sw er, 
op in ion

proper names

uncountab le  nouns

concrete abstrac t

e .g . coal, 
w ater, 
paper

e-g. tim e, 
freedom, 
dism ay

N o t e .  N o u n s d e n o tin g  un iq u e  objects (e .g . the sun , the moon) o r u n iq u e  n o ­
tio n s (e.g. the past, the plural) a re  n e ith e r c o u n ta b le  n o r uncountab le.

As is seen from th e  above table, proper names form a special category 
and the use of artic les w ith  them  should be treated separately. W ith  
common nouns, th e  use of articles is dependent on whether a noun is 
countable or uncountable.

THE FU N C T IO N S O F  A R TIC LES W ITH COMMON NOUNS 

The Indefinite A rticle

§ 2. W ith  c o u n t a b l e  n o u n s ,  bo th  concrete and abstract, 
the  indefinite a rtic le  is used when we wish to  name an object (a thing, 
a person, an anim al o r an abstract notion), to  s ta te  what kind of object 
is meant.
e.g. He gave her a  cigare tte  and lighted it.

There came a  tap at the  door, and a sm all elderly man entered 
the room, w earing a  black cap.

This function m ay be called t h e  n o m i n a t i n g  f u n c t i o n .
But at the  sam e tim e, owing to  its origin from the numeral one the 

indefinite a rtic le  alw ays im plies the idea of oneness (единичность) 
and is used only before nouns in the singular.

The idea of oneness may sometimes become quite prom inent. It 
occurs in the  follow ing cases:

a) a hundred, a thousand, a m inute , a m ile , etc.
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b) after the negative not— not a word, not a trace, not a th o u g h t ,
etc.

c) in some set phrases—one at a time, a t  a draught (as in: He em p tied  
his glass a t a draught), a stitch in time saves nine, etc.

§ 3. W hen the  speaker uses the  indefin ite  article, he ju st nam es 
an object which is usually new to  th e  hearer. So the  indefin ite a r tic le  
is often used to  introduce a new elem ent in  th e  sentence. Since th e  new 
element is, as a rule, im portant and a ttra c ts  a tten tion , the  noun  w ith  
the indefinite artic le  frequently becomes th e  centre of com m unication 
and is marked by strong stress.
e.g. I th ink  he is a  stupid fellow.

Presently the  Browns arrived. They brought w ith them  a  sm a ll 
child, a  governess and a  dog.

The tab le  was covered with a  w hite clo th .

In contrast to  this, the definite a r tic le  usually  indicates th a t  a def­
in ite object is m eant and th a t it is not new to  the hearer. T hat is why 
it often serves to  show th a t the noun is no t th e  centre of com m unication. 
Compare the following sentences:
e.g. I bought a  book yesterday.

I bought th e  book yesterday.
From the  first sentence the hearer learns w h a t  o b j e c t  was 

bought yesterday. So “a book” is th e  new elem ent in the sentence. From  
the second sentence the  hearer learns w h e n  the  book was bought 
(he already knows th a t the speaker bought a book). In th is  case  “ the  
book” is not the  centre of com m unication.

* In the Russian language which has no artic le , the centre of com m uni­
cation is usually  marked by w ord-order and also stress.
Cf.
В комнату вбежал мальчик. A boy rushed into th e  room .
Мальчик вбежал в комнату. The boy rushed into th e  room .
Их послали в мае на конфе- They were sent to  a conference 

ренцию. in May.
Их послали на конференцию They were sent to  th e  conference 

в мае. in May.
'T h is  d istinction  between the  two artic les is very helpful in  m ost 

cases but the  ru le  does not always hold good. We may find sentences 
in which a noun w ith  an indefinite a r tic le  does not serve as th e  centre 
of com m unication and is not m arked by  strong stress (a) and, v ice  versa, 
a noun w ith  the  definite article m arked by strong stress m ay become 
the most im portan t element of com m unication (b).
e.g. a) A camel can carry heavy loads,

b) “Shut the door,” he ordered.
It follows from the above exam ples th a t the  use of th e  in d efin ite  

article w ith  nouns serving as th e  cen tre  of com m unication is to  be re­
garded as an additional rule.
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§ 4. W ith u n c o u n t a b l e  n o u n s ,  th e  indefinite artic le 
serves to  bring out a special aspect of the notion expressed by the noun. 
In th is  case its function  m ay be called a s p e c t i v e .

e .g . A du ll burning anger rose in his chest.
He had alm ost a  supernatural courage.

In  th is case the  noun is usually  qualified by an a ttrib u te  which also 
b rings out a special aspect. In its  aspective function the  indefinite ar­
t ic le  is devoid of th e  idea of oneness.

The D efinite A rticle

§ 5. When used w ith  c o u n t a b l e  n o u n s ,  e ither concrete or 
ab strac t, the definite a r tic le  has two distinct functions:

1) I t  may be used w ith  singular and plural nouns to show th a t the 
noun  denotes a p a rticu la r object (a thing, a person, an animal or an 
ab strac t notion) or a group of objects as distinct from the  others of the 
sam e kind. In other w ords, th e  definite artic le  serves to  single out an 
ob ject or several objects from  all the other objects of the same class, 
T h is  function is called t h e  i n d i v i d u a l i z i n g  f u n c t i o n  
of th e  definite article.

e .g . The car stopped. P au l got out and stretched himself.
As we stood on th e  steps, we felt the smell of fallen leaves coming 
from the garden.
Margot took up the  telephone.

2) The definite a rtic le  m ay also have t h e  g e n e r i c  f u n c ­
t i o n  w ith  countable nouns.

W ith  nouns in th e  singu lar it  serves to indicate th a t the noun be­
com es a composite im age (собирательный образ) of the  class.

e .g . The tiger has always had th e  reputation of being a man-eater.
The linguist is in terested  in  th e  form and m eaning of all possible 

statem ents in a language.

§  6. W ith  u n c o u n t a b l e  n o u n s ,  the  function of the definite 
a r tic le  may be called r e s t r i c t i n g .

T he definite artic le  re s tric ts  th e  m aterial denoted by a concrete 
uncoun tab le  noun to  a defin ite  quantity , portion or to  a definite local­
i ty  (a); it also restric ts th e  abstract notion expressed by an uncount­
a b le  noun to  a particu lar instance (проявление понятия в данном слу­
чае) (b).

e .g . а) Н е slowly pulled  on his gloves, concentrating on each fold in 
the leather.

As we came out in to  the  cold damp air, she shivered,
b) The work seemed to  consist chiefly of interview ing young women 

for jobs in  departm ent stores.
I did not wish to  be tray  the anxiety I felt.
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Absence of the A rticle  (the Zero A rticle)

§ 7. The absence of the  artic le  (the zero article) has only  one func­
tion w ith common nouns—t h e  n o m i n a t i n g  f u n c t i o n .

This function of the  absence of th e  artic le  may be found w ith  c o u n t ­
a b l e  n o u n s  in the plural; it  is parallel to  th e  use of th e  indefi­
n ite  artic le w ith  singular countable nouns. But w hile  th e  indefinite 
artic le  is associated w ith  th e  idea of oneness, th e  absence of th e  article 
always im plies more-than-oneness.

e.g. M arion came round the  corner of the  house, w earing gardening 
gloves and a  very old sk irt.

My m other gave me some pennies to  buy apples o r a magazine. 
She had a sp litting  headache and took an aspirin  and sleeping pills.

The nom inating function of th e  absence of the  a r tic le  is also found 
w ith  u n c o u n t a b l e  n o u n s ,  both abstract and concrete (names 
of m aterials).

e.g. Last night I felt friendship and sym pathy for H enry , but today 
he has become an enemy.

Life goes on, changeless and ever changing.
W interbourne asked for w a te r and drank th irs tily .
The place smelled of dust.

THE U SE O F  A R T IC L E S W ITH COUNTABLE NOUNS

General Rules for the Use of A rticles w ith C ountable Nouns

§ 8. Countable nouns in  the singular may be used w ith  th e  indefi­
n ite  artic le  in its nom inating function and w ith  th e  defin ite article 
in its individualizing function.

e.g. They couldn’t travel w ithou t a  car there.
W hile her suit-case was being taken out of the car, she looked 

round.
He shut the  door behind h is w ife and handed me a  cigar.
I d id n ’t enjoy the cigar because it  was dam p.

In the  plural, countable nouns m ay be used w ith o u t any artic le  or 
w ith  the  definite article. The absence of the artic le  has its  nom inating 
function and the  definite artic le  is used in its  ind iv idualiz ing  function.

e.g. They couldn’t travel w ithout cars there.
W hile their suit-cases were being taken out of th e  cars, they looked 

round.
H e shut the door behind his wife and handed us cigars.
W e d id n ’t  enjoy the cigars because they were dam p.

N o t e .  N o tice  th e  use of th e  n o u n  things in  th e  m e a n in g  of circumstances, 
conditions, events in general, the present state o f affairs. I t  is a lw a y s  used  w ith o u t 
an y  a r tic le  in  th is  m ean in g .
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e.g . Y our re fu sa l w ill on ly  m ake  th in g s  worse.
T h ings a re n ’t  go ing  very  w ell a t  th e  firm .
I to ld  h im  th a t  y o u ’ve le t th in g s  s l id e  for long enough.
Y o u r fa th e r  is m ak in g  a m ess of things.
Y ou ta k e  th in g s  too  seriously .
1 m u st th in k  th in g s over.

§ 9. S ince the  choice of artic les is determined by the  context or the 
general s itu a tio n , we should tak e  into consideration a ttribu tes modify­
ing th e  noun as they constitu te  a part of the context. A ttribu tes are 
generally  divided in to  two classes: lim iting and descriptive.

A l i m i t i n g  a ttrib u te  indicates such a quality  or characteristic 
of an  object (or a group of objects) which makes it d istinct from all 
o ther objects of the  class.
e.g. She lost her temper: “ I t ’s the  most unpleasant thing you’ve ever 

to ld  m e .”
She sa t listening but the sound of her pounding heart covered any 

o th er sound.
A lice sm iled to  him and took the le tter he held out to  her.

A d e s c r i p t i v e  a ttr ib u te  is used to  describe an object (or 
a group of objects) or give additional inform ation about it. This kind 
of a ttr ib u te  does not single ou t an  object (or a group of objects) but 
only narrows th e  class to  which it belongs.
e.g. He w rote a  novel.

He w rote a  good novel.
He w rote a good h istorical novel.

In th e  above examples “a good novel” belongs to  a narrower class 
than “a n o v e l” , and “a good historical novel” belongs to a s till narrow­
er class.

We find th e  same in:
e.g. He sm iled at the  girl as she came down the stairs wearing a  red 

ra in co a t w ith a  hood.
To th e  left there was a  long room w ith a  narrow table strew n w ith 

periodicals.

N ouns modified by lim iting  a ttributes are used w ith the definite ar­
ticle.

Nouns m odified by descriptive attributes may be used w ith  either the 
indefinite or the definite articles, as the choice of articles for countable 
nouns is no t affected by th is k ind  of attribu te .

Yet, th e  division of a ttrib u tes  into two classes is not very helpful 
for p rac tica l purposes, since m ost attribu tes are not lim iting  or de­
scrip tive  by  natu re . Taken by them selves, they are neutral, and it is 
only in th e  context th a t they acquire lim iting or descriptive force.
e.g. H e was going to  build  a  new house.

S hortly  afte r he moved to  the new house, he fell ill.
W e shall tak e  a  road going through the forest as it won’t  be so hot there. 
W e shall tak e  the road going through the forest as it is a short cut.
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This means th a t attribu tes cannot generally  be regarded as re liab le  
criteria for the choice of articles.

Nevertheless we find a number of a ttr ib u te s  which are d is tin c tly  
lim iting owing to  their form of expression. In order to set them  ap a rt, 
we must survey the  use of articles w ith  coun tab le  nouns modified by all 
types of attribu tes.

§ 10. The use o f articles with countable nouns modified by adjectives. 
Attributes expressed by adjectives are usually descriptive.
e.g. She drove an  old car.

His office was in a  fine, gay, busy l i t t le  street.
As was stated above, descriptive a ttr ib u te s  do not affect the  choice 

of articles. Thus we may find a noun modified by a descriptive a ttr ib u te  
used w ith the definite article.
e.g. The woman looked at me shrewdly and there  was a g lint of hum our 

in the dark eyes.
We lay lazily on the steep bank, looking a t the  ta ll  reeds.

The. definite artic le  in this case is accounted for by the  s itu a tio n  
but not by the a ttrib u te .

N o t e .  N otice  th a t  th e  ad jectiv e  p ronouns a l l  a n d  whole a re  to  be t r e a te d  a s  
desc rip tiv e  a ttr ib u te s . T he use of a rtic le s w ith  n o u n s  m o d ified  by these a t t r ib u te s  is 
de te rm in ed  by th e  s i tu a t io n .

e.g . A ll ch ild ren  l ik e  ice-cream .
A ll the ch ild ren  w a tch ed  th e  gam e w ith  e x c item en t.
H e never s tay ed  a  w hole  even ing  w ith  us.
H e sp en t th e  w ho le  ev en in g  w atch ing  th e  te l ly .

The ad jec tiv e  p ro n o u n  such is also a d e sc rip tiv e  a t t r ib u te ,  b u t, u n lik e  a l l  a n d  
whole, i t  is never co m b in ed  w ith  th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le .

e .g . Y our fa th e r is such a  handsom e m an.
I 'm  n o t p rep ared  to  believe such th in g s a b o u t m y  son.

But adjectives may become lim iting  a ttr ib u te s  when contrast is 
im plied. In this case they are marked by stronger stress.
e.g. W ill you pack my things for me? I w an t the litt le  suit-case as 

I ’ll be away only one night.
She saw a car pull up at the curb w ith  tw o women in it. The young­

er woman asked her the way to  th e  railw ay station.

Adjectives in the  superlative degree, however, are always lim itin g  
attributes.
e.g. She was the sm artest girl in the room.

“The most dangerous person of all is my u n cle ,” the young m an
whispered.

N o t e  I.  N o tice  th e  difference betw een  th e  fo llo w in g  co n stru c tio n s.

e .g . H e ’s the m ost experienced  doctor I know .
H e’s a m ost experienced doctor.

In  th e  firs t sen ten ce  w e fin d  th e  su p e rla tiv e  d eg ree  of “ e x p erien ced ” w h ich  a c ­
co u n ts  for th e  use of th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le . In  th is  c o m b in a tio n  b o th  “ m o s t” a n d  “ e x p e ­
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r ie n c e d ” are s tre ssed . In  th e  second sentence “ m o s t” is an  ad v erb  of degree (крайне, 
чрезвы чайно), so th e  w h o le  co m b in a tio n  is a d e sc rip tiv e  a tt r ib u te  an d  “ m o s t”  is 
unstressed  here.

N o t e  2 . T h e  c o m b in a tio n  a best suit (выходной костюм) an d  a best seller 
(ходкая  книга) a re  to  b e  reg ard e d  as se t phrases.

Some adjectives, ad jec tive pronouns and adjectivized fog-forms almost 
always serve as lim itin g  a ttribu tes. The most im portant of them  are: 
right (тот, который нужен; правильный) and wrong (не to t) , very, o n ly , 
main, principal, cen tra l, le ft and right, same, coming, following, pres­
ent, former (первый) and latter (последний), 
e.g. It just seems to  be the wrong way to  go about it.

My chief is the  r ig h t man in the righ t place.
The questions you ask are the very questions I am pu tting  myself. 
My mother was the  only person whom I to ld  what had happened. 
My relatives tak e  a very grave view of the present situation.

Besides, there are o ther adjectives w hich commonly, though not 
always, serve as lim itin g  attributes, e.g. proper (надлежащий, пра­
вильный), previous, opposite, necessary, so-called, adjacent, alleged, 
usual, upper, lower, and some others.

N o t e  1. A n  only  child  is  to  be  regarded as a se t ph rase  (единственный ребе­
нок у  родителей).

e .g . She is as sp o iled  a s  if  sh e  w ere an  o n ly  child.
B ut we say: S h e  w as th e  o n ly  ch ild  present in  th e  draw ing-room .

N o t e  2. N o u n s m o d ified  by th e  ad jectives next an d  last a re  genera lly  used 
w ith  th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le .

e .g . W e sha ll p ro b a b ly  eat a t  (he nex t tab le  to  h im .
My fa th e r had  n o t  re ad  th e  la s t  seven pages of th e  book.

B ut w hen th ese  a d je c t iv e s  m odify  nouns d en o tin g  tim e , a c tu a lly  co m in g  or 
ju s t  past from  th e  p o in t  o f v iew  of th e  speaker, th e re  is no a r tic le  a t  a ll.

e .g . H e  sa id : “ No, y o u  c a n ’t  see her. She w ent to  L ondon  la s t  week. ”
H e sa id : “ I am  d e te rm in e d  n o t to  spend m ore th a n  ten  pounds on  m y c lo th es 

n e x t year a n d  so  I ’ll m an ag e  by m y se lf .”

I t  m u st be  n o ted  t h a t  in  n a rra tio n  there  is a f lu c tu a tio n  in  th e  use of a r tic le s  
w ith  nouns m o d ified  b y  next. W e find  e ith e r th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le  or no a r tic le  a t  a ll .

e .g . W e had  n o t been  s i t t i n g  lo n g  in  th e  d raw ing-room  before  Mr M arch w as a r ra n g ­
ing  a tim e - ta b le  fo r  th e  n e x t day.

I sen t her a w ire  a n d  sh e  m et m e a t  th e  s ta tio n  n e x t day.

N o t e  3 . N o tice  th e  d ifference  in  th e  use of a r tic le s  w ith  nouns m od ified  by 
th e  ad jec tiv e  p ro n o u n  other. T he d e fin ite  a rtic le  is used w ith  a s in g u la r no u n  m o d i­
fied  by other if  th e re  a re  o n ly  tw o  ob jec ts  of th e  sam e d esc rip tion .

e .g . H e pu lled  on th e  o th e r  g lo v e  and  sa id  he w o u ld  ru n  a lo n g  to  his office.

If there  a re  m o re  th a n  tw o  ob jec ts  of th e  sam e d esc rip tio n , th e  in d efin ite  a r tic le  
i s  used {another). In  th is  case  another has th ree  m ean ings: еще один, любой другой 
a n d  не такой, иной .

e .g . C ould I h ave  a n o th e r  cup  of tea?
“ You can  do a s  w e ll a s  a n o th e r  m a n ,” he sa id .
W hen I cam e  b a c k  I fo u n d  him  in  an o th e r mood.

T he d e fin ite  a r t ic le  is  u sed  w ith  a p lu ra l noun  m o d ified  by other if  th e re  is a 
d e f in ite  n u m b er of o b je c ts  d iv id e d  in to  tw o d efin ite  groups.
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e .g . Of th e  th re e  p eop le  in v ite d  by her fo r th e  w eek -en d , one had  a lre a d y  a r r iv e d .  
H er h u sb an d  w an ted  to  know w hen th e  o th e r  g u ests were ex p ec ted .

M y m o th e r n eed ed  m e m ore th an  th e  o th e r  m em bers of th e  fam ily .

In  th is  case  “ th e  o th e r g u ests”, “ th e  o th e r  m e m b e rs” , e tc . m eans “ th e  r e s t ” .
If som e o b jec ts  a re  d iv id ed  in to  tw o g ro u p s  a n d  e ith e r  one of th e  g ro u p s  o r  b o th  

of them  a re  in d e fin ite , th e re  is no a r tic le .

e .g . I was th in k in g  o f other people in  th e  sa m e  p o sitio n .
H er b ro th ers , a s  a ru le , could  n o t m ak e  th em se lv es  good friends to  o th e r  m en .

In  th is  case  “ o th e r  p eo p le” , “o th er m e n ” , e tc . m ean s «другие».
T he sam e ru le s  a re  ap p lied  to  other w hen i t  is  u sed  a s  a noun  p ro n o u n .

e .g . H e  drove w ith  one h an d , an d  used th e  o th e r  to  d raw  d iagram s in th e  a ir .
Y oung M a rtin  w as firs t sen t on an  e rra n d  to  th e  grocer, th en  on a n o th e r  t o  th e  
bu tcher.
T hen K a th e rin e  rem em bered ab o u t h e r m a il: “ T he on ly  le t te r  I ’ve  o p e n e d  is 

m y h u sb a n d ’s. Lew is, w ill you fe tch  in  th e  o th e rs ? ”
W hen people  say  th ey  do n o t care  w h a t o th e rs  th in k  of th em , for th e  m o s t  p a r t  

they  deceive them selves.

N o t e  4 . N o tice  a lso  th a t  the other day  (недавно, на днях) is to  be  re g a rd e d  
as a se t ph rase .

§ 11. The use o f articles with countable nouns modified by num erals. 
Cardinal num erals always serve as descriptive attribu tes.

e.g. He had refused three invitations to  golf, his excuse to  his friends 
being th a t he had no time.

If a noun modified by a cardinal num eral is used w ith  the  d e fin ite  
article, this is accounted for by the  s itu a tio n  or context.
e.g . By candelight the two men seemed of an  age if indeed n o t of the 

same fam ily.

Ordinal num erals are usually lim itin g  a ttribu tes, 
e.g. During the second week in O ctober she met him in Oxford S tree t.

However, when ordinal numerals are not used to  indicate o rd e r but 
acquire the m eaning of one more or another, the noun they m o d ify  is 
used w ith the indefin ite article.
e.g. They m ust have a third race to  decide who is the real w in n er. 

After a m om ent’s hesitation she added a  fourth spoonful of sugar 
to  her tea.

N o t e  1. T h e  above m entioned ru le  does n o t a p p ly  to  th e  n u m era l f i r s t .  T he 
co m b in a tio n  a first night (премьера) an d  a fir s t prize  a re  to  be reg ard ed  a s  s e t  p h ra ­
ses.

N o t e  2. N o tice  th e  use of d iffe ren t a r tic le s  in  th e  fo llow ing  p a t t e rn s  w ith  
nouns m odified  b y  ca rd in a l and  o rd in a l n u m era ls : the third chapter b u t  chapter 3 
(three), the f i f t h page b u t page S ( f ive) .

§ 12. The use o f articles with countable nouns modified by p artic ip les. 
A ttribu tes expressed by participles (see “V erbals” , §§ 173*180; 252-255) 
are placed e ither in pre-position or in  p o s tp o s itio n  to  the no u n  they 
modify.

When they are placed in pre-position, they are usually d esc rip tiv e  
attribu tes, like adjectives.
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e .g . They lived in  a new ly painted house.
There was a faded photograph and an ash-tray on the desk.

The use of the defin ite  artic le  in this case is usually accounted for 
b y  the  context or the  general situation.

e .g . A t the corner of the  stree t there shone the lighted windows of a 
club.

She collected the scattered  pages of the le tter and put it  away into 
her desk.

In post-position we usually  find participle phrases but not single 
partic ip les. They m ay be e ith e r descriptive (a) or lim iting  (b) attributes, 
according to  the context or situation .
e .g . a) It was a very sm all room, overcrowded w ith  furniture.

He took a m edicine prescribed by the doctor,
b) I adopted the tone used by my uncle Henry.

A t length I reached the  sixth floor, and knocked at the door 
numbered th irty -tw o .

§ 13. The use o f articles w ith  countable nouns modified by ing~forms. 
A ttribu tes expressed by to£-forms (see “V erbals”, §§ 163-172 ; 228- 

233) are placed either in  pre-position or in post-position to  the noun 
th ey  modify.

When they are placed in  pre-position, they are usually descriptive 
a ttrib u te s .

e .g . He looked a t m e w ith  a mocking smile.
He turned and saw a  crying boy.

In  post-position the ing-form  may be e ither non-prepositional or 
p repositional. We generally  find phrases and not single i/tf-forms 
here. Both kinds of these phrases may be descriptive (a) and lim iting
(b) according to the contex t or situation.

e .g . a) There was no answer and he sent a telegram  saying that he needed 
some work done urgently.

John  had an odd way of looking a t  things,
b) He took the path  leading to the lonely cottage.

He could not bear the thought of leaving her in such a state.

§ 14. The use of articles w ith  countable nouns modified by in fin itives. 
A ttributes expressed by infinitives tend to be descriptive.

e .g . He w illingly accepted an  invitation  to spend the week-end out of town. 
I m ade an a ttem p t to  smile.
He suddenly felt an  im pulse to laugh.

Y et, sometimes, depending on the situation  or context, the infin itive 
m ay  become a lim iting  a ttr ib u te .
e .g . They did not have the money to buy the house.

T h a t’s not the way to  speak to your parents.
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A t last he forced himself to  lie quietly  on his back fighting the 
desire to answer back.

§ 15. The use of articles with countable nouns modified by clauses. 
Nouns can be modified by two kinds of clauses—a ttrib u tiv e  (A) and 
appositive (B).

A. A ttribu tive  clauses qualify the noun. They m ay be introduced 
by the relative pronouns who, whose, which and that, by the relative 
adverbs where and when or asyndetically .
e.g. I will not describe the pictures th a t S trickland showed me.

His pictures gave me an em otion I could not analyse.
He wandered about the place like a man who has noth ing  else to'do. 

A ttribu tive  clauses fall into two groups:
1) Some a ttribu tive  clauses can be removed from the sentence w ithout 

destroying its meaning. They are m arked by a pause separating  them 
from the principal clause. In w riting  they m ay be separated by a comma. 
These clauses are never joined to  the principal clause asyndetically . 
Clauses of this kind are called n  о n - d e f i n i n g c l a u s e s  and 
they are always descriptive and do not influence the choice of the article. 
So the use of the article is determ ined by other factors (the context 
and other attributes).
e.g. She told me that she had discovered a wonderful young m an, who 

was going to help her in the East End.
She asked me a question, which I did not hear.
On her sofa there was a note-book open, in which she was preparing 

her lessons for the term.
When he at last got to  the office, where he spent so m any dull 

hours, he gave a sigh of relief.
2) O ther a ttribu tive  clauses are so closely connected w'ith the ante­

cedent th a t they cannot be left out w ithout destroying the m eaning of 
the sentence. There is no pause between this kind of clause and the prin­
cipal clause, and in w riting they are never marked off by a com m a. Such 
clauses may be joined to the principal clause either by connective words 
or asyndetically. A ttribu tive clauses of this kind are called  d e f i n ­
i n g  c l a u s e s  and they m ay be lim iting or descriptive, depending 
on the situation  or context.

When the a ttribu tive  clauses are lim iting, the defin ite  artic le  is 
used w ith the antecedent.
e.g. He took the cigarette th a t Robert offered him.

I remembered what I used to  feel about the young men Charles 
brought to the house.

In the back of her mind was the memory th a t it was the city  her 
friend came from.

In Russian the antecedent in th is  case may be m odified by the  words 
тот самый... который.

When the a ttribu tive  clauses are descriptive, the  a rtic le  w ith  the 
antecedent is determined by the context or the s itu a tio n .

223



e.g . She stared  a t me w ith an  expression th a t made me uncom fortable. 
“ I t ’s not a story I could te l l  anyone else, H a rry ,” he said.
As a girl my m other had expected a husband who would give her 
love and position.

In  R ussian the antecedent in  th is case may be modified by the words 
такой, который..., такого рода (типа), который... .

В. A ppositive clauses disclose the meaning of the noun. They can 
m odify only certain  abstract nouns, such as idea, feeling , hope, thought, 
impression, sense and the like. Appositive clauses are usually intro­
duced by the conjunction tha t (что) and are sim ilar to  object clauses.
e.g. H e had the feeling th a t a l l  h is efforts proved to be fu tile .

H e put off the thought th a t  he ought to have tackled the conver­
sation  differently.

A ppositive clauses are generally lim iting  a ttribu tes.
e.g. “ I am sorry, ” she said, and I had the impression th a t she m eant it. 

The idea th a t he can be of use made him happy.
I was annoyed by the sense th a t nothing in tellectual could ever 

troub le  him.
O ccasionally, however, the noun modified by an appositive clause 

is used w ith  the indefinite artic le .
e.g . She had an  impression th a t Charlie was speaking to his cousin ra ther 

th an  to her.
I had a growing feeling th a t  time was running out.

§16 The use of articles w ith  countable nouns modified by nouns 
in  the common case. A ttributes expressed by nouns in the common case 
are usually descriptive.

e.g. There was a  glass door leading into the passage.
A silver tray was brought in  w ith tea cups on it.
H e sa t on a kitchen chair.

W hen the  modified noun is used w ith the definite article, th is is 
accounted for by the situation , n o t by the a ttribu te.
e.g . A t the  study door he stopped for a moment.

L anny looked a t the dining-room  window and sm iled.

Som etim es, however, nouns in  the common case m ay serve as lim it­
ing a ttrib u te s .
e.g . A t the  Squaw Valley W inter Olympics the Soviet team w on21 m edals. 

The H itle r regime brought no thing but misery to  the  German peo­
ple.

In  th is  case the a ttr ib u te  is usually expressed by a proper name 
and serves to  show th a t reference is made to  a particular object.

§ 17. The use o f articles w ith  countable nouns modified by nouns in 
the g en itive  case. The use of artic les with nouns modified by nouns in
224



the genitive case is specific. Before we speak of the choice of the a r t i ­
cle it is necessary to find out to which elem ent of the combination it 
refers.

As has been said (see “Nouns” , § 17), there are two kinds of the 
genitive case:

1) the specifying genitive which denotes a p a rticu la r person or thing, 
as in: m y mother's picture, the m an 's voice, the river's bed. In 
this case the article refers to  the noun in the g en itive  case and is chosen 
in  accordance w ith the  general rules, 
e.g. the boy’s

the boys’ 
a boy’s 
boys’ 
Robert’s

books

N o t e .  W hen th e  nou n  in  th e  g e n itiv e  case is  a p ro p e r n am e , th e re  is n a tu ra lly  
no a rtic le .

2) the classifying (descriptive) genitive w hich refers to  a whole 
class of objects, as in: sheep's eyes, a doctor's degree, a m ile’s distance. 
In  this case the artic le  refers to  the head-noun whereas the noun in the 
genitive case serves as a descriptive a ttrib u te . The artic le  for the head- 
noun is chosen in accordance w ith the general rules.
e.g. We had not walked a m ile’s distance w hen we saw the river.

I t  was only a m ile from the cottage to  the  nearest village but the 
m ile’s walk in the hot sun seemed very long to  Jim .

Is there a bu tcher’s shop in the street?
“ I am looking for the bu tcher’s shop, ” he said , “ th a t  used to be here 

when I was a ch ild .”
As the article here refers to the head-noun, the  noun in the genitive 

case may have the plural form and yet be preceded by the indefinite 
artic le , as in: a soldiers' canteen, a g ir ls ' school, a three m iles' walk, 
a fifteen m inutes' break.
e.g. W ould you like to go to  a  soldiers’ canteen and get some food? 

The College has a two years’ course.
§ 1 8 . The use o f articles with countable nouns modified by preposi­

tional phrases. A ttributes may be expressed by nouns w ith various 
prepositions. Depending on the context or the situation , they may be 
either descriptive (a) or lim iting  (b).
e.g. a) But you m ust know that a m arriage w ith  a  boy in a jazz band 

w ouldn’t last a year.
A man under such circumstances is alw ays very helpless,

b) He always felt ill a t ease among the ca lle rs  a t  his sister’s house. 
The darkness was almost complete, and the  boats in the har­

bour were swaying to  the rhythm  of th e  sea ’s breathing.
W ithin th is type of a ttribu tes special consideration  should be given 

to  the so-called of-phrase which is very com m on. Of-phrases m ay 
serve as descriptive and lim iting a ttribu tes.
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Descriptive of-phrases are recognized by clear-cut meanings. They 
denote:
q u a 1 i t у— a book of interest, a feeling of relief, a question of im port­

ance, a p o rtra it of a girl, etc. 
q u a n t i t y  or  m e a s u r  e—a tem perature of +20°, a distance of 

three m iles, a box of two tons, etc. 
c o m p o s i t i o  n— a group of children, a flock of birds, a party  of 

twelve people, a team  of hockey players, etc. 
m a t e r i a  1— a w all of glass, a ring of gold, a scarf of thick wool, etc. 
с о n  t e n t — a cup of tea, a bo ttle of m ilk, a packet of cigarettes, etc. 
a g e—a boy of five, a m an of m iddle age, etc. 
s i z e—a sa ilo r of m iddle height, a bu ild ing  of enormous size, etc. 
c o m p a r i s o  n —a w ild  cat of a woman ( = a  woman like a w ild cat), 

an angel of a w ife ( = a  wife like an angel), a devil of a boy ( = a  boy 
like a devil), etc.

Here also belong such com binations as: a friend of mine, a book 
of my own, etc.

Nouns m odified by descriptive of-phrases usually take the indefi­
n ite artic le . B ut the definite artic le m ay also be used and then it  is 
accounted for by th e  context or by the situation .

All other of-phrases are lim iting  and, consequently, the head-noun 
is used w ith  th e  defin ite article. As lim iting  of-phrases express a great 
variety  of m eanings there is no point in classifying them . The most 
common types of com binations are: the house o f m y neighbour, the wife 
of a miner, the foo t o f the m ountain, the collar o f a shirt, the smoothness 
of a new machine, the shot o f a gun, the development o f science, the roaring 
of the ocean, the invention of the radio, the use o f articles, the name of 
John, the c ity  o f New York, the position o f a teacher, the colour o f amber, 
the shadow o f a  tree, the outline o f a boat.

In some cases, however, the choice of the artic le is affected not only 
by the na tu re  of the  of-phrase but also by the following factors.

If the head-noun denotes an object which is the only bearer of the 
property (признак) expressed by the of-phrase, the definite artic le  is 
used: the president o f the club, the glow  o f a lamp, the murderer of 
Caesar, the m onitor o f the group , etc.

But if there  are m any objects of the  sam e description, the indefi­
n ite artic le  is used: a member o f the club, a student o f the group, a 
p u ff  o f w ind, e tc .

Sometimes, however, the definite artic le  is used, alongside of the 
indefinite a rtic le , even if there is more than  one object of the sam e de­
scription. This occurs when there is a d e f i n i t e  number of compo­
nent parts: the (a ) leg o f the table, the (a) wheel o f the car, the (an) 
ear o f a dog.

Certain Peculiarities in the Use 
of the  D efinite A rticle w ith Countable Nouns

§ 19. There are certain  instances of the use of the definite article 
which are to  be regarded as a m atter of trad ition :
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1) We often find the  definite article used by  reason of locality, i.e . 
w ith  reference to objects th a t surround the speaker (or the people and 
things described by him ). This usually refers to  objects either indoors 
(e.g. the corner, the window, the table, the door, the w a ll, etc.) or 
out-of-doors (e.g. the stars, the street, the trees, the flowers, the houses, 
Me leaves, the birds, the bees, etc.).
e.g. As I came up our street, I saw my m other and m y brother waving 

from the window.
The la te  sun stream ed across the kitchen, and a patch  of ligh t danc­

ed on the w all.
A bee buzzed among the flowers.
The trees swayed to  and fro under the grey sky .
The gu lls flew low over the barges.
The noonday heat had even stilled the songs of the birds.

It should be noted th a t this rule applies only  to  a lim ited number 
of nouns.

2) The definite artic le  is used w ith nouns denoting objects th a t 
are norm ally found in a particular place. It is tak en  for granted th a t 
the object is to be found there. For example, we norm ally  expect to find 
a subject and a predicate in a sentence. Therefore in  analysing the sen­
tence The old man walked slowly we say: “The old man is t h e 
subject, walked is t h e  p red icate .” But we say: “Old  is a n attribu te , 
slow ly  is a n  adverbial modifier of m an n er,” as th e  secondary parts 
are not found in every sentence.

W hen we speak about the  cinema or the  th ea tre  we say: “ I couldn’t 
find  m y seat and asked t h e attendant to help m e .” In a cafe or a res­
tau ran t we say: “L e t’s call t h e w a ite r .” In  a departm ent store we 
say: “L e t’s go to  t h e  m en ’s clothing d ep a rtm en t.” A t home we m ay 
hear: “ I ’ll put t h e  ke ttle  on and make you som e te a .” or “Can I tu rn  
t h e  radio off? I w ant to  read t h e p ap e r.”

N o t e .  I t  shou ld  be  n o ted  th a t  i t  is cu sto m ary  in  E n g lish  to  use possessive 
p ro n o u n s (and no t th e  d e f in ite  a rtic le ) when sp eak in g  a b o u t  o n e ’s re la tiv es, p a r ts  
o f th e  body , a rtic le s  of c lo th in g  and  o th er personal b e lo n g in g s.

e .g . H is b ro th e r w as w earin g  a sw eater up to  h is neck  a n d  c h e s tn u t h a ir dow n to  
h is  shoulders.

“ W here  is h e?” S tep h en  asked, look ing  a t h is w a tch .
She p u t her hand  in to  her b ag  and took o u t h e r h a n d k erc h ie f .

H ow ever, in c e r ta in  id io m a tic  phrases th e  d e fin ite  a r t ic le  is th e  norm .

e .g . H e  took  her by th e  arm  an d  led her o u t of th e  room .
H e w as w ounded in  th e  leg.

F or m ore exam ples see “ P ro n o u n s” , § 6.

The Generic Function of the D efinite A rtic le

§ 20. A singular countable noun w ith a d e fin ite  artic le m ay repre­
sent a whole class of objects, thus becoming a com posite image of th a t  
class (but not a typical representative). A noun in  th is  function is called 
a g e n e r i c  s i n g u l a r .
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e.g. The v io le t is a lovely flower.
The cuckoo is a lazy bird.
To the philosopher, language m ay be an instrum ent of thought; 

to  the sociologist, a form of behaviour; to the psychologist, 
a cloudy window through which he glimpses the workings of 
the m ind; to the engineer, a series of physical events; to  the 
linguist, a system  of arb itrary  signs.

The aeroplane has made the world a small place.
N o t e  1. I t  is  a lso  som etim es possible to  use th e  in d efin ite  a r tic le  in  s im ila r  

cases.
e .g . A v io le t is a lo v e ly  flower.

T his use of th e  in d e fin ite  a rtic le  is no t to  b e  id en tified , how ever, w ith  th e  generic  
function  of th e  d e f in i te  a r tic le . T he in d efin ite  a r tic le  is used here in  i ts  n o m in a tin g  
fu nction , im p ly in g  a n y  re p re sen ta tiv e  of th e  c lass . H ence th e  use of th e  in d e fin ite  
a rtic le  is n o t e q u iv a le n t  to  th a t  of th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le  w hen th e  noun is used as a com ­
posite  im age  of a w h o le  c lass. For th a t  reason th e  in d efin ite  a r tic le  is n o t possib le  
in th e  fo llo w in g  sen ten ces .

e .g . Now th e  h o rse  h as been rep laced  by  the trac to r .
“ In  th is  le c tu re  I am  going  to speak  ab o u t the a r tic le  in  E n g lish ,” sa id  th e  p ro­

fessor.

In  o th e r cases, how ever, w hen any  ty p ica l re p re se n ta tiv e  of a c lass b u t n o t a 
com posite  im ag e  o f t h a t  c lass  is m ean t, only  th e  in d efin ite  a rtic le  m ay be used .

e.g . A book m ak e s  a good presen t.
A passenger is  a llo w ed  to  tak e  20kg of h a n d  luggage free of charge.
A word o r w ord -g ro u p  m ay be em phasized  (i.e . th row n  in to  g rea ter p rom inence). 
A flow er is a lw a y s  a b eau tifu l deco ra tion .

N o t e  2. N o tic e  th a t  a p lu ra l noun  used in  a generic sense has no a r tic le  i r ­
respec tive  of w h e th e r  i t  is p a ra lle l to  a sin g u lar noun  w ith  th e  d e fin ite  o r  in d e fin ite  
a rtic le .

e .g . V io le ts a re  l iv e ly  flow ers.
A eroplanes h a v e  m ad e  th e  w orld  a sm all p lace.
Now horses h a v e  been  replaced by trac to rs .
Flow ers a re  a lw a y s  a b eau tifu l deco ra tion .

N o t e  3 . W h en  th e  no u n  man is used in  a generic  sense, no a r tic le  is fo u n d .

e.g . Sure ly  he  h a d  su ffe red  e v ery th in g  th a t  m an  c an  endure.

The noun  woman  in  a generic  sense m ay be used w ith  th e  defin ite  a r tic le  o r  w ith o u t 
any  a rtic le .

e.g . H e h ad  a lw a y s  been  in te res ted  in  th a t  m y sterio u s b e in g — th e  w om an.
W om an is m a n ’s h e lp m ate .

The generic a rtic le  is always found w ith  collective nouns denoting 
social groups or classes. The artic le serves to  emphasize the idea of col­
lectivity, as in; the proletariat, the peasantry, the bourgeoisie, the aristoc­
racy, the n o b ility , the gentry , the clergy, the intelligentsia, the public. 
(For concord of these nouns w ith their predicate verbs see “N ouns” , 
§13-)

W ith other nouns, the use of the generic singular is restric ted  in  two 
ways:

1) Only a sem antica lly  lim ited group of nouns appear to  be used 
generically. W e m ain ly  find here names of anim als, plants, professions
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and occupations, the nouns man, woman and child , collective nouns 
denoting social groups and, last bu t not least, scientific term s.

N o t e .  In  p a r tic u la r , gram m ar te rm s m ay  a lso  be used g en erica lly .

e .g . The noun  m ay  have d ifferen t fu n c tio n s  in  th e  sentence.
The a r tic le  is  a s tru c tu ra l word sp e c ify in g  th e  noun.

2) Generic singulars are m ainly characteristic  of scientific and  lite r­
ary prose where there is a need for generalization. That means th a t  there 
is a s ty listic  restric tion  to the use of generic singulars.

§ 21. The definite article is used w ith  generic plurals but it is found 
only when the idea of collectivity is defin itely  emphasized, suggesting 
the whole body of, as in: a) the R ussians, the Germans, the I ta lia n s , the 
Americans', b) the Communists, the peasants, the workers, the ca p ita l­
ists, the Tories, the aristocrats, the Liberals, the catholics.
e.g. The workers have nothing to  lose but their chains.

The Tories will not lift a finger to  help the workers.

As we see from the above examples, th is use of the generic d efin ite  
artic le is found w ith names of n a tio n alitie s , representatives of p o litica l 
parties, classes, social groups and also religious beliefs.

Note, however, that there is no a rtic le  when not the whole body 
of but separate, individual representatives are m eant.
e.g. Ita lians are often good singers.

Brazilians are generally keen on football.

It should be stressed that the use of generic plurals is s t i ll  m ore 
lexically restric ted  than that of generic singulars as it is found w ith  a 
more lim ited num ber of semantic groups of nouns. Yet it is not re s tr ic ted  
sty listically .

N o t e .  T he no u n  people is used w ith  th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le  w hen th e  id e a  of 
co lle c tiv ity  is em phasized .

e g. (A ll) The people  in  our country a re  d o in g  th e ir  best to  ensure a la s t in g  peace .

B u t if th e  idea  of c o llec tiv ity  is n o t u p p e rm o s t in  th e  m ind  of th e  sp e a k e r , th e re  
is no a rtic le  a t  a ll .

e g .  She was sp eak in g  w ith  absolute c e r ta in ty :  “ (A ll) People are s e l f is h .”

§ 22. The same generic use of the  defin ite  article is found w ith  
substantivized adjectives (e.g. the b lind, the poor, the rich , the 
young , the old, e tc.). This is also the case w ith  some adjectives d eno ting  
names of nationalities (e.g. (he B ritish , the French, the Chinese, the 
Japanese, etc.). On the whole it should  be noted th a t the n u m b er of 
adjectives thus substantivized is very lim ited .

e.g. The class policy put forward by the  Tories is a policy in ten d ed  to 
benefit the rich at the expense of the poor.

I t  is necessary to point out here th a t w hen not the whole body o f  bu t 
separate, individual representatives are m eant, a noun should be added .
Cf. The young are often intolerant.
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"Ah, well! Young men can ’t help m aking fools of them selves,” 
he said am iably .

The old are often helpless.
The old woman was helpless.

N o t e .  A djectives fo llow ed  b y  ones m ay have generic  force an d  th en  th ey  are 
u se d  w ith  th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le .

e .g .  “ I t  is n ’t  the p re tty  ones th a t  becom e good w ives an d  m o th e rs ,” sa id  Jack . 
“ The l i t t le  ones a lw ays k n o w  a  good m an from a bad  o n e ,” sa id  th e  o ld  w om an.

The Use of A rticles with Countable Nouns 
;s in Some Syntactic Relations
v
§ 23. In  some syn tactic  relations we observe certain  peculiarities 

in  the  use of articles. This refers, in the first place, to  the use of articles 
w ith  nouns in the function of a predicative or an apposition.

1) As a rule, nouns used predicatively or in apposition take the in­
d efin ite  article. I t  is used here in its nom inating function in accordance 
w ith  the general rule. I t  stands to  reason that nouns in the plural have 
no article, e.g.

Predicative Apposition
“ I ’m a  socialist, of cou rse ,” he “I ’m sure you know Alfred Hard, 

said. a professor a t London Univer­
s i ty ,” she remarked.

A ll my friends were students. My friends, a l l  students then,
often discussed the war.

Nouns used predicatively  or in apposition m ay have descriptive a t­
trib u tes , e.g.

Predicative Apposition
H e was an  extrem ely boring fel- H art, an uneasy nervous man, 

low. made a few sarcastic remarks.

2) The definite a rtic le , in  accordance w ith its  individualizing func­
tion , serves to show th a t the speaker or w riter is referring to  a definite 
person or object. As a ru le, the  noun in this case has a lim iting a t tr i ­
bu te , e.g.

Predicative Apposition
P h ilip  had been the hero of his Then Jack , the most impudent 

childhood. person there, interrupted me.

In  addition to this ru le  it  should be m entioned th a t a noun in appo­
s it io n  is also used w ith  the  definite article when the speaker takes it 
for granted th a t the hearer knows the person in question.
e .g . “W hat is it, M aty ?” “ I t ’s Mr Hooker, the newspaper editor, he 

wants to see y o u .”
As the invited entered the  house they were greeted by Elsie, the 

maid.
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Erich M aria Remarque, the  German-born an ti-w ar w riter, said 
th a t his novels were successful because in them  he to ld  “about 
a generation which had been destroyed by war in  sp ite  of the fact 
th a t it  escaped dea th .”

3) Nouns used predicatively or in apposition m ay have no  article 
and th a t is one of the peculiarities of the  syntactic functions in  question. 
This is found in the following cases:

(a) when nouns used predicatively or in apposition denote a position 
(rank, state, post or occupation) which is, as a rule, un ique. N ote that 
the noun in this case usually has an  of-phrase a ttrib u te , e.g.

Predicative Apposition
Mike S la ttery  was chairm an of W. Carl Johnson, Superintendent

the Republican county com- of the Schools, received me in
m ittee. his office.

Occasionally the definite a rtic le  is also used in  such cases, e.g.

Predicative Apposition
I th ink  we all realize that Mr Pas- So one day I took the  opportu- 

sant has been the leader of n ity  to  ta lk  to  M r Pyke, the
our group. assistan t d irec to r of the  firm.

(b) when nouns used predicatively or in apposition denote a re lation­
ship and stress is laid on the social position of the person expressed by 
the subject (or the head-noun). The noun is usually m odified by an of- 
phrase in th is case, e.g.

Predicative Apposition
Mrs Nelson was wife of the man- M argaret, daughter of a  history 

ager of the firm. professor, was w orking as sec­
retary to  a L abour member.

He is heir to  a  rich m anufacturer.

But norm ally we find the defin ite  artic le here, e.g.

Predicative Apposition
She was the wife of a local trades- Ann, the daughter of the land­

man. lady, cooked breakfast for the
boarders.

One of these young men was the  Then I was in troduced to  Charles 
son of an em inent writer. March, the nephew of our host.

N o t e .  On th e  w hole, w ith  th e  n o u n s son and  daughter u sed  p re d ic a t iv e ly  or 
in  ap p o sitio n  w e find  th e  fo llow ing  th re e  v a r ia n ts :

a) She is the dau g h te r of a docto r (w h ich  is th e  m ost com m o n  v a r ia n t  ex p ress in g  
m ere  re la tio n sh ip ).

b) She is a  d au g h te r of a doc to r (w hich  expresses th e  id ea  t h a t  th e  d o c to r has 
m ore th a n  one d au gh ter; th e  v a r ia n t  is  n o t used u n less  th is  id e a  becom es 
p ro m in en t).

c) She is dau g h te r of a doctor (w h ich  describes th e  so c ia l p o s it io n  of th e  person 
in  question).
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(c) w hen nouns used predicatively serve to denote a certain  charac­
te ris tic  of the  person ind icated  by  the subject. The noun predicative 
is u sua lly  followed by enough here. (This case is not found w ith nouns 
in  apposition .)

e.g. H e is n ’t fool enough to  believe th a t sort of thing.
She is woman enough to  understand it.

(d) w hen predicative nouns are  used in clauses of concession w ith 
inverted  word-order.

e.g. Child though she was, she had  suffered much.
Boy as he was, he was chosen their leader.

C onstructions of this kind are characteristic only of lite rary  style.

N o t e .  T h ere  is no a r tic le  w ith  th e  p re d ica tiv e  noun  in th e  phraseo log ical u n its  
to turn  traitor, to turn pirate, to turn miser.

§ 24. In  English there are a num ber of verbs which in the Active 
Voice requ ire  the use of nouns as objective predicatives (a) and in the 
Passise Voice— as subjective predicatives (b).

e.g. a) They thought him  a prig.
They nam ed the child  John , 

b) H e was thought a prig.
The child was nam ed John.

The num ber of verbs which can be used in sentences containing an 
objective or a subjective pred icative expressed by a noun is lim ited. 
The m ost commonly used of them  are: to appoint, to call, to choose, 
to elect, to fancy, to imagine, to make, to name, to think.

N o t e .  T h ere  a re  a n um ber of o th e r  v erbs req u irin g  th e  sam e c o n s tru c tio n  b u t 
th ey  b e lo n g  to  l ite ra ry  s ty le . Som e of su ch  verbs m ay be used b o th  in  th e  passiv e  and  
a c t iv e  c o n s tru c tio n s ; o th ers  occur o n ly  in  one of them .

The use of articles w ith nouns which serve as objective (a) and sub­
jective  (b) predicatives is s im ilar to  that of predicative nouns and nouns 
in  apposition  (see “A rticles” , §23).

e.g. a) They appointed him  a member of the delegation.
W e elected him  an honorary member of the Com mittee.
H e fancied her the m ost wonderful woman in the world.
They chose him chairm an of the Society.
They appointed him  secretary  of the new Com mittee, 

b) He was appointed a m em ber of the delegation.
H e was elected an honorary member of the Com mittee.
She was thought the m ost impudent little  f lir t  in London. 
He was chosen chairm an of the Society.
H e was appointed secretary of the new Committee.

N o t e .  In  th e  sen tences They took h im  prisoner as well as He was taken prisoner 
a n d  They called  him  names as w ell as H e was called names w e are  d ea lin g  w ith  set 
ph rases .
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§ 25. The rules given for the use of articles w ith  predicative nouns 
and nouns in apposition also hold good for nouns introduced by as.
e.g. I regarded my uncle as a terrib le tyrant.

He meant it as a joke but forgot to sm ile.
He went to the conference as the head of the  delegation.
As the only son of rich parents he was alw ays well provided w ith 

money.
He acted as interpreter for Mr March.
They nominated him  as Lord Treasurer of the Council.

• Although the use of articles w ith nouns introduced by as is, on the 
whole, sim ilar to  th a t w ith  predicative nouns and nouns in apposition, 
there is a deviation from the general rule. W hen the  noun introduced 
by as denotes an  object which is not unique, the  artic le  may or may 
not be used.
e.g. Rebecca was now engaged as (a) governess.

The man had agreed to  serve as (a) witness.
Mr Stapleton had persuaded a leather m erchant to  take my father 

on as traveller (коммивояжер).
“ I can’t see him doing much good as a t r a v e l le r ,” said my aun t.

N o t e .  T he above ru les  do no t concern  n o uns in tro d u c e d  by  as used for co m ­
p ariso n . T he a rtic le s  are used in  accordance w ith  th e  gen era l ru le s  for co u n tab le  n o uns 
in  th is  case.

e .g . T he c ity  looked to  h im  a s b r ill ia n t as a precious stone .
Y ou w ere as w h ite  as th e  sh ee t in  your hands.

• § 2 6 .  When nouns denoting titles, m ilita ry  ranks, or posts are fol­
lowed by a proper nam e they are used w ithou t any article, as in: 
Colonel Holmes, Doctor S m ith , Professor Jones, Academician Fedorov, 
Lieutenant-General Rawdon , President W ilson, Prim e M inister Forbes, 
Queen Elisabeth, K in g  George, Lord Byron, Lady Windermere, S ir  
W illiam , etc. In such combinations only the proper name is stressed.

N o t e  1. B u t w e say: “ The docto r has co m e” , “ T he P rim e  M in ister m ade an  
an nouncem en t y e s te rd a y .”

N o t e  2. N otice  th e  use of th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le  in  th e  fo llo w in g  cases: (he late  
Professor Sm ith , the celebrated playw right Osborne.

N o t e  3. A foreign t i t l e  follow ed by  a p roper n am e  is used w ith  th e  d e fin ite  
a r tic le : the Baron Munchausen, the Emperor Napoleon I I I ,  the Tsar Peter the Great.

+ The article is not used w ith some nouns denoting close relationship 
when they are followed by names of persons, as in A u n t Polly, Uncle 
Tim othy , Cousin John.

O ther common nouns, when followed by proper nam es, are used w ith  
the definite article, as in: the boy Dick, the student S m ith , the painter 
Turner, the composer B ritten , the widow Douglas, the witness M anning, 
the geologist Foster, the dog Balthasar, etc. In this case both the com­
mon noun and the proper name are stressed.

Combinations as above are found not only w ith  names of persons 
bu t also w ith lifeless things and abstract no tions, as in: the p lanet 
Mars, the preposition lo n \  the verb *to be’, the figure *2\ etc.
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N o t e .  W ith  n am es of persons in  new spaper s ty le  th ere  is a ten d en cy  to  om it 
th e  a r tic le  in  th is  case  too . T hus w e find:

e.g . T he F o rd  m an a g em e n t refused to  tak e  b ack  convener K elvin  H a lp in  an d  shop 
stew ard  B ill  F rancis .
W orld m id d le w e ig h t cham pion Dick T iger sa id  yesterday  th a t he w ill r e ta in  h is 

t i t l e  a g a in s t  A m erican  Gene Fu llm er.

However, such com binations on the whole are not very common. 
We more often  find a proper name followed by an appositive common 
noun.
e.g. B ritten , th e  m odem  English composer...

Turner, th e  celebrated English pa in ter...
Manson, a prom ising young actor...

4 § 27. The a rtic le  is not used w ith nouns in appositive of-phrases 
when the head-noun denotes a ti tle  or a post.
e.g. He was aw arded the title  of Hero of the Soviet Union.

They nom inated candidates for the  post of President and Vice- 
President.

He got the  degree of Master of Arts.
When I was a young man, the position of schoolmaster carried w ith 

it  a sense of responsibility.

* § 28. The artic le  is not used in  the following adverbial pattern , in 
which the sam e noun is repeated after the prepositions from ...to , as 
in: from tree to tree, from street to street, from town to town, from day 
to d a y ,tic .  Such com binations, though they are built up on the same 
pattern, are to  be regarded as free com binations (not set phrases) as the 
number of nouns thus used is practically unlim ited.

Care should be taken  not to confuse such free com binations w ith  set 
phrases, which are somewhat sim ilar to  the  above mentioned pattern  
but lim ited in  num ber:

a) from head to foot, from top to toe, from top to bottom, from begin­
ning to end, from  S o u th  to North. (Here after the prepositions from ... to 
we find two d ifferent nouns, not the same noun. The number of such 
units is lim ited .)

b) hand in hand, arm in arm, shoulder to shoulder, face to face, day 
by day. (The sam e noun connected by different prepositions is repeated 
here. The num ber of such units is also lim ited.)

§ 29. There is no article w ith nouns in direct address.
e.g. “How is m y wife, doctor?”

“W ell, young m a n ,” said Eden w ith a smile, “what can I do for 
you?”

§ 30. After the  exclam atory what we find the indefinite article 
w ith singular nouns.
e.g. “W hat a  c a r!” she exclaimed.

I thought w ha t an  unhappy man he m ust be!
W hat a narrow-m inded, suspicious woman M aria was!
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W ith plural nouns there is no artic le , in  accordance w ith th e  general 
rules.
e.g. W hat m arvellous books you’ve gotl

I t  is notew orthy th a t no article is used after the in terrogative what 
modifying a noun.
e.g. W hat question did you want to  ask me?

§ 31. The definite article is found in the  following patterns in  w hich 
an of-phrase is preceded by one, some, a n y , each, many, m ost, none, 
a ll, several, the f ir s t , the last, the rest, the majority.

e.g. “One of the letters is from T om ,” she said.
Most of the lecturers had other jobs in  the  town.
Several of the boys knew th a t m y fa ther had “failed in b u s in ess” . 
A t the end of each of the toasts George threw his glass in to  the  

fire-place.
In  the exam ination hall I was read ing  the question-paper before 

the others had sat down. My horror lasted only a m om ent because 
a ll of the questions seemed to  have been set for me.

Compare the  above given com binations w ith: one letter, m ost lec­
turers, several boys, etc.

§ 32. There is a fluctuation in the use of articles in the follow ing ty p e  
of com binations: a sort o f (a) man, the sort o f (a) man, what sort o f  (a ) 
man, this sort o f (a) man, that sort o f (a ) m an, some sort o f (a )  man; 
a (the, some, what, this, that) kind o f (a ) m an, a (the, some, w hat, th is, 
that) type o f (a ) man.

e.g. He showed us a new type of bulb.
“W hat sort of a day have you h ad ?” I asked him.
I said: “ I t ’s not the sort of s itu a tio n  one laughs a t . ”
It was too dark to  see w hat kind o f a house it  was.
“W hat kind of car was i t? ” R am sden asked.

The more commonly found v arian t is the one w ithout any a r tic le .

THE USE OF ARTICLES W ITH UNCOUNTABLE NOUNS

VQ  The Use of Articles w ith Uncountable Abstract Nouns

§ 33. A bstract nouns, like concrete nouns, fall in to  tw o classes: 
countables and uncountables.1

Among abstract countable nouns we find, e.g. answer, b e lie f , con­
clusion, doubt, effort, fact, government, holiday, idea, job, lie, m ista ke , 
opinion, p lan , principle, promise, question, reply, sentence, v i s i t , word 
and many others.

1 T he d iv is io n  of nouns into th ese  tw o  c la sse s  is a m a tte r  of t r a d i t io n  a n d  c an  
h a rd ly  be acco u n ted  for e ith e r se m a n tic a lly  o r g ra m m atica lly .
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Countable abstract nouns m ay be used in the singular and in the 
p lu ra l.
e.g . He had a b r il l ia n t idea.

He always had b r i l l ia n t  ideas.
I like their m ethod of work.
I like their m ethods of work.

The class of uncountab le abstract nouns includes such nouns as: 
anger, beauty, curiosity, excitement, freedom, grace, happiness, impa­
tience, jealousy, love, modesty, nervousness, pride, respect, strength, time, 
violence, work and m any others.

U ncountable abstract nouns are used only in the singular.
I t  is sometimes d ifficu lt to  draw a line of division between countable 

and uncountable nouns. Som e abstract nouns are used in one meaning 
as countables and in ano ther as uncountables:

CountableUncountable
w ork — работа 
silence — тишина, молчание 
decision — решительность 
kindness — доброта 
experience — опыт

favour — милость, расположе­
ние

fa ilu re  — неудача, провал

society  — совокупность людей, 
объединенных определенными 
производственными и социаль­
ными отношениями 

n a tu re  — природа 
gram m ar — грамматика (наука)

observation  — наблюдение

a work — произведение 
a silence — пауза 
a decision — решение 
a kindness — доброе дело 
an experience — случай из жиз­

ни
a favour — одолжение

a failure — неудачное дело, не­
удачник

a society — организация, кру­
жок

a nature — натура, характер 
a gramm ar — учебник по грам­

матике
an observation — замечание

e .g . They walked in silence along the path.
After a long silence he began his story.
She spoke w ith decision.
You m ust carefully th in k  before you take a decision.
He is a wicked person who is insensible to kindness.
If you w rite him  you w ill be doing him a kindness.
He has been doing th is  k ind of work for m any years, so he has a 

good deal of experience.
I t  was an unp leasan t experience and he d id n ’t  speak of it.

There are also a num ber of abstract nouns which appear both as 
uncountables and countables w ithout any noticeable change of meaning, 
e .g . d ifficu lty , trouble, tem pta tion , torture, reason, war, language, chance, 
change, profit and some others.
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Some of such nouns that generally  tend to be uncountab le  are in 
certain  constructions regularly used w ith the indefin ite  a rtic le . Here 
belong pleasure, p ity , disappointm ent, comfort, relief, shame, disgrace 
and some others. They are found w ith  the indefinite artic le  when they 
are used as predicatives after a formal it  as subject (a) or afte r the ex­
clam atory what (b).

e.g. a) I t  is a pleasure to see you.
I t  was a relief to know th a t she was safely home, 

b) W hat a  disappointment!
W hat a pity!

But we say: I ’ll do it w ith pleasure.
She gave a sigh of relief.
He now knew w hat disappointm ent was.
She felt pity for the  poor child.

§ 34. The use of articles w ith  countable abstract nouns does not 
differ from their use w ith countab le concrete nouns— in the  singular 
countable abstract nouns are used w ith  the indefinite or defin ite  article; 
in the plural they are used w ithout any article or w ith  the  defin ite ar­
ticle.

e.g. He told the child a story.
He told the child stories.
The child knew the story he to ld .
The child knew the stories he told.

§ 35. As a general rule, uncountable abstract nouns are used w ithout 
any article.

e.g. Indifference and pride look very much alike, and he probab ly  thought 
I was proud.

I knew th a t generosity w ould have been wasted on h im .
There was sharpness in her bones, sharpness in her voice, sharpness 

in  her eyes.
She had attached herself to  youth and hope and seriousness and 

now they failed her m ore than  age and despair.

The absence of the article (the zero article) serves th e  sam e pur­
pose as the indefinite article w ith  countable nouns— it perform s the 
nom inating function.

W hether the indefinite artic le or no artic le is used depends on the 
character of the nouns in question—the indefinite a rtic le  is used w ith 
countable nouns, both concrete and abstract, whereas w ith  uncountable 
nouns there is no artic le at a ll.

Cf. When in distress people look for a  friend.
W hen in distress people look for friendship.
H is desire was sim ply for a  companion.
His desire was sim ply for companionship.
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§ 36. The definite artic le is used w ith uncountable nouns when they 
are m odified  by a lim iting  a ttr ib u te , which may be expressed in differ­
en t ways.
e.g . H e was in  a s ta te  of the greatest excitement.

They were surprised at the  curious silence into which he had fallen. 
H e jum ped at the abruptness of the question.

Som etim es the lim itation  is clear from the context.
e.g . I t  was very still in the house. Suddenly a fa in t sound could be 

heard  in the stillness.
A m om ent afterwards the  lights round the garden suddenly went 

ou t. In  the darkness we felt lost.
For a long tim e they w alked w ithout saying a word. J im  was the 

f irs t  to  break the silence.
T he defin ite  article is used here in  its restric ting function, to de­

no te  a p articu la r instance of the  notion expressed by the noun.
§ 37. The definite artic le is also found w ith substantivized adjec­

tives denoting abstract notions, e.g . the ordinary, the average, ihe beautiful, 
the unusua l, the supernatural, the extravagant, the unknown, the regret­
table, the normal, the grotesque, the unbearable, etc.
e.g . “You shou ldn’t th ink y o u ’re something out of Ihe o rd in ary ,” she 

said .
“Do you believe in the superna tu ra l?” he asked.

§ 38. The indefin ite artic le  is used w ith uncountable abstract nouns 
when they are modified by a descriptive a ttrib u te  which brings out a 
special aspect of the notion expressed by the noun. The a ttrib u te  may 
be expressed in different ways.
e.g. A d u ll anger rose in his chest.

There seemed to  be a  w onderful excitement everywhere in the 
w orld.

There was a tenderness in his voice th a t moved her.
She fe lt a  b itte r contem ptuous hatred so strong th a t it b lo tted  every 

o th er sense and emotion.
She recognized a p leasant irony in his voice.
“D id n ’t  you feel a certain  im patience?” they asked.
H is face had a calmness th a t  was new to her.
She had a  natu ra l grace th a t  was very attractive.
H e had  a  patience which am azed his friends.
The l i t t le  bouquet of v io lets filled the air w ith a w ild fresh sweet- 

ness.
H is new  experience filled h im  with a singular enthusiasm.
He was crushed by an overpowering sadness.

The indefin ite  artic le is used here in its a s p e c t i v e  f u n c *  
t i o n.

By w ay of exception the aspective indefinite artic le is sometimes 
used even w hen the noun has no attribu te .
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e.g. After a tim e a loneliness fell upon the two men.
There was a bitterness in her voice.

“A loneliness” means “a certain  loneliness” and “a b itte rness” 
means “a certain  b itte rness” here.

It should be stressed th a t the use of the indefin ite  artic le w ith u n ­
countable abstract nouns is typical of lite rary  s ty le  (see the examples 
above).

* § 39. Sometimes an uncountable abstract noun is used w ith an  a t ­
trib u te  and yet has no artic le . This seems to  co n trad ic t the general rule, 
but it can actually  be explained by one of the  following reasons: a) the 
nature of the a ttrib u te  and b) the nature of th e  noun.

a) In  some cases the a ttrib u te  does not bring  out a special aspect 
of the notion expressed by the noun. The a ttr ib u te  m ay express degree 
(e.g. great, perfect, su ffic ien t, huge, tremendous, immense, sheer, utter, 
complete, in fin ite, endless, major and some others), or have some other 
meaning. Thus it  may qualify the noun from the  point of view of tim e 
(e.g. modern, ancient, impending, eternal, da ily , contemporary, further, 
fin a l, original), n a tio n ality  (e.g. English, French, e tc .), geography (e.g. 
Moscow, London, world, etc.), au thenticity  (e.g. real, genuine, authentic, 
symbolic and some others) as well as give it  social characteristic (e.g. 
Soviet, proletarian, bourgeois, capita list, racial, religious, etc.).

As these a ttribu tes do not express a special aspect, the nouns m odi­
fied by them are used w ithout any article.

e.g. I have perfect confidence in him.
She has great experience in her work.
I ’m sure your work w ill give you com plete satisfaction.
He had sufficient ab ility  to  carry out any com plicated task.
The reward had only symbolic value.
I d id n ’t th ink  it had real importance.
They talked about modern poetry.
He was conscious of impending danger.
I t ’s three o ’clock by Moscow time.
Ron was particu larly  interested in ancien t sculpture.
Mrs Peters, feeling instinctively th a t Greek architecture would
leave her cold, excused herself from the  excursion.
Soviet science has atta ined  a num ber of rem arkable achievements 

of late.
N o t e .  B u t th e  d e f in ite  a rtic le  is used w ith  th e  c o m b in a tio n s  French poetry, 

modern art, American literature, German philosophy, S o v ie t science, e tc . if th e re  is 
a l im itin g  a ttr ib u te ,  as in : th e  R ussian  l ite ra tu re  of t h a t  p e rio d , the  F rench  p o e try  
o f th e  19th cen tu ry , e tc .

b) Some nouns are never used w ith the in d efin ite  article. They are 
nouns of verbal character denoting actions, a c tiv ity , process, such as 
advice, applause, assistance, encirclement, adm iration, guidance, per­
mission, progress, recognition, research, torture , work, information, ap ­
proval, concern, trade (торговля) and some o thers.
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This rule applies also to the following nouns: weather, money, news, 
luck, fun , nature, (outer) space, health and some others.
e.g. I am not sure whether it is good news or bad.

He was anxiously  waiting for permission to begin his experim ent. 
If ever a coun try  had reason to deserve peace and peaceful pro­

gress, surely  it  is the Soviet Union.
As I knew, Mr March always expressed gloomy concern if one of 

his ch ild ren  had a sore throat.
He wondered w hether her silence was tac it approval.
He felt honest adm iration for his colleague.

N o t e  1. I t  sh o u ld  be no ted  th a t  in a co n sid erab le  num ber of cases b o th  fac­
to rs, i .e . th e  c h a ra c te r  of th e  a ttr ib u te  and  th e  ch a ra c te r  of th e  noun, a re  found  to ­
gether.

e .g . She w as m a k in g  g re a t  progress.
They prom ised  J a c k so n  fu rth e r assistance.

N o t e  2. A lth o u g h  th e  above m entioned no u n s are  never used w ith  th e  in d ef­
in ite  a r tic le , th ey  c an  be  used w ith  th e  d e fin ite  a r tic le , 
e .g . H e  to ld  m e o f th e  progress he was m aking.

The news w as so u p se ttin g  th a t  she sa id  she w ould  n o t see anyone th a t  n ig h t.

N o t e  3 . N o tice  th e  sen tence  p a tte rn s  w ith  th e  noun  weather: 
e .g . The w e a th e r is  fin e  (cold . e tc .).

W h at is th e  w e a th e r  lik e  today?
If the w ea th e r ch an g es ...
W e are  h a v in g  fin e  w eather.
W h at co ld  w e a th e r  w e are  having!
I w o u ld n 't  l ik e  to  go o u t in  such (bad) w eather.
A spell of w arm  w ea th e r se t in . (W e had a spe ll of bad w eather.)
They w ere d isc u ss in g  ( ta lk in g  abou t) the w eather.
The f lig h t w as c an ce lled  because of ( th e ) bad  w eather.

N o t e  4 . T h e  n o u n  wind  is uncoun tab le.

e .g . T here isn ’t  m u ch  w in d  to d ay .

Y et i t  is  re g u la r ly  used w ith  th e  defin ite  a r tic le .

e .g . The w ind  w as b lo w in g  an d  i t  w as cold.
The w ind is  r is in g  (fa llin g ).
H e ran  lik e  th e  w ind.

B ut if  th e  n o u n  w ind  is m od ified  by a d e sc rip tiv e  a tt r ib u te  i t  is used w ith  th e  
asp ec tiv e  in d e f in ite  a r tic le .

e .g . A cold w ind  w as b lo w in g  from  th e  no rth .

F or s ty l is tic  p u rp o ses  i t  m ay  be used in th e  p lu ra l, 
e .g . The co ld  w inds b lew  th e  leaves off th e  trees.

N o t e  5. N o tice  th e  sen ten ce  p a tte rn s  w ith  th e  nou n  life:
e.g . L ife goes o n , e v e r  ch an g e less  an d  changing.

Life is w o rth  l iv in g .
They began  a  new  life .
They w ere le a d in g  a happy  life .
The life  he  is le a d in g  now  causes everyone d is tress .
The life  of o u r  p e o p le .. .
Life in  o u r c o u n tr y . . .

• § 40. Som etim es the  use of articles w ith an uncountable abstract 
noun is affected by the  syntactic function of the noun.
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1) Nouns in a ttribu tive  prepositional phrases and in  adverbial prep­
ositional phrases of m anner have no article even if th ey  have descrip­
tive  a ttribu tes.

A ttrib u tiv e  prepositional phrases are usually in troduced by the prep­
osition o f (other prepositions m ay  also be found, b u t no t often).
e.g. His flush of anger died as he began to  listen  m ore atten tively . 

An odd feeling of curiosity m ade him look through the  keyhole. 
He awoke w ith a feeling of sharp anticipation.
H is face bore a look of cold disapproval.
He had an unsatisfied hunger for knowledge.

Adverbial prepositional phrases are usually in troduced by the  prep­
osition w ith, sometimes in  (other prepositions m ay also be found in 
th is case, but not often).
e.g. The old man looked at the boy with curiosity.

He moved slowly, w ith deliberation.
He turned round in annoyance, and then w alked aw ay.
He began to  speak w ith sudden heat.
“You have seen i t? ” he asked w ith intense in terest.
Ann examined everything about her w ith great care.
She kissed him w ith warm affection.

• The tendency to  use the  noun in  a ttrib u tiv e  and adverb ial preposi­
tional phrases w ithout any artic le isso stro n g  th a t som etim es even count­
able nouns have no article in these functions.
e.g. It is a question of principle, and it m ust be discussed before we 

take a decision.
I t  was just a plain statem ent of fact.
He refused to help us w ithout apparent reason.
He listened w ithout remark w hile Robert poured out his heart to 

him .
The young doctor was received in am iable fashion.
The door closed w ithout sound.
He spoke with effort.

However, care should be taken to  remember th a t the  use of the in­
definite artic le in such cases is s till  the norm w ith a v ast m ajority  of 
countable nouns.

»Although the general tendency is to use abstract uncoun tab le  nouns 
in  a ttrib u tiv e  and adverbial prepositional phrases w ith o u t artic les, oc­
casionally either the definite or the  indefinite artic le  m ay be found in 
th is case.

The use of the definite artic le is generally associated w ith  the use 
of lim iting  attribu tes modifying the  noun.

e.g. “May I speak to you in the  s tric test confidence?” he asked. 
“ N o ,” said Eric a fte r the s lig h test hesitation.
He watched her go from group to  group w ith the sam e ease.
He trem bled all over with the exertion of keeping h im self upright.
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The use of the indefinite artic le  appears to be optional— it seems 
to  depend on  the  desire of the speaker to  lay particular stress on the spe­
cial aspect expressed by the a ttr ib u te  modifying the noun. Thus it would 
be correct to  use the nouns in  th e  following examples w ithout articles 
in  accordance w ith  the general rule.

e.g. We looked at her face and saw the distorting lines of a deep and 
anxious weariness.

He sm iled  a t me w ith a grave sympathy.
He w alked in a solemn silence.

In som e cases, however, the use of the  indefinite artic le is obligatory. 
I t  is alw ays used in  prepositional phrases in  which the noun is modified 
e ither by th e  adjectives certain and peculiar or by an  a ttrib u tiv e  clause.

e.g. The g irl in terrupted  him  w ith  a certain  impatience in her voice. 
She spoke to  strangers w ith  a peculiar intimacy.
H e gripped his hand w ith  an  abruptness th a t revealed his emo- 

tion .
He en terta ined  w ith an orig inality  th a t pleased.

2) There is a tendency to  use an uncountable abstract noun in  the 
function of a predicative w ithout any artic le even if the noun has a de­
scrip tive  a ttr ib u te .

e.g. The re su lt of the experim ent had been dismal failure.
“ I t was righteous pun ishm ent,’* he exclaimed.
W hen they  were together, i t  was pure happiness.
I suspected th a t this was n o t just ordinary anxiety.

P repositional phrases in the  function of a predicative are usually 
set phrases. Care should be taken  to  learn the use of the artic le  in  each 
case, e.g  to be in despair, to be in  service, to be in power, to be o f (the) 
opinion , to be o f importance, to be out o f control, to be in danger, to be 
out o f danger, to be in a rage, to be in a good (bad) humour, to be a t a 
loss, to be in  a hurry, etc.

The Use of A rticles w ith Uncountable 
^  Concrete Nouns (Names of M aterials)

§ 41. U ncountable concrete nouns (names of m aterials) are generally 
used w ith o u t any article. The absence of the article has the nom inating 
function.

e.g . These sleeping pills should be dissolved in water.
She had  nothing in the  m edicine chest but toothpaste and m outh­

wash and shampoo.
A lot of European countries buy oil from the Soviet U nion.

U nlike uncountable abstract nouns, names of m aterials are used 
w ithou t any  artic le  even if they are modified by a descriptive a ttribu te.
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e.g. She said: “ I kn itted  the socks m yself of thick grey w o o l.”
I ticked off the names w ritten in  v io le t ink.
He took out of his pocket an object w rapped in tissue paper.

§ 42. The definite article in its re s tr ic tin g  function is used w ith  
names of m aterials if they are restric ted  in  their quantity  or by reason  
of locality.
e.g. The boss took up a pen and picked a fly out of the ink.

Together they walked through the slush  and mud.
He observed everybody who came in , as they shook the th in  w a te ry  

snow from their hats and coats.
N o t e  ! .  N o tice , how ever, th a t  th e re  is  no  re s tr ic tio n  in  such  p h ra se s  a n d  

sentences as: a bottle o f m ilk , a cup o f tea o r The ground was covered w ith snow, T he  
pond was covered w ith  ice.

N o t e  2. As is  seen from th e  e x am p le s  ab o v e , m ost u n co u n tab le  c o n c r e te  
nouns are nam es of m a te ria ls . However, th e re  a re  a few o th er u n co u n tab le  c o n c re te  
nouns w hich  are  n o t nam es of m ate ria ls  (e .g . machinery, equipment, fu rn itu re  a n d  
some o thers). T he sam e  ru les  of the  use of a r tic le s  a re  ap p lied  to  th em .

e.g. She hoped she w ould  save enough m oney to  bu y  new  fu rn itu re .
The fu rn itu re  th ey  had  was enough fo r a m uch  bigger house.

§ 43. Sometimes, owing to a change in  m eaning, names of m a te r ia ls  
become countable1 and as such they are used w ith articles in acco rdance 
w ith the rules for countable nouns. T hat means that they m ay th e n  be 
used w ith the indefin ite article.

Names of m aterials become countab le nouns in the following cases:
a) when various sorts of food products and m aterials are m e a n t,

e.g. They are now giving you bad teas in  the club.
There is a beautiful display of co ttons in  the shop window.

b) when a portion  of food or drink is m eant,
e.g. If you w ant to  please the boy, buy h im  an ice.

We went in to  the pub and I ordered two whiskies.
“A salad and two coffees will d o ,” she said smiling.

c) sometimes the  change of m eaning is q u ite  considerable— th e  n o u n  
comes to indicate an  object made of a ce rta in  m aterial,
e.g. A full glass of orange juice stood beside him.

There was a tin  of sardines on th e  table.

The Use of A rticles with Some Sem antic  Groups of Nouns

§ 44. There are certain  semantic groups of nouns which a re  v e ry  
common in English. These nouns are som etim es used as coun tab les an d  
sometimes as uncountables. Besides, they  are often found as p a r t  of se t 
phrases. As a result, the use of articles w ith  these nouns has co n s id erab le  
peculiarities. They include the following sem antic groups.

1 In  the waters o f the Pacific, the snows o f K ilim anjaro  or the sands o f the  S a ­
hara th e  p lu ra l does n o t s ign ify  any change  in  m e a n in g  b u t is p u re ly  a s ty l is t ic  d e v ic e .
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§ 45. To this group of nouns belong: day, n ight, morning, evening, 
noon, afternoon, m idnight, dawn, twilight, dusk, sunrise, sunset, day­
tim e, n igh tfa ll and the like.

1) When the speaker uses these nouns he often means a particular 
d ay , night, etc. and th en  natu ra lly  the definite artic le  is used. The lim ­
ita tio n  is very often clear from the situation or the  context but it may 
also  be expressed w ith  th e  help of a lim iting a ttrib u te .
e .g . The night was w arm  and beautifully s till.

He decided to spend the afternoon w ith his friends.
The weather was very cold on the day of his arrival.

Sometimes we find  a descriptive a ttrib u te  w ith nouns denoting 
p a rts  of the day, but th e  defin ite article w ill s till be used if the above 
m entioned lim itation  holds good.
e .g . I could see a few fa in t stars in  the clear night.

I was not in  a hu rry , and walked along, basking in  the warm even­
ing.

The definite artic le  is also found with nouns denoting parts of the 
d ay  used generically.
e .g . He used to spend the  morning lying about the beach.

I often sat up the n ig h t w ith  him and read to  him  to ease his pain.
2) When nouns ind icating  parts of the day have a descriptive a t t r i ­

b u te  and are the centre of communication in the sentence they are used 
w ith  the indefinite a rtic le  (in  its aspective function). This use of the 
indefin ite  article is m ain ly  found in the following sentence patterns:
e .g . It had been a w et day; the pavements were glistening, though now 

the ra in  had stopped.
It was a fine, warm  n ig h t and Charles and I decided to  walk home. 
On a hot September evening he strolled idly to  the em bankm ent. 
We were having tea  in  my room on a cold January  afternoon.

3) Nouns denoting p a rts  of the day have no artic le  when they are 
used  as predicatives.
e .g . I t  was evening w hen he decided to lay his books aside and take a 

walk.
I t  was nearly m idn igh t and neither of us had eaten for a long tim e. 
I t  was dusk but I could see Henry w alking across the field.

However, if these nouns are used predicatively w ith a descriptive 
a ttr ib u te , the indefin ite artic le  is used (see point 2 above).

* But the article is not used w ith nouns denoting parts of the day if 
th e y  are modified by one of the following adjectives:
e .g . I t  was early morning.

I t  was broad day.
It was high noon.
It was late evening.

Names of Parts of the Day
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The adjectives early, late, broad and high do not describe a n y  part 
of the day here, but just indicate the tim e of the day w ith m ore preci­
sion. (M orning  refers to a longer period of the day than early morning  
or late morning.)

4) In numerous cases the use of artic les w ith nouns denoting  parts 
of the day can hardly be accounted for, as it has become trad itio n a l. 
This is found in the following cases.

a) In  some prepositional phrases e ith er the definite a r tic le  or no 
article is found. They are to  be treated  as set phrases. The d e fin ite  ar­
ticle is used in: in the morning, in the evening, in the daytim e , in  the 
afternoon, in the night. No article is used after the prepositions a t, by, 
about, past, before, after, towards, t i l l ,  u n til, e.g. at night, a t daw n , 
by day (днем), by night (ночью), by noon (к полудню), by m idn igh t (к 
полуночи), past noon, about m idnight, before dawn, after sunset, e tc .

e.g. I would take pills a t night to  m ake me sleep quickly, b u t I never 
found any pills that would keep me asleep t i l l  daylight.

R ain was now falling in sheets as it  so often did before daw n.
After m idnight I walked to  the beach w ith him, sad to see h im  leave 

so soon.

b) There is no article with the nouns morning, day and daw n  when 
they are used as subject to the verbs to break, to be a t hand', th e  sam e is 
true of the nouns evening, night, dusk  when they are followed by  the  
verbs to fa l l ,  to gather, to set in, to be a t hand, to come.

e.g. Day was breaking when we set out.
The sky was overcast and dusk fell early.
Dawn was breaking among the  olives, silvering their s t i ll  leaves.

c) There is no article with nouns denoting parts of the d ay  when 
they are modified by the names of the  days of the week and th e  w ords 
tomorrow and yesterday.
e.g. I went to  A unt M illy’s house on Friday evening.

He spoke to Lin on the telephone on Thursday afternoon.
I shall see him tomorrow morning.
She was here yesterday afternoon.

N o t e .  C om pare: We met on Sa turday n igh t (Мы встретились в  п р о ш л у ю  
субботу вечером) an d  We met on a Sa turday n igh t  (Мы встретились о д н аж д ы  с у б ­
ботним вечером).

d) There is no article in the following phrases: a ll day (lo n g )  and 
a ll  night (through) (but we say: a ll  through the night and a l l  through 
the day), day after day, night after n ight, day in day out, from  m orning  
t i l l  night, (to  work) day and night, in  the dead of night, late a t  n ight 
(but we say: early in the morning).

e) There is a tendency to use the  nouns denoting parts of th e  day 
w ithout any artic le in a ttribu tive  of-phrases. Yet, the defin ite  a r tic le  
is used when a particular day, n igh t, e tc . is m eant.
e.g. He always woke up with the  firs t sounds of morning.

245



A fter the bom bardm ent he couldn’t recognize the street th a t had 
been so fam iliar to  him  a t the beginning of the day.

N am es o f Seasons

§ 46. To this group of nouns belong: winter, spring, summer and 
a u tu m n  (AmE: fa ll) .  The use of articles w ith these nouns presents great 
d ifficu lty  because we find a good deal of fluctuation here.

1) The definite artic le  is used with these nouns when reference is 
m ad e  to  a particular w inter, spring, summer or autum n present, past 
o r  fu tu re , or to a season of a particu lar year. As a general rule, this lim i­
ta t io n  is clear from the s itu a tio n  or context, but it m ay also be expressed 
by  a  lim iting  a ttrib u te . The nouns usually have the function of subject 
in  th is  case.

e .g . The summer was exceptionally  trying in the town.
The w inter was very fine th a t year and we were very happy.
The summer wore on. He was still working hard .
The autum n of 1914 was very warm.

B ut when these nouns are used as the subject to  such commonly used 
verbs as to come, to approach, to set in, to come to an end, to be over, to 
pass  and some others, e ither the definite article or no article is found. 
In  th is  case reference may be made to a particu lar season or to any sea­
son in general.

e .g . (The) w inter came early  and unexpectedly w ith a heavy fall of 
snow.

(The) summer was over bu t we had not heard from him  yet.
In those parts (the) spring usually sets in early.

The same fluctuation is observed when names of seasons are used 
in  general statem ents as a subject to a nominal predicate.

e .g . (The) w inter is very long here.
(The) summer is a ra in y  season on the island.

2) The definite artic le  is generally found when names of seasons 
se rv e  as an object in the  sentence. This is usually  found after the verbs 
to  spend , to like, to love, to hate, to wait [or, to ta lk  about and some 
o th e rs . In th is case reference m ay be made to  a particu lar season or to 
a n y  season in general.

e .g . He looks like somebody who spent the summer a t the sea.
Dave loves the w inter.
I liked the summer there, on account of the bathing, I think.

N o t e .  A lthough  th e  use of th e  d e fin ite  a rtic le  is th e  n o rm  in  th is  case, occa­
s io n a l ly  no  a r tic le  is found here.

3) W hen names of seasons have a descriptive a ttrib u te  and are the 
c e n tre  of com m unication they  are used w ith the indefinite article (in 
i ts  aspective function).
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e.g. We had a short summer.
He had passed a sluggish w inter and a lazy sum m er.

4) When names of seasons are used as predicatives they have no 
article.

e.g. It was summer and the  place broke up in  red  flowers.

However, when these nouns in  their p redicative function  are modi­
fied by a descriptive a ttrib u te , the indefinite a r tic le  is used (see also 
the ru le  above).

e.g. “ It has been a terrib le sum m er,” he said.
“ It was a remarkably fine autumn,** she added.

B ut the article is not used w ith  names of seasons if they are mod­
ified by the adjectives early and late which do no t describe the sea­
son but serve to indicate the tim e of the year w ith  m ore precision. 
(Early summer means the first m onth of summer; la te autum n  means 
the last month of autum n.)

e.g. I t  was early summer.
I t  was late autum n.

5) There is a great deal of fluctuation in the  use of articles with 
names of seasons when they are used as adverbial m odifiers in  preposi­
tional phrases. After the prepositions in, t i l l ,  u n ti l ,  before and after 
names of seasons may be used e ith er w ith the defin ite  artic le  or w ithout 
any article. Reference again m ay be made to  a p a rticu la r season or to 
any season in general.

e.g. The sun in (the) summer warm s the skin, bu t in (the) w inter when 
it appears it warms the heart.

In (the) autum n young Ben was to  go to  a prepara to ry  school. 
“C an’t you w ait u n til (the) w in ter?” Sam asked.
I don’t think th ey ’ll be able to get through w ith  th e ir work before 

(the) winter.

B ut after the prepositions through, for and during  the  definite article 
is to be used.

e.g. Through the autum n, a busy tim e for me, I was often uneasy. 
“Are you going to  stay  here for the w in te r?” J a c k  asked after a 

while.
He stayed in Paris during the summer and w orked w ithout a break 

till  autum n was well advanced.

6) In a ttribu tive  of-phrases names of seasons usually  have no ar­
ticle, as in: the warmth o f spring, the dust o f summer, three months of 
winter, the colours o f autum n.

N o t e .  N otice  th e  fo llow ing  s e t  phrases used  a d v e rb ia l ly :  ( to  work)  winter 
and summer, early (la te) in  the autum n (summer, e tc .) , a l l  the w inter ( spring , e tc .).

247



Names of Meals

§ 47. The group includes the nouns: breakfast, lunch, dinner, supper 
and tea.

1) In th e  overwhelm ing m ajority  of cases names of meals are used 
w ithout any  a rtic le . In this case neither the  function of th e  noun nor 
its being part of a set phrase is essential. The absence of the  artic le  has 
the nom inating  function.

e.g. Lunch is ready and we can go in.
Dinner was a t an end.
I was hav ing  tea w ith her.
He cam e in  when we were eating  breakfast.
W e fin ished dinner and went to  the  drawing-room to  have our 

coffee.
John  cam e to  lunch a t the  appointed time.
They m et for dinner.
“S tay  to  t e a ,” said Mrs W atson.
W e were ta lk in g  about it before dinner.
H is eyes s t i ll  bored me as they had done at tea.

2) The d efin ite  artic le is infrequent w ith  names of meals. It is used 
in a clear case of back reference or if there is a lim iting a ttribu te .

e.g. The supper was very different from the  one of the evening before. 
The d in n er was excellent, but Isabel noticed th a t John  ate very 

little .
He was greedily  eating the lunch his mother had given him .

3) The indefin ite  artic le is used when names of meals are modified 
by descrip tive a ttrib u tes . The indefin ite artic le has its  aspective func­
tion.

e.g. I ’ll try  to  g ive you a  decent lunch.
W alter w anted a  very special dinner.
You can get a  good supper here.
As soon as he was dressed, he went in to  the  library and sat down 

to  a  lig h t French breakfast.

4) O ccasionally , owing to  a change of meaning, names of meals 
become cou n tab le  nouns. This occurs in the following cases:

a) when they  denote dinner p a rty , tea party , etc. Both the definite 
and the indefin ite  articles may be found here.

e.g. F leur said : “W e had a dinner last n ig h t.”
I was hav ing  a wash and a brush-up before starting  out to  go to 

the luncheon E llio t had invited me to.
Each F rid ay  night Mr March used to  give a dinner to  the  en tire 

fam ily.

b) when th ey  denote a portion. In th is  case the noun is used w ith 
the  indefin ite  a r tic le  denoting one.
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e.g. I have not enough money to buy a  d in n er a t  such an expensive res­
taurant.

He wheedled a few francs out of me for a  d in n er and a bed.

Names of D iseases

§ 48. This group includes a considerable num ber of uncountab le  
nouns, e.g. pneumonia, influenza ( f lu  in co lloquial English), scarlet 
fever, cholera, diabetes, lumbago, cancer, diphtheria, tuberculosis (con­
sum ption), m um ps and measles (the la tte r are bo th  used w ith a singu­
lar verb), etc.

1) Names of diseases are generally found w ithou t any article, as in  
most cases they are used just to  name the  k ind  of disease.
e.g. The doctor said he had pneum onia and to ld  him  to  keep w arm . 

The boy Roger arrived home w ith  m easles.
He had a bad a ttack  of lumbago.
He had almost died of cholera.
She was suffering from diabetes.
The boy had been ill for two days and his m other thought it  w as 

scarlet fever.
She fell ill w ith  flu .

2) The definite artic le  may be used w ith  nam es of diseases in a c le a r 
case of back reference or if there is a lim itin g  a ttrib u te .
e.g. The family were s ittin g  around w atching TV, recovering from th e  

flu.
After the d iphtheria Jane felt very weak and depressed.

N o t e .  C e rta in  n o uns w hich  a re  n o t specia l m ed ica l te rm s are, how ever, u se d  
to  nam e diseases. They m ay  be countab le  or u n c o u n ta b le .

e .g . H e had  a  (bad, s p l i t t in g )  headache.
H e had a  toothache.
H e had a sore th ro a t.
H e had h e a r t trouble .
I have a  boil on  m y h and .
She had a  b ruise on  her leg.
T he poor lad  h ad  a  d u odenal (g a s tr ic )  u lcer.

T he Noun S e a

§ 4 9 . The noun sea is regularly found w ith  the  definite a r t ic le .  
This may be accounted for by different reasons.

In some cases it  m ay be understood as a generic singular.

e.g. The sea covers nearly  three fourths of th e  w o rld ’s surface.
He always spends his holiday by the sea.

In other cases it is used w ith the  in d iv idua liz ing  definite a r tic le .
e.g. A cold wind was blowing from the sea.

L et’s go for a swim in the sea.
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Certain C ountable Nouns in Their Phraseological Use

' § 50. There are a num ber of countable nouns in English which are 
often used w ithou t any  artic le , as they undergo a change of meaning 
and become uncountable.

§ 51. The nouns school, college, hospital, prison, fa ll, camp, church, 
court, bed, table and occasionally market are used w ithout any article 
when, as part of set phrases, they lose their concrete meaning and ex­
press the purpose w hich the objects denoted by these nouns serve. Thus 
hospital comes to denote treatment, prison— punishment, school— stud- 
ies, bed— sleep, etc. Com pare the following examples:

e.g . After lunch D r R eily  went off to  the hospital.
“How long were you in hospital w ith  th a t  w ound?” she asked. 
They had a  hosp ita l in  th e  town during the  war.
Madame D uclerk sa t at the table darning socks.
I asked her to  te ll  me who all the people a t  table were.
In the cafe we had a  tab le  to  ourselves, but those around us were 

soon filled.
The road to  the  prison was blocked by policemen.
He would be sen t to  prison if he were caught.
Perhaps he was in  a  German prison.
I softly drew th e  cha ir to  the bed and sat down.
He went to  bed early , but lay awake for a long tim e.
I found a bed m ade up for me, and placed the  candles on th e  old- 

fashioned chest of drawers.

It should be no ted  th a t th e  use of a descriptive a ttrib u te  or a lim iting 
a ttrib u te  destroys th e  idiom atic meaning of the  phrases in question. 
See the examples above and also compare th e  following sentences:

e.g. He was sent to  school.
He was sent to  a  secondary (good, public) school.
He was sent to  the  best school in the  town.

> § 52. The noun town in some prepositional phrases may be used 
w ithout any a r tic le  when it  means the centre or business part of a town, 
the  town one lives in , o r th e  nearest town to  a country place.

e.g. She drove in to  town and drew up a t th e  curb beside the  drugstore. 
I called up and asked her if she w ouldn’t prefer to  lunch in town. 
I thought th a t  he would be out of town next week.

§ 53. A considerable num ber of nouns of different character when used 
in adverbial p repositional phrases have no artic le , e.g. by train, by plane, by 
boat, by coach, by bus, by tram, by taxi, by air, by car, by sea, by post, by 
m ail, by phone, by radio , by accident, by m istake , by hand, by chance^ by 
letter, by land, by sigh t, a t hand, o ff hand, in detail, in person, on board, 
on deck, on foot, on tiptoe, a t sea, to sea, on hand, on leave, on business, 
on holiday, etc.
250



e.g. It was nearly  eight o ’clock, and I had to  go home by taxi.
I had already told her by telephone about my talk  w ith  K eats . 
You needn’t tell me about it in d e ta il.

«. § 54. There is no article in a num ber of com binations consisting  of 
a p rep o sitio n + a  n o u n + a  preposition. Such set phrases are to  be tre a ted  
as compound prepositions, e.g. in addition to, in charge of, in contrast 
with, in regard to, in  support of, in  rep ly to, in connection w ith , on ac­
count of, in comparison with, in conform ity w ith , in honour of, in memory 
of, in pursuit of, in  favour of, in combination w ith, in answer to, in  de­
fiance of, w ith regard to, in recognition of, in  return for, in p lace o f, 
in relation to, in search of, by reason of, by way of, etc.

e.g. I rushed through the  passage in search of my mother.
My father found himself in charge of a factory.

However, in o ther set phrases b u ilt up on the  same pattern  th e  def­
in ite article is found, e.g. under the influence of, in the centre o f, on the 
invita tion  of, by the side of, in the m iddle o f, on the in itia tive  o f, under 
the pretence of, etc.

* § 55. There is no artic le in some com binations consisting of a p rep o ­
s it io n + a  n o u n + a  conjunction which are on the  way of becoming com ­
pound conjunctions, e.g. for /ear that, on condition that.

However, in some cases the definite artic le  is found, as in: on the 
ground that, for the reason that.

§ 56. The defin ite article is used in  th e  following set phrases: to the  
forest, in (to, across) the fields, to (a t)  the cinema, to (a t) the theatre , 
to the pictures, to ( in )  the country, on the spot, in the slums, in the trench­
es. (Notice, however, that the nouns museum , picture gallery , concert, 
exhibition do not form such set phrases.)

e.g. I took M arian aside and asked her to  come for a walk. W e w ent 
to the fields.

We had an early dinner and went to the  theatre.
“O h ,” he said, “Sarah’s come in . S h e’s been to the pictures.
I knew th a t Aunt Lin would not rin g  up because it was her a f te r­

noon a t  the cinema.

But if these nouns indicate a p articu la r object, the  articles a re  used 
w ith  them in accordance with the general rules. But this case is n o t 
common.

e.g. We found th a t the film  was on a t  a  cinem a across the  river.
Charles suggested th a t we should have a meal and go to a  th ea tre .

§ 57. The definite article is also used in  th e  following set phrases: 
to p lay the piano, to p lay the violin  and the  like.

But no artic le  is found in the com binations: to p lay  vo lley -b a ll, 
to p lay hockey, to p la y  go lf, to p la y  cards and  the like.
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The Use of A rtic les  w ith Nouns Denoting Objects 
or Notions W hich are Considered to be Unique

§ 58. There are a num ber of nouns in English denoting either con­
c re te  objects or abstract notions which are considered to  be unique. 
These nouns are neither coun tab le nor uncountable as, on the one hand, 
th ey  express oneness b u t, on the  other hand, the  idea of more-than-one- 
ness is inconceivable in  connection w ith them .1 Such nouns are used 
w ith  the  definite artic le  as reference is always made to  the  same object 
o r  notion. They include:

1) names of unique objects, such as the sun, the moon, the earth, the 
world, the globe, the universe , the M ilky W ay , the ground, the cosmos, 
the atmosphere.
e .g . The sun was fa lling  fla t across the field and the  grass was pale w ith 

it.
W e had been there  all day, the whole p arty  of us; the ground was 

littered w ith  our picnic.

Even when these nouns have descriptive a ttrib u tes  they may be used 
w ith  the definite a rtic le  in  accordance w ith the  ru le  stated above.
e.g . Only the yellow ligh t of the low autum n moon ruffled the w ater. 

The stars were qu ivering  in the frosty sky.

However, the  indefin ite  artic le  in its aspective function may also 
be used in this case. Then a tten tio n  is focused on the  noun and it becomes 
th e  centre of com m unication, which is as usual marked by strong stress.
e .g . There was a  splendid tropical moon and a soft breeze last night. 

It was a glorious n igh t, w ith  a  great fu ll moon gleam ing in a  pur­
p le sky.

My first reply was: “Of course, I want to  see a better w orld .”

It should be noted th a t  th e  use of the above m entioned nouns w ith 
a ttrib u te s  is typ ical of lite ra ry  style.

2) names of unique notions, such as the present, the past, the future, 
the singular, the p lu ra l, the South , the North , the East, the West, the 
equator, the horizon, the post, the press, the telegraph, the telephone, 
the radio. But: TV, (the) television.
e.g. The film  sta r had a p articu la r smile for the press.

Presently th e  sun rose over the horizon.
I knew th a t the fu tu re  was going to be full of pain for me.
“The telephone in th is  to w n ,” Hallam  said, “is as private as the 

radio. ”
N o t e .  T he above  ru le  does n o t concern th e  n o uns radio and  telephone ind icat*  

in g  co n cre te  o b jec ts.

e .g . Som ew here a  rad io  so f t ly  p lay ed .

1 O ccasionally  so m e of th e se  n o u n s are used in  th e  p lu ra l fo r s ty lis tic  purposes, 

e . g . T he m o rn in g  sk ies  w ere  h eav y  w ith  a u tu m n  m is ts .

252



The use of articles w ith  these nouns modified by descrip tive  a ttr i­
butes is the  same as th a t w ith nouns denoting unique objects.
Compare: Even the d istan t fu ture looked quite gloom y to  him .

Everyone believed th a t he had a  b r illia n t fu tu re  before him.
N o t e .  N o tice  th e  follow ing se t phrases: at present (в н асто ящ ее  время), 

in  the past (в прошлом), in  the fu ture  (в будущ ем), in fu ture  (отны не, впредь).

The Use of A rticles w ith Proper Names

§ 59. The use of articles w ith  proper names seems to  be based m ainly 
on trad ition .

It is true  th a t some cases m ight be accounted for h is to rica lly . Thus 
we can say th a t the  use of articles w ith names of ce rta in  countries is 
due to foreign usage: the Senegal, the Tyrol. In other cases the  article 
may be due to  the ellipsis of a common noun which was form erly added: 
the Sahara (desert), the Crimea (peninsula), the P acific (ocean), the 
B altic  (sea), the Bedford (hotel), the Lancet (magazine). In the Urals 
the use of the definite article may be explained by the fact th a t  the noun 
originates from the name of a m ountain range; the Congo m ay have the 
artic le  because the name orig inally  denotes the river. Names of rivers 
are used w ith the definite article because formerly the noun river often 
preceded the proper name: the river Thames.

Although historical explanations of th a t kind m ay be convincing, 
they are not of great help from the  viewpoint of present-day English. 
In  modern English the use of artic les w ith  proper names lacks regularity  
and so does not always seem consistent.

Proper names fall into various groups, such as nam es of persons, 
geographic names, names of newspapers and magazines, boats, hotels, 
public buildings, etc. Moreover, geographic names m ay be d ivided into 
subgroups, such as names of countries, continents, c ities  and towns, 
rivers, lakes, seas, oceans, islands, peninsulas, etc. The use of articles 
w ith  each of the above m entioned groups and subgroups has peculiari­
ties of its own. W ithin each group there are typical cases and individual 
cases. Hence, it is necessary to  describe the use of artic les w ith  each 
group separately.

The Use of A rticles w ith Names of Persons

§ 60. Generally no article is used w ith names of persons.

e.g . There was a letter from Susan inv iting  me to  a p a rty .
I did not see Charles S trickland for several weeks.

No artic le is used either if nam es of persons are m odified by such 
a ttribu tes as little , old, young, dear, poor, honest.
e.g. Young Jolyon, standing by th e  little  piano, listened w ith  his dim 

smile.



W hen dear old Em ily w ent back to  town after staying w ith  them 
for a fortnight, she sent the  children a do ll’s house.

W e find no article w ith  the  names of members of a fam ily, such as 
M other, Father, A u n t, Uncle, Grandmother, Grandfather, Baby, Nurse, 
Coo£, when they are treated  as proper names by the members of that 
fam ily . In th is  case such nouns are usually w ritten w ith a capital letter.
e.g. “How nice th a t you’ve com e!” she said. “M other is s till resting, 

bu t she will be down so o n .”
She w ent into the  hall: “ Is Nurse back?”

§ 6 1 . However, both th e  definite and the indefinite articles may 
be occasionally found w ith  names of persons.

The d e f i n i t e  a r t i c l e  is used:
1) w ith  a name in the  p lural to  indicate the whole family,

e.g. The E llio ts  were in telligent people.
H e d id n ’t  even know the Browns had a daughter.
H e ’s very different from th e  rest of the Jacksons.

2) w ith  a name modified by a lim iting a ttribu te,
e.g. Is he the Jones who is a w riter?

Now she was more like the  Ju lia  of their first years of marriage.

3) w ith  a nam e modified by a descriptive a ttrib u te  when the lim i­
ta tio n  is clear from the context o r situation (a) or when the  a ttrib u te  
ind icates a perm anent quality  of the  person in question (b).
e.g. a) A rem arkable num ber of guests went w ithout coffee because 

it  was not the  right so rt, a detail th a t had been overlooked 
by the embarrassed O tto,

b) H e slapped him on th e  shoulder, which startled  and slightly  
annoyed the prim  George Augustus.

T h e  i n d e f i n i t e  a r t i c l e  is used:
1) to  ind icate  th a t one m em ber of a family is m eant,

e.g. I have often wondered if A rthur was really a  Burton.

2) w ith  a nam e modified by  a descriptive a ttrib u te  when it is the 
centre of com m unication in th e  sentence,
e.g. H e was met at the  door by an  angry Isabel, who demanded to know 

w hat he meant by com ing home at th a t hour.
N o t e  1. If  a n am e is p receded  b y  M r, M rs  or M iss  i t  m ay  b e  used w ith  th e  

in d e f in i te  a r t ic le  to  d eno te  a certain.
e.g . H e  w as a law yer, a Mr Reid from  M elbourne.

M y la n d la d y  knocked a t  th e  door a n d  said : “ A Mr P ark is to  see y o u ,”  th u s  in d i­
c a t in g  by  a g ram m atica l a r t ic le  th e  social s ta tu s  of m y caller.

N o t e  2 . Som etim es, ow ing  to  a change of m eaning, nam es of persons becom e 
c o u n ta b le  n o u n s  in d ic a tin g  co n cre te  ob jec ts  (a) or ty p ica l featu res asso c ia ted  w ith  
a w e ll-k n o w n  n am e  (b). T he a r tic le s  w ith  such nouns are used in  acco rdance  w ith  th e  
g en era l ru le s  for c o u n tab le  nouns.
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e .g . a) L anny  has sold  th em  an especially  fine  Goya.
H e w anted  to  know  how m uch a  Buick cost.
T here w as a ra ck  of books an d  am ong th em  h e  saw  a  H em ingw ay.

b) She fe lt like  an  A lice  in W onderland.
M ozart w as ca lled  th e  R aphael of m usic.
S w ith in  sm iled  an d  n o d d in g  a t  Bosinney sa id : “ W h y , y o u  a re  q u ite  a M onte 

Cristo. ”

The Use of Articles with Geographic Names

§ 62. In the use of articles w ith  geographic nam es there are two 
prevailing tendencies: some of them  are trad itio n a lly  used w ithout any 
artic le , others require th e  definite article.

As there seems to  be no principle underly ing  th e  difference in the 
use or the absence of the  artic le w ith  geographic nam es, it is more con­
venient to  divide them  in to  sem antic groups and consider the  use of 
articles in each of them .

1) Names of continents are used w ithout any artic le , e.g. Europe, 
A sia , Africa, A ustralia , South America, N orth America.

No article is used either when names of con tinen ts  are modified by 
such a ttribu tes as northern, southern, western, eastern, central, minor, 
south-west, south-east, L a tin , e.g. Northern Europe, North America, 
Central Africa, Asia Minor, South-East A sia , L a tin  America, etc.

B ut we say the A rctic  and the Antarctic  (regions) meaning the sea 
and the land round the N orth and South poles.

2) Names of countries (a), states or provinces (b), cities (c), towns
(d) and villages (e) are, as a rule, used w ithout any artic le .
e.g. a) France, Great B ritain , China, B razil, etc.

b) California, Kashm ir, B rittany , K atanga, etc.
c) Moscow, Oslo, Rome, Delhi, etc.
d) Brighton, H astings, Tartu , etc.
e) Grasmere, P atterda le , Appledore, etc.

No article is used e ith er when these nouns hav e  such attribu tes as 
north(ern), south(ern), east(ern), west(ern), ancient, old, new, central, 
industrial, medieval, modern, Soviet', e.g. W est Germany, Old England , 
Ancient Greece, Southern France, Soviet R ussia , etc.

Some of these nouns, however, are trad itio n a lly  used w ith  the defi­
n ite  artic le (though nowadays there is a tendency to  om it the  artic le 
w ith some of them ), e.g.

a) c o u n t r i e s :  the U SSR , the U S A , the Ukraine, the Argentine  
(but\ Argentina), (the) Lebanon, the Netherlands (the Low Countries), 
the Cameroon, the Senegal, (the) Congo,

b) p r o v i n c e s :  the Crimea, the Caucasus, the Ruhr, the Tyrol, 
the Transvaal, the R iviera , the Saar,

c) c i t i e s : the Hague.
3) Names of o c e a n s  (a), s e a s  (b), s t r a i t s  (c), c h a n ­

n e l s  (d), c a n a l s  (e), r i v e r s  (f), and l a k e s  (g) usually 
take the  definite artic le , e.g.

a) th e  Pacific (ocean), the A tlantic (ocean), th e  Indian  (ocean), the  
Arctic (ocean);
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b) th e  B a ltic  (sea), the  M editerranean (sea), the  B lack Sea, the 
A driatic (sea), th e  N orth Sea, the  South Seas, etc.;

c) the  M agellan S tra it, the Bering S traits , the  Torres S tra its , and 
also the  K atteg a t, the  Bosporus, the D ardanelles, the Skagerrak, etc.;

d) th e  E ng lish  Channel;
e) the  Kiel C anal, th e  Suez Canal, th e  Panam a Canal, etc.;
f) the  V olga, the  Thames, th e  Nile, the  Amazon, the  Mississippi, 

etc.;
g) the  Lem an, th e  B aikal, the  O ntario, etc.
But when nam es of lakes are preceded by the noun lake (which is 

often the case), no artic le  is used, e.g. Lake B aika l, Lake Ohio, Lake 
Como, Lake Superior, Lake Ladoga, etc.

4) N a m e s  o f  b a y s  generally have no article, e.g. Hudson 
Bay, B a ffin  B ay, etc.

5) N a m e s  o f  p e n i n s u l a s  have no article if the proper name 
is used alone, e .g . Indo-China, H industan, Kamchatka, Labrador, Tai- 
m ir, Scandinavia, etc. B ut we find the definite article if the noun pen­
insula  is m entioned, e.g. the Balkan Peninsula, the Kola Peninsula, 
etc.

6) N a m e s  o f  d e s e r t s  are generally used w ith the definite 
article, e.g. the Sahara, the Gobi, the Kara-K um , etc.

7) N a m e s  o f  m o u n t a i n  c h a i n s  (a) a n d  g r o u p s  
o f  i s l a n d s  (b) are used w ith  the definite article, e.g.

a) the  R ocky M ountains, the  Andes, the  Alps, the Pam irs, etc.;
b) the P h ilipp ines, the  Azores, the Baham as, the East Indies, the 

Canaries, th e  H ebrides, the Bermudas, etc.
8) N a m e s  o f  s e p a r a t e  m o u n t a i n  p e a k s  (a) and 

s e p a r a t e  i s l a n d s  (b) are used w ithout any article, e.g.
a) E lbrus, M ont B lanc, Everest, Vesuvius, etc.;
b) Sicily, Cuba, H a iti, Cyprus, Newfoundland, M adagascar, etc.
9) N a m e s  o f  f a l l s  (a) a n d  m o u n t a i n  p a s s e s  (b) 

are generally used w ith  the  definite article, e.g.
a) th e  N iagara  Falls, th e  Swallow Falls, etc.;
b) the  S a in t Q otthard  Pass, etc.
§ 63. G eographic names that generally take no article may be occa­

sionally  found w ith  th e  definite or the indefin ite articles. This occurs 
in the following cases.

1) The defin ite  artic le  is found when there is a lim iting  a ttrib u te .
e.g. In Ivanhoe  W a ite r Scott described the England of the M iddle 

Ages.

2) The indefin ite  artic le  is found when a geographic nam e is modi­
fied by a descrip tive  a ttrib u te  which brings out a special aspect.
e.g. The flier w ent on to  say: “There will be a  different Germany after 

the w a r .”
It was a  new Russia th a t he found on his return.
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N o t e .  T he d e fin ite  a r tic le  is a lw ays used w ith  th e  p a tte rn : a com m on n o u n -f- 
o f'i a proper nam e, e .g . the C ity of New York, the v illa g e  o f Grasmere, the Cape o f  
Good Hope, the G ulf o f Mexico, the S tra its  o f G ibraltar, the S tra its  o f M alacca, the 
S tra its  o f Dover, the Bay o f Biscay, the Bay o f Bengal, the G ulf o f F inland, the L ake  
of Geneva, the Island o f Majorca, e tc .

The Use of A rticles with M iscellaneous Proper Names

§ 64. This group of proper names includes names of various places, 
objects and notions. W ithin  certain sem antic groups of these nouns th e  
use of articles is not stab le—it may vary  from proper name to  proper 
name. Hence it is sometimes necessary to  m emorize them as sep ara te  
items. In other instances it is possible to  o u tlin e  only the general te n ­
dency in the use of articles w ithin a sem antic group.

1) N a m e s  o f  s t r e e t s  (a), p a r k s  (b) and s q u a r e s
(c) tend to be used w ithout any article, e.g.

a) Oxford S treet, Southam pton Row, Kingsway, P all Mall, P ic ca ­
dilly , Fleet S treet, W hitehall, W all S treet, etc.

But names of some streets are trad itio n a lly  used w ith the d efin ite  
article, e.g. the S trand , the High Street and some others.

N o t e .  N am es of s tre e ts  in foreign c o u n tr ie s  a re  so m etim es used w ith  th e  d e f ­
in ite  a r tic le , e.g . the R ue de R ivo li ((in  P a ris ) , the V ia M anzoni (in  M ilan ), e tc .

b) Hyde Park, Central Park, Memorial P ark , R egent’s Park , e tc .
B u t :  the Snowdonia National Park , th e  Botanical Gardens, e tc .
N o t e .  N am es of p a rk s  in  foreign c o u n tr ie s  a re  o ften  used w ith  th e  d e f in i te  

a r tic le , e .g . the Gorki Park  (in  Moscow), the Tiergarten  (in  B erlin ), e tc .

c) Trafalgar Square, Russel Square, H yde P ark  Corner, P iccad illy  
Circus, Leicester Square, etc.

N o t e .  N am es of sq u a res  in foreign c o u n tr ie s  m ay  h av e  th e  d e f in ite  a r t ic le ,  
e .g . the Red Square (in  M oscow).

2) There is no artic le  with n a m e s  o f  u n i v e r s i t i e s  and 
c o l  l e g e s ,  e.g. London University , Cambridge U niversity , Oxford 
University, Harward University, T rin ity  College, Upsala College, e tc .

N o t e .  T he d e fin ite  a rtic le  is used in  th e  c o m b in a tio n s : the U niversity o f Lon - 
don, the U niversity o f Moscow, etc.

3) There is a growing tendency not to  use a n y  a r t i c l e  w ith  
n a m e s  o f  a i r p o r t s  and r a i l w a y  s t a t i o n s ,  e .g . 
London A irport, Moscow Airport, Victoria S ta tio n , etc. But the defin ite  
article may still be found in this case too.

4) N a m e s  o i  t h e a t r e s  (a), m u s e u m s  (b), p i c t u r e  
g a l l e r i e s  (c), c o n c e r t  h a l l s  (d), c i n e m a s  (e), c l u b s  
(f) and h o t e l s  (g) tend to be used w ith  th e  definite artic le , e .g .

a) the Coliseum Theatre, the  Opera House, the  Bolshoi T heatre , 
etc.;

b) the  B ritish Museum, the Scottish N ational Museum, th e  L enin  
Museum, etc.;
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c) the N ational G allery , the Tate (gallery), th e  Tretiakov Gallery, 
th e  Herm itage, th e  Louvre, etc.;

d) the Festival H a ll, th e  A lbert H all, th e  Carnegie H all, the  Chai­
kovsky H all, etc.;

e) the Em pire, th e  Dom inion, the Odeon, etc.;
f) the N ational L iberal Club, the R otary Club, etc.;
g) the Am bassador H otel, the Continental H otel, the Savoy, etc.

But in new spaper announcements and advertisem ents the  artic le 
is usually not found w ith  these nouns.

5) N a m e s  o f  s h i p s  a n d  b o a t s  are used w ith the defi­
n ite  article, e.g. the Sedov, the Titanic, etc.

6) N a m e s  o f  n e w s p a p e r s  a n d  m a g a z i n e s  are 
generally used w ith  the definite article, e.g. the Times, the Guardian, 
the Lancet, the Word, etc.

7) The use of artic les w ith  n a m e s  o f  s e p a r a t e  b u i l d ­
i n g s  varies from nam e to  name and should be remembered as a spe­
cial item , e.g. Scotland  Yard, Westminster Abbey, Buckingham Palace, 
etc. B u t :  the Old Bailey, the Tower, the R oyal Exchange, etc.

8) N a m e s  o f  t e r r i t o r i e s  consisting of a word com bina­
tion  in which th e  las t word is a common noun are generally used w ith  
the definite artic le , e.g. the Lake D istrict, the Yorkshire Forests, the 
K a lin in  Region, the Virgin Lands, etc.

9) N a m e s  o f  m o n t h s  (a) a n d  t h e  d a y s  o f  t h e  
w e e k  (b) are used w ithout any article, e.g.

a) January , February , March, etc.
b) Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, etc.

Compare, however: We met on Friday (Мы встретились в прошлую 
пятницу) and We m et on a Friday (Мы встретились однажды в пят­
ницу).

10) N a m e s  o f  s t a t e  i n s t i t u t i o n s ,  o r g a n i z a ­
t i o n s  a n d  p o l i t i c a l  p a r t i e s  are used w ith the definite 
artic le , e.g. the Suprem e Sovie t, the Komsomol, the Liberal Party, the 
N ational T rust, the Church, the London C ity  Council, the Soviet A rm y , 
etc. B u t :  P arliam ent (in Great Britain), (the) Congress (in the USA), 
N A TO .

11) N a m e s  o f  l a n g u a g e s  are used w ithout any artic le  
unless the noun language is mentioned, e.g. English, French, Japanese, 
etc. B u t :  the E ng lish  language, the Ita lia n  language, the Polish lan- 
guage, etc.

N o t e .  N o tice  th e  p h rases: Translated from  th e  German and  What is  th e  
French for “book”?

12) We find the  defin ite  artic le with n a m e s  o f  s o m e  g r a m ­
m a t i c a l  c a t e g o r i e s ,  such as names of tenses, moods, voices, 
cases and others, e.g . the Past Indefinite, the Passive Voice, the Condi­
tional Mood, the G enitive Case, etc .
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The P lac e  o f  A rt ic le s

§ 65. The artic le  is always placed b e f o r e  the noun w ith  which 
it is associated.
e.g. I was silent for a  moment. Then I thought of the ch ild ren .

If the noun is modified by an a ttr ib u te  (or attributes) p laced  before 
it, the artic le  generally p r e c e d e s  them .
e.g. She had a pair of the most in te llig en t bright brown eyes R obert 

had ever seen.
In the tra in , we found an em pty third-class carriage.

§ 66. Yet there are a few a ttrib u te s  in English which affect th e  place 
of the article.

1) The indefin ite article is placed a f t e r  an ad jec tive  if th a t 
adjective is preceded by so, as, too and however.
e.g. W e most of us hesitate to m ake so complete a statem ent.

They are as happy a  couple as I ’ve ever seen.
It was too good a  chance to  be missed.
T ravelling on however hum ble a  scale is expensive in S co tland .

2) The indefin ite article is placed a f t e r  the a ttr ib u tiv e  phrase 
too much of.
e.g. It was too much of a tem ptation for George to resist say in g  it.

3) The place of the indefinite a rtic le  is optional if th e  ad jective 
which modifies the noun is preceded by quite or rather. In  th is  case 
the  indefinite article may be placed b e t w e e n  quite  (or rather) 
and the  adjective or b e f o r e  th e  whole phrase.
e.g. He seems quite a decent fellow .

He made ra th er a surprising rem ark.
And also:

I t ’s a  quite fundamental disagreem ent.
H e’s a  ra th er hard man.

4) The indefinite article is placed a f t e r  such and th e  ex c lam a­
tory what. W hen the noun is modified by an adjective, the  a r tic le  p r e ­
c e d e s  th a t adjective.
e.g. “ I never heard of such a  th in g ,” she said.

I cannot m ake such a categorical statem ent.
W hat a character he is!
W hat a  dusty road this is!

5) The indefin ite article is placed a f t e r  many (and in th a t case 
ihe noun is used in the singular).
e.g. He told me this many a  time.

I have heard many a young g irl say th a t.

6) The definite article follows both , a ll  and double.
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e.g . She was ill a l l  the tim e she was abroad.
Both the boys were la te  for dinner.
I offered him double the am ount, but he s till  refused.

I t  is noteworthy th a t th e  use of the definite artic le  after both is 
o p tio n al.
e .g . Both (the) men were ta lk in g  in low voices.

H e signed both (the) papers.

T he  use of the definite a rtic le  a f t e r  a ll  is determ ined by the 
general rules.
e .g . A ll children have to  go to  school one day.

A ll the children of th e  boarding school were in bed.
N o t e .  N otice  th a t  w hen both is p a r t  of th e  co rre la tiv e  c o n ju n c tio n  both...and, 

e i th e r  a r tic le  m ay  be found a f te r  i t ,  i .e . in  th is case th e  a r tic le  is chosen in accordance 
w i th  th e  general ru les.

e .g . H e  w as bo th  a scrupu lous a n d  a k in d -h earted  m an.

7) The definite and th e  indefinite articles f o l l o w  h a lf and 
twice.
e .g . H a lt the men were too tired  to  go.

It took us ha lf an  hour to  se ttle  it.
H e paid twice the price for it.
They used to meet twice a  week.

N o t e  1. N otice  th e  d iffe ren ce  in  m eaning betw een twice follow ed by the 
d e f in i te  a r tic le  and  twice fo llow ed  by  th e  ind efin ite  a rtic le : twice the price—двой- 
нал цена , twice a week— два раза в неделю.

N o t e  2 . H a lf  m ay  se rv e  a s  th e  f irs t com ponent of a com pound n o u n . In  th is  
c a se  th e  a r tic le  n a tu ra lly  p recedes i t ,  e .g . a half-brother, a ha lf-tru th , e tc .



ADJECTIVES

§ 1. Adjectives are words expressing properties of ob jects ( e.g. 
large, blue, sim ple , clever, economic, progressive, productive, e tc .)  and, 
hence, qualifying nouns.

Adjectives in English do not change for number or case. T h e  only 
gramm atical category they have is th e  degrees of comparison. T hey  are 
also characterized by their functions in  the  sentence.

Degrees of Comparison

§ 2 . There are three degrees of com parison: positive, com parative  
and superlative.

T h e  p o s i t i v e  f o r m  is th e  p lain  stem of an ad jec tiv e  (e.g. 
heavy, slow, straight, extravagant, e tc .).

There are tw o methods of form ing th e  com parative and th e  super­
lative degrees:

1) by adding the  suffixes -er te l and -est [is tl, and
2) by using more and most before th e  adjective.
The first method is used for:
a) monosyllabic adjectives,

e.g. new—newer—newest
bright—brighter—brightest

b) disyllabic adjectives ending in -e rt -ow, -y, or -le,
e.g. clever—cleverer—cleverest 

tender—tenderer—tenderest 
hoi low—hoi lower—hoi lowest 
narrow—-narrower—narrowest 
happy—happier—happiest 
p re tty —pre ttie r—prettiest 
sim ple—sim pler—simplest 
noble—nobler—noblest

c) disyllabic adjectives w ith th e  stress on the second sy llab le ,
e.g. polite—politer—politest

complete—completer—completest

d) a few frequently used d isy llab ic adjectives,
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e .g . common—commoner—commonest 
p leasan t—pleasanter— pleasantest 
handsome—handsom er— handsomest 
qu iet—quieter—quietest

T he following spelling ru les should be observed in forming the com­
p a ra tiv e  and the superlative:

a) adjectives ending in  -y preceded by a c o n s o n a n t ,  change 
th e  -y  in to  -ier and -iest,
e .g . heavy—heavier—heaviest 

crazy—crazier—craziest

B ut the  adjective ending in  -y preceded by a v o w e l  remains un­
changed.
e .g . gay—gayer—gayest 

coy—coyer—coyest

b) monosyllabic ad jectives w ith  a short vowel double their final 
consonants,

e .g . big—bigger—biggest 
th in —thinner—th innest 
fa t—fatte r—fattest

B ut monosyllabic adjectives ending in a double consonant remain 
unchanged,

e .g . th ick—thicker—thickest 
fresh—fresher—freshest

c) adjectives w ith a m u te  -e  a t the end add only -r  and -st,

e .g . pale—paler—palest 
fine—finer—finest

The second method is used for:
a) most disyllabic adjectives,

e .g . careful—more careful—m ost careful 
obscure—more obscure—m ost obscure 
p rivate—more p riv a te—m ost private

b) adjectives of more th a n  two syllables,
e .g . rom antic—more rom an tic—most rom antic 

personal—more personal—m ost personal 
beautifu l—more b eau tifu l—most beautiful

c) adjectives formed from  participles and mg-forms,
e .g . tired —more tired—m ost tired

pleased—more pleased—m ost pleased 
interesting—more in te resting—most interesting 
annoying—more annoy ing—most annoying
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d) adjectives used only predicatively,1
e.g. afraid—more afraid 

aware—more aware
N o t e .  C are shou ld  be  tak en  to  rem em ber th a t  m ost w hen  used before an  a d ­

je c tiv e  does n o t a lw ays form  th e  su p e rla tiv e  degree. I t  m ay  h av e  th e  m eaning  of 
very, extremely. T hen i t  is preceded by th e  in d e fin ite  a r tic le .
e.g . He was a m ost in te re s t in g  m an.

A few adjectives have irregular forms for th e  degrees of comparison. 
They are:

good—better—best 
bad—worse—worst 
far—farther—farthest (for distance)

further—furthest (for time and distance) 
near—nearer—nearest (for distance) 

next (for order) 
late—later—latest (for time) 

last (for order) 
old—older—oldest (for age)

elder—eldest (for seniority rather than age; used only a ttr ibu • 
tively)

There are some adjectives that, on account of their meaning, do 
not adm it of comparison a t  all, e.g. perfect, unique, fu l l ,  empty, square, 
round, wooden, daily, upper, major, outer, whole, o n ly  and some others.

The com parative degree is used when there  are tw o objects, actions 
or phenomena compared or contrasted.
e.g. She had the kind of heart trouble th a t comes to  much older people.

I suppose Velasquez was a better pa in ter th an  El Greco.
He found the work easier than  he had expected.
I was now a more experienced m an and it was not easy to  deceive 

me.
She said this w ith  the shadow of a sm ile although one could feel 

that she was more anxious than she w anted  to  appear.
H is reading was more extensive than  ever before.

T he^uperlative degree is used when an object, an  action or a phe­
nomenon Ts compared or contrasted w ith  m ore th a n  two objects, actions 
or phenomena.
e.g. A part from the bed there was only a straw -bottom ed chair to  s i t  

on, for it  was the sm allest of the room s.
At th a t tim e I worshipped M anet. H is “O ly m p ia” seemed to  m e 

the greatest picture of modern tim es.
She was the m ost active of us.
The most significant of S trick land’s works suggests a personality  

which is strange, tormented and com plex.

1 T he su p e rla tiv e  degree of p red ica tiv e  a d je c tiv e s  need  n o t be  m en tioned  h e re  
b ecause it  is h a rd ly  ever used in E nglish .

263



Notice the following sentence patterns in  which comparison is expres­
sed: a) com parison of equality  (as...as),

e.g. The boy was as sly  as a monkey.
After his bathe , the inspector was as fresh as a fish.
When he had  left Paris, it was as cold as in w inter there.

b) com parison of inequality  (not so...as, not as...as),
e.g. His skin was n o t so bronzed as a T ahiti na tiv e ’s.

The sun is no t so hot today as I thought it  would be.
You are no t as nice as people think.

c) com parison of superiority  ( . . .  -er than, -est of (in, ever),
e.g. He looked younger than his years, m uch younger than Sheila or 

me.
“Y ou’re m uch m ore Interested in my dresses than my dressm aker,” 

she said .
My m other was the  proudest of women, and she was vain, but in 

the end she had an eye for tru th .
To my m ind  the  most interesting th ing  In art is the personality of 

the a r tis t.
I t ’s the biggest risk  I ’ve ever had to  take.

d) com parison of inferiority  (less...than),

e.g. John  is less m usical than his sister.
He had the  consolation of noting th a t his friend was less sluggish 
than before.

e) com parison of parallel increase or decrease (the...the, ...-eras),
e.g. The longer I th in k  of his proposal the less I like it.

The sooner th is  is done, the better.
He became m ore cautious as he grew older.

§ 3. Notice the  following set phrases which contain the com parative 
or the superla tive degree of an adjective:

a) a change for the better (for the worse) — перемена к лучшему 
(к худшему),
e.g. There seems to  be a  change for the better in your uncle. He had a 

very hearty  d inner yesterday.

b) none the less — тем не менее,
e.g. It did not tak e  him  long to make up his m ind. None the less she 

showed her scorn for his hesitation.

c) so much the better (the worse) — тем лучше (хуже),
e.g. If he w ill help  us, so much the better.

If he doesn’t  work, so much the worse for him.

d) to be the worse for  — делать что-то еще хуже, еще больше,
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e.g. He is ra ther the worse for drink.

e) no (none the) worse fo r — хуже не станет (не стало) от...,
e.g. Y ou’ll be no worse for having her to  help you.

You are none the worse for the experience.

f) i f  the worst comes to the worst — в худшем случае,
e.g- If the worst comes to the worst, I can alw ays go back home to  m y 

parents.

g) to go from bad to worse — становиться все хуж е и хуже, 
e.g. Things went from bad to worse in th e  fam ily.

h) as b e s t— в полную меру старания, как  только можно, 
e.g. Не made a liv ing  as best he could.

i) at (the) best — в лучшем случае,
e.g. She cannot get away from her hom e for long. A t (the) best she can  

stay w ith us for two days.

Substantivization of A djectives

§ 4. Sometimes adjectives become substan tiv ized . In this case th ey  
have the functions of nouns in the sentence and are always preceded by 
the definite artic le . Substantivized adjectives m ay have two m eanings:

1) They m ay indicate a class of persons in a general sense (e .g . 
the poor=poor people, the dead=dead people , etc.). Such ad jec tiv es  
are plural in m eaning and take a plural verb.
e.g. The old receive pensions.

The young are always romantic, a re n ’t they?
The blind are taught trades in special schools.
Come and see me if you’d like. My m other w ill be out of th e  w ay  

v isiting  the sick.

If we wish to  denote a single person we m ust add a noun.
e.g. The old man receives a pension.

The young m an is very romantic.

If we wish to  refer to a particular group of persons (not the  w hole 
class), it is also necessary to add a noun.
Cf. The young are usually intolerant.

The young men are fishing.

N o t e .  Som e a d jec tiv es  denoting  n a t io n a li t ie s  (e .g . English, French, I r is h , 
Dutch) a re  used in  th e  sam e way.

e .g . The E nglish  a re  g re a t lovers of tea.
The E n g lishm an  co u ld  n o t un d erstan d  a w o rd  o i F ren ch .
There w ere a few E ng lish  people am ong  th e  to u r is ts .
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2) Substantivized adjectives m ay also ind icate  an  abstract notion. 
T h en  they are s ingu lar in  m eaning and take a singular verb.
e .g . The good in  h im  overweighs the bad.

My mother never lost her taste  for the extravagant.
She did not regard E liz a ’s behaviour as particu larly  out of the 

ordinary.

S yn tactic  Functions of Adjectives

§ 5. Adjectives m ay serve in the sentence as:
1) a n  a t t r i b u t e ,

e.g . Do you see the  sm all green boat, which has such an odd shape? 
The lights of the  farm  blazed out in  the windy darkness.
I said it w ith  the  p lay fu l sarcasm th a t had become our favourite 

way of speaking.

Adjectives used as a ttr ib u te s  usually im m ediately precede the noun. 
Norm ally there is no pause between the adjective and the noun. Such 
a ttrib u tes  are called c l o s e  a t t r i b u t e s  (see the examples above).

However, an ad jec tive  placed in pre-position to  the noun m ay be 
separated  from it  by  a pause. Then it becomes a loose attribu te .
e.g . Clever and tac tfu l, George listened to my story w ith deep concern.

Yet loose a ttrib u tes  are more often found in post-position to  the 
noun.
e .g . My father, happy and  tired, kissed me good-night.

Now and again she cast a glance, at once curious and anxious, at 
her husband.

2) a p r e d i c a t i v e ,
e.g . Her smile was alm ost professional.

He looked m ature, sober and calm.
The sky was becom ing violet.
He was aware of w ha t was going on in the office.

N o t e .  N o tice  th e  fo llo w in g  sen tence p a tte rn  w h ich  is com m only  used to  ex ­
p re ss  a ll so rts of m easu rem en ts .

e .g . T he w a ter was fiv e  fe e t deep.
T he tra in  was tw e n ty  m in u te s  late .
M y w atch  is th ree  m in u te s  slow .
T he riv e r is a  m ile  w ide.
H e is th ir ty  years o ld .

3 ) p a r t  o f  a c o m p o u n d  v e r b a l  p r e d i c a t e ,
e .g . He stood silen t, w ith  his back turned to the window.

She lay m otionless, as if she were asleep.
He rolled onto h is back and stared up in to  the  tree where little  

black cherries hung  thick.

4) a n  o b j e c t i v e  p r e d i c a t i v e ,
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e.g. I thought him  very intelligent.
She held her coat tigh t against her body because the w ind w as very 

cold.
She wore her hair short.
The cat licked the saucer dry.

5) a s u b j e c t i v e  p r e d i c a t i v e ,
e.g. Her hair was dyed blonde.

The door was closed tight.
The vegetables were served raw, the  way he liked.

I t  should be noted that most adjectives can be used both a ttr ib u tiv e ly  
and predicatively, bu t some, am ong them  those beginning w ith  a-, 
can be used only as predicatives (e.g. afraid, asleep, alone, a live , aw ake, 
ashamed and also content, sorry, w ell, i l l , e tc.).

A few adjectives can be used only  as a ttribu tes (e.g. outer, m ajor , 
minor, only, whole, former, latter and some others).



PRONOUNS

§ 1. Pronouns include a miscellaneous group of words which func­
tio n  in the sentence as noun pronouns or as adjective pronouns.

I t  is difficult to define the  meaning of pronouns. Unlike nouns and 
adjectives, they do not nam e objects or qualities, but only point to 
them . In  other words, they are devoid of concrete lexical m eaning. 
T hey have a generalized (обобщенное) meaning instead, which becomes 
c lear only in  the context or situation .

Various individual pronouns may have different gram m atical cate­
gories. Some of them have the  category of number (e.g. this—these, that— 
those), others have the category of case (e.g. I — me, somobody—somebody's), 
s t i l l  others are invariable (e.g. each, such, a ll, what and some others).

I t  should be pointed out th a t  although pronouns function as nouns 
o r adjectives in the sentence, they do not cover all the functions of the 
tw o  parts of speech, but can only have some of them .

Pronouns can be d ivided in to  the following classes:
1) personal pronouns,
2) possessive pronouns,
3) reflexive pronouns,
4) em phatic pronouns,
5) dem onstrative pronouns,
6) indefinite pronouns,
7) reciprocal pronouns,
8) interrogative pronouns,
9) conjunctive pronouns.

PE R SO N A L  PR O N O U N S 

§ 2. We find the following personal pronouns in English:

Singular Plural

1st person we

2d person you you

3d person he
she th ey
it
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I  and we are said to be the pronouns of the 1st person, i.e . a person 
(or persons) who speaks (speak). You  is said to be th e  pronoun of the 
2d person, i.e . a person (persons) spoken to. He, she, i t  and they are 
said to  be the pronouns of the 3d person, i.e. a person (persons) or a thing 
(things) spoken about.

We distinguish singular and plural personal pronouns. Singular 
personal pronouns refer to  one person or thing and p lu ral personal pro­
nouns refer to more than one person or thing.

The pronouns / ,  we, you, he and she are m ainly used for persons. 
/ ,  we and you are indifferent to  gender, while he is m asculine and she 
is feminine.

The pronoun it is used for anim als, concrete th ings and abstract 
notions, i.e. it refers to neuter nouns.

The pronoun they is used for persons, animals and th ings and is in­
different to gender.

§ 3. In addition to the above structural m eanings of the personal 
pronouns, they have a few other special applications.

It is a trad ition  to use we instead  of I  in newspaper artic les, scien­
tific  prose, etc. This so-called editorial we is believed to  sound less 
assertive and, hence, more m odest than  / .
e.g. We are convinced th a t the Governm ent has m ade a grave m istake 

in imposing this tax.

She  is sometimes used for inan im ate  objects, especially  ships, motor 
cars, aircraft, etc.
e.g . Come along and have a look a t  my new car. She is a beauty .

She is also used for countries, and even cities, especially  in rather 
formal and rhetoric speech.
e.g. France has made it plain th a t  she will regret the  proposal.

You m ay be used w ith reference to nobody in p articu la r, to  any per­
son who m ight find himself in a s im ilar position.
e .g . You don’t know him. He is dishonest. You feel th a t  he is lying 

to  you every moment of th e  day.
“ Have you been aboard Mrs W ilcox’s yacht? W hat do people do 

aboard yachts?” “ I don’t know. You drink, I su p p o se ,” Gregory 
said, shrugging his shoulders.

In my youth during Christm as holidays I loved to  v is it  my class­
m ates who all lived in sm all provincial towns. Once you got 
in to  them, each anonymous house held a prom ise of fun. You 
d id n ’t know who lived in  them , but m aybe in  one of them , as 
you went from the s ta tio n  to  the house of the  people you were 
visiting, there would be a p re tty  girl getting  ready  for a dance.

They may be used to mean people in general, especially  in  the phrase 
they say.
e.g . They say h e ’s going to resign.
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No w onder they say the present generation hasn ’t got a scrap of 
enterprise.

§ 4. T he  personal pronouns are used as nouns in the sentence.
The personal pronouns have th e  category oi case. There are two cases 

for personal pronouns—the nom inative case and the objective case.

The N om inative Case The Objective Case

I me
you you
he him
she her
it it
we us
you you
th ey them

The form s of the nom inative case function in the sentence as sub­
jects.
e.g. I expect they will laugh a t me.

W hy, don’t you know w hat he’s up to?

The forms of the objective case function in the sentence as objects.
e.g . I m et him  in the street, (direct object)

He gave me some advice, (indirect object)
Please, don’t tell anyone about us. (prepositional object)

W hen personal pronouns are used as predicatives or after than , as 
and b u t , th e  nom inative case is considered to  be very form al; the use 
of the  ob jective case is preferred in spoken English.
e.g. “W ho is i t? ” " I t ’s me (1)”

“Do you need anyth ing?” “A secretary that I ’ll d ic ta te  my piece 
t o . ” “ I ’ll be h e r .”

Y o u ’re  better off than them  (they).
She is as tall as him (he).
No one can do it but him  (he).

But on ly  a nom inative case personal pronoun can be used in the 
following sentence pattern  w here the pronoun is followed by a clause.

e.g. I t  was 1 who did it.

The Use of I t

§ 5. As has been said, the pronoun it  is generally used for concrete 
th ings, ab s trac t notions and anim als.
e.g. I tr ied  the  door. It was locked.
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H e promised his help if ever I needed i t  
He got down the horse and tied  it to  the ra il.

Y et the pronoun i t  m ay be used to  identify  an  unknow n person. 
Then, once it  has been done, he or she m ust be used.
e.g. There was a knock a t the door. I thought it  was the postm an. He 

usually came a t th a t tim e.
When the waiter came up to  his tab le  he d id  n o t a t once realize 

it  was Paul. He was as handsome as ever.

I t  m ay also refer to  an idea expressed in a preceding word-group
(a), clause (b), sentence (c) or even context (d).
e.g. a) He tried to break the lock. It was not easy e ither.

There was some m utual hesitation about shaking  hands, w ith 
both deciding against it.

b) He knew th a t his father was dying b u t he d id  no t w ant to speak
with anyone about it.

c) The music had stopped. He d id n ’t notice it.
d) He studied her, then shook his head. He w aited  a moment and

then decided not to  say w hat he m ight have been going to  say. 
He swallowed half his whiskey before going on, and when he 
did, he returned to  the conventional questions. She had watched 
him do it all w ithout any interest.

I t  is very often used as a f o r m a l  subject in  im personal s ta te­
m ents about weather conditions, time, d istance and all kinds of meas­
urements.
e.g. It is raining heavily.

It was very cold in  the  room.
It is half past three now.
It is six miles to  the nearest hospital from here.
It is three feet deep here.

The formal i t  as subject is also found in sentences in which the pred­
icate is modified by an  infin itive phrase (a), or an  mg-form phrase
(b), or a clause (c). We usually find nominal p redicates in th is kind of 
sentences:
e.g. a) It is stupid to fa ll asleep like that.

It is a pleasure to see you again.
b) It won’t be easy finding our way home.

I t ’s no use hoping h e ’ll ever change his m m a.
c) It was clear th a t he was going to give in.

It was a surprise th a t he had come back so soon.
The formal i t  may be used not only as the sub ject of the sentence 

but also as an object followed by  an adjective or a noun which is m odi­
fied by an infinitive phrase, an  tVig-form phrase or a clause.
e.g. I found it difficult to  explain to him  w hat had happened.

He thought it no use going over the subject again.
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H e thought it  odd th a t they had le ft him  no message.

The pronoun i t  is also used in the so-called e m p h a t i c  c o n ­
s t r u c t i o n ,  i.e . a special sentence pattern  that serves to emphasize 
some word or phrase in the  sentence.
e.g . It was m y question th a t made him angry.

I t  was on the  terrace th a t he wanted them to  lay the table.

F inally , th e  pronoun it is ra ther often used in various idiom atic 
expressions w here it  seems to have very litt le  lexical meaning of its own, 
if any at a ll. Most of these expressions are colloquial or even slangy.
e.g. Hang it a ll, we ca n ’t  w ait all day for him.

Hop it, old th ing, you are in the way here.
When I see him , I ’ll have it out w ith him.
Now th a t y o u ’ve done it, beat it home.
If you are found out, you’ll catch it.

P O SS E S SIV E  PR O N O U N S

§ 6 . There are the following possessive pronouns in English:

S ingular P lura l

1st person m y our

2d person your your

3d person
his
her
its

th e ir

Possessive pronouns serve to  modify nouns in the sentence, i.e. they 
function as adjectives.
e.g. The doctor usually  came to  his office at three o ’clock.

Do you th in k  you are losing your popularity?
From my place I could watch the people eating their lunch.

It should be noted th a t in English the possessive pronouns are often 
used instead of articles w ith  nouns denoting relations, parts oi the body, 
articles of clo th ing  and various other personal belongings.
e.g. Bob nodded a t his wife as if he w anted to  say “You see?”

He b it h is lips, bu t said nothing.
He took off h is jacket and loosened his tie.
Amy p u t her cigarette back into her bag.

But there are certa in  idiom atic phrases where the definite article 
is used instead  of a possessive pronoun.
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e.g. I have a cold in the head.
He was shot through the heart.
He got red in the face.
He took me by the hand.
The ball struck him  in the back.
He patted  his wife on the shoulder.

§ 7. The possessive pronouns may function  as nouns as well. Then 
they are used in their so-called a b s o l u t e  f o r m s :  mine, yours, 
his, hers, its, ours and theirs.
e.g. She put her arm through mine.

They are not my gloves; I thought they w ere yours.
Theirs is a very large family.

I t  is noteworthy th a t its  is hardly ever used as an  absolute form.
N o t e .  T he form  yours is com m only used as a c o n v e n tio n a l end ing  to  le t te r s ,  

e .g . Yours sincerely ( tru ly , fa ith fu lly )  J .  Sm ith .

Sometimes we find absolute forms of possessive pronouns preceded 
by the preposition of. This combination is ca lled  a d o u b l e  g e n ­
i t i v e .
e.g. He is a friend of mine.

I t  happened through no fault of his.
We had a slight accident and, luckily, th a t  neighbour of yours 

came along or we would still be there.

R E FL E X IV E  PR O N O U N S

§ 8. The reflexive pronouns are formed by adding -self (in the p lu ­
ral -selves) to the possessive pronouns in the 1st and 2d persons and to  
the objective case of the  personal pronouns in  the  3d person.

S in g u la r P lural

1st person m y se lf ourselves

2d person y o u rse lf yourselves

3d person
h im se lf
h e rse lf
its e lf

them selves

There is one more reflexive pronoun w hich is formed from the in ­
definite pronoun one—oneself.

These pronouns are used as noun pronouns in  the  sentence. They are 
called r e f l e x i v e  p r o n o u n s  because they  serve to show th a t 
the action performed by the person which is ind icated  by the subject
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of the sentence passes back again to the sam e person. In other words, 
the subject of the  sentence and its object indicate the same person. In 
this case the reflex ive pronouns are weakly stressed.
e.g. He wrapped h im self in his blanket and fell off to sleep.

She cooked herself a big meal.
I ’m sure you both remember the day when you talked about your* 

selves and the  past.

As is seen from  the  above examples, the reflexive pronouns may 
serve in the sentence as different kinds of objects—direct, indirect and 
prepositional.

N o t e  1. N o tic e  th e  fo llow ing  sentences w here  personal pronouns a re  preferred 
to  re ftex ive  p ro n o u n s.

e .g . He w ent in. c lo s in g  th e  door beh ind  him .
She pu t th e  th o u g h t from her.
He looked a b o u t h im .

N o t e  2. N o tice  th a t  b o th  personal and  re fle x iv e  p ronouns a re  found in  sen­
tences expressing  c o m p a riso n .

e.g . My b ro th e r is a s  ta i l  as m yself (m e).
No one realizes it b e tte r  than yourseiff(you).

§ 9 . Reflexive pronouns may also be used in a different w ay—to­
gether with the verb they may form set phrases characterized by id i­
omatic m eaning. The reflexive meaning of the self pronoun is sometimes 
greatly weakened in th is case. The meaning of the verb differs from the 
meaning of the sam e verb when it is followed by an object expressed by 
a noun or an indefin ite  pronoun.
e.g. He forgot J a n e ’s address, (забыл)

I ’m afraid h e ’s forgetting himself, (забывается)
F inally  I found the answer to the ridd le, (нашел)
F inally  I found myself near a railway sta tion , (оказался)
She came to the  theatre  ten m inutes late, (пришла)
At last she cam e to herself, (пришла в себя)

A few other verbs are always followed by reflexive pronouns w ith 
which they form a close sense-unit, e.g. to pride oneself on something, 
to avail oneself o f something.

We also find id iom atic uses of reflexive pronouns in such set phrases 
as to be m yself (h im se lf , etc.) meaning to be or behave as before.
e.g. I ’m glad to  see th a t he is himself again.

Besides, there  are a few prepositional phrases w ith reflexive pro­
nouns which are to  be treated  as set phrases because they have idiomatic 
m eaning.
e.g. Are we ac tu a lly  by ourselves again? (одни)

He was alm ost beside him self with excitem ent, (вне себя)
In spite of h im self he was interested, (наперекор себе, вопреки 

своему желанию)
Go and find for yourself how it is done, (сам)
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I t ’s a word com plete in itself, (сам по себе)
As for myself, I have no com plaint to  m ake, (что касается меня) 
I came away and left him to h im self, (оставил его одного)
We can drive the car among ourselves, (вдвоем по очереди)

EMPHATIC PR O N O U N S

§ 10. E m phatic pronouns have the  sam e forms as reflexive p ro ­
nouns—they are homonyms.

Em phatic pronouns are used for em phasis. They serve as noun p ro ­
nouns and always perform the function of apposition in the sen tence. 
They can be placed either immediately afte r their head-word or a t  the  
end of the sentence. They are rendered ( n Russian as сам , сама, 
само, сами.
e.g. You yourself to ld  them the story . (Or: You told them the s to ry  

yourself.)
My m other herself opened the door. (Or: My mother opened th e  

door herself.)
We are all queer fish, queerer than we know ourselves.
The parting  itself was short but it m ade her ill w ith grief.

The em phatic pronouns are strongly stressed, but nevertheless th ey  
can be om itted w ithou t destroying the sense of the sentence.

DEM ONSTRATIVE P R O N O U N S

§ 11. There are four dem onstrative pronouns in English: th is , th a t , 
such and same. They all may be used as noun pronouns and as ad jec tiv e  
pronouns.

The pronouns this and that have the  category of num ber. T h e ir 
corresponding plural forms are: these and those.

§ 12. The pronoun (his (these) refers to  what is near in  space, 
tim e or conception (a), that (those) to  w hat is farther off (b).
e.g. a) Do you know these people? This is H arry Field, my coach, and  

this is Jak e  Spring, the producer.
Take this pear. It looks very ripe .
“Look at th is ,” he said and showed me his tie.
When he stopped talking, she w ondered, “Why is he te llin g  m e 

all th is ? ”
“May be you don’t want to  go to  th is  p a r ty ,” he asked h o p in g  

she would say “no” ,
b) Do you see those houses in the  distance? T h a t’s w here w e are  

going.
Is th a t your son?

They ate the pie and drank the coffee in silence. W hen th ey  h ad  
finished, Delany said, “Now П 1  have that cigar you o ffered  
m e .”
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He was deaf b u t she d idn’t th ink  th a t m any people noticed 
that.

The pronouns th is (these) and that (those) m ay also have other ap­
plications.

1) In some cases th is  (these) may refer to  w hat is to  follow, that 
(those) to what precedes.

e .g . After I ’ve listened  to  you very a tten tively  I ’ll tell you th is—I 
don’t th ink you should  tru st the man.
But I’m glad to  see you have an interest in  sports. That means we 

have two th ings in  common.

2) The pronouns th is  (these) and that (those) are often used w ith 
nouns indicating tim e. T his (these) is used for tim e which is future or 
ju s t past. That (those) is used for time which is clearly past.

e.g . Why don’t you com e and see me some tim e?” “How about this 
Sunday, if i t ’s convenient?”

Father had to  go to  Chicago this morning.
I remember th a t  he woke up early th a t m orning.
She looked flushed and well, although she had a heart attack  th a t 

summer.

3) Sometimes the  use of this (these) and that (those) is em otion­
a lly  coloured. The kind of feeling implied (affection, vexation, disgust, 
contem pt, etc.) depends on the  situation.

e.g . W ill this dog ever stop barking?
Do you really believe in those ideas?
When will you stop  trum ping that piano?
He is one of those so-called modern poets.

4) The pronoun tha t (those) may be used instead of a noun a l­
ready  mentioned. It is called a p r o p - w o r d  in th is case.

e.g . H e found it easier to  believe that her actions were tnose of a spoilt 
girl.

H e hung his d au g h te r’s portra it beside th a t of his w ife’s.
These poems are n o t so good as those w ritten  by you last year.
I entered by th e  door opposite to th a t opening into the  garden. 
She was a good teacher. She knew how to  teach bright children and 

those who were slow.
I was interested to  learn th a t the cafe was the  same as th a t we 

had visited five years before.

As is seen from th e  above examples, tha t (those) in th is case is 
followed by a prepositional phrase, a participle, an m^-form or a clause.

5) That is often used instead of it. In th is  case that appears to  be 
m ore em phatic than  it.
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e.g. I ’m  going to  practise law. I have th a t all planned.
“L et’s send him a w ire.” “T h a t’s an excellent id e a .”
“His gun went off and he nearly  killed h im self.” “ I d id n ’t  know 

that. ”
“Tell her I ’m sorry I missed h e r .” “ I ’ll do th a t .”
“ I ’m going to  stay here a w h ile .” “T h a t’s fin e .”

6) Those followed by a who-clause, a partic ip le or an  ing -form  re­
fers to  persons.
e.g. Serious newspapers are read by those (=people) who w ant to  know 

about im portant happenings everywhere.
Even those (=people) who do not like his pictures are n o t ind if­

ferent to  him.
Those (= peop le) injured in  th e  accident were taken  to  hosp ita l.

N o t e .  Those present and  those concerned a re  to  be  trea te d  as se t p h ra se s  m ea n ­
ing  присутствующие and  заинтересованные лица.

7) In spoken English that m ay be used as an adverbial m odifier 
of degree.
e.g. I did not th in k  he was th a t s tup id .

I w ill go th a t far, but no further.
He should know that much about his trade.

§ 13. That, this are often found as part of set phrases. H ere  are 
some of them :
e.g. “Mike will tell you that I seldom  pass through th is p lace w ithout 

dropping in .” “T hat’s r ig h t.” (Это верно.)
“ I have a car outside. I ’ll g ive you a ride hom e.” “Oh, t h a t ’s a l l  
righ t. I t  isn ’t  much of a w a lk .” (He надо. Ничего.)
My husband said you were properly  brought up. He alw ays noticed 

things like that. (= such  things)
Would you like a bag like this? (= su c h  a bag)
I hate it  when they dance like th is. ( = in  this way)
I had never heard him speak like th a t before. ( = in  th a t  way)
It was May, bu t for a ll th a t th e  ra in  was falling as in  th e  heaviest 

autum n downpours. (= d e sp ite  that)
My m other intended to  have a glorious supper—n ot th a t sh e  could 
eat much nowadays, but for th e  sake of style and my sake , (не то 

чтобы...)
She was young and beautiful. More than that, she w as happy.

(более того...)
You ought to know better than  th a t, (быть умнее)
“Do you w ant to  speak to me abou t your work?” “Oh, h a rd ly  th a t. ” 

(да нет, не совсем; совсем не о том)
Не talked  about his responsibilities and a ll  th a t, (и тому подоб­

ное)
I ’m th ink ing  of your future, you know. T h a t’s why I ’m  giv ing  

you a piece of advice, (поэтому)
A fter th a t I did not see him  for several days, (после этого)
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M arion’s concern was d irectly  for me. “Yes, it  was a p ity  you ran 
across h e r ,” she said . “Mind you, I expect you puzzled her as 
m uch as she did you —th a t is, if I know anything about y o u .” 
(то есть)

“ You know what people th in k  when a man like him  d ies.” “That 
is? ” “People im agine i t ’s a revenge.” (то есть? а именно?) 

L e t’s leave it  a t  th a t, (оставим все так; остановимся на этом) 
So th a t ’s that; (вот так-то; такие-то дела)
I to ld  you before, I w on’t do it, and th a t’s th a t, (и все)
T hat settles It. (на том и порешим)
W hat were you doing down there, or what was I doing there for 

th a t  m atter? (впрочем, даже)
N o t e .  N o tice  th a t  E n g lish  p eo p le  speaking of th e ir  co u n try  say  this country 

w h e re a s  in  R u ssian  i t  wouJd be наша страна.

§ 14. The dem onstrative pronoun such may mean of this or that kind 
(a) o r ind icate  degree (b). Such  is followed by the indefin ite artic le be­
fore singular countable nouns.

e .g . a) If I were you I would not have said such a th ing about him. 
H e was a silent, am bitious man. Such men usually succeed. 
Such is the  present s ta te  of things.
The position of D an Crusher was such th a t he was welcome in 

any club,
b) He is such a bore.

H e wrote such desperate letters to me th a t year.

T he m eaning of such is often completed by a clause of consequence 
in troduced by that or a phrase introduced by as.

e.g . I had such a busy m orning th a t I had no tim e to  call you up.
H e cut such an absurd figure that I felt inclined to  laugh.
I never saw such a handsom e man as J im ’s father.
M r C lark was afraid th a t his promotion would never come because 

there  was such a th in g , he said, as junior clerks try ing  to  draw 
a tten tion  to  them selves.

Su ch  m ay be followed by an infinitive w ith as.

e.g. H is carelessness is such as to  make it unlikely th a t he will pass 
his exam ination.

N otice th a t such may be combined w ith some indefin ite pronouns.

e .g . I ’ll do no such thing.
H e d id n ’t say any such th ing.
Any such request is sure to  be turned down.
On every such occasion dozens of people get injured.
Some such story was to ld  to  me years ago.

§  15. Such  is sometimes found as part of set phrases. Here are some 
of them :
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e.g. They export a lot of fru it, such as oranges, lem ons, etc. (= fo r 
example)

H is education, such as i t  was, was finished by th e  tim e he was 
fifteen, (каково бы оно ни было)

My services, such as they are, are at your disposal, (каковы бы они 
ни были)

John is the captain of the team , and, as such, he is to  decide what 
is to  be done, (как таковой)

§ 16. The dem onstrative pronoun same means identical. I t  is al­
ways preceded by the  definite article.
e.g. We don’t have to  go all in the same car.

I was astonished and at the  same tim e very m uch excited.
In autum n the school re-opened. The same studen ts cam e to  George’s 

classes.
H is stories set one’s im agination to  work. The sam e is true  of his 

articles.

The meaning of same is often completed by a clause introduced by 
that or as.
e.g. He wore the same suit th a t I had seen him in five years before.

He ate his sandwiches at m idday in the same places as I did.
“You haven’t changed,” I said sm iling. H e had th e  same absurd 

appearance th a t I remembered.

Sam e  may also be followed by a phrase introduced by as.
e.g. Saying good-bye, my aunt gave me the sam e w arning as on the 

day of my fa ther’s departure.
H is head was disproportionally large, bu ilt on th e  same lines as 

his sister’s but w ith  finer features.

§ 17. Sam e  is sometimes found as part of set phrases. H ere are some 
of them :
e.g. I t ’s a l) the same to me. ( = I t  makes no difference to  me.)

I asked him what he wanted to start w ith . I t  was a l l  the same to 
him. ( =  It made no difference to him.)

I don’t think he’ll wish to  see me. But I ’ll come a l l  the same, 
(—in spite of that)

“How is he today?” “Much the sam e.” (= n o t  app aren tly  different)

IN D E F IN IT E  PR O N O U N S

§ 18. The indefinite pronouns express various degrees and various 
kinds of indefiniteness. We find the following subgroups among them:

1) i n d e f i n i t e  pronouns proper:
a) some, any, no;
b) somebody, anybody, nobody; 

someone, anyone, no one; 
something, anything, nothing;
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c) one, none
2) d i s t r i b u t i v e  pronouns:

a) a ll ,  every, each, other, either, neither, both;
b) everybody, everyone, everything

3) q u a n t i t a t i v e  pronouns:
m uch, m any, little , few, a little , a few, a lot of, lots of, a great 
deal, a great many, etc.

§ 19. T he pronoun some m ay be used as an adjective pronoun and 
as a noun pronoun. It has several meanings.

Some  u sually  expresses an indefin ite num ber or am ount or indefinite 
quality .
e.g. On such  days my mother would give me some pennies to  buy sweets 

or a magazine.
They d id  give us some nice things to  eat, d idn’t they?
I was terrified  th a t some disaster was w aiting for me.
I had been playing cricket w ith  some of the  neighbouring children. 
The v is ito r  asked me to  describe some of the work we do in our 

laboratory .

Some, used w ith  a singular countable noun, may mean a particular 
but un iden tified  person or thing.
e.g. Some boy had w ritten  a L atin  word on the  blackboard.

W e m ust first th ink  of some plan.

Some is very  often used for contrast. Then it  is strongly stressed.
e.g. I enjoy some music, but not much of it.

Some of us agree w ith th e  statem ent, some disagree.

Some m ay also mean approximately. 
e.g. I t  happened some tw enty years ago.

W hen used as a noun pronoun, some may be singular or p lu ra l. It 
depends on w hether some refers to  countable or uncountable nouns.
e.g. Some of h is opinions were hard  to  accept.

Some of th e  food was packed in waterproof bags.

As a ru le , some is used in affirm ative sentences (see the  examples 
above). In in terrogative and negative sentences it is changed into any 
or no (see §§ 20-21 below). However, there are instances when some re­
m ains unchanged in interrogative and negative sentences. I t  happens 
when the  question  o r negation contained in the sentence does not con­
cern th e  p art of th e  sentence contain ing some, i.e. when the  part of the 
sentence con ta in ing  some remains affirm ative in meaning.
e.g. May I g ive  you some more tea?

I could not answer some of his questions.
Did you see some of his poems published in  the  magazine?
I ’m going aw ay for a week. So I shan ’t  be able to see some interest­

ing games.
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Not all your answers are correct. Some are, som e a ren ’t.
You know some women ca n ’t  see the  telephone w ithout taking 

the  receiver off.

§ 20. The pronoun any  is also used as an ad jec tiv e  pronoun and as 
a noun pronoun.

In affirm ative sentences any means it  does n o t m atter who, what or 
which.
e.g. Come any day you like.

I was interested in any new prospect of change.
Any who have questions to ask are requested to  do so in writing. 
“W hich newspaper do you want me to  b u y ?” “Any will d o .”
Her voice carried well in any hall.

N o t e .  A ny number o f is to  be regarded  as a se t p h ra se , m ean in g  a great many, 
e.g . I h ave  any num ber o f p la n ts  in m y garden.

In interrogative and negative sentences a n y  is used instead of some.
e.g. Is there any chance of seeing any of his pictures?

I did not see any change in his life.
They asked him for some money. He said he d id n ’t  have any.

It should be noted th a t a negative m eaning m ay be conveyed in the  
sentence not only by no t, bu t also by never, w ith o u t , seldom, hardly, etc. 
I t  may also be expressed in another clause.
2.g. He never had any luck.

He went away w ithout saying good-bye to  any  of us.
Now that he lived in the  country he seldom had any visitors.
The Dutchm an spoke French w ith hardly any  accent.
No one is under any obligation to you.
I don’t  th ink any of us ought to  wish the  resu lt to  be different.

A n y  is used when some doubt or condition is im plied. This often 
x c u rs  in object clauses introduced by i f  o r whether or in conditional 
:lauses.
B.g. Let me know if you hear any news.

I wonder if you have met any of these people before.
If you have any news, call me up righ t aw ay.
If you still have any of my fa th er’s letters, send them  to  me, please.

Any  may be used as an  adverbial modifier of degree in the sentence.
;.g. H e isn ’t any better.

In  sp ite  of your advice she isn ’t any the  wiser.

§ 2 1 . The pronoun no is negative in m eaning and  used only as an 
idjective pronoun. It m ay mean not any  or not a.
j.g. H e had no tie  on.

They have no friends in London.
H e had no desire to  tak e  decisions.
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There are no  le tters for you today.
I have no m oney left.
There were no  people in the hall.
No boy a t th e  school had ever seen the  sea.
He is no hero.
The girl was no beauty.
The old m an was no fool.

Notice the  set phrase to be no good.

e.g. He is no  good as a pianist, (никуда не годится)

§ 22. There are th e  following c o m p o u n d  p r o n o u n s  form­
ed w ith some*, a n y • and no-: 

someone—anyone—no one 
somebody—anybody—nobody 
so m eth in g - a n y th in g —nothing
They are all used as noun pronouns and the  same rules as for the  use 

of some, any  and no in different kinds of sentences hold good for them 
(see § 19-21 above).

The com pounds in -one and in •body are singular in m eaning and 
can be used only  of persons.

e.g. There is som eone in his office. Do you hear them talking?
H e’d to ld  my landlady he was looking out for someone to  pain t 

him.
My m other w anted me to  give more money to  the fund than  anyone 

in the  form.
Is there  anyone a t home?
No one was in  a hurry. No one seemed to  think th a t tomorrow 

existed.
I found my m other in the kitchen. There was no one else at home. 
Somebody m ust have been using my books. They’ve got all mis* 

placed on th e  shelf.
Anybody can see that the whole th ing  has been a failure.
Did you m eet anybody on your way home?
Nobody can help him under the circumstances.

The com pounds in  -one and in -body can have the form of th e  geni­
tiv e  case.

e.g. He isn ’t  going to  be in anybody’s way at th is hour of th e  night. 
Did you tak e  anybody’s photograph a t the  party?

N o t e .  W h en  th e  com pounds in -one an d  in  -body a re  follow ed by  else, the 
g e n itiv e  case  su ff ix  is added  a fte r else.
e.g. T h a t’s  n o t m y  h a t .  I t ’s  som ebody e lse ’s.

The difference between the compounds in -body and those in •one 
is that th e  la tte r  are, as a rule, more individualizing, i.e. the  com­
pounds in -body refer to persons collectively, whereas those in -one refer 
to  individuals.
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Cf. Somebody is sure to  get interested in the  job. (= so m e people, one 
or more persons)
This is a letter from someone interested in  th e  job. (= so m e person, 

one person)
Nobody knew about her arrival. (= n o  people)
No one had come to  meet her. (= n o t  a person)

As a result, the  compounds in -body are never followed by an of- 
phrase, while the compounds in -one som etim es are.
e.g. Does anyone of you correspond w ith  her fam ily?

The compounds in •thing  can be used on ly  of things. They are also  
singular in meaning but they cannot have th e  form of the genitive case.
e.g. There is som ething wrong w ith him.

We were alm ost outside our house before I took in th a t som ething 
was not right.

“Why don’t you say som ething?” he dem anded.
I ’ll do anything for you.
“ Is there anything in the paper?” he sa id , as we approached th e  

end of our silent meal.
Nothing could remove his disappointm ent.
The doctor could suggest nothing to  me. (= T h e  doctor could n o t 

suggest anything to  me.)
He looked at me and didn’t say anyth ing .
Dirk never concealed anything.
Let me see your pictures. If there’s any th ing  I like, I ’ll buy i t .

Notice the idiom atic use of something in  th e  following sentences:

e.g. He is som ething of a hermit. (В нем есть что-то от отшельника). 
I hope to  see som ething of you during  th e  holidays. (Я надеюсь 

видеть вас хоть иногда...)
Не is something in the Foreign Office. (Он какое-то ответственное 

лицо в Министерстве иностранных дел.)
Something or o ther prevented him from com ing. (По той или иной 

причине он не смог прийти. Что-то там помешало ему прийти.) 
I t ’s som ething like two miles to the  lake, (^ap p ro x im ate ly )
I ’ll whistle the  tune for you. It goes som ething like this, (прибли­

зительно вот так)

All the compound indefinite pronouns m ay be modified by ad jec­
tives which are generally placed in post-position to  their head-w ords.
e.g. You should do som ething sensible about i t  at last.

Somebody im portant has arrived, I ’m sure.
I want someone re liab le  to do th is work.
I thought he was going to tell me som ething painfu l.
I thought I ’d come and see if they had any th ing  new.

§ 23. The pronoun one in all of its uses refers exclusively to  persons 
or things th a t are countable.
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The pronoun one is used as a noun pronoun and as an adjective pro­
noun.

As a noun pronoun, it can have the p lural form ones and the  form 
of th e  genitive case one's. Besides, as has been said above (see § 8 above), 
th e  reflexive pronoun oneself is formed from it.

As an adjective pronoun one is invariable.
One has m any various uses in English.
1) It is used to  s tan d  for people or I  or any person in my position. 

In other words, i t  refers to  nobody in particular.
e.g. One can ’t  be too  careful in m atters like this.

He was very young, not more than tw enty-three or four, as indeed 
one could see a t  a glance.

The sea was so sm ooth, so luminous, th a t  when one stared a t it 
for long one could no longer distinguish, for a moment or two, 
the  shape of th ings.

H is sincerity  excited  one’s sym pathy.
I t ’s not w hat I should have chosen for my last years, but one no 

longer m akes o n e’s life when one is old. Life is made for one.
N o t e .  C are  sh o u ld  b e  ta k e n  n o t to  use one too  o ften  in  th e  sen tence because it  

w o u ld  m ake  th e  se n ten c e  s ty l is t ic a l ly  clum sy (see th e  la s t ex am ple  above).
F or exam p le , th e  se n ten c e  “ W hen one is g iven o n e ’s cho ice  of courses of ac tio n , 

a n y  of w hich  w ould  b e  to  o n e ’s d isadvan tage , one o ften  has d ifficu lty  in  dec id in g  
w h a t one o ugh t to  d o ” sh o u ld  be b e tte r  expressed in  e ith e r  of th e  fo llow ing  w ays:

a) “ W hen som eone is  g iv en  h is choice oS courses o f action, any  o f  w hich w ould  
be  to  h is  d isa d v a n ta g e , he o ften  has d iff ic u lty  in  dec id in g  w h a t he  o u g h t to  
d o .”

b) “ W hen you a re  g iv en  your choice of courses of a c tio n , any  of w hich w ould  
be to  your d isa d v a n ta g e , you often  have d iff ic u lty  in  dec id in g  w h a t you o u g h t 
to  d o .”

N ote  th a t you  in th e  la s t  sen tence  above a p p lie s  to  no p a r tic u la r  person and  is 
u sed  w ith  in d e fin ite  m e a n in g  in  w hich it is m ore com m on th a n  th e  pronoun  one. (See 
a lso  “ P ro n o u n s” , § 3 .)

2) One may have the  meaning of a person.
e.g. He is not one to  be easily frightened.

He is not one to  fall for her charms.
One who p a in ts  ought to  know a lot about perspective.
There was a look in his eyes of one used to  risking his life.
Do you w ant to  be the  one to spoil all that?

3) One is often used for contrast w ith other, in which case it  pre­
serves some of its  num erical meaning.
e.g. The brothers are so alike th a t I sometimes cannot tell one from 

the other.
By the way, here are the  two duplicate keys to  the  gate—I ’ll take 

one, the  o th er key you’d better keep yourself.
She smiled as one in tellectual to another.
According to  J im , life was one damn th in g  after another.

4) One, in com bination  w ith  nouns denoting tim e, is used to  ex­
press some vague tim e.
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e.g. One day he’ll understand his m istake.
I ’ll speak to  him one of these days.
One Friday night my mother and father talked for a long  tim e 

alone.
One summer evening I went for a s tro ll in the park.

5) One is used w ith the meaning of only  or single.
e.g. Your fa ther is the one man who can help you now.

This is the  one thing we can feel certain  about.
This is the  one way to  do it.
No one m an can do it.

6) Last bu t not least, one is used as a prop-word, i.e. as a s u b s titu te  
for a previously mentioned noun. I t  helps to  avoid th e  re p e titio n  of 
the same noun.
e.g. Trams were passing us, but my fa ther was not inclined to  tak e  

one.
W ill you show me your pictures? I m ight feel like b u y in g  one.

If the  prop-word one is preceded by  an adjective, an a r tic le  m ust 
be used w ith  it.
e.g. No, th a t ’s not their car. Theirs is a  blue one.

The new v icar was less cultivated  th an  the old one.
The prop-word one can be used in th e  plural.

e.g. I prefer red roses to  white ones.
“W hich biscuits would you lik e?” “The ones w ith  choco late  on 

them . ”
The prop-word one (ones) may also be used in com bination w ith  

other pronouns, such as this (these), tha t (those), which, each, every 
and other as well as ordinal num erals (e.g. first, second, e tc.).
e.g. If you will take this chair, I ’ll tak e  th a t one.

I ’ve never seen such big tulips as these ones.
Here are some books for you to read. W hich one would you choose? 
There were several houses in th e  s tree t, each one more expensive  

than the other.
If you don’t like th is magazine, tak e  ano ther one.
My house is the first one on the  left.

There are certain  restrictions to  th e  use of the  prop-word one:
a) one is no t used after own,

e.g. I w on’t go by your car. I’ll use my own.

b) one is norm ally not used after a superla tive  adjective or a  com ­
parative adjective preceded by the  defin ite  article,
e.g. The English clim ate is often said to  be the most unpredic tab le  in 

the  world.
Of all the  runners my brother was the  sw iftest.
Of the  two armchairs I chose the harder.
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N ote . N otice  th a t  th e  p ro p -w o rd  one is possible w hen m ost is used in th e  m ean­
in g  of very, extremely.
e .g .  H is co llection  of s ta m p s  is  a m o st v a lu ab le  one.

c) one is not used a fte r cardinal numerals, 
e .g . I have only one friend bu t you have two.

d) one is to be avoided in  formal or scientific English.
Notice the idiom atic uses of one in the following sentences:

e .g . H e can go o r he can s tay ; i t ’s a l l  one to  me. (=*it makes no dif­
ference)

He was a man th a t was liked by one and a l l .  (= b y  everybody) 
The sky was gently  tu rn in g  dark and the men began to  depart one 

a fte r the other. ( = i n  succession, not together)
W ould you like me to  bring  them one by one, sir? (= sin g ly , one 

at a tim e, not together)
No, I w on’t  go w ith  you. For one thing, I am very busy at the mo­

ment. (= fo r  one reason)
The litt le  ones alw ays know a good man from a bad one. (“ chil­

dren)
I t isn ’t the p re tty  ones th a t make good wives and mothers. (= p re tty  

girls)

§ 24. The pronoun none is a noun pronoun. It is negative in meaning 
ind icating  not one or not any and can be used of persons (cf. no one) 
as well as of things, coun tab le and uncountable (cf. nothing). The 
verb  following it  may be singular or plural, according to  the  sense re­
quired .

e .g . None of us knows w here he is going to  work.
None of the shopkeepers was allowed by my mother to  wait an 

hour for his money.
None of them are any use to  me.
None of them really know how ill she is.
We discovered th a t none of his promises was kept.
He asked them for advice. None was given.
Apart from the dizziness, I had none of the true  signs of the disease. 
I wanted some more coffee but none was left.

N o t e .  T he d ifference  b e tw een  none and th e  n eg ativ es no one (nobody)  and 
n o th ing  is eas ily  b ro u g h t o u t w ith  th e  help of questions.

A o one (nobody) is used in answ er to  a w /io-question. 
e .g . “ W ho a re  you sp eak in g  to ? ”  “ No one (n o b o d y ).”

N othing  is used in an sw er to  a what question, 
e .g . “ W h at are you do ing  th e r e ? ” “ N o th in g .”

B ut none is used in an sw er to  a how m any-question  or a how m ucft-question. 
e .g .  “ How m any fish d id  yo u  c a tc h ? ” “ N one.”

“ How m uch petro l is th e re  in  th e  c a r? ” “ N one.”
“ How m uch progress d id  he  m ak e ? ” “ N one.”

§ 25. The pronoun a l l  is used as a noun pronoun and as an adjective 
pronoun.
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A l l  used as a noun pronoun is singular when it  m eans everything , 
the whole of a thing.

e.g. AM’s well that ends well, (proverb)
I don’t find any change here, a l l  looks as it alw ays d id .
H e has lost a ll.
Some day his pictures will be worth more than a l l  you have in 

your shop.

A l l  used as a noun pronoun is plural when it  m eans everybody, the 
total number o f persons, anim als or things.

e.g. A ll are welcome.
A ll agree that he has behaved splendidly.
A ll of us think so.
He made a few suggestions. A ll of them were acceptable.

When a ll is used as an adjective pronoun, the verb m ay be singular 
or plural depending on the noun modified by all.

e.g. A ll the money was spent.
A ll th a t business fills me w ith  disgust.
A ll the trunks are packed ready to go.
A ll students should register before October 1st.

There are a few peculiarities in the use of all:
1) W hen a ll  is followed by a noun, there is no preposition  between 

them .1
e.g. He worked hard a ll the tim e he was here.

I don’t like to speak before a l l  these people.
A ll my friends were happy to  hear the news.
A ll boys prefer playing games to  going to school.

However, when a ll is followed by a personal pronoun, the  preposi­
tion  of must be used.

e.g. He has w ritten three novels and a ll of them were best sellers. 
A ll of us were disappointed by him.

N o t e .  In  A m erican E nglish  n o u n s  fo llow ing  all are  o ften  jo in e d  to  i t ,  like 
personal p ronouns, w ith  th e  help of th e  p rep o sitio n  of.
e.g . A ll of o u r s tuden ts have reg is te red .

A ll  of these books are m ine.

2) Notice the possible place of a l l  w ith nouns (a) and personal pro­
nouns (b) used as the subject of the  sentence.

e.g. a) AM the students found the  lectures helpful.
The students a ll found the  lectures helpful, 

b) A ll of them found the lectures helpful.
They a ll found the lectures helpful.

i  F o r th e  use  or absence of th e  d e f in ite  a r tic le  a fte r all see “ A r t ic le s ” , § 10, Note*
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3) A l l  m ay be followed by an  appositive clause which is usually 
in troduced  by the conjunction tha t or asyndetically.
e .g . M eeting George was the f irs t piece of pure chance th a t affected 

a l l  (th a t) I did later.
She listened to  a ll (that) he said w ith a quiet sm ile on her lips.

N otice the  following id iom atic  uses of all:

e.g . H e is a l l  in. (= H e  is com pletely exhausted.)
I t  was a l l  my fault, (^ e n tire ly )
The m oney is a ll gone. (=com plete ly)
He was a ll  covered w ith  m ud. (=w holly)
I d id  not understand it a t  a l l .  (= in  the least degree)
A fter a l l ,  people laughed a t Manet, though everyone now knows 

he was a great pain ter. (= w h en  everything has been considered) 
I w arn you, once and for a l l ,  th a t th is foolishness m ust stop. (= fo r 

th e  last and only tim e)

§ 26. The pronoun every is used only as an adjective pronoun. It 
m odifies singular countable nouns when there are more than  two objects 
of the  sam e description.

e.g . A fter the  gale every flower in  the garden was broken.
Every head turned to  look a t  them as they progressed slowly up 

th e  aisle.
He knew  by heart every w ord in her letter.
Every m orning the landlady greeted him w ith the sam e question, 

“ H ad a good sleep, d ea r?”
Every tim e I ring you up, I find you engaged.
H e had  every reason to  believe th a t he was right.

N otice the idiom atic uses of every in the following sentences:

e.g. Every other house in the s tree t was damaged in an air-raid . (= every  
second, fourth, six th , e tc . house; about half the houses)

H e comes here every three days. (= every  third day)
They had a rest every few miles. (= T hey  had a rest every tim e 

they  had walked a few m iles.)

E very  is a synonym of a ll  when the latter is used attribu tively . 
The use of every is, however, m ore restricted than th a t of a ll  because 
it canno t be used w ith uncountable nouns.

W ith  countable nouns, th e ir use appears to be parallel.

e.g. The explosion broke a ll  the windows in the street.
The explosion broke every window in the street.

Y et, in  addition  to the fact th a t every precedes singular nouns and 
a ll  is associated w ith plural nouns, there is a difference in meaning. 
The d istinc tion  between a ll  and every is that in a sentence like A l l  the 
boys were present we consider the  boys in a mass; in the sentence 
Every boy was present we are th ink ing  of the m any ind iv idual boys
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th a t  make up the mass. Nevertheless it  is m ore usual to use every 
instead of a ll  where possible.

§ 27. There are the following c o m p o u n d  p r o n o u n s  form­
ed w ith every: everyone—everybody—everything.

All of them are used as noun pronouns and tak e  a singular verb. 
Everyone and everybody can be used only of persons.
e.g . Everyone’s got a righ t to their own opinion.

She took the in itia tiv e  and herself spoke to  everyone she knew. 
“Everybody’s afraid, aren’t they?” he said  looking a t the people 

around.

Both everyone and everybody can have the form of the genitive case, 
e.g. H e’s sure of everyone’s consent.

The difference in m eaning between everyone and everybody is the same 
as between someone and somebody (see § 22 above). T hat is why only 
everyone can be followed by an  of-phrase.

e.g. He is at once physician, surgeon and healer of the serious illnesses 
which threaten  everyone of us in England  today.

N o t e .  T he com pounds w ith  -one a re  d is tin c t fro m  su c h  g ro u p s as every one, 
any one and  some one w here  one is n u m erica l and  i t  re fe rs  b ack  to  a c o u n ta b le  noun  
th a t  occurs in  th e  sen ten ce  o r th e  c o n te x t. T hese  g ro u p s  a re  o ften  follow ed by  of- 
phrases.

e .g . I have  th ree  sis te rs . E very  one o f them  is b e a u tifu l.
T h e  book opened to  th em  new w orlds, and  ev ery  one o f th em  w as g lo rious.
B u t he  knew th a t  i t  w ould  no t ta k e  m uch for ev ery  one o f them  to  s ta r t  ta lk in g  

freely.
G ive  m e one of those  b o oks—any one w ill do.

Everything  can be used only of things and also takes a singular verb 
but it  cannot have the genitive case form.

e.g. No wonder everything goes wrong in th is house.
I ’ll tell you everything ton ight.
One can’t have everything.

§ 28. The pronoun each is used as a noun pronoun and as an  adjective 
pronoun. In the former case it is singular in m eaning and takes a sin ­
gular verb (a). In the la tte r  case it  is associated w ith  a singular count­
able noun and can be used when there are a t least tw o objects of the sam e 
description (b).

e.g. a) I told them w hat each was to  do in case of an  emergency.
To each his own.
“T oasts,” cried George, in  furious cheerfulness, and a t the end 

of each threw his glass in to  the fireplace, 
b) For years I thought I remembered each d e ta il of th a t day.

I have met him  each tim e he has come to  London.
We examined each specimen m inutely .
He gave each boy a present.
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Each as an ad jective pronoun is a synonym of every but there is 
some difference in  m eaning between them .

Every  tends to  gather the separate item s into a whole; each focuses 
a tten tion  on them  indiv idually  and so tends to disperse the un ity , it 
takes the m em bers of a definite group one by one, w ithout adding them 
up. In  other words, every refers to  a num ber of individuals or things, 
considered as a group; each refers to  a num ber of individuals or things, 
considered separate ly .
e.g. Every orange in the  crate was wrapped in tissue paper. H e care­

fully  unw rapped each orange before putting  it on the scales.

As a re su lt of its  specific meaning, each m ay be followed by an of- 
phrase, which is not possible in the case of every.
e.g. Each of the  men signed his name as he came in.

I ’ll send each of you some seeds in the autum n.
Each of the  ten  houses in the row had a garden.

§ 29. The pronoun other can be used as an adjective pronoun and 
as a noun pronoun.

As an ad jective pronoun, it  is invariable. When it is preceded by 
the indefin ite a r tic le  (an), they are w ritten  as one word another.

The other-\-a s ingular noun means the second o f the two.
e.g. The insurance offices were on the other side of the street.

He pulled  on the other glove and said th a t, though it  was late, 
he w ould run  along to his office.

I spent ha lf m y tim e teaching law and the other h a lf in London 
as a consu ltan t to  a big firm.

Another-}-a singular noun means an additional one, a  different one.
e.g. Young M artin  had been sent on another errand to the grocer.

R ichard stayed  for another moment, shifting from one foot to  the 
other.

We w ent in to  another room.
I m ust find  m yself another job.

The o ther+ a  p lural noun means the rest, the remaining.
e.g. My m other said: “ I don’t w ant my boy to suffer in any way at the 

side of the  o ther boys in the form .”
W hen I re tu rned  home I found m y wife talking to our neighbour. 

The o th er guests had gone.

Other+  a p lu ra l noun means additional, different, remaining.
e.g. I have no o th er friends but you.

“We can do as well as o ther people, ” m y aunt said.
He said th a t  he would ring Charles up as soon as he got home.

Then he ta lked  of other things all the way.
Some children  like m ilk chocolate, o ther children prefer p lain  choco­

late.
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As a noun pronoun, other has the p lu ra l form others and the  g en itiv e  
case form other's (others’) .

Other used as a noun pronoun has the  sam e meanings as w hen  it 
is used as an adjective pronoun (see above).
e.g. Simon set one foot slightly in fron t of the other, ready to  f ig h t.

It was only another of her m any disappointm ents.
If th a t cigar is too strong, try  another.
That m ay be your opinion, b u t the  o thers th ink  differently . I have 

talked to  them .
All superiors were im portant to  Mr Vesey, though some w ere m ore 

im portan t than  others.
One of his daughters is m arried to  a m an who lives by h is  pen. 

The o th e r’s husband is a doctor.

Notice the idiom atic uses of other in  the following sentences:
e.g. I don’t w ant him to be other than  he is. (= 1  don’t w ant h im  to 

be different.)
She could invent no way of squeezing another nine guineas o u t of 

her budget. (= n in e  guineas more)
Another fifty  yards farther on you can see M arcello’s boat. ( = f i f ty  

yards more)
“ I saw your wife the other d a y ,” I said . ( = a  few days ago)
And somehow or other he had acquired a wide acquain tance w ith  

the less known parts of the c ity . ( = i n  some way th a t cannot be ac­
counted for)

Some idiot or other has been throw ing stones at the dog.

§ 30. The pronoun either and i ts  negative counterpart neither  
are used as noun pronouns and as ad jective pronouns.

When used as nouns, they take a s ingu lar verb.
Either usually means one or the other o f two.

e.g. E ither of these machines is su itab le  for the work you w an t done.
“Which of the two rooms would you like, sir?” “Oh, either. I don ’t 

ca re .”
The news did not shock either of them .
My wife and I watched him  m ake th e  parcel but he took no no tice  

of either of us.
Have you seen either of your paren ts today?
There is a tra in  at 11.30 and one a t  12.05. E ither tra in  w ill get 

you to Oxford in time for the m eeting.

In the above meaning either is m ostly  used as a noun p ronoun, 
though occasionally it  occurs in the function  of an a ttrib u te  (see th e  las t 
example above).

Either m ay also mean each o f two. In  th is m eaning it  is used as an 
adjective pronoun and mostly found in  lite ra ry  English.
e.g. He came down the road w ith a g irl on e ither arm.

There was a lamp at either end of th e  stree t.
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The houses on e ith e r side were tall and big.
Neither means not the one nor the other.

e .g . T hat evening my m other spoke w ith such quiet anger that Aunt 
M illy was in tim id a ted . After that neither of them  was ever w illing 
to  take up the  sub ject.

The first tim e we m et after the ball, neither of us said a word that 
was not triv ia l.

My friend and I cam e to  the end of our last w alk. “We shall meet 
aga in ,” she said , “ if  n o t next year, then some other tim e .” Nei­
ther of us believed it .

You can keep your astonishm ent and your m ortification for your­
self. I feel neither.

I have travelled by bo th  trains and neither tra in  had a restaurant 
car.

Neither brother has been abroad.

§ 31. The pronoun both is used as a noun pronoun and as an adjective 
pronoun- It is plural in  m eaning and applied only  to  two persons or 
th ings.
e .g . Two men were in ju red  in  the accident. Both are now recovering 

in hospital.
I ordered only one of th e  two books, but now I th ink  I ’ll take both. 
D irk went up to  her, and  took both her hands.
I made plans for the  fu tu re  th a t ignored both my parents and my 

studies.
I invited one of the  brothers but both of them  came.

Notice the possible p lace of both in the sentence.
e .g . Both (the) men were in terested  in the job.

Both these children are m ine.
These children are bo th  m ine.
Both my children are boys.
Both of them agreed th a t  the m atter had b e tte r be dropped.
They both accepted th e  inv itation .
They have both been inv ited .

§ 32. The pronouns much  and many are used as noun pronouns and 
as adjective pronouns.

M uch  means a large am ount. As a noun pronoun, it  takes a singular 
verb . As an adjective pronoun, it  modifies only uncountable nouns.
e .g . Much of his life was lived inside himself.

“ 1 don’t  suppose you had  much to eat all d a y ,” said my m other. 
You haven’t  m uch tim e  if you want to  catch the train .
I hope you h av en ’t  brought much luggage.

M any  means a large number. As a noun pronoun, it  takes a plural 
verb . As an adjective pronoun, it modifies only countable nouns in the 
p lu ra l.
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e.g. There were lots of people on the  beach. Many of them were ho liday - 
makers.

" I ’m m arking the children’s com positions.” “Have you  m any 
left?”

I haven’t many friends now.
You h av en ’t m ade many m istakes th is  time.

There is a strong tendency in present-day English to  use m uch  and 
many, particu larly  when they function as adjective pronouns, o n ly  in 
interrogative and negative sentences and  in  object clauses in troduced  
by i f  or whether.

e.g. I had not very much advice to  g ive h im .
I did no t m eet many English people who could speak foreign  lan ­

guages.
Did you have much rain on your holidays?
Do you know many people in  London?
I doubt w hether there’ll be m uch tim e for seeing the s ig h ts . The 

tra in  leaves a t six o’clock.
I wonder if m any people w ill come to  the party .

Thus He has much time, although apparen tly  correct g ram m atica lly , 
is never seen or heard in present-day English. A lot of, lots o f, p len ty  
of, a great deal of, a large number of, a  good many, a great m a n y  and 
the like replace much and many in affirm ative sentences.
e.g. There is a lo t of work to do.

I know plen ty  of boys in other schools had achieved th e  sam e re­
su lts as I had.

She knows lots of girls who go out dancing every S aturday.
He has done a great deal of research on the subject.
A large num ber of people were gathered  a t the cafe.
My m other’s family had been d ifferent in a good m any w ay s from 

my fa th e r’s.
A great m any mistakes have been m ade by nearly everybody.

Much and many  can be used in affirm ative  sentences in the  follow ing 
cases:

a) when they are used as or m odify the subject of the sen tence,
e.g. Much depends on what answer he w ill give.

Much of w hat he says is true.
Many th in k  th a t the situation w ill im prove.
Much tim e would be saved if you planned your work p ro p e rly . 
Many people like to spend their spare tim e working in th e ir  g ar­

dens.

b) when much and many are m odified by adverbs of degree, e.g . 
so, too, as and how,
e.g. No, I w on’t  do it. I t ’s too much trouble.

There are too many mistakes in  your exercises.
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You can have as m uch fru it as you want.

c) when much is used alone as a noun pronoun in the  function of an 
ob ject,
e .g . M y m other m eant m uch to me.

I would give much to  know  w hat he is th inking  now.
N o t e .  O ccasionally  w e f in d  such  synonym ous ex p ressions of much and  many 

a s  a  world of, heaps of, oceans o f  a n d  th e  like. T hey are  used  in  co llo q u ial E nglish  
fo r  em p h asis .

e .g .  I h av e  heaps of new s. W h en  c a n  w e talk?

M uch  and many change for degrees of com parison. They are more 
a n d  m ost.

e .g . He made more progress th an  I had expected.
I found more letters ly ing  on his table th a t m orning.
He knew more about m e th an  I thought.
Most work was done in  m y father’s office.
Most people hold the  sam e opinion as you do.
The most I can do for you is to give you a le tte r of recommendation. 
Most of his money cam e from selling his landscapes.
Most of the delegates voted against the proposal.
Most of his relatives lived in the country.

§ 33. The pronouns l i t t le  and few are used as noun pronouns and 
as adjective pronouns.

L it t le  means a sm all am ount. As a noun pronoun, it  takes a singular 
v e rb . As an adjective pronoun, it  is used w ith uncountable nouns.
e .g . L ittle  was known of h is life when he was alive.

My story was a record of hard  work and l i t t le  adventure.

Few  means a sm all num ber. As a noun pronoun, it  takes a plural 
v e rb . As an adjective pronoun, it is used w ith countable nouns in the 
p lu ra l.
e .g . Y et few have been found to  deny the m an ’s greatness.

Very few decisions were ever taken in th a t departm ent.

Both little  and few  have a negative im plication—they mean not 
enough .
e .g . The shipwrecked sailors had no food and l i t t le  w ater.

Few people would agree w ith  you.

A  litt le  and a few, w hich are to  be treated as set phrases, have a 
p o sitiv e  meaning. They m ean some though not much (m any).
e .g . He earns a l i t t le  m oney and can live quite com fortably on it.

I suggested th a t he should  get a few grapes and some bread. 
C om pare:
e .g . I know li tt le  about pa in ting . (= a lm ost nothing)

I know a little  abou t pa in ting . (=som ething)
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There is li tt le  change in his appearance. (= a lm o s t no change) 
There is a li tt le  change in his appearance. (= so m e  change)
Few birds can be seen in th a t place. (= a lm o s t none)
A few birds can be seen in  th a t place. (= so m e  birds)
He has few friends and lives a lonely life. (= a lm o s t none)
He has a few friends who call to see him qu ite  frequently . (= som e 

friends)

RECIPROCAL PR O N O U N S

§ 34. There are two reciprocal pronouns in E nglish: each other and 
one another. They show that som ething is done m u tu a lly . Both pro­
nouns are m ainly used in the function of an object (d irect, indirect or 
prepositional) in the sentence.
e .g . I knew that my two aunts b itte rly  disliked each other.

They had come to  understand one another, P yke and he, w ithout 
anything being said.

But he was a little  puzzled by the behaviour of B lanche and Strick­
land towards one another.

As is seen from the above exam ples, both each other and one another 
can  be used when speaking of two persons. However, when more than 
two persons are meant, only one another is norm ally  used.
e.g . When he entered the cafe he saw the people w ink a t one another. 

Each other and one another can be used in the gen itive  case.
e.g . They had not m et so long th a t they had forgotten  each other’s 

names.
In  their letters they made it a rule to  inquire afte r one an o th er’s 

relatives.

IN T E R R O G A T IV E  PR O N O U N S

§ 35. The interrogative pronouns are: who (w hom ), whose, what, 
which, how much and how many. They are all used in form ing questions.

§ 36. The pronoun who asks about persons. It does not distinguish 
gender or number. It m ay be m asculine or feminine, singular or plural 
in  m eaning. Who is the  nom inative case and it  is m ain ly  used as the 
subject of the sentence.
e.g . Who is coming w ith me?

Who are the people over there?

The objective case of who is whom which is used as an  object in the 
sentence. I t  may be a direct object (a) or a prepositional object (b).
e.g . a) Whom did you see there?

Whom does he suspect?
b) To whom did you give the  message?

Of whom are you thinking?
By whom was it done?
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But whom  is the lite rary  form and is preferred in w riting . In  con­
versation it is replaced by who. Whence>/zo happens to be used as a prepo­
sitiona l object, the  preposition is placed at the end of the sentence.
e.g . Who d id  you see there?

Who does he suspect?
Who did  you give the message to?
Who are you th ink ing  of?
Who was it  done by?

Notice the  id iom atic uses of who in  the following sentences:
e.g. I t  was so dark th a t I cou ldn ’t tell w ho’s who. (= co u ld  not tell 

one person from the other)
Y ou’ll find his nam e in  W ho’s Who. ( = a  reference book on con­

tem porary  outstanding people)

§ 37. The pronoun whose is a possessive interrogative pronoun. 
I t  is used as an  adjective pronoun, mostly in the function of an a t tr i ­
bute, though occasionally it occurs as a predicative too.
e.g. Whose room  is it  going to  be?

Whose is the room going to be?
In whose car do you prefer to  go? (Whose car do you prefer to  go 

in?)

§ 38. The pronoun what m ay be used as a noun pronoun and as an 
adjective pronoun.

When it  serves as a noun, it  asks after things. I t  may be singular 
or p lural in  m eaning. I t  m ay be used as the subject, a predicative or an 
object in  th e  sentence. I t  has no case forms.
e.g . W h a t’s this?

W hat a re  those strange objects in the distance?
W hat is h is telephone num ber?
W hat is your name?
W hat do you mean?
About w ha t are you going to  ask him?
By w h a t do you account for his decision?

I t  should  be noted th a t in  the case of a prepositional object it is 
m ore usual to  place the preposition a t  the end of the sentence in present- 
day English.
e.g . W hat are you going to  ask him  about?

W hat do you account for h is decision by?
W hat are you laughing a t?

Special a tten tio n  should be paid  to  the use of what asking about 
a person’s profession.
e.g. “W hat is the  m an your fa ther is ta lk ing to?” “He is a law yer.”

Com pare i t  w ith  a who-question asking about the iden tity  of a per­
son.
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e.g. “Who is the m an your father is ta lk ing  to ? ” “He is Mr C lapperton , 
our new neighbour.”

What can also be used in asking about actions, 
e.g. “W hat are you doing?” “ I ’m cleaning th e  c a r .”

Notice the id iom atic uses of what in the  following sentences:
e.g. “W hat is he like?” “He is tall, dark and handsom e.” (Как он вы ­

глядит?)
W hat is he like as a p ian ist?” “Oh, he is no t very good.” (Что он 

собой представляет как...)
Ben suddenly looked at his watch. “W hat about your d en tis t? ”  

he asked. (А как же твой врач?)
W hat about a cigarette? (Хочешь сигарету?)
W hat about som ething to  eat? (Может мы поедим чего-нибудь?) 
W hat about his brother? (Что слышно о его брате?)
W hat of it? (Ну и что из этого?)
So what? (Н у и что?)
H e’s a clever fellow, he knows w hat’s w hat, (что хорошо, что пло­

хо; что к чему)

When what is used as an adjective pronoun i t  is also invariable and  
serves as an a ttrib u te  to  nouns denoting both  persons and things.
e.g. W hat languages do you know?

W hat play did you see last?
W hat man would have done more?
W hat feelings do such stories excite?
W hat a rtists are going to be exhibited th is  autum n?

To ask after the k ind  or sort to which a person or thing belongs, sy ­
nonymous set phrases what kind of and what sort o f are used in stead  
of what.
e.g. W hat kind of man is he? (Что он за человек?, Какой он человек?) 

W hat sort of chocolate do you like best? (какой, какого сорта) 
W hat kind of house have they bought? (какой)
W hat sort of proposition do you w ant to  discuss w ith me? (какое 

предложение; что за предложение)

What preceding a noun may also be used a t  th e  head of an exclam a­
tory sentence. (This what is sometimes called  th e  exclam atory w hat.)
e.g. W hat a stupid th ing he has said!

W hat splendid pictures they have in th e ir collection!
W hat m arvellous news he brought!
W hat fun we had yesterdayl

§ 39. The pronoun which serves as a noun pronoun and as an  ad ­
jective pronoun. I t  is used of persons and th in g s and is invariab le  in  
form. I t  can have the function of the  subject, an  object and an a ttr ib u te  
in  the sentence.
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The use of which is m ore restricted th an  th a t of what because which 
is selective—it selects one or more out of a definite number of persons 
o r things.

e .g . Which will you have, tea or coffee?
Which way shall we go?
Which pen does the  cap belong to?
Which au thor are you more interested in?
Which s tuden ts  have answered all the  questions correctly?

As a result of its  selective meaning, which is often followed by an 
of-phrase.

e.g . Which of your friends will you inv ite  to  the party?
Which of them  sa id  that?
Which of h is books are you reading now?

Compare the use of what and which in  the  following sentences:

e.g . W hat TV program s do you usually watch? W hich of them  is your 
favourite one?

W hat exam inations are you going to  take th is term? Which of 
them do you find m ost difficult?
W hat car have you? Which car is yours?

§ 40. The pronouns how much and how m any  are used as noun 
pronouns and as ad jec tive pronouns.

How much asks abou t the amount of som ething and is used of or 
w ith  only uncountable nouns.

e .g . How much d id  you find out?
How much m oney do you need?

How many asks abou t the number of persons and things and is 
used of or w ith on ly  countable nouns.

e.g . “There are several people sitting  a t the fireplace.’* “How many 
can you co u n t?”

How many people took part in  the experim ent?
How many in v ita tio n s  have been sent out?

§ 41. The in te rro g a tiv e  pronouns who, what and which may be made 
em phatic by adding ever. Ever here has a m eaning like on earth, in  the 
xsoorld. Depending on the  situation , questions introduced by the em phatic 
forms in *ever express different emotions, such as surprise, anger, des­
pair, indignation, e tc . The use of the form in  -ever is d istinctly  col­
loquial.

e.g . Whoever (who ever) can be calling a t th is  tim e of the  night? 
Whoever (who ever) heard of such a silly  idea?
W hatever (w hat ever) were you thinking of to  suggest such a plan? 
He gets up a t  five o ’clock every morning. W hat ever for?
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CONJUNCTIVE PR O N O U N S

§ 4 2 . The pronouns who (whom), whose, what, which, how m uch, how 
many  and that serve to  connect subord inate  clauses w ith  th e  p rin c ip a l 
clause. Owing to  their auxiliary function  they are called c o n j u n c ­
t i v e  p r o n o u n s. At the sam e tim e  they all have an independent 
syntactic function in the subordinate clause.
e.g. Do you know who has bought th e  house? (subject)

He always said exactly what he thought. (object)
I ’m surprised to see how much he had done in so short a tim e . (object) 
I walked past a row of houses whose front doors opened o n to  the  

pavem ent, [attribute)
Y ou’ll never guess what present I w ant him to  give me. (a ttr ib u te ) 
I had to  find out what he was. {predicative)

When conjunctive pronouns are used in the  function of a p rep o sitio n ­
al object, the  preposition is generally placed a t the end of th e  clause.

e.g. The man who(m) I spoke to is my neighbour.
You are the  very person th a t I have been looking for.
Who it was done by is for us to  find out.

C onjunctive pronouns may be used to  introduce different k in d s of 
clauses, except adverbial clauses and appositive clauses, w hich a re  in ­
troduced only by conjunctions.
e.g. W hat was done cannot be undone. (subject clause)

The question is which of them  is going to  be appointed presiden t 
of the  firm . (predicative clause)

Life in the  country isn’t w hat it  used to  be, you know. (predica­
tive  clause)

I don’t  know whose handw riting i t  is. (object clause)
I ’ll surprise you by what I ’ll do. (prepositional object clause) 
He is one of the men whom I can tru s t, (attributive clause)

§ 4 3 . It is noteworthy that no t all th e  conjunctive pronouns can  be 
used w ith all the  kinds of clauses m entioned above.

Thus, subject, predicative and object clauses can be in troduced  by 
the  conjunctive pronouns who (w hom ), whose, which and how m uch, how 
many. The use of these conjunctive pronouns does not differ from  th a t  of 
the  corresponding interrogative pronouns (see §§36-40 above). That 
is no longer a conjunctive pronoun when it introduces one o f these 
clauses, but a mere conjunction because it  has no syn tactic  fu n c tio n  in 
the subordinate clause.
e.g. That he is going to  resign is no secret.

My guess is th a t he is in love.
I know th a t he is no fool.

§ 4 4 . A ttrib u tiv e  clauses can be introduced by who (w hom ), whose, 
which and that. The conjunctive pronouns in this case alw ays refer to 
some noun (or noun equivalent) in the  principal clause. T hat is why
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th e y  are also called r e l a t i v e  p r o n o u n s .  The noun they refer 
to  is called their a n t e c e d e n t .

The re la tive pronoun who (whom) is used only of persons.
e .g . They were worried abou t th e ir nephews who were tak ing  part in 

th e  war.
H e interviewed several men and engaged one who had been dis­

charged from the  arm y.
H e was a man who m eant what he said.
I wish I knew th e  m an who owns th a t farm.
The hostess continued th e  introduction, “Here is Mr Swift, a tu to r, 

and my nephew M aurice, whom he’s tu to r in g .”
Meg loved her li tt le  b ro th er to  whom she had been a second mother.

The relative pronoun whose m ay be used of both persons and things.

e .g . W e went one day to  th e  picture-dealer in whose shop my brother 
thought he could buy a picture or two.

W hen it came to  lite ra tu re , young Maurice was th e  one whose read­
ing in any way com pared w ith Swift’s.

There are newspapers in Great B ritain whose pages are largely 
filled w ith news of sport and w ith stories of film -stars, or ac­
counts of crim e and of low-court trials.

The relative pronoun which is used of things.
e .g . She sat down behind th e  tea  tray  which the servant had just brought 

in.
As I walked up the  endless stairs of the house in which Strickland 

lived, I confess I was a little  excited.
She obtained some opinions which later I realized were entirely 

sensible.
She had never owned a dress which her girl friends would consider 

expensive.
N o t e .  W hen  th e  a n te c e d e n t is a collective noun , th e  re la tiv e  who is used 

w h e n  th e  in d iv id u a ls  fo rm in g  th e  g ro u p  are m ean t, and  th e  re la tiv e  which is used 
w h e n  th e  g roup  as such is m e a n t.

e .g .  H e  w a n ted  to  in te rv iew  so m eo n e  from th e  team  who w ere  now  resting .
H e  w an ted  to  in te rv iew  so m eo n e  from th e  team  w hich  w as w inn ing .

Which is also used if th e  antecedent of the a ttr ib u tiv e  clause is the 
w hole of the  principal clause.
e .g . T hat day she took her share of the m eal, which nowadays she 

rarely  did.
H e invited us to  d inner, which was very kind of him.
The decision was postponed, which was exactly  what he wanted.

I t  is noteworthy th a t a ttr ib u tiv e  clauses of the  above type are a l­
w ay s separated from th e ir  p rincipa l clause by a com m a (see the  exam ­
p les above). The re la tiv e  pronoun which in th is  ty p e  of a ttrib u tiv e  
clauses is rendered in R ussian  as что.
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Which preceded by the  preposition of is parallel in  m eaning to  whose 
when the  la tte r is used of things.
Cf. W e crossed the river the current of which was very  rapid.

W e crossed the river whose current was very rap id .

That is used of both persons and things, s ingu lar and plural.
e.g . You are the very people th a t  I ’ve been m eaning to  speak to .

He is not a man th a t can understand such th ings.
That was all the education th a t she had had du rin g  her girlhood. 
She had a w it th a t was irresistible.
The actress told him of th e  plays th a t she had been in and what 

parts she had had.
That (not who or which or what) is used:
a) after most indefinite pronouns,

e.g. H ave you got a l l  th a t you need?
Sylvia had always had everything th a t she w anted.
There is not much th a t can be done.
Fred looked about the  room, try ing  to  discover som ething th a t 

m ight remind him  of Sally .
He never says anything th a t is worth listening to .

b) after nouns modified by an adjective in th e  superla tive  degree 
as well as by first or last,
e.g. Yesterday was one of the coldest days th a t I ’ve ever known.

He has w ritten the  best book th a t I ’ve ever read on th e  subject. 
I t  was the  first tim e th a t he heard of the  episode.

c) after a noun modified by same,
e.g. She wore the same dress th a t I had seen her in  a t  her s is te r’s wed­

ding.

d) when the  antecedent is both  a person and a th ing ,
e.g. H e talked of the people and the places th a t he had visited . 

U nlike who and which, that cannot be preceded by a preposition.
Cf. This is the letter about which I told you.

This is the letter th a t I to ld  you about.

N o t e .  W hen a re la tiv e  p ronoun  serves as a p rep o sitio n a l o b je c t,  th e  fo llow ing  
sen tence  p a tte rn s  a re  possible:

e .g . T h is is th e  sto ry  of w hich 1 spoke.
T h is  is  th e  sto ry  w hich I spoke  o f.
T h is  is th e  sto ry  th a t  I spoke  of.
T h is  is th e  sto ry  I spoke of.

A ttribu tive  clauses fall into two groups—n o n - d e f i n i n  g and 
d e f i n i n g  c l a u s e s  (see “A rtic les”, § 15). T h a t  as a relative 
pronoun is possible only w ith the  second kind of clauses—defining 
clauses, i.e. a ttribu tive  clauses th a t  cannot be removed from  the  sentence

301



w ithout destroy ing  its  m eaning. Notice, however, th a t who and which 
can be used w ith  both  kinds of a ttrib u tiv e  clauses—defining and non­
defining.
e.g. At th e  tim e  I was reading a book th a t (which) I had heard so much 

about.
A t th e  tim e  I was reading an interesting book which la ter on I 

gave as a present to  my niece.
I ’d like you to  meet the  girl that (whom) I ’m going to  m arry. 
She is b o th  charm ing and clever. I ’d like you to meet the  girl, 

who(m) you are sure to  fall for.

R ela tive  pronouns are often dropped in spoken English unless they 
perform th e  function of the  subject of the sentence or introduce non- 
defining a ttr ib u tiv e  clauses.
e.g. A t th e  p a rty  I saw some p e o p le ____I knew personally.

The m an____ I gave up my seat to  was very grateful.
Is it  th e  paper____ you w anted to  see?
He w ent back the  way____he had come.



NUMERALS

§ 1. Numerals include two classes of w ords—c a r d i ñ a l  n u ­
merals and o r d i n a l  numerals.

Cardinal num erals indicate num ber: one, two, three, four, ten, tw elve, 
eighteen, twenty, thirty-three, seventy-five, ninety-one, a hundred , 
one hundred and forty-six, two hundred and twenty-eight, a thousand> 
three thousand arid fifty-tw o , seven thousand three hundred and seven - 
teen, etc.

N o t e  1. T h e  n u m era ls  hundred, thousand  a n d  m illion  are a lw ays p re ce d ed  
by  th e  in d efin ite  a r tic le  a  o r th e  num eral one. T h e  la t t e r  is gen era lly  used w h e n  th e s e  
n u m era ls a re  follow ed b y  som e o ther n u m era ls , e .g . a hundred b u t one hundred and  
twenty-three; a thousand  b u t  one thousand seven hundred and thirty.

No t  e 2 . C are  sh o u ld  be  taken to  re m e m b e r th e  fo llow ing  p a tte rn s :
a) five h u n d red  books (= 5 0 0  books),
b) h u n d red s o f books,
a) th ree  th o u sa n d  cars  (= 3 0 0 0  cars),
b) th o u san d s of cars,

a) tw o m illio n  w o rk ers  ( = 2  000 000 w orkers),
b) m illio n s  of w orkers.;

In  th e  ex am p les u n d e r (a) the e x ac t n u m b er of p e rso n s  o r  th in g s  is g iv en ; in  th e  
exam ples u nder (b) hundred, thousand and  m illion  do  n o t in d ic a te  any  e x a c t n u m b e r  
b u t on ly  a g rea t m u lt i tu d e  of persons o r th in g s .

Ordinal num erals indicate order: f ir s t , second, third, fourth , te n th , 
tw elfth , eighteenth, twentieth, tw en ty-fifth , forty-seventh, a hundredth, 
two hundred and thirty-ninth, etc.

(For the  use of articles w ith ordinal num erals see “A rticles” , § 11.)

N o t e  1. D a tes a re  read  in th e  fo llow ing  w ay:

1st S ep tem ber, 1944— th e  first of S ep tem b er (S ep tem b er th e  f irs t) ,  n in e te e n  
(hu n d red  and) fo rty -fou r;

5 th  J a n u a ry ,  1807— th e  fifth  of Ja n u a ry  ( J a n u a ry  th e  f if th ) , e ig h teen  h u n d re d  
an d  seven.

N o t e  2 . C om m on fractions a re  read  in  th e  fo llo w in g  way:

2 3 5
-£• =  tw o th ird s ;  g- =  th ree  eights; “ five  tw e lf th s .

D ecim al frac tio n s  a re  read  as:
3 ,5 = th r e e  p o in t fiv e ; 4 ,7 6 = fo u r  p o in t s e v e n ty -s ix ; 8 ,0 3 = e ig h t  p o in t  n a u g h t  

th ree .
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§ 2. Both card inal and ordinal numerals can have certain  functions 
o f nouns (a) and of ad jectives (b) in the sentence.
e .g . a) Three of th e  schoolboys fell ill w ith  scarlet fever.

There were four of us there.
“Will you have ano ther cup of tea?” “No, thank you. I ’ve had 

two. ”
There were th ree  questions in the  test. The second was p artic ­

ularly  d ifficu lt.
Jane was the f irs t  to  wake up.
“W hich exercise would you like to do firs t?” “ I th ink I ’d begin 

w ith the th i rd .” 
b) We had three v isito rs th a t day. The first v isito r to  arrive was 

my aun t M illy .



A D V E R B S

§ 1. Adverbs are a miscellaneous class of words which have diverse 
lexical meanings and, besides, d iffer from each other in th e ir structu re . 
Some of them are single words (e.g. fa s t , w ell, slowly, somehow, nowhere, 
sideways, southward(s), etc.), others are phrases (e.g. at la s t, a l l  along, 
at first, in fron t, the day after tomorrow, a ll  of a sudden, e tc .).

But all adverbs are characterized by one common featu re—they 
serve to  modify verbs, adjectives and other adverbs.
e.g. He spoke resolutely.

They are coming here tomorrow.
She has known it a ll along.
\ was cruelly  punished for it.
My father looked somewhat pale.
She knew  him very well.

§ 2. According to their m eaning adverbs fall in to  the  following 
groups:

1) a d v e r b s  o f  t i m e :  now, then, yesterday, la te ly , soon, 
afterwards, presently, immediately, even tu a lly , when, etc.

2) a d v e r b s  o f  f r e q u e n c y :  often , seldom , sometim es, a l­
ways, hardly ever, never, constantly , occasionally, etc.

3) a d v e r b s  o f  p l a c e  o r  d i r e c t i o n :  here, there, eve­
rywhere, downstairs, &e/oay, ashore, abroad, inside, ou/side, nor//ioyard(s), 
to ami /ro, backwards, where, etc.

The use of somewhere, anywhere and nowhere in different k inds of 
sentences is sim ilar to  the use of th e  corresponding indefin ite pronouns 
some, any and no (see “Pronouns” , §§ 19-22.)

4) a d v e r b s  o f  m a n n e r :  w ell, badly, fa st, q u ick ly , clear­
ly , suddenly, deeply, sincerely, w illin g ly , sideways, somehow, howt etc.

A considerable number of adverbs of manner are formed from  ad­
jectives by adding -ly, e.g. ca lm — calm lys slowA  '  * 
w illin g ly , happy— happily (notice the  change of the 
carefully  (notice that the final I is doubled).

B ut we cannot form adverbs from adjectives e 
as m anly, friendly, s illy , fatherly , live ly , etc. An 
used in th is case instead of an adverb , e.g. in a s i l i  
manner, etc.
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Some adverbs, however, have the same form as the  corresponding 
ad jective.
e.g . H e walked very fast.

The road runs s tra ig h t for miles.
H e got up very early  th a t  day.
H e d id n ’t try  hard enough.

Some other adverbs have tw o forms—the adjective form and the 
form  in -ly . In most cases th e  tw o forms differ in m eaning.
Cf. He came late.

I h av en ’t seen him  lately .
The tim e is drawing near for our departure.
I nearly  missed my tra in .
H e works hard.
He hard ly  ever works properly .

B ut in  a few cases both form s can be used w ithout any difference in 
m eaning.
e.g . I bought it cheap (cheaply).

He talked loud (loudly).
N o t e  1. Care shou ld  b e  ta k e n  to  rem em ber th a t  a fte r  th e  lin k -v erb s to feel, 

to sm ell, to taste, e tc . w e use  an  a d je c t iv e  as p red icative .

e .g . She is  feeling  bad.
H e fe lt happy.
T he fu r fe lt soft.
The flow ers sm elled sw eet.
T h is  m ed ic in e  tas tes  b itte r .

N o t e  2. T here a re  a few a d v e rb s  and ad jectives in  E n g lish  w hich have th e  
sa m e  form  in  -fy . They h ave  been  d e riv e d  from nouns, e .g . daily, weekly, m onthly , 
hourly , e tc .

e .g . I t  w as h is  d a ily  d u ty  to  w a te r  th e  flowers in th e  garden .
M ost new spapers ap p ea r d a ily .,

5) a d v e r b s  o f  d e g r e e :  very, aw fu lly , terribly, highly, 
perfectly , completely, u tte r ly , fu l ly ,  much, a great deal, too, so, little , 
a l i tt le ,  enough, su ffic ien tly , quite, nearly, etc.

N o t e  1. W hen much is u sed  to  m odify nouns i t  is an  in d e fin ite  pronoun, 

e .g . W e h a v e n ’t  m uch tim e le ft.

N o t e  2 . W hen enough is u sed  to  m odify nouns i t  is an  ad jec tiv e , 

e .g . I ’m  a fra id  I h a v en ’t go t e n o u g h  m oney.

The use of the adverb much has the same peculiarities as the indefi- 
i te  pronoun much— it is m ain ly  found in interrogative and negative 
»ntences (see also “P ronouns” , § 32).

*e much w hat happens to him. 
much?

\  o th e r a d v e rb s , e.g . far, far off ,  far away, far back and  long 
te rro g a tiv e  a n d  n eg ative  sentences. T h eir c o u n te rp a r ts  for af-



f irm a tiv e  sen tences are  a long way, a long way off ,  a long way away, a long way back 
and a long time respec tive ly .

e.g . D id  you have to  w a lk  lar?
Y o u ’ve got a long way to  go.
I c o u ld n ’t  s ta y  th e re  long.
H e stay ed  w ith  us for a long tim e .

6) a d v e r b s  o f  c o n s e q u e n c e  a n d  c a u s e :  therefore, 
hence, consequently, accordingly, as a result, for th is reason, for one thing, 
why, etc.

§ 3 .  The adverbs when, where, how and why belonging to  the dif­
ferent groups mentioned above have one feature in com m on—they serve 
to form questions and to introduce some kinds of subord inate  clauses. 
In the former case, owing to th e ir  auxiliary function, they are called 
i n t e r r o g a t i v e  a d v e r b s  (a). In the  la tte r case, also owing 
to their auxiliary  function, they  are called c o n j u n c t i v e  a d ­
v e r b s  (b). In both cases they  perform different adverbial functions 
in the sentence.
e.g. a) When did you see him last? (adverbial modifier o f time)

Where are you going? (adverbial modifier o f place)
How did you manage to  do it? (adverbial modifier of manner) 
Why d idn’t  you tell me about it? (adverbial m odifier o f cause) 

b) Sunday was the  day when he was least busy. (adverbial modifier 
of time)

The thing to find out is where he is now. (adverbial modifier 
of place)

How it was done remains a mystery to  me. (adverbial modifier 
of manner)

I wanted to know why he had left us so ab ru p tly , (adverbial 
modifier of cause)

As is seen from the above examples, the  conjunctive adverbs can 
introduce object, predicative, subject and a ttrib u tiv e  clauses.

The adverb how, in addition to  the above functions, m ay also be 
placed at the head of an exclam atory sentence. In th is  case it is often 
followed by an adjective or an  adverb but it  may also be used alone. 
(This how is sometimes called t h e  e x c l a m a t o r y  how.)
e.g. How unfair grown-ups are!

Look how well I ’m looked after!
Oh, how the baby cries!

§ 4. Most adverbs are invariable. But certain  adverbs of manner 
can change for degrees of comparison.

The degrees of comparison of adverbs are formed in th e  sam e way 
as those of adjectives.

Monosyllabic adverbs and th e  adverb early form th e  com parative 
and the  superlative degrees by adding the suffixes -er and -est.
e.g. hard—harder—hardest 

near—nearer— nearest
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soon—sooner—soonest 
early—earlier—earliest

The degrees of comparison of all other adverbs are formed by 
ing more and most before them .
e.g. b eau tifu lly —more beautifu lly—most beautifully 

quick ly—more quickly—most quickly 
cau tiously—more cautiously—most cautiously 
cleverly— more cleverly—most cleverly

A few adverbs have irregular degrees of comparison.
e.g. well—b e tte r—best 

bad ly—worse—worst 
m uch— m ore—most 
l i t t le — less—least

N otice th a t  it is only the com parative degree of adverbs th a t is ac­
tua lly  found in English.

e.g. H e ran  faster than the  wind.
L ittle  M artha danced even m ore beautifu lly  than her sister.

In the  com binations most b ea u tifu lly , most w isely , etc. most is an 
adverb of degree denoting very. I t  is only the superlatives best, most 
and worst th a t  are actually  found in English.

e.g. J o h n ’s s is te r M arian was very nice to  me, and I liked her best of 
them  all.

None of us played well, but Jack played worst th a t day.

§ 5. Adverbs have the function of an adverbial modifier in the sen­
tence.

W hen they  modify verbs, they can serve as adverbial modifiers of 
tim e, frequency, place, manner, degree and cause.

e.g. H e was then only fifteen years old. (time)
D uring  my walks I occasionally met people I knew. (frequency) 
I w ent back inside, (place)
I loved her passionately, (degree)
The fa th er held the boy tigh tly  in his arms. (manner)
I expected him  to  arrive any tim e. For th a t reason I stayed in all 

day long, (cause)
He was ill and so he had to  stay  in bed. (consequence)

When adverbs modify adjectives or other adverbs, they serve as 
adverbial m odifiers of degree.

e.g . I to ld  him  th a t  my head felt a  little  heavy.
My E nglish  was too poor to  allow me to  make speeches.
I led a very pleasant life there.
She left the  room so quickly th a t I had no tim e to  say a word 
I valued her love too highly to  run the risk of losing it.
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Adverbs of degree can also modify certa in  kinds of prepositional 
phrases.
e.g. They lived nearly  on top of the hill.

I am alm ost through w ith my work.
His remarks were not quite to the point.

There are a few adverbs in English w hich can have the function of 
an attribu te . They modify nouns.
e.g. He was fu lly  m aster of the situation.

She was quite a child .
Do you see the  m an over there?

N o t e .  In som e co m b in a tio n s th e  adverbs m o d ify in g  a noun  becom e a d je c t i ­
v ized , e .g . the th en  Prime Minister, in the a b o v e  examples, in a f t e r  years a n d  
som e o thers.

§ 6. Notice the  peculiarities in the use of th e  adverb so.
The adverb so, which is generally used as an adverb of degree or 

consequence, may also be used to  stand for a previous statem ent. This 
is found in the following cases:

1) So is used to  express agreement w ith  a preceding statem ent, es­
pecially after the verbs to say, to think, to believe, to suppose, to expect, 
to hear, to tell, to imagine, to be afraid. (Compare it  w ith the pronoun 
it  when it is used instead of a previous sentence or clause or phrase— 
for this see “P ronouns” , § 5.)

e.g. “Will he do i t ? ” “ I think so. (I expect so. I believe so .)”
“ Is he very i l l? ” “ I ’m afraid so .”
“Are we on the right road?” “ I hope s o .”
“Mrs Kelly is learning to d rive .” “ So her husband told m e.” 
Why do you say so?

Disagreement w ith  a previous statem ent m ay be expressed in two 
ways: by using not after an affirm ative verb o r by using so after a neg­
ative verb.

The first way is the  only way possible w ith  the  verbs to hope and 
to be afraid.

e.g. “Can you come and see us tomorrow?” “ I ’m afraid n o t.”
“W ill you have to  do it yourself?” “ I hope n o t .”

As to  the other verbs, both ways are possible w ith  them , the second 
being more common, however.
e.g. “W ill they ask you to  do i t? ” “ I don’t  th in k  s o .”

“Are your parents going to  stay w ith  you when they come?” “ I 
don’t suppose so. ”

2) So expressing agreement and referring to  a previous statem ent 
is also found in the two following patterns:
e.g. a) “ It was hot yesterday .” “ So it w a s.”

“W e’ve all worked w ell.” “So we h a v e .”
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b) “ I t ’s going to  rain  soon.” “If so, what are we going to  do?” 
“ I ’m afra id  I ’ve lost my purse .” “ If so, how are you going 

to get hom e?”

3) So is used w ith  to do to refer to a preceding verb.
e.g. I told him to  come and see me the next day, and he did so.

If they w ant me to  help you, I will do so.

4) So  meaning also  is used in the following sentence patterns:
e.g. My wife likes having visitors and so do I.

My brother is fond of pop-music and so is his wife.

The negative coun terpart of this so is neither. 
e.g. I haven’t seen him  for a long time and neither have they.



PREPOSITIONS

§ 1. Prepositions are structural words w hich are used w ith a noun 
(or a noun-equivalent—a pronoun or an  mg-form) to  show its re la tio n  
to  some other word in the  sentence—a verb , another noun, an ad jec tiv e  
and occasionally an adverb.
e.g. The face of his v isito r was so d istastefu l to  him  that he could scarce­

ly bear to  look a t  it.
He smiled a t  her, but her lips were m oulded in gravity  though  

there was com plete understanding between them.
The stream  was very shallow because of the drought but s t i l l  it 

was active, hurrying over the pebbles.
The question, thrown a t  her so vehem ently, took from her the  pow er 

of thought for a  moment.
They agreed to  his proposal independently of each other.

Prepositions m ay be single words, e.g . in , on, for, below, behind, 
across, inside, w ithin , etc., and also phrases consisting of more th an  one 
word, e.g. because of, thanks to, due to, in  fron t of, owing to, bu t for, 
etc. Besides, there are a large number of com binations in English based 
on the pattern  preposition -f  noun preposition (e.g. in  a d ­
dition to, on top of, on account of, in view of, in accordance w ith , in  con­
trast w ith, with, respect to, etc.). They are on the  way of becoming p rep o ­
sitions.

N o t e .  Som e m g-form s are  also used as p re p o s itio n s , e.g . concerning, in c lu d ­
ing, etc.

§ 2. Prepositions may have a lexical m eaning of their own.
e.g. Her sister appeared, carrying a w ine-glass in which there  w as a 

raw egg, w ith  a little  sherry on it .
The path  felt springy beneath his feet.
He dropped in to  a chair beside his m onter.
She arrived before lunch.

Prepositions may indicate position in space or direction (e.g. on , 
in, under, over, a t, near, to, into, out of, from , towards, etc.), tim e  (e .g . 
after, before, during, for, in, on, a t, e tc .), various abstract re la tio n s  
(e g. by, w ith, a t, on, for, against, because o f, instead of, owing to, ac­
cording to, etc.).

311



Most prepositions are polysemantic, 
e.g . I ’ve been here for tw o weeks.

H e’s brought a le tte r  for you.
Did you pay him  for his work?
I was punished for my little  joke.
They went out for a w alk.
They sent for a doctor.
The letters MP s tan d  for “Member of P a rliam en t.”

But the m eaning of prepositions is often weakened and sometimes 
becomes even difficult to  trace, 
e .g . There is a m an w a itin g  for you in your office.

The success of th e  operation depends en tirely  on your consent. 
W ho is responsible for th is decision?
He is always careful of himself.
There is nothing w rong w ith him.

§ 3. The choice of prepositions is determ ined by different factors. 
Sometimes it  is q u ite  free—it entirely depends on the meaning the 

speaker wishes to  convey.
e.g . There was a photograph of a young girl on his desk.

There was a photograph of a young girl in his desk.
There was a photograph  of a young girl over his desk.
There was a photograph  of a young girl under his desk.

B ut more often th e  choice of the preposition is determined by the 
head-word.

e.g . No one could account for his objection to our plan.
H e should be asham ed of himself.
You shouldn’t re ly  on him.
Who is going to  look a f te r  your children while you are away? 
Your brother was cruel to him.
I ’ve been dependent on both of you so long.
She was treated  for diabetes.
He was proud of his elder son.
Everyone is conscious of the change in the  man.
H e is quite good a t  painting.
There is no po in t in arguing.

I t  is in this case th a t  th e  meaning of the  preposition often becomes 
weakened.

The choice of th e  preposition  may also depend on the noun th a t fol­
lows the  preposition.
e.g . W ho was the  firs t to  speak a t  the meeting?

He went there on business.
He is now on a  concert tour in Europe.
I ’m planning to  fin ish  it in February.
He woke up a t  8 o ’clock.
W e discussed it  in detail.
No one could help h im  under the circumstances.
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In th is case the  preposition and th e  noun often become set phrases 
(e.g. in the evening, at dawn, by day, by taxi, etc.). The m eaning of the 
preposition is also weakened here.

§ 4. A lthough prepositions serve to  express various relations between 
the noun (or noun-equivalent) following it and other words in th e  sen­
tence, they sometimes get separated from the noun (or noun-equivalent). 
This occurs in:

a) special questions,
e.g. W hat are you looking for?

Who(m) did you speak with?
W hat conclusion did you come to?

b) some kinds of subordinate clauses,
e.g. W hat he is w aiting for is not likely  to  happen.

That is w hat he wanted to  begin w ith .
I know who(m) he is worried about.
I ’m expecting a letter my plans for the  future depend on.

c) certain  passive constructions,
e.g. He loved th e  dogs and they w ere taken  good care of.

They found him so ill that a doctor was im m ediately sen t for. 
His m arriage was very much talked  about.

d) certain  functions of the in fin itiv e  or infinitive phrase,
e.g. H e hated to  be made fun of.

When he retired he went to  live in Dorset, in a charm ing  place 
his wife had bought for him  to  re tire  to.

You have a lot to  be thankful for.
Y ou’ve done nothing to be asham ed of.
There is nothing more to worry about.

Sometimes one and the same noun is associated w ith two o r more 
different prepositions. The noun itself need not be repeated a f te r  each 
preposition and is usually placed afte r the  last one.
e.g. I t  is a book for and about children.

The pronoun much is used of and w ith  uncountable nouns.
He cared for and looked a f te r  his ageing mother.

It follows from the above examples th a t the  prepositions in th is  case 
are retained by the  preceding head-word.

§ 5. The prepositions of, by and to  m ay become entirely  devoid  of 
lexical meaning and serve to  express m ere gram m atical relati&ns. This 
occurs in the  following constructions:
e.g. Anne was th e  wife of a miner.

They were followed by their tw o daughters.
They offered the job to Hawkins.

The prepositions are said to  be gram m aticalized in th is case.
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CONJUNCTIONS

§ 1. Conjunctions are s tru c tu ra l words th a t serve to  connect words 
o r phrases as well as clauses o r sentences (see the examples below).

Conjunctions may be single words (e.g. and, but, or, as, while, be­
cause, though, etc.), phrases consisting of more than one word (e.g. in 
order tha t, on condition ( th a t) ,  in case, as soon as, as long as, for fear 
( th a t) ,  as if, as though, e tc .) and also correlative conjunctions, i.e. con­
junctions th a t are always used in pairs (e.g. both...and, either...or, not 
o n ly ...b u t also , as...as, etc.).

N o t e .  Som e tng-form s an d  p a r tic ip le s  a re  also used as c o n ju n c tio n s  (e.g. sup­
posing, seeing, given  (= o n  condition , i f ) ,  providing  or provided).

§ 2. Conjunctions have a lexical meaning of th e ir own. 
e.g. H e came to  see me because he felt happy.

He came to  see me though he felt happy.
He came to see me when he felt happy.
He came to  see me if he felt happy.

N o t e .  T he lex ical m ean in g  of th e  con junction  that is vague. I t  serves to  in ­
tro d u c e  d iffe ren t k inds of c lauses.

e .g . T h a t I w as no t go ing  to  b e  p o p u la r  w ith  th e  o th er c h ild ren  soon becam e clear 
to  m y p a ren ts , (subject clause)

T he p ro b a b ili ty  is th a t  he  re fu sed  to  cooperate, (predicative clause)
H e b e lieved  th a t  h is fa th e r  w as a n  innocen t m an . (object clause)
I w as su re  th a t  m any  w o u ld  fo llow  his exam ple , (object clause)
My fa th e r  th en  so ld  e v e ry th in g  th a t  he  m igh t have th e  m oney for m y education .

(adverbial clause o f purpose)
H e w as so shabby  th a t  no d e ce n t lan d lad y  w ould  ta k e  h im  in . (adverbial 

clause o f result)
H e agreed  w ith  th e  a sse rtio n  t h a t  h is  resu lts fell sho rt of th e  req u irem en ts , (ap- 

positive clause)

§ 3. According to  th e ir ro le  in the sentence, conjunctions fall into 
tw o groups: c o o r d i n a t i n g  conjunctions (e.g. and , bu t, or, 
either...or, besides, moreover, likewise, both ...and, y e t , s t i l l ,  neverthe­
less , hence, therefore, accordingly, etc.) and s u b o r d i n a t i n g  con­
ju n c tio n s (e.g. tha t, if, whether, as, though, since, when, u n ti l , as long 
as, before, after, because, unless, so that, than, as...as, etc.).

C oordinating conjunctions connect words, phrases, clauses or sen­
tences which are independent of each other.
e .g . H is light-brown ha ir was fine and thick.

She took a piece of cake and a cup of tea.
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She flung the door open and entered.
She felt jealous because th ere  was someone who knew what was 

so closely connected w ith her father and w hat she herself had 
not known.

Meg ordered a fresh pot of tea and they settled  down to discuss the 
new complication.

Ju s t now I can’t th ink of anything but of how you were made to 
suffer.

She looked scornful but she was secretly pleased.
She could no longer think clearly  or speak w ith decision.
She was furious a t  me, yet I d idn’t care.
It was hard to get the story clear from her cousin’s answers, never­

theless she found out everything.

Subordinating conjunctions serve to  join a subord inate  clause to 
the principal clause.
e.g. When the play was over he asked her if she would let him see her 

home.
He felt marvellously happy as though everything he did were a 

marvel.
The two girls were silent t i l l  he left the room.
He winked at me as he passed.
The old man said to the boy: “ If you don’t like me you may go 

home whenever you choose.”

Subordinating conjunctions m ay occasionally in troduce a word or 
a phrase w ithin a sim ple sentence.
e.g. When a  child, he often had to  run errands for his elders.

H is father was sharp w ith his children, while a t  home.
H e promised to sell the car if necessary.
There was a dry, pungent sm ell in the air, as though of dry vegeta­

tion, crisped by the sun.
He looked happy though som ewhat tired.

N o t e .  I t  shou ld  be po in ted  o u t  th a t  a n um ber of c o n ju n c tio n s  (a) h av e  hom o­
n ym s am o n g  prepositions (b) an d  a d v e rb s  (c).

e .g . a) H e had  n o t heard  h im self c a l le d  th a t  nam e since h is  m o th e r  d ied .
b) E v e ry th in g  has gone w rong s in c e  th a t  n ig h t.
c) H e  had  h is la s t m eal in  th e  re s ta u ra n t  car and  h a sn ’t  h a d  a n y th in g  to  eat

since.
a) H e found him self in h is m o th e r’s a rm s before he saw  her.
b) 1 ta lk ed  to  him  before th e  conference .
c) I ’ve  never seen him  so angry  before .

a) T hey spoke l i t t le  u n til  they re ac h ed  th e  less busy  ro ad .
b) H e  stay ed  up u n til  daw n, re a d in g  an d  w ritin g .

a) A fte r he had  taken a ll th e  th in g s  o u t, she  s ta r te d  th e  car
b) A fte r lunch  they  a ll w ent to  th e i r  room s.



PARTICLES

§ I. P artic les  have no independent lexical meaning of their own. 
Nor do th ey  perform an independent syntactic function in th e  sentence. 
They only serve to  emphasize, in some way or other, a word, a phrase 
or a clause in  th e  sentence (see th e  examples below).

§ 2 .  A ccording to  the purpose they serve, particles may be divided 
into the  following groups:

1) l i m i t i n g  particles (e.g. only, solely, merely, but, alone, 
barely),

e.g. There was a terrib le silence, broken only by the sound of thum ping 
feet.

“H ave you spoken to her?” “Sure, but she only speaks D utch and 
I d o n ’t . ”

I to ld  h im  that I was a m ilita ry  officer merely doing my duty.
He suddenly  stopped shouting at me and said th a t he would wait 

b u t five m inutes for me to  make up my mind.
She was barely nine when th e  war broke out.
I w an t you to  be happy and it is solely for this reason th a t I insist 

on your doing it.
His last le tter alone would have made his wife give up everything 

and go to  him.

2) i n t e n s i f y i n g  partic les (e.g. sim ply, ju st, even, s till),

e.g. W hat he wanted done was ju s t the job for me.
The n ig h t grew s ti ll  colder.
“L e t’s sim ply drop the subject for a w hile ,” he said w ith  irrita tion .
I ju s t stood there while the flood of angry words rolled over my head.
I knew th a t even the  most eloquent and angry man has to  run 

out of insults in the end.

3) c o n n e c t i n g  partic les (e.g. also, too),

e.g. He m eekly walked out of th e  room. He too knew when he was beat­
en.

They had also  been told th a t they would have to w ait for further 
orders.
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e.g. I have not given up hope.
I wanted to  see th e  telegram , not the  le tte r.
It was difficult for Roger not to  agree.
Not liking to  leave him a t the  club, I offered to  take him home.

N o t e .  I t  should  be  p o in ted  o u t th a t  a n u m b er of p a r tic le s  have hom onym s 
am ong  o th e r p a rts  of speech .

Cf. T h is is ju s t  th e  th in g  I w an t, (particle)
I ’ve  ju s t  seen h im . (adverb)
I have on ly  two le tte rs  to  answ er, (particle)
She w as th e  on ly  d a u g h te r , (adjective)
H e is lazy, too. (particle)
H e is too lazy, (adverb)

4) n e g a t i v e  par t ic le  {not),



MODAL W O RD S

§ 1. Modal w ords serve to express the  relation between the s ta te ­
ment made in th e  sentence and reality  as established by the  speaker. 
W ith the help of these words the speaker expresses various degrees of 
certainty, supposition , desirability or undesirability  of the action in 
dicated in the  sentence.

Modal w ords are an invariable part of speech.
§ 2 . S em antically  modal words may be divided into the following 

groups:
1) those expressing c e r t a i n t y  (e.g. certainly, o f course, un­

doubtedly, no doubt, surely, decidedly, defin ite ly , really , in fact, indeed, 
naturally  and some others)*
e.g. The last person to come out was a bewildered man of m iddle age 

who clutched a brown paper parcel to  his chest. This was A lbert, 
no doubt.

“W hat was th e  interview about?” “ Surely you know i t . ”
Really she scarcely felt capable of driving this morning.
At the  back of my mind was the teasing thought th a t I had seen 

the  m an somewhere before. Then th e  dutiful memory clicked 
in to  action . Yes, of course, I had seen his photograph in the 
papers.

It was indeed an unusual situation  for him to find himself in.
She was ce rta in ly  a beautiful girl.
If you find him  innocent, I ’ll be the  first to shake him by the  hand. 

In fact, I hope he’s not guilty.
I ’m doing a special article on the working of the Resistance. I ’ll 

n a tu ra lly  have to meet all those men who were active in it.
2) those expressing s u p p o s i t i o n  (e.g. maybe, perhaps, pos­

sibly, presum ably , probably, evidently, obviously, apparently, etc.),
e.g. The old m an was travelling  w ith a young girl. She might perhaps 

be his niece.
Possibly he was mistaken in his suspicions.

The wom an was carrying a basket of provisions, presumably a loaf 
of bread and a couple of hard-boiled eggs.

I pushed a packet of cigarettes across the table towards him  but 
he refused. Obviously an ath lete  did not imperil his wind w ith 
nicotine.
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3) those expressing (u n)d e s i r a b i 1 i t y (e.g. (uri)luckily , ( u n ­
fortunately, happily),
e.g. Fortunately, the men were genuine p a trio ts  and did not betray me. 

Luckily, I iound the  man in his office and we quickly settled  th e  
difficulty.

§ 3. Modal words have no syntactic function  in the  sentence. They 
are used as parenthesis (see the examples above).

Besides, some modal words can m ake up sentences by them selves 
when they are used in answer to  or com m ent on a previous question or 
statem ent.
e.g. “ Is the whole fam ily agreeable?” “C erta in ly .”

“Are you g lad?” “Yes, indeed.”
“ I have an ideal I ’m trying to  rea lize .” “ R ea lly ?”

WORDS OF AFFIRMATION AND NEGATION

Yes and no are to be treated as a special class of words. They have 
a peculiar meaning, different from all o ther p a rts  of speech. S yn tac ti­
cally they are independent elem ents—they e ith e r precede a sentence or 
function as sentence-words themselves.
e.g. “Have you read the  book?” “ No, I h av en ’t  got it. (N o.)”

“Did you know about it? ” “ Yes, I did. (Y es.)”



INTERJECTIONS

§ 1. In terjections are words expressing emotions, such as surprise, 
anger, pleasure, regret, indignation, encouragement, trium ph, etc. They 
are used as exclam ations.

§ 2 .  Some in te r jec t ions  are special words which are not associated 
w ith  any o th e r  p a r t s  of speech, e.g. oh [ou], ah [a:], eh fe i], aha 
fa{:) 'ha:l, alas [a ' la :s ] ,  fie  [ fa i3, humph [mm, h m f ], hum  [hAm], phew 
[f ju :], pshaw [Jo:], pooh [p u : ], tush ItAj], bravo [ 'b ra :vou] ,  hurrah 
[hu 'ra :] ,  etc.

Some of these in terjections serve to express quite definite feelings. 
Thus alas is a cry  of sorrow or anxiety; bravo is a cry of approval, 
meaning w ell done, excellent; hurrah is a cry of expressing joy, welcome; 
fie, pooh and pshaw  express contem pt; aka  expresses trium ph.

O ther in terjections, according to  the tone of the  voice, may express 
emotions of d ifferent character, e.g. ah may show sorrow, surprise, 
p ity , pleasure, e tc .; oh is an exclam ation of surprise, fear, pain, etc.; 
phew may express relief, astonishm ent o r contem pt; eh— surprise or 
doubt; tush—contem pt or impatience; humph—doubt, disbelief or dis­
satisfaction.

§ 3. There are a num ber of words which belong to  different other 
parts of speech b u t which are also used as interjections, e.g. bother', 
come; damn; hear, hear; now; there, there; well\ why, etc. We even find 
phrases used as in terjections, e.g. dear me; dear, dear, goodness gracious-, 
confound it; hang it; for shame; well, I never, etc.

Some of them , like interjections proper, serve to express quite defi­
nite feelings. For exam ple, bother; oh, bother are exclam ations of im pa­
tience; goodness gracious, goodness me are exclam ations of surprise; damn, 
damn it  a ll, dam n you, confound you and hang i t  are used to express 
anger, annoyance; for shame serves as a reproof for not being ashamed 
of one’s actions, behaviour; well, I  never expresses surprise and indig­
nation at the sam e tim e; hear, hear is used as a form of cheering, usually 
to express approval, b u t it  may also be used ironically; there, there is 
used to  soothe a person (e.g. There, there, you haven 't really hurt your­
self).

O ther in terjec tions of th is kind may express quite different feelings, 
according to  the  tone of the voice or the context.

Thus dear, dear or dear me or oh, dear express sorrow, im patience
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or wonder; why m ay be an expression of surprise  or protest, as in: W hy, 
i t 's  quite easyl

Come or come, come indicate e ither encouragem ent or blam e, as in: 
Come, cornel D o n 't be so foolish\ or Come, come I You don 't expect m e to  
believe it\

Now and now, now can in different cases serve a different purpose: 
Now listen to me\ means /  beg you to listen  to me\ Oh, come now\ ex p ress­
es surprise, reproof, disbelief. Now, now  or now then are m eant as a 
friendly protest or warning.

W ell, depending on the sentence in w hich it  is used, may express a 
variety of em otions. In Well, who would have thought it?  it  serves as an  
expression of surprise. In Well, here we are a t last! it  expresses re lie f. 
W ell serves to  express expectation in W ell then?, W ell, what about it?; 
resignation in W ell, i t  can 't be helped, concession in W ell, i t  m a y be 
true, etc.

N o t e .  Im ita tio n  sounds such as mew, cock-a-doodle-doo, bang an d  th e  l ik e  
can n o t be tre a te d  a s  in te rjec tio n s  since  th ey  do  n o t  se rv e  to  express an y  fe e lin g .

§ 4. Interjections are independent elem ents which do not perform  
any of the syntactic functions in the sentence. They are usually sen- 
tence-words themselves and may be used parenthetically.
e.g. “O h,” he exclaim ed, unable to  suppress his emotion.

“H ’m, ” said Mr Fox thoughtfully.
The great poet said: “The tragedy of our age is th a t aesthetic v a l­

ues do not keep pace w ith social—and, alas, technical— de­
velopm ents.”

“Did you notice th e  stink in the  h a ll? ” “W ell, not p a r tic u la r ly .”
“Phew! Three tim es I was nearly s ic k .”
“M arian is going to  see her old nurse, N annie Robeson, in th e  a f te r­

noon .” “Confound Nannie Robesonl M arian’s always going 
th e re .”

Oh, pooh, look a t these stockings!
Now, M arilyn, you don’t know w hat you are doing.
W ell... le t ’s w alk  up there then.
You’re about to  make a confession to  me. W ell, don’t do it. I d o n ’t 

w ant to  hear.

Some interjections may be connected w ith  a word in th e  sen tence 
by means of a preposition.
e.g. H urrah for Jo jo  and Ed!

Alas for poor Tommy!
N o t e .  In te r je c tio n s  shou ld  be d is tin g u ish e d  from  su ch  one-w ord se n te n c e s  a s  

H elpI Silencet Nonsenset T h e  la tte r  a re  n o tio n a l w o rd s , n o t  m ere  e x c la m a tio n s  ex ­
pressing em otions.
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APPENDIX I
IR R E G U L A R  VERBS

In fin itive Past Indefinite Participle

a b id e a b o d e , ab ided abode, ab ided
arise arose a risen
aw ake aw oke aw ak ed , awoke
be w as, w ere been
b ear bore b orn e , born
b ea t b e a t b ea ten
becom e becam e becom e
b e fa ll b efell be fa llen
beget beg o t b eg o tten
b eg in b egan begun
b eh o ld b eh eld beheld
bend b e n t b e n t, bended
bereave b e reav ed , bereft b e reaved , bereft
beseech beso u g h t besought
bese t b ese t bese t
b e t b e t ,  b e tted b e t,  b e tted
b id b a d e , b id b id d en , bid
b in d b o u n d bou n d
b ite b it b i tte n ,  b it
bleed bled bled
b lend b len d e d , b len t b len d ed , b len t
bless b lessed , b lest b lessed , b lest
b low blew blow n
break b ro k e b ro k en  (broke)
b reed bred bred
b rin g b ro u g h t b ro u g h t
b ro ad cast b ro a d ca s t, broadcasted b ro a d ca st, b roadcasted
buiJd b u i l t b u ilt
b u rn b u rn t ,  burned b u rn t ,  burned
b u rs t b u rs t b u rs t
b u y b o u g h t b o u g h t
c as t c a s t cas t
ca tch c au g h t cau g h t
choose chose chosen
c leav e c lo v e , cleft c lo v en , c le ft
c lin g c lu n g c lu n g
c lo th e c lo th e d  (clad) c lo th ed  (clad)
com e cam e com e
cost co st cost
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Continued

Infinitive Past Indefinite Participle

creep crept crep t
crow crowed (crew) crowed
cu t cut cut
dare dared (d u rst) dared
deal dealt dealt
d ig dug dug
do did done
draw drew draw n
dream dream ed, d ream t dream ed, d re am t
drink drank drunk
drive drove driven
dwell dwelt dw elt
eat ate eaten
fall fell fa llen
feed fed fed
feel felt fe lt
figh t fought fought
find found found
flee fled fled
fling flung flung
fly flew flown
forbear forbore forborne
forbid forbade, fo rb ad forb idden
forecast forecast, fo recasted forecast, fo recasted
forego forewent foregone
foresee foresaw foreseen
foretell foretold foreto ld
forget forgot fo rgo tten
forgive forgave forgiven
forsake forsook forsaken
freeze froze frozen
get got go t, g o tten
g ild gilded, g ilt g ilded
g ive gave given
go w ent gone
grind ground ground
grow grew grow n
h ang hung , hanged hung , hanged
have had had
hear heard heard
heave heaved, hove heaved , hove
hew hewed hew ed, hewn
hide hid h id d en , h id
h it h it h it
h o ld held held
h u rt h u rt h u rt
in lay in la id in la id
keep kept kep t
kneel knelt k n e lt
k n it k n itted , k n it k n itte d , k n it
know knew know n
lade laded laden
lay laid la id
lead led led  «*
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Continued

In fin itiv e P a st Indefinite Patriciple

lean le a n t ,  lean ed le a n t, leaned
leap le a p t ,  leap ed le a p t, leaped
le a rn le a rn t ,  learned le a rn t,  learned
le a v e left le ft
len d le n t len t
le t le t le t
l ie lay la in
l ig h t l ig h te d , l it l ig h te d , l it
lo se lo st lost
m a k e m ad e m ade
m ean m e a n t m ean t
m ee t m et m et
m e lt m e lte d m e lted , m o lten
m is la y m is la id m is la id
m is lead m is le d m isled
m is ta k e m is to o k m is ta k e n
m isu n d ers tan d m isu n d e rs to o d m isunderstood
m ow m ow ed m ow n
o u td o o u td id o u td o n e
o u tg ro w o u tg rew o u tg ro w n
o v e rb ea r o v e rb o re o v erb o rn e
o v e rca s t o v e rc a s t o v ercast
overcom e o v e rcam e overcom e
o v erdo o v e rd id overdone
o v e rd raw o v erd rew overd raw n
o v e rh ea r o v e rh ea rd ov erh eard
o v e rta k e o v e rto o k o v e rta k en
o v e rth ro w o v e rth re w o v e rth ro w n
o verw ork o verw o rk ed o verw orked , overw rought
p a r ta k e p a rto o k p a rta k en
p ay p a id paid
p u t p u t p u t
re ad re ad read
re b u ild r e b u il t re b u il t
recast re c a s t recast
re lay re la id re la id
ren d re n t re n t
re te ll r e to ld re to ld
r id r id d e d , rid r id ,  rid d ed
r id e ro d e rid d e n
r in g ra n g ru n g
rise rose risen
ru n ra n ru n
saw saw ed saw n , saw ed
say sa id sa id
see saw seen
seek so u g h t sough t
se ll so ld so ld
sen d se n t se n t
se t se t se t
sew sew ed sew n, sewed
sh a k e sh ook sh a k e n
sh ea r sh ea red sh o rn , sheared
shed shed shed
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Continued

In fin itiv e P ast Indefin ite P articiple

sh in e shone shone
shoe shod shod
shoot sh o t sh o t
show showed show n, show ed
sh rin k sh ran k , sh ru n k sh ru n k , sh ru n k e n
sh u t sh u t sh u t
sing sang su n g
sink san k su n k , su n k e n
s it sa t sa t
slay slew sla in
sleep slep t s le p t
s lid e slid s l id ,  s l id d e n
slin g slung slu n g
slin k slu n k slu n k
s li t s l i t s l i t
sm ell sm elt, sm e lled sm e lt ,  sm e lled
sm ite sm ote sm itte n
sow sowed sow n , sow ed
speak spoke spoken
speed sp ed , speeded sped , speed ed
spell sp e lt, sp e lled sp e lt,sp e lle d
spend sp en t sp en t
sp ill sp i l t ,  sp ille d s p i l t ,  sp il le d
sp in sp u n , sp a n sp u n
sp it sp a t sp a t
spo il sp o ilt, sp o iled sp o ilt,  sp o iled
spread spread sp read
sp rin g sprang sp ru n g
stan d stood stood
sta v e stav ed , s to v e s ta v e d , s to v e
stea l s to le s to len
stick stu ck stu ck
stin g stu n g s tu n g
stin k s ta n k s tu n k
strew strew ed s tre w n , s tre w ed
s tr id e stro d e s tr id d e n , s t r id
s tr ik e stru ck s tru c k , s tr ic k e n
str in g stru n g stru n g
s tr iv e stro v e s tr iv e n
sw ear sw ore sw orn
sw eat sw ea t, sw ea ted sw ea t, sw ea ted
sweep
sw ell

sw ept
sw elled

sw ept
sw o llen , sw e lled

sw im sw am sw um
sw ing sw ung sw ung
ta k e took tak e n
teach ta u g h t ta u g h t
tea r to re to rn
tell to ld to ld
th in k though t th o u g h t
th r iv e th ro v e , th r iv e d th r iv e n , th r iv e d
th ro w th rew th ro w n
th ru s t th ru s t th ru s t
tread trod tro d d e n , t ro d
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Continued

In fin i t iv e P a st Indefinite Participle

u n dergo u n d e rw en t undergone
u n d e rs ta n d und ersto o d understood
u n d e r ta k e u n d e rto o k u n d e rta k en
und o u n d id undone
u p se t u p se t upset
w ak e w oke, w ak ed w aked , w oken , woke
w ear w ore w orn
w eave w ove w oven, w ove
w ed w edded w edded , wed
w eep w ep t w ept
w in won won
w in d w ound w ound
w ith d ra w w ith d rew w ith d raw n
w ith h o ld w ith h e ld w ith h e ld
w ork w o rk ed  (w rought) w orked (w rought)
w rin g w ru n g w rung
w rite w ro te w ritte n

N o t e .  T he form s in  b ra ck e ts  a re  o lder forms.

APPENDIX  / /
P A R T S  O F  T H E  S E N T E N C E  R E F E R R E D  TO IN T H I S  GR A MMA R

I. T h e  S u b j e c t

e ,g . T he s tra n g e r  (he) саш е ea rly  in  F eb ru a ry .
Som eo n e  w as s in g in g  an  I ta l ia n  tune.
I t  h a s  b een  ra in in g  s in ce  m o rn in g .
I t  is  h a rd  to  fo rget o n e ’s  p a s t.
To know  a ll  a b o u t E n g lish  is  o n e  th in g ; to  know E ng lish  is q u ite  a n o th e r. 
W a tc h in g  TV  has becom e h is  fa v o u rite  pastim e.

I I .  T h e  P r e d i c a t e
1) v e rb a l

a) s im p le

e .g . H is  w o rd s frig h ten ed  m e.
H e  w as  e x h au s ted . H e was w ork ing  too h a rd .

b) com pound
e .g . Y ou  o u g h tn ’t  to  go back o n  y o u r word.

H e  seem s to  know  a ll a b o u t i t .
J a m e s  stood  sm oking  h is p ip e .
S h e  la y  m o tio n less , as if  sh e  w ere  asleep.

2) n o m in a l
e .g . F a n n y  w as th e  d au g h te r of th e  v illa g e  doctor.

D a v e  looked surprised .
I t  w as g e tt in g  dark.

I I I .  T h e  P r e d i c a t i v e
e .g . H e  w a s  n o t an  a r t i s t  b u t  he  l ik e d  to  c rea te  a r tis t ic  th ings.

M ichae l w as reserved as u su a l.
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The sto ry  seem ed fu n n y  to  m e.
My firs t th o u g h t w as to  ask h im  for su p p o rt.
My job was g e ttin g  i t  done in  tim e .

IV . T h e  S e c o n d  A c t i o n  (accom panying  th e  a c t io n  o f th e  p red icate  verb)

e .g . H e  woke up to  see i t  w as a lready  h igh noon.
H e w alked  dow n th e  p a th  hum m ing  a  tu n e .
H aving  locked h is  o ffice  he s ta r te d  for hom e.

V . T h e  S u b j e c t i v e  P r e d i c a t i v e

e .g . H e  was heard  to  m en tio n  it.
She was heard  sh o u tin g  so m eth in g  to  th e  c h ild ren .
The box was found  em pty .
Jo h n so n  was ap p o in te d  sec re tary  of the co m m itte e .
H is friend w as reg ard ed  as a  prom ising  young  w rite r .

V I. T h e  O b j e c t i v e  P r e d i c a t i v e

e .g . They heard  h im  m en tio n  it.
H e  w anted  th em  to  b e lieve  i t .
I saw  him  w a lk in g  across th e  field .
H e  found th e  box em pty .
T hey ap p o in ted  Jo h n so n  sec re tary  of th e  c o m m itte e .
W e regarded  h is frien d  a s  a p rom ising  young w rite r .
1 had  th is  su it m ade to  order.

V II . T h e  O b j e c t  ( i t  m odifies verbs an d  a d je c tiv es )
1) d irect

e .g . I saw  the m an  (h im ) on th e  s tep s  of h is house.
W e d id  n o t fin d  anyone there.
H e found i t  d iff ic u lt to  cope w ith  th e  task .
Do you m ean to  say  he a c tu a lly  approves o f it?
I t  s ta r te d  to  ra in .
I u su a lly  av o id  ask in g  him  questions.
I t  p a in ed  h im  to  th in k  of it .
I am  ex trem ely  so rry  to  d is tu rb  you.
She w as busy p ack ing  u p sta irs .
I t  w as foolish  to  speak like  th a t .
I t  w as p leasan t ly in g  on  th e  w arm  sand .
T hey found i t  d if f ic u lt  to  w alk  in  th e  deep snow .
I th o u g h t th e  book  w o rth  reading.

2) in d irec t (a lw ays to g e th e r w ith  a d irec t ob ject)

e .g . T hey  offered h im  a new  job.
My fa th e r se n t C o llin s a te leg ram .

3) p repositiona l

e .g . H e  had  been w a itin g  to r  Nora a long  tim e .
T h a t doesn ’t  depend on me, yo u  know.
H e was a fra id  o f  dogs.
H e is very  keen on c o lle c tin g  stam ps.

V I I I .  T h e  A d v e r b i a l  M o d i f i e r  ( i t  m o d ifie s  v e rb s  a n d  ad jectives)
I) of place and  d irec tio n

e .g . H e  found him self in  a  lo n ely  s tree t.
T he procession m oved slow ly  tow ards the em b an k m en t.
H e ’ll be here  tom orrow .

2) of tim e  an d  frequency

e .g . I ’ll phone yo u  a t  s ix  o ’clock.
H e seldom  spoke w ith  such  frankness.
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3) o f m an n e r

e .g . She w as c ry in g  b i t te r ly .
H e cam e  h e re  b y  tax i.
She open ed  th e  d ra w er w ith  d iff ic u lty .
H e w a lk ed  v e ry  fa s t.

4) of a tte n d in g  c ircu m stan ces
e.g. I t  is very  ro m a n tic  to  ta k e  a s tro ll by m o o n lig h t.

I do n ’t  feel l ik e  g o in g  o u t In th is  w eather.

5) of p u rp o se
e.g. I d id  m y  b e s t to  p re v e n t her from  m ak in g  th is  fa ta l  m istake .

6) of cause
e.g. O ur f l ig h t w as d e la y e d  ow ing to th e  sto rm .

W e ta lk e d  in  w h isp e rs  fo r fear of d is tu rb in g  o u r  p a ren ts .

7) of co m p ariso n  i
e .g . She sa t s t i l l  lik e  a  s ta tu e .

H e w as a s  u g ly  a s  a  m onkey.
8) of consequence

e.g . H e  is c le v er e n o u g h  to  u n d erstan d  i t .
She w as to o  t i r e d  to  go for a d rive.

9) of concession

e.g. W hatever th e  reaso n , sh e  shou ld  h av e  com e.
T hough tire d , h e  ag reed  to  accom pany  us.

10) of c o n d itio n
e .g . To look a t  h e r  y o u  w o u ld n ’t  believe sh e  w as a fam ous actress.

H e sa id  he  w o u ld  do i t  i f  necessary.

11) of e x ce p tio n
e.g . H e had  no  c h o ic e  b u t  to  obey th e  orders.

IX . T h e  A t t r i b u t e  ( i t  m odifies nouns)
1) close

e .g . A large c a t  (h is  c a t ,  th a t  c a t  of yours, J a n e ’s c a t)  ju m p ed  down from  th e  desk . 
The g a rd en  w as su rro u n d e d  by a low  stone w all.
I t  w as a q u e s tio n  o f  g re a t im portance.
She a d m ired  h is  w ay  o f do ing  th ings.
H e is n o t a m a n  to  re ly  upon.
T he c lo u d s w ere  l i t  by th e  se ttin g  sun .
W e saw  th e  lig h te d  w indow s of th e  c o tta g e .
I t  w as a p le a su re  to  lis te n  to  h im .
I t  is  no use  ta lk in g  to  her, she w o n ’t  agree to  i t .

2) loose
e.g. I co u ld  h e a r th e  v o ices of th e  k ids w a itin g  for th e  school bell to  r in g .

T hey b e h av e d  l ik e  schoolboys a fra id  of th e  teach er.
S u d d en ly  to u ch ed  sh e  cam e  over to  h is ch a ir  an d  kissed  h is cheek.

X . T h e  A p p o s i t i o n  ( i t  m odifies nouns)
e .g . Ann, th e  d a u g h te r  o f th e  lan d lady , w as a lw ays re ad y  to  help us.

T he o th e r d ay  I m e t Mr N esfield , a  p rom ising  poe t.

X I . I n d e p e n d e n t  E l e m e n t s
1) p a ren th es is

e .g . She w ill p ro b a b ly  te ll  y o u  a b o u t i t  herself.
I t  w as a ra in y  d a y  b u t  fo r tu n a te ly  i t  was n o t co ld .
To te l l  th e  t r u th ,  I d id n ’t  lik e  her a t  firs t.
I t  isn ’t  q u ite  c o rre c t,  s t r ie t ly  speaking.

328



2) sentence-w ords 
e .g . “ A re you c o m in g ? ”  “ Y es.”

“D o y o u  w a n t to  see h im ?” “ N o .”
“ W ill th ey  be  a b le  to  help y o u ? ” “ C e r ta in ly .”

A P P E N D I X  I I I

T YPE S O F  SU B OR DI N AT E  CL AUS ES R E F E R R E D  
TO IN THIS GR A MMA R

S u b o rd in a te  c lau ses perform  the fun c tio n s o f  v a r io u s  p a r ts  of th e  se n ten ce .

I. S u b j e c t  C l a u s e s
e .g . W h at ( need now  is  som eone to  do th e  jo b .

I I .  P r e d i c a t i v e  C l a u s e s
e .g . H is o n ly  desire  w as th a t  life  shou ld  fa ll  In w i th  h is  own p lans.

I I I .  O b j e c t  C l a u s e s  (they  m odify  v e rb s a n d  ad jec tiv es)
e .g . N obody knew  w h a t she m eant.

I th o u g h t ( th a t)  th ey  were joking.
H elen  w as a n x io u s  th a t  her niece sh o u ld  e n jo y  h e r  v is i t  to  London.
I t  w as s tressed  in  th e  d e b a te  th a t  th e  p ro b lem  m u s t  be tack led  a t  once.
I t  w as necessary  t h a t  an  in v estig a tio n  sh o u ld  b e  m ade  in to  the m a tte r .
I t  is very  lu ck y  th a t  you have come.
I t  was c lear th a t  so m e th in g  had happened.
H e found i t  im p o r ta n t  th a t  they sh o u ld  s t a r t  a s  soon a s possible.
T hey took  i t  for g ra n te d  th a t  h is theo ry  w as c o rre c t.

IV . A d v e r b i a l  C l a u s e s  (they  m o d ify  v e rb s a n d  adjectives)
1) of tim e

e .g . W hen they  reached  th e  v illag e , J a n e  go t o u t  o f  th e  ta x i  an d  looked a b o u t  h e r .  
I w o n ’t  leav e  t i l l  you come.

2) of place
e .g . They sto p p ed  w here  th e  road tu rned  to  th e  r iv e r .

3) of cause
e.g . H e w as g lad  to  ta lk  to  her because i t  s e t  h e r  a t  e ase .

4) of purpose
e .g . H e  spoke lo u d ly  a n d  c lea rly  so th a t  a l l  m ig h t  h e a r  h im .

5) of c o n d itio n
e .g . If we s ta r t  now , w e w o n ’t  be la te .

6) of concession
e.g . W hatever happens, sh e  w o n ’t  h ave  i t  her o w n  w a y .

7) of consequence
e .g . H e  was so em b arrassed  th a t  he cou ld  h a rd ly  u n d e rs ta n d  her.

8) of co m parison
e .g . H er lip s  m oved so u n d lessly , as if  she were re h e a rs in g .

V . A t t r i b u t i v e  C l a u s e s  (they  m odify  n o u n s) 
e .g . I know  a m an  w ho c an  h e lp  us.

W e cau g h t a breeze th a t  took us g e n tly  up th e  r iv e r .
A ll th e  p re sen ts  ( th a t)  he had given h e r w ere  in  th e ir  usual p laces.

V I. A p p o s i t i v e  C l a u s e s  (they  m o d ify  nouns) 
e .g . I h ad  th e  im p ress io n  th a t  she  fe lt  i l l  a t  ease.
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